HUMAN TOXICOLOGY OF CHEMICAL MIXTURES

Toxic Consequences Beyond the Impact of

One-Component Product and Environmental Exposures

HAROLD I. ZELIGER



HUMAN TOXICOLOGY OF CHEMICAL MIXTURES

HUMAN TOXICOLOGY OF CHEMICAL MIXTURES

Toxic Consequences Beyond the Impact of One-Component Product and Environmental Exposures

Harold I. Zeliger



Copyright © 2008 by William Andrew Inc.

No part of this book may be reproduced or utilized in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, recording, or by any information storage and retrieval system, without permission in writing from the Publisher.

ISBN: 978-0-8155-1589-0

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Zeliger, Harold I.

Human toxicology of chemical mixtures : toxic consequences beyond the impact of one-component product and environmental exposures / Harold I. Zeliger.

p. ; cm.
Includes bibliographical references.
ISBN 978-0-8155-1589-0 (alk. paper)
1. Toxicological chemistry. 2. Environmental toxicology. I. Title.
[DNLM: 1. Environmental Illness. 2. Environmental Exposure. 3. Environmental Pollutants--toxicity. 4. Hazardous Substances--toxicity. WA 30.5 Z49h 2008]
RA1219.3.Z45 2008
615.9'02--dc22

2008007370

Printed in the United States of America

This book is printed on acid-free paper.

 $10\ 9\ 8\ 7\ 6\ 5\ 4\ 3\ 2\ 1$

Published by: William Andrew Inc. 13 Eaton Avenue Norwich, NY 13815 1-800-932-7045 www.williamandrew.com



ENVIRONMENTALLY FRIENDLY

This book has been printed digitally because this process does not use any plates, ink, chemicals, or press solutions that are harmful to the environment. The paper used in this book has a 30% recycled content.

NOTICE

To the best of our knowledge the information in this publication is accurate; however the Publisher does not assume any responsibility or liability for the accuracy or completeness of, or consequences arising from, such information. This book is intended for informational purposes only. Mention of trade names or commercial products does not constitute endorsement or recommendation for their use by the Publisher. Final determination of the suitability of any information or product for any use, and the manner of that use, is the sole responsibility of the user. Anyone intending to rely upon any recommendation of materials or procedures mentioned in this publication should be independently satisfied as to such suitability, and must meet all applicable safety and health standards.

To my wife Gail, thanks for your loving support and critical review.

Preface		xxi
Part 1	ntroduction to Chemical Toxicology of Mixtures	1
1 Intro	duction	3
Refer	rences	6
2 Heal	th Effects of Exposures to Chemical Mixtures	7
2.1	Traditional Toxicology	7
	2.1.1 Additivity	7
	2.1.2 Antagonism	7
	2.1.3 Potentiation	8
	2.1.4 Synergism	8
2.2	Sequential Effects	8
2.3	Unexplained Effects of Mixtures	9
2.4	Lipophiles and Hydrophiles	11
2.5	Octanol: Water Partition Coefficients	11
2.6	Summary	13
	References	13
3 Abso	orption of Chemical Mixtures	17
3.1	Introduction	17
3.2	Permeability of Mucous Membranes and Octanol:	
	Water Partition Coefficients	17
	3.2.1 Partition Coefficients (K_{ow})	17
3.3	Absorption Enhancers	19
3.4	Absorption of Organic Molecules from	
	Aqueous Solutions	20
3.5	Summary	20
	References	21
4 Cher	nical Toxicology	23
4.1	Introduction	23
4.2	Toxicology	23
4.3	Molecular Toxicology	24
4.4	Exposure	25
4.5	Absorption	25
4.6	Distribution	26

4.7	Metabolism		27
4.8	Factors Affecting Metaboli	sm of Xenobiotics	29
	4.8.1 Age		30
	4.8.2 Gender		30
	4.8.3 Pregnancy		30
	4.8.4 Disease		30
	4.8.5 Hormones		31
	4.8.6 Cycles		31
	4.8.7 Enzyme Induction	or Inhibition	31
	4.8.8 Induction		31
	4.8.9 Inhibition		32
	4.8.10 Diet and Nutrition		32
	4.8.11 Dose and Timing		33
	4.8.12 Genetics		34
4.9	Oxidative Stress		34
	4.9.1 Electromagnetic R	adiation	36
	4.9.2 Mixture Effects		36
4.10	Receptor-Xenobiotic Inter	actions	36
4.11	Endocrine Disruptors		37
	4.11.1 Effects on Human	s	38
	4.11.2 Endocrine-Disrupt	ting Compounds (EDCs)	39
	4.11.3 EDC Mixtures		40
4.12	Immunotoxicology		41
	4.12.1 Immunosuppression	on	41
	4.12.2 Immunostimulatio	n	43
4.13	Multiple Site Responses		45
4.14	Mixture Effects		46
	References		48
Part 2 E	xposures to Chemical Mixt	ures	51
5 Scope	and Sources of Toxic Expo	osures	53
5.1	Scope of Exposure and Int	roduction	53
5.2	Toxic Release		53
5.3	Unknown Toxicities		54
5.4	Proliferation		56
	References		56
6 In Ute	ro Exposure		59
6.1	Fetal Sensitivity		59

6.2 Toxic Chemicals in the Blood of Newborns 59

viii

Contents	1		ix
63	Torio	Hazarda Of Fatal Taviaanta	60
0.3 6.4	Mixtu		61
0.4	Refere	ences	62
	Refer		02
7 Air Po	llution		63
7.1	Introd	luction	63
7.2	Pervas	sive Air Pollutants	64
7.3	Chem	ical Reactions in the Air	64
7.4	Confi	ned Air Pollutants	69
7.5	Air Po	ollution in the Breathing Zone	70
7.6	Air Po	ollution and Health Risk	71
7.7	Mixtu	ires	72
7.8	Partic	ulate Matter	73
7.9	Aeros	ols	74
7.10	Summ	nary	75
	Refere	ences	75
8 Water	Polluti	on	79
81	Introd	luction	79
8.2	Minin	σ	79
83	Manu	facturing	80
8.4	Farmi	no	81
0.4	841	Silts	81
	842	Pathogens	82
	843	Nutrients	82
	8 4 4	Pesticides	83
85	Power	r Production	83
0.5	851	Petroleum Production and Refining	83
	852	Coal Mining	84
	853	Petroleum Use and Combustion	84
	854	Coal Combustion	84
	855	Cooling Towers	85
86	Urban	Runoff	85
87	Home	and Personal Care Products	85
0.7	871	Cleaners	86
	872	Cosmetics	86
	8.7 3	Deodorizers	86
	874	Disinfectants	86
	8.7 5	House and Garden Pesticides	87
	8.7.6	Laundry Products	87
	0.7.0		07

		8.7.7 Ointr	nents	87
		8.7.8 Paint	and Paint Products	87
		8.7.9 Photo	ographic Chemicals	87
		8.7.10 Polis	h	88
		8.7.11 Prese	rvatives	88
		8.7.12 Soaps	S	88
		8.7.13 Medi	cines	88
	8.8	Priority Water	Pollutants	89
	8.9	Chemical Rea	actions in Water	89
		8.9.1 Grou	ndwater	89
		8.9.2 Disin	fection Byproducts	95
	8.10	Drinking Wat	er Contaminants in the United States	97
	8.11	Mixtures		113
	8.12	Toxic Landfil	l Runoff	114
	8.13	Summary		115
		References		115
9	Soil Po	llution		121
	9.1	Introduction		121
	9.2	Depressed Mi	crobial Activity	122
	9.3	Toxicity to Sc	oil-Dwelling Animals	122
	9.4	Plant Absorpt	ion of Soil Toxins and Bioaccumulation	123
	9.5	Effects of Miz	xtures	124
	9.6	Summary		125
		References		125
10	Food			129
	10.1	Introduction		129
	10.2	Persistent Org	ganic Pollutants (POPs)	130
	10.3	Mercury		130
	10.4	Antibiotics in	n Meat	131
	10.5	Steroids in M	eat	132
	10.6	Additives in C	Commercial Food Preparation	133
	10.7	Chemical Imp	ourities in Food—Allowable Xenobiotics	134
	10.8	Flavor Additiv	ves	136
	10.9	Artificial Foo	d Colors	138
	10.10	Flavor Enhand	cers—Monosodium Glutamate (MSG)	138
	10.11	Aspartame No	onnutritive Sweetener	139
	10.12	Nonnutritive	Chemicals in Food	140
	10.13	The Bread We	e Eat	142
	10.14	Volatile Organ	nic Compounds (VOCs) in Food	143

10.15	Chemicals in Food Packaging	145
10.16	Irradiated Food	146
10.17	Toxic Mixtures in Food	146
	10.17.1 TCDD	146
	10.17.2 Genotoxic Food Additives	147
	10.17.3 Carcinogenic Flavorants	147
	10.17.4 Preservatives	147
	10.17.5 BHA and Marijuana	148
	10.17.6 Recycled Food Packaging	148
	10.17.7 Enzyme Inhibition	148
	10.17.8 Nonionizing Radiation	148
10.18	Excipients in Pharmaceuticals and Vitamin and	
	Mineral Preparations	149
	10.18.1 Sulfites	149
	10.18.2 Aspartame	150
	10.18.3 Saccharin	150
	10.18.4 Coloring Agents	150
10.19	Summary	150
	References	151
11 Cham	icals in and around the Home	157
	Introduction	157
11.1	Arts and Crofts	157
11.2	Alts and Craits	150
11.5	Cleaners and Fresheners	161
11.4	Maintenance Materials	163
11.5	Brominated Flame Retardants (BFRs)	164
11.0	Personal Care and Cosmetic Products	166
11.7	Pesticides	170
11.9	Other Mixture-Containing Products	171
11.10	Summary	171
	References	172
12 Sick B	uilding Syndrome	175
12.1	Introduction	175
12.2	Sick Building Syndrome Symptoms	175
12.3	Contributory Sources of Sick Building Syndrome	175
12.4	Volatile Organic Compounds in Buildings	177
12.5	Paint	177
12.6	Environmental Tobacco Smoke	179
12.7	Carpets	181

xi

12.8	Formaldehyde	185
12.9	Other Sources of Sick Building Syndrome	
	Toxic Chemicals	185
	12.9.1 Wood Smoke	185
	12.9.2 Textile Wall Materials	186
	12.9.3 Wood Dust	186
	12.9.4 Dioxins in Wood Preservatives	187
	12.9.5 Waterproofing Applications	187
	12.9.6 Hot Asphalt Roof Applications	187
	12.9.7 Radon, Asbestos and Tobacco Smoke	187
12.10	Biological Causes of Sick Building Syndrome	188
	12.10.1 Molds	188
	12.10.2 Dust Mites	189
	12.10.3 Animal Allergens	189
12.11	Mixtures	189
12.12	Investigating an SBS Incident	190
12.13	Summary	192
	References	192
13 Indus	trial Exposure	197
13.1	Introduction	197
13.2	Single Chemical Toxicities	197
13.3	Mixture Toxicities	199
13.4	Noise, Organic Solvents, and Hearing Loss	200
13.5	Foundry Fumes and Cancer	200
13.6	Painting and CNS Effects	200
13.7	Printers' CNS and Mucous Membrane Effects	201
13.8	High Cancer Rates in Road Pavers	
	and Roofers	201
13.9	Nail Salon Work and CNS Effects	202
13.10	Coke Oven Work and Smoking Synergism	202
13.11	Incinerator Fly Ash Toxicity	202
13.12	Naval Divers' Cancer Cluster	203
13.13	Industrial Solid Waste (ISW) and	
	Municipal Waste Leachate	203
13.14	Exposures of Workers to	
	Aromatic Hydrocarbons	204
13.15	Polyhalogenated Aromatic Compounds	205
13.16	Color Vision Impairment in Workers	205
13.17	Irradiated Mail Sensitivity	205
13.18	"Aerospace Syndrome"	206

xii

Co	ONTENTS		xiii
	13.19 13.20 13.21 13.22	Hospital Histology Technicians Persistent Toxic Chemical Compounds Regional Impact Assessment Summary References	206 207 207 208 209
14	Posticia	los	213
14	1/1 1	Introduction	213
	14.1	Definitions	213
	14.2	Human Toxicities of Pesticides	213
	14.5	Toxicity of Pesticide Mixtures	214
	14.4	Inert Ingredients in Pesticides	217
	14.5	Low Level Pesticide Poisonings	220
	14.0 14.7	Summary	222
	14.7	References	224
15	Alcoho	l and Tobacco: Recreational Toxins	229
	15.1	Introduction	229
	15.2	Ethanol: Introduction	229
	15.3	Mechanisms of Ethanol Mixture Toxicity	230
	15.4	Effect of Ethanol on Nutrients and Drugs	231
	15.5	Toxicity of Ethanol Mixtures with	
		Other Chemicals	231
	15.6	Ethanol and Cancer	234
	15.7	Tobacco Toxicity: Introduction	235
	15.8	Tobacco and Cancer	236
	15.9	Tobacco Smoke Mixtures and Lung Cancer	236
	15.10	Noncarcinogenic Tobacco Smoke Synergism	238
	15.11	Combined Toxicity of Ethanol and Tobacco	238
	15.12	Summary	240
		References	240
16	Electro	magnetic Radiation and Toxic Exposure	245
	16.1	Introduction	245
	16.2	The Electromagnetic Spectrum	246
	16.3	Ionizing Radiation and Toxic Chemical Mixtures	246
	16.4	Ultraviolet Radiation and Toxic Chemical Mixtures	248
	16.5	Nonionizing Radiation: Introduction	251
	16.6	RF Radiation and Toxic Chemical Mixtures	252
	16.7	ELF Radiation and Toxic Chemical Mixtures	253
	16.8	Summary	255
		References	255

CONTENTS

Part 3 Mixture Effects on Body Systems			259
17	Respi	ratory System	261
	17.1	Introduction	261
	17.2	Respiratory Irritant Mixtures	262
	17.3	Respiratory Sensitization Mixtures	268
	17.4	Asthma And Chemical Mixtures	271
	17.5	Reactive Airways Dysfunction Syndrome (RADS)	275
	17.6	Respiratory Carcinogens	277
	17.7	Unanticipated Respiratory Effects of	
		Chemical Mixtures	279
	17.8	Summary	287
		References	287
18	Nervo	us System	295
	18.1	Introduction	295
	18.2	Neurotoxic Chemicals	297
	18.3	Indicators and Symptoms of Neurotoxic Poisoning	300
	18.4	Mechanisms of Neurotoxic Action	300
	18.5	Neurodegenerative Diseases and	
		Toxic Chemical Exposures	303
		18.5.1 Parkinson's Disease (PD)	303
		18.5.2 Alzheimer's Disease (AD)	303
		18.5.3 Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis (ALS)	304
		18.5.4 Multiple Sclerosis (MS)	304
	18.6	Neurotoxicity of Chemical Mixtures	304
		18.6.1 Pesticide Mixtures	305
		18.6.2 Organic Solvent Mixtures	308
	18.7	Case Studies: Neurotoxic Chemical Mixtures	312
	18.8	Summary	319
		References	319
19	Devel	opmental Neurotoxicology	327
	19.1	Introduction	327
	19.2	Mixture Neurotoxicity	327
	19.3	Summary	331
		References	332
20	Autisr	n: Effect of Maternal Exposure to	
	Neuro	toxic Chemicals	335
	20.1	Autism	335
	20.2	Chemical Mixtures	337

20.5 Summary References 344 21 Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) 351 21.1 Introduction 351 21.2 Prevalence of ADHD 351 21.3 Environmental Factors in ADHD 351 21.4 Chemical Mixtures as Triggers for ADHD 354 21.5 Summary References 357 22 Endocrine System 361 22.1 Introduction 361 22.2 Endocrine Disrupting Chemicals 361 22.3 Diabetes and Endocrine Disrupting Chemicals 367 22.4 Breast Cancer and Endocrine Disruptors 367 22.5 Mixture Effects on Endocrine Function—Case Studies 373 22.6 Tobacco Smoke 373 22.7 Summary 374 23.1 Introduction 381 23.2 Xenobiotics and Female Infertility 383 23.3 Smoking and Female Fertility 384 23.4.1 Shoe Industry Employees 385 23.4.2 Semiconductor Manufacturing 385 23.4.3	CONTENTS	\$	XV
References34521 Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD)35121.1Introduction35121.2Prevalence of ADHD35121.3Environmental Factors in ADHD35121.4Chemical Mixtures as Triggers for ADHD35421.5Summary357References35722Endocrine System36122.1Introduction36122.2Endocrine Disrupting Chemicals36522.4Breast Cancer and Endocrine Disruptors36722.5Mixture Effects on Endocrine Function—Case Studies37022.6Tobacco Smoke37322.7Summary374References37423.1Introduction38123.2Xenobiotics and Female Infertility38123.3Smoking and Female Fertility38423.4Chemically Induced Spontaneous Abortion38523.4.1Shoe Industry Employees38523.4.2Semiconductor Manufacturing38623.4.3Toluene Mixtures38623.4.4Agricultural Mixtures38623.4.5Anesthetic Gases38723.4.6Laboratory Workers38723.4.7Environmental Pobacco Smoke Exposure38723.4.8Marijuana Use38823.4.10Water Disinfection Byproducts38823.5.1Genital Malformations39023.5.1Genital Malformations39023.5.3Decreasin	20.5	Summary	344
21 Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) 351 21.1 Introduction 351 21.2 Prevalence of ADHD 351 21.3 Environmental Factors in ADHD 351 21.4 Chemical Mixtures as Triggers for ADHD 354 21.5 Summary 357 References 357 22 Endocrine System 361 22.1 Introduction 361 22.2 Endocrine Disrupting Chemicals 365 22.4 Breast Cancer and Endocrine Disruptors 367 22.5 Mixture Effects on Endocrine Function—Case Studies 370 22.6 Tobacco Smoke 373 22.7 Summary 374 References 374 23.1 Introduction 381 23.1 Introduction 381 23.1 Introduction 381 23.2 Xenobiotics and Female Infertility 383 23.3 Smoking and Female Fertility 384 23.4 Chemically Induced Spontaneous Abortion 385 23.4.1 Shoe Industry Employees		References	345
21.1Introduction35121.2Prevalence of ADHD35121.3Environmental Factors in ADHD35121.4Chemical Mixtures as Triggers for ADHD35421.5Summary357References35722Endocrine System36122.1Introduction36122.2Endocrine Disrupting Chemicals36122.3Diabetes and Endocrine Disrupting Chemicals36522.4Breast Cancer and Endocrine Disruptors36722.5Mixture Effects on Endocrine Function—Case Studies37022.6Tobacco Smoke37322.7Summary374References37423.1Introduction38123.2Xenobiotics and Female Infertility38123.3Smoking and Female Infertility38423.4Chemically Induced Spontaneous Abortion38523.4.3Toluene Mixtures38623.4.4Agricultural Mixtures38623.4.5Anesthetic Gases38723.4.6Laboratory Workers38723.4.7Environmental Tobacco Smoke Exposure38723.4.9Formulated Pesticide Use38823.5.1Genital Malformations39023.5.1Genital Male Infertility38823.5.1Genital Male Infertility38923.5.3Decreasing Semen Quality39023.5.4Tenzing Semen Quality39023.5.3Decreasing Semen Quality391 </td <td>21 Atten</td> <td>tion Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD)</td> <td>351</td>	21 Atten	tion Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD)	351
21.2Prevalence of ADHD35121.3Environmental Factors in ADHD35121.4Chemical Mixtures as Triggers for ADHD35421.5Summary357References35722Endocrine System36122.1Introduction36122.2Endocrine Disrupting Chemicals36122.3Diabetes and Endocrine Disrupting Chemicals36522.4Breast Cancer and Endocrine Disruptors36722.5Mixture Effects on Endocrine Function—Case Studies37022.6Tobacco Smoke37322.7Summary374References37423.1Introduction38123.2Xenobiotics and Female Infertility38323.3Smoking and Female Fertility38423.4Chemically Induced Spontaneous Abortion38523.4.1Shoe Industry Employees38623.4.2Semiconductor Manufacturing38623.4.3Toluene Mixtures38623.4.4Agricultural Mixtures38623.4.5Anesthetic Gases38723.4.6Laboratory Workers38723.4.7Environmental Tobacco Smoke Exposure38723.4.8Marijuana Use38823.5.1Genital Malformations39023.5.1Genital Malformations39023.5.3Decreasing Semen Quality39023.5.4Tenviordice Appendicutes38825.5Xenobiotics and Male Infertility	21.1	Introduction	351
21.3Environmental Factors in ADHD35121.4Chemical Mixtures as Triggers for ADHD35421.5Summary357References35722Endocrine System36122.1Introduction36122.2Endocrine Disrupting Chemicals36122.3Diabetes and Endocrine Disrupting Chemicals36522.4Breast Cancer and Endocrine Disruptors36722.5Mixture Effects on Endocrine Function—Case Studies37022.6Tobacco Smoke37322.7Summary374References37423.1Introduction38123.2Xenobiotics and Female Infertility38323.3Smoking and Female Fertility38423.4Chemically Induced Spontaneous Abortion38523.4.1Shoe Industry Employees38523.4.2Semiconductor Manufacturing38523.4.3Toluene Mixtures38623.4.4Agricultural Mixtures38623.4.5Anesthetic Gases38723.4.6Laboratory Workers38723.4.9Formulated Pesticide Use38823.5.1Genital Malformations39023.5.1Genital Male Infertility38923.5.3Decreasing Semen Quality39023.5.4Testicular Cancer391	21.2	Prevalence of ADHD	351
21.4Chemical Mixtures as Triggers for ADHD35421.5Summary357References357 22 Endocrine System361 22.1Introduction36122.2Endocrine Disrupting Chemicals36122.3Diabetes and Endocrine Disrupting Chemicals36522.4Breast Cancer and Endocrine Disruptors36722.5Mixture Effects on Endocrine Function—Case Studies37022.6Tobacco Smoke37322.7Summary374References37423.1Introduction38123.2Xenobiotics and Female Infertility38323.3Smoking and Female Fertility38523.4.1Shoe Industry Employees38523.4.2Semiconductor Manufacturing38523.4.3Toluene Mixtures38623.4.4Agricultural Mixtures38623.4.5Anesthetic Gases38723.4.6Laboratory Workers38723.4.9Formulated Pesticide Use38823.5.1Genital Malformations39023.5.2Impaired Spermatogenesis39023.5.3Decreasing Semen Quality39023.5.4Testicular Cancer391	21.3	Environmental Factors in ADHD	351
21.5Summary References357 35722Endocrine System 122.2361 22.122.1Introduction 122.2361 22.322.2Endocrine Disrupting Chemicals 	21.4	Chemical Mixtures as Triggers for ADHD	354
References35722 Endocrine System36122.1Introduction22.2Endocrine Disrupting Chemicals36122.222.3Diabetes and Endocrine Disrupting Chemicals36522.4Breast Cancer and Endocrine Disruptors36722.5Mixture Effects on Endocrine Function—Case Studies37022.6Tobacco Smoke37322.7Summary374References23 Toxic Infertility33.123.2Xenobiotics and Female Infertility38123.223.3Smoking and Female Fertility38423.4Chemically Induced Spontaneous Abortion38523.4.1Shoe Industry Employees38623.4.2Semiconductor Manufacturing38723.4.3Toluene Mixtures34.4Agricultural Mixtures34.5Anesthetic Gases35723.4.6Laboratory Workers34.7Environmental Tobacco Smoke Exposure35723.4.8Marijuana Use34.923.4.9Formulated Pesticide Use34.823.5Xenobiotics and Male Infertility38823.5Xenobiotics and Male Infertility38923.5.2Impaired Spermatogenesis39023.5.3Decreas	21.5	Summary	357
22 Endocrine System36122.1Introduction36122.2Endocrine Disrupting Chemicals36122.3Diabetes and Endocrine Disrupting Chemicals36522.4Breast Cancer and Endocrine Disruptors36722.5Mixture Effects on Endocrine Function—Case Studies37022.6Tobacco Smoke37322.7Summary374References37423 Toxic Infertility38123.1Introduction38123.2Xenobiotics and Female Infertility38323.3Smoking and Female Fertility38423.4Chemically Induced Spontaneous Abortion38523.4.1Shoe Industry Employees38523.4.2Semiconductor Manufacturing38523.4.3Toluene Mixtures38623.4.4Agricultural Mixtures38623.4.5Anesthetic Gases38723.4.6Laboratory Workers38723.4.9Formulated Pesticide Use38823.4.9Formulated Pesticide Use38823.5.1Genital Malformations39023.5.2Impaired Spermatogenesis39023.5.3Decreasing Semen Quality39023.5.4Testicular Cancer391		References	357
22.1Introduction36122.2Endocrine Disrupting Chemicals36122.3Diabetes and Endocrine Disrupting Chemicals36522.4Breast Cancer and Endocrine Disruptors36722.5Mixture Effects on Endocrine Function—Case Studies37022.6Tobacco Smoke37322.7Summary374References37423.1Introduction38123.2Xenobiotics and Female Infertility38323.3Smoking and Female Fertility38423.4Chemically Induced Spontaneous Abortion38523.4.1Shoe Industry Employees38523.4.2Semiconductor Manufacturing38523.4.3Toluene Mixtures38623.4.4Agricultural Mixtures38623.4.5Anesthetic Gases38723.4.6Laboratory Workers38723.4.7Environmental Tobacco Smoke Exposure38723.4.8Marijuana Use38823.5Xenobiotics and Male Infertility38823.5Xenobiotics and Male Infertility38923.5.1Genital Malformations39023.5.2Impaired Spermatogenesis39023.5.3Decreasing Semen Quality39023.5.4Testicular Cancer391	22 Endo	crine System	361
22.2Endocrine Disrupting Chemicals36122.3Diabetes and Endocrine Disrupting Chemicals36522.4Breast Cancer and Endocrine Disruptors36722.5Mixture Effects on Endocrine Function—Case Studies37022.6Tobacco Smoke37322.7Summary374References37423.1Introduction38123.2Xenobiotics and Female Infertility38323.3Smoking and Female Fertility38423.4Chemically Induced Spontaneous Abortion38523.4.1Shoe Industry Employees38523.4.2Semiconductor Manufacturing38523.4.3Toluene Mixtures38623.4.4Agricultural Mixtures38623.4.5Anesthetic Gases38723.4.6Laboratory Workers38723.4.8Marijuana Use38723.4.9Formulated Pesticide Use38823.4.10Water Disinfection Byproducts38823.5.1Genital Malformations39023.5.2Impaired Spermatogenesis39023.5.3Decreasing Semen Quality39023.5.4Testicular Cancer391	22.1	Introduction	361
22.3Diabetes and Endocrine Disrupting Chemicals36522.4Breast Cancer and Endocrine Disruptors36722.5Mixture Effects on Endocrine Function—Case Studies37022.6Tobacco Smoke37322.7Summary374References37423Toxic Infertility38123.1Introduction38123.2Xenobiotics and Female Infertility38323.3Smoking and Female Fertility38423.4Chemically Induced Spontaneous Abortion38523.4.1Shoe Industry Employees38523.4.2Semiconductor Manufacturing38523.4.3Toluene Mixtures38623.4.4Agricultural Mixtures38623.4.5Anesthetic Gases38723.4.6Laboratory Workers38723.4.8Marijuana Use38723.4.9Formulated Pesticide Use38823.5.1Genital Malformations39023.5.2Impaired Spermatogenesis39023.5.3Decreasing Semen Quality39023.5.4Testicular Cancer391	22.2	Endocrine Disrupting Chemicals	361
22.4Breast Cancer and Endocrine Discuptors36722.5Mixture Effects on Endocrine Function—Case Studies37022.6Tobacco Smoke37322.7Summary374References37423Toxic Infertility38123.1Introduction38123.2Xenobiotics and Female Infertility38323.3Smoking and Female Fertility38423.4Chemically Induced Spontaneous Abortion38523.4.1Shoe Industry Employees38523.4.2Semiconductor Manufacturing38623.4.3Toluene Mixtures38623.4.4Agricultural Mixtures38623.4.5Anesthetic Gases38723.4.6Laboratory Workers38723.4.7Environmental Tobacco Smoke Exposure38723.4.8Marijuana Use38823.4.9Formulated Pesticide Use38823.5.1Genital Malformations39023.5.2Impaired Spermatogenesis39023.5.3Decreasing Semen Quality39023.5.4Testicular Cancer391	22.3	Diabetes and Endocrine Disrupting Chemicals	365
22.5Mixture Effects on Endocrine Function—Case Studies37022.6Tobacco Smoke37322.7Summary374References37423Toxic Infertility38123.1Introduction38123.2Xenobiotics and Female Infertility38323.3Smoking and Female Fertility38423.4Chemically Induced Spontaneous Abortion38523.4.1Shoe Industry Employees38523.4.2Semiconductor Manufacturing38623.4.3Toluene Mixtures38623.4.4Agricultural Mixtures38623.4.5Anesthetic Gases38723.4.6Laboratory Workers38723.4.7Environmental Tobacco Smoke Exposure38723.4.8Marijuana Use38823.4.9Formulated Pesticide Use38823.5.1Genital Malformations39023.5.2Impaired Spermatogenesis39023.5.3Decreasing Semen Quality391	22.4	Breast Cancer and Endocrine Disruptors	367
22.6Tobacco Smoke37322.7Summary References37423Toxic Infertility38123.1Introduction38123.2Xenobiotics and Female Infertility38323.3Smoking and Female Fertility38423.4Chemically Induced Spontaneous Abortion38523.4.1Shoe Industry Employees38523.4.2Semiconductor Manufacturing38523.4.3Toluene Mixtures38623.4.4Agricultural Mixtures38623.4.5Anesthetic Gases38723.4.6Laboratory Workers38723.4.8Marijuana Use38723.4.9Formulated Pesticide Use38823.4.10Water Disinfection Byproducts38823.5.1Genital Malformations39023.5.2Impaired Spermatogenesis39023.5.3Decreasing Semen Quality391	22.5	Mixture Effects on Endocrine Function—Case Studies	370
22.7Summary References37423 Toxic Infertility38123.1Introduction38123.2Xenobiotics and Female Infertility38323.3Smoking and Female Fertility38423.4Chemically Induced Spontaneous Abortion38523.4.1Shoe Industry Employees38523.4.2Semiconductor Manufacturing38523.4.3Toluene Mixtures38623.4.4Agricultural Mixtures38623.4.5Anesthetic Gases38723.4.6Laboratory Workers38723.4.7Environmental Tobacco Smoke Exposure38723.4.8Marijuana Use38723.4.9Formulated Pesticide Use38823.4.10Water Disinfection Byproducts38823.5.1Genital Malformations39023.5.2Impaired Spermatogenesis39023.5.3Decreasing Semen Quality39023.5.4Testicular Cancer391	22.6	Tobacco Smoke	373
References374 23 Toxic Infertility381 23.1Introduction23.2Xenobiotics and Female Infertility23.3Smoking and Female Fertility23.4Chemically Induced Spontaneous Abortion23.4.1Shoe Industry Employees23.4.2Semiconductor Manufacturing23.4.3Toluene Mixtures23.4.4Agricultural Mixtures23.4.5Anesthetic Gases23.4.6Laboratory Workers23.4.7Environmental Tobacco Smoke Exposure23.4.8Marijuana Use23.4.9Formulated Pesticide Use23.4.10Water Disinfection Byproducts23.5.1Genital Malformations23.5.2Impaired Spermatogenesis23.5.3Decreasing Semen Quality23.5.4Testicular Cancer391	22.7	Summary	374
23 Toxic Infertility38123.1Introduction38123.2Xenobiotics and Female Infertility38323.3Smoking and Female Fertility38423.4Chemically Induced Spontaneous Abortion38523.4.1Shoe Industry Employees38523.4.2Semiconductor Manufacturing38523.4.3Toluene Mixtures38623.4.4Agricultural Mixtures38623.4.5Anesthetic Gases38723.4.6Laboratory Workers38723.4.7Environmental Tobacco Smoke Exposure38723.4.8Marijuana Use38723.4.9Formulated Pesticide Use38823.5.1Genital Malformations39023.5.2Impaired Spermatogenesis39023.5.3Decreasing Semen Quality39023.5.4Testicular Cancer391		References	374
23.1Introduction38123.2Xenobiotics and Female Infertility38323.3Smoking and Female Fertility38423.4Chemically Induced Spontaneous Abortion38523.4.1Shoe Industry Employees38523.4.2Semiconductor Manufacturing38523.4.3Toluene Mixtures38623.4.4Agricultural Mixtures38623.4.5Anesthetic Gases38723.4.6Laboratory Workers38723.4.7Environmental Tobacco Smoke Exposure38723.4.8Marijuana Use38723.4.9Formulated Pesticide Use38823.4.10Water Disinfection Byproducts38823.5.1Genital Malformations39023.5.2Impaired Spermatogenesis39023.5.3Decreasing Semen Quality39023.5.4Testicular Cancer391	23 Toxic	Infertility	381
23.2Xenobiotics and Female Infertility38323.3Smoking and Female Fertility38423.4Chemically Induced Spontaneous Abortion38523.4.1Shoe Industry Employees38523.4.2Semiconductor Manufacturing38523.4.3Toluene Mixtures38623.4.4Agricultural Mixtures38623.4.5Anesthetic Gases38723.4.6Laboratory Workers38723.4.7Environmental Tobacco Smoke Exposure38723.4.8Marijuana Use38723.4.9Formulated Pesticide Use38823.4.10Water Disinfection Byproducts38823.5.1Genital Malformations39023.5.2Impaired Spermatogenesis39023.5.3Decreasing Semen Quality39023.5.4Testicular Cancer391	23.1	Introduction	381
23.3Smoking and Female Fertility38423.4Chemically Induced Spontaneous Abortion38523.4.1Shoe Industry Employees38523.4.2Semiconductor Manufacturing38523.4.3Toluene Mixtures38623.4.4Agricultural Mixtures38623.4.5Anesthetic Gases38723.4.6Laboratory Workers38723.4.7Environmental Tobacco Smoke Exposure38723.4.8Marijuana Use38823.4.9Formulated Pesticide Use38823.5Xenobiotics and Male Infertility38923.5.1Genital Malformations39023.5.2Impaired Spermatogenesis39023.5.3Decreasing Semen Quality39123.5.4Testicular Cancer391	23.2	Xenobiotics and Female Infertility	383
23.4Chemically Induced Spontaneous Abortion38523.4.1Shoe Industry Employees38523.4.2Semiconductor Manufacturing38523.4.3Toluene Mixtures38623.4.4Agricultural Mixtures38623.4.5Anesthetic Gases38723.4.6Laboratory Workers38723.4.7Environmental Tobacco Smoke Exposure38723.4.8Marijuana Use38723.4.9Formulated Pesticide Use38823.4.10Water Disinfection Byproducts38823.5.1Genital Malformations39023.5.2Impaired Spermatogenesis39023.5.3Decreasing Semen Quality39123.5.4Testicular Cancer391	23.3	Smoking and Female Fertility	384
23.4.1Shoe Industry Employees38523.4.2Semiconductor Manufacturing38523.4.3Toluene Mixtures38623.4.4Agricultural Mixtures38623.4.5Anesthetic Gases38723.4.6Laboratory Workers38723.4.7Environmental Tobacco Smoke Exposure38723.4.8Marijuana Use38723.4.9Formulated Pesticide Use38823.4.10Water Disinfection Byproducts38823.5Xenobiotics and Male Infertility38923.5.1Genital Malformations39023.5.2Impaired Spermatogenesis39023.5.3Decreasing Semen Quality39123.5.4Testicular Cancer391	23.4	Chemically Induced Spontaneous Abortion	385
23.4.2Semiconductor Manufacturing38523.4.3Toluene Mixtures38623.4.4Agricultural Mixtures38623.4.5Anesthetic Gases38723.4.6Laboratory Workers38723.4.6Laboratory Workers38723.4.7Environmental Tobacco Smoke Exposure38723.4.8Marijuana Use38723.4.9Formulated Pesticide Use38823.4.10Water Disinfection Byproducts38823.5Xenobiotics and Male Infertility38923.5.1Genital Malformations39023.5.2Impaired Spermatogenesis39023.5.3Decreasing Semen Quality39023.5.4Testicular Cancer391		23.4.1 Shoe Industry Employees	385
23.4.3Toluene Mixtures38623.4.4Agricultural Mixtures38623.4.5Anesthetic Gases38723.4.6Laboratory Workers38723.4.7Environmental Tobacco Smoke Exposure38723.4.8Marijuana Use38723.4.9Formulated Pesticide Use38823.4.10Water Disinfection Byproducts38823.5Xenobiotics and Male Infertility38923.5.1Genital Malformations39023.5.2Impaired Spermatogenesis39023.5.3Decreasing Semen Quality39123.5.4Testicular Cancer391		23.4.2 Semiconductor Manufacturing	385
23.4.4Agricultural Mixtures38623.4.5Anesthetic Gases38723.4.6Laboratory Workers38723.4.7Environmental Tobacco Smoke Exposure38723.4.8Marijuana Use38723.4.9Formulated Pesticide Use38823.4.10Water Disinfection Byproducts38823.5Xenobiotics and Male Infertility38923.5.1Genital Malformations39023.5.2Impaired Spermatogenesis39023.5.3Decreasing Semen Quality39123.5.4Testicular Cancer391		23.4.3 Toluene Mixtures	386
23.4.5Anesthetic Gases38723.4.6Laboratory Workers38723.4.7Environmental Tobacco Smoke Exposure38723.4.8Marijuana Use38723.4.9Formulated Pesticide Use38823.4.10Water Disinfection Byproducts38823.5Xenobiotics and Male Infertility38923.5.1Genital Malformations39023.5.2Impaired Spermatogenesis39023.5.3Decreasing Semen Quality39123.5.4Testicular Cancer391		23.4.4 Agricultural Mixtures	386
23.4.6Laboratory Workers38723.4.7Environmental Tobacco Smoke Exposure38723.4.8Marijuana Use38723.4.9Formulated Pesticide Use38823.4.10Water Disinfection Byproducts38823.5Xenobiotics and Male Infertility38923.5.1Genital Malformations39023.5.2Impaired Spermatogenesis39023.5.3Decreasing Semen Quality39023.5.4Testicular Cancer391		23.4.5 Anesthetic Gases	387
23.4.7Environmental Tobacco Smoke Exposure38723.4.8Marijuana Use38723.4.9Formulated Pesticide Use38823.4.10Water Disinfection Byproducts38823.5Xenobiotics and Male Infertility38923.5.1Genital Malformations39023.5.2Impaired Spermatogenesis39023.5.3Decreasing Semen Quality39023.5.4Testicular Cancer391		23.4.6 Laboratory Workers	387
23.4.8Marijuana Use38723.4.9Formulated Pesticide Use38823.4.10Water Disinfection Byproducts38823.5Xenobiotics and Male Infertility38923.5.1Genital Malformations39023.5.2Impaired Spermatogenesis39023.5.3Decreasing Semen Quality39023.5.4Testicular Cancer391		23.4.7 Environmental Tobacco Smoke Exposure	387
23.4.9Formulated Pesticide Use38823.4.10Water Disinfection Byproducts38823.5Xenobiotics and Male Infertility38923.5.1Genital Malformations39023.5.2Impaired Spermatogenesis39023.5.3Decreasing Semen Quality39023.5.4Testicular Cancer391		23.4.8 Marijuana Use	387
23.4.10Water Disinfection Byproducts38823.5Xenobiotics and Male Infertility38923.5.1Genital Malformations39023.5.2Impaired Spermatogenesis39023.5.3Decreasing Semen Quality39023.5.4Testicular Cancer391		23.4.9 Formulated Pesticide Use	388
23.5Xenobiotics and Male Infertility38923.5.1Genital Malformations39023.5.2Impaired Spermatogenesis39023.5.3Decreasing Semen Quality39023.5.4Testicular Cancer391		23.4.10 Water Disinfection Byproducts	388
23.5.1Genital Malformations39023.5.2Impaired Spermatogenesis39023.5.3Decreasing Semen Quality39023.5.4Testicular Cancer391	23.5	Xenobiotics and Male Infertility	389
23.5.2Impaired Spermatogenesis39023.5.3Decreasing Semen Quality39023.5.4Testicular Cancer391		23.5.1 Genital Malformations	390
23.5.3Decreasing Semen Quality39023.5.4Testicular Cancer391		23.5.2 Impaired Spermatogenesis	390
23.5.4 Testicular Cancer 391		23.5.3 Decreasing Semen Quality	390
*/ -		23.5.4 Testicular Cancer	391

23.6	Chemicals Affecting Male Infertility	391
23.7	Effects of Chemical Mixtures on Male Fertility	391
	23.7.1 Organic Solvent Mixtures	391
	23.7.2 Pesticide Mixture	393
	23.7.3 Mild Steel Welding Fumes	393
	23.7.4 Tobacco Smoke	393
	23.7.5 PCBs and Phthalate Interaction	394
	23.7.6 Diesel Exhausts	394
	23.7.7 Acrylates	394
23.8	Testicular Dysgenesis Syndrome	395
23.9	Summary	395
	References	396
24 Terat	ogens	401
24.1	Introduction	401
24.2	Single Chemical Teratogens	402
24.3	Paternally Transmitted Teratogenic Effects	402
24.4	Transgenerational Teratogenic Effects	405
24.5	Teratogenic Mixtures	405
	24.5.1. Organic Solvents	405
	24.5.2 Wood Preservative Chemicals	408
	24.5.3 Pesticides	408
	24.5.4 Chemical–Radiation Mixture	409
	24.5.5 Ethanol Mixtures	409
	24.5.6 Air Pollution	410
	24.5.7 Paint	410
	24.5.8 Hazardous Waste Site Proximity	411
	24.5.9 Tobacco Smoke	412
24.6	Summary	412
	References	412
25 Immu	ine System	417
25.1	Introduction	417
25.2	Immunosuppressants	418
25.3	Immunostimulants	420
25.4	Autoimmune Toxins	420
25.5	Immunotoxic Mixtures	421
	25.5.1 Benzene and Toluene	421
	25.5.2 Pesticides and Fertilizers	422
	25.5.3 Propoxur and Heavy Metals	422
	25.5.4 Environmental Tobacco Smoke Sensitization	422

Сс	ONTENTS		xvii
		25.5.5 Tobacco Smoke and Organic Solvents	422
		25.5.6 Tobacco Smoke and House Dust Mites	423
		25.5.7 Air Pollution	423
	25.6	Multiple Chemical Sensitivity (MCS) and	
		Chronic Fatigue Syndrome (CFS)	424
	25.7	Summary	424
		References	424
26	Chemie	cal Sensitivity: Multiple Chemical Sensitivity (MCS),	
	Chroni	c Fatigue Syndrome (CFS), Fibromyalgia (FM),	
	and Gu	llf War Syndrome (GWS)	429
	26.1	Introduction	429
	26.2	Multiple Chemical Sensitivity (MCS)	429
	26.3	MCS Symptoms	432
	26.4	Causative MCS Chemicals	434
	26.5	MCS Mechanistic Considerations	435
	26.6	MCS Mixture Effect	440
	26.7	Chronic Fatigue Syndrome (CFS)	442
	26.8	CFS and Chemical Exposure	443
	26.9	Fibromyalgia (FM)	445
	26.10	Gulf War Syndrome (GWS)	446
	26.11	Comorbidity of MCS, CFS, and FM	447
	26.12	Chemical Sensitivity Trigger Hypothesis	447
	26.13	Summary	452
		References	453
27	Skin		459
	27.1	Introduction	459
	27.2	Skin Permeability	459
	27.3	Allergic Contact Dermatitis (ACD)	465
	27.4	Dermally Induced Respiratory Hypersensitivity	467
	27.5	Chemical Burns	467
	27.6	Mixtures	468
	27.7	Summary	469
		References	469
28	Muscul	loskeletal System	473
	28.1	Introduction	473
	28.2	Rheumatoid Arthritis (RA)	473
	28.3	Scleroderma (Systemic Sclerosis)	473
	28.4	Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE)	476

xviii		CONTENTS
28.5	Osteoporosis and Osteomalacia	476
28.6	Mixtures	477
28.7	Summary	478
	References	479
29 Care	liovascular System	481
29.1	Introduction	481
29.2	Leachates	484
29.3	Air Pollution	485
29.4	Tobacco	488
29.5	Cancer	490
29.6	Summary	490
	References	490
30 Liver		495
30.1	Introduction	495
30.2	Single Chemical Hepatotoxins	495
30.3	Hepatotoxic Mixtures—Animal Studies	498
30.4	Human Case Studies	501
30.5	Hepatic Cancer	504
30.6	Summary	504
	References	505
31 Kidı	nevs	507
31.1	Introduction	507
31.2	Single Chemical Renal Toxins	507
31.3	Nephrotoxic Chemical Mixtures	510
31.4	Summary	511
	References	512
32 Can	cer	515
32.1	Introduction	515
32.2	Cancer Incidence Rates	515
32.3	Chemical Carcinogens	516
32.4	Mechanisms of Carcinogenesis	522
32.5	Single Chemical Carcinogens	526
	32.5.1 Cadmium	526
	32.5.2 Benzene	526
	32.5.3 Arsenic	527
	32.5.4 1,3-Butadiene	527
	32.5.5 Other Organic Solvents and Intermediates	527

		32.5.6 Benzo[a]pyrene	527		
		32.5.7 Electromagnetic Radiation	527		
	32.6	Occupational Exposures Known to be Carcinogenic	528		
	32.7	2.7 Mixture Exposures Known to be Carcinogenic—Many			
		Component Mixtures	529		
		32.7.1 Metalworking fluids	529		
		32.7.2 Lung Cancers Not Related to Smoking	530		
		32.7.3 PAH Exposure and Cancer	530		
		32.7.4 Painters	531		
		32.7.5 Pressmen	532		
		32.7.6 Rubber Industry Workers	532		
		32.7.7 Oil Refinery and Petrochemical Workers	532		
		32.7.8 Hazardous Waste Sites and Water Pollution	533		
		32.7.9 Asphalt Fumes	534		
		32.7.10 Combined Action of Microwave Fields and			
		Environmental Pollution	535		
		32.7.11 Leather Tanning Industry	535		
		32.7.12 Pesticides	536		
		32.7.13 Hematolymphopoietic Malignancies (HLPMs)	539		
	32.8	Mixture Exposures Known to Be Carcinogenic—Two			
		Component Mixtures	541		
	32.9	Tobacco and Cancer	542		
		32.9.1 Tobacco and Asbestos	543		
		32.9.2 Tobacco and Arsenic	543		
		32.9.3 Tobacco and Alcohol	543		
		32.9.4 Tobacco and Radon	544		
	32.10	Summary and Outlook	544		
		References	544		
33	Childh	ood Cancer	553		
	33.1	Introduction	553		
	33.2	Prevalent Childhood Cancers	553		
	33.3	Childhood Cancer Studies	554		
		33.3.1 Tobacco Smoke	554		
		33.3.2 Solvents	554		
	33.4	Summary	556		
		References	556		
34	Cancer	Clusters	559		
	34.1	Introduction	559		
	34.2	Mixture-Induced Cancer Clusters	559		

	34.2.1	Cluster 1: Childhood Leukemia	560	
	34.2.2	Cluster 2: Prostate Cancer	560	
	34.2.3	Clusters 3–6: Testicular Cancer	560	
	34.2.4	Cluster 7: Brain Cancer Cluster—Electronics		
		Workers	561	
	34.2.5	Cluster 8: Brain Cancer Cluster—Petrochemical		
		Workers	562	
	34.2.6	Cluster 9: Brain Cancers in Offspring of		
		Electronics Workers	562	
	34.2.7	Cluster 10: Kidney Cancer Cluster	563	
	34.2.8	Cluster 11: Colorectal Cancer Cluster	563	
	34.2.9	Cluster 12: Multiple Cancer Cluster	564	
	34.2.10	Cluster 13: Lung Cancer Cluster	564	
	34.2.11	Cluster 14: Childhood Leukemia	565	
	34.2.12	Cluster 15: Multiple Cancer Clusters	566	
	34.2.13	Cluster 16: Toxic Waste Disposal Site		
		Related Clusters	567	
34.3	Summa	ry	568	
	Referen	ices	568	
Part 4 Re	egulatory	Requirements and Conclusions	571	
35 Regula	atory Red	quirements	573	
35.1	Introdu	ction	573	
35.2	.2 Warning Requirements 5'		573	
35.3	Warning	g Deficiencies	574	
35.4	Warning	gs for Multiple Exposures	575	
35.5	Warning	gs for Mixtures	576	
35.6	35.6 Odor 57			
35.7	35.7 Warning Recommendations 5			
35.8	Summa	ry	580	
	Referen	ices	581	
36 Conc	clusions a	and Recommendations	583	
36.1	Introdu	ction	583	
36.2	Conclus	sions	583	
36.3	Recom	nendations	586	
36.4	The Fut	ure	587	
Referen	nces		588	
Abbrevia	Abbreviations 5			
Index			593	

I have been a chemical toxicologist for almost forty years. As such, I have studied and evaluated the toxicities of chemicals and the health effects produced by human exposure to chemical products and environmental chemicals.

This book really began over thirty years ago, when I was confronted with the first of scores of instances where individuals exposed to chemical mixtures subsequently developed symptoms and effects which could not be explained by the known toxicological effects of the individual chemical species. In some instances, these exposures led to effects far in excess of what would be expected from the exposure. In others, effects were noted following exposures to extremely low levels of chemicals and in still others the body organs targeted were not those known to be impacted by the individual chemicals. Stymied, I advised people to look for other causes of the conditions observed. These inquiries, however, led to my research into the area of toxic effects of chemical mixtures and ultimately to this book.

As time progressed, I began to think that the noted effects might in some way be related to the mixtures, but an explanation remained elusive. The breakthrough came while I was simultaneously investigating two separate, unrelated exposures. The first involved the exposures of several people to very low levels of herbicides and their carrier solvents that entered a building with air conditioning uptake air. The second involved the exposure of an individual to chemicals off-gassing from newly installed carpeting in a home. In both instances, air sampling revealed airborne concentrations of all individual volatile chemicals to be less than ten percent of the values known to affect people. Both exposures were to complex mixtures of chemicals and both exposures led to effects unknown for the individual chemical species.

These cases led me to hypothesize that exposures to chemical mixtures could produce "strange" effects. A review of the literature revealed many examples of unexplained health effects on humans following exposures to mixtures. A study of these showed that in every unexplained instance the mixture contained at least one lipophilic (fat soluble) and one hydrophilic (water soluble) chemical. The literature showed that all body tissues have lipophilic barriers surrounding them. This suggested that absorption of lipophilic chemicals should occur more easily than for hydrophilic species. This too was confirmed by the literature and it was then hypothesized that lipophiles facilitate the absorption of admixed hydrophiles. Accordingly, a greater quantity of a hydrophilic species would be absorbed if it were dissolved in a lipophile than would be taken up if the hydrophile were present alone. This, too, was confirmed by the literature. For example, lipophiles are commonly used to facilitate the absorption of hydrophilic pharmaceuticals. It was further hypothesized that greater absorption of hydrophiles might account for the enhanced low level effects observed. What was not predicted at the time was the observed attack of lipophile/ hydrophile mixtures on new target organs. In multiple cases, however, human exposures to mixtures of lipophiles and hydrophiles showed attacks at organs not known to be targeted by the individual chemicals.

It was found that all bodily systems are affected by some lipophile/ hydophile mixtures. These include: the reproductive (infertility), nervous, digestive, skin, musculoskeletal, filtering organ, digestive, respiratory, cardiovascular, immunological, and endocrine systems. A developing fetus or young child (with an incompletely developed immune system) is particularly vulnerable to attack by chemical mixtures.

The sources of lipophilic/hydrophilic chemical exposure include: environmental pollution (air, water, and soil contamination), pesticide, herbicide, and fertilizer residues in foods and drinking water, excipients (non-active additives such as colors, flavors, rheological agents, etc.) in foods and pharmaceuticals, industrial chemicals, household chemical products, personal care products, cosmetics, and environmentally synthesized chemicals that are formed from reactions with released chemicals with each other and with naturally present species.

The subject of this book is effects on humans. Animal studies are occasionally cited, but conclusions are drawn primarily from the human experience.

This book is divided into four parts:

Part I contains an introduction, a discussion of chemical toxicology and mechanisms of chemical absorption and of interaction with various body tissues on macro and molecular levels. Also discussed are the body's protective responses to xenobiotic intrusion, including metabolism, immune system, and endocrine system actions.

Part II discusses where the exposures to chemical mixtures come from, including chemical product and environmental sources. Included are: air pollution, water pollution, foods, chemicals used in food production, pharmaceutical products, and electromagnetic radiation.

Part III examines the specific effects of mixtures on different body systems and organs and addresses predicting what the effects of uncharacterized mixtures will be. Case studies of specific effects of chemical mixtures on humans are listed and described. Part IV is devoted to regulatory requirements for toxic chemical warnings for chemicals and chemical products and the need to adjust recommended exposure levels for products containing chemical mixtures. This part also contains suggestions for limiting mixture exposures in the products we use and recommendations for limiting environmental exposures to toxic chemical mixtures.

I wish to acknowledge the encouragement of my children and their spouses: David, Jennifer, Joseph, Christine, Michael, Katie, Laura and Jeremy, during the research and writing of this book. David and Jennifer, I can't thank you enough for your critical review. Your scientific focus, intellect, and rigor were invaluable. Jeremy, thank you for your editing and computer skills. These helped immeasurably in the writing of this book.

This book is dedicated to my children and grandchildren as well as to yours and those of everyone else with the hope that they will all live in a healthier world.

> Harold I. Zeliger West Charlton, New York April 2008

PART 1 INTRODUCTION TO CHEMICAL TOXICOLOGY OF MIXTURES

What do Gulf War Syndrome, Katrina Cough, Aerospace Syndrome, and epidemic increases in the incidence of autism, Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD), birth defects, asthma, mailroom illness, spontaneous abortion, and many cancers have in common? Each of these can be associated with a single causative agent, but each can also be associated with environmental exposure to chemical mixtures that do not contain any of the known causative agents.

No doubt some of the increased number of diagnoses being made for environmentally induced illnesses (such as asthma and ADHD) are due to improved methods of detection and reporting. The huge increases observed, however, cannot be accounted for by increased diligence only.

Many environmentally induced illnesses can be attributed to exposures to single chemical compounds. These have been and continue to be extensively studied and numerous references address them.^[1,2] Table 1.1 lists a few examples of single chemicals and the effects they are known to cause.

Single chemical effects are not specifically addressed here. Rather, the focus here is on illnesses that ensue following exposures to mixtures of chemicals that cannot be attributed to any one component of an exposure mixture.

Traditionally and historically, toxicologists have addressed the effects of single chemicals. There are thousands of unnatural chemicals in our environment, in our homes, and at our work place, and new ones are being constantly added. It is virtually impossible for a person to be exposed to a

Chemical	Illness
Benzene	Leukemia
Bromoform	Spontaneous abortion
DDT	Liver and kidney damage
Dibenzofuran	Skin rashes and pigmentation changes
<i>n</i> -hexane	Central nervous system damage
Methyl mercuric chloride	Irreversible brain damage
Trimellitic anhydride	Asthma

 Table 1.1 Single Chemicals and the Effects They Are Known to Cause

single chemical. The unborn fetus is exposed to numerous chemicals *in utero*, and babies have been shown to be born with hundreds of synthetic chemicals in their blood streams. Nursing babies ingest large numbers of environmental toxins found in mother's milk.

As used here, an unnatural chemical is one that is either synthesized by man and unknown in nature (e.g., PCBs, DDT, and toluene diisocyanate) or one that is known in nature but is introduced in concentrations that are much greater than those found in unpolluted environments (e.g., ozone, 1,3-butadiene, and asbestos). We all drink water, breathe air, and eat food that contains hundreds if not thousands of unnatural chemical compounds. Household cleaning and maintenance products, adhesives, paints, disinfectants, and pesticides are just some of the sources of chemical mixtures. Lesser known ones include disposable diapers, marking pens, air fresheners, fragrance products, mattress covers, pharmaceuticals, food flavors and colors, and chemicals inadvertently carried home on the clothing of workers. Naturally occurring phenomena such as fires, petroleum seepage, and volcanoes are also sources of chemical mixtures. The interaction of electromagnetic radiation with chemicals and the reaction of chemicals with other released or naturally occurring chemicals produce still more mixtures. Exposure to industrial chemicals impacts very large numbers of people with wide varieties of single species and chemical mixtures.

Before 1828, it was believed that organic chemicals could only be formed under the influence of the Vital Force in the bodies of animals and plants. Vital Force, also referred to as Vital Spark or energy and soul, is a tradition in all cultures, including Eastern as well as Western ones. Until 1828, this vitalism, and only it, was believed to be responsible for all factors affecting life, including the synthesis of all organic molecules. It was inconceivable that man could create such a material. In 1828, Friedrich Wohler accomplished the first synthesis of urea, a naturally occurring component of human urine. Once it was demonstrated that such synthesis was possible, chemists were free to pursue other such work, and since then, many other naturally occurring compounds have been synthetically prepared. Organic synthesis, however, has not limited itself to duplicating nature. Hundreds of thousands of new, previously unknown to nature, chemicals have been synthesized.

Each new chemical added to our environment potentially creates a vast number of new chemical mixtures with unknown health consequences. The number of compounds is multiplied by the chemical reactions of newly released compounds with existing released compounds as well as with naturally occurring species to create yet more toxic molecules. Continual exposure to electromagnetic radiation promotes further chemical reactivity and results in the creation of still more toxins. There are no meaningful experiments than can be done because the scope of the problem is undefined. The Earth's flora and fauna, including humans, are guinea pigs who are afflicted by these toxicants and often do not understand the causes of the resulting ailments. The results of these multiple exposures often only become evident after people are stricken. Research into the toxic effects of single chemicals often produce conflicting results when investigators fail to consider the presence of species other than the ones being studied. For example, different effects have been reported following the inhalation of formaldehyde when it was admixed with other chemicals.^[3]

For single chemical exposures, we know that most individuals are affected by very high concentrations. Individuals who are genetically predisposed and/or have been previously sensitized react to lower concentrations of a chemical. Effects at different concentration levels are, for the most part, known and predictable, enabling proper precautions to be taken.^[4]

Exposures to mixtures of chemicals produce effects that are, for the most part, unknown and unpredictable. These are

- 1. enhanced effects
- 2. low level reactions
- 3. unpredicted points of attack.

An enhanced effect is defined as one where exposure to a chemical mixture produces a reaction at a target organ that is anticipated for one of the chemicals in the mixture but is a reaction that is far in excess of that anticipated from the toxicology of the individual chemical species.

A low level reaction is one where exposure to a mixture of chemicals in which each chemical is present at a concentration far below that known to produce a reaction does indeed impact a target organ that is known to be affected by one of the chemicals.

An unpredicted point of attack reaction occurs when exposure to a mixture of chemicals results in the attack on an organ not known to be impacted by any of the individual chemicals in the mixture.

The human body is a complex mixture of chemicals. We have evolved and adapted over time to contacting, eating, drinking, and breathing the chemicals naturally present in our environment. We are not always prepared for the assault of "unknown" synthetic chemicals on our bodies. The introduction of a foreign chemical species (xenobiotic) challenges the body's natural defense mechanisms to defend against an unknown challenger. The body responds by trying to metabolize the invader so that it can be eliminated, and/or the body fights it with its immune system. Most people are thus able to defend themselves against foreign chemical species. Mixtures, however, present a special challenge to the body's natural defenses. Often, one part of a mixture attacks a particular organ while a second species attacks a component of the defense mechanism that is trying to defend the body. This is explored in more detail in the later chapters.

Our inability to defend ourselves against new chemicals and mixtures often results in epidemics of disease. For example, asthma, autism, infertility, and many cancers affect different parts of the body and seemingly have different etiologies. All, however, can be related to a combination of genetic predisposition and environmental exposure to chemicals. All are less prevalent where chemical exposures are lower, for example, in rural areas. All have known single chemical exposure causes and they can all be related to low level exposure to chemical mixtures. The toxic effects of chemical mixtures are explored in the chapters that follow.

References

- 1. Pohanish RP (ed.) *Sittig's handbook of toxic and hazardous substances*, 4th ed., Noyes/William Andrew, Norwich, NY, 2002.
- 2. Sax NI, Lewis RJ, Sr. *Dangerous properties of industrial materials*, 7th ed., Van Nostrand Reinhold, New York, 1991.
- 3. Zeliger HI. Toxic effects of chemical mixtures. *Arch Environ Health* 2003; 58(1):23–29.
- 4. Rea WJ. Chemical sensitivity, vol. 1, Lewis, Boca Raton, FL, 1992.

2.1 Traditional Toxicology

Traditionally, toxicologists have addressed the effects of chemical mixtures as being additive, antagonistic, potentiated, or synergistic.^[1] To these, sequential effects are added here.

2.1.1 Additivity

Additive effects occur when two or more substances with the same toxicity (i.e., attack the same organ) are present together. The total or additive effect is the sum of the individual effects. Additive effects are observed when mixtures consist of species that are similar, that is, act identically on a target organ. Additive effects may be observed, for example, when a mixture of two compounds, each below the no observed effect level (NOEL) produce a predicted toxic effect when the sum of their concentrations is greater than the threshold level for toxic action.

Examples of chemical mixtures that produce additive effects are

- 1. *n*-hexane and methyl-*n*-butyl ketone (peripheral neuropathy);^[2]
- 2. trichloroethylene and tetrachloroethylene (liver and kidney toxins);^[3] and
- 3. toluene and xylene (brain function loss).^[4]

2.1.2 Antagonism

Antagonism occurs when two chemicals interfere with each other's effect. The result is a reduction in the effect predicted for the individual species. Antagonistic mixtures need not be structurally similar. One species may stimulate the metabolism of a second one or somehow interfere with its sorption. Antagonism can be considered the antithesis of synergism (discussed later).

Examples of chemical mixtures that produce antagonisms and their effects are

1. DDT and parathion (DDT induces and parathion inhibits enzymatic activity);^[5]

- 2. oxygen and carbon monoxide (oxygen competes with CO for receptor sites);^[6] and
- 3. toluene and benzene (toluene inhibits benzene metabolism and reduces its toxicity).^[7]

2.1.3 Potentiation

A potentiated effect is observed when the effect of a chemical is enhanced by the presence of one or more other compounds that are only slightly active. One compound can potentiate a second one toxicologically, for example, by producing the same metabolites in the body.

Examples of chemicals mixtures that produce potentiated effects are

- 1. organophosphorothiolate esters potentiate malathion (CNS);^[8]
- 2. isopropanol potentiates carbon tetrachloride (liver);^[9] and
- 3. methyl ethyl ketone potentiates *n*-hexane (CNS and peripheral nervous system).^[10]

2.1.4 Synergism

Synergism is observed when the effect of exposure to a mixture is much greater than or different from that expected from an additive effect. In such instances, exposures to mixtures of chemicals that are substantially different from each other induce responses not predicted by the known toxicology of the individual chemical species. When synergistic effects are observed, one of the chemicals in the mixture changes the body's response in a quantitative or qualitative way. A quantitative response results in a much greater response than would be observed for an additive effect. A qualitative effect results in the attack on a different target organ than is not predicted.

Examples of chemical mixtures that produce synergism and their effects are

- 1. nitrate and aldicarb (immune, endocrine, and nervous system);^[11]
- 2. carbon disulfide and carbon tetrachloride, (nervous system);^[12] and
- 3. cigarette tar and nitric oxide (carcinogenic).^[13]

2.2 Sequential Effects

Sequential effects arise when one chemical is absorbed first and the second chemical is absorbed at a finite, but important, time thereafter,

resulting in an effect not observed from exposure to either one of the single chemicals. Examples of chemicals that demonstrate this effect are as follows:

- 1. The administering of ethanol or acetone prior to administering acetaminophen results in a marked increase in the hepatotoxicity of acetaminophen (because of enzyme induction by ethanol).^[14]
- 2. Pretreatment with diethyl maleate increases toxicity of bromobenzene (because of depletion of glutathione by diethyl maleate).^[15]
- Individuals with hepatic injury, such as alcohol-induced cirrhosis, experience greater hepatotoxic effects than those not so previously injured.^[16]

The toxic mixture examples just presented are only a small fraction of those that are fully discussed and referenced in Parts 3 and 4 of this book.

2.3 Unexplained Effects of Mixtures

As noted in the introduction, exposure to chemical mixtures can produce enhanced effects, low level reactions, and unpredicted points of attack. The toxicological literature has reported these but until recently was at a loss to offer an explanation. The following published studies are illustrative of how toxicologists viewed the unexpected effects of exposures to mixtures prior to 2003.

Alessio reviewed the literature and reported on the exposure of workers to multiple solvents in the workplace. His study showed that exposures to some solvent mixtures resulted in the inhibition of the metabolism of the solvents, whereas exposures to other solvent mixtures enhanced the metabolism of the solvents.^[17] No explanations of the effects noted were offered.

Feron et al., studied the effects of mixtures administered at the no observed adverse effect level (NOAEL) and the minimum observed adverse effect level (MOAEL). Evidence of an increased hazard was found when combinations of chemicals were administered at the NOAEL of each of the components, despite the fact that exposures to the individual chemicals had no adverse effects. When mixtures were administered at the MOAEL levels of the individual components, some severe adverse effects were noted.^[18]

Alexandersson et al. studied the effects of exposure of carpenters to formaldehyde, terpenes, and dust particles. The mean formaldehyde levels were far below the threshold value. The terpenes levels were very low and frequently undetectable, and dust levels were about one-tenth of the threshold levels. At the concentration levels recorded, no respiratory effects would be expected, yet dyspnea (shortness of breath), nose and throat irritation, chest tightness, and productive cough were observed.^[19] These results were reported without explanation.

Formaldehyde exposure is not known to cause neurobehavioral symptoms or disturbed mental of neurologic function. Kilburn et al., however, found that exposure by hospital histology technicians to formaldehyde, xylene, and toluene produced such effects.^[20] No attempt was made to explain these results.

A study of rubber workers exposed to a mixture of resorcinol, formaldehyde, and ammonia revealed that these workers suffered acute drops in lung function and other respiratory symptoms over a work shift. The levels of exposure of the chemicals were low. The researchers concluded that the cause for the observed effects was unknown.^[21]

Brooks et al. reported several instances of reactive airways dysfunction syndrome (RADS) following exposure to mixtures of chemicals each of which contained no compounds known to cause respiratory sensitization. In the first instance, a store clerk was stricken with RADS following application of a floor sealant containing a mixture of aliphatic and aromatic hydrocarbons and epichlorohydrin. In the second instance, two painters were stricken after spray painting primer in an apartment. The primer contained a mixture of ammonia, aluminum chlorohydrin, and other unidentified additives. In another case, a woman was stricken within 15 min of applying a fumigant containing polyoxyethylated vegetable oil, dipropylene glycol, a turpine hydrocarbon, sodium nitrate, an unsaturated aldehyde, and isobornyl acetate.^[22] No attempt was made to account for the observed effects.

Lee et al. reported on the prevalence of pulmonary and upper respiratory tract symptoms experienced by pressmen exposed to low levels of aliphatic hydrocarbons, limonene, glycol ethers, isopropyl alcohol, and mineral oil. The airborne levels of these solvents were below the permissible exposure limits.^[23] No explanation was offered to account for the observed results.

Waterborne paints are generally low in volatile organic compounds and are not thought of as being particularly dangerous. Typical formulations include glycol ethers, esters, glycols, formaldehyde, and amines. Hansen et al. investigated the waterborne paints used in Denmark and their effects on painters. They reported that mucous membrane irritation was observed in these painters even though the airborne concentrations of the volatiles were, for the most part, below the known irritation levels for the single chemicals. The researchers concluded that irritation due to the

10

combined action of the chemicals cannot be excluded but offered no explanation for this conclusion.^[24]

Dossing and Ranek reported on liver damage in chemical workers exposed to low levels of carbon disulfide, isopropanol, toluene, and other chemicals in trace quantities.^[25] The researchers suggested that the liver injury was caused by the combined action of organic solvents and compared it to the known synergistic effect of isopropanol on the hepatotoxic-ity of carbon tetrachloride.^[26]

2.4 Lipophiles and Hydrophiles

In 2003, Zeliger reported that in all cases of these unusual effects of mixtures cited in the literature, the mixtures contained at least one lipophilic and one hydrophilic chemical. A lipophilic chemical is one that exhibits preferential solubility in relatively less polar species. A hydrophilic chemical is one that exhibits preferential solubility in relatively more polar species. Lipophiles promote the permeation of hydrophiles through mucous membranes resulting in the absorption of greater quantities of hydrophilic species than would be absorbed if the lipophile were not present. Once absorbed, the mixtures of chemicals may affect the body in ways not anticipated from the actions of single chemicals alone. It was found that the effects of the absorbed mixtures may be acute or chronic.^[27]

2.5 Octanol: Water Partition Coefficients

The relative differences in lipophilicity and hydrophilicity are reflected by the octanol:water partition coefficients of the chemicals, K_{ow} .^[28] K_{ow} is indicative of the relative lipophilic character of a given chemical. It is defined as the ratio of that quantity of a chemical dissolved in the octanol phase to that dissolved in the water phase of an ocatanol–water mixture. Because it is a ratio, K_{ow} has no units and is expressed as a logarithm of that ratio because of the wide range of values for different compounds. A K_{ow} value of 3.0 for a compound means that the compound is 1000 times more soluble in octanol than in water.

Octanol was chosen as the solvent for this ratio because it mimics the lipids found in living tissue and thus provides a basis for providing information about the absorption of a compound into living tissue.

The K_{ow} values of most compounds range from less than -1.0 to greater than 6.0. Chemicals with K_{ow} values greater than 2.0 are regarded as lipophiles and those with K_{ow} values less than 2.0 are considered hydrophiles. Table 2.1 lists some common chemicals and their K_{ow} values. The K_{ow} values
Chemical	K _{ow}
Acetaldehyde	-0.34
Acetic acid	-0.17
Acetone	-0.24
Aldicarb	1.13
Ammonia	-1.38
Amyl acetate	2.26*
Atrazine	2.61
Benzene	2.13
Benzophenone	3.18
1,3-butadiene	1.99
<i>n</i> -butanol	0.88
2-butoxyethanol	0.83
butylated hydroxytoluene	5.10
Carbon disulfide	1.94
Chloroform	1.97
Cyclohexane	3.44
<i>n</i> -decane	5.01
dimethylformamide	-1.01
2,4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid (2,4-D)	0.65
epichlorohydrin	0.45
ethanol	-0.31
2-ethoxyethylacetate	0.59*
Ethyl acetate	0.73
Ethyl benzene	3.15
Ethylene glycol	-1.36
Ethylene oxide	-0.30
Formaldehyde	0.35
<i>n</i> -heptane	4.66
<i>n</i> -hexane	3.90
Hydrofluoric acid	0.23*
Isobutene	2.76
Methanol	-0.77
Methylene chloride	1.25
Methylethyl ketone	0.29
Methylisobutyl ketone	1.19
Naphthalene	3.30
Nitric acid	0.21*
<i>i</i> -propanol	0.05
<i>n</i> -propyl acetate	1.24

Table 2.1 Octanol: Water Partition Coefficients (K_{ow}) for Some Common Chemicals

(Continued)

Chemical	K _{ow}
Styrene	2.95
Tetrachloroethylene	3.40
Toluene	2.73
1,1,1-trichloroethane	2.49
Vinyl acetate	0.73
Vinyl chloride	1.62*
Xylene	3.15

Table 2.1	Octanol: Water Partition	Coefficients	(K_{ow}) for	r Some (Common
Chemicals	(Continued)		011		

Note: Asterisk denotes calculated values.

reported here as well as elsewhere in this book are experimental values, when available. Otherwise, calculated values were used. Calculated values are identified with an asterisk.^[28,29]

2.6 Summary

Traditional toxicology addresses the toxic effects of single chemicals and even some mixtures (additivity, potentiation, and synergism) well, but it is unable to account for some observed effects of chemical mixtures. These unexplained effects often ensue when exposures are to mixtures of lipophilic and hydrophilic chemicals. Octanol:water partition coefficients serve to predict the lipophilic or hydrophilic nature of chemical compounds.

References

- 1. Ballantyne B. Evaluation of hazards from mixtures of chemicals in the occupational environment. *J Occup Med* 1985; 27:85–94.
- 2. Baselt RC. *Disposition of toxic drugs and chemicals in man*, 5th ed., Chemical toxicology Institute, Forster City, CA, 2000, pp. 416–17.
- 3. Stacey NH. Toxicity of mixtures of trichloroethylene, tetrachloroethylene and 1,1,1-trichloroethane: Similarity of in vitro and in vivo responses. *Toxicol Ind Health* 1989; 5(3):441–50.
- 4. Dennison JE, Bigelow PL, Mumtaz MM, et al. Evaluation of potential toxicity from co-exposure to three CNS depressants (toluene, ethylbenzene and xylene) under resting and working conditions using PBPK modeling. *J Occup Environ Hyg* 2005; 2(3):127–35.
- Chapman, SK, Leibman KC. The effects of chlordane, DDT and 3-methylchloanthrene upon the metabolism and toxicity of diethyl-4-nitrophenyl phosphorothionate (parathion). *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 1971; 18(4):977–87.

- 6. Thom, Sr. Antagonism of carbon monoxide-mediated brain lipid peroxidation by hyperbaric oxygen. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 1990; 105(2):340-44.
- Hseih GC, Parker RD, Sharma RP, Hughes BJ. Subclinical effects of groundwater contaminants, III. Effects of repeated oral exposure to combinations of benzene and toluene on immunologic responses in mice. *Arch Toxicol* 1990; 64(4):320–28.
- 8. Fukuto TR. Toxicological properties of trialkyl prosphorothionate and dialkyl alkyl- and arylphosphonothionate esters. *J Environ Sci Health B* 1983; 18(1):89–117.
- 9. Folland DS, Schaffner W, Ginn HE. Carbon tetrachloride toxicity potentiated by isopropyl alcohol. *J Am Med Assoc* 1976; 236(18):1853–6.
- 10. Shibata E, Huang J, Hisanaga N, et al. Effects of MEK on kinetics of *n*-hexane metabolites in serum. *Arch Toxicol* 1990; 64(3):247–50.
- 11. Porter WP, Jaeger JW, Carlson IH. Endocrine, immune and behavioral effects of aldicarb (carbamate), atrazine (triazine) and nitrate (fertilizer) mixtures at groundwater concentrations. *Toxicol Ind Health* 1999; 15(1–20):133–50.
- Peters HA, Levine RL, Matthews CG, et al. Synergistic neurotoxicity of carbon tetrachloride/carbon disulfide (80/20 fumigants) and other pesticides in grain storage workers. *Acta Pharmacol Toxicol* 1986; 59(Suppl 7):535–46.
- 13. Yoshie Y, Ohshima H. Synergistic induction of DNA strand breakage by cigarette tar and nitric oxide. *Carcinogenesis* 1997; 18(7):1359–63.
- Djordjevic D, Nikolic J, Stefanovic V. Ethanol interactions with other cytochrome P450 substrates including drugs, xenobiotics and carcinogens. *Pathol Biol* 1998; 46(10):760–70.
- 15. Maellaro E, Casini AF, Del Bello B, Comporti M. Lipid peroxidation and antioxidant systems in the liver injury produced by glutathione depleting agents. *Biochem Pharmacol* 1990; 39(10):1513–21.
- 16. Condie LW. Target organ toxicology of halocarbons commonly found in drinking water. *Sci Total Environ* 1985; 47:433–42.
- 17. Alessio L. Multiple exposure to solvents in the workplace. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health* 1996; 69:1–4.
- 18. Feron VJ, Groten JP, Jonker D, et al. Toxicology of chemical mixtures. *Toxicology* 1995; 105: 415–27.
- 19. Alexandersson R, Kolmodin-Hedman B. Exposure to formaldehyde: Effects on pulmonary function. *Arch Environ Health* 1982; 37(5):279–84.
- 20. Kilburn KH, Seidman BC, Warshaw R. Neurobehavioral and respiratory symptoms of formaldehyde and xylene exposure in histology technicians. *Arch Environ Health* 1985 (Jul/Aug); 40(4):229–33.
- 21. Gamble JF, McMichael AJ, Williams T, Battigelli M. Respiratory function and symptoms: An environmental-epidemiological study of rubber workers exposed to a phenol-formaldehyde type resin. *Am Ind Hyg Assoc J* 1976 (Sept); 499–513.
- 22. Brooks SM, Weiss MA, Bernstein IL. Reactive airways dysfunction syndrome (RADS): Persistent asthma syndrome after high level exposures. *Chest* 1985; 88(3):376–84.
- 23. Lee BW, Kelsey KT, Hashimoto D, et al. The prevalence of pulmonary and upper respiratory tract symptoms and spirometric test findings among news-paper pressroom workers exposed to solvents. *J Occup Environ Med* 1997; 39(10):960–9.

14

- 24. Hansen MK, Larsen M, Cohr KH. Waterborne paints: A review of their chemistry and toxicology and the results of determinations made during their use. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 1987; 13:473–85.
- 25. Dossing M, Ranek L. Isolated liver damage in chemical workers. *Br J Ind Med* 1984; 41:142–4.
- 26. Folland DS, Schnaffner W, Ginn HE, Crofford OB. Carbon tetrachloride toxicity potentiated by isopropyl alcohol. *JAMA* 1976; 236:1853–6.
- 27. Zeliger HI. Toxic effects of chemical mixtures. *Arch Environ Health* 2003; 58(1):23–9.
- 28. Leo A, Hansch C, Elkins D. Partition coefficients and their uses. *Chem Rev* 1971; 71(6):525–616.
- 29. Syracuse Research Corp. Online LogKow .www.syrres.com/esc/est_kowdemo.htm

3.1 Introduction

Chemicals can be absorbed in the human body via inhalation, ingestion, dermal, and eye contact. A single chemical can enter the body through more than one route. Chloroform is an example of such a species. Chloroform is found in contaminated groundwater and also in many municipal water supplies where it results from the chlorination of drinking water that contains high levels of organic matter. People living in homes in which chloroform-contaminated drinking water is supplied absorb the chemical via ingestion when drinking it, via inhalation when it is vaporized during cooking or showering, and via dermal contact when washing or bathing.

Most body tissues are protected by lipophilic barriers that serve as the body's primary protection against absorption of chemicals.^[1] It is well established that lipophilic chemicals can penetrate lipophilic barriers (including mucous membranes) much more readily than can hydrophilic chemicals by passively diffusing across lipid-rich cell membranes.^[2–4] The lipid-rich mucous membranes also serve as barriers to the absorption of hydrophilic species. Lipophilic chemicals, however, promote the permeation of hydrophilic chemicals that are dissolved in the lipophiles. Lipophiles are routinely used, for example, in drug delivery systems (see Section 3.3).

3.2 Permeability of Mucous Membranes and Octanol: Water Partition Coefficients

3.2.1 Partition Coefficients (K_{ow})

The relationship between lipophilic membrane permeability and K_{ow} is well described in the literature. Kitagawa, Li, and Sato reported that permeability coefficients across excised skin increased directly with K_{ow} for a homologous series of parabens. As is from the data in Table 3.1, greater permeability is directly related to greater lipophilicity (higher K_{ow}).^[5]

Potts and Guy concluded that lipid properties of chemicals account for permeability through the stratum corneum of the skin and that permeability is a function of the K_{ow} of a compound.^[3] Bowman and Maibach showed

Paraben	K _{ow}	K _p
Methyl	1.66	6.51
Ethyl	2.19	32.67
Propyl	2.71	66.26
Butyl	3.24	92.17

Table 3.1 Relationship of Permeability Coefficients (K_p) and Octanol:Water Partition Coefficients (K_{ow}) for Parbens^[5]

that the percutaneous absorption of the hydrophile butanol increased when simultaneously exposed with a lipophilic surfactant.^[6]

Siegel studied the permeability of the oral mucosa. He found that in a homologous series, an increase in lipid solubility resulted in an increased permeability of the oral mucosa. His permeation constants correlate exactly with K_{ow} values.^[7,8]

Scheuplein and Ross reported that skin permeability was increased by treatment with nonpolar solvents. Their data show that permeability constants for a homologous series of alcohols are a function of carbon number, a relationship that corresponds exactly to increasing K_{ow} .^[9] These data are shown in Table 3.2.

The work of Geyer et al. shows a direct relationship between the increasing K_{ow} values and the bioaccumulation potential of organic chemicals.^[10] This relationship was shown to hold for a wide variety of organic compounds and to be independent of functionality of the species.

Alcohol	K _p	K _{ow}
Methanol	1.0	-0.77
Ethanol	1.2	-0.31
Propanol	1.4	0.25
Butanol	2.5	0.88
Pentanol	6.0	1.51
Hexanol	13.0	2.03
Heptanol	32	2.62
Octanol	52	3.00

Table 3.2 Permeability Constants $(K_p)^{[9]}$ and Octanol:Water Partition Coefficients (K_{ow}) for a Homologous Series of Alcohols

3: Absorption of Chemical Mixtures

Witte et al. determined that subtoxic concentrations of membrane-damaging compounds enhanced the cytotoxicity of hydrophilic xenobiotics (foreign compounds).^[11] The data reported show a linear relationship between the logarithm of the no observed effect concentration (NOEC) and K_{ow} values; the higher the K_{ow} , the lower the log NOEC value and greater the toxicity of the mixture. The data in Table 3.3 show K_{ow} and NOEC in millimoles (mM) for 2,4-dichlorophenoxyaceetic acid (2,4-D). The sole deviant from the relationship, tributylamine, is explained by its extremely low membrane-damaging properties relative to its lipophilicity.

The data in Table 3.3 are remarkable in that despite the fact that the chemical and toxicological properties of the compounds studied vary widely, the effects of these chemicals on the toxicity of 2,4-D are predicted by K_{ow} values. The authors hypothesized that combinations of lipophilic and hydrophilic compounds would show synergistic effects resulting from membrane damage by lipophilic species and increased uptake of hydrophilic species.

3.3 Absorption Enhancers

Most pharmaceuticals are hydrophilic and do not penetrate epithelial barriers at clinically useful rates. It has long been known that lipophilic molecules serve as permeability enhancers for such drugs.^[12,13] This is

Compound	K _{ow}	NOEC (mM)
Dimethylsulfoxide	-1.35	1380
Ethanol	-0.32	129
Dichloroacetic acid	0.94	10.0
Nitrilortriacetic acid	1.06	7.6
4-Chloroanaline	1.83	5.9
Picloram	2.27	5.0
4-Chlorophenol	2.36	1.7
Chloroflurenol	3.22	1.5
2,4,6-Trichlorophenol	3.70	2.5
Tributylamine	4.60	8.7
Pentachlorophenol	4.89	0.10
Dicofol	5.02	0.15

Table 3.3 K_{ow} and NOEC Values for Various Compounds Combined with 2,4-D^[11]

consistent with the data reported above, that is, that lipophilic species facilitate the absorption of hydrophilic ones.

The literature contains numerous examples of permeability enhancement by lipophilic species. Two of these are presented here.

Kitagawa et al. reported that the addition of 1% l-menthol increased the permeability coefficient of methyl paraben about 16-fold.^[5] Manganaro and Wertz^[12] reported on the use of oleic acid to facilitate the permeability of propanolol, a widely used beta-blocking agent. In concentrations of 1–10%, the use of oleic acid resulted in a 3–4-fold increase in absorption of the drug.

3.4 Absorption of Organic Molecules from Aqueous Solutions

The discussion to this point has been limited to absorption of pure compounds and mixtures. In the real world, however, people are exposed to numerous chemicals that are dissolved in water. The correlation between increasing K_{ow} and absorption holds for aqueous solutions as well as it does for pure compounds. Several studies have been carried out to measure and predict skin permeation rates.^[14–17] Though molecular weight (and size) certainly are factors in determining permeation rates, octanol:water partition coefficient values prove to be valuable predictors of absorption rates. The relationship between K_{ow} values and observed permeation coefficients (K_p) for organic compounds dissolved in water can be readily seen from the data in Table 3.4 that were reported by Wilschut et al.^[18] Two sets of compounds are shown. The first is a homologous series of alcohols and the second is a listing of phenol and its derivatives.

3.5 Summary

The majority of xenobiotics that are absorbed by the body are lipophilic and can permeate through body membranes. The uptake of hydrophilic species by the body, however, be they solvents, pharmaceuticals, or other chemicals are facilitated by the presence of lipophilic species. K_{ow} values predict which chemicals are hydrophiles and which are lipophiles. Exposures to chemical mixtures of lipophiles and hydrophiles will result in the absorption of greater quantities of hydrophiles than would be taken up if these species were present alone.

Chemical	K _{ow}	K _p
Water	-1.38	0.00020
Alcohols		
Methanol	-0.70	0.00050
Ethanol	-0.30	0.00080
Propanol	0.34	0.0012
Butanol	0.88	0.0025
Pentanol	1.40	0.0060
Hexanol	2.03	0.013
Heptanol	2.41	0.032
Octanol	3.15	0.052
Nonanol	3.62	0.060
Decanol	4.00	0.080
Resorcinol	0.78	0.00024
Phenols		
Phenol	1.46	0.00822
<i>p</i> -Cresol	1.92	0.0175
o-Cresol	2.00	0.0157
<i>m</i> -Cresol	2.01	0.0152
o-Chlorophenol	2.19	0.033
<i>p</i> -Chlorophenol	2.39	0.0363
<i>b</i> -Naphthol	2.80	0.0279
Thymol	3.34	0.0528
2,4,6-Trichlorophenol	3.69	0.0594

Table 3.4 K_{ow} and K_{p} (Permeation Coefficients) for Organic CompoundsDissolved in Aqueous Solutions^[18]

References

- 1. Rea WJ. *Chemical sensitivity*, vol. I. Lewis, Boca Raton, FL, 1992, pp. 52–3.
- 2. Alessio L. Multiple exposure to solvents in the workplace. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health* 1996; 69:1–4.
- 3. Potts RO, Guy RH. Predicting skin permeability. *Pharm Res* 1992; 9(2):663–9.
- 4. Hodgson E, Smart RC. *Introduction to biochemical toxicology*, 3rd ed., John Wiley, New York, 2001, p. 115.
- 5. Kitagawa S, Li H, Sato S. Skin permeation of parabens in excised guinea pig dorsal skin, its modification by penetration enhancers and their relationship with *n*-octanol/water partition coefficients. *Chem Pharm Bull* 1997; 45(8):1354–7.

- 6. Bowman A, Maibach, HI. Percutaneous absorption of organic solvents. *Int J Environ Health* 2000; 6(2):93–5.
- 7. Siegel IA. Effect of chemical structure on nonelectrolyte penetration of oral mucosa. *J Invest Derm* 1981; 76(2):137–40.
- 8. Siegel IA. Permeability of the rat oral mucosa to organic solutes measured in vivo. *Arch Oral Biol* 1984; 29(1):13–16.
- 9. Scheuplein R, Ross L. Effects of surfactants and solvents on the permeability of the epidermis. *J Soc Cosmet Chem* 1970; 21:853–73.
- Geyer H, Politzki G, Freitag D. Prediction of ecotoxicological behavior of chemicals: Relationship between n-octanol/water partition coefficient and bioaccumulation of organic chemicals by alga chlorella. *Chemosphere* 1984; 13(2):269–84.
- 11. Witte I, Jacobi H, Juhl-Strauss U. Correlation of synergistic cyclotoxic effects of environmental chemicals in human fibroblasts with their lipophilicity. *Chemosphere* 1995; 31(9):4041–9.
- 12. Manganaro AM, Wertz PW. The effects of permeabilizers on the in vitro penetration of propanolol through porcine buccal epithelium. *Mil Med* 1996; 161:669–72.
- 13. Manganaro AM. Review of transmucosal drug delivery. *Mil Med* 1997; 162:27–30.
- 14. Brown SL, Rossi JE. A simple method for estimating dermal absorption of chemicals in water. *Chemosphere* 1989; 19(12):1989–2001.
- 15. Fiserova-Bergerova V, Pierce JT, Droz PO. Dermal absorption of industrial chemicals: Criteria for skin notation. *Am J Ind Med* 1990; 17:617–35.
- McCone TE, Howd RA. Estimating dermal uptake of nonionic organic chemicals from water and soil: I. Unified fugacity-based models for risk assessment. *Risk Anal* 1992; 12(4):543–57.
- 17. Guy RH, Potts RO. Penetration of industrial chemicals across the skin: A predictive model. *Am J Ind Med* 1993; 23:711–19.
- Wilschut A, ten Berge WF, Robinson PJ, McCone TE. Estimating skin permeation. The validation of five mathematical skin permeation models. *Chemosphere* 1995; 30(7):1275–96.

4.1 Introduction

Substances that adversely affect those organisms that are exposed to them are poisons. Toxicology is the science that is devoted to the study of the effects of poisons on living organisms. This book considers only chemical toxicology, that is, the effects of chemical poisons. The effects of biological poisons—bacteria, viruses, and fungi—are not addressed.

Molecular biology has progressed to the point where many of the toxicological mechanisms are now understood on a molecular level. This chapter surveys these mechanisms. The reader is directed to texts on the subject for a comprehensive treatment of the area.^[1,2]

4.2 Toxicology

The toxic effects of chemical poisons are dose related. At low enough doses, organisms can be exposed to even the most toxic of substances without suffering a deleterious impact. Toxicology addresses the effects of exposure to doses ranging from the minimum quantities required for impact through levels that cause instant death.

Toxicological data are presented in a number of different ways. These and their commonly used abbreviations are given here.

NOEL	No observed effect level. This is the highest level at which no toxicological effect is noted. This level is often presented as no observed adverse effect level (NOAEL)
NOEC	No observed effect concentration. This is datum identical to
	NOEL
MOEL	Minimum observed effect level. This is the lowest concentration
	at which adverse effects are note. This level is often presented as
	minimum observed adverse effect level (MOAEL)
PEL	Permissible exposure level. PEL data are those established by
	the U.S. Occupational Safety and Health Administration
	(OSHA) for inhalation exposures in the workplace
TWA	Time weighted average. TWA data are for exposures in the
	workplace. These are set by the National Institute of
	Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH) for inhalation of air-
	borne contaminants

24	INTRODUCTION TO CHEMICAL TOXICOLOGY OF MIXTURES
TLV	Threshold limit values. These are similar to PEL data, but are set by the American Conference of Governmental Industrial
	Hygienists (ACGIH). TLV data tend to be more conservative,
	that is, lower levels than PEL data.
STEL	Short-term exposure limit. Recommended inhalation exposure
	level for exposures up to 20 min
IDLH	Immediately dangerous to life or health. Airborne concentrations at which even momentary exposure can kill or seriously injure
MCL	Maximum contaminant level. This value is generally given for contaminants dissolved in drinking water

Inhalation data, PEL, TWA, TLV, STEL, and IDLH data are generally presented in units of parts per million (ppm), parts per billion (ppb), or milligrams per cubic meter (mpcm) of air. MCL data are generally presented in milligrams or micrograms per liter of water.

The exposure limits listed for individual chemicals are arrived at via a combination of scientific and political considerations, with different groups looking at the same data arriving at different exposure limit recommendations. As an example of this let us consider methyl isobutyl ketone (MIBK). MIBK targets the eyes, skin, respiratory system, central nervous system, liver, and kidneys. The OSHA TWA for MIBK is 100 ppm whereas NIOSH and ACGIH recommend a TWA of 50 ppm. Such differences can arise from a difference of scientific opinion and/or the vested interests of those who manufacture and sell a particular chemical. The data nevertheless are a reflection of the body's ability to protect itself against the hazards posed by a particular xenobiotic. A higher exposure level value indicates a reduced danger. In the MIBK example, TWA of

50 ppm indicates a greater hazard for this chemical than a value of 100 ppm.

4.3 Molecular Toxicology

Molecular biology has progressed to the point where many bodily functions and their impact by xenobiotics are now understood at a molecular level. This progress has enabled toxicologists to ascribe responsibility for detrimental impacts to specific chemical species and/or their metabolites. These are examined in this section.

When a xenobiotic acts upon an organism, a sequence of events occurs. These are

- exposure
- absorption

4: CHEMICAL TOXICOLOGY

- distribution
- metabolism
- toxic activity
- immune system response
- endocrine system response
- excretion.

These are considered individually.

4.4 Exposure

The first step in the poisoning of an organism is its exposure to a toxic substance. In order to be exposed, the organism and the poison must come to occupy the same space. In the human experience this means that a person must inhabit an environment in which he or she inhales or traverses air, uses water to drink, bathe or cook with, or eats food that contains xenobiotics. In the world we live in today, it is virtually impossible for a person to live in an environment that is toxicant free. Our challenge in trying to evaluate the impact of xenobiotics is to try to separate out the effects of the substances being evaluated from the "background" contamination. As this is essentially impossible to do, we must appreciate that almost all exposures to toxic chemicals are to mixtures and not single compounds.

4.5 Absorption

Chemicals are taken up by the body through cell membranes on the skin, in the eye, in the respiratory tract, and in the digestive tract. The discussion here is limited to those chemicals that traverse membranes biochemically. Corrosive chemicals that destroy tissue, such as strong mineral acids and highly concentrated alkaline compounds, are excluded from consideration here.

As has been noted in Chapter 3, essentially all body tissues are surrounded and protected by lipophilic membranes. Accordingly, absorption into the human body requires mucous membrane breaching. All low molecular weight lipophilic chemicals, those with K_{ow} values of 2.00 or more, easily penetrate mucous membranes. High molecular weight molecules do not penetrate easily because of to their bulk. As also previously addressed, hydrophilic chemicals, those with K_{ow} values of less than 2.00, do not appreciably penetrate through mucous membranes, but can be carried through such membranes when dissolved in lipophiles.

At times, such as in drug administration, lipophiles are deliberately added to hydrophilic pharmaceuticals to facilitate absorption. Most often, however, the administering of combinations of lipophilic and hydrophilic chemicals is unintentional and leads to enhanced toxic effects on the body. Once taken up by the body, the distribution, metabolism, immune system response, endocrine system response, and effects on a wide variety of organs in the body are impacted by the mixtures and their metabolites.

4.6 Distribution

Toxic chemicals are carried throughout the body by the blood. These chemicals bond to blood proteins, most notably lipoproteins composed of triglycerides, esterified cholesterol, and phospholipids. The bonding between the toxic chemicals and the blood proteins takes many forms, depending upon the chemistry of the compound transported. The bonding types include ionic, covalent, van der Waals, and hydrogen bonding. In the case of mixtures, the distribution of foreign chemicals can result in one species being transported to one location while a second species is bonded differently to blood proteins and delivered to a second completely different location.

It is important to note that transport of toxic species is not limited to those molecules that are taken up. Metabolism (see below) can take place at the point of uptake and the metabolites as well as unmetabolized species are transported and distributed throughout the body to places where they ultimately act. Or, alternatively, the absorbed xenobiotic can be transported to another organ where it is metabolized. It can act at that point or be subsequently carried to the place where it acts.

An example of how transport impacts effects on the body can be seen from a consideration of benzo[a]pyrene (BaP). BaP is a polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbon (PAH) that is a component of petroleum and cigarette smoke. It is an established lung carcinogen, but it is BaP's diol-epoxide metabolite that is the actual tumerogen. The path from absorption to tumor production is a five-step process involving two transport steps. The five steps, which are depicted in Fig. 4.1 are:

- 1. BaP (I) is absorbed in the lung.
- 2. BaP is transported to the liver.
- 3. In the liver, BaP is metabolized to a diol-epoxide (DE) derivative (II).
- 4. The metabolite is transported back to the lung.
- 5. DE acts in the lung as the ultimate tumerogen.



Figure 4.1 Movement and action of benzo(a)pyrene (I) and its diol-epoxy metabolite(II).

In the case of the absorption of mixtures, one or more of the chemicals may be metabolized at the uptake point producing multiple species for distribution. Even the absorption of small numbers of toxic chemicals can thereby result in the presence of numerous toxic species being distributed to multiple body sites.

4.7 Metabolism

Chemicals absorbed into the body are metabolized by a wide range of enzymes to more water soluble forms that can be eliminated from the body. Metabolism generally takes place in two phases. In Phase I, a polar functional group is introduced into the molecule. In Phase II, the functional group introduced is combined with an endogenous compound to form a water soluble species that can be eliminated from the body.

Phase I reactions include oxidation, reduction, hydrolysis, epoxide hydration, and dehydrohalogenation reactions. The cytochrome P450 oxygenase system (CYP450) is the most important one of the metabolism of foreign chemicals. These enzymes, which oxidize xenobiotics, are widely distributed in the body. They are found in high concentrations in the liver, kidney, lung, nasal passages and intestinal tract and in lesser, but significant, concentrations in most other tissues. Cytochrome P450 enzymes introduce reactive hydroxyl groups into aliphatic hydrocarbons, aromatic rings, and other unreactive compounds. CYP450 enzymes oxidize many

chemicals, including benzene, benzo[a]pyrene, 2-naphthylamine, and acetaminophen. Other enzymes also play prominent roles in xenobiotic metabolism (see Table 4.1).

Phase II reactions are conjugation reactions in which glutathione (Fig. 4.2) and related compounds are conjugated with the reactive group introduced in Phase I for increased water solubility and facile elimination. Conjugation reactions include sulfation, acetylation, methylation, glucosidation, glucoronidation, glutathione conjugation, amino acid conjugation, and lipophilic conjugation. Table 4.2 lists the major Phase II enzymes.

Glutathione (GSH; Fig. 4.2), is perhaps the most important of the Phase II enzymes in the biotransformation and elimination of xenobiotics. It also defends cells against oxidative stress (see later).

Toxic chemicals that attack or interfere with Phase I or Phase II enzymes can either enhance or reduce the toxicities of other chemicals by retarding

Table 4.1 Phase I Enzymes

Oxidation

Cytochrome P450 monooxygenase Flavin-containing monooxygenase system Alcohol dehydrogenase and aldehyde dehydrogenase Monoamine oxidase Co-oxidation peroxides

Reduction

NADPH-cytochrome P450 reductase Reduced (ferrous) cytochrome P450

Hydrolysis

Esterases Amidases Epoxide hydrolase

Table 4.2 Major Phase II Enzyme Systems

Glutathione S-transferases UDP-Glucoron(os)yltransferases *N*-Acetyltransferases Amino acid *N*-acyl transferases Sulfotransferases



Figure 4.2 Glutathione structure.

or accelerating the metabolism and removal of these other chemicals. The following scenarios illustrate this point:

- 1. Chemical I, with little or no toxicity is metabolized to a highly toxic species. A second chemical that induces the metabolizing enzymes would increase the toxicity of chemical I. A third chemical that retards the enzymes that metabolize I would reduce the toxicity of chemical I.
- 2. Chemical II, a highly toxic chemical is detoxified when metabolized. A second chemical that enhances metabolism would reduce the toxicity of II. A third chemical that inhibits metabolic activity would increase the toxicity of II.

Examples of enzyme-inducing chemicals are ethanol, acetone, phthalates, PCBs, TCDD, DDT, 2,4-D, and 2,4,5-T (the last two are the components of Agent Orange).

Examples of enzyme-inhibiting chemicals are disulfiram, metyrapone, diethyl maleate, and 1-aminobenzotriazole.

Not all xenobiotic metabolites are readily eliminated from the body. Some of the conjugates produced in Phase II metabolism have lipophilic character and are included in the biosynthesis of body lipids. These can be retained in the body and have delayed toxic effects.

Though the toxicity of xenobiotics is generally decreased by metabolism, some xenobiotic metabolites are more toxic than their parent compounds. As noted earlier, the metabolite of benzo(a)pyrene is a lung carcinogen. Similarly, it is the metabolite of 1-naphthylamine and not the parent compound that is a bladder carcinogen.

4.8 Factors Affecting Metabolism of Xenobiotics

Many factors affect the metabolism of xenobiotics. These include

- age
- gender

- pregnancy
- disease
- hormones
- cycles
- enzyme induction or inhibition
- diet and nutrition
- dose and timing
- genetics.

4.8.1 Age

The developing fetus and neonate have little or no ability to metabolize xenobiotics. Though the fetus is protected by its mother *in utero*, it is particularly vulnerable to assault by xenobiotics. The effects of xenobiotics on the developing fetus are discussed in some detail in subsequent chapters.

The ability to metabolize xenobiotics develops rapidly after birth, peaks in early adulthood, and ebbs with age. The very young and the aged are impacted to a far greater degree by absorbed chemicals than young adults.

4.8.2 Gender

Animal studies have demonstrated that some xenobiotics have a greater impact on males, while others more severely affect females. In some instances, testosterone and, in others, estrogens exert stimulating effects on the action of enzymes that metabolize xenobiotics. This research has been little studied in man but is worth considering when one is confronted with the greater sensitivity of one gender to particular foreign chemicals.

4.8.3 Pregnancy

Pregnant females have a reduced ability to metabolize xenobiotics. This is so because of the reduced activity of a large number of maternal enzymes during pregnancy. Accordingly, it is particularly important that pregnant women avoid exposures to toxic chemicals as much as possible.

4.8.4 Disease

Disease can be a major factor in reducing the body's ability to rid itself of xenobiotics. Liver, kidney, and cardiovascular disease can impair the ability to metabolize, transport, and eliminate toxic chemicals. Infection and inflammation of tissues have also been shown to alter the activity of CYP450 enzymes in the liver, kidney, and brain of humans. Such reduced activity affects Phase I metabolism of xenobiotics and results in increased toxic effects. In the case of the administration of drugs to combat an infection, these effects can result in toxic side effects from the treatment of the infection. Immune system responses to infection can have a negative effect on CYP450 enzyme metabolism of xenobiotics (see Section 4.12).

4.8.5 Hormones

The hormones produced by the endocrine system play a large role in the metabolism of xenobiotics by controlling the production of metabolizing enzymes. Pituitary hormone, growth hormones, thyroid hormones, adrenal catecholamines, and steroid hormones affect cytochrome P450 production and activity. Accordingly, any foreign chemical that impacts the organs of the endocrine system affects xenobiotic metabolism.

4.8.6 Cycles

Xenobiotic metabolism has been observed to vary with circadian and seasonal cycles in wild animals. These correspond to variations in Phase I and Phase II enzyme production during breeding cycles. In humans, shift workers have been found to have increased rates of heart disease and metabolic illness. This has been attributed to the finding that one-fifth of liver enzymes show circadian rhythms.

4.8.7 Enzyme Induction or Inhibition

Xenobiotics can serve to induce or inhibit enzymes that are metabolically important. This effect is particularly important when considering the effects of toxic chemical mixtures. Chemicals that are nontoxic or mildly toxic can serve to potentiate or synergize the toxicity of other compounds by inducing or inhibiting the detoxifying enzymes.

4.8.8 Induction

Enzyme induction is an increase in enzyme activity as a result of increased concentration of enzyme protein. Hundreds of chemicals have been shown to induce cytochrome P450 and other enzymes. Most of these

are lipophiles. They include pharmaceuticals, hormones, organochlorine pesticides, PAHs, including PCBs, and other carcinogenic species.^[3] Some pesticides and their decomposition products are powerful inducers. Mirex induces at levels as low as 1 mg/kg. 2,3,7,8-Tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (TCDD) induces at a level of 1 mcg/kg in some animal species.

Cigarette smoke is a powerful enzyme inducer. It has been shown to induce enzymes in the human placenta, an organ that is essentially inactive toward xenobiotics without induction. Cigarette smoke also lowers plasma levels of some drugs by inducing the enzymes that oxidize these.

When the enzyme that acts on a xenobiotic is induced the chemical is metabolized faster. It disappears more rapidly and its metabolite forms at an accelerated rate. If the metabolite is not harmful, induction hastens the termination of the effects of the chemical. If, however, the metabolite is toxic, induction intensifies the toxic effect by causing greater quantities of the toxic agent to be formed per unit time.

4.8.9 Inhibition

An inhibiting chemical slows the enzymatic metabolism of a toxic chemical. In this instance, if the uptaken chemical itself is the toxin, inhibition will slow the metabolism and intensify its action. If the metabolite of the absorbed xenobiotic is the toxic agent, inhibition will decrease the toxic affect. Vinyl chloride uptake in rats results in the lowering of cytochrome P450 and a corresponding loss of ability to metabolize other xenobiotics.^[1] Other inhibitors include diethyl maleate, which inhibits glutathione s-transferase and 1-aminobenzotriazole, which inhibits P450.

4.8.10 Diet and Nutrition

The nutritional state of a person affects the impact and metabolism of absorbed toxic chemicals. Nutrients are chemical compounds that make up the foods that the body uses to function and grow. These include proteins, carbohydrates, fats, vitamins, minerals, and water. The presence of xenobiotics in the body affects that body's nutritional needs. Toxic chemicals can react with nutrients and those exposed to xenobiotics generally require a diet with increased levels of nutrients in order to receive adequate nutrition.

Phase I and Phase II metabolic reactions require amino acids for enzyme synthesis. A diet that is deficient in amino acid sources (proteins) can result in the individual not synthesizing significant enough enzyme quantities to adequately metabolize xenobiotic species. Protein deficiency results in a decrease in monooxygenase reactions (Phase I) and reduces glutathione conjugation reactions (Phase II).

Nutrients are chemical compounds that make up the foods that the body uses to function and grow. These include proteins, carbohydrates, fats, vitamins, minerals, and water. The subject of diet and nutrition is a very complex and voluminous one. A detailed treatment of it is beyond the scope of this book but is briefly addressed here. Absorption of chemicals that are diuretics, fever initiators, or induce vomiting or diarrhea will increase water requirements. Some xenobiotics interfere with the absorption of carbohydrates from the intestinal tract, and chemicals that bond to lipids and proteins prevent these from being properly metabolized. Still other chemicals interfere with the absorption of vitamins and essential minerals.

4.8.11 Dose and Timing

With a single exposure to a toxic chemical or chemical mixture, the severity of the exposure is determined by the total amount of the exposure (the dose). The higher the dose, the greater the potential for harm. At low levels of exposure, the body is able to metabolize and/or eliminate the chemical(s) at rates rapid enough to prevent serious toxic effects. If the dose is high enough, however, the body's ability to rid itself of the toxin is overwhelmed; threshold levels of toxin(s) are reached and symptoms of toxic exposure are observed. The threshold levels vary from chemical to chemical and from single chemical to mixture exposures.

When toxic exposures are repeated, the timing as well as the dosage of the exposures is critical. The metabolism and excretion of xenobiotics proceed at finite rates. Stated another way, time is needed for the body to rid itself of the absorbed chemical and its metabolites. Let us consider a situation where the first exposure is at a level that the body can readily metabolize and excrete. If a second toxic exposure to the same chemical at the same level occurs before the body has had sufficient time to cleanse itself, a toxic buildup will occur with the onset of symptoms.

The effects observed from exposure to toxic chemicals can be quite different if a dose is administered all at once or slowly over time. Repeated dosing with low levels of toxic chemicals can be tolerated even if the total exposure exceeds the threshold value, provided there is sufficient time between doses for the body to rid itself of the toxins.

4.8.12 Genetics

The metabolism of xenobiotics proceeds at different rates for different individuals. This is because of genetic variations. Two examples demonstrate this point. CYP450 enzyme production (required for Phase I metabolism) varies by as much as 30% in healthy individuals. *N*-acetyltransferase reaction rates (an example of a Phase II metabolism reaction) vary widely. Some individuals acetylate rapidly and others slowly, with the slow acetylators having lower toxic thresholds.

Idiosyncratic differences in humans account for differences in response to toxic exposures. This has led to the pharmacogenomic approach to administering pharmaceuticals to people. This concept is based on the application of drug treatments based on genotype, that is, matching drug and dose to the individual's genetic characteristics. The pharmacogenomic approach has had only limited success because it does not take environmental influences on absorption, distribution, metabolism, and excretion into account. A recent approach, Pharmaco-Metabonic Phenotyping (PMP) offers the potential to prescribe precise drug treatments. PMP is based on obtaining a predose analysis of the metabolites found in the urine and using this information to predict drug type and dose best suited for the individual. PMP has been demonstrated to successfully predict the liver damaging effects of acetaminophen on laboratory animals.^[4] If proven successful in humans, PMP offers not only drug prescription applications, but also a way to predict the extent of toxic effects of single chemicals and mixtures on individuals.

4.9 Oxidative Stress

Oxidative stress (OS) has been advanced to explain many of the hazardous effects of xenobiotic exposure including carcinogenesis. OS theory as it applies to particular xenobiotic impacts is addressed in succeeding chapters, which address the different target organs of foreign chemicals. The discussion here is an introductory one. The reader is referred to two articles in the literature and the references contained therein for a more comprehensive discussion.^[5,6]

Metabolic processes in the body include reactions that have electron transfer (ET) associated with them. Most xenobiotics or their Phase I enzyme metabolites contain ET moieties. The principal groups include phenols, quinones, aromatic nitro compounds, amines, imines, and metal complexes or complexors. OS theory is based on the tenet that in vivo redox cycling with oxygen results in the formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS). OS is defined as the state where the body has excessive ROS.

The radical nature of the oxygen molecule facilitates its reaction with various substrates to form radical species. Molecular oxygen can undergo a single electron reduction to form the superoxide (SO). SO can be converted in vivo to peroxides and various oxyradical species, including hydroxyl (OH), alkoxyl (RO), and peroxyl (ROO) radicals (Fig. 4.3). SO is usually disposed of in the body by enzymatic conversion to nonradical hydrogen peroxide (Fig. 4.4).

Hydrogen peroxide, which has many metabolic functions in the body, can undergo the Fenton reaction to produce the hydroxyl radical, one of the most powerful ROS (Fig. 4.5).

Cytochrome P450 enzymes use molecular oxygen to create ROS that monooxygenate many natural and xenobiotic species. With natural species and some foreign chemicals, the oxygenation is helpful, producing metabolites that are eliminated from the body. With others, however, such as aromatic hydrocarbons, the ROS metabolites are far more toxic than the parent compounds and create OS. Aerobic life is dependent upon the formation and deactivation of ROS. OS arises when ROS are formed at a rate that exceeds the rate of deactivation.



Figure 4.3 In vivo conversion of SO to radical species.

 $2O_2^- + 2H^+ \longrightarrow H_2O_2 + O_2$

Figure 4.4 Conversion of SO to hydrogen peroxide.

 $Fe(II) + H_2O_2 \longrightarrow Fe(III) + HO + HO^-$

Figure 4.5 The Fenton reaction. Conversion of hydrogen peroxide to hydroxyl radical.

ROS formation is induced by absorption of many xenobiotics, including haloalkanes, peroxides, benzenoid hydrocarbons, PAHs, phenols, aromatic nitro compounds, aromatic amines, alkylating agents (including epoxides and nitrogen mustards), alkenes (including vinyl chloride, acrylonitrile, styrene, and 1,3-butadiene), hydrazines, *N*-nitroso compounds, a variety of pesticides, abused drugs, and heavy metals (including Cr, Ni, Pb, and Cd).

4.9.1 Electromagnetic Radiation

Exposure to electromagnetic radiation also causes the production of ROS. Nonionizing UV radiation can homolytically cleave hydrogen peroxide to hydroxyl radicals and generate free radical oxygen. High energy ionizing radiation (microwaves, x-rays, and gamma rays) break molecular bonds, producing free radicals and ions. Ionizing radiation causes the O–H bonds in water to break with the production of the aforementioned hydroxyl radical.

4.9.2 Mixture Effects

Exposures to xenobiotics affect OS adversely by increasing the body's ROS and thereby upsetting the balance between the natural production and elimination of free radicals. OS has been implicated in numerous deleterious conditions brought about by xenobiotic exposures in humans. These conditions include infertility, central and peripheral nervous system effects, respiratory effects, liver and kidney function, cardiovascular effects, and cancer. Each of these is addressed in the ensuing chapters.

Any absorbed chemical that produces ROS either by itself or via its metabolites affects OS and can adversely affect many organs in the body. Absorption of ROS-producing mixtures will result in greater toxic effects than the absorption of single chemicals. The effects of mixtures can be through the enhancement of single chemicals or they may result in attacks on organs not targeted by the individual species. The effects of mixtures on OS are to be expected if the individual chemicals and/or their metabolites contain free radicals. This is particularly the case when considering carcinogenesis. The chapter on cancer (Chapter 32) explores this subject further.

4.10 Receptor–Xenobiotic Interactions

Receptors are macromolecular binding sites for low molecular weight molecules (ligands), such as hormones and neurotransmitters. As such they are crucial to the well-being of the body. Xenobiotic ligands bind with receptors and in doing so interrupt the normal functioning of the body. Receptor interruption can occur in four ways.

- 1. The xenobiotic may bind with a receptor and thereby block the site from receiving the normal ligand.
- 2. The binding of the toxic ligand may mimic the normal ligand and initiate a deleterious effect.
- 3. The xenobiotic may bind to a site adjacent to that where the endogenous molecule binds, causing the complex to be sterically distorted and resulting in changes that affect the normal functioning of the receptor.
- 4. Macromolecules in the body that normally do not act as receptors may bind xenobiotics and thereby induce physiological changes.

Receptor–xenobiotic interactions have been associated with immune, central nervous (CNS), endocrine, cardiovascular (CVS), developmental, and reproductive system effects as well as with carcinogenesis. A sampling of toxic chemicals that bind with receptors and their effects is listed in Table 4.3.

The subject of receptor-xenobiotic interaction is addressed further in subsequent chapters.

4.11 Endocrine Disruptors

The endocrine system is comprised of a network of hormone-producing glands. These glands include the pituitary, thyroid, adrenal, thymus, pancreas, ovaries, and testes. The hormones produced are released in carefully

Chemical	Effect	Reference
Dioxin	Carcinogenesis	7
Di- <i>n</i> -butyl phthalate	Reproductive developmental	8
Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs)	Carcinogenesis	9
Chlorpyrifos	CNS, CVS	10
Parathion	CNS, CVS	10
Polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs)	Reproductive	11
<i>p</i> -Nonyl phenol	Endocrine	12

 Table 4.3 Receptor Binding Xenobiotics and Their Effects

measured doses. They serve as chemical messengers that regulate many of the body's functions, including growth, development, maturation, reproduction, and the operation of various organs. Small quantities of hormones are essential for normal body function. Too much of a given hormone as well as too little of it can be deleterious to health, development, and reproductive capability.

The World Health Organization defines endocrine-disrupting compounds (EDCs) as "exogenous substances that alter function(s) or the endocrine system and consequently cause adverse health effects in an intact organism, or its progeny or (sub)-populations."^[13] Endocrine disruptors can act in any of four different ways.^[14] These are

- 1. Mimicking the effects of endogenous hormones by attaching themselves to hormone receptor sites and thus increasing hormone levels in the body.
- 2. Antagonizing the effects of endogenous hormones, thus depriving the body of needed hormones.
- 3. Disrupting the synthesis and metabolism of endogenous hormones, either by excessively promoting these reactions or retarding them.
- 4. Disrupting the synthesis and metabolism of endogenous hormone receptors and interrupting the body's uptake of hormones at vital areas.

4.11.1 Effects on Humans

The effects of EDCs were first discovered in wildlife in the 1970s. It was found that extremely low concentration levels of these can have powerful deleterious effects on the reproduction of wildlife. Human effects were not studied until much later because most EDCs are neither mutagenic nor acutely toxic at the ambient concentrations found to have endocrine disruption effects on wildlife. It was also believed that effects on birds and turtles were not necessarily indicators of human toxicity. This, however, turned out to be exactly the case. Though toxic effects of chemicals are not always similar for different species of animals, they are just that for endocrine disruptors. The effects of EDCs on birds and amphibians are exactly analogous to those on humans.

Though EDCs can affect immunological responses, the most studied effects of EDCs are the reproductive and developmental ones. These, which include male and female reproductive disorders, transgenerational effects and developmental effects on the fetus *in utero* and the developing

child are addressed further in the infertility and development chapters. The reader is referred to the epic work of Theo Colborn, Dianne Dumanoski, and John Peterson Myers, *Our stolen future*,^[15] to the aforementioned WHO report,^[13] and to the literature^[16,17] for review discussions on the subject.

4.11.2 Endocrine-Disrupting Compounds (EDCs)

Chemicals known to be human endocrine disruptors include dioxin, PCBs, DDT and other pesticides, diethylstilbestrol, some phthalate ester plasticizers, and heavy metals. Table 4.4 lists the EDCs.

Pesticides and herbicides
2,4-D
2,4,5-T
Alachlor
Aldicarb
Amitrole
Atrazine
Beta-HCH
Carbaryl
Chlordane
DDT and metabolites
Dicofol
Dieldrin
Endosulfan
Heptachlor and H-epoxide
Lindane
Methoxychlor
Mirex
Oxychlordane
Parathion
Pyrethroids (synthetic)
Simazine
Tributyl tin
Toxaphene
Industrial Chemicals
Bisphenol A
Dioxin (2,3,7,8-TCDD)
<i>p</i> -Nonyl phenol
Polybrominated biphenyls (PBBs)

 Table 4.4 Endocrine-Disrupting Chemicals (EDCs)^[16,17]

Table 4.4	Endocrine-Disrupting	Chemicals (EDCs) ^[16,17]	(Continued)
-----------	-----------------------------	-------------------------------------	-------------

Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) Pentachlorophenol (PCP) Phthalates Styrenes Triclosan
Heavy Metals Cadmium Lead Mercury

Hormones of both synthetic and biological origin are known endocrine disruptors. The best known of these is diethylstilbesterol (DES), a synthetic estrogen that was prescribed by physicians to prevent spontaneous abortions in women from 1948 to 1971. Daughters of women who took DES have suffered a host of reproductive problems including a reduction in fertility, abnormal pregnancies, immune system disorders, periods of depression, and early onset of vaginal clear-cell adenocarcinomas and reproductive tract cancer. Known hormonal endocrine disruptors are listed in Table 4.5.

4.11.3 EDC Mixtures

The discussion of EDCs to this point has addressed responses to single chemicals. Mixtures of hormone disruptors have not been well studied, but

Table 4.5 Synthetic and Biological Origin Hormones that are EndocrineDisruptors

the example of the mixture effects of DDT and DDE is illustrative of how an EDC mixture can produce unexpected effects.

The pesticide DDT is an estrogen mimic that affects the body by elevating hormone levels. This, however, is not its only effect. DDE, the metabolite of DDT, is a fat soluble species that persists for long periods of time in the human body that has the opposite effect of DDT. DDE depletes hormones by accelerating their breakdown and elimination. This leaves the body with a short supply of not just estrogen, but testosterone and other steroid hormones as well.^[18]

4.12 Immunotoxicology

Immunotoxicology is the study of the adverse health effects of xenobiotics on the immune system. A thorough review of the immune system and immunotoxicology is beyond the scope of this book. The following is a brief outline. The reader is referred to the literature referenced for good introductions to this topic.^[19–21]

Lymphatic tissues constitute the principal parts of the immune system. The central immune system lymphatic tissues are bone marrow and the thymus gland. The peripheral lymphatic tissues are the spleen, lymph nodes (which are distributed throughout the body), tonsils, and adenoids. There are also lymph tissue agglomerates that are present in the gastrointestinal tract, respiratory system, and the skin, making lungs, gut, and skin particularly vulnerable to attack by chemical toxins.

Immunotoxicological impacts include molecular and structural effects in immune tissues and organs, cellular pathology, reductions in immune cell numbers, retarded maturation of immune system cells, and altered immune system antibody production. These adverse effects are manifest by two types of reaction: immunosuppression and immunostimulation.

4.12.1 Immunosuppression

In immunosuppression, one or more parts of the immune system are impacted. This results in impaired immune system function and reduced resistance to foreign chemical and biological agents that attack the body and can lead to increased incidence of infectious disease and cancer.

More than 400 chemicals have been identified as immunotoxins.^[19,22] These include single-ring aromatic hydrocarbons, aromatic amines, PAHs, pesticides, hydroxyethers, oxidant gases, heavy metals, halogenated aliphatic hydrocarbons, halogenated aromatic hydrocarbons (including PCBs)

Benzene
Toluene
Xylenes
Styrene
Benzo[a]pyrene
Phosgene
Ethanol
Carbon tetrachloride
Trans-1,2-dichlorothylene
1,2-dichloroethane
Methylene chloride
Carbon tetrachloride
Trichloroethane
Tetrachloroethane
2-Methoxyethanol
Ethyl acrylate
Benzidines
2,3,7,8-Tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (TCDD)
Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs)
Arsenic
Lead
Cadmium
Tin
Methyl mercury
Nitrogen dioxide
Sulfur dioxide
Ozone
Aldrin
Dieldrin
Endrin
Chlordane
Heptachlor
Lindane
Dichlorodiphenyl trichloroethane (DDT)
Malathion
Parathion
2,4-Dichlorophenoxyacetic acid (2,4-D)
2,4,5-Trichlorophenoxyacetic acid (2,4,5-T)
Asbestos
Silica
Epoxy resins
Ultraviolet radiation
Ionizing radiation

 Table 4.6 Partial List of Immunosuppressive Chemicals

and dioxins. Though not strictly chemicals, exposure to some wavelengths of electromagnetic radiation exposure also results in immunotoxic effects. A partial list of immunosuppressive chemicals is presented in Table 4.6.

Stress and exposure to electromagnetic radiation (UV or ionizing radiation) are immunosuppressant. People who bask under artificial UV sun lamps have been found to have suppressed immune responses, as have bereaved individuals. It is known, for example, that the combined effect of exposure to ionizing radiation and physical trauma (burns or wounds) produces a synergistic immunosuppressant effect.

Mixtures of chemicals have been shown to seriously impact the immune system. The following examples are illustrative:

- 1. Toluene alone is not a severe immunotoxin. When administered in combination with benzene, a potent immunotoxin, toluene enhances the immunotoxic effects of benzene. It does so by competing with benzene for Phase I metabolizing enzymes, thereby allowing benzene concentrations in the body to remain higher than if benzene were present alone.^[23]
- 2. The combination of cigarette smoking and exposure to aromatic hydrocarbons (benzene and its homologs) has a synergistic effect, resulting in greater reduction of circulating antibody levels than is expected from an additive effect.^[24]
- 3. Petroleum refinery workers, who are regularly exposed to mixtures of hydrocarbons, have been found to have depressed immune system output.^[25]

During periods of immune system response, for example, at times of infectious disease, cytochrome P450-dependent metabolism of xenobiotics is reduced. This effect is attributed to the production of interferon by the immune system as it responds to a challenge. Human interferon has been shown to suppress the metabolism of benzo[a]pyrene in laboratory animals.^[19]

4.12.2 Immunostimulation

Immunostimulation can lead to allergic disease. Allergy to chemical and biological agents can take several forms. These include allergic contact dermatitis; sensitization of the respiratory tract, including asthma and/ or rhinitis; systemic allergic reactions, including anaphylaxis; and gastrointestinal effects. Immunostimulation can also lead to autoimmunity, wherein immune cells attack the body.

An antigen is a molecule that causes an immune response in a person predisposed to react by genetics and/or environmental exposure. Upon one's first exposure, such a person's body will generate immunoglobulin E (IgE) antibodies. These IgE antibodies, found in the nose, tongue, lungs, skin, and intestinal tract, react specifically with the invoking antigen upon subsequent exposure, setting off an allergic response.

Chemical antigens known to stimulate immune responses in humans include formaldehyde, Isocyanates, acrylates, metals, sulfites, and anhydrides. Table 4.7 lists a number of these compounds.

Many chemical mixtures, in which specific antigens have not been identified, also evoke immunostimulant responses. These are listed in Table 4.8.^[26] Many of these are considered in some detail in the subsequent chapters.

Table 4.7 Partial List of Immunostimulants

Beryllium
Platinum
Thioglycolates (ammonium, sodium, potassium)
Formaldehyde
1,2-Propanediol,2-methylmonomethacrylate
Methyl methacrylate
Tetramethylene diacrylate
Toluene-2,4-diisocyanate
Methylenebisthiocyanate
Trimellitic anhydride
Sodium sulfite
Chlorine

Table 4.8 Mixtures that Evoke Immunostimulant Effects

Paints Detergents Cigarette smoke Automobile and diesel exhaust Cosmetics Air pollution (smog) Chemical flavors Artificial sweeteners Organic solvents

Phase I metabolism
Phase II metabolism
Enzyme induction
Enzyme inhibition
OS enhancement
Receptor interaction
Endocrine disruption
Immunosuppression
Immunostimulation

 Table 4.9 Body Responses to Toxic Chemical Exposures

4.13 Multiple Site Responses

As discussed earlier, when the human body is exposed to toxic chemicals, multiple responses are induced. These responses are summarized in Table 4.9.

It goes without saying that not all xenobiotics elicit all the responses listed in Table 4.9. Many toxins, however, do elicit multiple responses. Complicating the picture is the fact that not all bodily responses are primary ones, that is, direct reactions to the absorbed toxin. Secondary reactions can and do occur. Examples of these are a metabolite (and not parent compound) that is an actual toxin, OS inhibiting the action of a free radical inhibitor, and immunosuppression impacting metabolism.

Table 4.10 lists a number of xenobiotics that have multiple impacts on the body. It is hypothesized here that chemicals with greater number of impacts are more dangerous to the body's health that those with single effects. As is seen from Table 4.10, all the chemicals listed have multiple impacts. All of these chemicals are pervasive throughout the environment. Based on the multiple responses they elicit and their association with numerous health effects, they may be considered among the most dangerous environmental toxicants. There are, of course, many chemicals whose single bodily impact is immediately life threatening (e.g., cyanides) and no attempt is being made here to assign relative total toxicity values based on numbers of bodily responses. Such an assignment is particularly difficult because of the numerous interactions between the body's systems.

Even though a chemical is known to hit multiple organs, it does not always impact them all.

Body Responses Elicited						
Chemical	MET	RB	END	OS	IM	
PCBs	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	
TCDD	_	Х	Х	_	Х	
di-n-Butyl phthalate	Х	Х	Х	Х	_	
Chlorpyrifos	Х	Х	Х	Х	_	
Parathion	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	
PAHs	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	
<i>p</i> -Nonyl phenol	Х	Х	Х	Х	_	
Benzene	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	
Styrene	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	
Mercury	_	Х	Х	Х	Х	
Lead	_	Х	Х	Х	Х	

 Table 4.10 Xenobiotics with Multiple Impacts on the Body

Notes: MET: metabolized by the body; RB: receptor binding; END: endocrine disrupting; OS: oxidative stress producing; IM: immune system suppressants. Xs denote elicited responses; _s denote no known response.

4.14 Mixture Effects

Virtually every breath we take, every drop of water that passes our lips or bathes our skin, and every morsel of food we eat contains mixtures of xenobiotic chemicals in it. As was discussed earlier, the absorption of single toxic chemicals can elicit several body responses. When mixtures are absorbed, the body reactions may be considered to be the sum of those associated with all components of the mixtures. This, however, is an oversimplified approach. The effects of mixtures are not always the sum of all their parts for one of the following reasons.

- 1. Interactions among the mixture components produce new chemical species. For example, the concurrent inhalation of ammonia or amines and chlorine produces the extremely toxic chloramines.
- 2. Transport of hydrophiles to parts of the body they would not ordinarily reach by their solution in lipophiles. Transport of xenobiotics to unexpected parts of the body can result in body responses not found for single chemical absorption. The inhalation of formaldehyde and xylene, for example, results in formaldehyde

reaching the lower airways. This does not happen when formaldehyde alone is inhaled.^[27]

- 3. The interaction of a toxic chemical with its metabolite or the metabolite of another species. Phase I metabolism of xenobiotics produces hydrophiles. These hydrophiles may dissolve in lipophiles and be transported in the body. As an example, benzene is metabolized to the leukemogen, hydroquinone. Hydroquinone dissolves into residual benzene and is transported into the blood stream.^[28]
- 4. Potential saturation, or overwhelming, of the body's reaction potential. The body adapts to toxic exposure by increasing its detoxifying enzyme production and immune response. This allows the individual to "get used to" ever-increasing exposure to a toxicant (an example is the adaptation to ever-increasing quantities of products containing ethanol). Ultimately, the body's breaking point is reached and the individual experiences end-organ failure. In the example of ethanol cirrhosis of the liver may occur.^[29]
- 5. Interaction with chemicals previously absorbed. An example of this is the toxic effect of acetaminophen when taken some time after ingestion of ethanol.^[2]
- 6. Different chemicals can produce the same metabolites, thereby enhancing the effects of simultaneous exposure. An example is the combination of *n*-hexane and methyl-*n*-butyl ketone. Both are metabolized to 2,5-hexanedione.^[30]
- 7. Competition of mixture components for the same metabolic sites can expand the residence time of one or more of the toxins. An example of this is the simultaneous uptake of benzene and toluene that leads to a slowdown of the metabolism of benzene.^[30]

The examples of the effects just described are, unfortunately, few in number. This makes predicting the toxic effects of mixtures very difficult and underscores the importance of the empirical approach. As discussed in Chapter 2, it has been found empirically that human exposure to combinations of lipophiles and hydrophiles produces unanticipated effects. The underlying mechanism(s) for this phenomenon remain unknown.

As discussed in Section 4.9, ET and generation of ROS has been associated with numerous diseases and cancers.^[5] Many xenobiotics undergo Phase I metabolism and in the process produce ROS. The absorption and metabolism of mixtures of chemicals accordingly increases the quantities of ROS and thereby the OS. No association, however, has been made to date between toxic effects attributed to OS and exposures to mixtures.
References

- 1. Josephy PD. *Molecular toxicology*, Oxford University Press, New York, 1997.
- 2. Hodgson E, Smart RC. *Introduction to biochemical toxicology*, 3rd ed., Wiley-Interscience, New York, 2001.
- 3. Conney AH. Pharmacological implications of microsomal enzyme induction. *Pharm Rev* 1967; 19(3):317–64.
- 4. Clayton TA, Lindon JC, Cloarec O, et al. Pharmaco-metabonic phenotyping and personalized drug treatment. *Nature* 2006; 440(7087):1073–7.
- 5. Kovacic P, Jacintho JD. Mechanisms of carcinogenesis: Focus on oxidative stress and electron transfer. *Curr Med Chem* 2001; 8:773–96.
- Kovacic P, Pozos RS, Somanathan R, Shangari N, O'Brien PJ. Mechanism of mitochondrial uncouplers, inhibitors and toxins: Focus on electron transfer, free radicals and structure-activity relationships. *Curr Med Chem* 2005; 12:2601–23.
- Schwarz M, Appel KE. Carcinogenic risks of dioxin: Mechanistic considerations. *Regul Toxicol Pharmacol* 2005; 43(1):19–34.
- 8. Wyde ME, Kirwan SE, Zhang F, et al. Di-n-butyl phthalate activates constitutive androstane receptor and pregnane X receptor and enhances the expression of steroid-metabolizing enzymes in the liver of rat fetuses. *Toxicol Sci* 2005; 86(2):281–90.
- 9. Oliver JD, Roberts RA. Receptor-mediated hepatocarcinogenesis: Role of hepatocyte proliferation and apoptosis. *Pharmacol Toxicol* 2002; 91(1):1–7.
- 10. Howard MD, Pope CN. In vitro effects of chlorpyrifos, parathion, methyl parathion and their oxons on cardiac muscarinic receptor binding in neonatal and adult rats. *Toxicology* 2002; 170(1–2):1–10.
- 11. Matikainen T, Perez GI, Jurisicova A, et al. Aromatic hydrocarbon receptordriven Bax gene expression is required for premature ovarian failure caused by biohazardous environmental chemicals. *Nat Genet* 2001; 28(4):355–60.
- 12. McLachlan JA. Environmental signaling: What embryos and evolution teach us about endocrine disrupting chemicals. *Endocr Rev* 2001; 22(3):319–41.
- WHO/IPCS 2002. Global assessment of the state-of-the-science of endocrine disruptors. WHO/PCS/EDC/02.2. Online at www.who.int/pcs/emerg_site/ edc/global_edc_ch5.pdf
- Sonnenschein C, Soto AM. An updated review of environmental estrogen and androgen mimics and antagonists. J Steroid Mol Biol 1998; 65(1–6): 143–50.
- 15. Colborn T, Dumanoski D, Myers JP. *Our stolen future*. Penguin Books, New York, 1997.
- Colborn T, vom Saal FS, Soto AM. Developmental effects of endocrine disrupting chemicals in wildlife and humans. *Environ Health Perspect* 1993; 101(5):378–84.
- Falconer IR, Chapman HF, Moore MR, Ranmuthugala G. Endocrinedisrupting compounds: A review of their challenge to sustainable and safe water supply and water reuse. *Environ Toxicol* 2006; DOI 10.1002/ tox20172:181–91 (published online www.interscience.wiley.com).

- 18. Kelce WR, Stone CR, Laws SC, et al. Persistent DDT metabolite p,p'DDE is a potent receptor antagonist. *Nature* 1995; 375(6532):581–5.
- 19. Dean JH, Luster MI, Munson AE, Kimber I (eds). *Immunotoxicology and immunopharmacology*, 2nd ed., Raven Press, New York, 1994.
- Krzystynial K, Tryphonas H, Fournier M. Approaches to the evaluation of chemical-induced immunotoxicity. *Environ Health Perspect* 1995; 103 (Suppl 9):17–22.
- 21. Kimber I, Dearman RJ. Immune responses: Adverse versus non-adverse effects. *Toxicol Pathol* 2002; 30(1):54–8.
- 22. Scorecard online. www.scorecard.org (and the references contained therein).
- 23. Sato A, Nakajima T. Dose-dependent metabolic interaction between benzene and toluene in vivo and in vitro. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 1979; 48:249–56.
- Moszczynski P, Slowinski S, Moszczynski P. Synergistic effect of organic solvents and tobacco smoke on the indicators of humeral immunity in humans. *Gig Tr Prof Zabol* 1991; 3:34–6.
- 25. Zeman K, Tchorzewski H, Baj Z, et al. The effects of occupational exposure to hydrocarbons on some immune parameters of workers in the phenol division of a petrochemical plant. *Pol J Occup Med* 1990; 3(4):399–407.
- 26. Randolph TG. Human ecology and susceptibility to the chemical environment, Charles C. Thomas, Springfield, IL, 1962.
- 27. Zeliger HI. Toxic effects of chemical mixtures. *Arch Environ Health* 2003; 58(1):23–9.
- 28. Zeliger HI. Unexplained cancer clusters; common threads. *Arch Environ Health* 2004; 59(4):172–6.
- 29. Rea WJ. Chemical sensitivity, Lewis, Boca Raton, FL, 1992, pp. 21-8.
- 30. Baselt RC. *Disposition of toxic drugs and chemicals in man*, 5th ed., Chemical Toxicology Institute, Foster City, CA, 2000, p. 417.

PART 2 EXPOSURES TO CHEMICAL MIXTURES

5.1 Scope of Exposure and Introduction

Since Friedrich Wohler first synthesized urea in 1828, it is estimated that more than 1 million chemicals that were previously unknown in our environment have been synthesized. There are more than 80,000 chemicals manufactured and imported into the United States each year. People are exposed to most of these by air pollution, water pollution, foods and food chain transfers, soil contamination, household use of chemical products, the use of personal care and pharmaceutical products, and industrial contact. Exposure begins before birth *in utero* and continues throughout life. The different modes of exposure are dealt with separately in the following chapters.

5.2 Toxic Release

The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) is charged with collecting and reporting information about chemical releases and waste management in the United States, the Toxics Release Inventory (TRI). Under the Emergency Planning and Community Right-to-Know Act of 1986 (EPCRA), industrial facilities are required to report their environmental releases and waste management practices to EPA each year. For the year 2002, EPA collected data from close to 20,000 industrial facilities about the releases of approximately 650 toxicants to the air, water, and ground, and the amounts of chemicals that were recycled, treated, burned, or otherwise disposed of on site. For 2002, greater than 4 billion pounds of toxic chemicals, including more than 70 million pounds of known carcinogens were reported under TRI. The complete list of TRI chemicals is available on the EPA web site.^[1]

TRI is the most detailed source of information about toxic chemical releases. TRI, however, seriously underreports the total toxic chemical releases for the following reasons:

1. TRI does not cover all industries. Prior to 1998, for example, metal mining and electric utilities were not required to report their toxic chemical releases.

- 2. TRI reports on less than 1% of the 80,000 chemicals annually manufactured and imported into the United States. It covers only about 650 of the chemicals in use in the United States.
- 3. Reporting companies estimate their emissions by the use of emission factors, rather than by actually monitoring their emissions.
- 4. TRI does not require the reporting of the quantities of toxic chemicals actually used and the amounts of these chemicals that remain in products they manufacture and distribute.
- 5. TRI does not report on the toxic exposures that result when people are exposed to the chemical products that are put into the stream of commerce.

5.3 Unknown Toxicities

Of the approximately 80,000 chemicals that are in commercial use in the United States, even basic toxicity information is missing for nearly 75% of the top 3000 high production volume species.^[2] Essentially nothing is known about the toxicities of mixtures of these chemicals.

The vast majority of the 80,000 chemicals in use have been synthesized since World War II. It is estimated that 3000–5000 new chemicals are introduced each year. Virtually every chemical that is manufactured is ultimately released into the environment. Barely 60 years have transpired since the large-scale release of new chemicals into the environment started. This is a short time span in the evolutionary time frame, meaning that the human species has not had time to adapt to the new chemicals in the environment.^[3] Further complicating any chance to accurately assess the impact is the fact that new chemicals are constantly being introduced and accordingly, new chemical mixtures are constantly being created.

Not only new chemicals, but also new, heretofore unknown, classes of chemicals are constantly being introduced. Following are examples of such chemicals:

- 1. Organochlorine and organophosphate pesticides were synthesized and released into the environment with the sole purpose of killing living organisms considered to be pests. No consideration was given to their impacts on humans and other nonpests until widespread problems appeared.^[4]
- 2. Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) were introduced for their fireretardant properties without toxicological evaluation. The health effects that ensued are still being felt today, more than 20 years after they were banned.^[5]

5: SCOPE AND SOURCES OF TOXIC EXPOSURES

- 3. Plasticizers (e.g., phthalate esters and *p*-nonylphenol) were introduced to impart flexibility to polyvinylchloride (PVC) and other plastics. Their developmental effects on children were subsequently discovered.^[6]
- 4. Recently, an exciting discovery was announced. Researchers have synthesized catalysts that mimic enzyme oxidation.^[7] This could turn out to be a truly exciting development. It begs the question, "what will the effects of these new class of compounds be when they are released into the environment?" The answer is unknown. The article announcing this advance made no mention of any toxicity testing of these catalysts. It is not the intention here to disparage this new research. Rather, it is being used as an illustration of how newly synthesized compounds are viewed only for their uses, with little or no attention being paid to their toxicities. Such approaches have resulted in the release of DDT, PCBs, and other toxic chemicals whose use was well intentioned.
- 5. In the past few years, nanotechnology has surged into the forefront of research and technology development. Many new and novel applications are being found on an almost daily basis for these ultra fine particles, including medical ones. It has been recently reported, for example, that nanoparticles have been used as carriers to deliver very low doses of Fumagillin, a drug that can inhibit the growth of new blood vessels that feed atherosclerotic plaques directly to the base of the plaques.^[8] Carbon nanotubes (CNTs) are extensively employed in this new science. CNTs have unique electrical, mechanical, and thermal properties that give them wide-ranging applicability in electronics, aerospace, computer, and other areas. CNTs have very small particle size (less than 2.5 µm) and pose serious health hazards when inhaled. They have been found to elicit pathological changes in the lungs, impair normal respiratory function, retard bacterial clearance, damage the mitochondrial DNA in the aorta, increase the level of aortic plaque, and induce atherosclerotic lesions in the brachial cephalic artery of the heart.^[9] Fine carbon particles such as those in CNTs readily absorb a multitude of organic molecules. Such absorption results in the transport of these xenobiotics into the body. In another recent study, it has been found that nanosized particles of manganese oxide (less than 100 nm in diameter) at concentrations typically inhaled by factory welders follow a rapid move from the nasal cavity to the brain of in-test animals.^[10] The effects on the brain of a buildup of these particles are believed to be associated with inflammation and cellular stress response. Nanotechnology is well intentioned. The benefits to science and mankind have been enormous and new uses for CNTs are being found almost

every day. The need to control their emissions into the environment, however, cannot be overstated.

5.4 Proliferation

Toxic chemicals are now found in virtually every corner of the globe. The highest mountains, the depths of the ocean, and far reaches of the polar regions are contaminated with toxic chemicals. This subject has been well explored and well written about by numerous researchers and writers. Rachel Carson's *Silent spring*^[11] and Theo Colborn and coauthors' *Our stolen future*^[6] are two well-known sources. Toxicants are spread by wind, carried by water, and bioaccumulated by the various food chains to ultimately reach humans. It is beyond the scope of this book to examine the spread of toxic chemicals in the environment. One example, however, is illustrative of the extent of this phenomenon.

Polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) are synthetic chemicals that are used as flame retardants in clothing, building materials, airplane and car seats, electronic components, and other consumer products. PBDEs are introduced into the environment from discharges and leaks at manufacturing facilities, leaks from manufactured products, and from land fills containing PBDE products. Like PCBs, PBDEs have low vapor pressures, are lipid soluble, and are resistant to enzymatic metabolism. They do, however, become airborne when silt and dust particles to which they are adhered dry out and get wind blown to great distances to where they are deposited on land and sea. Though essentially water insoluble, they adhere to lipophilic solids and are carried in ocean currents. They are ultimately passed up the food chain by bioaccumulation. PBDEs, like PCBs and chlorinated pesticides before them, have reached the Arctic. They have been found in Arctic cod, ringed seals, polar bears, and beluga whales.^[12]

References

- 1. www.epa.gov/triinter/chemcial/
- 2. Roe D, Pease W, Florini K, Silbergeld E. Toxic ignorance: The continuing absence of basic health testing for top selling chemicals in the United States. Environmental Defence Fund, 1997.
- 3. Greater Boston Physicians for Social Responsibility. In harm's way, 1998.
- 4. Greene SA, Pohanish RP (eds). *Sittig's handbook of pesticides and agricultural chemicals*, William Andrew, Norwich, NY, 2005.

5: SCOPE AND SOURCES OF TOXIC EXPOSURES

- 5. WHO Working Group. *Polychlorinated biphenyls and terphenyls*, 2nd ed., vol. 110, Environ Health Criteria, Geneva, 1993.
- 6. Colborn T, Dumanoski D, Myers JP. *Our stolen future*, The Penguin Group, New York, 1997.
- Das S, Incarvito CD, Crabtree RH, Brudvig GW. Molecular recognition in the selective oxygenation of saturated C-H bonds by a dimanganese catalyst. *Science* 2006; 312(5782):1885–6.
- 8. Winter PM, Neubauer AM, Caruthers SD, et al. Endothelial {alpha}-{beta}3 integrin-targeted fumagellin nanoparticles inhibit angiogenesis in atherosclerosis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 2006; 26(9):2103–9.
- Lam CW, James JT, McCluskey R, et al. A review of carbon nanotube toxicity and assessment of potential occupational and environmental health risks. *Crit Rev Toxicol* 2006; 36(3):189–217.
- Elder A, Gelein R, Silva V, et al. Translocation of inhaled ultrafine manganese oxide particles to central nervous system. *Environ Health Perspect* 2006; 114(8):1172–8.
- 11. Carson R. Silent spring, Houghton Mifflin, Boston, 1962.
- 12. Wolkers H, Van Bavel B, Derocher AE, et al. Congener-specific accumulation and food transfer of polybrominated diphenyl ethers in two arctic food chains. *Environ Sci Technol* 2004; 38(6):1667–74.

6.1 Fetal Sensitivity

Exposure to toxic chemicals begins *in utero*, with the fetus exposed to all the chemicals that the mother has in her body. The developing fetus is particularly sensitive to toxic chemical attack. Though all systems and organs are under development during gestation, not all grow or mature at the same rate or in the same time frame. This phenomenon results in the association of developmental problems from exposures during one time in pregnancy and lack of such problems from identical exposures during other gestation periods. The association between developmental problems and toxic chemical exposures are examined in more detail in a subsequent chapter of this book. The following effects, however, are worthy of note here:

- 1. A developing fetus is much smaller than an adult or even young child. The effects of chemical exposure are, therefore, much greater for the fetus. An exposure of 10 ppb of PCBs will have a negligible effect on an adult but will impair the brain development of a fetus.
- 2. The fetus has an immature, porous blood–brain barrier, allowing greater exposures to the developing brain.
- 3. The fetus has lower levels of some chemical-bonding proteins, allowing a greater accessibility to target organs.
- 4. The developing fetus' organs are rapidly developing and are most vulnerable to toxic attack than fully developed organs.
- 5. In the fetus, the systems and organs that detoxify and excrete toxic chemicals are not fully developed. This leads to longer residence times and correspondingly greater toxic effects.
- 6. Many of the effects of toxic exposure *in utero* are not manifested until after birth. Such effects include the onset of autism and reproductive problems.

6.2 Toxic Chemicals in the Blood of Newborns

In a study commissioned by the Environmental Working Group (EWG), the blood of 10 American newborn babies born in U.S. hospitals in August

Class of Compound	Source
Mercury	Pollutant from coal-fired power plants
PAHs	Combustion of fossil fuels, tobacco smoke
Polybrominated dibenzo-dioxins and furans	Contaminants of brominated flame retardants
Perfluorinated chemicals	Breakdown products from Teflon and fabric protectors
Organochlorine pesticides	Crop application, environmental residues, bioaccumulation
Polychlorinated dibenzo-dioxins and furans	By-products of PVC production, incineration
Polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs)	Flame retardant in foams, electronics
Polychlorinated naphthalines	Wood preservatives, lubricating oils
PCBs	Transformers and other electrical equipment

Table 6.1	Classes of Compounds and Sources of These Found in EWG
Newborn l	Babies Study

and September 2004 were analyzed for 413 industrial and consumer product chemicals.^[1] The analysis discovered a wide variety of pollutants, including mercury, pesticides, PAHs, and PCBs. In all, 287 different chemicals were found in the newborn babies' blood, with the average baby having 200 of these at birth. A list of the classes of compounds found and sources of these is given in Table 6.1.

6.3 Toxic Hazards Of Fetal Toxicants

Of the 287 different chemicals found in the EWG study, 4 are particularly noteworthy for the effects they bring about in later life. These chemicals are dioxin, methyl mercury, PCBs, and DDE, the metabolite of the pesticide DDT.

Dioxin exposures during fetal development have been associated with endocrine-related cancers (breast and uterine) in women. Dioxin exposure *in utero* has also been tied to male reproductive effects. Men who are exposed *in utero* father more than twice as many girls as boys. Dioxin exposure *in utero* is also associated with infant death and birth defects. PCB exposure in the womb is associated with lower IQ scores in children and with abnormal menstrual cycles in women.

Methyl mercury exposure *in utero* is associated with reduced brain function and a doubling of the risk of heart attacks and other cardiovascular problems.

DDE, the long-lived metabolite of DDT is associated with premature birth and low birth weight. Low birth weight is considered an indicator of hypertension, cardiovascular disease, and the onset of type II diabetes later in life.

The above describes what is known about only a few of the 287 chemicals detected in the blood of newborns in the EWG study. Table 6.2 lists the health effects or body system known to be affected by the chemicals found. Many of the chemicals are associated with multiple health effects. It should be noted that EWG points out that the 287 compounds were those that were particularly tested for and that no doubt many others would have been found as well had the analysis been directed at those.

6.4 Mixtures

The full health effect impact of the 287 toxicants found on the 10 babies tested is impossible to ascertain. The chemicals found include many

 Table 6.2 Health Effect or Body System Impacted by the 287 Chemicals

 Found

Cancer
Birth defects
Developmental retardation
Male reproductive system
Female reproductive system
Endocrine system
Immune system
Respiratory system
Gastrointestinal system
Cardiovascular system
Central nervous system
Peripheral nervous system
Vision
Hearing
Skin
Liver
Kidney

lipophiles and hydrophiles and the combinations possible are almost endless. Further complicating the health picture is the continued exposure of these babies to the same and other xenobiotics as they develop. Such exposure gives rise to still more toxic mixtures.

There are no known direct studies on the toxic effects of chemical exposures on the developing fetus. It is known, however, that children of tobacco smokers (tobacco smoke is a mixture of multiple lipophiles and hydrophiles) have unusually high incidences of ADHD, autism, and other developmental disorders. These and other mixture effects are examined more closely in subsequent chapters. This chapter has aimed to alert the reader to the fact that toxic exposure begins at conception and impacts the fetus throughout gestation and beyond.

References

1. Environmental Working Group. *Body burden study*, 2004, www.ewg.org/ reports/bodyburden

7.1 Introduction

Air pollution is a primary source of exposure to a wide variety of toxic chemicals. The air we breathe contains numerous xenobiotics as well increased concentrations of naturally occurring chemicals such as ozone and particulate matter. The dangers posed by these substances are not limited to inhalation. Skin contact, too, is a primary source of exposure and many lipophilic chemicals are readily absorbed from the vapor phase through the skin. These lipophiles have the propensity to carry hydrophiles with them.

The sources of air pollutants include industrial as well as consumer use of chemicals. Virtually every one of man's activities in the twenty-first century results in the release of volatile and/or particulate matter xenobiotics into the air. Such activities include unexpected ones such as the opening of a loaf of bread (propionic acid is released from almost all packaged bread^[1]) and changing a baby's diaper (disposable diapers contain several volatile organic compounds introduced during their manufacture^[2]).

Most chemicals used by people become airborne either by volatilization or from being blown as aerosols or particulates by air moving devices and wind. The hazards of particulate matter are, to a great extent, determined by their size. Particles larger than 10 μ m diameter are filtered out in the upper respiratory tract and expelled. All particles with a diameter of 10 μ m or smaller (PM10) reach the lungs and are harmful. Particles with diameters of less than 2.5 μ m (PM2.5) are particularly dangerous because they reach deep into the lung tissue. This subject was discussed in Section 5.3 and is examined in more detail in the respiratory effects chapter (Chapter 17).

Air pollutants can be considered in three contexts: pervasive air pollutants, indoor air pollutants, and breathing zone air pollutants.

- 1. *Pervasive air pollutants*. Those air pollutants that are present in the general outdoor atmosphere to which all individuals will be exposed. These result from releases of toxicants into the air and from chemical reactions that take place in the atmosphere.
- 2. *Confined air pollutants*. Those pollutants that are present in a building, a room, a confined area, or an outdoor area with limited circulation to which all individuals present will be exposed. These result from limited releases of toxicants into well-defined areas.

3. *Breathing zone pollutants.* Those pollutants that are present in appreciable concentration only in a very small area, confined to the breathing zones of those immediately present. Breathing zone pollutants do not pose threats to others close by, even if they are in the same room or area.

7.2 Pervasive Air Pollutants

Pervasive air pollutants can be vapors, aerosols, or particulates. They primarily arise from industrial manufacturing, mining, agricultural activity, fires, and fossil fuel combustion.

The U.S. EPA is charged with addressing air pollution under the Clean Air Act. The poor air quality found in California has led the state of California to establish the California Air Resources Board (ARB), which also addresses this subject. EPA has established a list of hazardous air pollutants^[3] and ARB has established a Toxic Air Contaminant (TAC) Identification List.^[4] Numerous other literature references identify still other known air pollutants. Table 7.1, toxic chemicals in the air, which was compiled from these sources, shows the range of pervasive toxic chemicals that are found in the air we breathe.

The chemicals listed in Table 7.1 are those that are commonly found in the air above the United States. Not all these species are found in all locations and the concentrations of these xenobiotics vary with proximity to source points and prevailing meteorological conditions. On the other hand, numerous other air pollutants are found in different locations.

The EPA National Air Toxics Assessment, which is based on the analysis of 33 representative air pollutants, is used to produce results that are representative of air quality and its effects on human health.^[5] These are listed in Table 7.2

7.3 Chemical Reactions in the Air

As can been seen from Table 7.1, huge numbers of chemical species are regularly emitted into the air. With solar radiation acting as a catalyst, many of these chemicals react with themselves and with oxygen in the air to generate additional toxicants. The formation of ozone is an example of such reactivity. Reactive organic molecules and nitrogen oxides react with atmospheric oxygen in the presence of sunlight via free radical mechanisms to produce ozone and a large number of new toxicants.

Table 7.1 Toxic Chemicals in the Air

Acetaldehyde Acetamide Acetonitrile Acetophenone 2-Acylaminofluorene Acrolein Acrylamide Acrylic acid Acrylonitrile Allyl chloride 4-Aminobiphenyl Ammonia Aniline o-Anisidine Antimony compounds Arsenic compounds (including arsine) Asbestos Benzene Benzidine Benzotrichloride Benzyl chloride Beryllium compounds **Biphenyl** Bis(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate Bis(chloromethyl)ether Bromoform 1.3-Butadiene *n*-Butanol Cadmium compounds Calcium cyanamide Caprolactum Captan Carbaryl Carbon disulfide Carbon monoxide Carbon tetrachloride Catechol Chloramben Chlordane Chlorine

Chloroacetic acid
2-Chloroacetophenone
Chlorobenzene
Chlorobenzilate
1-Chloro-1,1-difluoromethane
Chloroform
Chloromethyl methyl ether
Chloroprene
Chromium compounds
Cresols
Cresylic acid
Cumene
Cobalt compounds
Coke oven emissions (including carbon black)
Copper compounds
Cyanides (sodium and potassium)
2,4-D salts and esters
DDE
Diazomethane
Dibenzofurans
1,2-Dibromo-3-chloropropane
Dibutylphthalate
<i>p</i> -1,4-Dichlorobenzene
3,3-Dichlorobenzidine
1,1-Chloro-1-fluoroethane
Dichloroethyl ether
1,3-Dichloropropene
Dichlorvos
Diesel particulate matter
Diethanolamine
N,N-diethyl aniline
Diethyl sulfate
3,3-Dimethoxybenzindine
Dimethyl aminoazobenzene
3,3 -Dimethyl benzidine
Dimethyl carbamoyl chloride
Dimethyl formamide
1,1-Dimethyl nydrazine
Dimetnyi prinalate
Dimetnyi suirate

Table 7.1 Toxic Chemicals in the Air (Continued)

Table 7.1 Toxic Chemicals in the Air (Continued)

4.6-Dinitro-o-cresol and salts 2,4-Dinitrophenol 2,4-Dinitrotoluene 1.4-Dioxane 1,2-Diphenylhydrazine Epichlorohydrin 1,2-Epoxybutane Ethyl acetate Ethyl acrylate Ethyl benzene Ethyl carbamate Ethyl chloride Ethylene dibromide Ethylene dichloride Ethylene glycol Ethylene imine Ethylene oxide Ethylene thiourea Ethylidene dichloride Fine mineral fibers Formaldehyde Glycol ethers Heptachlor Hexachlorobenzene Hexachlorobutadiene Hexachlorocyclopentadiene Hexachloroethane Hexamethylene-1,6-diisocyanate Hexamethylphosphoramide Hexane Hydrazine Hydrochloric acid Hydrogen fluoride Hydrogen sulfide Hydroquinone Isophorone Lead compounds Lindane Maleic anhydride Manganese compounds

Mercury compounds
Methanol
Methoxychlor
Methol bromide
Methyl chloride
Methyl ethyl ketone
Methyl hydrazine
Methyl iodide
Methyl isobutyl ketone
Methyl isocvanate
Methyl methacrylate
Methyl <i>t</i> -butyl ether
4 4-methylene <i>bis</i> (2-chloroaniline)
Methylene chloride
Methylene dinhenyl diisocyanate
4.4-Methylenedianiline
Naphthalene
Nickel compounds
Nitrates and nitric acid
Nitrogen oxides (NO.)
4-Nitrobiphenyl
4-Nitrophenol
2-Nitropropane
N-nitroso-N-methylurea
<i>N</i> -nitrosodimethyleneamine
<i>N</i> -nitrosomorpholine
<i>N</i> -methyl-2-pyrrolidone
Ozone
Parathion
Pentachloronitrobenzene
Pentachlorophenol
Perchloroethylene
Phenol
<i>p</i> -Phenylenediamine
Phosgene
Phosphine
Phosphorous
Phthalic anhydride
Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs)
Polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs)
1,3-Propane sultone

Table 7.1 Toxic Chemicals in the Air (Continued)

68

7: AIR POLLUTION

Table 7.1 Toxic Chemicals in the Air (Continued)

Beta-propiolactone
Propionaldehyde
Propoxur
Propylene
Propylene dichloride
Propylene oxide
1,2-Propyleneimine
Quinoline
Quinone
Radionuclides (including radon)
Selenium compounds
Sulfuric acid (including sulfur dioxide and trioxide)
Styrene
Styrene oxide
2,3,7,8-Tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin
1,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane
Titanium tetrachloride
Toluene
2,4-Toluene diamine
2,4-Toluene diisocyanate
o-Toluidine
Toxaphene
1,2,4-Trichlorobenzene
1,1,1-Trichloroethane
1,1,2-Trichloroethane
Trichloroethylene
Trichlorophenols
Triethylamine
Trifluralin
2,2,4-Trimethylpentane
Vinyl acetate
Vinyl bromide
Vinyl chloride
Xylenes

7.4 Confined Air Pollutants

The consideration up to this point has been on pollutant molecules in the atmosphere. Air pollution, however, can also be hazardous in more confined areas, such as those found in outdoor areas with limited air circulation, in buildings, rooms, and in other tight indoor areas with limited circulation. Confined air pollutants can be vapors, aerosols, or particles

1. Acetaldehyde	18. Formaldehyde
2. Acrolein	19. Hexachlorobenzene
3. Acrylonitrile	20. Hydrazine
4. Arsenic compounds	21. Lead compounds
5. Benzene	22. Manganese compounds
6. Beryllium compounds	23. Mercury compounds
7. 1,3-Butadiene	24. Methylene chloride
8. Cadmium compounds	25. Nickel compounds
9. Carbon tetrachloride	26. Perchloroethylene
10. Chloroform	27. PCBs
11. Chromium compounds	28. PAHs
12. Coke oven emissions	29. Propylene dichloride
13. 1,3-Dichloropropene	30. Quinoline
14. Diesel particulate matter	31. 1,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane
15. Ethylene dibromide	32. Trichloroethylene
16. Ethylene dichloride	33. Vinyl chloride
17. Ethylene oxide	

 Table 7.2
 Thirty-Three Representative Air Pollutants

that are released into an area with limited air circulation. These releases can be from manufacturing, application of paints and adhesives, tobacco smoking, fires, off gassing of particle board and plywood used in construction, off gassing of newly installed carpeting, application of cleaning products, pesticide use, and growth of mold and mildew. Often times, the health effects observed in enclosed buildings are due to one or more of these releases but not identified with any one particular source. In such situations, the term "sick building syndrome" is often applied.^[6]

An example of air pollution in a confined space is the air in an airplane. The air in commercial airplanes contains reduced levels of oxygen, increased levels of carbon monoxide, carbon dioxide, ozone, volatile organic compounds and particulate matter. These contaminants have led to cockpit crew, cabin crew, and passenger complaints of headache, fatigue, fever, and respiratory difficulties.^[7] Another example of confined space air pollution is the release of solvent fumes when interior walls of buildings with inadequate air circulation are painted.^[8]

7.5 Air Pollution in the Breathing Zone

Air pollution can be limited to the breathing zone, that is, the area within a short distance of the nose and mouth. Air pollution in the breathing zone generally does not impact others not in that zone. An example of breathing zone air pollution is that experienced by pathologists and histology technicians in (CNS and respiratory effects) preparing and microscopically examining slides prepared containing formaldehyde, toluene, and xylene. The health effects noted were headache, indigestion, memory disturbances, mood swings, loss of equilibrium and judgment, pulmonary functional impairment, upper respiratory irritation, eye irritation, and dermatological symptoms.^[9–11]

Another example of breathing zone air pollution is through the use of theatrical fogs and smokes on stages and film sets. These are composed of aerosolized glycol ethers or mineral oil and are inhaled by actors during the course of their work. Health effects of such exposure include acute and chronic upper and lower respiratory ailments.^[12] Theatrical fog and smoke aerosol exposure is not always limited to actors' breathing zones. When large quantities of these are used in theaters, a confined space exposure is established and audiences are also exposed.

7.6 Air Pollution and Health Risk

Using the industrial air pollution reports (toxic chemical air releases) of industries, EPA calculates a health risk score for each square kilometer of the United States. The health risk or probability that exposure to that particular air mass will induce illness is defined as the hazard multiplied by the exposure.^[13]

Health risk = Hazard \times Exposure

In calculating the hazards, EPA relies upon animal experiments and human studies for information to establish the probability of illness as a function of different exposure levels. The exposures used in the equation are derived from smokestack monitors strategically placed or from mathematical models that take meteorological factors into consideration. The paths taken by the pollution and numbers of males and females of different ages who reside in each area are taken into consideration in calculating health risk scores.

The health risk scores are not intended to measure the risks of being stricken by the exposures or the actual exposures to toxicants. Rather, they are meant to help screen for polluted areas that may need additional study. The health risk scores are also not definitive for the following three reasons:

1. The scores are based on the amount of toxic pollution released by each site (factory, mine, etc.) in the area. The data for the amounts

considered are provided by the sites and are not independently gathered or quality controlled.

- 2. Scores are tied to the paths taken by the pollutants through the air. Wind condition, temperature, and relative humidity, however, vary widely so the same amount of pollution can have far different effects on different days or even at different times of the same day. Breathing zone concentrations of pollutants can range from acceptable to extremely toxic in the same location as a function of time.
- 3. The health risk scores do not take other conditions and activities into consideration. The use of toxic chemicals for other purposes in an area is ignored. Following are examples of these:
 - (a) Painting with alkyd paints introduces volatile organic compounds into the air.
 - (b) Spraying pesticides onto farm land introduces these toxicants into the air.
 - (c) Operating gasoline- and diesel-powered vehicles introduces numerous hydrocarbons and particulates into the air.

7.7 Mixtures

The chemicals listed in Tables 7.1 and 7.2 contain numerous hydrophiles and lipophiles. The number of mixtures possible is impossible to calculate. When people are stricken following exposure to polluted air, health effects are often attributed to an inordinately high concentration of a particular toxicant. An example of such a situation is what occurred in Bhopal, India, in 1984 when a huge quantity of methyl isocyanate was released from a chemical plant. Such single chemical effects, however, are the exception, rather than the rule. Most polluted air contains complex mixtures of chemicals that often produce effects that cannot be attributed to the known toxicology of the individual species.

The toxicological effects of mixtures of air pollutants are not always ascribable to single chemicals. Some examples, however, of simple mixture effects are well known. Coexposure to mixtures of carbon monoxide and carbon dioxide produces a synergistic effect by increasing the degree of acidosis and extending the recovery time, compared with what is observed for the single chemicals. Simultaneous exposure to carbon dioxide and hydrogen cyanide increases the LC50 (amount of chemical that causes 50% of the test animals to die) of laboratory animals.^[14] Air pollutant mixtures are often complex in phase as well as in diversity. Solid particles act as

absorption sites for vapors and liquids and aerosols act to introduce mixtures of different liquids. These are discussed in the following sections.

7.8 Particulate Matter

Particulate air pollutants arise from many sources, including natural ones. These include

- 1. *Mining*: Mining operations, particularly surface mining, result in the release of particulates of the ore (or coal) that is being mined as well as particles of surrounding matter. The effects generally are localized, but when ultrafine particles are released they travel great distances.^[15–18]
- 2. *Agriculture*: Agricultural workers as well as nonagricultural residents of agricultural areas are exposed to organic dusts (from grain and animal waste) and toxic gases (ammonia and hydrogen sulfide). A significant percentage of these workers and residents suffer from respiratory diseases and syndromes, including chronic bronchitis and asthma-like syndrome.^[19,20]
- 3. *Manufacturing*: Virtually all grinding operations result in the release of particulates to the air. Quarrying, cement manufacturing, smelting, pigment grinding, mixing of solids (e.g., silica or talc) into paints and adhesives are just a few examples.^[21]
- 4. *Fires*: Combustion of any kind produces toxic particulate matter, smoke. The combustion can be natural such as a lightning-induced forest fire or unnatural such as the burning of fossil fuel for energy production, a petroleum refinery or plastics warehouse fire.^[22,23] In addition to particulates, fires produce PAHs, carbon monoxide, organic and inorganic cyanides, and free radicals that are toxic.^[24,25]
- 5. Tobacco smoke: Tobacco smoke produces particulate matter that acts as an adsorption site for toxic vapors.^[26] In addition to particulates, tobacco smoke produces more than 4000 individual toxic compounds, including 43 known carcinogens.^[27] Many of the toxic effects of tobacco smoke that have been established empirically cannot be ascribed to individual compounds in that smoke. With more than 4000 different toxins, the number of mixtures possible is incalculable. Numerous examples of synergism between tobacco smoke and other toxicants have been identified. These include tobacco smoke and asbestos or other mineral fibers,^[28,29] alcohol,^[30,31] organic solvents,^[32] biological

pathogens,^[33] and radon.^[34] The toxicology of tobacco smoke is addressed in detail in Chapter 14.

6. Volcanoes: Volcanoes are natural events that result in the release of huge quantities of particulates into the atmosphere.^[35] On May 18, 1980, Mount Saint Helens, in Washington state, erupted violently. Volcanic ash expelled during the eruption was of respirable size and resulted in a large number of respiratory injuries to those exposed.^[36]

Particulate matter in polluted air presents a mixture hazard that exceeds its own toxicology.^[37] When lodged in the lungs particles can act as adsorption sites for inhaled vapors and mists. Carbon black is an example of such a particulate. Carbon readily adsorbs hydrocarbons, including PAHs, on its surface and retains these toxicants in the lungs for periods of time far exceeding their usual residence time. Asbestos, too, acts as an absorption site for other toxicants.

The aftermath of the World Trade Center fire and collapse is an example of the toxic effects of particulate matter. New York City fire fighters and emergency response personnel who were exposed to dust from the collapse of the World Trade Center buildings following the September 11, 2001, attack have experienced a decrease in lung capacity.^[38]

7.9 Aerosols

Aerosols present dangers that far exceed those of vapors. Aerosols are small droplets of liquids suspended in air. Inhalation of these droplets into the lungs introduces very large quantities of toxicants relative to the inhalation of vapors of the same chemicals. By introducing the chemicals in liquid form, aerosols greatly facilitate the propensity for chemicals to induce chemical burns in lung tissue. Aerosols also greatly facilitate the absorption of mixtures by respiratory tract tissues. Aerosolized cleaners containing mixtures of ammonia and glycol ethers are far more irritating to the respiratory tract than the vapors alone of these chemicals because the mixture, inhaled as a liquid, introduces much greater quantities of this irritant mixture into the lungs.

Sulfur and nitrogen oxides react in the atmosphere to produce sulfuric and nitric acid, respectively. These react with photochemical products and airborne particles under ambient conditions to produce acid aerosols. Mixtures of these acid aerosols and ozone are synergistic and cause respiratory effects that are significantly more severe than those of ozone or the acids alone.^[39–41]

7.10 Summary

Air pollution results in the uptake of large numbers of chemicals of widely differing chemical and toxicological properties. When mixtures are inhaled (as is the case almost constantly) toxicological impacts that are not predicted from the known properties of the individual polluntants may ensue. This is particularly so when at least one of the chemicals is lipophilic and one is hydrophilic.

References

- 1. Scotter MJ, Thorpe SA, Reynolds SL, et al. Survey of baked goods for propionic acid and propionates. *Food Addit Contam* 1996; 13(2):133–9.
- Anderson RC, Anderson JH. Acute respiratory effects of diaper emissions. *Arch Environ Health* 1999; 54(5):353–8.
- 3. USEPA. The original list of haardous air pollutants. www.epa.gov/cgi-bin/ epaprintonly.cgi
- 4. California Air Resouces Board. Toxic air contaminant identification list. www.arb.ca.gov/toxics/quickref.htm
- 5. USEPA. National-scale air toxic assessment overview: The 33 pollutants, www.epa.gov/ttn/atw/nata/34poll.html
- Chang CC, Ruhl RA, Halpern GM, et al. Building components contributors of the sick building syndrome. *J Asthma* 1994; 31(2):127–37.
- Rayman RB. Cabin air quality: An overview. *Aviat Space Environ Med* 2002; 73(3):211–15.
- Brooks SM, Weiss MA, Bernstein IL. Reactive airways dysfunction syndrome (RADS). Persistent asthma syndrome after high level irritant exposures. *Chest* 1985; 88(3):376–84.
- Kilburn KH, Seidman BC, Warshaw R. Neurobehavioral and respiratory symptoms of formaldehyde and xylene exposure in histology technicians. *Arch Environ Health* 1985; 40(4):229–33.
- Kilburn KH, Warshaw R, Boylen CT, et al. Pulmonary and neurobehavioral effects of formaldehyde exposure. *Arch Environ Health* 1985; 40(5): 254–60.
- 11. Kilburn KH, Warshaw R, Thronton JC, Husmark I. An examination of factor that could affect choice reaction time in histology technicians. *Am J Ind Med* 1989; 15(6):679–86.
- Varughhese S, Teschke K, Brauer M, et al. Effects of theatrical smokes and fogs on respiratory health in the entertainment industry. *Am J Ind Med* 2005; 47(5):411–18.
- 13. USEPA. Health risk scores. EPA publication no. 450/3-90-022, March 1991.
- Levin BC, Paabo M, Gorman JL, Harris SE. Effects of exposure to single or multiple combinations of the predominant toxic gases and low oxygen atmospheres produced in fires. *Fendam Appl Toxicol* 1987; 9(2):236–50.

- 15. Rathore CS, Wright R. Monitoring environmental impacts of surface coal mining. *Int J Remote Sens* 1993; 14(6):1021–42.
- Murgueytio AM, Shadel BN, Clements BW, et al. Relationship between coal mining and blood lead levels in children. *Arch Environ Health* 1998; 53(6):414–23.
- Pless-Mulloli T, Howel D, Prince H. Prevelance of asthma and other respiratory symptoms in children living near and away of opencast mining sites. *Int J Epidemiol* 2001; 30(3):556–63.
- 18. Dudka S, Adriano DC. Environmental impacts of metal ore mining and processing: A review. *J Environ Qual* 1997; 26(3):590–602.
- 19. Kirkhorn SR, Garry FV. Agricultural lung diseases. *Environ Health Perspect* 2000; 108 (Suppl 4):705–12.
- Choiniere Y. Farm workers health problems related to air quality inside livestock barns. Canadian Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs, 2003, www.omafra.gov.on.ca/english/livestock/swine/facts93-003.htm
- Westerholm P, Ahlmark A, Maasing R, Segelberg I. Silicosis and risk of lung cancer or lung tuberculosis: A cohort study. *Environ Res* 1986; 41(1):339–50.
- 22. National Research Council. *Fire and smoke: Understanding the hazards,* NTIS no. PB87-136941, Washington, DC, 1986.
- 23. Dodson VN. Combustion products from plastics and natural polymers. In *Occupational medicine: Principles and practical applications*, 2nd ed., ed. C Zenz, Year Book Medical, Chicago, 1988, pp. 1048–52.
- 24. Pope, CA, III, Thun MJ, Namboodiri MM, et al. Particulate air pollution as a predictor of mortality in prospective study of U.S. adults. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 1995; 151(3Pt1):669–74.
- 25. Robertson DJ, Groth RH, Blasko TJ. Organic content of proaticulate matter in turbine engine exhaust. *J Air Pollut Control Assoc* 1980; 30(3):261–6.
- 26. Guerin MR, Jenkins RA, Tomkins BA. *The chemistry of environmental tobacco smoke: Composition and measurement,* Lewis, Chelsea, MI, 1992.
- 27. American Cancer Society. Cigarette smoking 2001 data, www.cancer/org/ docroot/PED/content/PED_10_2X_Cigarette_Smoking_and_Cancer
- 28. Selikoff IJ, Hammond EC. Asbestos and smoking. *J Am Med Assoc* 1979; 242(5):458–9.
- 29. Morimoto Y, Kido M, Tanaka I, et al. Synergistic effects or mineral fibers and cigarette smoke on the production of tumour necrosis factor by alveolar macrophages of rats. *Br J Ind Med* 1993; 50(10):955–60.
- Mehta MC, Jain AC, Billie M. Combined effects of alcohol and nicotine on cardiovascular performance in a canine model. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol* 1998; 31(6):930–6.
- 31. Salaspuro V, Salaspuro M. Synergistic effect of alcohol drinking and smoking on in vivo acetaldehyde concentration in saliva. *Int J Cancer* 2004; 111(4):480–3.
- 32. Moszczynski P, Lisiewicz J, Slowinski S. Synergistic effects of organic solvents and tobacco smoke on serum immunoglobulin levels in humans. *Med Pr* 1989; 40(6):337–41.
- Baginski TK, Dabbagh K, Satjawatcharaphong C, Swinney DC. Cigarette smoke synergistically enhances respiratory mucin induction by proinflammatory stimuli. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 2006; 32(5):165–74.

- 34. Lee ME, Lichtenstein E, Andrews JA, et al. Radon-smoking synergy: A population-based behavioral risk reduction approach. *Prev Med* 1999; 29(3):22–7.
- 35. Yano E, Yokoyama Y, Higashi H, et al. Health effects of volcanic ash: A repeat study. *Arch Environ Health* 1990; 45(6):367–73.
- 36. Nania J, Bruya TE. In the wake of Mt. St. Helens. *Ann Emerg Med* 1982; 11(4):184–91.
- Huggins FE, Huffman GP, Linak WP, Miller CA. Quantifying hazardous species in particulate matter derived from fossil-fuel combustion. *Environ Sci Technol* 2004; 38(6):1836–42.
- 38. Banauch GI, Hall C, Weiden M, et al. Pulmonary function after exposure to the world trade center collapse in the New York City fire department. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2006; 174(3):312–19.
- Committee of the Environmental and Occupational Health Assembly of the American Thoracic Society. Health effects of outdoor air pollution. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 1996; 153(1):3–50.
- 40. Oehme FW, Coppock RW, Mostrom MS, Khan AA. A review of the toxicology or air pollutants: Toxicology of chemical mixtures. *Vet Hum Toxicol* 1996; 38(5):371–7.
- 41. Kleinman MT, Phalen RF, Mautz WJ, et al. Health effects of acid aerosols formed by atmospheric mixtures. *Environ Health Perspect* 1989; 79:137–45.

8.1 Introduction

There are virtually no sources of drinking water on Earth that are not contaminated with xenobiotics. Rain water cleanses the atmosphere as it forms and falls. As a result, it contains dissolved acids, organic compounds, and heavy metals such as mercury and selenium in many areas. Surface collection basins from which potable water is drawn—rivers, streams, and lakes—accumulate ground level pollutants in addition to those carried in rain water. Underground water, which is somewhat filtered and generally contains lesser quantities of pollutants than surface water, may itself be contaminated by ground releases of toxicants and by contaminants produced by chemical reactions in the soil and water.

Water that is biologically contaminated is treated to remove bacteria, viruses, fungi, and parasites, by aeration, chlorination, ozone, ultraviolet radiation, or a combination of these methods. In the process of purification, decontamination by-products (DBPs) are produced. These are chemicals that are themselves toxic. DBPs are discussed in Section 8.9.

Major sources of water pollutants include mining, manufacturing, farming, power production, and runoff from urban and suburban sprawl. Water pollution from each of these sources are discussed later.

8.2 Mining

Mining activities frequently impact water resources and contaminate surface water and groundwater systems. This is illustrated by the following examples:

1. Coal mining has widespread environmental impact. Coal mining discharges are acidic and some contain high concentrations of dissolved metals that are reflective of the mineral content of the coal. Surface coal mining (strip mining) is particularly toxic, for it not only causes the release of acid and toxic compounds into streams and rivers, but it is also accompanied by the removal of topsoil, thus preventing revegetation. This, in turn, results in the further runoff of pollutants into water systems and increases the toxic load of the water.^[1,2] A typical example is the Deckers Creek watershed in northern West Virginia where coal mining has raised

the acidity level and introduced high levels of calcium, iron, aluminum, manganese, and zinc over a 25-year period. The water quality of the system continued its degradation even after mining ceased because of runoff from an abandoned underground mining complex.^[3]

- 2. The mining and smelting of metal ores produce large quantities of waste because the metal that is mined and refined is only a small fraction of the total material mined. Copper mining produces large amounts of mine wastes and tailings. Cobalt smelting produces approximately 0.11 mg of sulfur per milligram of cobalt produced. Zinc and lead smelting results in the release of large quantities of cadmium and lead into the environment. Gold and other metals are often found in ores where metals are present as sulfides, such as pyrite (FeS₂) and arsenopyrite (FeAsS). When these ores are exposed to air during mining activities the sulfides are oxidized to produce acidified water that can typically have a pH of less than 2. The acidified water dissolves and mobilizes the metals and further pollutes the water environment. Such releases pollute surface waters and soil, and ultimately result in the uptake of heavy metal contaminants by humans.^[4]
- 3. In some areas, gold mining is accompanied by an amalgamation process using mercury. As a result, humans are exposed to large quantities of mercury in such areas through uptake of contaminated water. In the Wau-Bulolo area of eastern Papua New Guinea, people living downstream of the gold mining area were found to have significantly higher levels of mercury in their hair than those living upstream of the mine.^[5]
- 4. Uranium has been mined extensively in Karnes County, Texas, for more than 30 years. Soil and drinking water wells have been shown to be contaminated with uranium-238 and thorium-232. Residents living near the mines have increased chromosomal aberrations and reduced DNA repair capacity.^[6]
- 5. Arsenic, a well-known skin carcinogen, coexists with tin in some tin-mining areas. In one tin-mining area in Malaysia, well water has been found to have high levels of arsenic and an association between living in the tin-mining area and the development of skin cancer has been demonstrated.^[7]

8.3 Manufacturing

Steel and other metal processing plants, food processing plants, textile manufacturing plants, and chemical manufacturing plants are but a few of the numerous industrial operations that are point sources of toxicants to the aquatic environment. It can be safely said that quantities of all chemicals used in manufacturing are released into the environment. Though many chemicals are released to the ground and air environments, virtually all find their way into surface water and groundwater. Water percolating through soil carries toxic chemicals to groundwater. Runoff carries toxicants to surface water. Airborne chemicals and their reactants rain down and wash down with rain water to surface bodies of water. It is beyond the scope of this book to examine the water pollution effects of manufacturing. Pulp and paper processing is an illustrative example of water pollution resulting from manufacturing.

The conversion of wood to fiber produces hundreds of chemical compounds that are discharged as effluents into surface water.^[8] Processes that use chlorine to bleach pulp produce substantial quantities of toxic chlorinated organic compounds, including dioxins and furans,^[9] compounds that attack the respiratory, musculoskeletal, reproductive, and CNS, skin, liver, and kidneys. These compounds are considered human carcinogens.^[10]

8.4 Farming

Farming is responsible for the release of four categories of water pollutants into the water environment. These are

- 1. silts
- 2. pathogens
- 3. nutrients
- 4. pesticides.

Though the quantities of each that are released vary with farming practices and animals or crops raised, they are the most important nonpoint source of water pollution.

8.4.1 Silts

Silt formation associated with surface runoff has historically been the greatest agricultural pollutant. It has resulted not only in the loss of huge quantities of rich topsoil, but also in the altering of water clarity (and associated changes in light penetration that greatly impacts plant and animal life) and the binding and transport of toxic lipophilic chemicals in the water column. Lipophiles such PCBs, mirex, kepone, and other pesticides

are essentially insoluble in water. Their apparent solubility in water is because of their binding to lipophilic sites in silt. Such binding contributes to elevated levels of these toxicants in water by preventing evaporation and photolysis.^[11,12]

8.4.2 Pathogens

Agricultural specialization has resulted in the concentration of large numbers of animals in relatively small areas. The amounts of manure produced per unit area often far exceed the abilities of the surrounding lands to assimilate these quantities. This is particularly the case with cattle feed lots and indoor poultry and pig systems. Runoff from these areas results in the introduction of significant quantities of pathogens to adjacent waters. It is quite common for drinking water wells in agricultural areas to exceed the allowable water quality standards for total coliform and fecal coliform.^[13] There are significant health concerns associated with agricultural release of pathogens. Addressing these is beyond the scope of this book. The reader is referred to a monograph, however, for a good discussion of the subject.^[14]

8.4.3 Nutrients

Animal wastes and chemical fertilizers are applied to soil to provide the nitrogen, phosphorus, and trace elements necessary for crop growth. When applied, these fertilizers are either taken up by crops, remain in the soil, or enter the aquatic environments via leaching, runoff, and atmospheric transport of dusts.

Nitrogen is generally applied in the form of nitrate and phosphorus in the form of phosphate. Together, these contribute to the eutrophication of water, with algal blooms and greatly accelerated water plant growth. Increases in the bloom of blue green algae can result in an increase of natural toxins that pose risks to human health.^[9] Though phosphate in drinking water does not by itself pose a significant risk to human health, nitrate does. High levels of nitrate in drinking water poses a threat of nitrate toxicosis of methemaglobinemia (oxygen starvation).^[9] A positive correlation between nitrogen compounds coming from fertilizer in farming and esophageal cancer has been found.^[15] Mixtures of nitrate with the pesticides aldicarb or atrazine at levels found in the drinking water of farming communities are toxic to the immune, endocrine, and nervous systems.^[16]

Household lawn and garden use of fertilizers is small compared to farming usage. Runoff from such uses, however, leads to the introduction of significant quantities of nitrate and phosphate in surface and deep well drinking water sources in some areas.

8.4.4 Pesticides

Agriculture accounts for about 80% of pesticides use. Agricultural pesticides can enter surface water and groundwater. These include accidental spills, atmospheric transport following volatilization, spray drift during application to crops, overspray, runoff from fields, disposal of pesticide product containers, and leaching of soluble pesticides through soil into underground aquifers.^[9] Pesticides are relatively nonreactive either dissolved or suspended in water and may persist for many years.^[12,17]

Herbicides are applied to roadways and railroad rights-of-way to control weeds and other plant life for safety and fire prevention purposes. Though arsenic herbicides were used for more than half of the twentieth century, these have been largely replaced by 2,4-D, triclopyr, and picloram. These herbicides have been found in wells adjacent to the application points.^[9]

Pesticides and herbicides are also applied directly to surface water for the control of insects, algae, and invasive weeds. 2,4-D, glyphosate, and copper sulfate are the pesticides most commonly applied to surface water.^[9]

The human toxicology of pesticides and pesticide mixtures are examined in detail in Chapter 13.

8.5 **Power Production**

Power production is responsible for the introduction of toxic chemicals into drinking water via several routes. These include petroleum production (drilling, pumping, transport, and refining), coal mining, petroleum combustion, and coal combustion. Nuclear reactors that produce electricity also pollute the water environment through the introduction of massive quantities of heat to surface waters.

8.5.1 Petroleum Production and Refining

Drilling, pumping, and transporting of crude oil invariably results in some spills of petroleum. These spills result in the introduction of aliphatic hydrocarbons, aromatic hydrocarbons, and PAHs into surface and ground-waters. Many of the chemicals listed on the EPA's list of 129 priority water pollutants (see Section 8.8) enter drinking water sources.
Petroleum refineries generate large quantities of discharged wastewater. Refinery wastewaters contain numerous organic and metallic toxicants. These include aliphatic hydrocarbons, aromatic hydrocarbons (including benzene), PAHs, phenols, sulfides, amines, carbonyl compounds, and heavy metals.^[18,19] Petroleum refinery waste dumps contain numerous carcinogens such as benzene, and runoff from these contaminates nearby drinking water sources. Benzene can be absorbed through the skin upon contact with water containing benzene, thus increasing the risk of leukemia in those so exposed.^[20] A correlation between residing in proximity to petroleum waste dumps (from which runoff into drinking water sources occurs) and increased incidence of leukemia has been reported.^[21]

8.5.2 Coal Mining

Coal mining is a major source of aquatic environment pollutants. Section 8.2 examined this area.

8.5.3 Petroleum Use and Combustion

Combustion of petroleum products produces airborne aliphatic hydrocarbons, aromatic hydrocarbons, PAHs, aldehydes, ketones, metals, and sulfur dioxide.^[22] These airborne chemicals ultimately settle or are brought down by rain onto surface waters and onto the ground, from where they run off into surface waters. The actual combustion products produced vary by petroleum source. The use of different grades of fuel oil, diesel, and gasoline lead to different pollutants. Methyl tert-butyl ether (MTBE) has been added (as a replacement for lead) to gasoline to improve its combustion efficiency since 1978. Its widescale use has led to it becoming a prevalent groundwater contaminant worldwide.^[23] Similarly, PAHs from petroleum usage are now major water polluters worldwide and are found in marine life.^[24]

8.5.4 Coal Combustion

Combustion of coal produces many of the same ultimate water pollutants as combustion of petroleum does, that is, PAHs. Coal burning, however, produces greater quantities of metals, sulfur dioxide, and haloacids. Coal combustion stack emissions contain significant quantities of arsenic, mercury, selenium, copper, and tin.^[25] Sulfur dioxide is ultimately converted to sulfuric acid in the air. Sulfuric acid and the haloacids (HF, HCl, HBr, and HI) ultimately come down as acid rains and acidify surface waters.^[26] Acidified water is by itself toxic to marine life. Its effect is amplified, however, by the solubilization of metals and hydrolysis of other chemical compounds.

8.5.5 Cooling Towers

Cooling towers are used in many industrial areas to cool water to remove excess heat produced by fuel combustion or by other reactions. Nowhere is more cooling water used than in the production of electricity from nuclear fission. In virtually every cooling tower application, cool water is taken from a surface source (river, estuary, or lake) and is returned to its source heated up. The introduction of warmed water to its source disrupts marine plant and animal life and also catalyzes chemical reactions. These have the effect of increasing the concentrations of toxic chemicals in water, which is often taken up for drinking use downstream.^[9]

8.6 Urban Runoff

Urban runoff is the greatest cause of surface water pollution in many parts of the world. Toxins contained in runoff include pathogens, nutrients (nitrate and phosphate), hydrocarbons (including PAHs), pesticides, and heavy metals (including Cd, Cu, Cr, Pb, Zn, and Fe).^[27–31] Urban runoff is particularly troublesome where storm water runoff is untreated and enters rivers and lakes from which drinking water is drawn. In areas where storm water runoff often overwhelms treatment plants and results in the release of raw sewage into the aquatic environment.

8.7 Home and Personal Care Products

Household use of chemicals and chemical products is ultimately a major source of contamination of drinking water in the United States. The EPA has identified 13 major categories of water pollutants in this area.^[32] The list and a discussion of each item follows:

- 1. Cleaners
- 2. Cosmetics
- 3. Deodorizers

- 4. Disinfectants
- 5. House and garden pesticides
- 6. Laundry products
- 7. Medicines
- 8. Ointments
- 9. Paint and paint supplies
- 10. Photographic chemicals
- 11. Polishes
- 12. Preservatives
- 13. Soaps.

8.7.1 Cleaners

Cleaning products are used regularly in most households These include dishwashing detergents, denture cleaners, toilet bowl cleaners, oven cleaners, drain cleaners, wood and metal cleaners and polishes, tub, tile, and shower cleaners, bleach and pool chemicals. Toxic chemicals contained in household cleaners include glycol ethers, aliphatic hydrocarbons, aromatic hydrocarbons, chlorinated hydrocarbons, surfactants, and heavy metals.^[32]

8.7.2 Cosmetics

Cosmetics are used daily in most households. These include facial and body creams, hair colorants, setting and other treatment products, nail polishes, lipsticks, facial powders, perfumes, and deodorants. Toxic chemicals contained in cosmetics include many of those listed on the EPA 129 priority pollutants list (see Section 8.8). Some of these are formaldehyde, PAHs, aliphatic and aromatic hydrocarbons, and heavy metals.^[32]

8.7.3 Deodorizers

Deodorizers are used in bathrooms, around pets, on carpets and upholstery, and for aesthetic purposes. Toxic chemicals contained in deodorizers include glycol ethers, quaternary ammonium compounds, aromatic and aliphatic hydrocarbons, alcohols, aldehydes, and esters.^[33]

8.7.4 Disinfectants

Disinfectants are used in bathrooms, kitchens, and to combat mold and mildew. Toxic chemicals contained in these include chlorine, chloramines and quaternary ammonium compounds, alcohols, and glycol ethers.^[32]

8.7.5 House and Garden Pesticides

Pesticides used around the house and garden include insecticides, herbicides, rodenticides, fungicides, and fumigants. Toxic chemicals contained in pesticides include organochlorine and organophosphate compounds, carbamates, and arsenicals. The solvents used as carriers for these include aliphatic and aromatic hydrocarbons, alcohols, and glycol ethers.^[34]

8.7.6 Laundry Products

Laundry washing consumes and releases large amounts of chemicals into wastewater. Household laundry products include detergents, bleaches, builders, and metal chelating agents. Toxic chemicals contained in these include surfactants, chlorine, organic peroxides, phosphates, alkalis, and glycol ethers.^[35]

8.7.7 Ointments

Medical ointments are applied topically to various body parts. Significant quantities of these are washed down the drain via bathing and hand washing following application. Toxic chemicals contained in these include aromatic hydrocarbons, chlorinated hydrocarbons, and heavy metals.^[32]

8.7.8 Paint and Paint Products

Most paints used in the household today are water-based products. Significant quantities of paints, primers, and brush cleaners are washed down the drain during cleanup following painting. Water-based paints contain numerous toxic chemicals. These include pigments (many with heavy metals), biocides, glycol ethers, binders, amines, acrylate, and other polymer monomers, surfactants, aliphatic and aromatic hydrocarbons alcohols, ketones, and esters.^[36,37]

8.7.9 Photographic Chemicals

Many photographers who develop their own pictures pour spent solutions down the drain. Toxic chemicals released this way include acetic acid, aminophenol, ammonium hydroxide, diethanolamine, silver, sodium thiosulfate, and more than 80 others.^[38,39]

8.7.10 Polish

Polishes encompass a broad spectrum of products, including furniture polishes, shoe polishes, floor waxes, and metal polishes. Many of these are water-based products, and cleanup entails washing with water that is poured down the drain. Toxic chemicals contained in these products and released as wastewater include chlorinated hydrocarbons, acrylates, surfactants, preservatives (including formaldehyde), glycol ethers, silver, and phthalates.^[32]

8.7.11 Preservatives

Many cosmetics, paints, ointments, foods, shampoos, and medicines contain preservatives to combat biological degradation. Toxic chemicals used as preservatives include mercury compounds, formaldehyde, methyl and propyl *p*-aminobenzoic acids, butylated hydroxyanisol, butylated hydroxytoluene, benzoic acid, and quaternary ammonium compounds.^[32]

8.7.12 Soaps

Soaps are used in virtually every household every day. Basic soap is produced by the saponification (hydrolysis with sodium hydroxide) of animal or vegetable fats and has little toxicity. Soaps commonly used, however, contain additives to give them deodorant and antimicrobial properties. Such soaps may contain chloroxylenol, phenol, triclosan, methylisothiazolinone (MIT), and other toxicants that are released into water streams.^[40]

8.7.13 Medicines

Medicines contain antibiotics and other biologically active chemicals that help humans fight disease. As stated at the outset, this book does not address pharmaceutical products and their toxic effects. Medicines, however, contain inactive components called excipients, which are substances added to confer consistency or form to drugs, preservatives, stabilizers, sweeteners, and colorants. These additives frequently make up the majority of the drug product. They are considered inert and are intended to affect the therapeutic action of a drug. Almost 800 chemicals in this category have been approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for use as inactive ingredients in pharmaceuticals. Many of the chemicals used as excipients are themselves toxic and these contaminate water when introduced into it.^[41] A few examples of excipients and their toxic effects are

Benzalkonium chloride	Bronchospasm ^[42]
Aspartame	Headache and seizure ^[43]
Azo dyes (food colors)	Hyperactivity ^[43]
Sulfites	Anaphylaxis ^[44]
Propylene glycol	Skin eruptions ^[42–44]

Many of the chemical water pollutants released by household products are identical to those released through industrial and agricultural activities. Though the quantities of pollutants released as a result of industrial and agricultural use are generally far greater than the quantities resulting from household use, in some instances, household usage bears primary responsibility for localized drinking water contamination by toxic chemicals. This is particularly so when discharges from municipal wastewater treatment plants or household septic systems enter downstream drinking water uptakes.^[45]

8.8 Priority Water Pollutants

In 1979, the U.S. EPA published a list of 129 priority water pollutants from human activities that were considered most responsible for the contamination of water.^[46] Table 8.1 lists these chemicals as well as their sources.

Since this priority list was first drawn up in 1979, many other hazardous contaminants in water have been identified. These are addressed in the following section.

8.9 Chemical Reactions in Water

8.9.1 Groundwater

In addition to those chemicals released directly, chemical reactions in the environment generate still more pollutants. After being discharged into the soil and groundwater, some pollutants degrade into chemicals that are sometimes more toxic than the parent compounds. Such degradation occurs via chemical oxidation, reduction, hydration, and bacterial action.

The transformations of chlorinated hydrocarbons perchloroethylene (PCE), trichloroethylene (TCE), and 1,1,1-trichloroethane (TCA) are illustrative of these types of reactions. *Cis-* and *trans-*1,2-dichloroethylene

Priority Pollutant	Source
1. Acenaphthene	Manufacturing of insecticides,
	fungicides, dyes plastics
2. Acrolein	Chemical manufacturing,
	intermediate
3. Acrylonitrile	Chemical manufacturing
4. Benzene	Organic chemicals, solvents,
	petroleum products
5. Benzidine	Manufacturing of chemicals, rubber, and dyes
6. Carbon tetrachloride	Manufacture of chlorinated hydro-
	carbons, chemical intermediate
7. Chlorobenzene	Chemical manufacturing,
	degreaser
8. 1,2,4-Trichlorobenzene	Manufacturing of chemicals, heat transfer lubricant
9. Hexachlorobenzene	Fungicide for wood preservation
10. 1,2-Dichloroethane	Cleaners and wax removers
11. 1,1,1-Trichloroethane	Degreasers, cleaners
12. Hexachloroethane	Insecticides
13. 1,1-Dichloroethane	Degreasers
14. 1,1,2-Trichloroethane	Waxes, cleaners, photographic products
15. 1,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane	Fumigant, garden sprays
16. Chloroethane	Waxes, cleaners
17. Bis (chloromethyl) ether	Chemical manufacturing
18. Bis (2-chloroethyl) ether	Paints, varnishes, callus removers
19. 2-Chloroethyl vinyl ether	Waterproofing compounds
20. 2-Chloronaphthalene	Engine oil additive
21. 2,4,6-Trichlorophenol	Adhesives, cleaners, disinfectants
22. p-Chloro-m-cresol	Glue, paint, shampoo preservatives
23. Chloroform	Manufacturing solvents, disinfection byproduct
24. 2-Chlorophenol	Disinfectants, cleaners, paints
25. 1,2-Dichlorobenzene	Waxes, polishes, cleaners,
	deodorizers, preservatives
26. 1,3-Dichlorobenzene	Waxes, polishes, cleaners,
	deodorizers, preservatives
27. 1,4-Dichlorobenzene	Fruit spray, household cleaners,
	dyes, disinfectants
28. 3,3-Dichlorobenzidine	Dye manufacture

 Table 8.1 EPA 129 Priority Pollutants and Their Product Sources

Priority Pollutant	Source
29. 1,1-Dichloroethylene	Plasticizer, environmental decompo- sition of trichloroethylene
30. 1,2-Dichloroethylene	Solvents, cleaners
31. 2,4-Dichlorophenol	Wood preservatives, insect
, I	repellants, cosmetics
32. 1,2-Dichloropropane	Tar removers, waxes, degreasers
33. 1,3-Dichloropropylene	Tar removers, waxes, degreasers
34. 2,4-Dimethylphenol	Asphalt products, shampoos, skin
	treatments
35. 2,4-Dinitrotoluene	Manufacture of TNT
36. 2,6-Dinitrotoluene	Manufacture of TNT
37. 1,2-Diphenylhydrazine	Manufacture of chemicals
38. Ethylbenzene	Solvents, manufacture of plastics, petroleum fuels
39. Fluoranthene	Coal tars, antibiotic creams,
	shampoos, skin treatments
40. 4-Chlorophenyl phenyl ether	Dielectric fluid
41. 4-Bromophenyl phenyl ether	Dielectric fluid
42. Bis (2-chloroisopropyl) ether	Waxes, paint removers, degreasers
43. Bis (2-chloroethoxy) methane	Manufacture of adhesives, sealants
44. Methylene chloride	Solvents, degreasers, cleaners
45. Methyl chloride	Manufacture of chemicals and herbicides
46. Methyl bromide	Manufacture of crop fumigants
47. Bromoform	Solvents, manufacture of pharma-
	centicals, disinfection by-product
48. Dichlorobromomethane	Drinking water treatments, waxes,
40 Trichlorofluoromathana	Acrossol propellents, perfumes
49. Inchioronuoronienane	deodorants
50. Dichlorodifluoromethane	Aerosol propellants, perfumes deodorants
51. Chlorodibromomethane	Aerosol propellants, perfumes, deodorants, fire extinguishers
52. Hexachlorobutadiene	By-product of trichloroethylene
	manufacturing
53. Hexachlorocyclopentadiene	Pesticide manufacture
54. Isophorone	Solvents, pesticide manufacture, degreasers
55. Naphthalene	Deodorants, detergents, moth
56. Nitrobenzene	Textiles, dyes

Table 8.1 EPA 129 Priority Pollutants and Their Product Sources (Continued)

Priority Pollutant	Source
57. Nitrophenol	Manufacture of dyes and chemicals
58. 4-Nitrophenol	Pesticide manufacture
59. 2,4-Dinitrophenol	Manufacture of pesticides,
	photographic products
60. 4,6-Dinitro- <i>o</i> -cresol	Pesticides
61. <i>N</i> -nitrosodimethylamine	Manufacture of dyes
62. N-nitrosodiphenylamine	Manufacture of rubber
63. <i>N</i> -nitrosodi- <i>N</i> -propylamine	Manufacture of organic chemicals
64. Petachlorophenol	wood preservatives
65. Phenol	Adhesives, preservatives,
	disinfectants, callus removers
66. <i>Bis</i> (2-ethylhexyl) phthalate	Plasticizer
67. Butylbenzyl phthalate	Plasticizer
68. Di- <i>n</i> -butyl phthalate	Plasticizer
69. Dioctyl phthalate	Plasticizer
70. Diethyl phthalate	Plasticizer
71. Dimethyl phthalate	Plasticizer
72. Benzo[a]anthracene	Cigarette smoke, asphalt products,
73 Benzo[a]pyrene	Cigarette smoke, asphalt products
75. Denzolajpyrene	netroleum combustion
74 3 4-Benzofluoranthene	Cigarette smoke asphalt products
74. 3,4 Denzondorandiene	netroleum combustion
75 11 12-Benzofluoanthene	Cigarette smoke asphalt products
75. 11,12 Denzondounthene	netroleum combustion
76 Chrysene	Cigarette smoke, asphalt products
, o. emplene	netroleum combustion
77 Acenanhthylene	Dye manufacturing petroleum
//. Reenaphinylene	combustion
78 Anthracene	Dye manufacturing petroleum
70. Aminucono	combustion
79 Benzo[c]pervlene	Dye manufacturing petroleum
/y. Benzolejperytene	combustion
80 Phenanthrene	Dye manufacturing petroleum
	combustion
81 Indeno[1.2.3-cd]pyrene	Dye manufacturing petroleum
	combustion
82 Dizenzo[a h]anthracene	Dve manufacturing petroleum
52. Dizenzola,njantinacene	combustion
83 Indeno[1.2.3-cd]pyrene	Dve manufacturing petroleum
os. macho[1,2,5 cd]pjiene	combustion

 Table 8.1 EPA 129 Priority Pollutants and Their Product Sources (Continued)

I

Priority Pollutant	Source
84. Pyrene	Dye manufacturing, petroleum
85 Tetrachloroethylene	Dry cleaning solvent degreasers
86 Toluene	Solvents adhesives paints varnishes
87 Trichloroethylene	Degreasers solvents
88 Vinvl chloride	Manufacture of PVC resins adhe-
	sives environmental decomposi-
	tion of trichloroethylene
89 Aldrin	Insecticides
90 Dieldrin	Insecticides
91 Chlordane	Insecticides
92 4 4' DDT	Insecticides
92. 4,4 -DDT 93. 4.4' DDF	Environmental decomposition of
95. 4,4 -DDE	4 4' DDT
	4,4 -DD1 Impurity in $4.4'$ DDT
95 Endosulfan alnha	A caricides
96 Endosulfan-beta	Acaricides
97 Endosulfan sulfate	Acaricides
98 Endrin	Insecticides rodenticides
99 Endrin aldehyde	Insecticides, rodenticides
100. Heptachlor	Insecticides, rodenticides
101. Heptachlor epoxide	Insecticides, rodenticides
102. BHC-alpha	Insecticide, fungicide
103. BHC-beta	Insecticide, fungicide
104. BHC-gamma	Insecticide, fungicide
105. BHC-delta	Insecticide, fungicide
106. TCDD	Manufacture of chlorophenols, her-
	bicide contaminant, incineration of
107 Toyanhene	Insecticides
108 Arochlor 1016	Electrical transformers carbonless
	copy papers
109 Arochlor 1221	Electrical transformers carbonless
109. Alochiol 1221	
110 Arochlor 1232	Electrical transformers, carbonless
110. Alochiol 1252	
111 Areabler 1242	Copy papers
111. Arochior 1242	Electrical transformers, cardoniess
112 Arashlar 1248	Copy papers
112. Afochiof 1248	Electrical transformers, carboniess
112 A 11 1254	copy paper
113. Arochlor 1254	Electrical transformers, carbonless
	copy paper

Table 8.1 EPA	129 Priority Pollutants	and Their Product Sources	(Continued)
---------------	--------------------------------	---------------------------	-------------

Priority Pollutant	Source
114. Arochlor 1260	Electrical transformers, carbonless copy paper
115. Antimony	Mining, smelting, paints, fireproofing compounds
116. Arsenic	Insecticides, herbicides, pressure-treated woods
117. Asbestos	Construction materials, insulation materials
118. Beryllium	Electrical components, manufacturing of chemicals
119. Cadmium	Welding rods, alkaline storage batteries, fluorescent lamps
120. Chromium	Chrome plating, paints, chemical manufacturing
121. Copper	Corrosion in plumbing, algicides, bronze plating
122. Cyanide	Ore refining, combustion of plastics, electroplating
123. Lead	Corrosion in plumbing, paints applied pre-1973, storage batteries
124. Mercury	Electrical switches, pharmaceutical preservatives, mining of gold and silver
125. Nickel	Mining, smelting, alloy production
126. Selenium	Mining, coal combustion, glass manufacture
127. Silver	Dentistry, photographic film, jewelry
128. Thallium	Smelting and refining of lead and zinc, pesticides
129. Zinc	Textile finishing, skin treatments, electrical batteries

 Table 8.1 EPA 129 Priority Pollutants and Their Product Sources (Continued)

(1,2-DCE), 1,1-dichloro ethylene (1,1-DCE), and vinyl chloride (VC) are often found in well water that has been contaminated only with tetrachloroethylene and/or trichloroethylene.^[47] Some of the transformations of PCE and TCE are biologically catalyzed and occur in soil and sediment, whereas others are believed to occur in groundwater.^[48,49] TCA hydrolyses to 1,1-DCE in groundwater.^[50]

Whatever the nature of the degradation, the discharge of chlorinated hydrocarbon solvents results in the formation of highly toxic degradation

products DCE and VC. DCE irritates the eyes, skin, and respiratory tract and depresses the CNS.^[51] 1,1-DCE is a suspected human carcinogen.^[52] VC may cause scleroderma, a disease that causes skin to become smooth, tight, and shiny and the bones in the fingers to erode. Repeated exposure can damage the liver, kidneys, CNS, and blood cells. VC is a known liver carcinogen.^[53]

Such transformations help shed light on how some of the "mysterious" human illnesses and cancers are triggered by the discharge of pollutants into water that are not by themselves highly toxic. The degradation sequence of tetrachloroethylene and trichloroethylene are schematically presented in Fig. 8.1.

8.9.2 Disinfection Byproducts

Drinking water has been disinfected with chlorine for approximately 100 years to protect against waterborne infectious diseases. In addition to chlorination, other methods of drinking water disinfection include the use of chlorine dioxide (either alone or in combination with chlorine), the addition of ammonia to chlorine to form chloramines, ozone treatment, oxidation with potassium permanganate, and ultraviolet radiation. Chlorination, however, is by far the most widely used method. Treatment with chlorine has virtually eliminated cholera, typhoid, dysentery, hepatitis A, and other waterborne diseases.^[54]

Chlorine may be injected into water as elemental chlorine, hypochlorous acid, or hypochlorite (depending upon pH). An advantage of using chlorine is that it maintains a residual level throughout the distribution system, thereby preventing regrowth of microorganisms before reaching end users.

It was discovered in the 1970s that chlorination of raw water high in organic content and/or infused with seawater results not only in the disinfection of water, but also in the formation of disinfection by-products (DBPs). These include trihalomethanes (THMs), haloacetic acids (HAAs), and haloacetonitriles (HANs).^[55,56] These chemicals are individually toxic at high concentrations and can cause cancer, liver disease, kidney disease, birth defects, and reproductive failures.^[57–59]

Trihalomethane MCL in drinking water is regulated by EPA under the Safe Drinking Water Act.^[60] EPA does not set limits on the individual THMs (chloroform, bromoform, bromodichloromethane, and chlorodibromomethane), but limits the total trihalomethane (TTHM) concentration to 100 ppb. In the 1990s it was found that drinking water contaminated with TTHMs at concentrations below the EPA allowable MCL of 100 ppb



Figure 8.1 Degradation of tetrachloroethylene and trichloroethylene.

causes spontaneous abortion in humans.^[61] No one THM shows such toxicity at these low concentrations. The study that reported this phenomenon and others like it, however, did not report on the concentrations of other DBPs (HAAs and HANs), in the water consumed, though these are almost always present in chlorinated drinking water containing THMs. A study reported in 2006 covering spontaneous abortions in three different locations in the United States reported somewhat contradictory findings. The study did not find a correlation between drinking five or more glasses of water high in TTHMs (>75 ppb) and increased incidences of spontaneous abortion in all areas examined. This study, too, did not report on the concentration of individual other DBPs but did consider ingested total organic halide (total DBP). The study found sporadic elevations in pregnancy loss, most notably when ingested total organic halides were high.^[62]

DBPs contain numerous lipophiles and hydrophiles. The K_{ow} values for the four THMs are

Chloroform	1.97
Bromoform	2.40
Chlorodibromomethane	2.16
Bromodichloromethane	2.00

As can be seen from these data, all four THMs are of similar lipophilicity. Individually and together they facilitate the absorption of hydrophiles dissolved in them. Drinking water contains hundreds of dissolved chemicals in addition to DBPs. It is believed that the spontaneous abortions observed are because of a lipophilic/hydrophilic chemical mixture of DBPs and/or other dissolved chemicals of unknown composition.^[63]

8.10 Drinking Water Contaminants in the United States

The results of human activities described in the previous sections of this chapter have resulted in the release of thousands of pollutants into the environment. In a good portion of the world, ground- and surface waters are treated to disinfect biological agents and remove chemical pollutants prior to human consumption. Despite such treatment, the water consumed by almost all of the world's population is contaminated with chemical toxicants. In the United States, tap water tests from 1998 through 2003 on more than 39,000 water systems in 42 states, serving more than 231 million people detected 260 different pollutants. These are characterized by their sources in Tables 8.2–8.6. The data that follow in these tables, as well as those in Table 8.7, were compiled and reported by the EWG.^[64]

It should be noted that not all water systems contained all the pollutants listed. The data are further broken down by state and local water supply systems on the EWG web site.^[64] It should also be noted that many of the individual pollutants have more than one source. Heavy metals in potable

Ammonia
Chlorate
Nitrate and nitrite mix
Nitrate (alone)
Nitrite (alone)
Phosphate
Sulfate
Thallium
MBAS (surfactants)
Phosphorus
Endrin
Desethylatrazine
Desisopropyatrazine
Lindane
Methoxychlor
Toxaphene
Carbaryl
Methomyl
Baygon (Propoxur)
Methiocarb
Acetochlor
Paraquat
Prometon
2,4- <i>bis</i> -6-(Isopropylamino)
Dalapon
Diquat
Endothal
Glyphosate
Oxamyl (Vydate)
Simazine
Pichloram
Dinoseb
Aldicarb sulfoxide
Aldicarb sufone
Metolachlor
Carbofuran
Aldicarb
Atrazine
Alaclor
EPTC (Eptam)
Butylate (Sutan)

 Table 8.2 Agricultural Pollutants in U.S. Drinking Water

Cyanazine (Bladey)
Trifluralin
Fthion
Henatochlor
3-Hydroxycarbofuran
Henatochlor enoxide
Endosulfan I
Dieldrin
DDT
Butachlor
Propachlor
Bromacil
Dacthal
Diuron
2.4-D
2.4-DB
2.4.5-TP (Silvex)
2.4.5-T
Chloramben
Dichloroprop
Bromomethane
Isophorone
Alpha-lindane
Beta-lindane
Aldrin
1,3-Dichloropropene
Dicamba
Iodomethane
Chloropicrin
Metribuzin
Bentazon (Basagran)
Molinate (Ordram)
Thiobencarb (Bolero)
Foaming agents
Phenols
1,2-Dibromo-3-chloropropane
Ethylene dibromide
Chlordane
<i>m</i> -Dichlorobenzene
Ethylbenzene
Perchlorate
Total aldicarbs
alpha chlordane

Table 8.2 Agricultural Pollutants in U.S. Drinking Water (Continued)

Ammonia
Arsenic
Cadmium
Copper
Hydrogen sulfide
Lead
Mercury
Nitrate and nitrite mix
Nitrate
Nitrite
Phosphate
Antimony
Lithium
Molybdenum
Oil and grease total
Phosphorus
Lindane
Baygon (Propoxur)
Paraquat
Glyphosate
Trifluralin
Isopropyl alcohol
Trichlorofluoromethane
Acetone
Naphthalene
Methyl tertiary butyl ether
Fluorine
Phenanthrene
Anthracene
Dimethylphthalate
Diethylphthalate
Fluoranthene
Pyrene
di- <i>n</i> -butylphthalate
Butyl benzylphthalate
Benzo[a]anthracene
Benzo[b]fluoranthene
Benzo[k]fluoranthene
Benzo[a]pyrene
Indeno[1,2,3-cd]pyrene

 Table 8.3 Sprawl and Urban Pollutants in U.S. Drinking Water

Dibenz[a,h]anthracene
Benzo[g,h,i]perylene
Alpha-lindane
Beta-lindane
Tert-butylbenzene
Sec-butylbenzene
Chloropicrin
Trichlorofluoroethane
Phenols
Xylenes (total)
<i>p</i> -Xylene
o-Xylene
<i>m</i> -Xylene
Tetrachloroethylene
Benzene
Bromobenzene
<i>n</i> -Propylbenzene
Ethyl- <i>t</i> -butyl ether

Table 8.3 Sprawl and Urban Pollutants in U.S. Drinking Water (Continued)

 Table 8.4 Industrial Pollutants in U.S. Drinking Water

Aluminum
Ammonia
Bromide
Arsenic
Chlorate
Barium
Cadmium
Chromium
Cyanide
Hydrogen sulfide
Lead
Manganese
Mercury
Nitrate and nitrite (mix)
Nitrate
Nitrite
Phosphate
Selenium
Silver

Strontium Sulfate Antimony Beryllium Chromium (hexavalent) Lithium Molybdenum Thallium Vanadium MBAS (surfactants) Oil and grease (total) Phosphorus Carbon disulfide Lindane p-Isopropyltoluene Di(2-ethylhexyl)adipate Di(2-ethylhexyl)adipate Di(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate Hexachlorocylcopentadiene 1,4-Dioxane Endosulfan I Butyl acetate Ethyl ether Isopropyl alcohol Chloromethane Prichlorofluoromethane Rromomethane Irrichlorofluoromethane n-Nitrosodiphenylamine Antiline 1,2-Dibromoethylene Aczylonitrile Acetone Isopropyl ether Hexachlorobutadiene Nethyl ethyl ketone Methyl teting butyl ether Nitrobenzene	
Sulfate Antimony Beryllium Chromium (hexavalent) Lithium Molybdenum Thallium Vanadium MBAS (surfactants) Oil and grease (total) Phosphorus Carbon disulfide Lindane p-Isogropyltoluene Di(2-ethylhexyl)adipate Di(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate Hexachlorocylcopentadiene 1,4-Dioxane Endosulfan I Butyl acetate Ethyl ether Isogropyl alcohol Chloromethane Dichlorodifluoromethane Rromomethane Chloroethane Trichlorofluoromethane Aniline 1,2-Dibromoethylene Acrylonitrile Acetone Isopropyl ether Hexachlorobutadiene Methyl tetone Naphthalene Methyl tetone Nitrobenzene	Strontium
AntimonyBerylliumChromium (hexavalent)LithiumMolybdenumThalliumVanadiumMBAS (surfactants)Oil and grease (total)PhosphorusCarbon disulfideLindane <i>p</i> -IsopropyltolueneDi(2-ethylhexyl)adipateDi(2-ethylhexyl)phthalateHexachlorocylcopentadiene1,4-DioxaneEndosulfan IButyl acetateEthyl etherIsopropyl alcoholChloromethaneDichlorodifluoromethaneBromomethaneChloroethane1,2-DibromoethyleneAcetoneIsopropyl etherHexachlorobyleneAcetoneShline1,2-DibromoethyleneAcetoneIsopropyl etherHexachlorobyleneAcetoneIsopropyl etherHexachlorobyleneActineNitrobeutadieneMethyl ethyl ketoneNaphthaleneMethyl tethyl ketoneNaphthaleneMethyl tethyl ketoneNitrobeutaeneNitrobeutaeneSortopyl etherHexachlorobutadieneMethyl tethyl ketoneNaphthaleneMethyl tethyl tetherNitrobeutaeneMethyl tethyl tetherNitrobeutaeneMethyl tethyl etherNitrobeutaeneMethyl tethyl tetherNitrobeutaeneMethyl tethyl tetherNitrobeutaeneMethyl tethyl tetherNitrobeutaen	Sulfate
Beryllium Chromium (hexavalent) Lithium Molybdenum Thallium Vanadium MBAS (surfactants) Oil and grease (total) Phosphorus Carbon disulfide Lindane <i>p</i> -Isopropyltoluene Di(2-ethylhexyl)adipate Di(2-ethylhexyl)adipate Di(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate Hexachlorocylcopentadiene 1,4-Dioxane Endosulfan I Butyl acetate Ethyl ether Isopropyl alcohol Chloromethane Dichlorodifluoromethane Bromomethane Chloroethane Trichlorofluoromethane <i>n</i> -Nitrosodiphenylamine Aniline 1,2-Dibromoethylene Acerylonitrile Acetone Isopropyl ether Hexachlorobutadiene Methyl ethyl ketone Naphthalene Methyl isobutyl ketone Methyl isobutyl ketone	Antimony
Chromium (hexavalent) Lithium Molybdenum Thallium Vanadium MBAS (surfactants) Oil and grease (total) Phosphorus Carbon disulfide Lindane <i>p</i> -Isopropyltoluene Di(2-ethylhexyl)adipate Di(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate Hexachlorocylcopentadiene 1,4-Dioxane Endosulfan I Butyl acetate Ethyl ether Isopropyl alcohol Chloromethane Dichlorodifluoromethane Bromomethane Chloroethane Trichlorofluoromethane <i>n</i> -Nitrosodiphenylamine Aniline 1,2-Dibromoethylene Acetone Isopropyl ether Hexachlorobutadiene Methyl ethyl ketone Naphthalene Methyl itriary butyl ether Nitrobenzene	Beryllium
Lithium Molybdenum Thallium Vanadium MBAS (surfactants) Oil and grease (total) Phosphorus Carbon disulfide Lindane <i>p</i> -Isopropyltoluene Di(2-ethylhexyl)adipate Di(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate Hexachlorocylcopentadiene 1,4-Dioxane Endosulfan I Butyl acetate Ethyl ether Isopropyl alcohol Chloromethane Dichlorodifluoromethane Bromomethane Chloromethane Chloromethane Trichlorofluoromethane <i>n</i> -Nitrosodiphenylamine Aniline 1,2-Dibhomoethylene Acetone Isopropyl ether Hexachlorobutadiene Methyl ethyl ketone Naphthalene Methyl tertiary butyl ether Nitrobenzene	Chromium (hexavalent)
Molybdenum Thallium Vanadium MBAS (surfactants) Oil and grease (total) Phosphorus Carbon disulfide Lindane <i>p</i> -Isopropyltoluene Di(2-ethylhexyl)adipate Di(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate Hexachlorocylcopentadiene 1,4-Dioxane Endosulfan I Butyl acetate Ethyl ether Isopropyl alcohol Chloromethane Dichlorodifluoromethane Bromomethane Chloroethane Trichlorofluoromethane <i>n</i> -Nitrosodiphenylamine Aniline 1,2-Dibromoethylene Acetone Isopropyl ether Hexachlorobutadiene Methyl ethyl ketone Naphthalene Methyl iethiary butyl ether Nitrobenzene	Lithium
Thallium Vanadium MBAS (surfactants) Oil and grease (total) Phosphorus Carbon disulfide Lindane p-Isopropyltoluene Di(2-ethylhexyl)adipate Di(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate Hexachlorocylcopentadiene 1,4-Dioxane Endosulfan I Butyl acetate Ethyl ether Isopropyl alcohol Chloromethane Dichlorodifluoromethane Bromomethane Chloroethane Trichlorofluoromethane n-Nitrosodiphenylamine Aniline 1,2-Dibromoethylene Accylonitrile Acetone Isopropyl ether Hexachlorobutadiene Methyl ethyl ketone Methyl tertiary butyl ether Nitrobenzene	Molybdenum
Vanadium MBAS (surfactants) Oil and grease (total) Phosphorus Carbon disulfide Lindane <i>p</i> -Isopropyltoluene Di(2-ethylhexyl)adipate Di(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate Hexachlorocylcopentadiene 1,4-Dioxane Endosulfan I Butyl acetate Ethyl ether Isopropyl alcohol Chloromethane Dichlorodifluoromethane Bromomethane Chloroethane Trichlorofluoromethane <i>n</i> -Nitrosodiphenylamine Anciline 1,2-Dibromoethylene Acetone Isopropyl ether Hexachlorobutadiene Methyl ethyl ketone Naphthalene Methyl tertiary butyl ether Nitrobenzene	Thallium
MBAS (surfactants) Oil and grease (total) Phosphorus Carbon disulfide Lindane <i>p</i> -Isopropyltoluene Di(2-ethylhexyl)adipate Di(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate Hexachlorocylcopentadiene 1,4-Dioxane Endosulfan I Butyl acetate Ethyl ether Isopropyl alcohol Chloromethane Dichlorodifluoromethane Bromomethane Chloroethane Trichlorofluoromethane <i>n</i> -Nitrosodiphenylamine Aniline 1,2-Dibromoethylene Acetone Isopropyl ether Hexachlorobutadiene Methyl ethyl ketone Naphthalene Methyl tertiary butyl ether Nitrobenzene	Vanadium
Oil and grease (total)PhosphorusCarbon disulfideLindanep-IsopropyltolueneDi(2-ethylhexyl)adipateDi(2-ethylhexyl)phthalateHexachlorocylcopentadiene1,4-DioxaneEndosulfan IButyl acetateEthyl etherIsopropyl alcoholChloromethaneDichlorodifluoromethaneBromomethaneChloroethaneTrichlorofluoromethaneAniline1,2-DibromoethyleneAcetoneIsopropyl etherHexachlorobutadieneMethyl tethyl ketoneMethyl isobutyl ketoneMethyl tettiary butyl etherNitrobenzene	MBAS (surfactants)
Phosphorus Carbon disulfide Lindane <i>p</i> -Isopropyltoluene Di(2-ethylhexyl)adipate Di(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate Hexachlorocylcopentadiene 1,4-Dioxane Endosulfan I Butyl acetate Ethyl ether Isopropyl alcohol Chloromethane Dichlorodifluoromethane Bromomethane Chloroethane Chloroethane Trichlorofluoromethane <i>n</i> -Nitrosodiphenylamine Aniline 1,2-Dibromoethylene Acrylonitrile Acetone Isopropyl ether Hexachlorobutadiene Methyl ethyl ketone Naphthalene Methyl isobutyl ketone Methyl tertiary butyl ether Nitrobenzene	Oil and grease (total)
Carbon disulfide Lindane p-Isopropyltoluene Di(2-ethylhexyl)adipate Di(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate Hexachlorocylcopentadiene 1,4-Dioxane Endosulfan I Butyl acetate Endosulfan I Butyl acetate Ethyl ether Isopropyl alcohol Chloromethane Dichlorodifluoromethane Bromomethane Chloroethane Trichlorofluoromethane Aniline 1,2-Dibromoethylene Acetone Isopropyl ether Hexachlorobutadiene Methyl ethyl ketone Naphthalene Methyl isobutyl ketone Methyl tertiary butyl ether Nitrobenzene	Phosphorus
Lindane p-Isopropyltoluene Di(2-ethylhexyl)adipate Di(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate Hexachlorocylcopentadiene 1,4-Dioxane Endosulfan I Butyl acetate Ethyl ether Isopropyl alcohol Chloromethane Dichlorodifluoromethane Bromomethane Chloroethane Trichlorofluoromethane Aniline 1,2-Dibromoethylene Acrylonitrile Acetone Isopropyl ether Hexachlorobutadiene Methyl ethyl ketone Naphthalene Methyl isobutyl ketone Methyl tertiary butyl ether Nitrobenzene	Carbon disulfide
p-IsopropyltolueneDi(2-ethylhexyl)adipateDi(2-ethylhexyl)phthalateHexachlorocylcopentadiene1,4-DioxaneEndosulfan IButyl acetateEthyl etherIsopropyl alcoholChloromethaneDichlorodifluoromethaneBromomethaneChlorofuoromethanen-NitrosodiphenylamineAniline1,2-DibromoethyleneAcetoneIsopropyl etherHexachlorobutadieneMethyl ethyl ketoneNaphthaleneMethyl tertiary butyl etherNitrobenzene	Lindane
Di(2-ethylhexyl)adipate Di(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate Hexachlorocylcopentadiene 1,4-Dioxane Endosulfan I Butyl acetate Ethyl ether Isopropyl alcohol Chloromethane Dichlorodifluoromethane Bromomethane Chloroethane Trichlorofluoromethane <i>n</i> -Nitrosodiphenylamine Aniline 1,2-Dibromoethylene Acrylonitrile Acetone Isopropyl ether Hexachlorobutadiene Methyl ethyl ketone Naphthalene Methyl isobutyl ketone Methyl tertiary butyl ether Nitrobenzene	<i>p</i> -Isopropyltoluene
Di(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate Hexachlorocylcopentadiene 1,4-Dioxane Endosulfan I Butyl acetate Ethyl ether Isopropyl alcohol Chloromethane Dichlorodifluoromethane Bromomethane Chloroethane Trichlorofluoromethane <i>n</i> -Nitrosodiphenylamine Aniline 1,2-Dibromoethylene Acrylonitrile Acetone Isopropyl ether Hexachlorobutadiene Methyl ethyl ketone Naphthalene Methyl isobutyl ketone Methyl tertiary butyl ether Nitrobenzene	Di(2-ethylhexyl)adipate
Hexachlorocylcopentadiene1,4-DioxaneEndosulfan IButyl acetateEthyl acetateEthyl etherIsopropyl alcoholChloromethaneDichlorodifluoromethaneBromomethaneChloroethaneTrichlorofluoromethanen-NitrosodiphenylamineAniline1,2-DibromoethyleneAcetoneIsopropyl etherHexachlorobutadieneMethyl ethyl ketoneNaphthaleneMethyl isobutyl ketoneMethyl tertiary butyl etherNitrobenzene	Di(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate
1,4-DioxaneEndosulfan IButyl acetateEthyl etherIsopropyl alcoholChloromethaneDichlorodifluoromethaneBromomethaneChloroethaneTrichlorofluoromethanen-NitrosodiphenylamineAniline1,2-DibromoethyleneAcetoneIsopropyl etherHexachlorobutadieneMethyl ethyl ketoneNaphthaleneMethyl isobutyl ketoneMethyl tertiary butyl etherNitrobenzene	Hexachlorocylcopentadiene
Endosulfan I Butyl acetate Ethyl ether Isopropyl alcohol Chloromethane Dichlorodifluoromethane Bromomethane Chloroethane Trichlorofluoromethane <i>n</i> -Nitrosodiphenylamine Aniline 1,2-Dibromoethylene Acrylonitrile Acetone Isopropyl ether Hexachlorobutadiene Methyl ethyl ketone Naphthalene Methyl isobutyl ketone Methyl tertiary butyl ether	1,4-Dioxane
Butyl acetateEthyl etherIsopropyl alcoholChloromethaneDichlorodifluoromethaneBromomethaneChloroethaneTrichlorofluoromethanen-NitrosodiphenylamineAniline1,2-DibromoethyleneAcetoneIsopropyl etherHexachlorobutadieneMethyl ethyl ketoneNaphthaleneMethyl isobutyl ketoneMethyl tertiary butyl etherNitrobenzene	Endosulfan I
Ethyl ether Isopropyl alcohol Chloromethane Dichlorodifluoromethane Bromomethane Chloroethane Chloroethane Trichlorofluoromethane <i>n</i> -Nitrosodiphenylamine Aniline 1,2-Dibromoethylene Acrylonitrile Acetone Isopropyl ether Hexachlorobutadiene Methyl ethyl ketone Naphthalene Methyl isobutyl ketone Methyl tertiary butyl ether Nitrobenzene	Butyl acetate
Isopropyl alcohol Chloromethane Dichlorodifluoromethane Bromomethane Chloroethane Trichlorofluoromethane <i>n</i> -Nitrosodiphenylamine Aniline 1,2-Dibromoethylene Acrylonitrile Acetone Isopropyl ether Hexachlorobutadiene Methyl ethyl ketone Naphthalene Methyl isobutyl ketone Methyl isobutyl ketone Methyl tertiary butyl ether Nitrobenzene	Ethyl ether
Chloromethane Dichlorodifluoromethane Bromomethane Chloroethane Trichlorofluoromethane <i>n</i> -Nitrosodiphenylamine Aniline 1,2-Dibromoethylene Acrylonitrile Acetone Isopropyl ether Hexachlorobutadiene Methyl ethyl ketone Naphthalene Methyl isobutyl ketone Methyl isobutyl ketone Methyl tertiary butyl ether Nitrobenzene	Isopropyl alcohol
Dichlorodifluoromethane Bromomethane Chloroethane Trichlorofluoromethane <i>n</i> -Nitrosodiphenylamine Aniline 1,2-Dibromoethylene Acrylonitrile Acetone Isopropyl ether Hexachlorobutadiene Methyl ethyl ketone Naphthalene Methyl isobutyl ketone Methyl isobutyl ketone Methyl tertiary butyl ether Nitrobenzene	Chloromethane
Bromomethane Chloroethane Trichlorofluoromethane <i>n</i> -Nitrosodiphenylamine Aniline 1,2-Dibromoethylene Acrylonitrile Acetone Isopropyl ether Hexachlorobutadiene Methyl ethyl ketone Naphthalene Methyl isobutyl ketone Methyl isobutyl ketone Methyl tertiary butyl ether Nitrobenzene	Dichlorodifluoromethane
Chloroethane Trichlorofluoromethane <i>n</i> -Nitrosodiphenylamine Aniline 1,2-Dibromoethylene Acrylonitrile Acetone Isopropyl ether Hexachlorobutadiene Methyl ethyl ketone Naphthalene Methyl isobutyl ketone Methyl tertiary butyl ether Nitrobenzene	Bromomethane
Trichlorofluoromethane n-Nitrosodiphenylamine Aniline 1,2-Dibromoethylene Acrylonitrile Acetone Isopropyl ether Hexachlorobutadiene Methyl ethyl ketone Naphthalene Methyl isobutyl ketone Methyl isobutyl ketone Methyl tertiary butyl ether Nitrobenzene	Chloroethane
n-Nitrosodiphenylamine Aniline 1,2-Dibromoethylene Acrylonitrile Acetone Isopropyl ether Hexachlorobutadiene Methyl ethyl ketone Naphthalene Methyl isobutyl ketone Methyl isobutyl ketone Methyl tertiary butyl ether Nitrobenzene	Trichlorofluoromethane
Aniline 1,2-Dibromoethylene Acrylonitrile Acetone Isopropyl ether Hexachlorobutadiene Methyl ethyl ketone Naphthalene Methyl isobutyl ketone Methyl tertiary butyl ether Nitrobenzene	<i>n</i> -Nitrosodiphenylamine
1,2-Dibromoethylene Acrylonitrile Acetone Isopropyl ether Hexachlorobutadiene Methyl ethyl ketone Naphthalene Methyl isobutyl ketone Methyl tertiary butyl ether Nitrobenzene	Aniline
Acrylonitrile Acetone Isopropyl ether Hexachlorobutadiene Methyl ethyl ketone Naphthalene Methyl isobutyl ketone Methyl tertiary butyl ether Nitrobenzene	1,2-Dibromoethylene
Acetone Isopropyl ether Hexachlorobutadiene Methyl ethyl ketone Naphthalene Methyl isobutyl ketone Methyl tertiary butyl ether Nitrobenzene	Acrylonitrile
Isopropyl ether Hexachlorobutadiene Methyl ethyl ketone Naphthalene Methyl isobutyl ketone Methyl tertiary butyl ether Nitrobenzene	Acetone
Hexachlorobutadiene Methyl ethyl ketone Naphthalene Methyl isobutyl ketone Methyl tertiary butyl ether Nitrobenzene	Isopropyl ether
Methyl ethyl ketone Naphthalene Methyl isobutyl ketone Methyl tertiary butyl ether Nitrobenzene	Hexachlorobutadiene
Naphthalene Methyl isobutyl ketone Methyl tertiary butyl ether Nitrobenzene	Methyl ethyl ketone
Methyl isobutyl ketone Methyl tertiary butyl ether Nitrobenzene	Naphthalene
Methyl tertiary butyl ether Nitrobenzene	Methyl isobutyl ketone
Nitrobenzene	Methyl tertiary butyl ether
	Nitrobenzene

 Table 8.4 Industrial Pollutants in U.S. Drinking Water (Continued)

Acenaphthylene
Acenaphthene
Dimethylphthalate
Diethylphthalate
Fluoranthene
Pyrene
Di- <i>n</i> -butyl phthalate
Butyl benzyl phthalate
Methyl methacrylate
Chrysene
Indeno[1,2,3-cd]pyrene
Dibenz[a,h]anthracene
Pentachlorophenol
<i>n</i> -Hexane
1,2,4-Trichlorobenzene
cis-1,2-Dichloroethylene
Total PCBs
Arochlor 1016
Arochlor 1221
Arochlor 1232
Arochlor 1242
Arochlor 1248
Arochlor 1252
Arochlor 1260
1,1-Dichloropropene
1,3-Dichloropropane
1,2,3-Trichloropropane
2,2-Dichloropropane
1,2,4-Trimethylbenzene
1,2,3-Trichlorobenzene
<i>n</i> -Butylbenzene
sec-Butylbenzene
tert-Butylbenzene
1,3,5-Trimethylbenzene
Bromochloromethane
Chloropicrin
2-Nitropropane
Glyoxal
Trichlorotrifluoroethane
Foaming agents
Phenols

Table 8.4 Industrial Pollutants in U.S. Drinking Water (Continued)

Ethylene dibromide
Xylenes (total)
o-Xylene
<i>m</i> -Xylene
<i>p</i> -Xylene
Meta and para xylene (mix)
Formaldehyde
Methylene chloride
o-Chlorotoluene
<i>p</i> -Chlorotoluene
<i>o</i> -Dichlorobenzene
<i>m</i> -Dichlorobenzene
<i>p</i> -Dichlorobenzene
Vinyl chloride
1,1-Dichloroethylene
1,1-Dichloroethane
1,2-Dichloroethane
trans-1,2-Dichloroethylene
1,1,1-Trichloroethane
Carbon tetrachloride
1,2-Dichloropropane
Trichloroethylene
Tetrachloroethylene
1,1,2-Trichloroethane
1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane
1,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane
Chlorobenzene
Benzene
Toluene
Ethylbenzene
Bromobenzene
Isopropylbenzene
Styrene
<i>n</i> -Propylbenzene
Perchlorate
Ethyl- <i>t</i> -butyl ether
dichlorofluoromethane
Alpha particle activity (including radon and uranium)
Alpha particle activity (excluding radon and uranium)
Uranium (total)
Uranium-234

Table 8.4 Industrial Pollutants in U.S. Drinking Water (Continued)

Uranium-235
Uranium-238
Radium (total)
Radium-226
Radium-228
Alpha particle activity (suspended)
Gross beta activity (dissolved)
Gross beta activity (suspended)
Potassium-40
Tritium
Gross beta particles and photon emitters (man made)
Manganese-54
Strontium-90

Table 8.4 Industrial Pollutants in U.S. Drinking Water (Continued)

Table 8.5 Water Treatment and Distribution By-Product Pollutants in U.S.Drinking Water

Chloramine Chlorate Chlorine dioxide Chlorite Bromate Cadmium Orthophosphate Asbestos Di(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate Chloromethane Methyl ethyl ketone 2-Hexanone Fluoranthene Benzo[a]anthracene Benzo[b]fluoranthene Benzo[k]fluoranthene Benzo[a]pyrene Benzo[g,h,i]perylene Dibromomethane Bromochloromethane Monochloroacetic acid Dichloroacetic acid Trichloroacetic acid

Monobromoacetic acid
Dibromoacetic acid
Bromochloroacetic acid
Haloacetic acids (total)
Dichloroacetonitrile
1,1-Dichloropropanone
Chloropicrin
Glyoxal
Chloroform
Bromoform
Bromodichloromethane
Dibromochloromethane
Total trihalomethanes
Formaldehyde
<i>m</i> -Dichlorobenzene
Dichloroiodomethane
Vinyl chloride
Bromodichloroacetic acid
Chlorodibromoacetic acid
Tribromoacetic acid

Table 8.5 Water Treatment and Distribution By-Product Pollutants in U.S.Drinking Water (Continued)

Table 8.6 Naturally Occurring Pollutants in U.S. Drinking Water

Aluminum
Ammonia
Bromine
Arsenic
Chromium
Copper hydrogen sulfide
Lead
Manganese
Mercury
Nitrate and nitrite mix
Nitrate
Nitrite
Phosphate
Selenium
Silver
Sulfate

106

Table 8.6	Naturally	Occurring F	Pollutants in	U.S. Drinking	Water (Continued)
					(

Hexavalent chromium
Lithium
Phosphorus
Chloromethane
Alpha particle activity (excluding radon and uranium)
Alpha particle activity (including radon and uranium)
Radon
Total uranium
Uranium-234
Uranium-235
Uranium-238
Total radium
Radium-226
Radium-228
Alpha particle activity (suspended)
Gross beta particle activity (dissolved)
Gross beta particle activity (suspended)
Potassium-40
Gross beta particle and photon emitters (man made)

Table 8.7 Contaminants in U.S. Drinking Water for which no MCLs Exist

Ammonia
Bromide
Chlorate
Hydrogen sulfide
Phosphate
Orthophosphate
Strontium
Lithium
Molybdenum
Vanadium
Oil and grease (total)
Phosphorus
Carbon disulfide
Desisopropylatrazine
Carbaryl
Methomyl
Baygon (Propoxur)
Methiocarb

Acetochlor	
Papaquat	
Prometon	
<i>p</i> -Isopropyltoluene	
Aldicarb	
Aldicarb sulfoxide	
Aldicarb sulfone	
Metolachlor	
1,4-Dioxane	
Eptam	
Sutan	
Cyanazine	
Trifluralin	
Ethion	
3-Hydroxycarbofuran	
Endosulfan I	
Dieldrin	
DDT	
Butachlor	
Propachlor	
Butyl acetate	
Ethyl ether	
Isopropyl alcohol	
Bromacil	
Dacthal	
Diuron	
2,4-DB	
2,4,5-T	
Chloramben	
Dichlorprop	
Chloromethane	
Bromomethane	
Dichlorodifluoromethane	
Chloroethane	
Trichlorofluoromethane	
<i>n</i> -Nitrosodiphenylamine	
Aniline	
1,2-Dibromoethylene	
Acrylonitrile	
Acetone	

Table 8.7 Contaminants in U.S. Drinking Water for which no MCLsExist (Continued)

8: WATER POLLUTION

Isopropyl ether
Hexanchlorobutadiene
Methyl ethyl ketone
Naphthalene
Methyl isobutyl ketone
Methyl <i>t</i> -butyl ether
Nitrobenzene
Acenaphthylene
Acenaphthene
Isophorone
Tetrahydrofuran
Fluorine
2-Hexanone
2,4-Dinitrotoluene
Phenanthrene
Anthracene
Dimethylphthalate
Diethylphthalate
Fluoranthrene
Pyrene
Di- <i>n</i> -butylphthalate
Butyl benzylphthalate
Methyl methacrylate
Chrysene
Benzo[a]anthracene
Benzo[b]fluoranthene
Benzo[k]fluoranthene
Indino[1,2,3-cd]pyrene
Dibenz[ah]anthracene
Benzo[g,h,i]perylene
Aldrin
<i>n</i> -Hexane
Dibromomethane
1,1-Dichloropropene
1,3-Dichloropropane
1,2,3-Trichloropropane
<i>n</i> -Butylbenzene
1,3,5-Trimethylbenzene
<i>t</i> -Butylbenzene
sec-Butylbenzene
Bromochloromethane

Dicamba
Bromochloroacetic acid
Iodomethane
Dichloroacetonitrile
1,1-Dichloropropanone
Chloropicrin
2-Nitropropane
Gyloxal
Metribuzin
Bentazon
Molinate
Thiobencarb
Trichlorotrifluoroethane
Phenols
Formaldehyde
o-Chlorotoluene
<i>p</i> -Chlorotoluene
<i>m</i> -Dichlorobenzene
dichloroiodomethane
1,1-Dichloroethane
1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane
1,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane
Bromobenzene
Isopropylbenzene
<i>n</i> -Propylbenzene
Potassium-40
Tritium
Manganese-54
Strontium-90
Perchlorate
Total aldicarbs
Bromodichloroacetic acid
Chlorodibromoacetic acid
Tribromoacetic acid
Alpha chlordane
Ethyl- <i>t</i> -butyl ether
Dichlorofluoromethane

Table 8.7 Contaminants in U.S. Drinking Water for which no MCLsExist (Continued)

water, for example, may have their origin in mining, manufacturing, and/ or power generation.

EPA has not established standards for all of the 260 chemicals. There are no maximum concentration level (MCL) standards for 141 of the 260 chemicals found in U.S. drinking water. The unregulated water contaminants are listed in Table 8.7.^[64]

As seen in Section 8.8, under the Safe Drinking Water Act (United States Public Law 93-523, enacted in 1974), EPA is charged with setting MCLs for contaminants. To date, standards have been set for only 66 of these. Table 8.8 contains a list of the chemical contaminants for which EPA has established MCLs and their values.^[65] All values are in milligrams per liter (mg/L). The chemicals are listed by category as disinfectants and disinfection byproducts, inorganic chemicals, organic chemicals, and radionuclides.

In addition to the MCLs listed in Table 8.8, there are secondary standards for water quality in the United States. The National Secondary Water Regulations (NSDWRs) are nonenforceable guidelines regulating contaminants that "may cause cosmetic effects (such as skin and tooth discoloration) or aesthetic effects (such as taste, odor, or color) in drinking water."^[65] Many in the scientific community argue that the chemicals listed do not merely have cosmetic and aesthetic effects, particularly when they are combined with other toxicants. EPA, however, recommends, but does not require, that water systems comply with these secondary standards. States, however, are permitted to adopt these as enforceable standards. The NSDWRs are listed in Table 8.9.

The MCL values for individual contaminants are based on amounts that would reasonably be expected to be consumed by humans in drinking water. This assumption fails to take into account absorption from non-ingestion sources. Chemicals can be absorbed from dermal and eye contact with aqueous solutions containing toxicants.^[66,67,68] Volatile organic compounds dissolved in water can be released upon heating as is the case in cooking and warming of wash water. Such volatilized organic compounds can be absorbed by inhalation and dermal contact. Benzene provides an example of this phenomenon. Benzene is not only readily absorbed via inhalation, but is also taken up through the skin when cleaners containing it as an impurity are used. Such combined uptake has been found to increase the risk for leukemia.^[20] The risk for spontaneous abortion from exposure to trihalomethanes in household water supplies is similarly increased by a combination of ingestion, inhalation, and dermal absorption.^[69,70]

Contaminant	MCL (mg/L)
Disinfectants and Disinfectant Byproduct	s
Chloramines	4.0
Chlorine	4.0
Chlorine dioxide	0.8
Bromate	0.010
Chlorite	1.0
Haloacetic acids	0.060
Total trihalomethanes	0.080
Inorganic Chemicals	
Antimony	0.006
Arsenic	0.010
Asbestos	7 million (fibers per liter)
Barium	2
Beryllium	0.004
Cadmium	0.005
Chromium (total)	0.1
Copper	1.3
Cyanide	0.2
Fluoride	4.0
Lead	0.015
Mercury	0.002
Nitrate	10
Selenium	0.05
Thallium	0.002
Organic Chemicals	
Acrylamide	Restricted use by formula
Alachlor	0.002
Atrazine	0.003
Benzene	0.005
Benzo[a]pyrene (PAHs)	0.0002
Carbofuran	0.04
Carbon tetrachloride	0.005
1,2-Dichloropropane	0.005
Di(2-ethylhexyl) adipate	0.4
Di(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate	0.006
Dinoseb	0.007
Dioxin (2,3,7,8-TCDD)	0.00000003

 Table 8.8 EPA Maximum Contamination Levels (MCLs) for Drinking

 Water

(Continued)

8: WATER POLLUTION

Diquat	0.02
Endothall	0.1
Endrin	0.0002
Epichlorohydrin	Restricted use by formula
Ethylbenzene	0.7
Glyphosate	0.7
Heptachlor	0.0004
Heptachlor epoxide	0.0002
Hexachlorobenzene	0.001
Hexachlorocyclopentadiene	0.05
Lindane	0.0002
Methoxychlor	0.04
Oxamyl (Vydate)	0.2
PCBs	0.0005
Pentachlorophenol	0.001
Picloram	0.5
Simazine	0.004
Styrene	0.1
Tetrachloroethylene	0.005
Toluene	1
Toxaphene	0.003
2,4,5-TP (Silvex)	0.05
1,2,4-Trichlorobenzene	0.07
1,1,1-Trichloroethane	0.2
1,1,2-Trichloroethane	0.005
Trichloroethylene	0.005
Vinyl chloride	0.002
Xylenes (total)	10
Radionuclides	
Alpha particles	15 picocuries per liter
Beta particles and photon emitters	4 millirems per vear
Radium 226 and 228 combined	5 picocuries per liter
Uranium	30 microgram per liter
	Brann Per meet

Table 8.8	EPA M	aximum (Contamination	Levels	(MCLs)	for D)rinking
Water (Co	ntinued))					

8.11 Mixtures

It is quite obvious that with all the different toxic chemicals found in drinking water, an almost infinite number of mixtures can be envisioned. As was pointed out earlier in the example of disinfection by-products, it is close to impossible to predict what the true cause of a health effect derived from

Contaminant	Secondary Standard (mg/L)
Aluminum	0.05–0.2
Chloride	250
Color	15 (color units)
Copper	1.0
Corrosivity	Noncorrosive
Fluoride	2.0
Foaming agents	0.5
Iron	0.3
Manganese	0.05
Odor	3 threshold odor number
pH	6.5–8.5 (no unit)
Silver	0.10
Sulfate	250
Total dissolved solids	500
Zinc	5

 Table 8.9 National Secondary Drinking Water Regulations (NSDWRs) for

 Potable Water in the United States

exposure to contaminated water is (Section 8.9). There are few studies that definitively demonstrate such a connection. One, however, does just that. It was reported by Porter et al. that although there was little or no observed biological effect on mice of nitrates alone, aldicarb alone, or atrazine alone when they were consumed at the MCLs for groundwater, the combination of pesticide and nitrate altered immune, endocrine, and nervous system parameters.^[16] Though human exposure was not addressed in that study, it is significant because it demonstrated how wide ranging the unexpected effects of exposure to even minute quantities of chemical mixtures of lipophiles and hydrophiles can be. This study serves as a warning on the dangers of drinking water contaminated with mixtures of chemicals.

8.12 Toxic Landfill Runoff

Landfills are areas heavily contaminated with mixtures of toxic chemicals that regularly leach and contaminate surface waters and groundwaters. Though industrial landfills are generally more heavily contaminated, municipal landfills also carry sizable toxic loads and both varieties leach mixtures of lipophiles and hydrophiles that include organic, inorganic, and heavy metal toxicants to ground and surface waters.^[71–74] The leaching process often involves chemical reactions that result in heavy metals being bound by dissolved organic molecules in metal–organic complexes that precede migration into drinking water sources.^[72,75]

Drinking water taken from surface and groundwater sources close to landfills has been shown to result in increased incidences of birth defects and cancers. Congenital heart disease, neural tube, heart, oral cleft, CNS, and musculoskeletal defects have been reported in children born to mothers who drank water contaminated with toxic chemicals from landfill runoff sites.^[73,74,76–78] Non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, gastrointestinal, bladder, pancreatic, liver, and kidney cancer incidences are significantly elevated for those drinking water polluted by toxic landfill runoff.^[79–82] In none of the cancer clusters studied has any association between increased cancer incidences and exposures to single chemicals been made. All exposures, however, were to mixtures of lipophiles and hydrophiles.^[83] Cancer clusters are discussed in Chapter 21.

8.13 Summary

Water pollution causes the introduction of a very wide variety of toxic chemicals to those drinking, cooking, and bathing with impure water. There are numerous sources of pollutants that end up in potable water, and the mixtures produced by many of these pollutants result in unexpected toxic effects in people who consume such water. Mixtures of lipophilic and hydrophilic chemicals have been demonstrated to be causative for many of these unanticipated toxic effects.

References

- Stoud RB, Spellman JL, Potts RR, Oakley AJ. Chemistry and apparent quality of surface water and ground water associated with coal basins. Technical Report, 1986; 12. NTIS/PB86-170511, 97 pp.
- 2. Ahmad MU. Strip mining and water pollution. *Ground Water* 1973; 11(5):37–41.
- 3. Stewart J, Skousen J. Water quality changes in a polluted stream over a twentyfive year period. *J Environ Qual* 2003; 32(2):654–61.
- Dudka S, Adriano DC. Environmental impacts of metal ore mining and processing: A review. *J Environ Qual* 1997; 26(3):590–602.
- Saeki K, Fujimoto M, Kolinjim D, Tatsukawa R. Mercury concentrations in hair from populations in Wau-Bulolo area, Papua New Guinea. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 1996; 30(3):412–17.
- McConnell MA, Ramanujam V, Alcock NW, et al. Distribution of uranium-238 in environmental samples from a residential area impacted by mining and mining activities. *Environ Toxicol Chem* 1998; 17(5):841–50.

- 7. Jaafar R, Omar I, Jidon AJ, et al. Skin cancer caused by chronic arsenical poisoning. *Med J Malaysia* 1993; 48(1):86–92.
- 8. Owens JW. The hazard assessment of pulp and paper effluents in the aquatic environment: A review. *Environ Toxicol Chem* 1991; 10:1511–40.
- Ritter L, Solomon K, Sibley P. Sources, pathways and relative risks of contaminants in surface water and groundwater. *J Toxicol Environ Health* 2002; 65(1):1–142.
- 10. Pohanish RP (ed.). *Sittig's handbook of toxic and hazardous chemicals and carcinogens*, 4th ed., William Andrew, Norwich, NY, 2002.
- Erickson MJ, Turner CL, Thibodeaux LJ. Field observation and modeling of dissolved fraction sediment-water exchange coefficients for PCBs in the Hudson River. *Environ Sci Technol* 2005; 39(2):549–56.
- Jones KC, De Voogt P. Persistent organic pollutants (POPs): State of the science. *Environ Pollut* 1999; 100(1–3):209–21.
- Goss MJ, Barry DAJ, Rudolph DL. Contamination of Ontario farmstead domestic wells and its association with agriculture. 1. Results from drinking water wells. *J Contamin Hydrol* 1998; 32:267–93.
- 14. Miner JR, Humenik FJ, Overcash MR. *Managing livestock wastes to pre*serve environmental quality, Iowa State University Press, Ames, IA, 2000.
- 15. Zhang XL, Bing Z, Xing Z. Research and control of well water pollution in high esophageal cancer areas. *World J Gastroenterol* 2003; 9(6):1187–90.
- 16. Porter WP, Jaeger JW, Carlson IH. Endocrine, immune and behavioral effects of aldicarb, atrazine and nitrate mixtures at groundwater concentrations. *Toxicol Ind Health* 1999; 15(1–2):133–50.
- 17. Hunt JW, Anderson BS, Phillips BM, et al. Ambient toxicity due to chlorpyrifos and diazinon in a central California coastal watershed. *Environ Monit Assess* 2003; 82(1):83–112.
- 18. Siedlecki JT. Petroleum refineries. *Encyclopedia of Occupational Health and Safety* 1983; 2:1659–65.
- Feuston MH, Low LK, Hamilton CE, Mackerer CR. Correlation of systemic and developmental toxicities with chemical component classes of refinery streams. *Fund Appl Toxicol* 1994; 22(4):622–30.
- 20. Kalnas J, Teitelbaum DT. Dermal absorption of benzene: Implications for work practices and regulations. *Int J Occup Environ Health* 2000; 6(2):114–21.
- 21. Speer, SA, Semenze JC, Kurosaki T, et al. Risk factors for acute myeloid leukemia and multiple myeloma: A combination of GIS and case-control studies. *J Environ Health* 2002; 64(7):9–16.
- 22. Booher LE, Janke B. Air emissions from petroleum hydrocarbon fires during controlled burning. *Am Ind Hyg Assoc J* 1997; 58(5):359–65.
- 23. Chen KF, Kao CM, Wang JY, et al. Natural attenuation of MBE at two petroleum-hydrocarbon spill sites. *J Hazard Mater* 2005; 125(1–3):10–16.
- Wetzel DL, Van Vleet ES. Accumulation and distribution of petroleum hydrocarbons found in mussels in the canals of Venice Italy. *Mar Pollut Bull* 2004; 48(9–10):927–36.
- 25. Pavageau MP, Pecheyran C, Krupp EM, et al. Volatile metal species in coal combustion flue gas. *Environ Sci Technol* 2002; 36(7):1561–73.
- 26. Sloss LL. Halogen emissions from coal combustion. Government Reports, Announcements and amp; Index (GRA&I), issue 17, 1992.

8: WATER POLLUTION

- Walker WJ, McNutt RP, Maslanka CK. The potential contribution of urban runoff to surface sediments of the Passaic River: Sources and chemical characteristics. *Chemosphere* 1999; 38(2):363–77.
- 28. Hwang HM, Foster GD. Characterization of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in urban stormwater runoff flowing into the tidal Anacosta River, Washington, DC. *Environ Pollut* 2006; 140(3):416–26.
- 29. Stein ED, Tiefenthaler LL, Schiff K. Watershed-based sources of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in urban storm water. *Environ Toxicol Chem* 2006; 25(2):373–85.
- Markiewicz-Patkowska J, Hursthouse A, Przybyla-Kij H. The interaction of heavy metals with urban soils: Sorption behavior of Cd, Cu, Cr, Pb and Zn with a typical mixed brownfield deposit. *Environ Int* 2005; 31(4):513–21.
- 31. Rocher V, Azimi S, Moilleron R, Chebbo G. Hydrocarbons and heavy metals in the different sewer deposits in the "Le Marais" catchment (Paris, France): Stocks, distributions and origins. *Sci Total Environ* 2004; 323(1–3):107–22.
- Hathaway SW. Toxic compounds in household wastewater, U.S. EPA Report no. EPA/600/2-80-128, Cincinnati, OH, 1980.
- 33. Anderson RC, Anderson JH. Toxic effects of air freshener emissions. *Arch Environ Health* 1997; 52(6):433–41.
- Morgan DP. Recognition and management of pesticide poisonings, U.S. EPA Report no. EPA-540/9-88-001, Washington, DC, 1989.
- 35. Hepworth P. Effective laundry products leading to lower chemical usage. *J Chem Technol Biotechnol* 1991; 50(3):361–8.
- 36. Wieslander G, Norback D, Edling C. Occupational exposure to water based paint and symptoms from the skin and eyes. *Occup Environ Med* 1994; 51(3):181–6.
- Kurt U, Avsar Y, Talha-Gonullu, M. Treatability of water-based paint wastewater with Fenton process in different reactor types. *Chemosphere* 2006; 64(9):1536–40.
- 38. City of Tucson. Health and safety in the arts, Environmental Management Division, Tucson, AZ, 2006, www.ci.tucson.az.us/arthazards/photo2.hmtl
- 39. Purcell TW, Peters JJ. Sources of silver in the environment. *Environ Toxicol Chem* 1998; 17(4):539–46.
- 40. Dadd DL. *Home safe home*, Jeremy P Tarcher/Penguin, New York, 2004, pp. 239–42.
- 41. American Academy of Pediatrics, Committee on Drugs. "Inactive" ingredients in pharmaceutical products: Update. *Pediatrics* 1997; 99(2):268–78.
- 42. Kumar A, Atlas AT, Hunter AG, Beaman DC. Sweeteners, dyes and other excipients in vitamin and mineral preparations. *Clin Pediatr* 1996; 35(9):443–50.
- 43. Miyata M, Schuster B, Schellenberg B. Sulfite-containing Canadian pharmaceutical products available in 1991. *Can Med Assoc J* 1992; 147(9):1333–47.
- 44. Lotem M, Hubert A, Lyass O, et al. Skin toxic effects of propylene glycolcoated liposomal doxorubicin. *Arch Dermatol* 2000; 136(12):1475–80.
- 45. Scalf RM, Dunlap WJ. Environmental effects of septic tank systems, U.S. EPA Report no. EPA 600/3-77-096, Washington, DC, August 1977.
- 46. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Environmental fate of 129 priority pollutants, EPA-440/4-79-029, 1979.

- 47. Parsons F, Wood PR, DeMarco J. Transformations of tetrachloroethene and trichloroethene in microcosms and groundwater. *JAWWA* 1984; 76:56–9.
- 48. Barrio-Lage GA, Parsons FZ, Nassar RS, Lorenzo PA. Biotransformation of trichloroethene in a variety of subsurface materials. *Environ Toxicol Chem* 1987; 6:571–8.
- 49. Parsons F, Barrio-Lage G, Rice R. Biotransformation of chlorinated organic solvents in static microcosms. *Environ Toxicol Chem* 1985; 4:739–42.
- 50. Cline PV, Delfino JJ, Cooper WJ. Hydrolysis of 1,1,1-trichlorethane: Formation of 1,1-dichloroethene. Proceedings of the National Well Water Association Conference on petroleum hydrocarbons and organic chemicals in groundwater: Prevention and detection, Houston, TX, 1984.
- 51. Pohanish RP (ed.). *Sittig's handbook of toxic and hazardous chemicals and carcinogens*, 4th ed., vol. 1, pp. 816–19.
- 52. EPA Working Group. Ambient water quality criteria for dichloroethylenes, Environmental Protection Agency, vol. EPA-440/5-80-041, 1980.
- 53. Pohanish RP (ed.). *Sittig's handbook of toxic and hazardous chemicals and carcinogens*, 4th ed., vol. 2, pp. 2319–22.
- 54. Water Quality and Health Council. Drinking water chlorination. A review of disinfection practices and issues, www.waterandhealth.org/drinkingwater/wp.html
- 55. Rook JJ. Formation of haloforms during chlorination of natural waters. *J Soc Water Treat Exam* 1974; 23:234–43.
- Bellar TA, Lichtenberg JJ. Determining volatile organic compounds at microgram-per-liter levels by gas chromatography. J Am Water Works Assoc 1974; 66:739–44
- 57. Koivusalo M, Vartiainen T. Drinking water chlorination by-products and cancer. *Rev Environ Health* 1997; 12(2):81–90.
- 58. Lilly PD, Ross Tm, Pegram RA. Trihalomethane comparative toxicity: Acute renal and hepatic toxicity of chloroform and bromodichloromethane following aqueous gavage. *Fund Appl Toxicol* 1997; 40(1):101–10.
- 59. Reif JS, Hatch MC, Bracken M, et al. Reproductive and developmental effects of disinfection by-products in drinking water. *Environ Health Perspect* 1996; 104:1056–61.
- 60. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. National primary drinking water regulations: Disinfectants and disinfection byproducts. *Fed Reg* 1998; 63(241):69389–476.
- 61. Waller K, Swan SH, DeLoorenze G, Hopkins B. Trihalomethanes in drinking water and spontaneous abortion. *Epidemiology* 1998; 9(2):134–40.
- 62. Savitz DA, Singer PC, Herring AH, et al. Exposure to drinking water disinfection by-products and pregnancy loss. *Am J Epidemiol* 2006; 164(11):1043–51.
- 63. Zeliger HI. Toxic effects of chemical mixtures. *Arch Environ Health* 2003; 58(1):23–9.
- 64. Environmental Working Group. National tap water quality database, www. ewg.org/tapwater/national/
- 65. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. List of drinking water contaminant and their MCLs, www.epa.gov/safewater/mcl.html
- 66. Baynes RE, Brooks JD, Mumtaz M, Riviere JE. Effect of chemical interactions in pentachlorophenol mixtures on skin and membrane transport. *Toxicol Sci* 2002; 69:295–305.

- 67. Burgalassi S, Chetoni P, Monti D, et al. Cytotoxicity of potential ocular permeation enhancers evaluated on rabbit and human corneal epithelial cell lines. *Toxicol Lett* 2001; 122(1):1–8.
- 68. Kalnas J, Teitelbaum DT. Dermal absorption of benzene: Implications for work practices and regulations. *Int J Occup Environ Health* 2000; 6(2):114–21.
- Xu X, Mariano TM, Laskin JD, Weisel CP. Percutaneous absorption of trihalomethanes, haloacetic acids and haloketones. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 2002; 184:19–26.
- Villanueva CM, Cantor KP, Grimalt JO, et al. Assessment of lifetime exposure to trihalomethanes via different routes. *Occup Environ Med* 2006; 63(4):273–7.
- Beccaloni E, Borrello P, Mesmeci L, Stacul E. Arsenic and heavy metals in leachate from a real landfill and a laboratory landfill. *Ann Chi* 2000; 90(11–12):629–36.
- 72. Kashl A, Romheld V, Chen Y. The influence of soluble organic matter from municipal solid waste compost on trace metal leaching in calcareous soils. *Sci Total Environ* 2002; 291(1–3):45–57.
- 73. Croen LA, Shaw GM, Sanbonmatsu L, et al. Maternal residential proximity to hazardous waste sites and risk for selected congenial malformations. *Epidemiology* 1997; 8(4):347–54.
- 74. Dolk H, Vrijheid M, Armstrong B, Abramsky L, et al. Risk of congenital anomalies near hazardous-waste landfill sites in Europe: The EUROHAZCON study. *Lancet* 1998; 352(9126):423–7.
- 75. Kashl A, Romheld V, Chen Y. Trace metal distribution in soluble organic matter from municipal solid waster compost determined by size-exclusion chromatography. *Environ Toxicol Chem* 2002; 21(9):1775–82.
- Malik S, Schecter A, Caughy M, Fixler DE. Effect of proximity to hazardous waste sites on the development of congenital heart disease. *Arch Environ Health* 2004; 59(4):177–81.
- 77. Geschwind SA, Stolwijk JA, Brachen M, et al. Risk of congenital malformations associated with proximity to hazardous waste sites. *Am J Epidemiol* 1992; 135(11):1197–207.
- 78. Marshall EG, Gensburg LJ, Deres DA, et al. Maternal residential exposure to hazardous wastes and risk of central nervous system and musculoskeletal birth defects. *Arch Environ Health* 1997; 52(6):416–25.
- 79. Kuzma RJ, Kuzma CM, Buncher CR. Ohio drinking water source and cancer rates. *Am J Public Health* 1977; 67(8):725–9.
- Najem GR, Thind IS, Lavenhar MA, Louria DB. Gastrointestinal cancer mortality in New Jersey counties and the relationship with environmental variables. *Int J Epidemiol* 1983; 12(3):276–89.
- 81. Griffith J, Duncan RC, Riggan WB, Pellom AC. Cancer mortality in U.S. counties with hazardous waste sites and ground water pollution. *Arch Environ Health* 1989; 44(2):69–74.
- Goldberg MS, Siemiatyck J, DeWar R, et al. Risks of developing cancer relative to living near a municipal solid waste landfill site in Montreal, Quebec, Canada. Arch Environ Health 1999; 54(4):291–6.
- 83. Zeliger HI. Unexplained cancer clusters: Common threads. *Arch Environ Health* 2004; 59(4):172–6.
9.1 Introduction

Soil is defined as

(i) The unconsolidated mineral or organic material on the immediate surface of the earth that serves as a natural medium for the growth of land plants. (ii) The unconsolidated mineral or organic matter on the surface of the earth that has been subjected to and shows the effects of genetic and environmental factors of: climate (including water and temperature effects), and macro- and microorganisms, conditioned by relief, acting on parent material (material in which soils form) over a period of time. A product-soil differs from the material from which it is derived in many physical, chemical, biological and morphological properties and characteristics.^[1]

This broad definition accommodates numerous variations in soil composition. The National Cooperative Soil Survey identifies more than 20,000 different kinds of soil in the United States alone.^[2] Soil formation is a dynamic, ongoing process dependent upon climate (wind, water availability temperature), topography, time, and biological activity of plants, animals, and microorganisms.

The chemical composition of soil is complex, naturally containing numerous inorganic and organic compounds. Pollution of soil may be accomplished via the addition of chemical species that are alien to soil, such as organochlorine pesticides, or through the addition of quantities of naturally occurring chemicals that at elevated concentrations are toxic. Examples of the latter are chloride and heavy metals such as copper and selenium.

The toxicological impact of polluted soil on humans is indirect. Chemical pollutants in soil affect the ability of soil to support plant life (fertility) by depressing microorganistic and soil-dwelling animal activities. Plants growing in polluted soil absorb toxic chemicals through their root systems and induce toxic effects in humans when those plants are ingested. Polluted soil also adversely affects humans via bioaccumulation of toxic chemicals in animals when plants that have absorbed these chemicals from polluted soil are eaten or when they are dermally absorbed by animals that come in contact with such soil.

9.2 Depressed Microbial Activity

Healthy bacterial populations are essential for soil fertility. Heavy metals, pesticides, and petroleum chemicals are toxic to soil microorganisms. Illustrative examples of the impacts of these toxins follow.

Elevated copper and zinc concentrations in soil adversely affect microbial biomass, activity, and composition of microbial communities in soil adjacent to copper smelters and copper-tailings dumps.^[3,4] Nitrogen fixation was adversely impacted when heavy metal-contaminated sewage sludge was added to soils.^[5]

The herbicide Paraquat was found to cause mutations in nitrogen-fixing soil bacteria and also reduce chlorophyll content of algae.^[6,7] DDT and its metabolites DDE and DDD are widespread soil pollutants that alter the species composition of soil algae and nitrogen-fixing bacteria and entirely eliminate some species of these.^[8] The pesticides hexaconazole, carbo-furan, and ethion are toxic to soil microflora and result in the reduction of soil bacteria counts.^[9]

Petroleum hydrocarbons are widespread soil pollutants. The sources of this pollution are gasoline and fuel oil transport spills, surface and underground storage tank leaks, refinery spills, refinery and creosote manufacturing sludges, petrochemical plant effluents, and many others. Petroleum hydrocarbons present in soil are cytotoxic and result in reductions of microbial biomass, soil enzyme activity, and microalgae populations.^[10,11] These hydrocarbons are also mutagenic to soil microorganisms.^[12]

9.3 Toxicity to Soil-Dwelling Animals

Soil-dwelling animals increase soil fertility by aerating the soil and decomposing organic matter. Pollutants in soil are toxic to these animals. Rodents (mammals) that live in soil are exposed to soil toxins via ingestion of insects, earthworms, and plant roots as well as dermal contact. In one study, soil contaminated with PAHs was shown to be toxic to the duodenum, lungs, kidneys, spleen, and liver of test animals.^[13]

Insects and earthworms have a more intimate contact with soil pollutants and generally serve a more useful function in soil fertility. Earthworms have proven to be an easy species to study with regard to soil-polluting effects. Lead, cadmium, and copper are readily absorbed by earthworms. In high concentrations, these heavy metals are lethal. In lower concentrations, they accumulate, causing toxic effects that are manifest in reduced activity by the earthworms.^[14,15] Pesticides in soils are acutely toxic and genotoxic to earthworms. The pesticides imidacloprid and RH-5849, for example, have been shown to be lethal at high concentrations and to induce significant DNA damage at lower concentrations.^[16]

9.4 Plant Absorption of Soil Toxins and Bioaccumulation

Soil contaminated with toxic chemicals is toxic to plants as well as animals. The effects of heavy metals on plant growth have been extensively studied. The following are examples of this phenomenon.

Copper exhibits rhizotoxicity in wheat seedlings.^[17] Copper and chromium retard shoot and root growth of barley.^[18] The yield of wheat is decreased when soil is contaminated with cadmium oxide or zinc oxide.^[19] Copper- and nickel smelter-polluted soil retards biomass growth of pine trees and reduces the essential calcium, potassium, and magnesium contents of saplings.^[20] Cadmium in the soil reduces ryegrass growth with crop yields inversely proportional to cadmium content.^[21]

Plants that grow in contaminated soils can absorb these pollutants. Once absorbed, such toxic chemicals are taken up by animals that feed on the contaminated plants and are passed up the food chain, in many instances, to humans. Following are examples of such an effect.

Prairie grass absorbs pesticides present in the soil in which it grows. Atrazine, alachlor, metolachlor, and pendamentalin are examples of these.^[22] Cattle grazing on grass so contaminated bioaccumulate pesticides and pass these along to humans who eat the cattle. PCBs, polychlorinated dibenzo-*p*-dioxins, and polychlorinated dibenzofurans are transferred to biota that grow in contaminated soils. Foraging animals (chickens and ducks) that eat biota thus contaminated have been shown to be highly contaminated with those toxins.^[23] People eating such chickens or ducks are thus exposed to high levels of extremely toxic chemicals. Other lipophilic chemicals, such as petroleum hydrocarbons (aromatic hydrocarbons and PAHs), are also readily absorbed from soil and are passed up the food chain to humans.^[24]

Heavy metals absorbed by crops from contaminated soils are also passed up the food chain. Cadmium, zinc, and lead are absorbed by wheat and rice plants.^[19] Cultivated ryegrass absorbs cadmium from polluted soil.^[21] Ryegrass is a crop fed to cattle, which absorb the cadmium and pass it up the food chain to humans.

9.5 Effects of Mixtures

Some of the effects of toxic chemical mixtures on soil pollution are predictable. Acidic soils dissolve otherwise insoluble metal oxides and salts, thereby increasing available metal concentrations and toxicity to flora and fauna. Available copper content is inversely proportional to increased pH of soil.^[4] Earthworm mortality in soil polluted by lead increases as pH decreases.^[15] The addition of ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) and its disodium salt to soil contaminated with cadmium, lead, and zinc increases the availability of these metals to plants and results in significant increases in the uptake of these in plants.^[25]

Other effects of toxic chemical mixtures on soil are not predictable. Mixtures of fertilizers and pesticides produce enhanced toxic effects. The additions of urea, superphosphate, and potash enhance the toxicities of carbaryl and carbofuran insecticides to nitrogen-fixing bacteria in soil.^[26] Soil co-contaminated with arsenic and DDT does not break down DDT as rapidly as soil contaminated with DDT alone. This results in a persistence of DDT in the environment.^[27]

Chlorinated hydrocarbons are persistent volatile organic compound (VOC) pollutants that infiltrate soil from disposal of dry cleaning fluids, degreasing solvents, food extraction solvents, and paint strippers. Trichloroethylene (TCE) is illustrative of these compounds.

TCE, a widely used solvent and degreaser is believed to be a carcinogen and mutagen. It is a dense nonaqueous phase liquid (DNAPL) that displaces water, sinks into the soil subsurface, and permeates through the soil into groundwater. Some of the TCE, however, is bonded to lipophilic soil molecules that help retain it in the soil. TCE also accumulates in soil voids where it persists for long periods of time.^[28] Bacteria slowly biotransform TCE to the dichloroethanes, dichloroethylenes, and vinyl chloride. (This process is similar to the transformation described for TCE in groundwater in Section 8.9 but is slow, resulting in the persistence of TCE in soil for years.^[29]) TCE in soil acts as a solvent for other organic molecules and pesticides and contributes to the retention of these toxic compounds in soil for long periods of time and forms toxic mixtures with unknown consequences.

Contaminated sites such as industrial chemical dumps contain mixtures of numerous toxicants. These include multiple lipophiles and hydrophiles that can undergo chemical reactions, migrate, and be absorbed by plants and animals.^[30] Such sites are often acutely and chronically toxic, environmentally persistent, and lead to bioaccumulation of toxicants in food webs. An excellent example of such a site is the Love Canal in the state of New York.

From 1942 to 1952, Love Canal was used as a disposal site for over 21,000 tons of chemical wastes, including halogenated organics, pesticides, chlorobenzenes, and dioxins. In 1953, the landfill was covered and deeded to the Niagara Falls Board of Education. Subsequently, the area near the landfill was extensively developed with an elementary school and numerous houses constructed. In the 1960s and 1970s, groundwater levels under the landfill rose and more than 100 lipophilic and hydrophilic organic compounds leached out, contaminating the air and drinking water supplies of thousands of people. The health effects of exposure to these chemicals include high rates of birth defects, immune systems suppression, various cancers, and chromosome damage. Children exposed were diagnosed with elevated numbers of seizures, learning problems, hyperactivity, skin rashes, eve irritation, abdominal pain, and incontinence.^[31] Though some of these effects could be attributed to individual compounds (e.g., the immunosuppression effects of TCDD^[32]) most of the problems reported could not be ascribed to the individual chemicals found. It is hypothesized that the unexpected effects were caused by exposures to mixtures of lipophilic and hydrophilic chemicals.^[33]

9.6 Summary

Soil contamination can contribute to human toxic exposure via a number of routes. These include plant uptakes of soil pollutants, including fertilizers and pesticides, that are either eaten by people directly or passed up the food chain, absorption onto the skin and subsequently into the bodies of grazing animals to be passed up through the food chain by animals, and via contaminated airborne soil particles that are ultimately inhaled by humans. Soils contain large lipophilic components that absorb lipophilic chemicals which are subsequently transferred to plants, animals, and to the air. Water distributed in soil dissolves hydrophilic chemicals and acts as a conduit for ultimate human absorption, through plants and thus up the food chain from whence they ultimately impact humans.

References

- 1. Soil Science Society of America. Glossary of soil science terms 2006, www.soils.org/sssagloss
- 2. United States Department of Agriculture Natural Resources Conservation Service, http://soils.usda.gov/education/facts/formation.html

- 3. Wang Y, Shi J, Lin Q, et al. The influence of soil heavy metals pollution on soil microbial biomass, enzyme activity and community composition near a copper smelter. *Ecotoxicol Environ Saf* 2006; 67(1):75–81.
- 4. De la Iglesia R, Castro D, Ginocchio R, et al. Factors influencing the composition of bacterial communities found at abandoned copper-tailing dumps. *Appl Microbiol* 2006; 100(3):537–44.
- 5. Obbard JP, Jones KC. Measurement of symbiotic nitrogen-fixation in leguminous host-plants grown in heavy metal-contaminated soils amended with sewage sludge. *Environ Pollut* 2001; 111(2):311–20.
- Vaishampayan A. Powerful mutagenicity of a bipyrridylium herbicide in a nitrogen-fixing blue-green alga Nostoc musdorum. Mutat Res 1984; 138(1):39–46.
- Kaur M, Ahluwalia AS, Dahuja S. Toxicity of rice field herbicide in a nitrogen fixing alga *Cylindrospermum sp. J Environ Biol* 2002; 23(4):359–63.
- 8. Megharaj M, Kantachote D, Singleton I, Naidu R. Effects of long-term contamination of DDT on soil microflora with special reference to soil algae and algal transformation of DDT. *Environ Pollut* 2000; 109(1):35–42.
- 9. Kalam A, Mukherjee AK. Influence of hexaconazole, carbofuran and ethion on soil microflora and dehydrogenase activities in soil and intact cell. *Indian J Exp Biol* 2001; 39(1):90–4.
- Megharaj M, Singleton I, McClure NC, Naidu R. Influence of petroleum hydrocarbon contamination on microalgae and microbial activities in a long-term contaminated soil. *Arch Environ Contam Toxicol* 2000; 38(4): 439–45.
- 11. Zemanek MG, Pollard SJ, Kenefick SL, Hrudey SE. Toxicity and mutagenicity of component classes of oils isolated from soils at petroleum- and creosote-contaminated sites. *J Air Waste Manag Assoc* 1997; 47(12):1250–8.
- 12. Horn RC, Rocha JA, Vargas VM. Determination of sediment mutagenicity and cytotoxicity in an area subjected to petrochemical contamination. *Mutagenesis* 2004; 19(6):445–51.
- 13. Roos PH, Tschirbs S, Weige P, et al. Induction of cytochrome P450 1A1 in multiple organs of minipigs after oral exposure to soils contaminated with polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. *Arch Toxicol* 2002; 76(5–6):326–34.
- 14. Marinussen MP, van der Zee SE, de Haan FA. Effect of Cd or Pb addition to Cu-contaminated soil on tissue Cu accumulation in the earthworm, Dendrobaena veneta. *Ecotoxicol Environ Saf* 1997; 38(3):309–15.
- Bradham KD, Cayton EA, Basta NT, et al. Effect of soil properties on lead bioavailability and toxicity to earthworms. *Environ Toxicol Chem* 2006; 25(3):769–75.
- 16. Zang Y, Zhong Y, Luo Y, Kong ZM. Genotoxicity of two novel pesticides for the earthworm Eisenia fetida. *Environ Pollut* 2000; 108(2):271–8.
- 17. Fortunati P, Lombi E, Harmon RE, et al. Effect of toxic cations on copper rhizotoxicity in wheat seedlings. *Environ Toxicol Chem* 2005; 24(2):372–8.
- 18. Ali NA, Ater M, Sunahara GI, et al. Phytotoxicity and bioaccumulation of copper and chromium using barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L.) in spiked artificial and natural forest soils. *Ecotoxicol Environ Saf* 2004; 57(3):363–74.
- 19. Muramoto S, Nishizaki H, Aoyama I. The critical levels and the maximum metal uptake for wheat and rice plants when applying metal oxides to soil. *J Environ Sci Health B*. 1990; 25(2):273–80.

- 20. Nieminen TM. Effects of soil copper and nickel on survival and growth of Scots pine. *J Environ Monit* 2004; 6(11):888–96.
- Moreno JL, Sanchez-Marin A, Hernandez T, Garcia C. Effect of cadmium on microbial activity and a ryegrass crop in two semiarid soils. *Environ Manage* 2006; 37(5):626–33.
- 22. Belden JB, Phillips TA, Coats JR. Effect of prairie grass on the dissipation, movement and bioavailability of selected herbicides in prepared soil columns. *Environ Toxicol Chem* 2004; 23(1):125–32.
- 23. Zhao X, Zheng M, Zhang B, et al. Evidence for the transfer of polychlorinated biphenyls, polychlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins and poly chlorinated dibenzofurans from soils to biota. *Sci Total Environ* 2006; 368(2–3):744–52.
- Roos PH, Tschirbs S, Pfeifer F, et al. Risk potentials for humans or original and remedicated PAH-contaminated soils: Application of biomarkers of effect. *Toxicology* 2004; 205(3):181–94.
- 25. Lai HY, Chen ZS. Effects of EDTA on solubility of cadmium, zinc and lead and their uptake by rainbow pink and vetiver grass. *Chemosphere* 2004; 55(3):421–30.
- Padhy RN. Monitoring of chemical fertilizers on toxicity of two carbamate insecticides to the cyanobacterium Anabaena PCCC 7120. *Microbios* 2001; 106(415):165–75.
- Van Zwieten L, Ayres MR, Morris SG. Influence of arsenic co-contamination on DDT breakdown and microbial activity. *Environ Pollut* 2003; 124(2):331–9.
- 28. Howard PH. Handbook of environmental fate and exposure data for organic chemicals, Lewis, Chelsea, MI, 1990, pp. 467–74.
- 29. Parons F, Wood PR, DeMarco J. Transformations of tetrachloroethene and trichloroethene in microcosms and groundwater. *J Am Water Works Assoc* 1984; 76:56–9.
- 30. Fent K. Ecotoxicological effects at contaminated sites. *Toxicology* 2004; 205(3):223–40.
- 31. Brown P, Clapp R. Looking back at Love Canal. *Public Health Rep* 2002; 117:95–8.
- 32. Silkworth JB, Cutler DS, Sack G. Inmunotoxicity of 2,3,7,8-tertachlorodibenzop-dioxin in a complex environmental mixture from the Love Canal. *Fund Appl Toxicol* 1989; 12(2):303–12.
- 33. Zeliger HI. Toxic effects of chemical mixtures. *Arch Environ Health* 2003; 58(1):23–9.

10.1 Introduction

Food, along with air and water, is essential for survival. Much of human culture is centered around food preparation and consumption. In the twentieth century, food production and preparation in many parts of the world moved from small farms, home and restaurant kitchens, and small food preparation businesses (e.g., local bakeries) to giant food -growing and -processing operations. Along with these changes, many chemicals were introduced into food.

Xenobiotics present in food arise from one of four sources:

- 1. Uptake by fruits and vegetables from soil and plant surfaces while growing
- 2. Ingestion of treated food and water by cattle, fowl, and fish
- 3. Food preparation
- 4. Packaging.

Though the presence of some xenobiotics in food is inevitable, given their presence in air, water, and soil, others are deliberately added for aesthetic, preservation, and economic purposes.

Fertilizers containing nitrates, phosphates, and heavy metals are applied to soil to increase yields of crops. Insecticides, herbicides, and fungicides are applied to food crops to reduce losses to "pest" species. As discussed in Chapter 9, these chemicals may be absorbed into the roots of plants and passed up the food chain to humans by animals that consume such plants. These chemicals may also be directly consumed by humans who eat the treated plants.

Plants consumed by humans are further contaminated with toxic chemicals arising from agricultural runoff, industrial runoff, urban runoff, and environmental spread of persistent organic pollutants (POPs) into growing fields.

Animals that are hunted and fished as food often contain bioaccumulated residues of toxic chemicals. These include mercury, PCBs, dioxins, and organochlorine compounds (including pesticides).

Animals raised for their meat are deliberately fed hormones to induce rapid growth and antibiotics to keep them healthy. These are transferred to humans when their meat is eaten. Farm and ranch animals are often sprayed with pesticides that are absorbed through their skins and ultimately consumed by humans.

It is beyond the scope of this book to examine all the sources of toxic chemical contamination of foods consumed by humans. The sections that follow address the absorption of xenobiotic chemicals via plant and animal growth and by the addition of toxic chemicals to food during its preparation and packaging.

10.2 Persistent Organic Pollutants (POPs)

POPs are pervasive in our environment. They are present virtually everywhere in the world including the Arctic environs.^[1] Food is the primary source of human exposure to POPs. As discussed in Chapter 9, they are taken up in plants grown in contaminated soil.^[2] For example, alphaendosulfan, beta-endosulfan, and endosulfan sulfate were absorbed by lettuce growing in soil contaminated with these pesticides.^[3]

POPs are found in the flesh of animals in all the world's environments. The examples that follow are illustrative.

Fish eaten by people residing in northern Norway are contaminated with PCBs, chlorinated pesticides, and their metabolites.^[4] Fish living in mangrove habitats in Singapore are contaminated with polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs).^[5] Dioxins and PCBs are found in the eggs of free-range chickens.^[6]

POPs are widespread in human food products.^[7] An indication of the pervasiveness of POPs is seen from a worldwide study of butter contamination with PCBs, polychlorinated dibenzo-*p*-dioxins (PCDDs), dibenzo-furans (PCDFs), hexachlorobenzene, and DDT and its metabolites. These POPs were found to be present in varying degrees in the butter of 37 different nations.^[8]

PCDDs, PCDFs, PCBs, PBDEs, and organochlorine pesticides are contaminants of human breast milk.^[9,10] PCBs and PBDEs are found in human adipose and muscle tissues.^[11]

10.3 Mercury

Mercury in its elemental form is a liquid that is vaporized upon heating. It is a component of fossil fuel and is found in airborne emissions from fossil fuel burning plants. It travels through the environment via several pathways, including air, water, and bioaccumulation routes.^[12]

Inorganic mercury released into the environment is converted by microorganistic activity into methyl mercury (MeHg), a persistent polluter that is soluble in adipose tissue and passed up the food chain. As a result, predator fish species are significantly more contaminated with MeHg than those that feed on plants and benthic organisms. For example, it has been found that in Canada's Arctic and sub-Arctic regions, benthic feeding fish such as whitefish have significantly lower MeHg in their flesh than trout, pike, and walleye, which are all predatory.^[12]

Methyl mercury is toxic to humans causing CNS and peripheral nervous system injuries.^[13] Those exposed suffer a degeneration of their nervous systems. Symptoms include numbness in lips and limbs, involuntary movement, constricted vision, slurred speech, and hallucinations. The most famous historic example of MeHg poisoning is the Minamata disease outbreak in Japan.^[14]

In the 1950s a petrochemical plant dumped an estimated 27 tons of mercury waste into Minamata Bay. A short while after the dumping began, people started noticing that cats in the adjacent town appeared to be going insane and were falling into the sea. Soon thereafter, people in the town became symptomatic as described above. Children of poisoned mothers were born with severe deformities, mental retardation, blindness, and deafness. Investigation revealed that the animals and humans of Minamata, who consumed large quantities of locally caught fish, were poisoned by methyl mercury, which had been formed in situ in the bay and passed up the food chain from fish to people. In total, almost 3000 people contracted Minamata disease.^[14]

Organic mercury pollution is not limited to salt water environs. This pollution is extensive in lakes and rivers as well. People who consume fish contaminated with MeHg, even at low levels, have reduced neurobehavioral performance.^[15] In the United States, many state agencies recommend limiting the eating of fish taken from these waters, particularly for pregnant women.

Organic mercury is also consumed by people in the form of preservatives used in pharmaceuticals. The controversy surrounding this use is discussed in Chapter 23.

10.4 Antibiotics in Meat

Antibiotics are used by meat producers to improve animal production and treat disease. These are administered to beef and dairy cattle, swine, broiler chicks and laying hens.^[16] Prophylactic antibiotics are also widely administered in finfish aquaculture to prevent bacterial infections that result from poor sanitation in fish farming.^[17]

The administering of antibiotics to animals and fish leads to the accumulation of residues in the animals' flesh and subsequent ingestion by humans. Such antibiotic residues ensue because of the development of cytotoxic effects and reduced capacities of detoxification and excretion organs in the treated animals.^[16] In the United States, the federal government has established antibiotic residue tolerances and specifies target tissues for residue monitoring. When muscle tissue is specified as the target tissue for testing, the federal standards do not specify which muscle tissue is to be examined. In poultry, for example, breast muscle accumulates antibiotic residues at higher concentrations than does thigh muscle.^[16]

The effects on humans following consumption of meats with antibiotic residues have not been well studied. It is surmised that such residues help lead to antibiotic-resistant bacteria with obvious human end points.

10.5 Steroids in Meat

Anabolic agents are used to increase the rate of growth in livestock.^[18,19] Both steroids that are natural to the body (endogenous steroids) and those that are foreign to the body (exogenous steroids) are used for this purpose. Exogenous steroids include esters of endogenous steroids (e.g., estradiol benzoate and testosterone propionate) or compounds with modified steroidal structures such as trenbolone acetate.^[18] All these compounds, however, have one characteristic in common: they are transferred through the food chain to humans who consume the treated animals.

Steroids in meat consumed by humans have the propensity to produce endocrine-disrupting effects. Estradiol, progesterone, and testosterone, which are fed to meat animals, occur naturally in both humans and animals in identical molecular forms. Consuming meat with these compounds in them raises the levels of these hormones in the human body. Very little is known about the effects of such increases in hormone levels in humans. Even less is known of the effects on children.^[20]

The effects of exogenous steroids can differ from those of endogenous steroids in several ways. First, the biological activity of exogenous sex hormones can be much stronger. Second, they may be metabolized differently, and third, they may induce effects that are different from those of endogenous steroids.^[21]

The effects on humans of eating meat contaminated with steroids are in the early stages of study. One of the effects suspected is the early onset of puberty in children who consume large quantities of steroids. This is explored in more detail in Chapter 29.

10.6 Additives in Commercial Food Preparation

Food additives are chemical substances, other than basic foods, used in commercial food preparation to achieve preservative, flavor, color, stability, and aesthetic effects. Though some of the chemicals used are derived naturally, most of the additives used in food production are synthetic and with little or no nutritional value.^[22,23] A glance at almost any cookbook shows that chemical additives are not necessary for food preparation. Their use allows inferior ingredients to be used, extends the shelf lives of many products, and exposes people to toxic chemicals.

The basic reasons for using food additives are

- 1. *Emulsification*. Emulsifiers, such as lecithin, are used to keep oil and aqueous phases in salad dressings from separating.
- 2. *Thickening*. Thickeners, such as carrageenan and carboxymethyl cellulose, are used to thicken ice cream and jelly and impart texture to bread and cake.
- 3. *Enrichment.* Vitamins and minerals, such as vitamin D, thiamin, and niacin, are added to fortify milk and flour.
- 4. *Anticaking*. Anticaking agents, such as sodium aluminosilicate in salt and silicon dioxide in powdered milk and nondairy creamers, for example, are used to prevent coagulation.
- 5. *Chelation*. Chelating agents, such as EDTA, are added to prevent precipitation of insoluble metal salts. Citric acid and tartaric acid are other chelating agents that are added to prevent discoloration during food processing.
- 6. *Bleaching*. Bleaching agents, such as peroxides, are used to whiten flour and cheese.
- 7. *Preservation.* Antimicrobial agents, such as methyl paraben, propyl paraben, sodium benzoate, and calcium proprionate are added to many foods to prevent food spoilage caused by mold, bacteria, fungi, or yeast. The use of preservation chemicals extends the shelf lives of many foods and eliminates the need for refrigeration of others.
- 8. *Antioxidant activity*. Antioxidants, such as BHA and BHT, prevent fats and oils from reacting with oxygen and becoming rancid.
- 9. *Coloring*. Artificial colors, such as blue # 1, yellow #6, and red #40, are added to impart appealing colors to virtually every type of prepared food.

10. *Flavoring*. Artificial flavors, such as saccharin for sugar and benzaldehyde for cherry flavor, are used as substitutes for natural flavors. Flavor enhancers, such as monosodium glutamate (MSG), have little or no flavor of their own but are used to enhance the flavor of other food compounds.

10.7 Chemical Impurities in Food—Allowable Xenobiotics

In the United States, the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act of 1938 (FD&C) gave the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) the authority to oversee and regulate food and food ingredients. The Food Additives Amendment to the FD&C of 1958 requires FDA approval for food additives usage prior to their incorporation into food and also requires the manufacturer to prove an additive's safety for the way it will be used. There are, however, exceptions to the regulation. All additives that were determined by the FDA or the U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) to be safe for use in specific foods prior to the 1958 amendment were designated as prior-sanctioned substances (an example being nitrites used in luncheon meats). Food additives that had either a history of use in food prior to the 1958 amendment or published scientific evidence of their safe use in food were also excluded from the requirement that manufacturers prove their safety. Such food ingredients are designated as "generally regarded as safe" (GRAS).^[24] The GRAS list contains hundreds of chemical additives including MSG, calcium proprionate, butylated hydroxy anisole (BHA), and butylated hydroxyl toluene (BHT). It does not contain those chemicals determined by the manufacturers to be covered under the GRAS classification and not requiring notification nor label listing.

The list of chemical additives in foods is not limited to those on the GRAS list. More than 3000 chemicals are permitted to be present in food in the United States. These are listed in an FDA database referred to as Everything Added to Food in the United States (EAFUS).^[25] This list includes chemicals used in food processing, chemicals arising from machinery used in food processing, extraction solvent residues, pesticide residues, antibiotics, growth hormones, and chemicals deliberately added to food. Though the list is long, it does not contain all food additives. Some of these are chemicals added under a GRAS determination made independently of FDA. A partial list of volatile organic EAFUS listed additives and the known target organs for each compound is given in Table 10.1.

Chemical	Target Organs
Acetaldehyde	RES, CNS
Acetophenone	CNS
Acrolein C, T	Heart, RES,
Amyl alcohol	RES, CNS
Anisole	RES
Benzene C	RES, CNS, blood, bone marrow
Chloroform	CNS, LIV, KID, heart
Cyclohexane	CNS
Diethyl amine	RES, LIV, KID
Ethyl acetate	RES, CNS, RPS
Ethyl acrylate C, T	RES, LIV, KID
Ethylene oxide C	RES, KID, adrenal glands, skeletal
	muscles, RPS
Glutaraldehyde	RES, CNS, LIV
Hexane	RES, CNS, PNS
Hydrazine C	RES, CNS, KID
Hydrogen sulfide	RES, CNS
Methanol T	RES, CNS, GI
Methyl ethyl ketone	RES, CNS
Methyl methacrylate T	RES, CNS, PNS, KID, LIV
Methylene chloride C	RES, CNS, LIV, blood
Monoethanolamine	RES, CNS, KID, LIV, blood
Phenol	RES, CNS, LIV, KID, heart
Propylene glycol	RES
Pyridine	RES, CNS, LIV, KID
Styrene C	RES, CNS
Trichloroethylene C	RES, CNS, PNS, KID, LIV
Vinyl acetate T	RES, CNS, heart

Table 10.1 Partial List of Everything Added to Food in the United States(EAFUS) Database

Notes: All chemicals listed target the skin and eyes. Entries with C after their names are known or suspected carcinogens. Those with T after their names are teratogenic. Abbreviations: RES, respiratory system; CNS, central nervous system; PNS, peripheral nervous system; GI, gastrointestinal system; KID, kidneys; LIV, liver; RPS, reproductive system. *Source*: Toxicology data after Sittig.^[26]

The list in Table 10.1 contains numerous lipophiles and hydrophiles. A vast number of mixture combinations are possible. Though most mixtures have not been studied, one possible binary mixture from this list—hexane and methyl ethyl ketone (MEK)—has a known synergism.

MEK (and other ketones on the EAFUS list not shown in Table 10.1) potentiates the neurotoxicity of hexane.^[27]

It is not implied here that all the toxic chemicals listed on the EAFUS list are present in all foods, or in any one meal. Many food additives, however, contain large numbers of toxic chemicals.

Food additives number in the thousands. Addressing all of these is beyond the scope of this book. The following sections are illustrative of the toxicants used in commercial food preparation.

10.8 Flavor Additives

Flavor additives are widely used. As an example, let us consider the composition of an artificial strawberry flavoring used in strawberry milk shakes, as shown in Table 10.2.^[28]

Here, again, numerous mixtures are possible. An example of a toxic binary mixture of chemicals on this list shows a synergistic effect. When administered together, ethanol inhibits the metabolism of ethyl acetate, resulting in greater toxicity of ethyl acetate.^[29]

Synthetic raspberry flavoring is comprised of the following chemicals:

- Vanillin
- Ethylvanillin

Amyl acetate
Amyl butyrate
Amyl valerate
Aenthol
Anisyl formate
Benzyl acetate
Benzyl isobutyrate
Butyric acid
Cinnamyl valerate
Cognac essential oil
Diacetyl
Dipropyl ketone
Ethanol
Ethyl acetate

Table 10.2 Chemical Ingredients in an Artificial Strawberry Flavor Used for Thick Shakes

136

for Thick Shakes (Continued)
Ethyl amyl ketone
Ethyl butyrate
Ethyl cinnamate
Ethyl heptanoate
Ethyl heptylate
Ethyl lactate
Ethyl methyl phenylglycidate
Ethyl nitrate
Ethyl proprionate
Ethyl valerate
Heliotropin
Hydroxyphenyl-2-butanone
<i>a</i> -ionone
Isobutyl butyrate
Lemon essential oil
Maltol
4-Methylacetophenone
Methyl anthralinate
Methyl benzoate
Methyl cinnamate
Methyl hetine carbonate
Methyl naphthyl ketone
Methyl salicylate
Mint essential oil
Nerolin
Neryl isobutyrate
Orris butter
Phenethyl alcohol
Rose
Rum ether
g-undecalactone
Vanillin
Solvent (unspecified)

Table 10.2 Chemical Ingradients in an Artificial Strawberry Flavor Used

- Alphaionone
- Maltol
- 1-(*p*-hydroxyphenyl)-3-butanone
- Dimethyl sulfide
- 2,5-Dimethyl-N-(2-pyrazinyl)pyrrole.^[30]

The vanillin in the mixture is not a natural product. Natural vanilla extract is a mixture of hundreds of compounds in addition to vanillin. Artificial vanilla flavoring is a solution of pure synthesized vanillin, 4-hydroxy-3-methoxybenzaldehyde. Mixtures of vanillin with other toxicants enhance mutagenic effects^[31] and produce synergistic inhibition of lignocellulose degradation when mixed with catechol.^[32] Vanillin potentiates the hepatotoxicity of carbon tetrachloride.^[33] Mixtures of vanillin and cigarette smoke condensates induce sister-chromatid exchanges.^[34]

10.9 Artificial Food Colors

Artificial food colors are synthetic dyes manufactured from petroleum that have no nutritional value. Some of these are, however, neurotoxic and others contain carcinogenic components.^[35–37] For example, some children whose diets contained artificial food colors were found to exhibit symptoms of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). Removal of the artificial food colors from their diets eliminated the symptoms.^[35] In vitro exposure to a mixture of blue #1 and yellow #5 was found to induce malignant cell transformation.^[38]

10.10 Flavor Enhancers—Monosodium Glutamate (MSG)

MSG is commercially (and even at homes) added to many foods as a flavor enhancer despite the fact that it is an excitatory neurotoxin that can freely penetrate certain brain regions and rapidly destroy neurons by hyperactivating *N*-methyl-*D*-aspartate (NMDA) receptors, a property of MSG that makes the nervous systems of developing fetus particularly vulnerable to this excitotoxin.^[39]

Symptoms reportedly developed following ingestion of MSG include tingling, a burning sensation or radiating numbress in the back of the neck, forearms, and chest, facial pressure tightness, chest pain, headache, nausea, rapid heartbeat, mouth and throat dryness, drowsiness, and weakness.^[22,40,41]

In a blind study, MSG ingestion has been demonstrated to induce asthma in people who have this condition. Forty-one percent of those tested developed asthma and other symptoms of MSG ingestion within 1–2 h of eating MSG-containing food.^[42]

MSG has also been associated with fibromyalgia syndrome (FM). FM is a painful rheumatologic disorder that is difficult to treat. Patients diagnosed with FM for 2–17 years all had complete or almost complete elimination of their symptoms within months of removing MSG or MSG

plus aspartame from their diets. All patients have had recurrence of their symptoms whenever they ingested MSG.^[43]

10.11 Aspartame Nonnutritive Sweetener

Aspartame is a nonnutritive sweetener that was first allowed by the FDA for use in dry foods in 1981 and approved for beverages in 1983. It is consumed by tens of millions of people in beverages, instant breakfasts, desserts, breath mints, sugarfree chewing gum, vitamins, pharmaceuticals, and numerous other products. Though it offers an alternative sweetening choice to diabetics, dieters, and others who must limit sugar intake, it is toxic. Those consuming it have complained of neurologic, gastrointestinal, and allergic reactions.^[44]

Aspartame is completely metabolized in the gut and absorbed as aspartic acid, phenylalanine, methanol, and diketopiperazine. Above 86°F, the methanol in aspartame decays forming formaldehyde and formic acid. When ingested, methanol attacks the eyes, CNS, and the GI tract and can damage the liver and kidneys.^[26] Formaldehyde and formic acid are corrosive to mucous membranes and can result in liver and kidney injury and disease when ingested.^[26] Formic acid is an established human toxin. Phenylalanine is believed to mediate or exacerbate hepatic encephalopathy.^[44,45]

Chronic aspartame ingestion results in an increase of phase I metabolizing enzymes (CYP450) in laboratory animals.^[46] Aspartame is a genotoxin producing chromosome aberrations.^[47] Recent research has shown it to be a multipotential carcinogenic agent for laboratory animals, even at a daily dose of 20 mg/kg of body weight, a level that is much less than the current acceptable daily intake.^[48]

There is published research on both sides of the toxicity question regarding aspartame, with almost equal numbers of articles claiming toxicity and safety. Most studies address controlled conditions where aspartame exposure could be localized. The foods people eat, however, are never restricted to ingestion of single species and mixture effects may indeed be responsible for the disparities of the test results. The differences in test results are believed to be because of ingestion of aspartame with varying other unidentified chemical species or quantities of other chemicals.

One study considered the toxicity of aspartame when coadministered with the food colorant Quinoline Yellow (QY). This study showed that synergistic effects were observed when these two additives were given together. Mouse neuroblastoma cells were induced to differentiate and grow neurites when the mixture of aspartame and QY was administered together. Inhibition of neurite outgrowth was found at concentrations of these additives theoretically achievable in plasma by ingestion of a typical snack and drink.^[49]

10.12 Nonnutritive Chemicals in Food

The earlier sections addressed impurities allowed in food and examples of chemicals used to flavor and color food. Other xenobiotic chemicals are deliberately added to food during its preparation for preparation, aesthetic, and storage purposes. The *Handbook of Food Additives* describes more than 8000 trade names and general chemical additives that are used in food products.^[50] Those included are listed by category in Table 10.3.

Acidulents
Aerating agents
Alkaline agents
Anticaking agents
Antimicrobials
Antistaling agents
Antioxidants
Antispattering agents
Aromatics
Binders
Bittering agents
Bleaching agents
Bodying agents
Bulking agents
Catalysts
Clouding agents
Coatings
Colorants
Color adjuncts
Color diluents
Color retention aids
Cooling agents
Curing agents
Defoamers/antifoams

10: Food

Table 10.3 Categories of Food Additives Used in Food Preparation(Continued)

Clarifiers Dietary supplements Dietary fiber Dispersants Dough conditioners Drying agents Emulsifiers Egg replacements Encapsulants Enzymes Fat replacements Fermentation aids Film-formers Flavors Flavor enhancers Gelling agents Glazes Humectants Instantizing agents Leavening agents Masticatory aids Neutralizers/buffers/pH control agents Nutrients Opacifiers Pickling agents Preservatives Propellants Raising agents Release agents Solubilizers Solvents Suspending agents Sweeteners Synergists Tenderizers **Texturizers** Thickeners Vehicles Vitamins Viscosity modifiers Whipping agents^[50]

10.13 The Bread We Eat

Clearly, all the additives listed in the section above are not present in any one food. An examination of the composition of ordinary white bread, however, reveals just how many of these are found in the food we eat every day. Table 10.4 lists the ingredients of a commercially prepared white

Commercial White Bread	Home-Baked White Bread
Wheat flour Barley malt Ferrous sulfate (iron) B vitamins Niacin Thiamine mononitrate (B_1) Riboflavin (B_2) Folic acid Water High fructose corn syrup or sugar Yeast Calcium sulfate Wheat gluten Soybean oil Salt	All-purpose flour Butter Sugar Active dry yeast Salt Canola oil
Dough conditioners (may contain mono- and diglycerides, sodium stearoyl lactylate, dicalcium phosphate, datem, sorbic acid, and/or carbon dioxide) Vinegar Soy flour Tricalcium phosphate	
Yeast nutrients (may contain ammonium phosphate, monocalcium phosphate, calcium carbonatem, ammonium sulfate, ammonium chloride, and/or diammonium phosphate) Corn starch Wheat starch Enzymes Calcium propionate Whey Soy lecithin	

 Table 10.4 Lists of Ingredients in Commercial and Home-Baked White Breads

bread found in stores in the United States along with the ingredients for home-baked white bread prepared without chemical additives.

10.14 Volatile Organic Compounds (VOCs) in Food

VOCs are present in almost all foods consumed in the United States. In a study by FDA scientists, 70 different foods were purchased repeatedly over a 5-year period and analyzed for VOCs. Twenty-two VOCs were

Whole milk	Sweet rolls
American cheese	Chocolate chip cookies
Cheddar cheese	Sandwich cookies
Ground beef	Apple pie
Chuck roast	Milk chocolate candy bar
Bacon	Caramels
Hot dogs	Cola
Bologna	Low-calorie cola
Salami	Milk-based infant formula
Tuna	Beef, strained/junior
Fish sticks	Carrots, strained/junior
Eggs, scrambled	Apple juice, strained/junior
Peanut butter	Swiss cheese
Corn, cream style	Cream cheese
Popcorn	Chicken nuggets
White bread	Fried chicken, fast food
Blueberry muffins	Mixed nuts
Corn chips	Graham crackers
Fruit-flavored cereal	Butter crackers
Apples	French fries, fast food
Oranges	Quarter pounder/cheese
Bananas	Taco/tostado
Strawberries	Cheese pizza
Raisins	Cheese/pepperoni pizza
Avocados	Vanilla ice cream
Orange juice	Sherbet
Coleslaw	Popsicles
Tomatoes, raw	Chocolate snack cake
Potato chips	Cake doughnuts

Table 10.5 Foods Analyzed for VOCs^[51]

Quarter pounder	Brownies
Meatloaf, homemade	Sugar cookies
Margarine	Sour cream
Butter	Olive/safflower oil
Vanilla ice milk	Fruit-flavored drink
Chocolate cake, commercial	Soy-based infant formula

Table 10.5 Foods Analyzed for VOCs^[51] (Continued)

Table 10.6 VOCs Found in Foods Over a 5-Year Period^[51]

Benzene Bromodichloromethane *n*-Butylbenzene Carbon tetrachloride Chlorobenzene Chloroform Cumene o-Dichlorobenzene *p*-Dichlorobenzene trans-1,2-Dichloroethene Ethyl benzene Ethylene dichloride *n*-Propylbenzene Styrene Tetrachloroethylene Toluene 1.1.1-Trichloroethane Trichloroethylene 1,2,4-Trimethylbenzene *m*- and/or *p*-Xylene o-Xylene

found in the foods tested, though no single VOC was found in all foods.^[51] Table 10.5 lists the foods tested, and Table 10.6 lists the 21 VOCs found in foods.

It should be noted that foods that are normally cooked, for example, fruits and vegetables, were cooked as they would be in a domestic kitchen prior to analysis. Fast foods were obtained ready-to-eat and analyzed as purchased.

All of the chemicals listed in Table in 10.6 are highly toxic and many have been associated with toxic effects of mixtures.^[52]

10.15 Chemicals in Food Packaging

Materials used to package food include paper, plastic, and rubber food wrappers and containers. These packaging materials contain monomers, oligomers, additives, polymer degradation products, additives, and impurities. The chemicals in packaging materials are estimated to contaminate food about 100 times more than pesticides and other POPs.^[53] The contaminants that migrate from packaging into food include allergens, chemicals with estrogenic activity, specific organ toxins, genotoxins, and carcinogens. The following examples are illustrative.

- 1. It is estimated that about one-third of all food wrapping contains latex, to which as many as 6% of people are allergic.^[54]
- 2. Chemicals with known estrogenic activities contained in plastic and rubber food contact materials include bisphenol A, nonylphenol, benzylbutyl phthalate, styrene oligomers, and hydroxylated benzophenones. It has also been found that chemicals in packaging that either contain a phenol group in their structures or form one easily by hydrolysis or metabolism also display estrogenic activities.^[55] Hormone-disrupting phthalates also migrate from food packaging into food.^[56]
- 3. Polyethylene terephthalate (PET), which is widely used in water and other beverage containers, contains acetaldehyde and limonene that can migrate into the packaged products.^[57] PET absorbs organic compounds that it comes in contact with and recycling may introduce contaminants upon reuse.^[58] Contamination by recycling is of particular concern when the container has been used to hold cleaners or solvents prior to recycling.
- 4. Polymerization aids, including initiators and catalysts, have been found in plastics intended for food contact. These include methyl benzoate, benzoic acid, biphenyl benzoate, phenyl benzoate, and azobisisobutyronitrile among the chemicals detected.^[59]
- 5. Paper and board materials intended for food packaging have been found to contain a large number of toxic organic compounds in them These include alkyl and aryl aldehydes, BHT, di-tert-bu-tylphenol, and substituted benzophenones.^[60]
- 6. Perfluorochemicals are used in the manufacturing of food packaging materials and cookware. Perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) is a residual impurity in some paper coatings used for food contact. Perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA) is contained in nonstick cookware coatings. Recent epidemiological studies have shown that both PFOS and PFOA are widely present in human blood.^[61]

- 7. Microwave heat susceptors are packaged with foods intended for microwave oven preparation to generate high temperatures (greater than 300°F) to cook foods such as pizza and French fries. The metalized polyester film, adhesive, and paper packaging materials contained in these products release VOCs that are absorbed by the foods they package. The VOCs released include benzene, 1,1,1trichloroethane, and 2-(2-butoxyethoxy)ethanol.^[62]
- 8. Printing inks and adhesives used in packaging frequently release VOCs through packaging layers into foods. In one of my (as yet unpublished) studies, it was discovered that amines used to catalyze adhesive curing between layers of polyethylene and polypropylene film in food packaging readily permeated through the film and contaminated the food.

10.16 Irradiated Food

Food may be preserved by irradiation with beams of ionizing radiation produced by radioactive isotopes. Such treatment kills certain bacteria and molds that induce spoilage. Though irradiated food is not left radioactive, it does break chemical bonds and generate free radicals with, at this time, largely unknown consequences. The safety of irradiated food is being addressed at this time, with some countries allowing it in the marketplace and others banning its sale.^[63] Unsaturated lipids seem to be particularly vulnerable to irradiation. Irradiated almonds turned rancid upon irradiation with accelerated electrons at a dose of 10 kGy.^[64] Irradiation of PET copolymers intended for food contact significantly increased concentration of acetaldehyde.^[65] To date, the paucity of adequate research suggests caution in accepting irradiated food, particularly since the ingestion of food with increased numbers of free radicals can give rise to higher levels of ROS and higher cancer risk, as discussed in Chapter 4.

10.17 Toxic Mixtures in Food

Very little published literature addresses the toxic effects of chemical mixtures in foods. A few have been referred to in the preceding text. Eight other examples follow here.

10.17.1 TCDD

The ubiquitous environmental contaminant 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo*p*-dioxin (TCDD) accumulates in animal fat and plant tissues. The food chain is the primary source of exposure to humans. TCDD is a multifaceted toxin that regulates the expression of a wide range of drug-metabolizing enzymes and impacts a large number of biological systems. The acute effects of TCDD exposure (including chloracne, porphyria, hepatotoxicity, and CNS and peripheral nervous system toxicity) are well described in the literature. Because of its long-term persistence of TCDD in the human adipose tissue, chronic effects may present as long as several decades after exposure. It is hypothesized that TCDD-induced atherosclerosis, hyper-tension, diabetes, and nervous system damage can be present long after initial exposures.^[66] TCDD is slowly released from adipose tissue into the human bloodstream over a period of years to decades. By mixing with other xenobiotics that are taken up by the body long after the absorption new toxic mixtures are almost constantly being created. These mixtures have unknown effects on humans.

10.17.2 Genotoxic Food Additives

Many chemicals currently used as food additives are genotoxic. One study reports 39 different chemicals, including those that are colorants, preservatives, antioxidants, fungicides, and sweeteners, are genotoxic to stomach, colon, liver, kidney, bladder, lung, brain, and bone marrow tissues in test animals.^[67]

10.17.3 Carcinogenic Flavorants

Fifteen flavorant compounds approved by the Flavor and Extract Manufacturers Association (FEMA) for the GRAS list have been found to be carcinogenic in laboratory animals. These include benzyl acetate, cinnamyl anthranilate, ethyl acrylate, and pyridine.^[68] Though the author of the study concludes that the levels of these compounds found in foods are below the thresholds of carcinogenic concern, no consideration was given to the effects of mixtures, which have been shown to induce effects at lower concentration that individual compounds.^[52,69]

10.17.4 Preservatives

The preservative BHT has been shown to have adverse effects on the liver and lungs.^[70,71] When mixed with another preservative, BHA, the BHA/BHT mixture enhances the lung toxicity. In another study, it was shown that BHA, eugenol methylparaben, vanillin, guaiacol, ferulic acid,

and other phenolic compounds used in food products enhanced the in vitro peroxidase-catalyzed covalent bonding of BHT to microsomal protein and the formation of BHT-quinone methide.^[72]

10.17.5 BHA and Marijuana

BHA has limited cytotoxic effects. When mixed with delta(9)-tetrahydrocannabinol (extracted from marijuana cigarettes), however, synergistic cytotoxicity to lung cells was observed. The study concludes that coexposure to marijuana smoke and BHA can promote deleterious health effects in the lung.^[73]

10.17.6 Recycled Food Packaging

Recycled paper products are used in food packaging. Such products contain 4,4'-*bis*(diethylamino)benzophenone, 4,4'-*bis*(dimethylamino) benzophenone, 4-(dimethylamino)benzophenone, and bisphenol A, which are genotoxic. These compounds, however, are found in foods in concentrations that are too low to account for the genotoxic effects found upon investigation.^[74] The study fails to take into account the presence of other xenobiotics that would produce a mixture with enhanced genotoxicity.

10.17.7 Enzyme Inhibition

Xenobiotic food additives, drugs, and biologically active endogenous compounds can interact and affect body biochemistry. For example, dopamine sulfotransferase activity is strongly inhibited by the colorant tartrazine and flavorant vanillin, and vanillin, erythrosine B, and octyl gallate inhibit the sulfation of 17 alpha-ethinylestradiol, a xenobiotic steroid.^[75]

10.17.8 Nonionizing Radiation

Sunlight and other sources of nonionizing electromagnetic radiation can affect foods. For example, it has been shown that sodium nitrite, sodium nitrate, sodium benzoate, potassium sorbate, and benzoic acid exhibit additive photogenotoxic effects on *Escherichia coli*, causing increased mutations upon exposure to sunlight.^[76] Such effects potentially increase the toxic risks associated with food additives.

10.18 Excipients in Pharmaceuticals and Vitamin and Mineral Preparations

Excipients are "inactive" ingredients in drugs and vitamin and mineral preparations. These compounds are considered to be inert, not affecting the intended functioning of the active ingredients. Excipients, which frequently constitute the majority of the mass or volume of oral preparations, have a variety of purposes that include

- Appearance
- Palatability
- Stability
- Affecting bioavailability
- Consistency.

Almost 800 chemicals have been approved by the FDA for use as inactive additives in drug products. Labeling regulations do not require that they be listed on product labels.^[77]

Excipients are not foods, but many are identical to chemicals used as food additives, leading to multiple sources and increasing doses when foods, prescription drugs, and/or over-the-counter medications containing them are ingested at the same time. Though excipients are extensively used in inhalational, parenteral, and ophthalmic medications, the consideration here is limited to ingestion. Effects of toxic inhalational, parenteral, and ophthalmic excipients are considered in the Chapters 18, 23, and 28.

Many excipients have been associated with adverse reactions in those ingesting drugs and vitamin/mineral formulations containing these compounds.^[78,79] Antioxidants (e.g., sodium sulfite, sodium and potassium bisulfites, and metabisulfites), bacterial preservatives (e.g., benzyl alcohol and benzalkonium chloride), artificial sweeteners (e.g., aspartame and saccharine), coloring agents (e.g., FD&C yellow #5, blue #2, and red #40), and propylene glycol. A few examples of the toxic effects of these follow.

10.18.1 Sulfites

Sulfites are widely used as antioxidants to prevent spoilage. Ingestion of these, however, have been shown to produce severe adverse reactions including wheezing, dyspnea, and chest tightness in those with known reactive airway disease.^[80,81]

10.18.2 Aspartame

Aspartame (described in Section 10.11) is used extensively in chewable and sugarfree drug formulations. The most common adverse effect attributed to aspartame use in drugs is headache.^[82] Aspartame ingestion in drugs has also been anecdotally linked to neuropsychiatric disorders including panic attacks, mood changes, visual hallucinations, and manic attacks.^[83,84]

10.18.3 Saccharin

Many liquid and solid oral drugs contain saccharin as a sweetener. Adverse effects resulting from pharmaceuticals include pruritus, urticaria, eczema, photosensitivity, prurigo, wheezing, nausea, diarrhea, tongue blister, tachycardia, headache, and sensory neuropathy.^[85–88]

10.18.4 Coloring Agents

Coloring agents are used in drugs to give recognizable identity to specific products and dosages and for appearance purposes. Several of these have been associated with adverse effects when used in drugs. FD&C yellow #5 (tartrazine), FD&C blue #2 (indigo carmine), and FD&C red #40 are known to produce acute bronchospasm and anaphylactoid reactions.^[89–91] Sunset yellow has been shown to be associated with abdominal pain, vomiting, and indigestion.^[92] Artificial food colors present in drugs have been related to hyperactivity in children.^[30,93]

The examples just given demonstrate the toxicities of some excipients. These additives, however, can also adversely affect the bioavailability of drugs.^[94] There is also evidence that adverse reactions that have been attributed to "active" constituents of drugs (e.g., erythromycin) may indeed have been to the excipients or to excipient/drug mixtures, rather than to the drug itself.^[95] Formulators of drugs are permitted to change the excipients incorporated into the drugs without testing or notification. Accordingly, some adverse effects attributed to drugs that have previously been tried and tested must be studied carefully before conclusions are reached.

10.19 Summary

Food supplies are contaminated with environmental pollutants, pesticides, growth hormones, and antibiotics. Foods are further impacted by additives

that are incorporated for aesthetic, manufacturing, and storing purposes, rather than for nutritional properties. As a result, people worldwide are constantly ingesting toxic xenobiotics of largely unknown composition.

Acute toxic events resulting from ingestion of food that has either been environmentally contaminated or prepared with toxic additives, such as those described in the preceding sections, are less common than chronic exposure effects. Ascribing particular toxic effects to specific agents is often complicated, given the complexity of most diets. Though examples of toxic mixture effects have been shown in the preceding text, most toxic effects of mixtures are difficult to identify. For example, the combined effects of BHA and BHT have been noted where both were known to have been ingested simultaneously. It is quite possible, even probable, that one would unknowingly eat two foods, one containing BHA and the other BHT, develop symptoms and not be able to identify the sources of the toxins. Also, some reactions to foods can easily be misunderstood. For example, some people report an allergic reaction to chocolate following its ingestion. Some so-called chocolate-containing products, however, contain no chocolate whatsoever, using extracts and synthetic components to simulate the chocolate taste. In such cases, the symptoms that ensue are responses to unidentified stimuli.

Adverse reactions to foods are not always attributable to any one food or even a mixture of ingredients in foods. Individuals can react to mixtures of xenobiotic chemicals arising from more than one food. Chemical A can be present in one food, whereas chemicals B or C or D, and so on, can come from other foods, with the mixture(s) forming after ingestion of combinations of foods. Toxic chemical mixtures can also arise from a combination of food ingestion and environmental exposure(s) to different molecular species.

Finally, it should be noted that reactions to xenobiotics can be idiosyncratic and functions of one's state of being or health, as discussed in Chapter 4.

References

- 1. Braune BM, Outridge PM, Fisk AT, et al. Persistent organic pollutants and mercury in marine biota of the Canadian Arctic: An overview of spatial and temporal trends. *Sci Total Environ* 2005; 351–2:4–56.
- Collins C, Fryer M, Grosso A. Plant uptake of non ionic organic chemicals. *Environ Sci Technol* 2006; 40(1):45–52.
- Esteve-Turrillas FA, Scott WC, Pastor A, Dean JR. Uptake and bioavailability of persistent organic pollutants by plants grown in contaminated soil. J Environ Monit 2005; 7(11):1093–8.

- 4. Sandanger TM, Brustad M, Sandau CD, Lund E. Levels of persistent organic pollutants (POPs) in a coastal northern Norwegian population with high fish-liver intake. *J Environ Monit* 2006; 8(5):552–7.
- 5. Bayen S, Wurl O, Karuppiah S, et al. Persistent organic pollutants in mangrove food webs in Singapore. *Chemosphere* 61(3):303–13.
- Schoeters G, Hoogenboom R. Contamination of free-range chicken eggs with dioxins and dioxin-like polychlorinated biphenyls. *Mol Nutr Food Res* 2006; 50(10):908–14.
- 7. Bayen S, Obbard JP, Thomas GO. Chlorinated parafins: A review of analysis and environmental occurrence. *Environ Int* 2006, 32(7):915–29.
- Weiss J, Papke O, Bergman A. A worldwide survey of polychlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins, dibenzofurans, and related contaminants in butter. *Ambio* 2005; 34(8):589–97.
- 9. Nickerson K. Environmental contaminants in breast milk. J Midwifery Womens Health 2006; 51(1):26–34.
- Furst P. Dioxins, polychlorinated biphenyls and other organohalogen compounds in human milk. Levels, correlations, trends and exposure during breastfeeding. *Mol Nutr Food Res* 2006; 50(10):922–33.
- 11. Li QQ, Loganath A, Chong YS, et al. Levels of persistent organic pollutant residues in human adipose and muscle tissues in Singapore. *J Toxicol Environ Health* 2006; 69(21):1927–37.
- 12. Evans MS, Muir D, Lockhart WL, et al. Persistent organic pollutants and mercury in the freshwater biota of the Canadian sub-Arctic and Arctic: An overview. *Sci Total Environ* 2005; 351–2:94–147.
- 13. Mahaffey KR, Mercury exposure: Medical and public health issues. *Trans Am Clin Climatol Assoc* 2005; 116:127–53.
- 14. Tsubaki T, Irukyama K (eds.), *Minamata disease*, Elsevier, Amsterdam, 1977.
- 15. Carta P, Flore C, Alinovi R, et al. Sub-clinical neurobehavioral abnormalities associated with low level of mercury exposure through fish consumption. *Neurotoxicology* 2002; 24(4–5):617–23.
- 16. Reyes-Herrera I, Schneider MJ, Cole K, et al. Concentrations of antibiotic residues vary between different edible muscle tissues in poultry. *J Food Prod* 2005; 68(10):2217–19.
- 17. Cabello FC. Heavy use of prophylactic antibiotics in aquaculture: A growing problem for human and animal health and for the environment. *Environ Microbiol* 2006; 8(7):1137–44.
- 18. Hoffman B, Karg H. Metabolic fate of anabolic agents in treated animals and residue levels in their meat. *Environ Qual Saf Suppl* 1976; (5):181–91.
- 19. Heintzman RJ. The effectiveness of anabolic agents in increasing rate of growth in farm animals; report on experiments in cattle. *Environ Qual Saf Suppl* 1976 (5):89–98.
- 20. Aravindakshan J, Gregory M, Marcogliese DJ, et al. Consumption of xenoestrogen-contaminated fish during lactation alters male reproductive function. *Toxicol Sci* 2004; 81(1):179–89.
- Andersson AM, Skakkebaek NE. Exposure to exogenous estrogens in food: Possible impact on human development and health. *Euro J Endocr* 1999; 140:477–85.

10: Food

- 22. Goldstein MC, Goldstein MA. *Controversies in food and nutrition*, Greenwood Press, Westport, CT, 2002.
- 23. Winter R. A consumer's dictionary of food additives, Three Rivers Press, New York, 2004.
- 24. The United States Federal Register, 21 CFR 184.1
- 25. U.S. Food and Drug Administration, EAFUS: A food additive database www.cfsan.fda.gov/~dms/eafus.html
- 26. Pohannish RP. Sittig's handbook of toxic and hazardous chemicals and carcinogens, Noyes/William Andrew, Norwich, NY, 2002.
- Noraberg J, Arlien-Sorborg P. Neurotoxic interactions of industrially used ketones. *Neurotoxicology* 2000; 21(3):409–18.
- 28. Feingold Inst. Artificial strawberry flavoring. www.feingold.org/strawberr.html
- 29. Mortensen B, Osvoll PO, Woldbaek T. In vitro screening for metabolic interactions among frequently occurring binary mixtures of volatile organic chemicals in Norwegian occupational atmosphere. *Pharmacol Toxicol* 1998; 83(2):49–56.
- 30. Feingold Inst. www.feingold.org
- Sinigaglia M, Reguly ML, de Andrade HH. Effect of vanillin on toxicantinduced mutations and mitotic recombination in proliferating somatic cells of Drosophila melanogaster. *Environ Mol Mutagen* 2004; 44(5):394–400.
- Oliva JM, Ballesteros I, Megro NJ, et al. Effect of binary combinations of selected toxic compounds on growth and fermentation of Kluyveromyces marxianus. *Biotechnol Prog* 2004; 20(3):715–20.
- Janbaz KH, Giliani AH. Potentiation of paracetamol and carbon tetrachlorideinduced hepatotoxicity in rodents by the food additive vanillin. *Food Chem Toxicol* 1999; 37(6):603–7.
- 34. Jansson T, Curvall M, Hedin A, Enzell CR. In vitro studies of the biological effects of cigarette smoke condensate. III. Induction of SCE by some phenolic and related constituents derived from cigarette smoke. A study of structure–activity relationships. *Mutat Res* 1988; 206(1):17–24.
- 35. Feingold BF. Dietary management of nystagmus. *J Neural Transm* 1979; 45(2):107–16.
- 36. American Academy of Pediatrics, Committee on Drugs. Interactive ingredients in pharmaceutical products: Update. *Pediatrics* 1997; 99(2):268–78.
- 37. Lancaster FE, Lawrence JF. Determination of benzidine in the food colours tartrazine and sunset yellow FCF, by reduction and derivatization followed by high-performance liquid chromatography. *Food Addit Contam* 1999; 16(9):381–90.
- 38. Price PJ, Suk WA, Freeman AE, et al. In vitro and in vivo indications of the carcinogenicity and toxicity of food dyes. *Int J Cancer* 1978; 21(3):361–7.
- 39. Olney JW. Excitotoxins in foods. Neurotoxicology 1994; 15(3):535-44.
- 40. Reif-Lehrer L. Possible significance of adverse reactions to glutamate in humans. *Fed Proc* 1976; 35(11):2205–11.
- 41. Scopp AL. MSG and hydrolyzed vegetable protein induced headache: Review and case studies. *Headache* 1991; 31(2):107–10.
- 42. Allen DH, Delohery J, Baker G. Monosodium L-glutamate-induced asthma. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 1987; 80(4):530–7.

- 43. Smith JD, Terpening CM, Schmidt SO, Gums JG. Relief of fibromyalgia symptoms following discontinuation of dietary excitotoxins. *Ann Pharmacother* 2001; 35(6):702–6.
- 44. Garriga MM, Metcalfe DD. Aspartame intolerance. Ann Allergy 1988; 61(6 Pt 2):63–9.
- 45. Hertelendy ZI, Mendenhall CL, Rouster SD, et al. Biochemical and clinical effects of aspartame in patients with chronic, stable alcoholic liver disease. *Am J Gastroenterol* 1993; 88(5):737–43.
- 46. Vences-Mejia A, Labra-Ruiz N, Hernandez-Martinez N, et al. The effect of aspartame on rat brain xenobiotic-metabolizing enzymes. *Hum Exp Toxicol* 2006; 25(8):453–9.
- 47. Rencuzogullari E, Tuylu BA, Topaktas M, et al. Genotoxicity of aspartame. *Drug Chem Toxicol* 2004; 27(3):257–68.
- 48. Soffritti M, Belpoggi F, Degli-Esposti D, et al. First experimental demonstration of the multipotential carcinogenic effects of aspartame administered in the feed to Sprague-Dawley rats. *Environ Health Perspect* 2006; 114(3):A176.
- 49. Lau K, McLean WG, Williams DP, Howard CV. Synergistic interactions between commonly used food additives in a developmental neurotoxicity test. *Toxicol Sci* 2006; 90(1):178–87.
- 50. Ash M, Ash I. *Handbook of food additives*, 2nd ed., Synapse Information Resources, Endicott, NY, 2002.
- 51. Fleming-Jones ME, Smith RE. Volatile organic compounds in foods: A five year study. *J Agric Food Chem* 2003; 51:8120–7.
- 52. Zeliger HI. Toxic effects of chemical mixtures. *Arch Environ Health* 2003; 58(1):23–9.
- 53. Grob K, Biedermann M, Scherbaum E. Food contamination with organic materials in perspective: Packaging materials as the largest and least controlled source? A view focusing on the European situation. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr* 2006; 46(7):529–35.
- Mak RK, O'Gorman-Lalor O, Croom A, Wakelin SH. An unusual case of latex allergy: Contact urticaria from natural rubber latex in chocolate bar wrappers. *Clin Exp Dermatol* 2005; 30(2):190–1.
- 55. Ogawa Y, Kawamra U, Wakui C, et al. Estrogenic activities of chemicals related to food contact plastics and rubbers tested by yeast two-hybrid assay. *Food Addit Contam* 2006; 23(4):422–30.
- 56. Schettler T. Human exposure to phthalates via consumer products. *Int J Androl* 2006; 29(1):134–9.
- 57. Lissen J, Reitsma H, Cozijnsen J. Static headspace gas chromatography of acetaldehyde in aqueous foods and polythene terephthalate. Z Lebensm Unters Forsch 1995; 201(3):253–5.
- Franz R, Mauer A, Welle F. European survey on post-consumer polyethylene terephthalate (PET) materials to determine contamination levels and maximum consumer exposure from food packages made from recycled PET. *Food Addit Contam* 2004; 21(3):265–86.
- 59. Fordham PJ, Gramshaw JW, Castle L. Analysis for organic residues from aids to polymerization used to make plastics intended for food contact. *Food Addit Contam* 2001; 18(5):461–71.

- 60. Castle L, Offen CP, Baxter MJ, Gilbert J. Migration studies from paper and board food packaging materials. 1. Compositional analysis. *Food Addit Contam* 1997; 14(1):35–44.
- 61. Begley TH, White K, Honigfort P, et al. Perfluorochemicals: Potential sources of and migration from food packaging. *Food Addit Contam* 2005; 22(10):1023–31.
- 62. McNeal TP, Hollifield HC. Determination of volatile chemicals released from microwave-heat-susceptor food packaging. *J AOAC Int* 1993; 76(6):1268–75.
- 63. Ashley BC, Birchfield PT, Chamberlain BV, et al. Health concerns regarding consumption of irradiated food. *Int J Hyg Environ Health* 2004; 207(6):493–504.
- 64. Sanchez-Bel P, Martinez-Madrid MC, Egea I, Romojaro F. Oil quality and sensory evaluation of almond (Prunus amygdalus stored after electron beam processing). *J Agric Food Chem* 2005; 53(7):2567–73.
- 65. Komolprasert V, McNeal TP, Begley TH. Effects of gamma- and electron beam irradiation on semi-rigid amorphous polyethylene terephthalate copolymers. *Food Addit Contam* 2003; 20(5):505–17.
- 66. Pelclova D, Urban P, Preiss J, et al. Adverse health effects in humans exposed to 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (TCDD). *Rev Environ Health* 2006; 21(2):119–38.
- 67. Sasaki YF, Kawaguchi S, Kamaya A, et al. The comet assay with 8 mouse organs: Results with 39 currently used food additives. *Mutat Res* 2002; 519(1–2):103–19.
- 68. Waddell WJ. Thresholds of carcinogenicity of flavors. *Toxicol Sci* 2002; 68(2):223–4.
- 69. Zeliger HI, Unexplained cancer clusters: Common threads. *Arch Environ Health* 59(4):172–6.
- 70. Siman CM, Ericsson UJ. Effect of butylated hydroxytoluene on alpha-tocopherol content in liver and adipose tissue of rats. *Toxicol Lett* 1996; 87(1–1):103–8.
- 71. Thompson DC, Trush MA. Studies on the mechanism of enhancement of butylated hydroxytoluene-induced mouse lung toxicity by butylated hydroxyanisole. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 1988; 96(1):122–31.
- 72. Thompson DC, Trush MA. The toxicological implications of the interaction of butylated hydroxytoluene with other antioxidants and phenolic chemicals. *Food Chem Toxicol* 1986; 24(10–11):1189–95.
- 73. Sarafian TA, Kouyoumjian S, Tashkin D, Roth MD. Synergistic cytotoxicity of delta(9)-tetrahydrocannabinol and butylated hydroxyanisole. *Toxicol Lett* 2002; 133(2–3):171–9.
- 74. Ozaki A, Yamaguchi Y, Fujita T, et al. Chemical analysis and genotoxicological safety assessment of paper and paperboard used for food packaging. *Food Chem Toxicol* 2004; 42(8):1323–37.
- 75. Bamforth KJ, Jones AL, Roberts RC, Coughtrie MW. Common food additives are potent inhibitors of human liver 17 alpha-ethinylestradiol and dopamine sulphotransferases. *Biochem Pharmacol* 1993; 46(10):1713–20.
- 76. Salih FM. Risk assessment of combined photogenotoxic effects of sunlight and food additives. *Sci Total Environ* 2006; 362(1–3):68–73.
- 77. Brown JL. Incomplete labeling of pharmaceuticals: A list of "inactive" ingredients. *N Engl J Med* 1983; 309:439–41.
- 78. American Academy of Pediatrics, Committee on Drugs. "Inactive" ingredients in pharmaceutical products: Update. *Pediatrics* 1997; 99(2):268–78.
- 79. Kumar A, Aitas At, Hunter AG, Beaman DC. Sweeteners, dues and other excipients in vitamin and mineral preparations. *Clin Pediatr (Phila)* 1996; 35(9):4432–50.
- 80. Schwartz HJ. Sensitivity to ingested metabisulfite: Variations in clinical presentations. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 1983; 71:487–9.
- 81. Towns SJ, Mellis CM. Role of acetyl salicylic acid and sodium metabisulfite in chronic childhood asthma. *Pediatrics* 1984; 73:631–7.
- 82. Schiffman SS, Buckley CE, Sampson HA. Aspartame and susceptibility to headache. *N Engl J Med* 1987; 317:1181–5.
- 83. Drake ME. Panic attacks and excessive aspartame ingestion. *Lancet* 1986; 2:631.
- 84. Walton RG. Seizure and mania after high intake of aspartame. *Psychosomatics* 1986; 27:218–20.
- 85. Gordon HH. Photosensitivity to saccharin. J Am Acad Dermatol 1983; 8:565.
- 86. Birbeck J. Saccharin-induced skin rashes. N Z Med J 1989; 102:24.
- 87. Gordon HH. Episodic urticaria due to saccharin ingestion. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1975; 56(1):78–9.
- 88. Gordon HH. Untoward reactions to saccharin. Cutis 1972; 10:77-81.
- 89. Stevenson DD, Simon RA, Lumry WR, Mathison DA. Adverse reactions to tartrazine. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 1986; 78:182–91.
- 90. Supramaniam G, Warner JO. Artificial food additive intolerance in patients with angio-oedema and urticaria. *Lancet* 1986; 2:907–9.
- 91. Koppel BS, Harden CL, Daras M. Tergitol excipient-induced allergy. Arch Neurol 1991; 48:789.
- 92. Gross PA, Lance K, Whitlock RJ, Blume RS. Additive allergy: Allergic gastroenteritis due to Yellow dye #6. *Ann Intern Med* 1989; 111:87–8.
- 93. Lockery SD, Sr. Hypersensitivity to tartrazine (FD&C Yellow No. 5) and other dyes and additives present in foods and pharmaceutical products. *Ann Allergy* 1977; 38:206–10.
- 94. Golightly LK, Smolinske SS, Bennett ML, et al. Pharmaceutical excipients. Adverse effects associated with inactive ingredients in drug products (Part I). *Med Toxicol Adverse Drug Exp* 1988; 3(2):128–65.
- 95. Napke E, Stevens DG. Excipients and additives: Hidden hazards in drug products and in product substitution. *Can Med Assoc J* 1984; 131(12):1449–52.

11.1 Introduction

People are exposed to numerous xenobiotics in and around the home. Many, if not most, of the exposures are to mixtures of chemicals. Chemical products that are used in the home are more likely to result in toxic exposures than those used in the workplace for three reasons:

- 1. People generally assume that the products marketed for home use are safe.
- 2. Warning requirements for consumer products are not as rigorous as those for industrial products and less attention is paid to such warnings.
- 3. Consumers, who are not required to be educated and trained on the safe use of toxic chemicals, as workers are, are more likely to abuse chemical products than commercial users. Such abuse includes eschewing the use of protective equipment and mixing chemicals together.

Home use exposures come from a wide variety of sources. These include the following categories:

- 1. Arts and crafts supplies
- 2. Automobiles and small engines
- 3. Cleaners and fresheners
- 4. Construction and maintenance materials
- 5. Fire retardants
- 6. Landscape and yard supplies
- 7. Personal care and cosmetic products
- 8. Pesticides
- 9. Pet care products.

The U.S. National Institute of Health has prepared a Household Products Database that provides toxicity information for a large number of household products. Included are product, ingredient, and material safety data sheet information for numerous individual products.^[1] Another source of such information is Home Safe Home by D.L. Dadd.^[2]

11.2 Arts and Crafts

Those engaged in arts and crafts activities use many different toxic chemicals. Table 11.1 contains a partial list of arts and crafts materials that contain toxic chemicals.

Toxic chemicals commonly contained in arts and crafts materials are listed in Table 11.2.^[3]

Most of the chemicals in Table 11.2 target the respiratory system and CNS. Exposures in arts and crafts use are almost always to mixtures of lipophilic and hydrophilic chemicals. When used in areas with poor air circulation (as is often the case in home use) the result can be unexpected acute toxicity.^[3] For example, it has been reported that exposure to formaldehyde and terpene hydrocarbons at very low levels unexpectedly produced dyspnea and other lower-lung symptoms in wood workers. The effects could not be attributed to either the formaldehyde or the terpenes alone at low levels of exposure.^[4] In another example, it was reported that chronic exposure to a combination of very low concentrations of MEK, ethyl acetate, and aliphatic hydrocarbons in a leather adhesive formulation induced unanticipated CNS effects.^[5] Some products that are considered by most

Table 11.1	Arts and	Crafts	Categories	that	Contain	Toxic	Chemicals
------------	----------	--------	------------	------	---------	-------	-----------

Adhesives
Candle-making materials
Ceramics
Cleaners
Collages
Dyes
Fixatives
Furniture finishes
Glass etchers
Glazings
Leather-working products
Marker pens
Paints
Plasters
Sealants
Soap-making chemicals
Solders
Stains
Varnishes

Table 11.2	Toxic Chemicals	Commonly	Contained in	Arts and	Crafts
Materials					

Acetone
Acrylic monomers and oligomers
Aliphatic hydrocarbons
Aromatic hydrocarbons (including toluene and xylene)
Ammonia
Chlorine
Dimethyl formamide (DMF)
Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO)
Ethyl benzene
Ethyl acetate
Ethyl alcohol
Formaldehyde
Isocyanates
Isopropyl alcohol
Methyl ethyl ketone
Methyl isobutyl ketone
Methylene chloride
Organic peroxides
Pigment dusts
1,1,1-Trichloroethane
Silica
Toluene
Xylene

to be benign contain toxic chemical mixtures. Marker pens contain mixtures of methanol, ethanol, propanols, butanols, butyl acetate, and methyl isobutyl ketone. Though such markers are labeled as "nontoxic," exposures to emissions from them have been shown to produce respiratory and neurological reactions in animals and humans, though the effects could not be attributed to any of the individual chemicals.^[6]

11.3 Automobiles and Small Engines

Gasoline-powered motors used in and around the home include automobiles, off-the-road vehicles, lawn mowers, electrical generators, boat motors, snowmobiles, motorcycles, and snow blowers. In addition to gasoline, these machines have many other toxic chemical containing products associated with their use. A representative list of these are listed in Table 11.3.

Antifreeze
Battery acid
Brake fluid
Cleaning compounds
Gasoline
Motor oil
Power steering fluid
Transmission fluid
Waxes

Table 11.3 Chemical Products Used in Automobiles and Other Gasoline-Powered Machines in and around the Home

A partial list of the chemicals contained in these products is given in Table 11.4.

Most of the chemicals listed produce vapors that target the respiratory system and the CNS. All are dangerous if ingested and all are irritating or corrosive to dermal and eye tissues.^[7] Mixtures of either alkalis or acids with lipophilic solvents (e.g., toluene, aliphatic hydrocarbons) produce enhanced burn effects.^[8] Skin and eyes exposed to chemicals that can burn

Table 11.4 Partial List of Toxic Chemicals Contained in Automobile and Small Engine Products

Aliphatic hydrocarbons Aromatic hydrocarbons (including benzene, toluene, and xylene) Carbon monoxide Diethyl ether Ethanol Ethylene glycol Formaldehyde Glycol ethers Methanol Polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) Silicones Sodium hydroxide Sulfuric acid Surfactants 1,1,1,2-Tetrafluoroethane require aggressive treatment, particularly where alkalis are involved, to prevent progressive burning.^[9] Home use of chemicals that cause burns is responsible for many hospital admissions for advanced burn treatment of eyes and skin. Mixtures of lipophiles and hydrophiles contained in Table 11.3 have been shown to produce unanticipated toxic effects. For example, mixtures of formaldehyde, ethanol, and aromatic hydrocarbons induce respiratory and neurotoxic effects in humans.^[10]

11.4 Cleaners and Fresheners

Large quantities of chemical products are used to clean, freshen, and disinfect homes. Table 11.5 shows a representative list of these products.

Toxic chemicals contained in cleaning, freshening, and disinfection products are listed in Table 11.6.

All the chemicals listed in Table 11.6, with the exception of surfactants, are volatile and attack the respiratory system upon inhalation. All readily defeat and attack the skin. It is not implied here that these products are

Table 11.5 Representative List of Chemical Products Used in the Home for	or
Cleaning, Freshening, and Disinfection	

Air fresheners
Antistatic sprays
Bleach
Carpet shampoos
Cleaners
Dish washing
Drain
Hard surface cleaners
Laundry detergents
Window cleaners
Degreasers
Disinfectants
Metal polishes
Quaternary ammonium salts
Spot and stain removers
Tile and grout cleaners
Waxes
Wood treatments

Acetone
Aliphatic hydrocarbons
Ammonia
Chlorine
Butanes
Glycol ethers
Hydrochloric acid
Methylene chloride
Monoethanol amine
Oxalic acid
Phosphoric acid
Sodium hydroxide
Sodium metasilicate
Sulfuric acid
Surfactants
Tetrachloroethylene
1,1,1-Trichloroethane

Table 11.6	Toxic Chemica	ls Contained in	Cleaning	Freshening	and
Disinfection	Products				

unsafe to use. The real dangers in these products arise when they are ingested or mixed. The following examples illustrate the dangers of mixing.

- 1. Drain cleaners are generally one of two types, sodium hydroxide or sulfuric acid. Numerous accidents have occurred when users have first applied one and, when it did not clear the drain, subsequently the other. The neutralization reaction of sodium hydroxide and sulfuric acid generates a large quantity of heat, sufficiently large enough to rapidly heat water present to its boiling point and result in a violent eruption. Numerous individuals have suffered eye and skin burns because of unreacted sodium hydroxide or sulfuric acid that has thus erupted.
- 2. Many people mix cleaners to their peril. Mixing of bleach (sodium hypochlorite) with ammonia results in the generation of mono-, di-, and tri-chloramines, as shown in Fig. 11.1.

Chloramines are toxic to the respiratory system, with asthma and chronic bronchitis resulting from repeated exposures.^[11,12] In an exposure event I investigated, a woman poured a mixture of ammonia and bleach into a toilet bowl. She experienced respiratory failure and eventually died when she inhaled the resultant fumes.

11: CHEMICALS IN AND AROUND THE HOME

 $NH_{3} + HCIO \longrightarrow NH_{2}CI + H_{2}O$ (1) $NH_{2}CI + HCIO \longrightarrow NHCI_{2} + H_{2}O$ (2) $NHCI_{2} + HCIO \longrightarrow NCI_{3} + H_{2}O$ (3)

Figure 11.1 Reaction of ammonia with free chlorine to produce chloramines.

11.5 Maintenance Materials

Construction and maintenance materials used by home residents are identical to those used commercially by safety-trained professionals. Whereas professional users are required to undergo training for the safe use of hazardous chemical products, home users are under no such constraint. As a result, people are exposed to numerous toxic exposures in the home. A representative list of products containing toxic chemicals that are regularly used in home maintenance projects is shown in Table 11.7.

Table 11.7	Home Use	Maintenance	Products	Containing	Toxic	Chemicals
------------	----------	-------------	----------	------------	-------	-----------

Adhesives
Blacktop sealants
Caulks
Fertilizers
Joint compounds
Lacquers
Lubricants
Paint thinners
Paints
Particle board
Pigment powders
Pipe cements
Plasters
Plywood
Polyvinyl chloride
Portland cements
Sealants
Septic tank additives
Swimming pool chemicals
Varnishes

A representative list of toxic chemicals contained in home use maintenance products are listed in Table 11.8.

Most household maintenance products contain mixtures of lipophiles and hydrophiles that can produce unanticipated toxic effects. Irritant-induced asthma is an example of such an effect. Solvent-based and waterborne paints contain solvents that are nonsensitizing irritants that are individually not known to induce asthma. Despite this, exposures to both types of paints have been shown to cause the asthma-like condition reactive airways dysfunction syndrome (RADS).^[13,14] RADS is discussed in detail in Chapter18.

11.6 Brominated Flame Retardants (BFRs)

BFRs are compounds widely used to impart fire retardant properties to textiles, plastics and electronic equipment. They are incorporated into many household products including children's pajamas, upholstery fabrics, polyurethane foams (furniture cushion padding), construction materials, electrical equipment, and personal computers.

BFRs currently in use include

- Tetrabromobisphenol-A (TBBTA)
- Hexabromocyclododecane (HBCD)

Table 11.8 Representative List of Toxic Chemicals Contained in Home Use Maintenance Products

Alkalis
Aliphatic hydrocarbons
Amine epoxy catalysts
Ammonia
Chlorine
Dibutyl phthalate (and other phthalates)
Ethylene glycol
Formaldehyde
Glycol ethers
Methylene chloride
Polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs)
Styrene
1,1,1-Trichloroethane
Toluene
Toluene diisocyanate (and other isocyanates)
Xylene

11: CHEMICALS IN AND AROUND THE HOME

- Polybrominatedbiphenyls (PBBs)
- Polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs).

These compounds serve as flame retardants because the relatively weak carbon–bromine bonds in them are readily broken when heated. Thermal energy releases bromine radicals that couple with carbon radicals produced in fires to decrease flame sizes, thereby reducing heat and lowering carbon monoxide production.^[15] They are similar in structure to PCBs and are resistant to environmental degradation.

The PBDEs are of particular concern. They are incorporated into polymer matrices, but are not covalently bonded and readily leach out of substrates holding them. These compounds are similar in structure to PCBs, are persistent organic polluters (POPs), and are resistant to environmental degradation and metabolism. They can be absorbed via inhalation, ingestion, and dermal contact. The less-brominated PBDE species (tetra-, penta-, and hexa- moieties) have been found in human blood, adipose tissue, and breast milk. These bioaccumulate in human adipose tissues.^[16]

Many PBDE mixtures are banned by the European Union, but are still in use in the United States. As a result, PBDE levels in breast milk from North American mothers is at least an order of magnitude higher than that in breast milk from European women.^[17]

PBDEs are estrogen disruptors and neurotoxins. They are believed to cause thyroid and neurodevelopmental effects. Short-term exposure to PBDEs interferes with thyroid function and disrupts hormonal balance.^[18] Additive thyrotoxic effects were observed when PBDEs were administered to laboratory animals with PCBs or chlorinated hydrocarbons.^[19] PBDE exposure has been linked to neurodevelopmental dysfunctions in children and young adults.^[20,21] Administration of PBDE to 10-day-old laboratory animals resulted in impaired spontaneous motor behavior, affected learning and memory, and permanent behavioral effects.^[21] In vitro exposure of PBDE to human breast cancer cells demonstrated estrogenic potencies.^[22]

PBDEs are alleged human carcinogens. Several studies have demonstrated an association between adipose tissue PBDE levels and non-Hodgkin's lymphoma.^[23,24]

Studies on the effects of mixtures of PBDEs and other toxicants are sparse. A recent study, however, has demonstrated that PBDE affects the cholinergic system and might be expected to interact with other environmental toxins.^[25]

11.7 Personal Care and Cosmetic Products

Many personal care and cosmetic products contain toxic chemicals. Categories of products containing toxicants are listed in Table 11.9.

A partial list of the toxic chemicals contained in the products listed in Table 11.8 is shown in Table 11.10.

In addition to those listed in Table 11.9, a large number of the chemicals listed on the FDA GRAS, and EAFUS lists (see Section 10.7) are also contained in personal care and cosmetic products. Cosmetic products in particular have come under close scrutiny in the European Union, which has far more stringent labeling requirements than those in the United States.

Many cosmetics are formulated with inorganic and organic compounds that are toxic to skin and eyes when inhaled or ingested. Some of these compounds, for example, propylene glycol, have been identified as sensitizers following long-term exposure.^[26] Formaldehyde, BHA, phenolphthalein, potassium dichromate, and lead acetate are considered to be carcinogenic.^[27] Lithium carbonate and toluene are teratogens.^[27] Dibutyl phthalate affects reproduction.^[27] Pigments comprised of inorganic minerals and organic binders, organic dyes (e.g., azo dyes), and fragrances are known to cause allergic contact dermatitis upon skin contact.^[28] Hair treatment products contain several sensitizing compounds (including ammonium thioglycolate)^[29] and corrosives (such as sodium hydroxide).^[27]

Bath and shower soaps and cleaners	
Eye, facial, and body makeup	
Fragrances	
Hair care	
Hair colorants	
Hair loss treatments	
Hormonal creams	
Lip balms	
Nail care	
Oral hygiene	
Shampoos	
Skin care	
Sunscreen	

Table 11.9 Personal Care and Cosmetic Products Containing Toxic Chemicals

Aliphatic hydrocarbons Ammonium, sodium, and potassium thioglycolates
Ammonium, sodium, and potassium thioglycolates
BHA
BHT
Artificial food colors (FD&C colorants)
Artificial sweeteners (aspartame and saccharine)
Benzophenone
Carboxylic acids
Cetyl alcohol
Dibutyl phthalate
Ethanol
Formaldehyde
Fragrances compounds (see Table 11.11)
Hydrogen peroxide
Lead acetate
Lithium carbonate
Metal oxides
Methyl and propyl paraben
Organic peroxides
Phenacetin
Phenolphthalein
Polyethylene glycol
Polymers
Potassium dichromate
Propylene glycol
Quaterium ammonium salts
Surfactants (sodium lauryl sulfate and other ionic and nonionic species)
Thioglycolates
Toluene

Table 11.10 Partial List of Toxic Chemicals Contained in Personal Care and Cosmetic Products

Chemical mixtures in cosmetics give rise to enhanced toxicity, low level toxicity, and unexpected target organ attack. Cosmetic products are composed of many lipophilic and hydrophilic chemicals. Numerous instances of "strange" injuries, including chemical burns and skin and respiratory sensitization from the use of cosmetic products, have been documented in which the injuries sustained could not be accounted for by a consideration of the individual chemicals involved.^[30]

The exact chemical composition of fragrances need not be identified under FDA regulations in the United States. The EU Seventh Amendment regulation, however, requires the labeling of fragrance ingredients that can cause allergic reactions, contact dermatitis, or asthma in sensitized users.^[31] Currently, 26 fragrance ingredients require such labeling. These are listed in Table 11.11.

No such federal regulation is currently in force in the United States, though the California Safe Cosmetics Act of 2005 requires the identification and labeling of toxic chemicals in cosmetics.

EU regulations also ban the use of three classes of toxic chemicals that either

- 1. pose risks of cancer,
- 2. cause endocrine (hormonal) or reproductive disturbances, or
- 3. cause genetic damage.

The California Safe Cosmetics Act of 2005 does not ban such chemicals, but requires their labeling on cosmetic products sold after January 1, 2007. The California regulation derives the list of cosmetic chemicals requiring labeling from its Proposition 65 (PROP 65) list of approximately 750 chemicals known to cause cancer or reproductive toxicity.^[32] A partial list of the PROP 65 listed used in cosmetics is given in Table 11.12.

Amyl cinnamal	Benzyl alcohol
Cinnamyl alcohol	Citral
Eugenol	Hydroxycitonellal
Iso eugenol	Amylcinnamyl alcohol
Benzyl salicylate	Cinnamal
Courmarin	Geraniol
Hydroxyisohexyl-3-cyclohexene	Carboxyaldehyde
Anise alcohol	Benzyl cinnamate
Farnesol	Butyl methylpropianal
Linalool	Benzyl benzoate
Citronellol	Hexyl cinnemal
d-Limonene	Methyl-2-octynoate
Alpha-isomethyl lonone	Evernia prunastri extract

 Table 11.11 Fragrance Ingredients that Cause Allergic Reactions, Contact

 Dermatitis, or Asthma in Sensitized Individuals that Require Labeling

11: CHEMICALS IN AND AROUND THE HOME

Acid blue #3Acid yellow #3AcrylamideBHACoal tarDibutyl phthalateD&C blue #6DiethanolamineDimethyl amineEthyl acrylateFD&C red #3FormaldehydeHexachloropheneIodineLead acetateLidocaineLithium carbonateMercuryPetroleumPhenacetinPhenolphthaleinTetrahydrozoline HCISelenium sulfideTalcTolueneZirconium silicate	
Acid yellow #3AcrylamideBHACoal tarDibutyl phthalateD&C blue #6DiethanolamineDimethyl amineEthyl acrylateFD&C red #3FormaldehydeHexachloropheneIodineLead acetateLidocaineLithium carbonateMercuryPetroleumPhenacetinPhenolphthaleinTetrahydrozoline HClSelenium sulfideTalcTolueneZirconium silicate	Acid blue #3
AcrylamideBHACoal tarDibutyl phthalateD&C blue #6DiethanolamineDimethyl amineEthyl acrylateFD&C red #3FormaldehydeHexachloropheneIodineLead acetateLidocaineLithium carbonateMercuryPetroleumPhenacetinPhenolphthaleinTetrahydrozoline HClSelenium sulfideTalcTolueneZirconium silicate	Acid yellow #3
BHACoal tarDibutyl phthalateD&C blue #6DiethanolamineDimethyl amineEthyl acrylateFD&C red #3FormaldehydeHexachloropheneIodineLead acetateLidocaineLithium carbonateMercuryPetroleumPhenacetinPhenolphthaleinTetrahydrozoline HClSelenium sulfideTalcTolueneZirconium silicate	Acrylamide
Coal tar Dibutyl phthalate Dibutyl phthalate D&C blue #6 Diethanolamine Dimethyl amine Ethyl acrylate FD&C red #3 Formaldehyde Hexachlorophene Iodine Lead acetate Lidocaine Lidocaine Lithium carbonate Mercury Petroleum Phenacetin Phenolphthalein Tetrahydrozoline HCl Selenium sulfide Talc Toluene Zirconium silicate	BHA
Dibutyl phthalate D&C blue #6 Diethanolamine Dimethyl amine Ethyl acrylate FD&C red #3 Formaldehyde Hexachlorophene Iodine Lead acetate Lidocaine Lithium carbonate Mercury Petroleum Phenacetin Phenacetin Phenolphthalein Tetrahydrozoline HCl Selenium sulfide Talc Toluene Zirconium silicate	Coal tar
D&C blue #6 Diethanolamine Dimethyl amine Ethyl acrylate FD&C red #3 Formaldehyde Hexachlorophene Iodine Lead acetate Lidocaine Lithium carbonate Mercury Petroleum Phenacetin Phenacetin Phenolphthalein Tetrahydrozoline HCl Selenium sulfide Talc Toluene Zirconium silicate	Dibutyl phthalate
Diethanolamine Dimethyl amine Ethyl acrylate FD&C red #3 Formaldehyde Hexachlorophene Iodine Lead acetate Lidocaine Lidocaine Lithium carbonate Mercury Petroleum Phenacetin Phenacetin Phenolphthalein Tetrahydrozoline HCl Selenium sulfide Talc Toluene	D&C blue #6
Dimethyl amine Ethyl acrylate FD&C red #3 Formaldehyde Hexachlorophene Iodine Lead acetate Lidocaine Lithium carbonate Mercury Petroleum Phenacetin Phenacetin Phenolphthalein Tetrahydrozoline HCl Selenium sulfide Talc Toluene	Diethanolamine
Ethyl acrylate FD&C red #3 Formaldehyde Hexachlorophene Iodine Lead acetate Lidocaine Lithium carbonate Mercury Petroleum Phenacetin Phenolphthalein Tetrahydrozoline HCl Selenium sulfide Talc Toluene	Dimethyl amine
FD&C red #3 Formaldehyde Hexachlorophene Iodine Lead acetate Lidocaine Lithium carbonate Mercury Petroleum Phenacetin Phenolphthalein Tetrahydrozoline HCl Selenium sulfide Talc Toluene Zirconium silicate	Ethyl acrylate
Formaldehyde Hexachlorophene Iodine Lead acetate Lidocaine Lithium carbonate Mercury Petroleum Phenoleum Phenacetin Phenolphthalein Tetrahydrozoline HCl Selenium sulfide Talc Toluene Zirconium silicate	FD&C red #3
Hexachlorophene Iodine Lead acetate Lidocaine Lithium carbonate Mercury Petroleum Phenolehthalein Phenolphthalein Tetrahydrozoline HCl Selenium sulfide Talc Toluene Zirconium silicate	Formaldehyde
Iodine Lead acetate Lidocaine Lithium carbonate Mercury Petroleum Phenacetin Phenolphthalein Tetrahydrozoline HCl Selenium sulfide Talc Toluene Zirconium silicate	Hexachlorophene
Lead acetate Lidocaine Lithium carbonate Mercury Petroleum Phenacetin Phenolphthalein Tetrahydrozoline HCl Selenium sulfide Talc Toluene Zirconium silicate	Iodine
Lidocaine Lithium carbonate Mercury Petroleum Phenoleum Phenolphthalein Tetrahydrozoline HCl Selenium sulfide Talc Toluene Zirconium silicate	Lead acetate
Lithium carbonate Mercury Petroleum Phenacetin Phenolphthalein Tetrahydrozoline HCl Selenium sulfide Talc Toluene Zirconium silicate	Lidocaine
Mercury Petroleum Phenacetin Phenolphthalein Tetrahydrozoline HCl Selenium sulfide Talc Toluene Zirconium silicate	Lithium carbonate
Petroleum Phenacetin Phenolphthalein Tetrahydrozoline HCl Selenium sulfide Talc Toluene Zirconium silicate	Mercury
Phenacetin Phenolphthalein Tetrahydrozoline HCl Selenium sulfide Talc Toluene Zirconium silicate	Petroleum
Phenolphthalein Tetrahydrozoline HCl Selenium sulfide Talc Toluene Zirconium silicate	Phenacetin
Tetrahydrozoline HCl Selenium sulfide Talc Toluene Zirconium silicate	Phenolphthalein
Selenium sulfide Talc Toluene Zirconium silicate	Tetrahydrozoline HCl
Talc Toluene Zirconium silicate	Selenium sulfide
Toluene Zirconium silicate	Talc
Zirconium silicate	Toluene
	Zirconium silicate

Table 11.12	Partial List of Chemicals Used in Cosmetics R	equiring
Labeling und	ler the California Safe Cosmetics Act of 2005	

Allergic contact dermatitis (ACD) is related to cosmetic contact in many instances.^[33–35] ACD has been shown to arise from contact with different types of cosmetic products. These include

- 1. perfumes and their ingredients, for example, benzaldehyde, cinnamic aldehyde, linalool, and terpenes;^[36,37]
- polymers, for example, polyvinylpyrrollidone/hexadecende copolymer in lipstick^[38] and phthalic anhydride/trimellitic anhydride/ glycols copolymer in nail polish;^[39]
- 3. preservatives, for example, *p*-chloro-*m*-xylenol used in cosmetics and as an active ingredient in antimicrobial soaps;^[40]

4. surfactants, for example, cocamidopropyl betaine, commonly used in rinse-off cosmetic products.^[41]

Mixtures play a large role in personal care and cosmetic product toxicities. Several studies illustrate this.

- 1. Sodium myristoyl sarcosinate and sodium myristoate alone do not cause ACD, yet a mixture of the two chemicals does.^[42]
- 2. Coumarin is a component of cosmetics and fragrances for which conflicting results have been reported regarding its propensity to induce contact allergy. A careful study has shown that pure coumarin does not exhibit irritant or sensitizing properties. It only exhibits toxic properties when contaminated with impurities.^[43]
- 3. Dexpanthenol (the alcohol corresponding to vitamin B₅) and cocamidopropyl PB dimonium chloride phosphate (a phospholipid derived from coconut oil) are common ingredients in many cosmetics and soaps that individually are not known to cause ACD. Mixed together in a facial hydrating lotion, however, they have been shown to produce ACD.^[44]
- 4. Photoallergic responses to sunscreen products represent an area where chemical components not known to produce dermal allergic responses are activated by solar radiation to produce ACD.^[45,46] It is hypothesized here that in these instances, electromagnetic radiation may activate the skin to adsorb and/or absorb species that do not so react without the incident radiation. Alternatively, the molecular species themselves are excited by the radiation to molecular states that make them more reactive to skin. Chemicals exhibiting photoallergic contact dermatitis include oxybenzone, butyl methoxy dibenzoylmethane, methoxycinnamate, and benzophenone—all molecules that are readily photoexcited.^[45]
- 5. Fragrance products (cologne and toilet water) containing mixtures of aldehydes, esters, terpenes, and carboxylic acids were found to induce acute respiratory and neurotoxic effects in laboratory animals. These effects were not predicted from a consideration of the toxicities of the individual chemicals in the amounts present.^[47]

11.8 Pesticides

Pesticides are used in and around the home in numerous ways. Table 11.13 contains a representative list of products containing pesticides.

The toxicities of pesticides are discussed in detail in Chapter 14.

Animal repellents
Animal shampoos
Flea and tick control products
Fly sprays for horses
Fumigants
Fungicides
Herbicides
Insect repellents
Insecticides
Rodenticides

Table 11.13 Household Products Containing Pesticides

11.9 Other Mixture-Containing Products

The sources of xenobiotics discussed in the preceding sections are the most prevalent ones. There are numerous others, however. Building materials of construction and furnishings are sources of respiratory, nervous system, and dermal toxins. These are discussed in detail in Chapter 12. Tobacco smoke is responsible for many health effects in man, to both smokers and nonsmokers who are exposed to its toxins. The effects of tobacco smoke are discussed in detail in Chapter 17.

Air fresheners emit aliphatic and aromatic hydrocarbons, ethyl butyrate, *m*-methoxybenzaldehyde *N*-methylformamide, and other compounds that together are pulmonary irritants and induce behavioral abnormalities.^[48]

Mattress covers emit mixtures of aromatic hydrocarbons, TCE, and phenol, the mixture of which induces acute respiratory effects including asthma-like reactions.^[49] Similar effects are observed with emissions from disposable diapers.^[50] though such responses are not predicted from the measured concentrations of the chemicals.

11.10 Summary

Exposures to single toxic chemicals in and around the house produce many well-known identifiable effects in people. An example of such an effect is respiratory irritation following inhalation of chlorine bleach fumes. Often, individuals develop clinical symptoms that are associated with mixtures of chemicals, for example, headache and dizziness following inhalation of paint fumes containing toluene and glycol ethers. At times, people react acutely or chronically to unknown stimulants. In such cases, it is hypothesized that unidentified mixtures are often the causative agents. Such toxic mixtures can arise from mixtures of two or more household products as well as from the mixture of household chemicals with chemicals from foods, outdoor air pollutants, water pollutants, or industrial chemicals that are carried into the home on the clothing of workers. In many of these mixture exposure instances, the health effects cannot be attributed to any of the individual chemicals present, but produce distinct clinically defined symptoms.

References

- 1. National Institutes of Health, National Library of Medicine. Household products database, http://householdproducts.nlm.nih.gov/products.htm
- 2. Dadd, DL. Home safe home, Jeremy P. Tarcher/Penguin, New York, 2004.
- 3. Zeliger HI, Zeliger DE. Danger: Artist at work. *Chem Health Safety* 1994: 18–19.
- 4. Alexandersson R, Kolmodin-Hedman B. Exposure to formaldehyde: Effects on pulmonary function. *Arch Environ Health* 1982; 37(5):279–84.
- Mutti A, Cavatorta A, Lommi G, et al. Neurophysiological effects of long-term exposure to hydrocarbon mixtures. *Arch Toxicol* 1982; (Suppl 5): 120–4.
- Anderson RC, Anderson JH. Acute toxicity of marking pen emissions. J Toxicol Environ Health 2003; (Part A) 66:829–45.
- Mozingo DW, Smith AA, McManus WF, et al. Chemical burns. J Trauma 1988; 28(5):642–7.
- 8. Shibata K, Yoshita Y, Matsumoto H. Extensive chemical burns from toluene. *Am J Energ Med* 1994; 12(3):353–5.
- 9. Andrews K, Mowlavi A, Milner SM. The treatment of alkali burns of the skin by neutralization. *Plast Reconstr Surg* 2003; 111(6):1918–21.
- 10. Zelgier HI, Toxic effects of chemical mixtures. *Arch Environ Health* 2003; 58(1):23–9.
- 11. Medina-Ramon M, Zock JP, Kogevinas M, et al. Asthma, chronic bronchitis, and exposure to irritant agents in occupational domestic cleaning. *Occup Environ Health* 2005; 62:598–606.
- 12. Thickett KM, McCoach JS, Gerber JM, et al. Occupational asthma caused by chloramines in indoor swimming-pool air. *Eur Respir J* 2002; 19:827–32.
- Brooks SM, Weiss MA, Bernstein IL. Reactive airways dysfunction syndrome (RADS). Persistent asthma syndrome after high level exposure. *Chest* 1985; 88(3):376–84.
- 14. Brooks, SM, Hammad Y, Richards I, et al. The spectrum of irritant-induced asthma. *Chest* 1998; 113(1):42–9.
- 15. Siddiqi MA, Laessig RH, Reed KD. Polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs): New pollutants-old diseases. *Clin Med Res* 2003; 1(4):281–90.

11: CHEMICALS IN AND AROUND THE HOME

- 16. Sjodin A, Patterson DG, Jr, Bergman A. A review on human exposure to brominated flame retardants—particularly polybrominated diphenyl ethers. *Environ Int* 2003; 29:829–39.
- 17. Hites RA. Polybrominated diphenyl ethers in the environment and people: A meta analysis of concentrations. *Environ Sci Technol* 38:945–56.
- Fowles JR, Fairbrother A, Baecher-Steppan A, et al. Immunologic and endocrine effects of the flame retardant pentabromodiphenyl ether (PBDE-71) in C57BL/J mice. *Toxicology* 1994; 86:49–61.
- 19. Hallgren S, Darnerud PO. Effects of polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) and chlorinated paraffins (CPs) on thyroid hormone levels and enzyme activities in rats. *Organohalogen Compd* 1998; 35:391–4.
- Hooper K, McDonald TA. The PBDEs: An emerging environmental challenge and another reason for breast milk monitoring programs. *Environ Health Perspect* 2000; 108:387–92.
- 21. Eriksson P, Jakobsson E, Fredricksson A. Brominated flame retardants: A novel class of developmental neurotoxicants in our environment? *Environ Health Perspect* 2001; 109:903–8.
- 22. Meerts IATM, Letcher RJ, Hoving S, et al. In vitro estrogenicity of polybrominated diphenyl ethers, hydroxylated PBDEs and polybrominated bisphenol A compounds. *Environ Health Perspect* 2001; 109:399–407.
- 23. Hardell L, LindstromG, van Bevel B, et al. Do flame retardants increase the risk of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma? The levels of polybrominated diphenyl ethers are increasing in the environment. *Lakartidningen* 1998; 95:5890–3.
- 24. Helleday T, Tuominen KL, Bergman A, Jenssen D. Brominated flame retardants induce recombination in mammalian cells. *Mutat Res* 1999; 439:137–47.
- 25. Viberg H, Fredricksson A, Ericksson P. Neonatal exposure to the brominated flame retardant 2,2',4,4',5-pentabromodiphenyl ether caused altered susceptibility in the cholinergic transmitter system in the adult mouse. *Toxicol Sci* 2002; 67(1):104–7.
- 26. LaKind JS, McKenna EA, Hubner RP, Tardiff RG. A review of the comparative mammalian toxicity of ethylene glycol and propylene glycol. *Crit Rev Toxicol* 1999; 29(4):331–65.
- 27. Pohanish RP (ed.). *Sittig's handbook of toxic and hazardous chemicals and carcinogens*, 4th ed., Noyes, Norwich, NY, 2002.
- 28. Saxena M, Warshaw E, Ahmed DD. Eyelid allergic contact dermatitis to black iron oxide. *Am J Contact Dermat* 2001; 12(1):38–9.
- 29. Morrison LH, Storrs FJ. Persistence of an allergen in hair after glyceryl monothioglycolate-containing permanent wave solutions. *J Am Acad Dermat* 1988; 19(1) Part 1:52–9.
- 30. Zeliger HI, *Toxicity of cosmetics: Regulatory requirements*. Presented at First Annual HBA Regulatory Summit, New York, 2006.
- 31. European Union. Consolidated cosmetics directive. http://ec.europa.eu/ enterprise/cosmetics/html/consolidated_dir.htm
- 32. California Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment. Proposition 65. www.oehha.ca.gov/prop65.html

- 33. Kohl L, Blondeel A, Song M. Allergic contact dermatitis from cosmetics. Retrospective analysis of 819 patch-tested patients. *Dermatology* 2002; 204(4):334–7.
- 34. Biebl KA, Warshaw EM. Allergic contact dermatitis to cosmetics. *Dermatol Clin* 2006; 24(2):215–32.
- 35. Tomar J, Jain VK, Aggarwal K, et al. Contact allergies to cosmetics: Testing with 52 cosmetic ingredients and personal products. *J Dermatol* 2005; 32(12):951–5.
- 36. Schubert HJ. Skin diseases in workers at a perfume factory. *Contact Dermatitis* 2006; 55(2):81–3.
- 37. Johansen JD, Rastogi SC, Menne T. Contact allergy to popular perfumes; assessed by patch test, use test and chemical analysis. *Br J Dermatol* 1996; 135(3):419–22.
- Quartier S, Garmyn N, Becart S, Goossens A. Allergic contact dermatitis to copolymers in cosmetics—case report and review of the literature. *Contact Dermatitis* 2006; 55(5):257–67.
- 39. Moffitt DL, Sansom JE. Allergic contact dermatitis from phthalic anhydride/ trimellitic anhydride/glycols copolymer in nail polish. *Contact Dermatitis* 2002; 46(4):236.
- 40. Berthelot C, Zirwas MJ. Allergic contact dermatitis to chloroxylenol. *Dermatitis* 2006; 17(3):156–9.
- 41. Raz O, Slodownik D, Ingber A. Allergic contact dermatitis to cocamidopropyl betaine among Israeli patients with cosmetic allergy. *Harefuah* 145(7):486–8.
- 42. Malanin KE. Allergic contact dermatitis caused by a mixture of sodium myristoyl sarconsinate and sodium myristoate in a cosmetic product. *Contact Dermatitis* 2002; 47(1):50.
- 43. Vocanson M, Goujon C, Chabeau G, et al. The skin allergenic properties of chemicals may depend on contaminants—evidence from studies on coumarin. *Int Arch Allergy Immunol* 2006; 140(3):231–8.
- 44. Roberts H, Williams J, Tate B. Allergic contact dermatitis to panthenol and cocamidopropyl PG dimonium chloride phosphate in a facial hydrating cream. *Contact Dermatitis* 2006; 55(6):369–70.
- 45. Cook N, Freeman S. Report of 19 cases of photoallergic contact dermatitis to sunscreens seen at the Skin and Cancer Foundation. *Australas J Dermatol* 2001; 42(4):257–9.
- 46. Scheuer E, Warshaw E. Sunscreen allergy: A review of epidemiology, clinical characteristics, and responsible allergens. *Dermatitis* 2006; 17(1):3–11.
- 47. Anderson RC, Anderson JH. Acute toxic effects of fragrance products. *Arch Environ Health* 1998; 53(2):138–46.
- 48. Anderson RC, Anderson JH. Toxic effects of air freshener emissions. *Arch Environ Health* 1997; 52(6):433–41.
- 49. Anderson RC, Anderson JH. Respiratory toxicity in mice exposed to mattress covers. *Arch Environ Health* 1999; 54(3):202–9.
- 50. Anderson RC, Anderson JH. Acute respiratory effects of diaper emissions. *Arch Environ Health* 1999; 54(5):353–8.

12.1 Introduction

Sick building syndrome (SBS) is a term that connotes different meanings. Originally used to infer a broad range of respiratory and CNS symptoms and environmental discomfort,^[1] it now generally denotes mucous membrane irritation (including nose, throat, and eye irritation), respiratory discomfort (including chest discomfort), skin symptoms (including itching, dryness, and erythema), sensory irritation (primarily odor) and other symptoms. "Sick" buildings are most commonly office structures, but other buildings, including warehouses, stores, and peoples' homes, can also be places where SBS is found.

SBS has been associated with airborne biological and chemical components, including bioaerosols, VOCs released from building materials and furnishings, personal use products (e.g., perfumes), and environmental tobacco smoke.^[2]

12.2 Sick Building Syndrome Symptoms

Many studies have been carried out to identify the symptoms associated with SBS. References^[3–6] are representative of these. Table 12.1 was compiled from these and other sources as well as from the experiences of this writer with SBS. It should be noted that the symptoms listed in Table 12.1 are composites of many reports. All are not found at any one site. Also, though the symptoms are those self-reported by the occupants of the "sick" buildings surveyed, they have been given credence because multiple individuals, often without contact with one another, have reported identical symptoms.

12.3 Contributory Sources of Sick Building Syndrome

Buildings that are tightly insulated or hermetically sealed to retain heating or cooling often have limited air exchanges and retain pollutants that are released into the air. Many building components and products used in buildings are sources of SBS producing symptoms.^[7] Table 12.2 contains a list of these.

 Table 12.1 Symptoms Associated with Sick Building Syndrome

Carpeting
Cigarette smoke
Cleaning solvents
Combustion of fuel
Copier solvents
Dust mites
Fiberboard
Fiberglass
Furnishings
Infectious agents
Lead
Molds and mildew
Paints
Paper products
Personal care products
Pesticides
Plastics
Plywood
Resins

Table	12.2	Sources	of	Sick	Building	Syndrome
-------	------	---------	----	------	-----------------	----------

12.4 Volatile Organic Compounds in Buildings

Buildings that are tightly insulated or hermetically sealed to retain heating or cooling often have limited air exchanges and retain VOCs that are released into building interiors by materials of construction, furnishings, adhesives, paints, cleaners, combustion fumes, copier toners, and personal products. VOCs can also enter building interiors from outdoor sources such as air conditioning intakes. Approximately 1000 different VOCs have been identified in indoor air.^[8–10] Table 12.3 contains a partial list of these.

12.5 Paint

Paints currently used for indoor application are now almost exclusively waterborne. Most of these fall into the following categories:^[11]

- Acrylic latex paint (flat and semi-gloss)
- Latex enamel

А	cetic acid
А	cetone
А	crylamide
А	crylonitrile
А	mmonia
А	niline
В	enzene
2-	Butanone
2-	Butoxyethanol
n	-Butyl acetate
n	Butyl acrylate
2-	Butyloctanol
С	arbon monoxide
С	hloroform
С	yclohexane
D	ichlorobenzenes
1,	1-Dichloroethane
D	imethyl phenols
D	ecane
1-	Decene
D	odecane
E	thoxyethyl acetate
E	thyl acetate
E	thyl benzene
E	thylene oxide
F	ormaldehyde
Η	eptane
n	Hexanal
n-	Hexane
1.	Hexanol
3-	-Methyl-2-butanone
4-	-Methyl-2-pentanone
N	lethacrylic acid
M	Iethylene chloride
Ν	aphthalene
n	Nonane
n	Octane
1-	Octene
n	Pentanal
n	Pentane
a	Pinene

Table 12.3 Partial List of VOCs Found in Indoor Air

Styrene
Tetrachloroethylene
Toluene
Toluene diisocyanate (TDI)
1,1,1-Trichloroethane
Trichloroethylene
Vinyl acetate
Xylenes

Table 12.3 Partial List of VOCs Found in Indoor Air (Continued)

- · Latex wall paint
- · Latex heavy-bodied wall paint
- Latex primer
- Sealing paint

In addition to water, these paints contain biocides, surfactants, pigments, monomers, coalescing solvents, driers, and volatile additives.^[3,12] Volatile components contained in these include aldehydes, aliphatic hydrocarbons (straight chain and cyclic), aromatic hydrocarbons, esters, ethers, glycol ethers, glycol ether esters, and halogenated hydrocarbons. Some of these materials are listed in Table 12.4.

Exposure to waterborne paints is known to induce acute and chronic dermal, respiratory, and CNS effects.^[11] All the chemicals listed in Table 12.4 are individually toxic^[13] and mixtures of many of these are known to induce unanticipated toxic effects in humans.^[14]

Wood stains and varnishes used indoors contain aliphatic and aromatic hydrocarbons, isocyanates, ketones, and esters. Though these have limited use compared with paint, newly finished building interiors often contain toxic levels of these. Toluene diisocyanate, used as a catalyst in polyure-thane wood finishes, is a powerful respiratory irritant and sensitizer.^[13]

12.6 Environmental Tobacco Smoke

It is well established that many of the toxic effects of inhaling environmental (second hand) tobacco smoke (ETS) are identical to those of active smoking. ETS is associated with increased risk of lung cancer,^[15] respiratory disease (including asthma in children),^[16] and cardiovascular disease (including acute myocardial infarction).^[17]

The toxic effects of tobacco products are discussed in detail in Chapter 16. It should be noted here, however, that combustion of tobacco indoors

Acrylamide
Acrylic acid
Acrylonitrile
Hydrocarbon mixtures
Ammonia
1-Butoxy-2-propanol
Butyl acetate
Butyl acrylate
Butyl butyrate
Butyl methacrylate
2-Chloroethyl acetate
Dibutyl ether
Diethyl benzenes
Diethylene glycol monobutyl ether acetate
Diethylene glycol monomethyl ether
Formaldehyde
Hexanal
Methyl cyclohexane
Methyl nonane
Nonanal
Styrene
Toluene
2,2,4-Trimethyl-1,3-pentanediol mono-isobutyrate (Texanol)
Vinyl acetate

 Table 12.4 Volatile Components Contained in Waterborne Paints

produces numerous VOCs that are also released by other sources of SBS.^[18] These toxins include

- acetone
- aniline
- ammonia
- benzene
- carbon monoxide
- formaldehyde
- toluene.

These compounds may combine with other indoor environmental chemicals to produce additive and synergistic effects. For example, the combination of very low levels of formaldehyde (e.g., from tobacco) and terpenes (e.g., from cleaning products) produce dyspnea and other respiratory problems not observed from such levels of formaldehyde and terpenes alone.^[19]

12.7 Carpets

Carpets can be a major source of VOC emissions in residential, public, and commercial settings. Most carpet is composed of a synthetic pile (such as nylon or polyolefinic material) that is tufted through a primary backing coated with adhesive. The tufted pile is then set into a backing made of either styrene-butadiene rubber (SBR) latex, polyvinyl chloride (PVC), or polyurethane (PU) that is sandwiched between the primary and secondary backings. The backings are typically made of woven polypropylene or jute. The chemical composition of carpet varies, depending upon the nature of the fiber, bonding materials, backing adhesives, dyes, dye solvents, antistatic and antistain treatments, fire retardants, and pesticide and fungicide applications.^[20,21] Carpet pads or application adhesives are typically used when carpet is put down, and these materials may also emit VOCs. Most carpet pads are made of PU materials. Some are made from virgin material, whereas others incorporate recycled PU.

Carpets emit a variety of VOCs depending upon their chemical compositions. SBR-backed carpets primarily emit 4-phenylcyclohexene (4-PCH), the chemical identified with "new carpet" odor, and styrene. PVC-backed carpets primarily emit formaldehyde, vinyl acetate, 1,2-propanediol, and 2-ethyl-1hexanol. Carpets with a PU backing primarily emit butylated hydroxytoluene (BHT). Carpet emissions of VOCs are most pronounced immediately after a new carpet is laid, with emission rates falling off rapidly as a function of time, as depicted in Fig. 12.1. Even though emission rates fall off rapidly, sensitized individuals often continue to exhibit symptoms for long periods of time.

Carpet emissions vary widely, even within carpets taken from the same lot. Often, particularly in a home setting, two or more different carpets are laid at the same time, making it difficult to ascribe toxicological effects to a particular carpet. This is particularly so when a central forced air system is used to heat or cool a home or an office building. More than 100 compounds have been identified as carpet emission products. Table 12.5 lists VOCs typically emitted from new carpets.^[22,23]

The hydrocarbons (all of the above except 2-butoxyethanol) are all neurotoxic.^[20] 2-Butoxyethanol targets the respiratory system, liver, kidneys, lymphoid system, and blood.^[13] Some studies have reported that new carpet VOC emissions are sufficiently low to not adversely affect indoor air quality nor impact the human respiratory system or CNS.^[20,24] Other studies, however, have reported that human exposures to new carpet emissions at very low concentrations of both the individual chemicals and total VOCs do induce serious respiratory and CNS effects.^[25,26] The diametrically opposite conclusions reached by the two sets of studies can be attributed to



Time

Figure 12.1. Typical curve of VOCs emitted from newly laid carpet as function of time (Actual values are functions of VOC content and temperature. This curve is intended only to demonstrate the shape of a typical example of carpet VOC emissions).

Table 12.5 VOCs Typically Emitted from New Carpets

Acetaldehyde
Acetic acid
Acetone
Benzaldehyde
Benzene
1-Butanol
2-Butoxyethanol
Butylated hydroxytoluene (BHT)
Butylpentylcyclopropane
Caprolactum
Cyclobutane
Cycloheptane
1,3,5-Cycloheptatriene
Cyclohexanol
Cyclohexananone
Decane
Decuie

1,4-Dichlorobenzene	
Diethylcyclohexane	
Dimethyl cyclooctane	
Dimethyldecane	
Dimethylpentene	
Dimethylundecane	
Dimethylundecene	
Dipropylene glycol methyl ether	
Dodecane	
1-Dodecanol	
4-Ethenylcyclohexane	
2-Ethyl-1-hexanol	
1-Ethyl-2-methylbenzene	
1-Ethyl-3-methylbenzene	
1-Ethyl-4-methylbenzene	
Ethylbenzene	
Ethylcyclobutanone	
Ethyl-dimethylcyclohexane	
Ethylhexanol	
Ethyl-methyloctane	
Formaldehyde	
3-Hexenetrinitrile	
Isopropylbenzene	
Limonene	
Methyldecane	
Methyldodecane	
2-Methyl-1-propene	
Methyl-propylbenzene	
Methyl-propylcyclohexane	
Methylundecane	
4-Phenylcyclohexane	
<i>b</i> -Pinene	
1,2-Propanediol	
<i>n</i> -Propanol	
Propylbenzene	
Propylcyclopentane	
Propyldecane	
Styrene	
Tetradecane	
Toluene	

Table 12.5 VOCs Typically Emitted from New Carpets (Continued)

Table 12.5 V	VOCs Typically	Emitted from No	ew Carpets ((Continued)
--------------	-----------------------	------------------------	--------------	-------------

1,1,1-Trichloroethane 1,2,3-Trimethylbenzene Trimethylcyclopentane 2,2,5-Trimethylhexane Trimethylsilanol Undecane Vinyl acetate 4-Vinylcyclohexene Xylenes (*o, m, p*)

Of the compounds listed in Table 12.5, the following, in decreasing order of occurrence are the most prevalent.^[23]

Styrene 4-Phenylcyclohexane 4-Vinylcyclohexene Undecane Propyl benzene Decane Ethylbenzene 2-Butoxyethanol Isopropylbenzene 1-Ethyl-3-methylbenzene Toluene *p*-Xylene

a failure on the part of one set of studies (those that concluded that no toxic effects could be attributed to carpet emissions) to consider the effects of mixtures. The no-effect studies considered only the concentrations of the individual compounds emitted. The studies that considered mixtures empirically found respiratory and CNS effects from exposures to low level carpet emissions.^[14,27] Another consideration is the temperature that carpets are exposed to. The amounts and the nature of VOCs emitted from carpets (as well as from paints, tiles, woods, and other materials) are temperature dependent. Higher temperatures not only accelerate the release of volatiles, but also result in the release of compounds not emitted at lower temperatures.^[28]

12.8 Formaldehyde

Formaldehyde is a major contributor to many "cases" of sick building syndrome. It is a very toxic chemical that is corrosive to the skin, eyes, and the respiratory system. Acute or chronic exposure can result in difficulty breathing and even brief exposures can induce asthmatic reactions in sensitized individuals.^[13] Exposures to mixtures of formaldehyde and lipophilic chemicals can result in unanticipated toxic effects.^[14] Formaldehyde is an animal carcinogen, a suspected human nasal cancer carcinogen^[29] and suspected human leukemogen.^[30]

There are numerous sources of formaldehyde in indoor air. It is widely used as a preservative in products that are subject to attack by microorganisms. These include many household products, among which are papers, cleaning products, furnishings, insulations, and cosmetics.^[31] Table 12.6 lists indoor use products known to contain formaldehyde.

Mixtures of formaldehyde with other VOCs, including aliphatic and aromatic hydrocarbons, cause unexpected illnesses even at low level exposures.^[14]

12.9 Other Sources of Sick Building Syndrome Toxic Chemicals

There are numerous other sources of toxic chemicals released to the indoor environment that can account for or contribute to SBS. A few of these are as follows.

12.9.1 Wood Smoke

It is estimated that 50% of the world's households use biomass fuel (most commonly wood) for indoor cooking purposes.^[32] Though these households are found predominantly in developing nations, firewood smoke is not limited to them. Wood is used extensively in fireplaces and stoves for heating and for aesthetic purposes in the households of developed nations. When burned, wood emits particulates and VOCs that have respiratory toxicity. Wood smoke has been shown to be associated with the development of obstructive airways disease,^[32] and alone or in combination with other indoor air pollutants it can contribute to SBS.

Table 12.6 Indoor Use Products that May Contain Formaldehyde

Adhesives—glues, pastes, and cements
Carpets
Ceiling tiles
Cleaners-rug, carpet, tile, toilet, window, and brush
Detergents
Deodorizers
Disinfectants
Dry cleaning and spotting fluids
Dyes and inks
Floor coverings—linoleum and vinyl tile
Fumigators
Furniture
Fuel combustion-natural gas and kerosene
Insulation (urea formaldehyde)
Latex rubber—gloves and sheets
Medicines
Melamine
Paints-wall paint, lacquers, and varnishes
Personal care-deodorants, shampoos, and cosmetics
Paper-grocery bags, waxed paper, facial tissues, paper towels, and sanitary
products
Polishes-floor, shoe, furniture, and suede
Textiles—upholstery, wrinkle resisters, and permanent press clothing
Tobacco smoke
Toothpaste
Wood-plywood, particle board, veneers, and decorative paneling

12.9.2 Textile Wall Materials

Building interiors decorated with textile and other soft fiber wall materials have been show to induce mucosal irritation, allergic reaction, skin reaction, asthmatic response, and CNS symptoms associated with SBS. Such wall coverings typically release formaldehyde and other pollutants. They also adsorb and subsequently release other SBS-inducing chemicals.^[33]

12.9.3 Wood Dust

Indoor finishing and/or refinishing of wood components (floors, cabinets, counters, furniture, etc.) often liberates dust particles that induce

186

respiratory symptoms, including asthma.^[34] Mixed with other indoor air chemicals that are often associated with wood working, such as formaldehyde and aromatic hydrocarbons, wood dust is a powerful respiratory irritant.

12.9.4 Dioxins in Wood Preservatives

In the 1960s, paneling and other interior wood structures were treated with pentachlorophenol and gamma-hexachlorohexane for preservation purposes. Those preservatives contain trace quantities of polychlorinated dibenzo-*p*-dioxins and -furans that can volatilize into indoor air and impact the human immune system, particularly when the treated woods are being sanded and refinished, even many years after they were initially applied.^[35]

12.9.5 Waterproofing Applications

Fluorocarbon-based waterproofing agents are often applied to tiles in residential and commercial buildings. When spray applied, these produce solvent vapors and aerosols that can cause acute respiratory injury.^[36,37] Fluorocarbon-based waterproofing materials for leather protection produce similar effects in many people.^[38]

12.9.6 Hot Asphalt Roof Applications

Hot asphalt roof applications generate mixtures of solvents and highboiling organic compounds that can permeate into indoor air, particularly if air intakes are located on roof tops. These vapor mixtures, even when present in very low concentrations, can produce eye and upper respiratory tract irritation in building occupants.^[39]

12.9.7 Radon, Asbestos and Tobacco Smoke

The sources just discussed primarily, but not exclusively, produce acute health effects. Some indoor pollutants that are not acutely associated with SBS produce only chronic effects. Two of the most notable of these are radon and asbestos.

Radon is a carcinogen present in indoor air that is estimated by some studies to be responsible for about 1% of all lung cancers.^[40,41] Other studies, however, question whether it is radon alone or radon in combination with cigarette smoke exposure that is responsible for the cancers. Even those studies that question the effect of radon exposure as a cause of

lung cancer, however, conclude that high level radon exposure contributes to the lung cancer risk associated with exposure to tobacco smoke.^[42] Nonsmoking residents of smoking households experience a synergistic, multiplicative effect on lung cancer rates even when radon rates are relatively low.^[43]

Chronic residential exposure to asbestos is known to be the cause of a specific lung cancer—mesothelioma.^[44] Here, too, tobacco smoke exacerbates the carcinogenic effect. Asbestos workers who smoke are 90 times as likely to develop lung cancer as compared to those who neither smoke nor work with asbestos.^[45]

The studies just cited address the risk of developing lung cancer following exposure to radon, asbestos, and tobacco. Though estimating these risks are complicated by human exposures to other environmental pollutants, both indoors and outdoors,^[42,44] these and other similar studies do definitively establish the enhanced effects of exposure to mixtures on the development of lung cancer and other cancers. This subject is discussed further in Chapter 21.

12.10 Biological Causes of Sick Building Syndrome

Though this book is devoted to chemically induced toxicity, the subject of sick building syndrome cannot be discussed without addressing the biological causes of SBS. The presence of molds, dust mites, and animal allergens in residential and commercial buildings are known to produce adverse health effects in humans.

12.10.1 Molds

Damp buildings provide breeding grounds for molds, some of which are human pathogens. Molds found in building interiors include Cladosporium, Alternaria, Aspergillis, Mucor, Rhizopus, Stachybotrys, and Chaetomium. Aspergillus, Stachybotrys, and Chaetomium are of particular concern because they produce mycotoxins—toxic chemicals that are secondary metabolites produced by growing fungi. Many of these mycotoxins, aflatoxins produced by Aspergillus flavus, and satratoxin H and verrucarol, for example, are toxic to humans.^[46]

Mycotoxins are complex organic compounds with molecular weights in the range of 450–500. They are nonvolatile at ambient temperatures, but become respirable when attached to airborne dust particles.^[47] At least 350

different fungi are known to produce more than 400 individual toxins belonging to at least 20 different mycotoxin classes.

Human toxic effects attributed to fungi and their mycotoxins include mucosal irritation, fatigue, headache, and other neurotoxic effects, chest tightness, onset of asthma, and other pulmonary disease. Aflatoxin is acutely lethal in high concentration exposures. It is also teratogenic and mutogenic. Chronic low level exposures are carcinogenic, particularly to the liver. It is transformed in vivo into active components that bind to DNA and RNA. Aflatoxin has been associated with acute liver injury, estrogenic effects, renal effects, and prevention of embryo implantation.^[46,47]

An excellent review of mold toxicity with 465 references can be found in a paper by Kuhn and Ghannoum.^[46]

12.10.2 Dust Mites

Dust mites are ubiquitous in indoor environments. They thrive in carpeting, bedding, upholstery, and other fabrics.^[48] Dust mite exposure promotes IgE antibody production in susceptible individuals. Such people demonstrate symptoms that include itching and running eyes, allergic rhinitis, and asthma.^[49]

12.10.3 Animal Allergens

People who are allergic to dogs, cats, and other animals have their allergic reactions triggered by proteins associated with these animals. Cat allergies, for example, are triggered by glycoprotein Fed d1, found in the fur, pelt, saliva, serum, urine, mucus, salivary glands, and hair roots of the cat.^[50] Animal allergens are not confined to the living quarters of animals. Cat and dog owners carry these allergens into other buildings on their clothing and thus introduce these allergens to locations without pets, such as schools and other public buildings.^[51] Such introductions of allergens give rise to SBS effects that are not easily traceable and necessitate the use of elaborate air filtration systems to remediate them.

12.11 Mixtures

SBS symptoms and illnesses can often be attributed to specific sources. Often, however, despite careful chemical and biological testing, the sources are not revealed. Industrial hygiene workups many times reveal chemical contaminant concentrations that are an order of magnitude or more below NOEL levels. People living or working in buildings with low levels of contamination may be affected during the time they spend in these buildings and find relief when they are away from them. Remediation protocols are difficult to proscribe when the sources of the problems are unknown.

This writer has investigated many SBS situations in homes, office buildings, and other commercial settings where symptoms could not be attributed to any one contaminant. In all these cases, where biological sources could be ruled out, the buildings were found to be contaminated with mixtures of hydrophilic and lipophilic chemicals.^[14] Ascribing SBS to office buildings is often easier than doing so in homes. Homes typically contain fewer residents, and when only one person living there is symptomatic, factors other than SBS may be at hand. Office buildings typically have many people in them. When the number of people becomes symptomatic, it usually implicates the building in which they work.

12.12 Investigating an SBS Incident

SBS incidents most commonly occur in new or newly renovated buildings that tend to be tightly sealed. In investigating an incident, one should first rule out biological causes. Mold can usually be eliminated as a cause when not physically evident on room surfaces and not smelled. Animal protein residues can be ruled out if dogs and cats are not present, and mites are generally not present in significant concentrations in new carpets and furnishings.

Most commonly, volatile chemicals are the causes of the symptoms that beset people in "sick" buildings. Formaldehyde is almost always present in new or remodeled buildings because of its off-gassing from carpets, plywood, particle board, and furniture made from composite materials. Occasionally isocyanates are the culprits, particularly when polyurethane finishes are applied to wooden floors and cabinets. VOCs and isocyantes can be readily tested for by collecting air samples and analyzing these via gas chromatography/mass spectrometry (GC/MS). Off-gassing of VOCs generally decreases with time. Abatement of symptoms as a function of time is a good indicator that VOCs are responsible for the symptoms.

There have been many instances when biological agents have been ruled out and all volatile chemicals have been shown to be present in concentrations below those believed to induce symptoms. In all such instances that have been reported in the literature, the symptoms have either been ascribed to ultrasensitive individuals or psychological responses on the part of those reporting the symptoms. Recent research has established that mixtures of lipophiles and hydrophiles at very low concentrations are responsible for inducing symptoms in such instances.^[14]

An example of an SBS workup reported in the literature for a new office building further illustrates the mixture effect.^[5] One hundred and fifty-four employees who worked in the building during its first 2 weeks of occupancy experienced symptoms that included headache, fatigue, drowsiness, odor sensation, sore throat, nasal and sinus congestion, nausea, dizziness, sneezing, eye irritation, chest tightness, back pain, trouble sleeping, unusual taste, disorientation, chest congestion, aching joints, rapid heartbeat, skin irritation and itching, chest pains, unusual vaginal discharge, contact lens problems, tongue and lip numbness, bladder infections, and nosebleed. These symptoms are listed in decreasing order of frequency, ranging from 98 individuals with headache to 8 with nosebleed.

Chemical analysis of the air by GC/MS showed several VOCs, all present at concentrations far below ACGIH workplace TLVs. Table 12.7 shows the chemicals found, their concentrations, TLV values, and the K_{ow} values (octanol:water partition coefficients) for these. The data are those reported.^[5] The K_{ow} values were added here.

Individually and collectively, assuming additive effects, one would not expect to observe the respiratory system, CNS, skin, and other symptoms reported by the employees in the subject building. The authors of the study concluded that although an outbreak of symptoms occurred, the causative agent(s) could not be identified. The K_{ow} values, however, show that three hydrophiles (formaldehyde, valeraldehyde, and 2-hexanone) and seven lipophiles (1,1,1-trichloroethane, styrene, ethyl benzene, toluene, TCE,

Chemical	ppm	AGCIH TLV (ppm)	K _{ow}
Formaldehyde	0.02-0.04	1.0	0.35
1,1,1-Trichloroethane	< 0.006	350	2.49
Styrene	< 0.006	20	2.95
Ethyl benzene	< 0.006	100	3.15
Toluene	0.012	50	2.73
Trichloroethylene	< 0.006	50	3.40
Valeraldehyde	< 0.006	50	1.78
Xylenes	< 0.006	100	3.15
2-Hexanone	< 0.006	50	1.38
Benzene	< 0.006	0.1	2.13

Table 12.7 VOCs Found in the Air of a "Sick" Building, Their Concentrations in Parts per Million (ppm),^[5] and the K_{ow} Values for These
xylenes, and benzene) were present in the building's air. As has been shown previously, the lipophiles facilitate the absorption, transport, and action of hydrophiles in parts of the body where the hydrophiles do not reach when exposure is to them alone.^[14] It is concluded here that the actions of the mixture produced the unanticipated effects that were reported in the subject study.

The study just described is but one example of the lipophile:hydrophile mixture effect. I have investigated and reported on several SBS such cases^[14] and have not encountered any SBS case attributable to low level chemical contamination that did not reveal the presence of mixtures of hydrophiles and lipophiles.

12.13 Summary

Sick building syndrome describes the contamination of the indoor environment to the point where individuals living or working in these buildings become ill from inhaling the air. The contaminants can be in the form of chemical or biological agents. The chemical agents can arise from out-gassing of carpets, structural wood or furniture, as well as from paints, varnishes, adhesives, and other chemicals used. The exposures of people to interior air pollutants is almost always to mixtures of lipophilic and hydrophilic chemicals that act together to induce unexpected health effects.

References

- 1. Stolwijk JAJ. The sick-building syndrome. *Environ Health Perspect* 1992; 95:99–100.
- 2. Hodgson M. The sick-building syndrome. Occup Med 1995; 10(1):167–75.
- 3. Beller M, Middaugh JP. Results of an indoor air pollution investigation. *Alaska Med* 1989; 31(4):148–55.
- 4. Norback D, Michel I, Widstrom J. Indoor air quality and personal factors related to the sick building syndrome. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 1990; 16:121–8.
- 5. Whorton MD, Larson SR, Gordon NJ, Morgan RW. Investigation and work-up of tight building syndrome. *J Occup Med* 1987; 29(2):142–7.
- 6. Bardana EJ Jr. Sick building syndrome—a wolf in sheep's clothing. *Ann Allergy Immun* 1997; 79:283–94.
 - 7. Chang CC, Ruhl RA, Halpern GM, et al. Building components contributors of the sick building syndrome. *J Asthma* 1994; 31(2):127–37.
 - 8. Bardana EJ, Jr, Montanaro A. Tight building syndrome. *Immunol Allergy Pract* 1986; 8(3):74–87.
 - 9. Ember LR. Survey finds high indoor levels of volatile organic chemicals. *Chem Eng News* 1988; 66:23–5.

- Otto DA, Hudnell DE, Molhave L, Counts W. Exposure of humans to a volatile organic mixture. 1. Behavioral assessment. *Arch Environ Health* 1992; 47(1):23–30.
- Hansen MK, Larsen M, Cohr KH. Waterborne paints. A review of their chemistry and toxicology and the results of determinations made during their use. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 1987; 13:473–85.
- 12. Norback D, Weislander G, Edling C. Occupational exposure to water based paint and symptoms from the skin and eyes. *Occup Environ Med* 1994; 51(3):181–86.
- 13. Pohanish RP (ed.). *Sittig's handbook of toxic and hazardous chemicals and carcinogens*, 4th ed., Noyes, Norwich, NY, 2002.
- 14. Zeliger HI. Toxic effects of chemical mixtures. *Arch Environ Health* 2003; 58(1):23–9.
- Woodward A, McMichael AJ. Passive smoking and cancer risk: The nature and uses of epidemiological evidence. *Eur J Cancer* 1991; 27: 1472–9.
- Willers S, Svenonius E, Skarping G. Passive smoking and childhood asthma. *Allergy* 1991; 46:330–4.
- 17. Teo KK, Ounpuu S, Hawkin S, et al. Tobacco use and risk of myocardial infarction in 52 countries in the INTERHEART study: A case study. *Lancet* 2006; 368:647–58.
- 18. Guerin MR, Jenkins RA, Tomkins BA. *The chemistry of environmental tobacco smoke: Composition and measurement*, Lewis, Chelsea, MI, 1992.
- 19. Alexandersson R, Kolmodin-Hedman B. Exposure to formaldehyde: Effects on pulmonary function. *Arch Environ Health* 1982; 37(5):279–84.
- 20. Dietert RR, Hedge A. Toxicological considerations in evaluating indoor air quality and human health: Impact of new carpet emissions. *Crit Rev Toxicol* 1996; 26(6):633–707.
- 21. Pleil JD, Whiton RS. Determination or organic emissions from new carpeting. *Appl Occup Environ Hyg* 1990; 5(10):693–9.
- 22. Hodgson AT, Wooley JD, Daisey JM. Emissions of volatile organic compounds from new carpets measured in a large scale environmental chamber. *J Air Waste Manage Assoc* 1993; 43:316–24.
- Hetes RG, Womack DS, Pierson TK, Naugle DF. Evaluation of exposures to volatile organics offgassing from new carpets. Research Triangle Institute Report No. 94U–4479-001/12-F. EPA Cooperative Agreement No. CR-815509, February 1992.
- 24. Tepper JS, Moser VC, Costa DL, et al. Toxicological and chemical evaluation of emissions from carpet samples. *Am Ind Hyg Assoc J* 1995; 56(2):158–70.
- 25. Anderson RC. Toxic emissions from carpets. J Nutr Environ Med 1995; 5:375-86.
- 26. Muller WJ, Schaeffer VH. A strategy for the evaluation of sensory and pulmonary irritation due to chemical emissions from indoor sources. *J Air Waste Manag Assoc* 1996; 46(9):808–12.
- 27. Stadler JC, Kennedy GL, Jr. Evaluation of the sensory irritation potential of volatile organic chemicals from carpets—alone and in combination. *Food Chem Toxicol* 1996; 34(11–12):1125–30.

- 28. Muller WJ, Black MS. Sensory irritation in mice exposed to emissions from indoor products. *Am Ind Hyg Assoc J* 1995; 56:794–803.
- 29. Blair A, Kazerouni N. Reactive chemicals and cancer. *Cancer Causes Control* 1997; 8(3):473–90.
- Golden R, Pyatt D, Shields PG. Formaldehyde as a potential human leukemogen: An assessment of biological plausibility. *Crit Rev Toxicol* 2006; 36(2):135–53.
- 31. Feinman SE. *Formaldehyde sensitivity and toxicity*, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 1988.
- 32. Dennis RJ, Maldonado D, Norman S, et al. Woodsmoke exposure and risk for obstructive airways disease among women. *Chest* 1996; 109(1):115–19.
- 33. Jaakkola JJK, Tuomaala P, Seppanen O. Textile wall materials and sick building syndrome. *Arch Environ Health* 1994; 49(3):175–81.
- 34. Malo JL, Cartier A, Desjardins A, et al. Occupational asthma caused by oak wood dust. *Chest* 1995; 106(3):856–8.
- 35. Wolf N, Karmaus W. Effects of inhalative exposure to dioxins in wood preservatives on cell-mediated immunity in day-care center teachers. *Environ Res* 1995; 68(2):96–105.
- Vernez DS, Droz PO, Lazor-Blachet C, Jacques S. Characterizing emission and breathing-zone concentrations following exposure cases to fluororesinbased waterproofing mists. *J Occup Environ Hyg* 2004; 1(9):582–92.
- Lazor-Blanchet C, Rusca S, Vernez D, et al. Acute pulmonary toxicity following occupational exposure to a floor stain protector in the building industry in Switzerland. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health* 2004; 77(4):244–8.
- 38. Vernez D, Bruzzi R, Kupferschmidt H, et al. Acute respiratory syndrome after inhalation of waterproofing sprays: A posteriori exposure-response assessment in 102 cases. *J Occup Environ Hyg* 2006; 3(5):250–61.
- 39. Lynch RM, Kipen H. Building-related illness and employee lost time following application of hot asphalt roof: A call for prevention. *Toxicol Ind Health* 1998; 14(6):857–68.
- 40. Neuberger JS, Gesell TF. Residential radon exposure and lung cancer: Risk in nonsmokers. *Health Phys* 2002; 83(1):1–18.
- 41. Darby S, Hill D, Deo H, et al. Residential radon and lung cancer—detailed results of a collaborative analysis of individual data on 7148 persons with lung cancer and 14,208 persons without lung cancer from 13 epidemiologic studies in Europe. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 2006; 32 (Suppl 1):1–83.
- 42. Boffetta P. Human cancer from environmental pollutants: The epidemiological evidence. *Mutat Res* 2006; 608(2):157–62.
- 43. Lee ME, Lichtenstein E, Andrews JA, et al. Radon-smoking synergy: A population-based behavioral risk reduction approach. *Prev Med* 1999; 29(3):222–7.
- 44. Boffetta P, Nyberg F. Contribution of environmental factors to cancer risk. *Br Med Bull* 2003; 68:71–94.
- 45. Selikoff IJ, Hammond EC. Asbestos and smoking. *J Am Med Assoc* 1979; 242(5):458–9.
- 46. Kuhn DM, Ghannoum MA. Indoor mold, toxigenic fungi, and Stachybotrys chartarum: Infectious disease perspective. *Clin Microbiol Rev* 2003; 16(1):144–72.

- 47. Brasel TL, Martin CG, Carriker SC, et al. Detection of airborne Stachybotrys chartarum macrocyclic trichothene mycotoxins in the indoor environment. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 2005; 71(11):7376–88.
- 48. Pollart S, Chapman MD, Platts-Mills TAE. House dust mite and dust control. *Clin Rev Allergy* 1988; 6:23–33.
- 49. Hales BJ, Martin AC, Pearce LJ, et al. IgE and IgG anti-house dust mite specificities in allergic disease. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 2006; 118(2):361–7.
- 50. Casas R, Djerf P, Haggstrom P, et al. Circulating cat allergen and immune complexes in cat-allergic children. *Clin Exp Allergy* 1998; 28(10):1258–63.
- 51. Berge M, Munir AK, Dreborg S. Concentrations of cat (Fel d1), dog (Can f1) and mite (Der f1 and Der p1) allergens in the clothing and school environment of Swedish schoolchildren with and without pets. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol* 1998; 9(1):25–30.

13.1 Introduction

There are approximately 80,000 industrial and commercial chemicals in use in the world today and many more are added each year. Essentially all of these individually exhibit toxicity to humans. Toxicological information for many, but not all, of these chemicals is available in the literature. This book is not written to explore the individual toxicities of chemicals. Rather, the intention here is to address mixtures. With so many chemicals in use, an extremely large number of mixtures is possible. Testing of all possible mixtures is impossible and most of the information available about the toxicities of mixtures arise from studies that track impacted workers.

In this chapter, examples of the toxic effects of chemical mixtures on workers are presented to demonstrate toxic impacts on those exposed on the job. In order to properly recognize mixture effects, one must have good information on the chemicals to which the individuals are exposed. One must also examine the toxicities of the individual chemicals to ascertain that the impacts on workers are due to mixture effects and not simply those of single chemicals.

13.2 Single Chemical Toxicities

The toxicities of single chemicals are available from a number of databases and sources. Those listed here are not exclusive resources, but they do provide toxicological information for most single chemicals.

- 1. Sittig's Handbook of Hazardous Chemicals and Carcinogens provides toxicological data on some 1300 specific industrial chemicals.^[1]
- 2. Sittig's Handbook of Pesticides and Agricultural Chemicals is a companion to Sittig's Handbook of Hazardous Chemicals and Carcinogens and provides toxicological information on nearly 800 pesticides and other agricultural chemicals.^[2]
- 3. Sax's Dangerous Properties of Industrial Materials.^[3]
- 4. PubMed, a service of the U.S. National Library of Medicine, includes over 16 million citations from MEDLINE and other life science journals back to the 1950s. PubMed contains abstracts of most articles cited and includes links to full text articles and other

related resources. Resources may be accessed by subject matter, author, or journal.^[4]

- 5. TOXNET contains databases on toxicology, hazardous chemicals, environmental health, and toxic releases. TOXNET may be searched by subject matter, chemical name, or CAS number. Individual databases or all databases can be searched upon request.^[5] The databases contained in TOXNET can all be accessed from one online source.^[5] These databases include:
 - ChemIDplus, a dictionary of over 370,000 chemicals (names, synonyms, and structures). It includes links to the National Library of Medicine databases and resources.
 - HSDB (Hazardous Substances Data Bank) is a comprehensive, peer-reviewed toxicology data for about 5000 chemicals.
 - TOXLINE contains references from the toxicology literature. Includes peer-reviewed literature and government reports.
 - CCRIS (Chemical Carcinogenesis Research Information System) contains carcinogenicity and mutagenicity information for over 8,000 chemicals.
 - DART (Developmental and Reproductive Toxicology) database contains references to the developmental and reproductive toxicology literature.
 - GENETOX—peer-reviewed genetic toxicology for over 3000 chemicals.
 - IRIS (Integrated Risk Information System) contains hazard identification and dose-response assessments for over 500 chemicals.
 - ITER (International Toxicity Estimates for Risk) contains information for over 600 chemicals from authoritative groups worldwide.
 - LactMed—Drugs and Lactation Database is a peerreviewed and fully referenced database of drugs to which breastfeeding mothers may be exposed.
 - Multi-Database—searches all factual chemical databases for toxicological information.
 - TRI (Toxics Release Inventory) tracks annual environmental releases of over 600 toxic chemicals by U.S. facilities.
 - Haz-Map contains information on hazardous chemicals and occupational diseases.
 - Household Products—Household Products Database contains health and safety information on products used in the household.

- TOXMAP—environmental health e-maps that explore data from EPA's Toxics Release Inventory and Superfund National Priorities List.
- 6. Scorecard is an online database that contains lists of 12 different adverse health effects. These include lists of chemicals that are (a) recognized and (b) suspected causative agents. Scorecard also provides links to comprehensive profiles for each chemical and summarizes the references that document that chemical's association with a health hazard.^[6] The lists contained in scorecard include:
 - Cancer
 - Developmental toxicity
 - Reproductive toxicity
 - Cardiovascular and blood toxicity
 - Endocrine toxicity
 - Gastrointestinal or liver toxicity
 - Immunotoxicity
 - Kidney toxicity
 - Musculoskeletal toxicity
 - Neurotoxicity
 - Respiratory toxicity
 - Skin of sense organ toxicity.
- NIOSH Pocket Guide to Chemical Hazards—contains key toxicological information in abbreviated or tabular form for single chemicals or substance groupings (e.g., cyanides, fluorides, or manganese compounds) that are found in the work environment.^[7]

Additional information may be found in toxicology and molecular biology texts. Monographs on specific subjects, for example, formaldehyde,^[8] provide compendia of toxicological information on specific chemicals.

13.3 Mixture Toxicities

Much of what is known about toxicology of chemical mixtures is the result of empirical observations and epidemiological studies carried out in the industrial workplace. The workplace provides an excellent setting in which to study toxic mixture effects. In the workplace, large numbers of individuals with varying genetic backgrounds and life styles are exposed to the identical mixtures. The same illnesses developing among such diverse groups of people are indicative of unusual effects for which other variables, such as diet and tobacco use, can be eliminated. The following sections describe case studies for which the effects of single chemicals have been ruled out. These studies represent only a fraction of those demonstrating the known effects of toxic mixture exposure. They are meant to illustrate the scope of hazards faced when humans are exposed to toxic chemical mixtures.

In almost all of the studies presented here (as well as in most others not reported here) the chemical mixtures that produced unanticipated toxic effects contained at least one lipophile ($K_{ow} > 2.00$) and one hydrophile ($K_{ow} < 2.00$). The octanol:water partition coefficients (K_{ow}) are given in parentheses for each of the chemicals identified to point out the lipophilic and hydrophilic species.

13.4 Noise, Organic Solvents, and Hearing Loss

Concurrent exposure to noise and mixed organic solvents is synergistically ototoxic, resulting in greater hearing loss to workers than if they were exposed to noise alone. In studies carried out on aviation and varnish manufacturing employees, it was shown that exposures to mixtures of lipophilic and hydrophilic compounds below threshold limit values concurrent with noise resulted in greater hearing loss in employees than anticipated.^[9,10] Paint and lacquer factory workers exposed to mixtures of xylenes (3.15) and ethyl acetate (0.73) were shown to have suffered greater hearing losses than workers with similar noise, but no solvent exposure.^[11]

13.5 Foundry Fumes and Cancer

Epidemiological studies of workers in the iron and steel foundry industry have shown 40% higher incidences of lung cancer in these workers than in the general population. They are exposed to foundry fumes containing complex mixtures of PAHs (lipophiles) and metal particulates (hydrophiles). An animal study showed that exposures to foundry fume mixtures produce preneoplastic lesions in test species.^[12]

13.6 Painting and CNS Effects

Adverse CNS effects (including neuropsychiatric disorders, mental symptoms, and neurobehavioral performance are observed following exposures to solvent mixtures at levels well below accepted threshold limit values.^[13] The neurotoxicity of *n*-hexane (3.90) is potentiated by 2-butanone (0.29), which itself exhibits little or no neurotoxicity to humans.^[14] In one study, 100 automobile painters who had long-term exposure to car paint fumes composed of toluene (2.73), xylene (3.15), aliphatic hydrocarbons (3.90–5.50), ethanol (–0.31), isopropanol (0.05), butanol (0.88), ethyl acetate (0.73), butyl acetate (1.78), acetone (–0.17), methyl ethyl ketone (0.29), methyl isobutyl ketone (1.19), and pinene (4.83) at mean concentrations far below TLVs were shown to have impairments in psychological performances as well as personality changes compared to 102 control individuals.^[15]

Even short-term exposure to low levels of mixtures of lipophiles and hydrophiles can produce adverse neurological effects. Printers and spray painters so exposed to mixtures primarily containing *n*-hexane (3.90) and isopropanol (0.05) were found to have neurological symptoms, including polyneuropathy and diminished ankle reflexes.^[16]

13.7 Printers' CNS and Mucous Membrane Effects

A study of 762 printers exposed to low levels of *n*-hexane (3.90), isopropanol (0.05), and benzene (2.13) showed that these workers exhibited a number of neurological symptoms as well as mucous membrane irritation, effects not expected to be seen at low concentration exposure.^[17]

13.8 High Cancer Rates in Road Pavers and Roofers

PAHs are emitted into the air from a variety of industrial activities including highway paving and hot asphalt roof application. Exposures to PAHs from such activities result in increased levels of lung cancer.^[18,19] Concurrent exposure to PAHs (lipophiles) and heavy metals (hydrophiles) enhances DNA damage. A study carried out on children living in a heavily polluted industrial locale, for example, showed that co-exposure to PAHs and lead increased the induction of cytogenetic effects in peripheral lymphocytes of children.^[20] The air in and around smelters, refineries, and coal- and petroleum-fired electrical power plants frequently contains PAHs and heavy metals. Coal fly ash contains chromium, copper, manganese, nickel, lead, mercury, selenium, and zinc. Inhalation of such air presents risks of potentiated and synergistic toxic effects.^[21,22]

13.9 Nail Salon Work and CNS Effects

Nail salon workers are exposed to low levels of a number of organic solvents including toluene (2.73), formaldehyde (0.35), ethyl acetate (0.73), *n*-butyl acetate (1.78), methacrylic acid (0.93), methyl methacrylate (1.38), and ethyl methacrylate (1.94). These exposures result in loss of cognitive efficiency, learning, memory, and neurosensory changes including olfaction, which among nail salon workers is below normal levels.^[23,24]

13.10 Coke Oven Work and Smoking Synergism

Coke oven emissions expose workers to PAHs, VOCs, and heavy metals. Exposed workers suffer adverse liver effects,^[25] respiratory diseases,^[26] and cancer risks.^[27] These effects are generally attributed to the PAHs and PAH-DNA adduct formation.^[28] Such attributions, however, may only partially explain the observed health effects. For example, in a study carried out among 700 coke oven workers in China, the risk for developing chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) was significantly reduced for those coke oven workers who did not smoke cigarettes.^[26] Even though cigarette smoke contains some of the same PAHs found in coke oven emissions, it contains other unidentified compounds that increase the risk of COPD development. The authors of the adverse liver effect on coke workers study also concluded that those adverse effects were caused by a mixture of chemicals, rather than by a single chemical species.^[25]

13.11 Incinerator Fly Ash Toxicity

Fly ash from municipal waste and industrial waste incinerators contains polychlorinated dibenzo-*p*-dioxins (PCDDs), including tetrachlorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin (TCDD) and polychlorinated dibenzofurans (PCDFs), which are lipophiles, and heavy metals, including chromium, copper, manganese, vanadium, and lead, which are hydrophiles.^[29–31] These chemicals have multiple toxicities and are known to impact the human liver, immune system, respiratory system, thyroid, male reproductive function, and CNS.^[32–34] Several are human carcinogens.^[32,35] Enhanced toxic effects are observed in the mixtures of some of these.^[21,22,36] The mixtures of toxicants present in fly ash are complex and the mechanisms for their action on the human body are largely unknown. It is known that occupational exposure to fly

ash from municipal and industrial waste incinerators increases the blood concentrations of PCDDs and PCDFs.^[29,30] It is also known that heavy metals absorbed from fly ash get translocated from the lungs where they first impact other body organs where toxic effects are observed.^[31]

13.12 Naval Divers' Cancer Cluster

Cancer usually has long induction periods, generally 20 years or more before the onset of lung cancer in cigarette smokers, for example. Naval commando divers, however, with prolonged skin, gastrointestinal tract, and respiratory system exposures to multiple carcinogenic agents experienced brief induction periods (less than 10 years) and had a cluster of hematolymphopoietic, CNS, gastrointestinal, and skin cancers. These effects were noted in Israeli commandos who regularly trained in a heavily polluted river contaminated with industrial, ship effluent, and agricultural runoff contaminants.^[37] The chemicals they were exposed to include numerous PAHs, long-chain branched hydrocarbons, chlorinated aromatic hydrocarbons (all lipophiles), benzene (2.13), toluene (2.73), xylene (3.15), styrene (2.95), phenols, alcohols, aldehydes, ketones, cadmium, chromium, cobalt, copper, mercury, nickel, lead, vanadium zinc, organic and inorganic acids (all hydrophiles), trichlorophenol (3.70), di-(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate (7.60), methylene chloride (1.25), TCE (3.40), several radionuclides and inorganic compounds. Exposures were via ingestion, inhalation & dermal contact. Clearly, it is difficult to ascribe any cancer to a particular chemical species. This study, however, points out the danger associated with exposure to mixtures of toxic chemicals by multiple body sites, as well as the propensity of chemical mixtures to induce multiple organ effects.

13.13 Industrial Solid Waste (ISW) and Municipal Waste Leachate

Leachates from ISW and municipal solid waste (MSW) sites contain complex mixtures of toxic chemicals. These include heavy metals (iron, nickel, zinc, manganese, chromium, cadmium, and lead) as well as numerous organic compounds (including aliphatic and aromatic hydrocarbons, PAHs, alcohols, esters, aldehydes, and pesticides). Specific compositions of leachates vary with pH, soil type, and specific chemicals contained in the sites. All ISW and MSW sites, however, leach toxic mixtures of chemicals. In one study, leachates from a polyfiber factory, an aeronautical plant, and a municipal sludge site were all shown to induce DNA damage in human peripheral blood lymphocytes. The authors of the study conclude that synergistic effects of the mixtures of chemicals in the leachates may be responsible for the DNA damage.^[38] Similar cytotoxic effects were observed in studies where animals were exposed to ISW^[39] and MSW^[40] leachates. These studies underscore the dangers posed to ISW and MSW workers, as well as to people who are exposed to leachates that infiltrate drinking water.

13.14 Exposures of Workers to Aromatic Hydrocarbons

Exposures to aromatic hydrocarbons are known to produce a number of different effects in humans. Some aromatic hydrocarbon mixtures produce additive effects upon co-exposure, whereas others induce enhanced toxic effects.

In one study, a group of people who were exposed to a mixture of toluene (2.73) and mixed xylenes (3.15) was compared to a control group that was exposed to the individual solvents alone. Additive effects were noted when exposures were to the mixture versus the individual solvents. Hematology and serum biochemistry did not show any notable changes from exposure to single chemicals versus the mixture.^[41]

An immunotoxicology study showed that co-exposure to a mixture of benzene (2.13) and toluene (2.73) resulted in the enhancement of the immunotoxic effects of benzene. The authors surmised that toluene competed with benzene for Phase I metabolizing enzymes, thereby causing benzene concentrations in the body to be higher than if benzene were present alone.^[42]

A study of petrochemical workers exposed to a mixture of benzene (2.13), toluene (2.73), and xylene (3.15), each below its TLV (and total VOCs below all three individual TLVs) produced hepatotoxic effects. No reason for the observed effect was offered, but it was concluded that exposure to low level aromatic hydrocarbon mixtures can cause liver damage.^[43]

A study on the CNS depressing effects of toluene (2.73), ethylbenzene (3.15), and xylene (3.15), singly and in combinations, showed that CNS effects were increased when exposures were to mixtures. The enhanced effects observed were modest when employees were at rest, but were significantly higher when workers were exercising or performing manual work. The authors attributed the observed effects to pharmacokinetic interactions of the mixture elements.^[44]

The studies described above illustrate the difficulties in predicting the effects of mixtures, even when all components are chemically similar. In these studies, exposures to lipophilic mixtures of very similar compounds produced expected effects in one study and unanticipated effects in different body organs in the other studies. These studies, as well as others describing the effects of lipophile/hydrophile mixtures, point out the need to limit exposures to aromatic hydrocarbons.

13.15 Polyhalogenated Aromatic Compounds

Several classes of polyhalogenated aromatic hydrocarbons are extremely toxic to multiple organs in humans. These include polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), polychlorinated dibenzodioxins (PCDD), of which 2,3,7,8tetrachlorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin (TCDD) is the most toxic, and polychlorinated dibenzofurans (PCDF). All are ubiquitous in the environment, bioaccumulate in human adipose tissue, have long half lives, and are toxic to multiple body organs in humans. PCBs are complete carcinogens and tumor promoters.^[45] It is difficult to assess cancer risk from PCB exposures because some combinations of PCB congeners (all lipophiles) act synergistically to increase the risk of cancer.^[46] Further complicating the PCB picture is the fact that mixtures of PCBs and PCDDs have shown additive and synergistic effects as tumor promoters.^[47] The mechanisms for these effects remain unknown.

The toxicities of polyhalogenated aromatic hydrocarbons are elaborated upon in the chapters of Part 3 of this book.

13.16 Color Vision Impairment in Workers

Occupational exposure to mercury (0.08) and chemical solvents, including styrene (2.95), tetrachloroethylene (3.40), *n*-hexane (3.90), toluene (2.73), and carbon disulfide (1.94), has been shown to impair color vision in exposed workers.^[48] Color vision impairment was also observed for those exposed to solvent mixtures at levels below TLV values.^[49] No explanation was offered by the authors for the observed mixture effect.

13.17 Irradiated Mail Sensitivity

Mail delivery to the U.S. Congress was suspended from October 2001 through January 2002, following the detection of anthrax spores in some

congressional offices. When mail delivery resumed, all mail was irradiated with large doses of gamma radiation to eradicate anthrax spores in the mail. Shortly after resumption of mail delivery to Congress, many employees who handled irradiated mail experienced adverse health symptoms, including headaches, nose bleeds, nausea, rashes, and itching skin. NIOSH determined that the only air contaminants that could arise from irradiated mail were carbon monoxide (1.78), formaldehyde (0.35), ozone (-0.87), PAHs (all lipophiles), toluene (2.73), VOCs (mixtures of lipophiles and hydrophiles), and particulates. Sampling and testing for these showed that all of these substances were present at low levels or not detected. The NIOSH report concluded that the skin symptoms experienced by employees were because of damage to the paper resulting from the radiation process. Other symptoms were attributed to odors that triggered symptoms in some individuals and/or employee stress.^[50] The effects of low level mixtures were not considered by the NIOSH report.

13.18 "Aerospace Syndrome"

In 1988, more than half of approximately 200 employees working with composite plastic materials in one building of an aircraft manufacturing company reported CNS, respiratory, heart, and gastrointestinal symptoms. The employee response was dubbed "aerospace syndrome." Sampling of the air in that building showed the presence of phenol (1.46), formaldehyde (0.35), styrene (2.95), methylene chloride (1.25), methanol (0.77), C9–C12 alkanes and aromatics (3.0–4.0), particulates, and epoxy resins, all at concentrations well below their TLVs.^[51] The author of the study concluded that, like the employees exposed to irradiated mail, the aerospace workers responded to psychosocial factors in the workplace.

13.19 Hospital Histology Technicians

Neurobehavioral symptoms, disturbed mental and neurological function, and respiratory symptoms were reported in histology technicians as a result of their exposure to formaldehyde (0.35), ethanol (-0.31), chloroform (1.97), toluene (2.73), and xylene (3.15). The symptoms observed could not be attributed to the individual chemicals at the low levels of exposure.^[52] This study illustrates the propensity of some lipophilic–hydrophilic mixtures to attack multiple organs, including ones not impacted by the individual toxins.

13.20 Persistent Toxic Chemical Compounds

Many toxic chemicals are in use worldwide. A great many of these are persistent in the environment. They have long half lives and are passed up the food chain. Many are soluble in human adipose tissue and are slowly metabolized. The most persistent of these are^[53]

- PCBs
- DDT
- Dieldrin
- Toxaphene
- Mirex
- Benzo[a]pyrene (a polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbon)
- Hexachlorobenzene
- Dioxins (TCDD is the most toxic example)
- Furans
- Methyl mercury
- Alkylated lead.

All of these persistent chemical compounds are toxic to multiple organs in humans. They are almost always present in mixtures rather than as single chemicals. With the number of chemicals involved and the usually complex mixtures they are found in, identifying specific mixture effects is difficult. However, some mixture effects among these have been identified. Hexachlorobenzene (5.73) potentiates reduction of body and thymus weights that are caused by TCDD (6.80). Methyl mercury (0.08) acts synergistically with PCBs to disrupt the brain levels of dopamine than may influence neurological function and development.^[54]

13.21 Regional Impact Assessment

More than 30,000 different chemicals are produced or used in the Great Lakes region of the United States. This area contains 118 different hazardous waste sites that are contaminated with thousands of different chemicals. A study of this region has shown that human populations in it have elevated body burdens of persistent toxic chemical compounds.

Those living in this region have been found to exhibit decreased gestational age, low birth weights, developmental effects in children, neurological defects in newborns, increased infertility, changes in sex ratios of children born, and thyroid hormone fluctuations.^[54]

Many of the observed Great Lakes region toxic effects are attributed to persistent toxic chemical compounds. TCDD is associated with human thyroid hormone fluctuation, problems in male reproductive function, and neurological malfunction. Hexachlorobenzene (HCB) and methyl mercury (MeHg) are associated with human thyroid hormone fluctuation, problems in female reproductive function, neurological and neurodevelopmental problems. These effects, summarized in Table 13.1, illustrate the difficulty in attributing a particular toxic effect to a single chemical, particularly when one considers the potential impacts of thousands of other chemicals.

The authors of the study point out the need to consider "the potential for the joint toxic action of these substances in combinations in which they are typically found."^[54]

13.22 Summary

On-the-job exposures offer insight into the toxic effects of chemical mixtures. Though many health effects can be attributed to exposures to single chemicals, others cannot be accounted for by single chemical exposures and are clearly related to exposures to mixtures. This is particularly the case when at least one component of the mixture is a lipophile and at least one other component of the mixture is a hydrophile. The studies referenced in this chapter point out the need to consider mixture exposures when people present with symptoms, rather than dismiss their complaints as being of psychological origin.

	Chemical		
	TCDD	НСВ	MeHg
Effect			
Thyroid	Х	Х	Х
Male reproductive	Х		
Female reproductive		Х	Х
Neurological	Х	Х	Х
Neurodevelopmental		Х	Х

Table 13.1 Toxic Effects of Persistent Toxic Chemical Compounds^[54]

References

- 1. Pohanish RP (ed.). *Sittig's handbook of toxic and hazardous chemicals*, 4th ed., Noyes, Norwich, NY, 2002.
- 2. Greene SA, *Pohanish Sittig's handbook of pesticides and agricultural chemicals*, William Andrew, Norwich, NY, 2005.
- 3. Sax NI, Lewis RJ, Sr. *Dangerous properties of industrial materials*, 7th ed., Van Nostrand Reinhold, New York, 1989.
- U.S. National Library of Medicine PubMed. www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ent rez/ query.fcgi
- 5. U.S. National Library of Medicine. Toxnet. www.toxnet.nlm.nih.gov/
- 6. Scorecard. The Pollution Information Site. www.scorecard.org/health-effects/
- 7. NIOSH. Pocket Guide to Chemical Hazards. www.cdc.gov/niosh/npg/
- 8. Feinman SE (ed.) *Formaldehyde sensitivity and toxicity*, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 1988.
- 9. Kim J, Park H, Ha E, et al. Combined noise and mixed solvents exposure on the hearing function among workers in the aviation industry. *Ind Health* 2005; 43(3):567–73.
- Sliwinska-Kowalska M, Zamyslowska-Szmytke E, Szymczak W, et al. Hearing loss among workers exposed to moderate concentrations of solvents. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 2001; 27(5):335–42.
- 11. Sliwinska-Kowalska M, Zamyslowska-Szmytke E, Kotylo P, et al. Assessment of hearing impairment in workers exposed to mixtures of organic solvents in the paint and lacquer industry. *Med Pr* 2000; 51(1):1–10 [Abstract only].
- Humfrey CD, Levy LS, Faux SP. Potential carcinogenicity of foundry fumes: A comparative in vivo-in vitro study. *Food Chem Toxicol* 1996; 34(11-12):1103-11.
- 13. Millelsen S. Epidemiological update on solvent neurotoxicity. *Environ Res* 1997; 73(1–2):101–12.
- 14. Lolin Y. Chronic neurological toxicity associated with exposure to volatile substances. *Hum Toxicol* 1989; 8:293–300.
- Hanninen H, Eskelinen L, Husman K, Nurminen M. Behavioral effects of long-term exposure to a mixture of organic solvents. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 1976; 4:240–55.
- 16. Maizlish NA, Fine LJ, Albers JW, et al. A neurological evaluation of workers exposed to mixtures of organic solvents. *Br J Ind Med* 1987; 44(1):14–25.
- 17. Yu IT, Lee, NL, Zhang XH, et al. Occupational exposure to mixtures of organic solvents increases the risk of neurological symptoms among printing workers in Hong Kong. *J Occup Environ Med* 2004; 46(4):323–30.
- Binet S, Phohl-Leszkowicz A, Brandt H, et al. Bitumen fumes: Review of work on the potential risk to workers and the present knowledge on its origin. *Sci Total Environ* 2002; 300(1–3):37–48.
- 19. Zhao HW, Yin XJ, Frazer D, et al. Effects of paving asphalt fume exposure on genotoxic and mutagenic activities in the rat lung. *Mutat Res* 2004; 557(2):137–49.
- 20. Mielzynska D, Siwinska E, Kapla L, et al. The influence of environmental exposure to complex mixtures including PAHs and lead on genotoxic

effects in children living in Upper Silesia, Poland. *Mutagenesis* 2006; 21(5):295–304.

- 21. Charnley G. Assessing and managing methylmercury risks associated with power plant mercury emissions in the United States. *MedGenMed* 2006; 9(8):64.
- 22. Tsiridis V, Samaras P, Kungolos A, et al. Application of leaching tests for toxicity evaluation of coal fly ash. *Environ Toxicol* 2006; 21(4):409–16.
- 23. LoSasso GL, Rapport LJ, Axelrod BN. Neuropsychological symptoms associated with low-level exposure to solvents and (meth)acrylates among nail technicians. *Neuropsychiatry Neuropsychol Behav Neurol* 2001; 14(3):183–9.
- 24. LoSasso GL, Rapport LJ, Axelrod BN, Whitman RD. Neurocognitive sequelae of exposure to solvents and (meth)acrylates among nail technicians. *Neuropsychiatry Neuropsychol Behav Neurol* 2002; 15(1):44–55.
- 25. Wu MT, Mao IF, Wypij D, et al. Serum liver function profiles in coking workers. *Am J Ind Med* 1997; 32(5):478–86.
- 26. Hu Y, Chen B, Yin Z, et al. Increased risk of chronic obstructive pulmonary diseases in coke oven workers: Interaction between occupational exposure and smoking. *Thorax* 2006; 61(4):290–5.
- Liu A, Lu W, Wang Z, et al. Elevated levels of urinary 8-hydroxy-2deoxyguanosine, lymphocytic micronuclei and serum glutathione S-transferase in workers exposed to coke oven emissions. *Environ Health Perspect* 2006; 114(5):673–7.
- 28. Chen ML, Lee BC, Mao IF, Liu TY. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbondeoxyribonucleic acid (PAH-DNA) adduct levels and exposure to coke oven emissions among workers in Taiwan. *Arch Environ Health* 2003; 58(5):298–305.
- 29. Schecter A, Papke O, Ball M, et al. Dioxin concentrations in the blood of workers at municipal waste incinerators. *Occup Environ Med* 1995; 52(6):385–7.
- 30. Leem JH, Hong YC, Lee KH, et al. Health survey on workers and residents near the municipal waste and industrial waste incinerators in Korea. *Ind Health* 2003; 41(3):181–8.
- Mani U, Prasad AK, Suresh Kumar V, et al. Effect of fly ash inhalation on biochemical and histomorphological changes in rat liver. *Ecotoxicol Environ Saf* 2007; 68(1):126–33.
- 32. World Health Organization Working Group. *Polychlorinated dibenzo-dioxins and dibenzofurans*, Environmental Health Criteria vol. 88, Geneva, 1989.
- 33. Vainio H, Hesso A, Jappinen P. Chlorinated dioxins and dibenzofurans in the environment a hazard to public health? *Scand J Work Environ Health* 1989; 15(6):377–82.
- 34. Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry. Chromium toxicity physiologic effects, www.astdr.cdc.gov/HEC/CSEM/chromium/physiologic_effects.html
- 35. Meneses M, Schumacher M, Domingo JL. Health risk assessment of emissions of dioxins and furans from a municipal waste incinerator: Comparison with other emissions. *Environ Int* 2004; 30(4):481–9.
- Zaporowska H, Wasilewski W. Combined effect of vanadium and zinc on certain selected haematological indices in rats. *Comp Biochem Physiol* 1992; 103C(1):143–7.

13: INDUSTRIAL EXPOSURE

- 37. Richter ED, Friedman LS, Tamir Y, et al. Cancer risks in naval divers with multiple exposure to carcinogens. *Environ Health Perspect* 2003; 111(4):609–17.
- 38. Bakare AA, Pandey AK, Bajpayee M, et al. DNA damage induced in human peripheral blood lymphocytes by industrial solid waste and municipal sludge leachates. *Environ Mol Mutagen* 2007; 48(1):30–7.
- Chandra S, Chauhan LK, Murthy RC. In vivo genotoxic effects of industrial waste leachates in mice following oral exposure. *Environ Mol Mutagen* 2006; 47(5):325–33.
- 40. Tewari A, Gupta SK. DNA damage in bone marrow and blood cells of mice exposed to municipal sludge leachates. *Environ Mol Mutagen* 2006; 47(4):271–6.
- 41. Chen Z, Liu SJ, Cai SX, et al. Exposure of workers to a mixture of toluene and xylenes. II. Effects. *Occup Environ Med* 1994; 51(1):47–9.
- 42. Sato A, Nakajima T. Dose-dependent metabolic interaction between benzene and toluene in vivo and in vitro. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 1979; 48:249–56.
- 43. Perez CA, Bosia JD, Cantore MS, et al. Liver damage in workers exposed to hydrocarbons. *Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2006; 29(6):334–7.
- 44. Dennison JE, Bigelow PL, Mumtaz MM, et al. Evaluation of potential toxicity from co-exposure to three CNS depressants (toluene, ethylbenzene and xylene) under resting and working conditions using PBPK modeling. *J Occup Environ Hyg* 2005; 2(3):127–35.
- 45. Tharappel JC, Lee EY, Robertson LW, et al. Regulation of cell proliferation, apoptosis and transcription factor activities during the promotion of liver carcinogenesis by polychlorinated biphenyls. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 2002; 179(3):172–84.
- 46. Haag-Gronlund M, Johansson N, Fransson-Steen R, et al. Interactive effects of three structurally different biphenyls in a rat liver tumor promotion bioassay. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 1998; 152(1):153–65.
- 47. Wolfle D. Interactions between 2,3,7,8-TCDD and PCBs as tumor promoters: Limitations of TEFs. *Teratog Carcinog Mutagen* 1997–1998; 17(4–5):217–24.
- 48. Gobba F, Cavalleri A. Color vision impairment in workers exposed to neurotoxic chemicals. *Neurotoxicology* 2003; 24(4–5):693–702.
- 49. Gobba F. Color vision: A sensitive indicator of exposure to neurotoxins. *Neurotoxicology* 2000; 21(5):857–62.
- 50. Report of the General Counsel of the Office of Compliance, U.S. Congress. Investigation of the Health Effects of Irradiated Mail, Case Nos. OSH-0201,02, July 2, 2002.
- 51. Sparks PJ, Simon GE, Katon WJ, et al. An outbreak of illness among aerospace workers. *West J Med* 1990; 153(1):28–33.
- 52. Kilburn KH, Seidman BC, Warshaw R. Neurobehavioral and respiratory symptoms of formaldehyde and xylene exposure in histology technicians. *Arch Environ Health* 1985; 41(4):229–33.
- 53. International Joint Commission. An inventory of chemical substances identified in the Great Lakes Ecosystems, vols 1–6, International Joint Commission, Windsor, Ontario, Canada.
- 54. De Rosa CT, Hicks HE, Ashizawa AE, et al. A regional approach to assess the impact of living in a chemical world. *Ann NY Acad Sci* 2006; 1076:829–38.

14.1 Introduction

Pesticides are toxic chemicals that are deliberately introduced into the environment for the sole purpose of killing living organisms. In the United States alone, hundreds of products containing more than 130 billion pounds of pesticides are applied annually.^[1] The species that pesticides target include animals, plants, bacteria, and fungi. All pesticides are toxic to humans and result in human exposures. They are applied on the expectation that the quantities that humans may be exposed to will not prove to be hazardous because people are so much larger than the target species and therefore will not be appreciably impacted by small amounts of these lethal poisons. As discussed below this has not turned out to be the case. Pesticides that are endocrine disruptors are indeed toxic to humans even in low doses, as are mixtures of pesticides and the solvents commonly used to apply them.

Sources of human exposure to pesticides include agricultural application, commercial and home building disinfection, garden use, golf course and lawn use, manufacturing wastes, misuse, and handling accidents. Pesticide residues are present in foods and contaminated drinking water.^[1] Many are volatile and result in exposure upon breathing. Pesticides are ubiquitous in the environment and contaminate virtually every source of drinking water on Earth. In the United States, testing for pesticides found that they were present in every water source tested,^[2] in more than 70% of foods,^[3] and in the bodies of more than half of all adults and children.^[4]

14.2 Definitions

The term pesticide, as used here, is an all encompassing one that includes all chemicals deliberately and legally used to prevent, destroy, repel, or mitigate any pest, that is, any unwanted, living species. Different subdivisions of pesticides, however, target different types of species. The following classifications list the chemical pesticide subdivisions and the species they target.^[1]

- *Acaricides* kill mites, ticks, and spiders that feed on plants and animals. These are also called miticides.
- *Algicides* kill algae in ponds, lakes, canals, swimming pools, and industrial air conditioners.

- Antifouling agents kill or prevent the attachment of organisms (such as barnacles) that bind to boat bottoms and other underwater surfaces.
- Avicides kill birds.
- *Biopesticides* Pesticides derived from natural materials (an example being pyrethrum, which is an extract of dried chrysanthemum flowers).
- Biocides kill microorganisms.
- *Defoliants* cause leaves or other foliage to die and drop from trees and plants.
- Disinfectants kill microorganisms on inanimate surfaces.
- *Fumigants* Gases or fumes that kill insects, fungi, and other unwanted species in buildings or soil.
- *Fungicides* kill fungi, including blights, molds, mildews, and rusts.
- *Growth regulators* disrupt the life processes of insects and plants.
- *Herbicides* kill weeds (unwanted plants), grasses, and other plants.
- *Insecticides* kill insects and anthropods.
- Molluscicides kill snails and slugs.
- *Nematicides* kill nematodes (microscopic, worm-like organisms that feed on plant roots).
- Ovicides kill eggs of mites and insects.
- Piscicides kill fish.
- Predacides kill vertebrate predators.
- *Repellants* repel insects and birds.
- Rodenticides kill mice, rats, and other rodents.
- Sanitizers kill microorganisms on skin (generally added to soaps and cleaners used in medical settings and in the home).
- *Synergists* enhance the killing power of active ingredients (nontoxic alone).

14.3 Human Toxicities of Pesticides

As noted earlier, all pesticides are toxic to humans. Different classes of pesticides, however, poison through different mechanisms. Organophosphates poison insects and animals primarily by phosphorylation of the acetylcholinesterase enzyme (AChE) at nerve endings, thus interfering with normal nerve impulse transmission. *N*-methyl carbamates also poison by attacking the AChE, thus interfering with nerve transmissions. The other major class of pesticides, the organochlorines, are not cholinesterase inhibitors, but they interfere with fluxes of cations across nerve cell membranes, increasing neuronal irritability, which causes convulsions and seizures.^[5]

Following is a representative profile list of the different chemical classes of pesticides, their modes of absorption, toxicities to humans, symptoms of exposure, pesticide uses, and exemplar compounds. The pesticide profiles presented here are for those pesticides that are discussed in the remainder of this chapter. For a more extensive list of pesticide types, including brand names and their toxicities, the reader is referred to the literature.^[1,5]

Organophosphates		
Absorption	Inhalation, ingestion, dermal	
Human toxicity	Acetylcholinesterase degradation	
Exposure symptoms	Weakness, loss of appetite, weight loss, headache, dizziness, shaking, nausea, stomach cramps, diarrhea, perspiration	
Pesticide uses	Insecticides, acaricides	
Exemplars	Dichlorvos, chlorpyrifos, ethion, diazanon, dimethoate, acephate, malathion, azinphos-methyl, pirimphos-methyl, terbufos, coumaphos, phosmet	
N-methyl carbamates		
Absorption	Inhalation, ingestion, dermal	
Human toxicity	Acetylcholinesterase degradation	
Exposure symptoms	Weakness, headache, dizziness, shaking, nausea, stomach cramps, diarrhea, loss of appetite, perspiration	
Pesticide uses	Insecticides, acaricides	
Exemplars	Aldicarb, propoxur, carbaryl, benomyl, pyridostigmide bromide	
Organochlorines		
Absorption	Inhalation, ingestion, dermal	
Human toxicity	Nervous system disruption, mainly of the brain	
Exposure symptoms	Headache, dizziness, shaking, disorientation, weakness, nervousness	
Pesticide uses	Insecticides and acaricides	
Exemplars	Lindane, chlordane, dieldrin, mirex, DDT, toxaphene, chlordecone, endosulfan	
Chlorophenoxy compounds		
Absorption	Inhalation, ingestion, dermal	
Human toxicity	Eye, skin, lung, stomach, and intestinal mucous membrane lining irritant; injures liver, kidneys, and CNS	

EXPOSURES TO CHEMICAL MIXTURES

Exposure symptoms

Pesticide uses Exemplars

Pyrethrins and Pyrethroids

Absorption Human toxicity Exposure symptoms Pesticide uses Exemplars

Triazines

Absorption Human toxicity Exposure symptoms

Pesticide uses Exemplars

Paraquat and Diquat Absorption Human toxicity

Exposure symptoms

Pesticide uses

Diethyltoluamide (DEET) Absorption Human toxicity Exposure symptoms

Pesticide uses

Acetamides

Absorption Human toxicity Exposure symptoms Pesticide uses Exemplars Diarrhea, muscle twitching, burning sensation in stomach Herbicides 2,4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid (2,4-D), 2,4,5-trichlorophenoxyacetic acid (2,4,5-T), dicamba, mecoprop, 2-(2-methyl-4-chlorophenoxy) propionic acid (MCPP)

Inhalation, ingestion Low human toxicities by themselves Irritating to mouth, nose, throat Insecticides and acaricides Pyrethrin, dimethrin, fenvalerate, permethrin, bifenthrin

Inhalation, dermal Low human toxicities by themselves Moderately irritating to eyes, skin, respiratory system Herbicides Atrazine, cyanazine

Inhalation, ingestion, dermal, occular Skin, eyes, cornea, liver, kidneys, respiratory system, gastrointestinal tract Burning pain, nausea, vomiting, diarrhea, injures skin and nails Herbicides

Ingestion, dermal Skin Contact dermatitis, exacerbates preexisting skin disease Insect repellant

Ingestion, dermal Low human toxicities by themselves Irritating to eyes and skin Herbicides Metolachlor, allidochlor

216

Analides	
Absorption	Inhalation, dermal
Human toxicity	Dermal irritant and sensitizer
Exposure symptoms	Irritating to eyes, skin, and respiratory system
Pesticide uses	Herbicides
Exemplars	Alachlor, propachlor, propanil

14.4 Toxicity of Pesticide Mixtures

Pesticides are often applied in mixtures. Mixtures of herbicides, fungicides, and pesticides are applied to corn, cotton, lettuce, and fruit crops.^[6] As a result, pesticides are widely present in the environment as mixtures. This point is underscored by the finding that more than 50% of all streams tested in the United States contained five or more pesticides.^[2]

The toxic effects of some pesticide mixtures are additive, particularly when their toxic mechanisms are identical. The additive effects of the organophosphates chlorpyrifos and diazanon were demonstrated in one study.^[7] Another study found the s-triazine herbicides atrazine and cyanazine to show additive toxic effects.^[8] Not all mixtures of similar pesticides produce additive effects, however. In one study, mixtures of five organophosphate pesticides (chlorpyrifos, diazinon, dimethoate, acephate, and malathion) were shown to produce greater than additive effects when administered to laboratory animals.^[9] Another article discusses nonsimple additive effects of pyrethroid mixtures. Despite the similarities in their chemical structure, pyrethroids act on multiple sites, and mixtures of these produce different toxic effects.^[10]

Exposures to mixtures of different classes of pesticides produce effects that are often difficult to anticipate. A large number of such mixtures produce synergistic effects. Organophosphate insecticides enhance pyrethroid toxicity when applied together.^[11] Triazine herbicides potentiate the cholinesterase inhibiting property of organophosphates. For example, atrazine (a triazine herbicide) does not by itself reduce cholinesterase activity. Mixed with chlorpyrifos (an organophosphate) it significantly reduces acetylcholinesterase activity compared with chlorpyrifos alone.^[12] Similar results were obtained with a mix of cyanazine (also a triazine herbicide) and chlorpyrifos. It is hypothesized that the herbicides affect cytochrome P450 enzymes that metabolize organophosphates.^[13] In another study, diazanone (an organophosphate) and benomyl (a carbamate), which individually did not exhibit genotoxicity, were found to be genotoxic when administered together.^[14]

Amphibian endocrine disruption is of special interest to humans. The estrogen found in the painted turtle is identical to that found circulating in the human bloodstream and the endocrine disruptors that threaten wildlife populations have also been shown to be jeopardizing human reproduction.^[15] Accordingly, animal studies on endocrine disrupting properties of toxic chemicals are relevant to understanding human responses to these chemicals. Pesticide mixtures have been shown to be powerful endocrine disruptors in numerous other animal studies.^[16] Illustrative examples follow.

Hayes et al. examined the effects of a realistic mixture of nine pesticides applied to cornfields in Nebraska. In the study, the effects of a mixture containing four herbicides (atrazine, metolachlor, alachlor, and nicosulfuron), three insecticides (cyfluthrin, cyhalothrin, and tebupirimphos), and two fungicides (metalaxyl and propiconizole) were compared to those of the nine individual components. All chemicals were present at very low levels (0.1 ppb) similar to those found in the environment. The effects on larval growth and development and immune function in leopard frogs were examined. The results show that although some of the pesticides individually inhibited endocrine disruption (larval growth and development and delayed gonadal development), the mixture had much greater effects. Exposure to the mixture retarded larval growth and development, delayed metamorphosis, reduced animal size at metamorphosis, and resulted in underdevelopment of gonads. The nine-pesticide mix also induced damage to the thymus, resulting in immunosuppression and contraction of flavobacterial meningitis.^[16] The authors conclude that examining only single pesticides at high concentrations for toxicity may lead to "gross underestimations" of pesticide toxicities.

The similarities between human and wildlife hormones is also demonstrated in another study. The American alligator and human estrogen receptors were incubated with [3H]17beta-estradiol (ED) in the presence of chlordane (which has no estrogenic activity), dieldrin, and toxaphene (which have very weak estrogenic activity). A combination of the three pesticides inhibited the binding of ED by 20–40%. A mixture of dieldrin with alachlor (which also has weak estrogenic activity) also resulted in a greater than predicted ED inhibition.^[17]

The chlorinated pesticides DDT and chlordecone are known to generate deleterious reproductive effects. In a bioassay of these and other chlorinated pesticides on cultured human breast estrogen-sensitive MCF7 cells, it was shown that dieldrin, toxaphene, and endosulfan have estrogenic properties comparable to those of DDT and chlordecone. When tested together, the mixture of the three pesticides induced estrogenic responses

at lower concentrations than those required when the compounds were tested individually.^[18]

The urine of randomly selected men in agricultural environments of reproductive age was analyzed for parent compounds and metabolites of pesticides and was compared with sperm concentration. The results showed that those exposed to mixtures of organophosphates and pyrethroids had lower sperm concentrations, and that sperm concentration was related to the exposure levels of the two pesticide categories.^[19]

Pesticide mixture exposure has been linked to parental infertility, spontaneous abortion, preterm delivery, and congenital abnormalities. In one study mouse embryos were exposed to mixtures of six herbicides (2,4-D, pendimethalin, atrazine, dicamba, metolachlor, and mecoprop), three insecticides (chlorpyrifos, terbufos, and permethrin), two fungicides (chlorothalonil and mancozeb), and a fertilizer (ammonium nitrate). The mixtures simulated exposures encountered by handling pesticides, inhaling airborne matter, or ingesting contaminated groundwater. Incubating embryos with mixtures increased apoptosis in exposed embryos and reduced development to blastocyst and mean cell number per embryo. The authors conclude that the data demonstrate that injury from pesticide mixture exposure can occur early in development and at exposure concentrations generally not believed to affect humans.^[20]

In a study using a human neuroblastoma cell line, mixtures of three different organophosphates (azinphos-methyl, diazanon, and dimethoate), and mixtures of an organic phosphate (pirimiphos-methyl) and a benzimidizole fungicide (benomyl) showed greater toxicity toward protein synthesis than the individual pesticides.^[21] The authors of the study concluded that it is not feasible to predict the toxicities of pesticide mixtures on the basis of the toxicities of the single components.

Approximately 30,000 veterans of the First Gulf War in 1991 have reported neurological, dermal, respiratory, musculoskeletal, and gastrointestinal symptoms of unknown etiology, commonly referred to as the Gulf War Syndrome. The causes remain unknown, but one hypothesis offered suggests that the symptoms may be attributable to pesticides that were used in the field. Soldiers were given a mixture of DEET (an aromatic amide insect repellant), permethrin (a pyrethroid insecticide), and pyridostigmine bromide (PB, a quaternary dimethyl carbamate to protect against potential nerve gas attack). In laboratory testing on hens, binary mixtures of any two of these three compounds produced greater neurotoxicity (including locomotor dysfunctions, reluctance to walk, impaired flying ability, and tremors) than that caused by the individual species. Neurotoxicity was further enhanced by concurrent administration of all three compounds. At the dosages administered, all three compounds singly exhibited minimal neurotoxicity.^[22] Similar results were observed when laboratory rats were treated with mixtures of the same pesticides. Mixtures of DEET and promethrin, DEET and PB, promethrin or all three and PB led to locomotor and sensorimotor dysfunctions as well as significant decreases in AChE activities in the brains of laboratory animals treated with these mixtures. Individually, the three pesticides did not affect motor functions or have any inhibitory effect on plasma or brain cholinesterase activities.^[23]

14.5 Inert Ingredients in Pesticides

Pesticides that are placed into the stream of commerce for agricultural and home use are almost always mixtures of active ingredients and other ingredients put into the formulation to increase solubility, increase absorption by targeted species, adjust pH, alter viscosity and flow properties, and produce homogeneity. The other materials, which typically make up greater than 50% of most pesticide formulations and more than 90% of many, include solvents, surfactants, synergists, colorants, preservatives, and antifoaming agents. These other materials, which often are not identified on package labeling and product literature, are also referred to as inert ingredients.

Inert ingredients are presumed to have no physical, chemical, or biological activity, but this is not always the case. Pesticide testing, required to register pesticides, is mostly performed with the active ingredient alone, not the complete formulation. Many of the so-called inert ingredients, of which there are currently about 3000 in use,^[24] are themselves toxic. For example, a commercial herbicide that contains glufosinate ammonium (GLA) as its active component and an anionic surfactant, sodium polyoxyethylene alkylether sulfate (AES), decreases blood pressure and alters the heart rates of rats. GLA alone does not affect either parameter, whereas AES alone does.^[25] Xylene, used as solvent in many pesticides, is a known human neurotoxin.^[26]

Numerous studies demonstrate that inert ingredients enhance the toxicities of the active ingredients in pesticide formulations.^[27] Examples of such effects follow.

Commercial formulations of pyrethrins usually contain piperonyl butoxide (PO). PO is a well-known synergist that inhibits the metabolic degradation of pyrethrins and thereby intensifies the effects of the active ingredients of pyrethrins.^[28,29]

Surfactants and solvents are added to commercial pesticides to increase adsorption by targeted species. These chemicals also enhance adsorption through mammalian skin. In a laboratory animal experiment, dermal penetration of atrazine, alachlor, and trifluralin was significantly lower for the pesticides alone than when contained in commercial versions of all three. It was also shown that the solvents contained in the commercial trifluralin enhanced the dermal penetration of the other two commercial formulas when the pesticides were mixed together.^[30] Pesticides are often applied in mixtures. This study shows that such mixing can have important implications for the health of those who come in contact with such mixtures.

In another dermal penetration study, it was shown that the absorption of the insecticide carbaryl was enhanced by the solvent acetone and the surfactant sodium lauryl sulfate. The synergist PO significantly increased the absorption of carbaryl when added to the acetone–carbaryl mix.^[31] This study points out both the enhanced absorption of pesticide by individual inert additives as well as the further enhanced mixture effect.

Lindane absorption through human skin was studied in vivo and in vitro. Both studies showed that commercially formulated lindane products, which contained white spirits (a lipophile) as a solvent was significantly higher than from acetone (a hydrophile) solution both in vivo and in vitro.^[32,33]

Bifenthrin is the active ingredient in an insecticide sold for home use. Bifenthrin alone is not toxic to rodent nerve cells at 10⁻³ M concentration. A household use product containing bifenthrin, however, was shown to be neurotoxic at concentrations of 10⁻⁶ and 10⁻⁷ M.^[34] The authors conclude that the enhanced toxicity of bifenthrin is attributable to the "inert" additives in the commercial product.

The "inert" ingredients formulated into herbicides containing 2,4-D were shown to multiply the inhibition of mitochondrial oxidative activity of 2,4-D by as much as 136 times relative to the herbicides alone.^[35] Similar results were found for formulations containing 2,4,5-T.^[36]

The herbicide glyphosate alone does not show any effect on mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation. When formulated into a commercial pesticide, it causes a significant reduction in the activity of rat liver mitochondrial respiratory complexes.^[37] Glyphosate-containing products also contain a surfactants, antifoaming agents, colorants, biocides, and inorganic ions for pH adjustment.^[38] No mechanism for the enhanced toxicities of formulated glyphosates has been advanced, though it is thought that the surfactants facilitate the absorption of the active ingredient and hence its toxicity.

Atrazine, one of the most widely used herbicides in the world, is not genotoxic and does not induce apoptoxic effects or necrosis in human lymphocytes. A commercial herbicide containing atrazine, however, was shown to damage human lymphocyte DNA in vitro, as did the adjuvant (additive) mixture alone contained in the product.^[39] The authors of the study attribute the toxicity to the adjuvant mixture contained in the commercial product.

The inert components of pesticides can also contribute to their absorption by humans by facilitating the transport of pesticides through protective clothing. A commercial formula containing isooctyl ester of 2,4-D was shown to penetrate through neoprene and nitrile gloves. The penetration was ascribed to a cosolvent effect involving the inert components of the formulation.^[40]

14.6 Low Level Pesticide Poisonings

The toxicological properties of individual pesticides are well known.^[41] The effects of poisoning by low levels of pesticides and pesticide mixtures have not been as well documented. These effects are the subject of this section. The octanol:water partition coefficients (K_{ow}) are given for each of the chemicals in this section, so as to demonstrate the effects of exposures to mixtures of lipophiles and hydrophiles.

Exposures to low levels of pesticides are those that occur when toxic effects are observed following inhalation, ingestion, or dermal absorption of concentrations not known to be toxic. An example is the exposure to a commercial formulation of a bifenthrin-containing (8.15) insecticide that was shown to be neurotoxic at levels 3–4 orders of magnitude lower than the NOEL for bifenthrin alone.^[34] Other chemicals contained in the commercial formula include a surfactant, heavy petroleum naphtha (5.0–6.5) and aromatic petroleum distillate (5.0–7.0).

Chronic low level exposures to pesticides can lead to permanent neurological impairment. A study of banana workers illustrates this point. The psychomotor and visuomotor skills of 81 banana workers who had previously received nonhospitalization medical attention for mild exposures to organophosphate or carbamate pesticides were diminished relative to a control group of 130 banana workers who had never sought medical attention for pesticide exposure. The diminished effects were observed on an average of 27 months after the reported exposures.^[42]

The toxic effects of low level pesticide exposure can follow single or chronic exposures. The following examples illustrate this.

A mystery illness that affected 17 casino workers following fumigation of the premises with a pesticide mixture that contained the carbamate propoxur (1.52), the organophosphate coumaphos (4.13), 1,1,1-trichloroethane (2.49), methylene chloride (1.25), xylene (3.15), and acetone (-0.24) was reported. Industrial hygiene evaluation revealed only trace quantities of the chemicals noted, yet pesticide poisoning symptoms were observed in the employees.^[43] No explanation for the effects was offered by the investigators.

Low levels of an applied herbicide–pesticide–solvent mix were drawn into the uptake air of a commercial building following the application of a pesticide mix to the lawn in front of that building. Several employees immediately reported CNS and respiratory symptoms, with one sustaining a permanent respiratory injury. The pesticide mix applied to the lawn was composed of 2,4-D (2.82), 2-(2-methyl-4-chlorophenoxy) propionic acid (MCPP; 2.48), and dicamba (2.21). The mixture also contained solvent naphtha (a mixture of aliphatic solvents, $K_{ow} = 3.5-5.0$) with 14% naphthalene (2.48) and dinitroaniline (3.30). The concentrations of all pesticides and solvents were far below the TLVs both outside and inside the building. The toxic effects observed were ascribed to the mixture of lipophilic and hydrophilic pesticides.^[44]

Neurobehavioral deficits in those exposed to low levels of pesticides were observed by administering neurobehavioral tests to a group of migrant Hispanic farm workers who were exposed to low levels of azinphos-methyl (2.75), phosmet (2.78), and malathion (2.36) and a control group of nonagricultural Hispanic immigrant population. The farm workers were shown to have been exposed to low levels of pesticides in the fields and via dust in their homes. Significant neurological deficits were observed in the agricultural workers exposed to low levels of pesticides relative to the control group.^[45] In another study, preschool aged children living in agricultural communities in close proximity to fields where pesticides were applied showed impaired neurobehavioral performances similar to those observed in adults exposed to low levels of organophosphate pesticides.^[46]

Agricultural workers often experience long-term low level pesticide exposures. In a study of 175 farm workers so exposed, it was found that chronic exposure (over many years) to low levels of pesticides produced neurological impairments similar to those observed in acute organophosphate pesticide poisonings.^[47]

Chronic peripheral nervous system effects have been reported in farmers who applied the organophosphate pesticides methyl parathion (2.86), azin-phos-methyl (2.75), and tetraethylpyrophosphate (0.45) pesticides in xylene (3.15) solutions and were exposed to levels below those known to produce acute or subacute symptoms.^[48] Similar effects were described in another study of low level exposure to organophosphate pesticides.^[49] In both cases, it is hypothesized that the lipophilic solvent (xylene) facilitated the absorption of greater than expected quantities of the more hydrophilic pesticides.^[44]

Neurological effects are not the only ones that result from low level pesticide exposure. Endocrine and immunological effects have also been reported.

A large number of ubiquitous environmental pollutants are very toxic to the hypothalamic–pituitary–thyroid (HPT) axis when administered at high (greater than environmental) levels. To study low level effects on the HPT axis, laboratory animals were administered a mixture of 16 organochlorine pesticides and other chlorinated hydrocarbons and heavy metals, all at levels similar to those found environmentally, so as to simulate environmental exposure. The chemicals included DDT (6.91), HCB (5.73), TCDD (6.80), PCBs (6.29), methoxychlor (5.08), endosulfan (3.83), heptachlor (6.10), hexachlorocyclohexane (3.80), dieldrin (5.40), aldrin (6.50), mirex (7.18), several chlorinated benzenes (2.84–3.44), cadmium (–1.65), and lead (1.35). Effects were measured by monitoring thyroid activity. The study found that this mixture of environmental pollutants was toxic and can alter HPT physiology in sexually mature males.^[50]

Human natural killer (NK) lymphocytes are vital to immune system defense against viral infection. They are also crucial in protecting against primary tumor formation. In vitro exposures to low levels of two organotin pesticides, tributyltin (4.76) and triphenyltin (4.19), and two carbamate pesticides, maneb (0.62) and ziram (1.23), produced significant loss of cytotoxic function of NK cells after 6 days of exposure. The toxicities of the pesticides also increased very significantly with exposure durations.^[51] It should be noted that exposure to ziram can come from other sources. It is used as an additive in rubber products such as latex gloves.

14.7 Summary

Pesticide mixtures have been found to exhibit greater than additive effects when administered together. These enhanced effects may be due to the actions of the pesticides themselves, the presence of so-called inert ingredients in their formulations, synergistic interaction with other environmental pollutants, or combinations of these.

All the low level pesticide effects discussed earlier, ensued following exposures to mixtures that contained lipophilic and hydrophilic components. This is consistent with the manner in which pesticides are formulated and applied, that is, as mixtures of products, each of which is composed of lipophilic and hydrophilic components. An exhaustive search of the literature did not produce a single example of low level pesticide activity at concentrations at which the pesticide mixtures exhibited toxicity.

As was seen, solvents and/or surfactants contained in one pesticide formulation can activate a low level response in a second pesticide present in the mixture. Similar activation effects may be induced by the action of nonpesticide toxic chemicals present in the environment with pesticides.

The studies reviewed in this chapter clearly demonstrate that accurate evaluations of pesticide toxicity cannot be made by studying the toxicities of individual pesticides isolated from additive chemicals in their formulations and from other chemicals with which they may reasonably be expected to mix after application.

References

- 1. Greene SA, Pohanish RP. *Sittig's handbook of pesticides and agricultural chemicals*, William Andrew, Norwich, NY, 2005.
- Gilliom RJ, Barbash JE, Crawford CG, et al. The quality of our nation's waters: Pesticides in the nation's streams and groundwater, 1992–2001. U.S. Geological Survey, Reston, VA, www.pubs.usgs.gov/circ/2005/1291/
- 3. U.S. Department of Agriculture. *Pesticide data program: Annual summary calendar year 2004*, USDA, Washington, DC, 2006, www.ams.usda.gov/ science/pdp/Summary2004pdf
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Third national report on human exposure to environmental chemicals, 2005, www.cdc.gov/exposure report/3rd/ default.htm
- Morgan DP. Recognition and management of pesticides, 4th ed., U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, EPA-540/9-88-001, Washington, DC, March 1989.
- 6. Lydy M, Belden J, Wheelock C, et al. Challenges in regulating pesticide mixtures. *Ecol Soc* 2004; 9(6):1, www.ecologyandsociety.org/vol9/iss6/art1
- 7. Bailey H, Miller J, Miller L, et al. Joint acute toxicity of diazinon and chlorpyrofus to Ceriodaphnia dubia. *Environ Toxicol Chem* 1997; 16:2304–8.
- Faust M, Altenburger R, Boedicker W, et al. Additive effects of herbicide combinations on aquatic non-target organisms. *Sci Total Environ* 1993; (Suppl):941–52.
- Moser VC, Simmons JE, Gennings C. Neurotoxicological interactions of a five-pesticide mixture in preweanling rats. *Toxicol Sci* 2006; 92(1):235–45.
- Soderlund DM, Clark JM, Sheets LP, et al. Mechanisms of pyrethroid neurotoxicity: Implications for cumulative risk effect. *Toxicology* 2002; 171(1): 3–59.
- 11. Ray DE, Forshaw PJ. Pyrethroid insecticides: Poisoning syndromes, synergies and therapy. *J Clin Toxicol* 2000; 38(2):95–101.
- 12. Belden JB, Lydy MJ. Effects of atrazine on acetylcholinesterase activity in midges (*Chironomus tentans*) exposed to organophosphorus insecticides. *Chemosphere* 2001; 44(8):1685–9.
- 13. Jin-Clark Y, Lydy MJ, Zhu KY. Effects of atrazine and cyanazine on chlropyrifos toxicity in Chironomus tentans (Diptera:Chironomidae). *Environ Toxicol Chem* 2002; 21(3):598–603.
- 14. Bianchi L, Zannoli A, Pazzala R. Genotoxicity assay of five pesticides and their mixtures in Saccharomyces cerevisiae D7. *Mutat Res* 1994; 321(4):203–11.

- 15. Colborn T, Dumanoski D, Myers JP. *Our stolen future*, Penguin Books, New York, 1996, pp. 165–97.
- Hayes TB, Case P, Chui S, et al. Pesticide mixtures, endocrine disruption and amphibian declines: Are we understanding the impact? *Environ Health Perspect* 2006; 114 (Suppl 1):40–50.
- Arnold SF, Vonier PM, Collins BM, et al. In vitro synergistic interaction of alligator and human estrogen receptors with combinations of environmental chemicals. *Environ Health Perspect* 1997; 105 (Suppl 3):615–18.
- Soto AM, Chung KL, Sonnenschein C. The pesticides endosulfan, toxaphene and dieldrin have estrogenic effects on human estrogen-sensitive cells. *Environ Health Perspect* 1994; 102(4):380–3.
- 19. Perry MJ, Venners SA, Barr DB, Xu X. Environmental pyrethroid and organophosphorus insecticide exposures and sperm concentration. *Reprod Toxicol* 2007; 23(1):113–18.
- Greenlee AR, Ellis TM, Berg RL. Low-dose agrochemicals and lawn-care pesticides induce developmental toxicity in murine preimplantation embryos. *Environ Health Perspect* 2004; 112(6):703–9.
- Marinovich M, Ghilardi F, Galli CL. Effect of pesticide mixtures on in vitro nervous cells: Comparison with single pesticides. *Toxicology* 1996; 108(3):201–6.
- 22. Abou-Donia MB, Wilmarth KR. Neurotoxicity resulting from coexposure to pyridostigmine bromide, DEET, and permethrin: implications of Gulf War chemical exposures. *J Toxicol Environ Health* 1996; 48(1):35–56
- 23. Abou-Donia MB, Goldstein LB, Jones KH, et al. Locomotor and sensorimotor performance deficit in rats following exposure to pyridostigmine bromide, DEET and permethrin, alone and in combination. *Toxicol Sci* 2001; 60(2):305–14.
- 24. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Inert (other) pesticide ingredients in pesticide products—categorized list of inert (other) pesticide ingredients, www.epa.gov/opprd001/inerts/lists.html
- 25. Koyama K, Koyama K, Goto K. Cardiovascular effects of a herbicide containing glufosinate and a surfactant: In vitro and in vivo analyses in rats. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 1997; 145(2):409–14.
- 26. Pohanish RP (ed.). *Sittig's handbook of toxic and hazardous chemicals and carcinogens*, 4th ed., Noyes, Norwich, NY, pp. 2340–2.
- Cox C, Surgan M. Unidentified inert ingredients in pesticides: Implications for human and environmental health. *Environ Health Perspect* 2006; 114(12):1803–6.
- 28. Kakko I, Toimela T, Tahti H. Poperonyl butoxide potentiates the synaptosome ATPase inhibiting effect of pyrethrin. *Chemosphere* 2000; 40(3):301–5.
- 29. Proudfoot AT. Poisoning due to pyrethrins. Toxicol Rev 2005; 24(2):107-13.
- 30. Brand RM, Mueller C. Transdermal penetration of atrazine, alachlor and trifluralin: Effect of formulation. *Toxicol Sci* 2002; 68(1):18–23.
- 31. Baynes RE, Riviere JE. Influence of inert ingredients in pesticide formulations on dermal absorption of carbaryl. *Am J Vet Res* 1998; 59(2):168–75.
- Dick IP, Blain PG, Williams FM. The percutaneous absorption and skin distribution of lindane in man. I. In vivo studies. *Hum Exp Toxicol* 1997; 16(11):645–51.

- Dick IP, Blain PG, Williams FM. The percutaneous absorption and skin distribution of lindane in man. II. In vitro studies. *Hum Exp Toxicol* 1997; 16(11):652–7.
- 34. Tran V, Hoffman N, Mofunanaya A, et al. Bifenthrin inhibits neurile outgrowth in differentiating PC12 cells. *Med Sci Monit* 2006; 12(2):BR57–62.
- 35. Oakes DJ, Pollack JK. Effects of a herbicide formulation, Tordon 75D, and its individual components on the oxidative functions of mitochondria. *Toxicology* 1999; 136(1):41–52.
- 36. Oakes DJ, Pollack JK. The in vitro evaluation of the toxicities of three related herbicide formulations containing ester derivatives of 2,4,5-T and 2,4-D using sub-mitochondrial particles. *Toxicology* 2000; 151(1–3):1–9.
- 37. Peixoto F. Comparative effects of the roundup and glyphosate on mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation. *Chemosphere* 2005; 61(8):1115–22.
- 38. Bradberry SM, Proudfoot AT, Vale JA. Glyphosate poisoning. *Toxicol Rev* 2004; 23(3):159–67.
- 39. Zeljezic D, Garaj-Vrhovac V, Perkovic P. Evaluation of DNA damage induced by atrazine and atrazine-based herbicide in human lymphocytes in vitro using a comet and DNA diffusion assay. *Toxicol in Vitro* 2006; 20(6):923–35.
- 40. Harville J, Que Hee SS. Permeation of a 2,4-D isooctyl ester formulation through neoprene, nitrile and Tyvek protection materials. *Am Ind Hyg Assoc J* 1989; 50(8):438–46.
- 41. Greene SA, Phanish RP (eds). *Sittig's handbook of pesticides and agricultural chemicals*, William Andrew, Norwich, NY, 2005.
- 42. Wessling C, Keifer M, Ahlbom A, et al. Long-term behavioral effects of mild poisonings with organophosphates and *n*-methyl carbamate pesticides among banana workers. *Int J Occup Environ Health* 2002; 8(1):27–34.
- Cone JE, Sult TA. Acquired intolerance to solvents following acute pesticide/ solvent intoxication in a building. U.S. Department of Labor, Occupational Safety and Health Administration, Report No. 0030-CONE-91-012, Washington, DC, 1991.
- 44. Zeliger HI, Toxic effects of chemical mixtures. *Arch Environ Health* 2003; 58(1):23–9.
- 45. Rothlein J, Rohlman D, Lasarev M, et al. Organphosphate pesticide exposure and neurobehavioral performance in agricultural and non-agricultural Hispanic workers. *Environ Health Perspect* 2006; 114(5):691–6.
- 46. Rohlman DS, Arcury TA, Quandt SA, et al. Neurobehavioral performance in preschool children from agricultural and non-agricultural communities in Oregon and North Carolina. *Neurotoxicology* 2005; 26(4):589–98.
- Rohlman DS, Lasarev M, Anger WK, et al. Neurobehavioral performance of adult and adolescent agricultural workers. *Neurotoxicology* 2007; 28(2):374–80.
- 48. Horowitz SH, Stark A, Marshall E, et al. A multi-modality assessment of peripheral nerve function in organophosphate-pesticide applicators. *J Occup Environ Med* 1999; 41(5):405–8.
- 49. Blain PG. Adverse health effects after low level exposure to organophosphates. *Occup Environ Med* 2001; 58:689–90.
- 50. Wade MG, Parent S, Finnson KW, et al. Thyroid toxicity due to subchronic exposure to a complex mixture of 16 organochlorines, lead and cadmium. *Toxicol Sci* 2002; 67(2):207–18.
- 51. Wilson S, Dzon L, Reed A, et al. Effects of in vitro exposure to low levels of organotin and carbamate pesticides on human natural killer cell cytotoxic function. *Environ Toxicol* 2004; 19(6):554–63.

15.1 Introduction

This chapter addresses the toxic effects of the mixtures of two recreational toxins, ethanol and tobacco. These are the most abused chemicals in the world and both are used recreationally worldwide. There are many other recreational drugs in use. These include marijuana, cocaine, heroin, and methamphetamines for example. These other recreational drugs are not addressed here, except where they are components of xenobiotic mixtures that produce unanticipated toxic effects. At this time there is a substantial volume of information that describes unanticipated toxic effects of ethanol and tobacco when used in conjunction with other toxicants. That information is the subject of this chapter.

It should be noted that organic solvents are deliberately inhaled (a practice known as huffing) by some for their intoxicating effects. The toxic symptoms that follow huffing are substantially identical to those observed following accidental inhalation. Inhalation toxicity is addressed in several parts of this book and is not covered here.

15.2 Ethanol: Introduction

Humans have been deliberately imbibing alcoholic beverages since the Stone Age (c. 10,000 BC). Alcoholic beverages were consumed by the Chinese about 7000 BC, by the Egyptians around 4000 BC, by the Babylonians around 2700 BC, and by the Greeks about 2000 BC. The Hebrews were introduced to wine during their captivity in Egypt and passed it down to Christianity. Throughout history, alcoholic beverages have been part of the religious rites of man.^[1] As a result, the use of alcohol is deeply ingrained into most of the cultures of the world. It is consumed by vast numbers of people for religious and recreational purposes.

Ethanol is a toxic chemical with a dose–response relationship between quantity consumed and toxicity. It exhibits toxicity to the following parts of the human body:

- Digestive tract
- Liver

- Cardiovascular system
- Brain
- Reproductive system
- Fetal development
- Excretory system
- Respiratory system

This chapter does not address the individual toxic effects of ethanol. Rather, in keeping with the theme of this book, the effects of mixtures containing ethanol are examined. It is seen that ethanol exacerbates the effects of other toxicants when coconsumed with these and induces effects not associated with exposures to the individual toxicants, nor with ethanol alone. It is not implied here that the consumption of ethanol is necessarily hazardous to one's health. Indeed, positive effects of moderate ethanol consumption, including reduced coronary disease, have been reported in the literature.^[2] With notable exceptions (e.g., use by alcoholics and diabetics), it is the excessive imbibing of ethanol that is responsible for its toxic effects.

15.3 Mechanisms of Ethanol Mixture Toxicity

Ethanol and other xenobiotics are metabolized in the same manner. Cytochrome P450 2E1 (CYP2E1) is the key enzyme in ethanol metabolism. CYP2E1 is induced by chronic ethanol consumption. Its activity in the liver is 3–5-fold greater in chronic abusers and accounts for the tolerance of ethanol in chronic abusers. This metabolic tolerance persists for several days following cessation of ethanol consumption. CYP2E1 also oxidizes other toxic chemicals including benzene, trichloroethylene, carbon tetrachloride, other organic solvents, and nitrosamines (present in food and tobacco smoke) to toxic metabolites and carcinogens. Accordingly, heavy consumption of ethanol that induces CYP2E1 increases the individual susceptibility of those who are exposed to these other xenobiotics even when adsorption of these occurs subsequent to ethanol ingestion via on-the-job and/or at home exposures to chemicals, polluted air, contaminated water, dietary intake, and other sources.^[3–5]

Another mechanism of ethanol toxicity involves oxidative stress. Ethanol-induced liver disease is associated with significant oxidative stress as well as with increased levels of iron, which is also known to initiate oxidative stress in the liver. The combined oxidative stress induced by ethanol and iron greatly increases results in lipid peroxidation and the production of aldehydes such as 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal, compounds that have been shown to cause mutations in the p53 gene. The greatly enhanced oxidative stress resulting from the combined effects of ethanol and iron is believed to be responsible for increased incidences of hepatocellular carcinomas in individuals who have high liver iron levels and consume ethanol.^[6]

15.4 Effect of Ethanol on Nutrients and Drugs

The following are examples of the effect of ethanol on nutritional components and drugs that are caused by metabolic induction.

Retinol is metabolized by the same enzymes that oxidize ethanol. As a result, prolonged use of ethanol, which induces those degradative enzymes, results in the breakdown of retinol to toxic metabolites. Ethanol also interferes with the conversion of beta-carotene, a precursor to vitamin A, to retinol. Thus, ethanol both promotes a deficiency of vitamin A and enhances its toxicity and that of beta-carotene.^[7]

Acetaminophen (APAP) is a widely used analgesic. Pretreatment with APAP followed by ethanol intake increases the metabolism of APAP and thereby its toxicity. Binge drinking of ethanol increases the hepatotoxicity of APAP.^[8] Caffeine also activates the metabolism of APAP and it, too, increases the hepatotoxicity of APAP. The combination of ethanol and caffeine significantly increases the liver toxicity of APAP.^[9]

Caffeine causes intracellular calcium levels to increase and thereby increases apoptosis induction. Ethanol promotes higher calcium levels and higher apoptotic rates than caffeine. When caffeine and ethanol are combined, calcium levels and apoptosis are markedly elevated, indicating that the apoptotic effect of ethanol is potentiated when it is mixed with caffeine.^[10]

15.5 Toxicity of Ethanol Mixtures with Other Chemicals

Combined exposure to ethanol and numerous other chemicals produces enhanced toxic effects. The following studies are examples of such interactive effects.

Benzene's toxicity is attributed to its metabolites. These can be accurately measured in urinary output. In a study to measure the effect of alcohol on benzene metabolic output, laboratory animals were treated with ethanol and exposed to benzene vapors. The urinary output of benzene metabolites was significantly lower in the animals treated with both ethanol and benzene

than in control animals exposed to benzene alone. The study shows that the reduced output of benzene metabolites results from ethanol acting to retain these toxins in the body. The authors conclude that chronic ethanol ingestion exacerbates benzene myelotoxicity.^[11]

The human CNS toxicity of inhaled *m*-xylene is enhanced by ethanol ingestion. This effect markedly and nonlinearly increases with ethanol dose and is attributed to the fact that both *m*-xylene and ethanol are metabolized by the CYP2E1 enzyme and that ethanol is preferentially metabolized, resulting in higher residual levels of *m*-xylene.^[12] The action of ethanol on *m*-xylene CNS toxicity points out the need to consider ethanol consumption when establishing safe exposure levels for volatile organic compounds.

Ethanol potentiates the toxicity of carbon tetrachloride. This phenomenon is exemplified by a report in the literature of human exposure to carbon tetrachloride. In two separate instances, acute liver and kidney poisoning ensued following exposure to carbon tetrachloride vapors from a discharged fire extinguisher. In both cases, other workers exposed to the same vapors for the same period of time showed no toxic signs or symptoms. Upon investigation, it was determined that the two injured individuals were chronic ethanol users, with daily consumptions of 120 and 250 g/day, respectively. Each of their nonaffected coworkers consumed less than 50 g of ethanol per day.^[13]

Exposure to 2,2-dichloro-1,1,1-trifluoroethane (HCFC-123) produces reversible liver lesions in laboratory animals. When exposure to HCFC-123 was coupled with ethanol ingestion, liver toxicity was markedly increased. The increase, due to CPY2E1 induction, greatly enhanced the metabolism of HCFC-123 to compounds that are toxic to the liver.^[14] HCFC-123 is a widely used substitute for banned ozone-depleting chloro-fluorocarbons. This study strongly suggests that exposure to HCFC-123 can lead to toxic end points in individuals who chronically consume ethanol.

As discussed in Section 13.3 concurrent exposure to noise and some organic solvents and solvent mixtures is ototoxic. Styrene is an example of an ototoxic compound, with exposures to it causing permanent hearing threshold shifts and outer hair cell damage. Ethanol alone does not affect auditory sensitivity, yet, when combined with styrene it induces hearing and outer hair cell losses in test animals in levels greater than those caused by styrene alone. The potentiation of the ototoxicity of styrene by ethanol is ascribed to the altering of styrene metabolism by ethanol.^[15]

Hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) is cytotoxic. In one study, treatment of PC12 cells with H_2O_2 resulted in nuclear damage, decrease in the mitochondrial transmembrane potential, increase in ROS formation and depletion of

glutathione (GHS). When H_2O_2 treatment was combined with ethanol, synergistic effects were observed. Relative to H_2O_2 alone, the combination of H_2O_2 and ethanol resulted in increased cell death as a function of exposure time. Nuclear damage, change in mitochondrial membrane permeability, and ROS were all increased and GSH levels in cells were decreased. The authors of the study opine that ethanol enhances H_2O_2 viability loss by promoting mitochondrial membrane permeability change, which is associated with increased ROS formation and GHS depletion.^[16]

Heavy metals target the CNS. The toxic CNS effects of heavy metals are enhanced by consumption of ethanol.^[17] In one study, laboratory animals were treated with lead alone and with a combination of lead and ethanol. In this study, ethanol enhanced the toxicity of lead in the brain via decreased cellular energy reserves (ATP levels). Co-exposure to lead and ethanol caused a significant decline in the rate of mitochondrial respiration compared to that induced by lead alone.^[18]

Dibutyltin dichloride (DBTC) is a widespread environmental pollutant that exhibits developmental toxicity in animals^[19] and immunotoxic effects in human cells in vitro.^[20] No studies were found in the literature that compared the developmental and immunotoxic effects of DBTC alone to a mixture of DBTC and ethanol. One study, however, found that ethanol co-administered with DBTC increased the toxicity of DBTC in the liver and pancreas of laboratory animals both acutely and chronically.^[21] An analysis of this study suggests that the combination of DBTC and ethanol might be expected to show enhanced toxic effects on other body organs and systems.

N,*N*-dimethyl-*m*-toluamide (DEET) is the active ingredient in numerous commercial mosquito repellants. DEET by itself or as formulated into commercial products permeates through human skin. Dermal exposures to DEET and to mixtures containing DEET have been associated with toxic encephalopathy in children.^[22] It has been shown that ethanol, the solvent for DEET, significantly enhances the permeation of DEET through the skin.^[23] Toxic effects attributed to DEET absorption may, therefore, be enhanced by the incorporation of ethanol into commercial product formulations.

Ethanol is frequently consumed with other recreational drugs. Cocaine abuse has resulted in an increase of catastrophic cardiovascular events such as myocardial infarction, ventricular arrhythmias, angina pectoris, and sudden death. Many of those so affected also consume ethanol prior to cocaine use. The drug combination of ethanol first followed by cocaine use has been shown to generate synergistic cardiovascular effects in humans and animals.^[24–27] The findings are believed to be due to the inhibition effect of ethanol on cocaine metabolism.^[28]

The addition of ethanol consumption to cocaine use also increases the toxicity of cocaine to human hepatocytes. It is reported that this effect is the result of a depletion of hepatocyte GSH by ethanol, thereby increasing the sensitivity of human hepatocytes to cocaine-induced oxidative damage.^[29]

Ethanol also enhances the effects of marijuana smoking. The blood levels of delta(9)-tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) and subjective mood states of human volunteers were increased by the combination of marijuana smoking and ethanol consumption relative to marijuana smoking alone. The volunteers reported that the marijuana effects were noted more rapidly when coconsumption took place. The accelerated subjective effects corresponded to high plasma THC levels following coconsumption of the two drugs. The authors of the study suggest that the enhanced effects were due to ethanol increasing the absorption of THC.^[30]

15.6 Ethanol and Cancer

Although ethanol by itself is not carcinogenic, chronic consumption of ethanol increases the risk of some cancers. These include cancer of the throat, esophagus, pancreas, small intestine, colon, and liver.^[31]

In an elegant study, Couch and Baker studied the effects of addition of ethanol to known carcinogens on the cytotoxicity of hamster cells. 1-Methyl-3nitrosoguanidine (MNNG) is an alkylating agent that covalently bonds to DNA. The cytotoxicity of MNNG was significantly increased when cells were cotreated with ethanol. 4-Methyl pyrazole (MPZ) is a known inhibitor of ethanol metabolism. When the experiments were repeated with MPZ added, ethanol did not enhance the cytotoxicity of MNNG. In a second group of experiments, the combination of ethanol with other carcinogens (4-nitroquinoline-*N*-oxide, mitomycin C, 6-chloro-9-(3-[2-chloroethyl]aminopropylamino)-2-methoxyacridine, and ethyl methanesulfonate) increased cytotoxicity. The proposed mechanism for the effects noted is the impairment of the DNA repair process by acetaldehyde, a product of ethanol metabolism. This is supported by the elimination of the effect of ethanol when MPZ was present, thereby inhibiting the production of acetaldehyde.^[32]

Heavy alcohol consumption, viral hepatitis, and diabetes are established risk factors for hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). There is significant synergy for HCC risk in those who have diabetes and are heavy consumers of ethanol, in those who have viral hepatitis and are heavy consumers of ethanol, and in those who have viral hepatitis and diabetes. No mechanism has been proposed for the synergistic risks associated with heavy ethanol consumption, viral hepatitis, and diabetes.^[33,34]

15.7 Tobacco Toxicity: Introduction

Cigarettes, cigars, pipe tobacco, and smokeless tobacco are made up of dried tobacco leaves and hundreds of other components added for flavor and other properties. More than 4000 individual toxic lipophilic and hydrophilic chemical compounds, of which greater than 60 are carcinogens, have been identified in tobacco and tobacco smoke.^[35,36] Accordingly, all tobacco and tobacco smoke exposure is, of necessity, to mixtures of toxic chemicals.

Tobacco and tobacco smoke exposure has been identified with numerous health effects. Each year, almost 450,000 people in the United States and millions worldwide die from tobacco use. Cigarette smoking is associated with cancer of the lung, oral cavity, pharynx, larynx, esophagus, kidney, liver, bladder, stomach, colon, rectum, and some leukemias. Smoking is the cause of at least 30% of all cancers and 87% of lung cancers.^[37,38]

Cancers only account for about half of the smoking-related deaths. Smoking is a major cause of bronchitis, emphysema, heart disease, and stroke. Tobacco is associated with female reproductive health, increases in miscarriage rates, early delivery, stillbirth, infant death, and low birth rate. It is estimated that 9 million Americans suffer from tobacco-related illnesses at any given time.^[39]

Passive smoking (also known as exposure to secondhand smoke, or environmental tobacco smoke, ETS) has been shown to produce the same health effects on those exposed to it as to actual smokers, albeit to a lesser degree.^[40,41] ETS is responsible for approximately 3000 lung cancer deaths in the United States annually,^[42] increases the risk of stroke^[43] and myocardial infarction,^[44] and impacts respiratory health in those exposed.^[45] It should be noted that the deleterious health effects that result from tobacco use are almost independent of the form of tobacco. Thus, cigarette smoking, cigar smoking, pipe smoking, chewing tobacco, and snuff inhalation produce many of the same adverse health outcomes in people.

The complexity of tobacco smoke makes it difficult to ascribe a particular health effect to a single component, though some inroads have been made in this regard. Complicating matters further is the fact that human exposure to tobacco smoke is almost never without co-exposure to other toxic chemicals. It is known, however, that when individuals are co-exposed to tobacco smoke and other chemicals not contained in the smoke, health effects are observed that are different from those seen from tobacco smoke exposure only. The rest of this chapter is devoted to the health effects caused by the combined exposure to tobacco smoke and other chemicals.

15.8 Tobacco and Cancer

Benzo[a]pyrene, a polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbon (PAH), has long been established as a carcinogen, although one of its diol epoxide metabolites, BPDE-2, is considered the ultimate carcinogen. This is based on its bonding of BPDE-2 to DNA, mutagenicity, and extreme pulmonary carcinogenicity in newborn mice. Although PAHs are considered the primary carcinogens in cigarette smoke, their concentration in condensed smoke is too low to account for the production of skin tumors. Several components of cigarette smoke, for example, catechol, are cocarcinogenic when applied to animal skin with PAHs.^[46]

The formation of ROS is considered by many to induce cancer since ROS induces DNA strand breakage. Many components of cigarette smoke tar (the solid phase of cigarette smoke), including polyphenols, have been demonstrated to produce ROS. The combination of polyphenols and nico-tine has been shown to act synergistically to produce ROS.^[47] Synergistic effects on DNA strand breakage have also been demonstrated by the combined actions of cigarette tar extract and nitric oxide (one of the components of the gas phase of cigarette smoke).^[48]

The question of whether the induction of cancer in man by cigarette smoke results from the action of a single carcinogen or the action of more than one carcinogen has not yet been resolved. It is known, however, that tobacco smoking is a cofactor in occupational cancers.

15.9 Tobacco Smoke Mixtures and Lung Cancer

Tobacco smoking is the major cause of lung cancer, accounting for almost 90% of all lung cancers. Lung cancer risks for smokers, however, increase dramatically when smokers are exposed to other lung carcinogens.

The cancer risk for uranium miners who smoke is much higher than that for uranium miners who do not smoke. This epidemiological finding is supported by laboratory experiments that show an increased incidence of pulmonary tumors in hamsters simultaneously exposed to benzo[a]pyrene and alpha radiation relative to exposure to the PAH or the radiation alone.^[49]

Tobacco smoking alone^[37,38] and exposure to asbestos alone^[50,51] are risk factors for developing lung cancer. The combination of smoking and working with asbestos carries a multiplicative risk for developing lung cancer with it. The data in Table 15.1 clearly illustrate this point.^[52]

Exposures	Relative Risk for Lung Cancer
Did not work with asbestos Did not smoke	1.00
Worked with asbestos Did not smoke	5.17
Did not work with asbestos Did smoke	10.85
Did work with asbestos Did smoke	53.24

Table 15.1	Lung Cancer Risks Associated with Tobacco Smoking	3
and Occupa	tional Asbestos Exposure	

The mechanism for the synergism between asbestos and cigarette smoke is not known. It is thought that the iron contained in asbestos may catalyze the formation of hydroxyl radicals from hydrogen peroxide contained in cigarette smoke.^[53,54] It has also been found, however, that ceramic fibers as well as asbestos fibers have a synergistic effect on the formation of tumor necrosis factor (an indicator of carcinogenesis) by alveolar macrophages in rats.^[55] A possible mechanistic explanation is that the solid, insoluble fibers serve as active surfaces for the adsorption of carcinogenic molecules.

Chromium (VI) is a well-known human carcinogen and occupational exposure to it is strongly associated with lung cancer. Tobacco smoking is the major cause of lung cancer, accounting for almost 90% of all lung cancers. PAHs are considered the major lung carcinogens in tobacco smoke. Together, chromium (VI) and PAHs act synergistically and account for the high incidence of lung cancer in those exposed to both agents. It has been shown that chromium (VI) exposure greatly enhances the mutagenicity and cytotoxicity of PAHs by inhibiting the cellular nucleotide excision repair.^[56]

Radon present in indoor air is a known lung carcinogen. It is estimated that between 1% and 5% of all lung cancers can be attributed to radon inhalation in a dose–response relationship.^[51,57–59] Radon and cigarette smoking, however, have a multiplicative synergistic effect on lung cancer rate.^[60] No mechanism has been proposed for the observed combined effect of the two carcinogens, though increase in ROS caused by radon decay coupled with that induced by tobacco smoke may be a factor.

15.10 Noncarcinogenic Tobacco Smoke Synergism

Mixtures of tobacco smoke and other chemicals induce health effects that are not limited to carcinogenesis. The following effects are illustrative.

Tobacco smoking alone greatly enhances the risk for coronary heart disease (CHD).^[44] Smoking and elevated serum cholesterol level synergistically increase the levels of CHD observed.^[61] No mechanism for the synergism was proffered by the study.

Coke oven workers are at risk for developing chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). There is a dose-dependent relationship between exposure to the benzene soluble fraction of coke oven emissions and COPD. Smoking in coke oven workers synergistically increases the incidence of COPD.^[62] Though many of the compounds in cigarette smoke are identical to those in coke oven emissions, that alone cannot account for the observed synergism.

Dairy farmers have high incidences of cough, phlegm production, and chronic bronchitis. They are exposed to numerous irritants, allergens, including grain dust and other particulates, airborne bacteria, and chemicals that target the respiratory system. Though smoking alone is associated with the same symptoms, the combination of dairy farming and smoking synergistically elevates chronic cough.^[63]

Mucin is the primary component of mucous. Factors associated with COPD, such as bacterial infections and cigarette smoke, individually induce respiratory mucin production in vivo and in vitro. Cigarette smoke, in combination with bacterial infection, synergistically induces the hyper-production of mucin in those with COPD.^[64]

Smoking enhances the immunotoxicity of aromatic solvents. Tobacco smoke and organic solvents acting alone are immunotoxins that reduce antibody levels in blood serum. The reduction of serum IgA, IgG, and IgM levels are enhanced (relative to solvent or smoking effects alone) when smokers are occupationally exposed to benzene and its homologs.^[65]

15.11 Combined Toxicity of Ethanol and Tobacco

Ethanol consumption and tobacco use are corelated. Ethanol consumers smoke more than nonsmokers, and smokers are more likely than non-smokers to consume ethanol.^[25,66] Cardiovascular, immunological, and

carcinogenic effects are enhanced by the coconsumption of ethanol and tobacco. The following studies illustrate this fact.

Human volunteers who were pretreated with nicotine via a transdermal patch and then consumed ethanol reported that ethanol's effects (feeling drunk and euphoria) were enhanced relative to those not pretreated with nicotine. It was found that heart rates were increased by nicotine and that ethanol-induced heart rates were further increased by nicotine. The authors conclude that the results of this study may help explain the high prevalence of the combined use of ethanol and tobacco.^[66]

In a laboratory study, mice that were preexposed to cigarette smoke had increased levels of lipid peroxidation in their hearts. These levels were further increased in animals co-exposed to ethanol. There were decreases in glutathione levels in animals exposed to cigarette smoke and greater glutathione decreases in those co-exposed to cigarette smoke and ethanol. The authors conclude that ethanol potentiates the cigarette smoke-induced peroxidative damage to the heart and thereby lowers the cardiac antioxidant defense system.^[67]

A canine study showed that cardiovascular excitatory effects were synergistically increased by a combination of ethanol and nicotine relative to nicotine alone. Ethanol alone had minimal cardiovascular effects under the conditions of the study.^[25]

In an in vitro study involving human lymphocytes, it was demonstrated that ethanol and nicotine, at noninhibitory levels when added alone, showed significant suppression of natural killer cell activity when added combined. Natural killer cell activity is crucial to good health. The authors conclude that the immunological suppression effects of the ethanol/nico-tine mix may have clinical implications.^[68]

Heavy smoking and excessive ethanol consumption are the primary risk factors for upper digestive tract cancers. The cancer risk is dose dependent and the combination of ethanol consumption and tobacco smoking acts synergistically and multiplicatively to increase the risk of cancer in abusers.^[69] Ethanol alone is not a carcinogen, though its metabolite, acetaldehyde, is a local carcinogen in humans. One study examined the combined effect of ethanol ingestion and tobacco smoking on acetaldehyde levels of in vivo saliva levels of human volunteers. It was found that those who actively smoked while being challenged with ethanol had seven times higher in vivo salivary acetaldehyde levels than nonsmokers. The study concludes that the markedly increased levels of acetaldehyde may explain the synergistic and multiplicative risk effect of upper gastrointestinal tract cancers in those who drink and smoke heavily.^[70]

15.12 Summary

Ethanol and tobacco are used recreationally worldwide by millions of people. Ethanol is a single compound with well-known toxic effects. It, however, combines with other environmental toxicants to produce toxic effects that are often not predictable.

Tobacco products and tobacco smoke contain thousands of individual toxic compounds. Some of these chemicals have known toxicities, but the mixture produces effects that are often not anticipated from the toxicology of the single compounds. When mixed with other chemicals, tobacco and tobacco smoke have been shown to produce synergistic toxic effects. When combined with each other, ethanol and tobacco produce highly toxic mixtures that attack the respiratory, gastrointestinal, and immunological systems in man with toxic and carcinogenic effects. Abusers of ethanol injure their own bodies only, whereas tobacco users also poison others who are unfortunate enough to inhale their smoke. Finally it should be noted that the toxic effects induced by both ethanol and tobacco can be entirely prevented by the cessation of their use. However, this cannot be said for other toxins that permeate our environment.

References

- 1. Hanson DJ. History of alcohol and drinking around the world, www2.potsdam.edu/hansondj/Controversies/1114796842.html
- Di Castelnuovo A, Costanzo S, Bagnardi V, et al. Alcohol dosing and total mortality in men and women: An updated meta-analysis of 34 prospective studies. *Arch Intern Med* 2006; 166(22):2437–45.
- 3. Meskar A, Plee-Gautier E, Amet Y, et al. Alcohol–xenobiotic interactions. Rove of cytochrome P4502E1. *Pathol Biol (Paris)* 2001; 49(9):696–702.
- 4. Dennison JE, Bigelow PL, Andersen ME. Occupational exposure limits in the context of solvent mixtures, consumption of ethanol and target tissue dose. *Toxicol Ind Health* 2004; 20(6–10):165–75.
- Djordjevic D, Nikolic J, Stefanovic V. Ethanol interactions with other cytochrome P450 substrates including drugs, xenobiotics and carcinogens. *Pathol Biol (Paris)* 1998; 46(10):760–70.
- 6. Petersen DR. Alcohol, iron-associated oxidative stress and cancer. *Alcohol* 2005; 35(3):243–9.
- Leo MA, Lieber CS. Alcohol, vitamin A, and beta-carotene: Adverse interactions, including hepatotoxicity and carcinogenicity. *Am J Clin Nut* 1999; 69(6):1071–85.
- McCuskey RS, Bethea NW, Wong J, et al. Ethanol binging exacerbates sinusoidal endothelial and parenchymal injury elicited by acetaminophen. *J Hepatol* 2005; 42(3):371–7.

15: Alcohol and Tobacco: Recreational Toxins

- 9. DiPetrillo K, Wood S, Kostrubsky V, et al. Effect of caffeine on acetaminophen hepatotoxicity cultured hepatocytes treated with ethanol and isopentanol. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 2002; 185(2):91–7.
- Hirata H, Machado LS, Okuno CS, et al. Apoptotic effect of ethanol is potentiated by caffeine-induced calcium release in rat astrocytes. *Neurosci Lett* 2006; 393(2–23):136–40.
- 11. Marrubini G, Castoldi AF, Coccini T, Manzo L. Prolonged ethanol ingestion enhances benzene myelotoxicity and lowers urinary concentrations of benzene metabolite levels in CD-1 mice. *Toxicol Sci* 2003; 75(1):16–24.
- MacDonald AJ, Rostami-Hodjegan A, Tucker GT, Linkens DA. Analysis of solvent central nervous system toxicity and ethanol interactions using a human population physiologically based kinetic and dynamic model. *Regul Toxicol Pharmacol* 2002; 35(2 Pt 1):165–76.
- Manno M, Rezzadore M, Grossi M, Sbrana C. Potentiation of occupational carbon tetrachloride toxicity by ethanol abuse. *Hum Exp Toxicol* 1996; 15(4):294–300.
- Hoet P, Buchet JP, Sempoux C, et al. Potentiation of 2,2-dichloro-1,1,1-trifluoro (HCFC-123)-induced liver toxicity by ethanol in guinea-pigs. *Arch Toxicol* 2002; 76(12):707–14.
- 15. Loquet G, Campo P, Lataye R, et al. Combined effects of exposure to styrene and ethanol on the auditory function in the rat. *Hear Res* 2000; 148(1–2):173–80.
- 16. Lee CS, Kin YJ, Ko HH, Han ES. Synergistic effects of hydrogen peroxide and ethanol on cell viability loss in PC12 cells by increase in mitochondrial permeability transition. *Biochem Pharmacol* 2005; 70(2):317–25.
- 17. Papp A, Pecze L, Vezer T. Acute effects of lead, mercury and manganese on the central and peripheral nervous system in rats in combination with alcohol exposure. *Arh Hig Rada Tokiskol* 2005; 56(3):241–8 [abstract only—PubMed].
- 18. Verma SK, Dua R, Gill KD. Impaired energy metabolism after co-exposure to lead and ethanol. *Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol* 2005; 96(6):475–9.
- 19. Ema M, Fukunishi K, Matsumoto M, et al. Developmental toxicity of dibutyltin dichloride in cynomolgus monkeys. *Reprod Toxicol* 2007; 23(1):12–19.
- Whalen MM, Loganathan BG, Kannan K. Immunotoxicity of environmentally relevant concentrations of butyltins on human natural killer cells in vitro. *Environ Res* 1999; 81(2):108–16.
- 21. Merkord J, Weber H, Jonas L, et al. The influence of ethanol on long-term effects of dibutyltin dichloride (DBTC) in pancreas and liver of rats. *Hum Exp Toxicol* 1998; 17(3):144–50.
- 22. Briassoulis G, Narlioglou M, Hatzis T. Toxic encephalopathy associated with use of DEET insect repellants: A case analysis of its toxicity in children. *Hum Exp Toxicol* 2001; 20(1):8–14.
- 23. Stinecipher J, Shah J. Percutaneous permeation of N,N-dimethyl-m-toluamide (DEET) from commercial mosquito repellants and the effect solvent. *J Toxicol Environ Health* 1997; 52(2):119–35.
- 24. Farre M, de la Torre R, Gonzalez ML, et al. Cocaine and alcohol interactions in humans: Neuroendocrine effects and cocaethylene metabolism. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 1997; 283(1):164–76.
- Mehta MC, Jain AC, Billie M. Effects of cocaine and alcohol alone and in combination on cardiovascular performance in dogs. *Am J Med Sci* 2002; 324(2):76–83.

- 26. Busse GD, Riley AL. Effects of alcohol on cocaine lethality in rats: Acute and chronic assessments. *Neurotoxicol Teratol* 2003; 25(3):361–4.
- 27. Dean RA, Harper ET, Dumaual N, et al. Effects of ethanol on cocaine metabolism: Formation of cocaethylene and norcoethylene. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 1992; 117(1):1–8.
- 28. Roberts SM, Harbison RD, James RC. Inhibition by ethanol of the metabolism of cocaine to benzoylecgonine and ecgonine methyl ester in mouse and human liver. *Drug Metab Dispos* 1993; 21(3):537–41.
- 29. Ponsoda X, Bort R, Jover R, et al. Increased toxicity of cocaine on human hepatocytes induced by ethanol: Role of GSH. *Biochem Pharmacol* 1999; 58(10):1579–85.
- Lukas SE, Orozco S. Ethanol increases plasma delta(9)-tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) levels and subjective effects after marijuana smoking in human volunteers. *Drug Alcohol Depend* 2001; 64(2):143–9.
- 31. Brooks PJ. DNA damage, DNA repair, and alcohol toxicity: A review. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res* 1997; 21(6):1073–82.
- 32. Couch DB, Baker RC. Ethanol-enhanced cytotoxicity of alkylating agents. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res* 2002; 26(3):381–5.
- Hussan MM, Hwang LY, Hatten CJ, et al. Risk factors for hepatocellular carcinomas: Synergism of alcohol with viral hepatitis and diabetes mellitus. *Hepatology* 2002; 36(5):1206–13.
- 34. Yuan JM, Govindarajan S, Arakawa K, Yu MC. Synergism of alcohol, diabetes, and viral hepatitis on the risk of hepatocellular carcinoma in black and whites in the U.S. *Cancer* 2004; 101(5):1009–17.
- 35. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion. Toxic chemicals in tobacco products, www.cdc.gov/tobacco/research_data/product/objective21-20.htm
- 36. Smith CJ, Perfetti TA, Rumple MA, et al. "IARC group 2A carcinogens" reported in cigarette mainstream smoke. *Food Chem Toxicol* 2001; 38(4): 371–83.
- 37. American Cancer Society. *Cancer facts and figures 2003*, American cancer Society, Atlanta GA, 2003, www.cancer.org
- 38. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Annual smoking-attributable mortality, years of potential life lost and economic costs—United States, 1995–1999. *Morb Mortal Wkly Rep (MMWR)* 2002; 51:300–3. www.cdc. gov/mmwr//preview/mmwrhtml/mm5114a2.htm
- 39. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Cigarette smoking-attributable morbidity—United States 2000. *Morb Mortal Wkly Rep (MMWR)* 2003; 52(35):842–4, www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/mm5235a4.htm
- 40. Mannino DM, Siegel M, Rose D, et al. Environmental tobacco smoke exposure in the home and worksite and health effects in adults: Results from the 1991 National Health Interview Survey. *Tob Control* 1997; 6(4):296–305.
- 41. United States Environmental Protection Agency. Setting the record straight: Secondhand smoke is a preventable health risk, EPA document number 402-F-94-005, June 1994, www.epa.gov/smokefree/pubs/strsfs.html
- United States Environmental Protection Agency. Respiratory health effects of passive smoking (also known as exposure to secondhand smoke or environmental tobacco smoke ETS), EPA document number EPA/600/6-90/006F, 1992, http://cfpub.epa.gov/ncea/cfm/recordisplay.cfm?deid=2835

15: Alcohol and Tobacco: Recreational Toxins

- 43. Bonita R, Duncan J, Truelsen T, et al. Passive smoking as well as active smoking increases the risk of acute stroke. *Tob Control* 1999; 8(2):156–60.
- 44. Teo KK, Ounpuu S, Hawken S, et al. Tobacco use and risk of myocardial infarction in 52 countries in the INTERHEART study: A case-control study. *Lancet* 2006; 368:647–58.
- 45. United States Environmental Protection Agency. Fact sheet: Respiratory health effects of passive smoking, EPA document number 43-F-93-003, 1993, www.epa.gov/smokefree/pubs/etsfs.html
- 46. Rubin H. Synergistic mechanisms in carcinogenesis by polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and by tobacco smoke: A bio-historical perspective with updates. *Carcinogenesis* 2001; 22(12):1903–30.
- 47. Kodama M, Kaneko M, Aida M, et al. Free radical chemistry of cigarette smoke and its implication in human cancer. *Anticancer Res* 1997; 17(1A):433–7.
- 48. Yoshie Y, Ohshima H. Synergistic induction of DNA strand breakage by cigarette tar and nitric oxide. *Carcinogenesis* 1997; 18(7):1359–63.
- 49. Hoffman D, Wynder EL. Smoking and occupational cancers. *Prev Med* 1976; 5(2):245–61.
- 50. Vainio H, Boffetta P. Mechanisms of the combined effect of asbestos and smoking in the etiology of lung cancer. *Scand J Work* 1994; 20(4):235–42.
- 51. Boffetta P, Nyberg F. Contribution of environmental factors to cancer risk. *Br Med Bull* 2003; 68:71–94.
- 52. Selikoff IJ, Hammond EC. Asbestos and smoking. *J Am Med Assoc* 1979; 242(5):458–9.
- Jackson JH, Schraufstatter IU, Hyslop PA, et al. Role of oxidants in DNA damage. Hydroxyl radical mediates the synergistic DNA damaging effects of asbestos and cigarette smoke. *J Clin Invest* 1987; 80(4):1090–5.
- 54. Kovacic P, Jacintho JD. Mechanisms of carcinogenesis: Focus on oxidative stress and electron transfer. *Curr Med Chem* 2001; 8:773–96.
- 55. Morimoto Y, Kido M, Tanaka I, et al. Synergistic effects of mineral fibers and cigarette smoke on the production of tumor necrosis factor by alveolar macrophages in rats. *Fr J Ind Med* 1993; 50(10):955–60.
- Hu W, Feng Z, Tang MS. Chromium(VI) enhances (+/–)-anti7beta,8alphadihydroxy-9alpha,10alpha-epoxy-7,8,9,10-tetrahydrobenzo[a]pyrene-induced cytotoxicity and mutagenicity in mammalian cells through its inhibitory effect on nucleotide excision repair. *Biochemistry* 2004; 43(44):14282–9.
- 57. Boffetta P. Human cancer from environmental pollutants: The epidemiological evidence. *Mutat Res* 2006; 608(2):157–62.
- 58. Darby S, Hill D, Deo H, et al. Residential radon and lung cancer—detailed results of a collaborative analysis of individual data on 7148 persons with lung cancer and 14,208 persons without lung cancer from 13 epidemiological studies in Europe. *Scand J Environ Health* 2006; 32 (Suppl 1):1–83.
- 59. Collier CG, Strong JC, Humphreys JA, et al. Carcinogenicity of radon/radon decay product inhalation in rats—effect of dose, dose rate and unattached fraction. *Int J Radiat Biol* 2005; 81(9):631–47.
- 60. Lee ME, Lichtenstein E, Andrews JA, et al. Radon-smoking synergy: A population-based behavioral risk reduction approach. *Prev Med* 1999; 29(3):222–7.
- 61. Perkins KA. The synergistic effect of smoking and serum cholesterol on coronary heart disease. *Health Psychol* 1985; 4(4):337–60.

- 62. Hu Y, Chen B, Yin Z, et al. Increased risk of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in coke oven workers: Interaction between occupational exposure and smoking. *Thorax* 2006; 61(4):290–5.
- 63. Dalphin JC, Dubiez A, Monnet E, et al. Prevalence of respiratory symptoms in dairy farmers in the French province of the Doubs. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 1998; 158(5 Pt 1):1493–8.
- 64. Baginski TK, Dabbagh K, Satjawatchcharaphong C, Swinney DC. Cigarette smoke synergistically enhances respiratory mucin induction by proinflammatory stimuli. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 2006; 35(2):165–74.
- 65. Moszczynski P, Lisiewicz J, Slowinski S. Synergistic effect of organic solvents and tobacco smoke on serum immunoglobin levels in humans. *Med Pr* 1989; 40(6):337–41 [abstract only].
- 66. Kouri Em, McCarthy EM, Faust AH, Lukas SE. Pretreatment with transdermal nicotine enhances some of ethanol's acute effects in men. *Drug Alcohol Depend* 2004; 75(1):55–65.
- 67. Sandhir R, Subramanian S, Koul A. Long-term smoking and ethanol consumption accentuates stress in hearts of mice. *Cardiovasc Toxicol* 2003; 3(2):135–40.
- Nair MP, Kronfol ZA, Schwartz SA. Effects of alcohol and nicotine on cytotoxic functions of human lymphocytes. *Clin Immunol Immunopathol* 1990; 54(3):395–409.
- 69. Salaspuro MP. Alcohol consumption and cancer of the gastrointestinal tract. *Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol* 2003; 17(4):679–94.
- 70. Salapuro V, Salaspuro M. Synergistic effect of alcohol drinking and smoking on in vivo acetaldehyde concentration in saliva. *Int J Cancer* 2004; 111(4):480–3.

16 Electromagnetic Radiation and Toxic Exposure

16.1 Introduction

The effects of ionizing radiation have been well known since the time of Marie Curie's death following her Nobel Prize-winning experiments. The effects of nonionizing radiation have also been extensively studied but the literature is replete with conflicting findings of the effects of exposure. The effects of combined co-exposure to radiation and toxic chemicals have not been well examined, but the limited experimental work that has been carried out in this area suggests that synergism is to be expected. It is thought that much of the conflicting experimental results and empirical observations may be because of co-exposure to electromagnetic radiation (EMR) and toxic chemicals. This chapter examines the subject of the combined effects of radiation and toxic chemical exposure.

The effects ascribed to only EMR are briefly mentioned, but are not discussed in detail. Thousands of learned articles on this subject have been published in print journals and on the Internet.

EMR is not a "chemical" per se, and the following sections that discuss mixtures of EMR and toxic chemicals do not mean to imply so. What is meant here by the term mixture of EMR and toxic chemicals is the simultaneous (or close in time) exposure to EMR and a xenobiotic chemical. The interaction between the xenobiotic species can occur in one of three different ways.

- 1. EMR activates the xenobiotic to a form that reacts with endogenous molecules.
- 2. EMR activates an endogenous molecule to a form that reacts with the xenobiotic.
- 3. Both the endogenous molecule and the xenobiotic are activated by EMR and reaction between the activated species occurs.

Many of the interactions between xenobiotics and EMR occur via unknown mechanisms. What is known, however, is that free radicals and ROS play large roles in the toxicities of EMR/chemical mixtures. This is discussed later.

16.2 The Electromagnetic Spectrum

Figure 16.1 shows the electromagnetic spectrum and the applications of electromagnetic radiation at various frequencies.

The biological effects of EMR are best ascribed to four regions of the spectrum:

- 1. *Ionizing*: This is the high frequency area of the spectrum where chemical bonds are broken and direct damage to cellular destruction occurs. Examples are gamma radiation and x-rays.
- 2. *Ultraviolet* (wavelengths of 290–420 nm): The spectral region where multiple bonds are cleaved and free radicals are formed. Cellular damage may occur on prolonged exposure or via excitation of phototoxic and photoallergic species. Examples are prolonged exposure to sunlight or tanning lamps.
- 3. *Microwave and radiofrequency* (RF): The spectral region where cellular heating is induced. Examples are microwaves and radio transmissions.
- 4. *Power frequency*: The spectral region where energies are sufficiently low so that cellular heating is not readily induced. The most common and most studied example is that of electrical power line generated waves.

16.3 Ionizing Radiation and Toxic Chemical Mixtures

Ionizing radiation is an effective killer of microorganisms and cancerous tissues. Accordingly, it is used to sterilize medical devices, to irradiate food, and to treat tumors. Ionizing radiation includes emissions from radioisotopes and x-rays. X-rays have numerous beneficial uses and are tolerated well by humans in small doses. It is well known that exposure to excessive quantities of ionizing radiation can induce mutations and carcinogenesis and, in extreme cases, cause death.

Exposure to ionizing radiation and some chemicals induce unanticipated effects. The following are examples of such interactions.

Simultaneous exposure to 1,2-dibromoethane and low doses of x-rays has been shown to induce somatic mutations. The authors of the study ascribe this synergistic effect as due to single strand legions in the DNA.^[1]

Temozolomide, a chemotherapeutic drug used to treat cancerous human brain tumors, enhances radiation response in human glioblastoma cells



Figure 16.1 The electromagnetic spectrum.

when concurrently administered with radiation. This effect has been shown to increase the degree of radiation-induced double strand DNA damage.^[2]

Interleukin-13 (IL-13) receptor-targeted cytotoxin is highly toxic to human glioblastoma cells (GBM). Prior irradiation of GBM cell lines followed by the administering of IL-13 does not enhance cytotoxicity. Concomitant treatment of radiation with IL-13, however, produces greatly enhanced cytotoxic effects.^[3] No mechanism for the observed synergism was offered by the authors of the study.

A synergistic antitumor effect was observed in human chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells when treated with radiation and a combination of 2'deoxycoformycin and deoxyadenosine. The effects noted were greater than the predicted additive ones. Synergism was enhanced by increasing radiation or by raising the concentration of deoxyadenosine. The authors of the study conclude that the combination of 2'-deoxycoformycin and deoxyadenosine acts as a radiosensitizer.^[4]

The studies just noted, as well as others that are similar in nature, point out the synergistic effects observed when ionizing radiation is coadministered with toxic chemicals. Though most of the studies found in the literature were designed to address the issue of combating carcinogenesis, it should be noted that combinations of ionizing radiation and toxic chemicals can produce adverse effects in healthy tissues and that intentional exposure to ionizing radiation (e.g., taking x-rays) can prove to be more toxic than anticipated when one is simultaneously exposed to toxic chemicals.^[1]

16.4 Ultraviolet Radiation and Toxic Chemical Mixtures

UV radiation from the Sun that impinges upon the Earth's surface is in wavelengths between 290 and 400 nm. The UV rays that reach the Earth are classified as UVA (long length waves of 320–400 nm) and UVB (short length waves of 290–320 nm).

Although UVA plays an essential role in the formation of vitamin D by the human skin, it is harmful as it causes sunburn and cataract formation in the eyes. As discussed below, UVA also causes toxic effects when mixed with xenobiotic chemicals. UVB causes damage at the molecular level. It is absorbed by DNA and alters its structure. UV excites organic molecules and generates free radicals that are responsible for substitution, elimination, and polymerization reactions; free radical formation; and generation of ROS. Exposures to both UVA and UVB concurrent with exposures to xenobiotic chemicals produce unanticipated toxic effects. Following are examples of the mixture effects of UV.

Both hydrogen peroxide and UV rays kill bacteria spores. When applied together, however, they act synergistically. The mechanism for this synergism is not proven but is thought to involve free radical formation.^[5] A similar synergism was observed between ozone and UV. Although ozone is a stronger disinfectant than UV, coupling ozone with UV was more effective than ozone or UV alone. The authors of this study attribute the synergy to the generation of hydroxyl radicals by ozone photolysis.^[6]

Inorganic arsenic is an established human carcinogen. Though the mechanism of the induction of cancer is largely unknown, epidemiological studies suggest that the combined action of arsenic and UV increases the risk of cancer. A recent study has shown that pretreatment of human lymphoblastoid cells in vitro with arsenic (III) followed by UV exposure resulted in the inhibition of the repair of UV-induced pyrimidine dimerrelated DNA damage and thereby enhanced mutagenesis.^[7]

Retinol (an isomer of vitamin A) is regularly used as a supplement to combat various illnesses in man. UV exposure results in the generation of free radicals, oxidative damage to biomolecules, and decreased cellular viability in cultured mammalian cells. Cotreatment of cells with retinol and UV resulted in significant increases in UV-mediated free radical formation, lipoperoxidation, DNA fragmentation, and mitochondrial oxidative damage relative to UV treatment alone. Retinol, rather than protecting against free radical generation, enhances UV-mediated oxidative damage. The authors of the study suggest that retinol-enhanced uptake of iron

increases ROS generated by the Fenton reaction (see Section 4.9) and acts synergistically to cause oxidative damage to cells.^[8]

UV is known to induce nonmelanoma skin cancer. Ethanol and aloe emodin alone do not induce skin tumors in the absence of UV. When an ethanol solution of aloe emodin was painted onto the skin of mice in conjunction with UVB exposure, the mice developed melanin-containing skin tumors. The mechanism for the observed carcinogenesis induction by the mixture is unknown.^[9]

UV exposure is known to induce photosensitive responses in humans. Photosensitivity is an adverse reaction that occurs when a chemical or drug is applied to the skin or taken internally at the same time that one is exposed to UV. Not all people are photosensitive to the same agents. Two distinct responses are observed: phototoxic and photoallergic reactions.

Phototoxicity is photosensitivity that is independent of immunological responses. Phototoxic responses are dose dependent and will affect almost anyone when sufficient dosage is applied or when taken concurrent with UV exposure. In phototoxic reactions, photoactivated chemicals cause direct cellular damage. UV absorption produces either excited state chemicals or metabolites of these chemicals. These, in turn, can be converted into either free radicals or singlet oxygen, either of which results in biomolecular oxidation.^[10]

Photoallergy is immunologically mediated. Photoallergy develops in sensitized individuals and is not dose dependent, though higher doses of photoallergins induce stronger reactions. Cross-sensitivity is often observed where one's photosensitivity to one chemical increases the likelihood of reacting to a second chemical. Photoallergic reactions may not be predictable from a consideration of the chemical(s) to which exposure occurs. Reactions to first exposures of photoallergins and UV are not generally observed, since hypersensitivity responses require immune system activation and hence an incubation period.^[11] Once sensitized, subsequent exposures of an individual to the same or another photoallergen can induce a more rapid response.^[12] Though photoallergic responses primarily occur on skin areas exposed to UV, they can spread to other areas and produce systemic responses that are often difficult to characterize.^[13]

Photosensitizers are chemicals that induce photoallergic responses. These can be drugs, industrial chemicals, agricultural chemicals, and cosmetics. They include artificial sweeteners, petroleum products, deodorants, hair sprays, makeup, antibiotics, antihistamines, antifungals, cardiovasculars, diuretics, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (e.g., ibuprofen), sunscreens (e.g., *p*-aminobenzoic acid, PABA), and various fragrances.^[9]

Phototoxicity and photoallerginicity reactions to many antibiotics have been reported. The fluoroquinolone group of antibiotics is known to induce both types of reactions when administered to patients who are co-exposed to UV. In one laboratory study, it was demonstrated that administering of a single oral dose of each of seven fluoroquinolones (nalidixic acid, norfloxacin, ofloxacin, enoxacin, ciprofloxacin, lomefloxacin, and tosufloxacin) followed by UVA exposure induced phototoxicity in guinea pigs. Photoallergic reactions were also induced for two of these antibiotics (nalidixic acid and lomefloxacin) by an aminoadjuvent (cyclophosphamide) pretreatment followed by UVA exposure. This study demonstrates that clinically observed phototoxicity and photoallerginicity in humans can be duplicated in laboratory animals and suggests that animal testing could be a predictor of human reactions.^[14]

A number of the tetracycline derivatives are phototoxic. In one study, chlortetracycline, doxycycline, and dimethylchlortetracycline treatment of normal human skin fibroblasts resulted in total cell death within 14 days when co-administered with UVA. A dimethylchlortetracycline and UVA cotreatment also showed a strong photosensitizing effect in a 7-day exposure study. These results, too, are consistent with clinically reported reactions in humans.^[15]

A test on human volunteers showed that doxycycline is a potent photosensitizer. Eight subjects were given the drug for 3 days. On the third day, they were exposed to UVA and UVB and evaluated 24 h after the UVA treatment. Four of the eight subjects developed strong sensitizing symptoms.^[16]

Cultured human urinary bladder carcinoma cells treated with doxycycline and UVA showed mitochondrial damage. Cell membrane integrity was maintained for several hours after mitochondrial damage appeared, indicating that the mitochondrion is an earlier target of doxycycline than the cell membrane when irradiated with UVA. The authors of the study opine that the photochemical reaction involves singlet oxygen.^[17]

Mixtures of pesticides and UV are also phototoxic. Hairless dogs treated with maneb (a fungicide) and UVA showed epidermal degradation, vasodilation, and intradermal infiltration of inflammatory cells. Animals treated with zineb (a general use pesticide) and UVA produced comedones with well-developed pilosebaceous glands.^[18]

Crude oil on the human skin leads to increased pigmentation and erythema (sunburn) when people are exposed to sunlight. This effect was demonstrated in a laboratory experiment with mice, in which shaved skin treated with crude oil and UVA led to depletion of epidermal Langerhans cells, an important component of immunity within the skin. Treatment with crude oil alone did not result in a decrease of epidermal Langerhans cells.^[19] A follow-up study showed that at least one component of crude oil, anthracene, produces the same effect upon cotreatment with UVA.^[20]

Cosmetic and personal care products are widely used for aesthetic purposes. Many cosmetic products are complex mixtures of many chemical species, including some known to be toxic (see Section 11.7). Several studies have identified phototoxic effects that are attributable to cosmetic ingredients. Methylparaben (MP) is a widely used preservative in cosmetics. In an in vitro test it was shown that MP significantly increased oxidative stress, nitric oxide production, and lipid peroxidation when cells were exposed to UVB.^[21] The photomutagenic sunscreen Padimate-O (octyl dimethyl PABA) generates free radicals and attacks DNA, producing strand breaks and lesions when illuminated with simulated sunlight on cells in vitro. Such an ingredient in sunscreens, while preventing sunburn, contributes to sunlight-related cancers.^[22,23] Another ingredient of sunscreens, titanium dioxide absorbs about 70% of incident UV. In aqueous solutions, this UV absorption leads to the generation of free radicals and damages human cells both in vitro and in vivo.^[24] Petrolatum and basis cream are commonly used skin emollients. In a human volunteer test it was shown that both increase the minimal erythema dose upon exposure to UV.^[25] Two popular skin conditioning compounds, azulene and guaiazulene, are not mutagenic when tested in the absence of light, but decidedly so when mixed with UV and visible light.^[26] It is clear that those who formulate cosmetic products must be careful to exclude phototoxic chemicals, since exposure to sunlight is inevitable following cosmetic application.

16.5 Nonionizing Radiation: Introduction

Though it is universally agreed that ionizing and UV radiation are harmful to humans, the question of whether nonionizing electromagnetic radiation is harmful is one surrounded with controversy. Numerous studies have been carried out showing that exposure to such radiation is harmful while others have reached opposite conclusions. Some studies that have demonstrated harmful consequences of exposure could not be duplicated in other laboratories. Most of the studies to date have been aimed at addressing radiation exposure alone. Only a relatively few studies have addressed the effects of mixtures of toxic chemicals and nonionizing radiation. These studies, however, offer valuable insights and suggest that the spurious results found in the radiation-only research may have overlooked co-exposure to chemicals. Nonionizing radiation consists of parts of the electromagnetic spectrum that correspond to microwaves, also identified as RF waves and extremely low frequency (ELF) waves. RF waves range from 300 MHz to 30 GHz and correspond to AM radio, FM radio, TV, mobile telephone, and microwave oven transmissions. ELF waves are in the 50–60 Hz range and correspond to electrical transmission power line emissions.

16.6 RF Radiation and Toxic Chemical Mixtures

RF radiation is harmful to human tissue when converted into heat following absorption. As a result, the amount of RF energy absorbed is critical to ascribing damage. Whole body average specific absorption rate (SAR) is used to quantize the amount of RF that is absorbed. SAR is expressed in watts per kilogram (W/kg). Biological effects occur at SAR of 1 W/kg or greater in adults and children. RF radiation exposures of less than 1.0 SAR are generally considered safe.^[27]

Human exposures to RF radiation arise from military use, industrial use, broadcasting, and cellular phone use. These exposures have been linked to increased numbers of spontaneous abortion, neurological effects, altered red and white blood cell counts, increased somatic mutation rates in lymphocytes, cardiovascular effects, increased cancer risk, and increased childhoodcancers.^[28–31]Otherstudies, however, have refuted these findings.^[27,32–34] As stated in the introduction, only a relatively few studies addressed the combined effects of toxic chemical and RF exposure. A thorough search of the literature shows that such studies have not been refuted. The following are illustrative examples of these mixture studies.

The combination of chromium trioxide and RF radiation has synergistic mutagenic effects upon Vicia faba root tip cells upon exposure. Mutagenesis is sharply elevated relative to treatment with chromium trioxide alone.^[35]

Combined exposure to RF and the glycol ether 2-methoxyethanol (2-ME) produces increased teratogenicity in rats. Combined exposures enhance the adverse effects produced by either RF of 2-ME alone.^[36,37] Though other glycol ethers have not been so tested to date, many widely used glycol ethers are structurally similar to 2-ME and may also have teratogenic effects when exposures to these are concurrent with RF.

Mitomycin C (MMC) and 4-nitroquinoline-1-oxide (4NQO) are known to be mutagenic to human lymphocytes. When cells were exposed to each of these and RF, synergistic effects were observed. DNA damage was greater than that observed for MMC or 4NQO alone.^[38]

16: ELECTROMAGNETIC RADIATION AND TOXIC EXPOSURE

Tumor formation is generally regarded as involving an initial damage to DNA by mutagenic chemicals or ionizing radiation followed by a second step in which nonmutagenic promoting agents promote tumor formation. Tumor promoters include DDT, PCBs, saccharin, and phorbol esters (plant lectins). Nonionizing RF radiation alone is not known to promote carcinogenesis. In combination with phorbol esters, however, RF does promote cancer.^[39,40] It has also been shown that phorbol ester treatment of embryonic fibroblasts that have been previously irradiated with x-rays (ionizing) and microwaves (nonionizing) increases transformation frequencies to rates greater than those observed when preirradiation is with x-rays only under the conditions tested.^[41] These findings strongly implicate the carcinogenicity of RF/toxic chemical mixtures.

16.7 ELF Radiation and Toxic Chemical Mixtures

All electrical devices generate ELF electromagnetic waves in the range 50–60 Hz. Epidemiological studies have associated environmental exposure to ELF waves with human malignancies, including leukemia in children living close to high tension power lines, and brain cancer.^[42–45] Other studies have refuted these findings.^[46–49] As best as can be determined, none of these studies considered co-exposures to chemical agents.

One theory of the connection between ELF exposure and cancer suggests that ELF alters certain cellular processes that subsequently lead to strand breaks in DNA and other chromosomal aberrations. This theory is based upon free radical production caused by acute and chronic ELF exposure. It opines that acute exposure can lead to phagocytosis and consequently free radical production; macrophage activation and direct stimulation of free radical production; and an increase in the lifetimes of free radicals; long-term exposure can lead to chronically increased free radical levels.^[50]

It is generally accepted that magnetic fields at flux densities below 2 T do not induce adverse health effects.^[49] This is refuted by a recent study that reported that a 50 Hz ELF of 1 mT strength is genotoxic to cells in vitro.^[51] This study did not consider co-exposures to chemicals.

Several studies have been carried out on mixtures of ELF and toxic chemicals that demonstrate the combined toxicities. Illustrative examples follow.

Environmental magnetic fields (1.2 μ T, 60 Hz) significantly reduce the inhibitory action of physiological levels of the hormone melatonin on the growth of human breast cancer cells in vitro. A similar inhibitory effect is

also found from the exposure of these cells to a pharmacological level of the cancer inhibitor tamoxifen and the same ELF.^[52] This study was reproduced by a second team of researchers with identical results.^[53] Both sets of authors conclude that environmental magnetic fields can act to modify the action of a hormone or a drug on the regulation of cell proliferation.

Benzene is a known leukemogen. It is widely accepted that benzene's metabolites are the ultimate leukemogens. An in vitro study showed that co-exposures of the benzene metabolite hydroquinone and ELF (50 Hz, 1 mT) produced a clear genotoxic effect. Co-exposure to the same ELF and 1,2,4-benzenetriol (BTL) led to a marked increase in the genotoxicity of BTL.^[54] In a second in vitro study, ELF (50 Hz, 5 mT) plus *N*-methyl-N'-nitro-*N*-nitrosoguanidine (MNNG) or 1,4-benzenediol (BD), both known carcinogens, was shown to increase the extent of DNA damage relative to MNNG and BD alone. Under the conditions of testing, ELF alone did not cause primary DNA damage.^[55]

A study in which human peripheral blood leukocytes from four different donors were exposed to ELF (at 3 mT) plus the genotoxic xenobiotics *N*-methyl-*N'*-nitro-*N*-nitrosoguanidine (MNNG) and 4-nitroquinoline *N*-oxide (4NQO) found that ELF increased primary DNA damage of both MNNG and 4NQO. In this study, ELF alone did not cause primary DNA damage.^[56]

Metal-mediated formation of free radicals causes modifications in DNA bases, enhanced lipid peroxidation, and altered calcium and sulfhydryl homeostasis and is attributed to increases in ROS.^[57] In one study, rat lymphocytes incubated with low concentrations of ferrous chloride (10 μ g/ml) alone did not produce detectible DNA damage. Exposure of these lymphocytes to ELF (50 Hz, 7 mT) alone also did not increase the number of cells with DNA damage. When cells were simultaneously exposed to both the iron and the ELF, however, the number of damaged cells increased significantly. The authors hypothesize that the reason for the increase damage is that the combination of ELF and iron acts to substantially increase the number of ROS generated relative to iron itself.^[58]

Not all studies reach the same conclusions. In an in vitro study on humanhamster hybrid AL cells involving treatment with MNNG and ELF (100 μ T, 60 Hz), neither the ELF alone nor combined with MNNG increased MNNG cytotoxicity. The authors conclude that neither short-term nor long-term exposure to EMF alone or in combination with other environmental carcinogens increases genotoxicity.^[59] These authors, however, tested only one carcinogenic chemical and applied a magnetic field that was an order of magnitude lower than the strengths of those applied in other studies combining MNNG and ELF that did show genotoxicity.^[55,56] The conflicting results just discussed raise the question of what are safe levels of exposure to ELF, or for that matter UV and RF as well. It is opined here that the answer may lie in a consideration of what chemicals the test organisms were co-exposed to at the time of electromagnetic radiation exposure. Co-exposures could come from xenobiotic species present in the home, workplace, or laboratory, environmental chemicals, and/or dietary uptake.

16.8 Summary

It is universally accepted that ionizing and UV electromagnetic radiation induce toxic effects in man. It has been shown above that these toxic effects are exacerbated when irradiation is coupled with xenobiotic exposure. Conversely, the toxic effects of xenobiotic exposure are enhanced by simultaneous exposure to ionizing or UV radiation.

The question of whether RF (microwave range) and ELF radiation alone is toxic to humans remains an open question. What seems clear is that coexposure of electromagnetic radiation at virtually all frequencies with xenobiotic chemicals increases free radical formation and oxidative stress, with corresponding health consequences.

References

- 1. Leenhouts HP, Sijsma MJ, Cebulska-Wasilewska A, Chadwick KH. The combined effect of DBDE and x-rays on the induction of somatic mutations in tradescantia. *Int J Radiat Biol Relat Stud Phys Chem Med* 1986; 49(1): 109–19.
- Chakravarti A, Erkkinen MG, Nestler U, et al. Temozolomide-mediated radiation enhancement in glioblastoma: A report on underlying mechanisms. *Clin Cancer Res* 2006; 12(15):4738–46.
- Kawakami K, Kawakami M, Liu Q, Puri RK. Combined effects of radiation and interleukin-13 receptor-targeted cytotoxin on glioblastoma cell lines. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2005; 63(1):230–7.
- Begleiter A, Pugh L, Israels LG, Johnston JB. Enhanced cytotoxicity and inhibition of DNA damage repair in irradiated murine L5178Y lymphoblasts and human chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells treaded with 2'deoxycoformycin and deoxyadenosine in vitro. *Cancer Res* 1988; 48:3981–6.
- Reidmiller JS, Baldeck JD, Rutherford GC, Marquis RE. Characterization of UV-peroxide killing of bacterial spores. *J Food Prod* 2003; 66(7):1233–40.
- Magbanua BS, Jr, Savant G, Truax DD. Combined ozone and ultraviolet inactivation of Escherichia coli. J Environ Sci Health Part A Tox Hazard Subst Environ Eng 2006; 41(6):1043–55.

- Danaee H, Nelson HH, Liber H, et al. Low dose exposure to sodium arsenite synergistically interacts with UV radiation to induce mutations and alter DNA repair in human cells. *Mutagenesis* 2004; 19(2):143–48.
- 8. Klamt R, Dal-Pizzol F, Bernard EA, Moreira JC. Enhanced UV-mediated free radical generation; DNA and mitochondrial damage caused by retinol supplementation. *Photochem Photobiol Sci* 2003; 2(8):856–60.
- 9. Dubakiene R, Kupriene M. Scientific problems of photosensitivity. *Medicina* (*Kaunas*) 2006; 42(8):619–24.
- Svensson CK, Cowen EW, Gaspari AA. Cutaneous drug reactions. *Pharmacol Rev* 2001; 53(3):357–79.
- 11. Tokura Y. Immunological and molecular mechanisms of photoallergic contact dermatitis. *J UOEH* 2003; 25(4):387–95.
- 12. Vassileva SG, Mateev G, Parish LC. Antimicrobial photosensitive reactions. *Arch Intern Med* 1998; 158:1993–2000.
- 13. Epstein JH. Phototoxicity and photoallergy. *Semin Cutan Med Surg* 1999; 18(4):274–84.
- 14. Horio, Miyauchi H, Asada Y, et al. Phototoxicity and photoallergenicity of quinolones in guinea pigs. *J Dermatol Sci* 1994; 7(2):130–5.
- Bjellerup M, Kjellstrom T, Ljunggren B. Influence of tetracycline phototoxicity on the growth of cultured human fibroblasts. *J Invest Dermatol* 1985; 85(6):573–4.
- Bjellerup M, Ljunggren B. Double blind cross-over studies on phototoxicity to three tetracycline derivatives in human volunteers. *Photodermatology* 1987; 4(6):281–7.
- 17. Shea CR, Wimberly J, Hasan T. Mitochondrial phototoxicity sensitized by doxycycline in cultured human carcinoma cells. *J Invest Dermatol* 1986; 87(3):338–42.
- 18. Kimura R, Kuroki K, Doi K. Dermatotoxicity of agricultural chemicals in the dorsal skin of hairless dogs. *Toxicol Pathol* 1998; 26(3):442–7.
- 19. Burnham K, Bey M. Effects of crude oil and ultraviolet radiation on immunity within mouse skin. *J Toxicol Environ Health* 1991; 34(1):83–93.
- Burnham K, Rahman M. Effects of petrochemicals and ultraviolet radiation on epidermal IA expression in vitro. J Toxicol Environ Health 1992; 35(3):175–85.
- 21. Handa O, Kokura S, Adachi S, et al. Methylparaben potentiates UV-induced damage of skin keratinocytes. *Toxicology* 2006; 227(1–2):62–72.
- 22. McHugh PJ, Knowland J. Characterization of DNA damage inflicted by free radicals from a mutagenic sunscreen ingredient and its location using an in vitro genetic reversion assay. *Photochem Photobiol* 1997; 66(2):276–81.
- 23. Knowland J, McKenzie EA, McHugh PJ, Cridland NA. Sunlight-induced mutagenicity of a common sunscreen ingredient. *FEBS Lett* 1993; 324(3): 309–13.
- 24. Dunford R, Salinaro A, Cai L, et al. Chemical oxidation and DNA damage catalysed by inorganic sunscreen ingredients. *FEBA Lett* 1997; 418(1–1):87–90.
- 25. Fetil E, Akarsu S, Ilknur T, et al. Effects of some emollients on the transmission of ultraviolet. *Photodermatol Photoimmuol Photomed* 2006; 22(3):137–40.
- 26. Wang L, Yan J, Fu PP, et al. Photomutagenicity of cosmetic ingredient chemicals azulene and guaiazulene. *Mutat Res* 2003; 530(1–2):19–26.

- Cahill DF, Elder JA (eds). Biological effects of radiofrequency radiation. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, EPA Report No. EPA-600/8-83-026F, Research Triangle, NC, 1984.
- 28. Goldsmith JR. Epidemic evidence relevant to radar (microwave) effects. *Environ Health Perspect* 1997; 105 Suppl 6:1579–87.
- 29. Lin JC. Human EEG and microwave radiation from cell phones. *IEEE Microwave Magazine* 2004, pp. 34–8.
- 30. Huber R, Schruder J, Graf T, et al. Radio frequency electromagnetic field exposure in humans: Estimation of SAR distribution in the brain, effects on sleep and heart rate. *Bioelectromagnetics* 2003; 24(4):262–76.
- 31. Kundi M, Mild K, Hardell L, Mattsson MO. Mobile telephones and cancer—a review of epidemiological evidence. *J Toxicol Environ Health B Crit Rev* 2004; 7(5):351–84.
- 32. Repacholi MH. Radiofrequency field exposure and cancer: What do the laboratory studies suggest? *Environ Health Perspect* 1997; 105 (Suppl 6):1565–8.
- 33. Repacholi MH. Low-level exposure to radiofrequency electromagnetic fields: Health effects and research needs. *Bioelectromagnetics* 1998; 19(1):1–19.
- 34. Knave B. Electromagnetic fields and health outcomes. *Ann Acad Med Singapore* 2001; 30(5):489–93.
- 35. Qian XW, Luo WH, Zheng OX. Joint effects of microwave and chromium trioxide on root tip of Vicia faba. *J Zhejiang Univ Sci B* 2006; 7(3):221–7 [abstract only].
- Nelson BK, Conover DL, Brightwell WS, et al. Marked increase in the teratogenicity of the combined administration of the industrial solvent 2-methoxyethanol and radiofrequency radiation in rats. *Teratology* 1991; 43(6):621–34.
- Nelson BK, Snyder DL, Shaw PB. Developmental toxicity interactions of methanol and radiofrequency radiation of 2-methoxyethanol in rats. *Int J Toxicol* 2001; 20(2):89–100.
- Baohong W, Jiliang H, Lifen J, et al. Studying the synergistic damage effects induced by 1.8 GHz radiofrequency field radiation (RFR) with four chemical mutagens on human lymphocyte DNA using comet assay in vitro. *Mutat Res* 2005; 578(1–2):149–57.
- 39. Byrus CV, Lundak K, Pieper S, et al. Increased ornithine decarboxylase activity in cultured cells exposed to low energy modulated microwave fields and phorbol ester tumor promoters. *Cancer Res* 1988; 48:4222–6.
- 40. Adey WR. The sequence and energies of cell membrane transductive coupling to intracellular enzyme systems. *Bioengineering* 1986; 15:447–56.
- 41. Adey WR. Joint actions of environmental nonionizing electromagnetic fields and chemical pollution in cancer promotion. *Environ Health Perspect* 1990; 86:297–305.
- 42. Wetheimer N, Leeper E. Electrical wiring configurations and childhood cancer. *Am J Epidemiol* 1979; 109(3):273–84.
- 43. Savitz DA, Zuckerman DL. Childhood cancer in the Denver metropolitan area 1976–1983. *Cancer* 1987; 59(8):1539–42.
- 44. Ahlbom A. A review of the epidemiological literature on magnetic fields and cancer. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 1988; 14(6); 337–43.
- 45. Shelikh K. Exposure to electromagnetic fields and the risk of leukemia. *Arch Environ Health* 1986; 41(1):56–63.

- 46. Fulton JP, Cobb S, Preble L, et al. Electrical wiring configurations and childhood leukemia in Rhode Island. *Am J Epidemiol* 1980; 111(3):292–6.
- 47. Meyers A, Clayden AD, Cartwright RA, Cartwright SC. Childhood cancer and overhead power lines: A case-control study. *Br J Cancer* 1990; 62:1008–14.
- 48. London SJ, Thomas DC, Bowman JD, et al. Exposure to residential electric and magnetic fields and risk of childhood leukemia. *Am J Epidemiol* 1991; 134(9):923–37.
- 49. Repacholi MH, Greenbaum B. Interaction of static and extremely low frequency electric and magnetic fields with living systems: Health effects and research needs. *Bioelectromagnetics* 1999; 20(3):133060.
- Simko M, Mattsson MO. Extremely low frequency electromagnetic fields as effectors of cellular responses in vitro: Possible immune cell activation. J Cell Biochem 2004; 93(1):82–93.
- 51. Fatigoni C, Dominici L, Moretti M. Genotoxic effects of extremely low frequency (ELF) magnetic fields (MF) evaluated by Tradescantia-micronucleus. *Environ Toxicol* 2005; 20(6):585–91.
- 52. Harland JD, Liburdy RP. Environmental magnetic fields inhibit the antiproliferative action of tamoxifen and melatonin in a human breast cancer cell line. *Bioelectromagnetics* 1997; 18(8):555–62.
- 53. Blackman CF, Benane SG, House DE. The influence of 1.2 μT, 60 Hz magnetic fields on melatonin- and tamoxifen-induced inhibition of MCF-7 cell growth. *Bioelectromagnetics* 2001; 22(2):122–8.
- 54. Moretti M, Villarini M, Simonucci S, et al. Effects of co-exposure to extremely low frequency (ELF) magnetic fields and benzene of benzene metabolites determined in vitro by the alkaline comet assay. *Toxicol Lett* 2005; 157(2): 119–28.
- 55. Scasellati-Sforzolini G, Moretti M, Villarini M, et al. Evaluation of genotoxic and/or co-genotoxic effects in cells exposed in vitro to extremely low frequency electromagnetic fields. *Ann Ig* 2004; 16(1–2):321–40 [abstract only].
- Villarini M, Moretti M, Scassellati-Sforzolini G, et al. Effects of co-exposure to extremely low frequency (50 Hz) magnetic fields and xenobiotics determined in vitro by the alkaline comet assay. *Sci Total Environ* 2006; 361(1–3):208–19.
- 57. Valko M, Morris H, Cronin MT. Metals, toxicity and oxidative stress. *Curr Med Chem* 2005; 12(10):1161–208.
- 58. Zmylslony M, Palus J, Jajte J, et al. DNA damage in rat lymphocytes treated in vitro with iron cations and exposed to 7 mT magnetic fields (static or 50 Hz). *Mutat Res* 2000; 453(1):89–96.
- 59. Ansari RM, Hei TK. Effects of extremely low frequency magnetic fields (EMF) on radiation- and chemical-induced mutagenesis in mammalian cells. *Carcinogenesis* 2000; 453(1):1221–6.

PART 3 MIXTURE EFFECTS ON BODY SYSTEMS

17.1 Introduction

About 10% of the U.S. population (more than 30 million people) suffers from chronic lung diseases. Of these, about 12 million experience at least one asthma attack annually.^[1] The causes for this respiratory disease epidemic include environmental exposures to chemical as well as biological agents.^[2]

The toxic effects of single chemicals on the respiratory system have been fairly well characterized and are listed in numerous places as described earlier in Section 13.2. Though there is no one list of all respiratory toxins, the Scorecard list contains an extensive list of these and includes references for further investigation.^[3]

Respiratory effects resulting from exposures to toxic chemicals include irritant responses, sensitization and asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), reactive airways dysfunction syndrome (RADS), and cancer. Some chemicals, including isopropanol, methylethyl ketone, and many hydrocarbons, are respiratory irritants. As discussed below, exposures to high concentrations of irritants can produce RADS. Other chemicals, including toluene diisocyanate, trimellitic anhydride, and ammonium thioglycolate, are respiratory sensitizers that produce IgE-mediated immunologic responses. Some chemicals, including hexavalent chromium and asbestos, are respiratory system carcinogens.

The effects of single chemicals on the respiratory system are discussed as background for an understanding of the effects of mixtures. As previously discussed in Section 2.3, unexpected chemical mixture exposure effects are observed when the mixtures contain at least one lipophilic and one hydrophilic chemical. This chapter addresses the effects of chemical mixtures on the respiratory system. Case studies from the literature with widely different mixture combinations are used to illustrate the effects noted.

Chemicals and chemical mixtures that attack the respiratory system are categorized as corrosives, irritants, and sensitizers. Though the term irritant is often applied in the literature to chemicals that are either corrosives or irritants, the definitions used here are those that follow. These definitions are identical to those used by toxicologists and regulatory agencies to classify the hazards due to chemical inhalation.

- *Corrosive*. A corrosive chemical is one that causes visible destruction of, or irreversible alterations in, respiratory tract tissue upon inhalation of vapors, mists, or fine particulates by chemical action at the site of contact. For most chemicals, corrosivity is a function of concentration. At sufficiently low concentrations, corrosive chemical vapors may act as irritants. Hydrogen chloride, nitrogen dioxide, and sodium hydroxides are examples of chemicals corrosive to the respiratory system.
- *Irritant.* A chemical that causes a reversible inflammatory effect in respiratory tract tissue upon inhalation of vapors, mists, or fine particulates by chemical action at the site of contact. Acetone, ethyl acrylate, and isopropyl amine are examples of respiratory irritants.
- Sensitizer. A chemical that causes vulnerable, exposed individuals to develop a respiratory allergic reaction following repeated exposure. Methylene bisphenyl isocyanate, toluene diisocyanate, and trimellitic anhydride are examples of respiratory sensitizers. It should be noted that sensitizing chemicals that are inhaled have the propensity to also induce dermal sensitization and that skin exposure to sensitizers (e.g., ammonium thioglycolate) can induce respiratory sensitization. Such cross-sensitization is discussed below and in Chapter 29.

17.2 Respiratory Irritant Mixtures

This section is devoted to chemical mixtures that are respiratory irritants. Irritants do not induce immunochemical responses, and irritation in nonsensitized individuals generally leads to slower, less serious respiratory responses and usually requires higher doses of toxicants to produce symptoms than in sensitized people. Irritant-induced inflammation responses (e.g., bronchial hyperactivity) can be severe and prolonged but, by definition, do not result in sensitization of those so exposed. Mixtures of lipophiles and hydrophiles induce irritant respiratory system responses at concentration levels that are below those for the single chemicals. This phenomenon is well demonstrated by exposures in "sick buildings."

Exposures to sick buildings may stimulate respiratory responses in healthy individuals with no previous history of asthma, allergic rhinitis, chronic respiratory disease, recent acute respiratory illness, or extensive exposure to pollutants. Chemicals typically found in sick buildings arise from carpeting, paint, wood products, cleaners, and other sources. These chemicals are mixtures of lipophilic and hydrophilic chemicals and, with the exception of isocyanates from polyurethane wood finishes, are usually all respiratory irritants that are present at levels far below the TLVs for the individual species and far below total VOC exposures that are deemed hazardous.^[4,5] The chemicals, including aliphatic and aromatic hydrocarbons, aldehydes, ketones, alcohols, glycol ethers, esters, and others, are listed in Table 17.1 along with and their K_{ow} values.

Chemical	K _{ow}
<i>p</i> -Xylene	3.15
Styrene	2.95
<i>n</i> -Butylacetate	1.78
<i>n</i> -Butanol	0.88
Ethylbenzene	3.15
<i>n</i> -Hexanal	1.78
Naphthalene	3.30
<i>a</i> -Pinene	4.83
d-Limonene	4.57
1-Decene	5.12
<i>n</i> -Hexane	3.90
<i>n</i> -Nonane	4.76
<i>n</i> -Decane	5.01
<i>a</i> -Pinene	4.83
Ethoxyethylacetate	0.59
1,1-Dichloroethane	1.79
<i>n</i> -Undecane	5.74
Isopropanol	0.28
Cyclohexane	3.44
1,2,4-Trimethylbenzene	3.63
<i>n</i> -Propylbenzene	3.69
2-Butanone	0.29
<i>n</i> -Pentanal	1.31
3-Methyl-2-butanone	0.84
4-Methyl-2-pentanone	1.31
1-Octane	5.18
Formaldehyde	0.35
2-Butoxyethanol	0.83
Acetone	-0.24
Acetic acid	-0.17

Table 17.1 Chemicals of Exposure in a Sick Building Syndrome SimulationStudy on Healthy Volunteers, $[^{[4,5]}$ and the K_{ow} Values of These Chemicals
Respiratory irritants are ubiquitous in the modern indoor environment. Most indoor painting is done with water-based paints. These paints contain many volatile organic compounds that are respiratory irritants in high concentrations. Painters and others exposed to these paints at levels far below the TLVs of the individual chemicals, however, often experience irritating effects to their respiratory systems. An examination of the VOCs typically found in the air where water-based paints are used reveals that these VOCs are mixtures of large numbers of lipophiles and hydrophiles. For example, a study of occupational exposure by painters to VOCs from indoor application of water-based paints revealed a complex mixture of aliphatic and aromatic hydrocarbons, ethers, glycols, glycol ethers, alcohols, aldehydes, esters, halogenated hydrocarbons, and ammonia.^[6] The compounds found in this and in another similar study^[7] are listed along with their K_{ow} values in Table 17.2. Some of the compounds in Table 17.2 are identical to those in Table 17.1, indicating a contribution of VOCs from water-based paints to sick building syndrome. It is noteworthy that, in the studies cited, none of the compounds in Table 17.2 was present at values anywhere approaching their irritant levels and that the total VOCs were also very low.

The respiratory effects of irritant mixtures are not limited to complex ones such as those just described. Volunteers who were exposed to formaldehyde at concentrations as high as 2.0 μ g/m³ (greater than the PEL of 1.2 μ g/m³) did not experience lower airway irritation,^[8] yet those exposed to mixtures of formaldehyde ($K_{ow} = 0.35$) and terpenes ($K_{ow} = 2.42$ to 4.83) did exhibit symptoms of lower airway irritation.^[9] Additional examples of the effects of respiratory irritant mixtures are presented later in the case study Section (17.7) of this chapter.

Respiratory irritant mixtures can arise from environmental chemical reactions. For example, ozone reacts rapidly with terpenes under environmental ambient conditions to produce aldehydes, ketones, and carboxylic acids. Several studies that have been carried out demonstrated that reaction of ozone with *a*-pinene, *d*-limonene, and isoprene produce low level concentrations (at or below NOEL levels) of oxidation products and that along with residual ozone and terpenes act as respiratory irritants.^[10–12] Table 17.3 lists the species typically contained in these mixtures along with their K_{ow} values. As can be seen, the mixtures contain lipophiles (residual terpenes) and hydrophiles (the reaction products). Similar results have also been reported for environmental reaction of terpenes with ozone and nitrogen dioxide.^[9]

Terpenes are widely present in the indoor environment. They are incorporated in cleaners, plastics, adhesives, and other products. Ozone and

Chemical	K _{ow}
Aliphatic hydrocarbons	
Methyl-nonane	5.18
Methyl-decane	5.67
<i>n</i> -Dodecane	6.10
Methyl-cyclohexane	3.61
Ethyl-cyclohexane	4.56
Butyl-cyclohexane	5.07
Aromatic hydrocarbons	
Toluene	2.73
Xylene	3.15
Styrene	2.95
Ethylmethylbenzene	3.66
Trimethylbenzenes	3.63
Propylbenzene	3.69
Diethylbenzenes	3.63
Alcohols and glycols	
1-Butanol	0.88
Ethanol	-0.31
Isopropanol	0.28
Ethylene glycol	-1.36
Propylene glycol	-0.92
Ethers and glycol ethers	
Dibutylether	3.21
1-Butoxy-2-propanol	0.98
2-Phenoxyethanol	1.16
Diethyleneglycol monomethyl ether	-1.18
Diethyleneglycol monobutyl ether acetate	1.30
Esters	
Butyl acetate	1.78
Butyl acrylate	2.36
Butyl butyrate	2.83
Butyl methacrylate	2.88
Butyl proprionate	2.34
Methylheptyl acrylate	4.09

Table 17.2 Volatile Organic Compounds Found in the Air during IndoorPainting with Water-Based Paints. $^{[6,7]}K_{ow}$ Values Have Been Added to theLiterature Data

(Continued)

Chemical	K _{ow}
Methyl methacrylate	1.38
2-Chloroethyl acetate	1.12
Vinyl acetate	0.73
Aldehydes	
Formaldehyde	0.35
Hexanal	1.78
Nonanal	3.27
Miscellaneous	
Ammonia	-1.38
Triethyl amine	1.45
Acrylamide	-0.67
Acrylonitrile	0.25
Acrylic acid	0.35
Methacrylic acid	0.93

Table 17.2 Volatile Organic Compounds Found in the Air during IndoorPainting with Water-Based Paints. $[6,7] K_{ow}$ Values Have Been Added to theLiterature Data (Continued)

Table 17.3 Chemical Species Contained in Ambient Mixtures FollowingEnvironmental Reactions of Terpenes with Ozone and Their K_{ow} Values

Chemical	K _{ow}
<i>a</i> -Pinene	4.83
d-Limonene	4.57
Isoprene	2.42
Ozone	-0.87
Formaldehyde	0.35
Acetaldehyde	-0.34
Propionaldehyde	0.59
Butyraldehyde	0.88
Valeraldehyde	1.31
Hexanal	1.78
Formic acid	-0.54
Acetic acid	-0.17
Acetone	-0.24
Methylvinyl ketone	0.41
3-Methyl furan	1.91
Methacrolein	0.74

nitrogen dioxide are common environmental pollutants. The reactions between these species are representative of other reactions that occur in polluted air and the products formed by their reactions help explain why large numbers of people are impacted even when the atmospheric levels of the polluting species are below NOEL levels.

Respiratory irritation by chemical mixtures is not limited to vapors. Mist (a suspension of liquid particles in air) inhalation represents a far greater hazard to the lungs than vapors of the same chemicals because mists deliver much greater quantities of chemicals to the lung surfaces. Though the toxicities of mist mixtures may be the same as those of vapors, the inhalation of far greater amounts of the chemicals multiply the toxic effects.^[13] Mist particle diameters are inversely related to toxicity. Smaller diameter mist particles penetrate deeper into the lung, causing greater injury.^[14] Many similar products have been found to have different toxicities when applied as aerosols. Investigation has shown that smaller aerosol particle diameters for similar products induce greater toxic effects than larger diameter particles of the same formulation.^[14]

Particulates are another source of respiratory irritation when inhaled. In urban environments, diesel exhaust particles and fly ash residue from power plant oil combustion are the main contributors of respirable particulates of less than 10 μ m diameter (PM10). These contain mixtures of lipophiles and hydrophiles including various metals, acid salts, aliphatic hydrocarbons, PAHs, quinones, nitroaromatic hydrocarbons, and aldehydes.^[15] Diesel combustion particulates contain large surface areas that can adsorb large quantities of organic compounds and deliver these to respiratory tract tissue. Other inhaled particulates can adhere to lung surfaces and adsorb and bond other vapors that are inhaled, thereby increasing their toxicities. PM2.5 particulates (those with diameters of less than 2.5 μ m) that reach the lower respiratory tract as far as the alveoli are more toxic than PM10 particulates of the same composition.^[16]

Inhalation of particulates is the leading cause of COPD. Tobacco smoke is the primary source of these particulates and is responsible for up to 90% of all diagnosed COPD cases. Although smoking cessation at an early stage of the disease generally stops further progression, continued smoking after onset hastens its progression.^[17] Inhalation of other particulates, however, is also associated with COPD. Asbestos, coal, cotton, grain bentonite clay, and other dusts have also been associated with COPD.^[18] All of the materials that have been identified as causative agents for COPD are mixtures of large number of individual chemicals. As discussed in Chapter 15, tobacco smoke contains more than 4000 individual lipophilic and hydrophilic chemicals, as well as chemically complex particulates. The large number and chemically varied causative agents for COPD make it difficult to assign a mechanism for the onset of the disease.^[18]

17.3 Respiratory Sensitization Mixtures

Sensitization to chemicals is defined as changes that occur in the immune system of an individual following exposure to a chemical or chemical mixture that cause that individual's immune system to recognize and respond to the chemical or chemical mixture upon subsequent exposure to it. Such recognition, called hypersensitivity, leads to responses at lower doses and of greater severity than those experienced by nonsensitized individuals to the same chemical(s). Respiratory sensitization manifests itself through bronchial constriction and rhinitis with attendant symptoms of shortness of breath, wheezing, tight chest (asthmatic response), mucous production, sneezing, coughing, and watery eyes (allergic response).^[19] Not all people who are exposed to sensitizing chemicals are sensitized by such exposure. The propensity for sensitization is an idiosyncratic one, with genetics playing a large role in determining who will or will not be sensitized. The mechanism for sensitization is an IgE-mediated one. The reader is referred to the literature for a discussion of the details of the mechanism.^[20,21] The National Research Council monograph on multiple chemical sensitivities offers one of many primers on the subject.^[20]

Numerous single chemicals are known to be sensitizers. These include isocyanates, anhydrides, amines, metals and metal compounds, and plastics and their monomers. A complete list of these, as well as of biological sensitizers, was compiled by van Kampen et al.^[22] Table 17.4 contains a partial list of single chemical sensitizers.

Inhalation of sensitizing chemicals can lead to dermal sensitization, and dermal absorption of sensitizing chemicals can lead to respiratory sensitization. Airway exposure to toluene diisocyanate has been shown to induce dermal sensitization,^[23] and dermal application of trimellitic anhydride has been shown to induce respiratory sensitization in test animals.^[24–26] These results are consistent with the understanding that both respiratory and dermal sensitization are associated with IgE responses.

Respiratory sensitization is not limited to single chemical compounds. Several mixtures have been identified as sensitizers. The following are illustrative.

Diesel exhaust particles (DEP) are composed of carbon black and adhered lipophilic and hydrophilic compounds that include approximately 18,000 different high molecular weight organic compounds, composed of aliphatic and aromatic hydrocarbons, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, polycyclic

Table 17.4 List of Single Chemical Sensitizers

Isocyanates Diphenylmethane diisocyanate Hexamethylene diisocyanate Methyl isocyanate Naphthalene diisocyanate Toluene diisocyanate

Anhydrides

Maleic anhydride Phthalic anhydride Tetrachlorophthalic anhydride Trimellitic anhydride

Amines

Amino ethyl ethanolamine 2-Ethanolamine Ethylenediamine 4-Methylmorpholine Piperazine

Metals and metal compounds

Chromium (VI) salts Chromium sulfate Potassium dichromate Cobalt Cobalt sulfate Iridium chloride Nickel Nickel sulfate Platinum Chloroplatinates Tungsten Tungsten carbide

Plastics monomers

Ethylcyanoacrylate Methylcyanoacrylate Methylmethacrylate Vinyl chloride styrene

Miscellaneous Ammonium chloride Azodicarbonamide

Basic blue 99 (hair dye)
Chloramine T
Diazonium tetrafluoroborate
Ethyleneimine
Ethylene oxide
Formaldehyde
Furfuryl alcohol
Glutaraldehyde
Hexachlorophene
Metabisulphite
Ninyhdrin
Tetrazine
Triglycidyl isocyanurate

 Table 17.4 List of Single Chemical Sensitizers (Continued)

aromatic sulfur heterocycles, sulfur dioxide, nitrogen dioxide, aldehydes, and carboxylic acids.^[27–29] DEP are sensitizing to the respiratory system and have a direct effect on IgE antibody production.^[30] Ragweed is a known sensitizer that affects millions of people seasonally when its pollen are released into the air. Although both DEP and ragweed enhance ragweed-specific IgE, the combination of ragweed and DEP exposure produces a synergistic effect that increases ragweed-specific IgE production by 16-fold.^[31] In a separate challenge study, DEP was shown to induce sensitization to a neoantigen when DEP levels were similar to those typically inspired in the air of Los Angeles, California, in 3 days.^[32]

Ethoxylated surfactants (ES) are used in household and industrial cleaners, laundry detergents, pharmaceuticals, and cosmetics. ES react with ambient oxygen to form complex mixtures of oxidation products (including hydroxyaldehydes, formaldehyde, and acetaldehyde that are sensitizers).^[33] In one study, pure surfactant was found to show no allergenic activity. Upon standing in air, however, allergenic activity increased as a function of time, as did the concentration of formaldehyde.^[34] Though the studies just described were dermal exposure ones, it should be noted that the ES oxidation products are volatile and that many cleaners are applied in aerosol form, making for quite frequent inhalation, given the use of these chemicals. This point is consistent with the observations that many people suffer adverse respiratory reactions when using products containing ES.^[35]

Platinum salts are known sensitizers. In a study of workers at a platinum refinery, those who smoked were more than five times as likely as non-smokers to be sensitized.^[36] No mechanism has been proposed for this observed effect.

It is clear than environmental pollution plays an ever-increasing role in sensitization and allergy. The dramatic increase in human allergic airway disease in the past 200 years has paralleled the increase in the burning of fossil fuel.^[30] In industrialized areas of the world, the prevalence of atopic diseases such as asthma and allergic rhinitis has increased to the point where it afflicts 10–20% of children living in these regions.^[37] The mechanism(s) for the onset of these diseases is(are) still being investigated. As shown above, DEP and ethoxylated surfactants are sensitizing agents and the mixture of these and pollen synergize the sensitizing process. It is thought that the adsorption of organic molecules to airborne particulates mediate the adhesion of such particles to pollen surfaces thereby increasing exposure to pollen.^[38]

17.4 Asthma And Chemical Mixtures

Asthma is a chronic inflammation disorder of the airways that make the bronchial tubes swell and narrow, producing wheezing, chest tightness, breathlessness, and coughing symptoms. Airway narrowing in asthma is caused by inflammation, bronchospasm, and bronchial hyperactivity. Asthma does not affect the alveoli and is reversible spontaneously and by drug treatment. Asthma is fully reversible and thus is different from COPD and emphysema, which are accompanied by destruction of alveolar walls and are irreversible.

Asthma may be induced by biological allergens such as pollens and animal proteins or by exposures to particular chemical environments. The latter is termed occupational asthma (OA). OA may be caused by exposures to sensitizers,^[39] or by exposures to irritants. Asthma induced by sensitizers is almost always attributable to single chemical species. Exposures to mixtures of sensitizers have predictive additive effects. Irritant-induced asthma can be attributed to single chemical species and mixtures of chemicals. OA is distinguished from RADS in that OA generally ensues after chronic low level exposures to chemicals, whereas the onset of RADS occurs following single or short-term exposures to high concentrations of chemicals.^[40] RADS is discussed in Section 17.5.

Asthma can be induced by chemicals that are ingested or dermally applied as well as inhaled chemicals. Sulfites in wine, salads, other foods, and some medications are known to induce asthma when ingested,^[41–43]

and many chemicals, including isocyanates and anhydrides, have been shown to induce asthma following dermal exposure.^[44,45] The discussion in this section, however, is limited to inhaled chemical mixtures as causative agents for asthma.

OA can be induced by single sensitizing chemicals as well as by single irritant chemicals. Sensitizers, all of which are hydrophiles, are listed in Table 17.4. Irritants that induce occupational asthma are almost exclusively hydrophilic. Table 17.5 contains a partial list of these^[46–50] and their K_{ow} values.

Chemical mixtures that induce OA are almost exclusively combinations of hydrophiles and lipophiles. Table 17.6 contains a partial list of these mixtures.^[46–52] Though the precise compositions of all of these chemicals are not given in the references cited, it is possible to extrapolate from the nature of the materials that they contain both hydrophiles and lipophiles.

Table 17.5	Single Chemicals	that Induce	Occupational	Asthma and	Their
K _{ow} Values					

Chemical	K _{ow}
Ammonia	-1.38
Calcium oxide	-0.87
Chlorine gas	0.85
Formaldehyde	0.35
Hydrochloric acid	0.54
Sodium hydroxide mist	-3.88
Sulfuric acid/sulfur dioxide	-2.20
Titanium tetrachloride	1.47

Table 17.6 Chemical Mixtures that Induce Occupational Asthma

Burnt chlorofluorocarbons
Burnt paint fumes
Carpet emissions
Cigarette smoke
Cleaning products
Diesel fumes
Epoxies
Mixed solvents
Paint fumes
Pesticide sprays
Polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons
Spray paints
Welding fumes

For example, as shown in Table 17.2, paints contain numerous lipophilic and hydrophilic species.

Many chemical mixtures are known to induce asthma. Illustrative examples of some of these follow.

Cleaning products rank at or near the top of chemical mixtures that induce asthma.^[53] These products are almost always mixtures of lipophiles and hydrophiles and are formulated that way to ensure maximum cleaning power. Chemicals contained in cleaning products include chlorine, acids, alkalis, glycol ethers, ammonia, ethanol, isopropanol, *d*-limonene, ionic and nonionic surfactants, ethanolamines, phenols, and others.

Children exposed to polluted air containing low levels of ozone (hydrophile) and PM2.5 particulate matter (mixture of lipophiles and hydrophiles) are more prone to asthma than those living in areas with clean air.^[54]

Hairdressers have higher rates of asthma than the general public. They are constantly exposed to persulfates in hair bleaches (hydrophiles) and hair sprays (mixtures of lipophiles and hydrophiles).^[55]

Pig farmers have a higher incidence of asthma than the general population. Quaternary ammonium compounds (QACs) are commonly used disinfectants with no known sensitization effects. In a study of Dutch pig farmers, however, it was found that the incidence of asthmatic sensitization was much higher for those who used QACs than for those who did not use these disinfectants.^[56]

Children who regularly swim in indoor swimming pools have been found to have higher rates of asthma than those who do not. The cause has been attributed to the reaction of disinfectant chlorine (hypochlorous acid) with organic matter (e.g., perspiration, saliva, and urine) to produce lipophilic/hydrophilic mixtures of disinfection byproducts that include trihalomethanes, trihaloacetic acids, and chloramines that are inhaled by swimmers as vapors and aerosols.^[57] Similar increases in asthma prevalence have been reported for lifeguards who work in indoor swimming pools.^[58]

Tobacco smoke contains hundreds of different lipophiles and hydrophiles. Children and adolescents are particularly sensitive to chemical-induced asthma. One study has found that children and teens who smoke cigarettes have nearly four times the risk of developing asthma in their teens than their cohorts who do not smoke.^[59]

Cooling, lubricating, and cutting oils and their decomposition products contain large numbers of lipophiles and hydrophiles. Exposure to vapors and aerosols of these products is associated with increased incidences of asthma.^[60–62]

As discussed in Chapter 14, pesticide products are mixtures of lipophilic and hydrophilic components. In a survey of more than 20,000 farmers who were certified pesticide applicators, it was found that total pesticide usage was related to the onset of wheezing (asthma symptom). It was further found that 19% of all applicators reported wheezing within the year before the survey was taken and that the use of five pesticides in particular demonstrated significant dose–response trends.^[63] Those pesticides, paraquat, parathion, malathion, chlorpyrifos, and S-ethyl-dipropylthiocarbonate are commonly used by farmers alone and in combination and may account to a significant degree for the increased incidence of asthma among farmers relative to the general population.

Stainless steel welders are at high risk for developing asthma. The fumes emitted into the welders' breathing zones contain hexavalent chromium, iron, nickel, manganese, titanium, molybdenum, copper, and chromium, as well as silica, calcium carbonate, volatile organic compounds from fluxes and fumes from burnt paints.^[64–68]

Aluminum welding, too, has been shown to be a cause of asthma. Aluminum electrodes used in welding contain chlorides, fluorides, chromium, nickel, lithium sodium, potassium, and aminoethyl ethanolamine in addition to aluminum.^[69]

Bronchospasm reactions have been reported following administration of various pharmaceuticals.^[70] A partial list of these is given in Table 17.7.

It remains unclear as to whether all the adverse reactions were to the pharmaceuticals themselves or to excipients that are added to most formulations. Adverse reactions have been reported for preservatives (e.g., benzalkonium chloride, parabens, thimerosal), colorants, emulsifiers, and sulfites. Ironically, bronchospasm reactions have been observed following the use of inhaled asthma preparations.^[70]

Asthma includes a range of different symptoms among which are wheezing, coughing, chest tightness, and difficulty breathing. The underlying cause of asthma is inflammation of the airways, but what triggers this inflammation and why some people develop the disease and others do not is not understood at this time. It has recently been found that natural killer T cells play an important role in human asthma.^[71] People with asthma have a range of different symptoms and different responses to treatment, and indeed, it has been recently proposed by the medical journal Lancet that the term asthma be abolished, as it is unlikely a single disease.^[72] Asthma has been increasing steadily since the 1980s. It is estimated that between 10% and 25% of adult asthma is related to chemical exposures on the job.^[73] The reasons behind the increase of childhood asthma are not fully understood at the time of this writing but are believed to be strongly related to environmental pollution. In a study to be published in 2008, it has been found that soot particles spewing from diesel truck exhausts are directly related to the high rates of asthma found in school aged children in the South Bronx, New York.^[74]

Vaccines
Immunoglobulins
Plasma volume expanders
Hormones
Vitamins
CNS agents
H1 and H2 receptor antagonists
Local anesthetics
Phytomedicines
Eye medications
Hydrolyzed proteins
Contrast media
Various drugs
Acetylcysteine
Bismuth subcitrate
Etamsylate
Fluvastatine
Pamindronic acid
Quinine
Tizanidine
Tropisetron

Table 17.7 Pharmaceuticals that Have Been Reported to Induce Bronchospasm

Though asthma is known to be induced by sensitizing chemicals, it is also triggered by irritant chemicals. Significantly, when asthma is induced by sensitizers, it is almost always done so by exposure to a single chemical, but when triggered by irritants, it is almost always following exposures to mixtures of lipophiles and hydrophiles. This connection also holds for the onset of RADS, which is discussed next.

17.5 Reactive Airways Dysfunction Syndrome (RADS)

RADS is a type of asthma that develops after exposure to a single environmental or occupational exposure to a high concentration of a single chemical or chemical mixture. Though RADS clinically simulates bronchial asthma and is associated with airways hyperactivity, it is different from OA because of its rapid onset following a single exposure, its lack of a sensitization period requirement, and its occurrence without an allergic or immunologic etiology.^[75] Eight clinical criteria for its diagnosis were set down by Brooks, Weiss, and Bernstein, who first coined the term RADS in 1985. These are given in Table 17.8.

Since its first identification more than two decades ago, RADS has been studied by numerous researchers and clinicians. An analysis of the published material reveals that RADS is triggered by corrosive, irritating, and sensitizing chemicals. The onset of RADS following exposures to corrosives shows that single hydrophilic chemicals can be the causative agents. The onset of RADS following exposures to irritants, however, always requires that the exposures be to mixtures of hydrophiles and lipophiles. Table 17.9 lists sensitizing chemicals known to induce RADS. Table 17.10 lists irritant mixtures known to trigger RADS. Both tables are referenced to the literature. K_{ow} values are included in both tables to demonstrate hydrophilic or lipophilic nature. It should be noted that the terms corrosive and irritant as used here as defined earlier in Section 17.1.

It should be noted that there have been two reports in the literature of RADS apparently being induced by exposures to bromotrifluoromethane (BTM) and bromochlorodifluoromethane (BCDFM), fluorocarbons used in fire extinguishers.^[86,87] Both are irritant chemicals, and the effects noted seemingly contradict the observation made above that RADS induced by irritants is always to mixtures of lipophiles and hydrophiles. Both BTM and BCDFM, however, thermally decompose and hydrolyze to haloacids (HCl, HBr, and HF) and their corresponding carbonyl halides (carbonyl chloride, bromide, and fluoride), chemicals that are corrosive to human tissue. In the two studies reported, no analysis of the air inhaled by the injured individuals was carried out. It is strongly suspected that their inju-

Table 17.8 Clinical Criteria for the Diagnosis of RADS^[75]

- 1. A documented absence of preceding respiratory complaints
- 2. The onset of symptoms following a single specific chemical exposure
- 3. The chemical exposure is to a gas, smoke, fume, or vapor that is present in a very high concentration and has irritant qualities to its nature
- 4. The onset of symptoms occurs within 24 h after the exposure and persists at least 3 months
- 5. Symptoms simulate asthma with cough, wheezing, and dyspnea predominating.
- 6. Pulmonary function tests show airflow obstruction
- 7. Methancholine challenge test is positive
- 8. Other types of respiratory diseases are ruled out

Chemical	K _{ow}	Reference
Uranium hexafluoride	0.21	[74]
Hydrazine	-1.47	[74]
Chlorine	-0.85	[74,76–78,79]
Glacial acetic acid	-0.17	[80]
Sulfur dioxide	-2.2.0	[76,81]
Oxides of nitrogen	-0.58	[76]
Phosgene	-0.71	[77]
Hydrogen sulfide	-1.38	[76,77,82]
Hydrogen chloride	0.54	[76,77]
Sulfuric acid	-2.20	[76,77,81,82]
Chloroacetyl chloride	-0.22	[76]
Sodium fumes	-0.77	[76]
Phosphoric acid	-0.77	[77]
Sodium hydroxide ^a	-3.88	[78]
Ethylene oxide	-0.30	[83]
Calcium oxide	-0.57	[79]

Table 17.9 Single Chemical Corrosive Chemicals Known to Induce RADS,Their K_{ow} Values, and Literature References

Note: ^aCo-exposed with silicon tetrachloride(K_{ow} = 1.77) and trichlorosilane (K_{ow} = 2.26).

ries were due to the presence of corrosive decomposition products. This suspicion is supported by the widespread use of both BTM and BCDFM without other similar incidents being reported.

RADS, as described earlier, requires the onset of symptoms within 24 h of exposure to a high concentration of individual chemical or mixture. Some researchers have reported the onset of RADS following repeated low-dose exposures to respiratory irritants and have labeled the phenomenon low-dose RADS.^[46,88] Low-dose RADS apparently bridges the gap between RADS, caused by one-time exposures and OA, which is caused by chronic exposures to affecting chemicals. These observations should not be surprising, since the chemicals known to induce OA and RADS are the very same species that differ only in concentrations of exposure. Low-dose RADS may be considered as being caused by middle level exposures to such chemicals.

17.6 Respiratory Carcinogens

Much of the research into cancer of the respiratory system has been devoted to identifying lung carcinogens. Several chemical mixtures are known to

Mixture	K _{ow}	Reference
1. Decane	5.01	[75]
Ethylbenzene	3.15	
Toluene	2.78	
Xylene	3.15	
Epichlorohydrin	0.45	
2. Polyethoxylated vegetable oil	NA	[75]
Dipropylene glycol	-0.64	
Terpene hydrocarbon	4.83	
Sodium nitrate	-4.39	
Complex unsaturated aldehyde	NA	
Isobornyl acetate	3.86	
3. Phenol	1.46	[84]
Formaldehyde	0.35	
Styrene	2.95	
Methylene chloride	1.25	
Methanol	-0.77	
Aromatic and aliphatic	3.0-4.0	
hydrocarbons		
4. Mixture of aldehydes, ketones,	-0.31-5.74	[85]
hydrocarbons, alcohols, organic		
acids		
5. Epichlorohydrin	0.45	[81]
Bis-phenol(a)	3.32	
Methyl isobutyl methane	3.90	
Ethylene glycol monobutyl ether	0.83	
Mineral spirits	5.00 (est)	
6. Isobutane	2.76	[85]
Ethyl acetate	0.73	
n-heptane	4.66	
Fluoroaliphatics	0.75	
7. 2,4-D	0.65	[85]
MCPP	3.13	
Dicamba	1.13	
Naphthalene	3.30	
Solvent naphtha	5.00 (est)	
Dinitroaniline	1.29	

Table 17.10 Irritant Chemical Mixtures Known to Induce RADS, Their K_{ow} Values, and Literature References

Note: NA, not available.

increase lung cancer risk. These include tobacco smoke (which contains polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons, PAHs), other mixtures containing PAHs, commercial oils and mixtures of chemicals, and radiation. Illustrative examples of respiratory system carcinogenic chemical mixtures follow.

Workers in aluminum production, coal gasification, coke production, iron and steel foundries, tar distillation, shale oil extraction, wood impregnation, roofing, road paving, carbon black production, carbon electrode production, chimney sweeping, and calcium carbide production are all exposed to PAHs and are known to have increased rates of lung cancer relative to the general population.^[89,90]

Metal machinists, printing press operators, and cotton and jute spinning workers are also at higher risk for lung cancer than the general population.^[91] These workers use mineral oils that are complex mixtures of aliphatic and aromatic hydrocarbons. The oils are formulated into end products containing a variety of additives and contaminants. These include nitrosamines, chlorinated hydrocarbons, sulfur, amines, and formaldehyde.

Workers who process uranium and those employed in atomic power laboratories also are at increased risk for lung cancer.^[92,93] These workers are typically exposed to complex mixtures of chemicals and radiation.

The complexities of the mixtures just described make it difficult to ascribe the increased lung cancer rates to any particular chemical or mixture. All the above exposures are to mixtures of lipophiles and hydrophiles, which have been shown to be associated with unexplained cancer clusters.^[94]

Though a small percentage of the lung cancers can be attributed to radon and asbestos exposure, almost all cases of this disease are associated with tobacco smoke inhalation. For the year 2000 it was estimated that 90–95% of all lung cancers in men and 74–85% of lung cancers in women in Europe and North America can be attributed to tobacco use.^[95] The lower incidences for women are because of lower smoking rates when compared to men. As discussed in Chapter 15, 49 different carcinogens have been identified in tobacco smoke, a complex mixture containing more than 4000 different individual chemicals. This makes assigning a particular lung carcinogen the subject of ongoing research. It should be noted that lung cancer is virtually nonexistent in East and West Africa, where tobacco is not smoked.^[95]

17.7 Unanticipated Respiratory Effects of Chemical Mixtures

In keeping with the theme of this book, the unanticipated effects of respiratory exposures to chemical mixtures are examined here. As seen in the earlier sections, mixtures of irritants, as well as single sensitizing and corrosive chemicals, are known to produce respiratory effects in humans. Following are case studies from the literature that exemplify the respiratory toxicity of chemical mixtures. Each case is presented with a list of the chemicals involved, their octanol:water partition coefficients (K_{ow}), the effects observed following the exposures, and the literature reference (which immediately follows the case number). In all instances, the toxic effects observed were not predicted from considerations of the toxicities of the individual constituents and exposures were to mixtures of lipophiles and hydrophiles.

Case 1^[75]

A 19-year-old grocery clerk, who was previously in good health, developed cough, dyspnea and other symptoms following exposure to fumes from a concrete floor sealant used to coat a stockroom floor. He was subsequently diagnosed with RADS. The subject sealant contained the following chemicals:

Decane	5.01
Ethyl benzene	3.15
Toluene	2.73
Xylene	3.15
Epichlorohydrin	0.45

Though these chemicals are mild respiratory irritants, they are not individually known to produce the severe effects found in the subject individual.

Case 2^[9]

Woodworkers at a carpentry works facility were found to have reduced pulmonary function following their shifts compared with controls. Testing of the atmosphere in the workplace showed the presence of the following chemicals:

Formaldehyde	0.35
Terpene hydrocarbons	2.43-4.83
Dusts	

The formaldehyde and terpene levels were well below their TLVs and the dust levels were well within proscribed limits. At the levels measured, no respiratory effects are anticipated for the individual chemicals.

Case 3^[96]

Respiratory symptoms, including chest tightness, shortness of breath, and coughing, were reported for histology technicians as a result of their exposure to the following chemicals:

Formaldehyde	0.35
Chloroform	1.97
Toluene	2.73
Xylene	3.15
Ethanol	-0.31

All levels of exposure were below those to which respiratory symptoms could be attributed.

Case 4^[97]

Newspaper pressmen exposed to solvents and oils developed pulmonary and upper respiratory tract symptoms following their exposures. The chemicals they inhaled included

d-Limonene	4.57
Various glycol ethers	0.83-1.14
Kerosene	5.00 (average value)
Aliphatic hydrocarbons	3.15-5.50
Isopropyl alcohol	0.05
Butyl carbitol	0.56

All exposures to these chemicals, as well as to various oils that were in use, were within PEL values and no respiratory symptoms were anticipated for any of the chemicals at the levels of exposure.

Case 5^[85]

Low levels of an applied herbicide/insecticide mix were drawn into the uptake air of a commercial building. Several workers in the building immediately reported respiratory symptoms (including dyspnea, chest tightness, and coughing). One individual was permanently injured and subsequently diagnosed with RADS. The chemical mixture to which the workers were exposed included

2,4-Dichlorophenoxyacetic acid (2,4-D)	0.65
2-(2-Methyl-4-chlorophenoxy) propionic acid (MCPP)	3.13

3,6-Dichloro- <i>o</i> -anisic acid (Dicamba)	1.13
Solvent naphtha	3.0-5.5
Naphthalene	3.30
Dinitroaniline	1.29

All chemicals were present at values far below their TLVs and no respiratory effects were predicted from the known toxicologies of the individual species.

Case 6^[4]

In an effort to study "sick building syndrome," 14 volunteers were exposed to a synthetic mixture of chemicals typically found in "sick buildings." The chemicals contained in the mixture included

<i>p</i> -Xylene	3.15
<i>n</i> -Butylacetate	1.78
<i>n</i> -butanol	0.88
Ethyl benzene	3.15
<i>n</i> -Hexanal	1.78
1-Decene	5.12
1-Hexane	3.90
<i>n</i> -Nonane	4.76
<i>n</i> -Decane	5.01
<i>a</i> -Pinene	4.83
Ethoxyethylacetate	0.59
1,1-Dichloroethane	1.79
<i>n</i> -Undecane	5.74
Isopropanol	0.05
Cyclohexane	3.44
1,2,4-Trimethylbenzene	3.63
<i>n</i> -Propylbenzene	3.69
2-Butanone (MEK)	0.29
<i>n</i> -Pentanal	1.31
3-Methyl-2-butanone (MIPK)	0.84
4-Methyl-2-pentanone (MIBK)	1.31
1-Octane	5.18

All chemicals were at concentrations far below those considered to be respiratory hazards, yet respiratory responses were noted in the volunteers immediately upon exposure, 4 h later, and 18 h later.

Case 7^[53]

A school custodian who had worked for 18 years developed symptoms of wheezing, cough, and chest tightness after removing graffiti from school walls, a chore he was frequently called upon to do. The removing products he used contained the following chemicals:

Dimethyl glutarate	0.90
Dimethyl adipate	1.39
g-Butyrolactone	-0.31
Dimethyl succinate	0.40
Ethylene glycol <i>n</i> -butyl ether	0.83
Propylene glycol butyl ether	0.98
d-Limonene	4.57
Alkyl polyglyoside	NA
Propylene carbonate	0.08

Note: NA, Not available.

The man's symptoms were significantly worse when he was assigned to graffiti removal and eased when he was away from the job. He remained symptomatic even after leaving the job. None of the individual chemicals in either of the two products is expected to produce the OA induced in this man.

Case 8^[85]

A group of 39 people reported respiratory symptoms (wheezing, chest tightness, difficulty breathing) within hours of exposure to a reformulated aerosol spray leather conditioner. The chemicals contained in the product included

Isobutene	2.76
Ethyl acetate	0.73
<i>n</i> -Heptane	4.66
Fluoroaliphatics	0.75

Most of the individuals reported the onset of symptoms immediately after use, including some who had used the product outdoors. None of the individual chemicals in the product is known to cause the asthmatic symptoms that were observed.

Case 9^[98]

A computer operator developed RADS following exposure to chemicals contained in an epoxy resin coating that was applied to a concrete floor in his presence. The computer operator's coworker, however, did not develop RADS but developed a chronic cough. The coating product contained the following chemicals:

Epichlorohydrin	0.45
bis-Phenol(a)	3.32
Polyamide resin	NA
Methyl isobutyl methane	3.21
Ethyleneglycol monobutyl ether	0.83
Mineral spirits	3.00-5.00

Note: NA, not available.

None of the chemicals contained in the coating is known to cause asthma or RADS.

Case 10^[99]

Laboratory animals exposed to disposable diaper emissions have demonstrated pulmonary irritation upon inhalation of these emissions in a test chamber. Two brands of these diapers generated the following chemicals in the test chamber:

3.15
1.79
3.15
2.95
3.66
4.57
1.79
2.36
2.73
3.42
2.42
1.79
4.57

Though exposure levels of all emissions were below their TLVs, these emission mixtures produced pulmonary irritations in mice.

Case 11^[85]

Shortly after installation of new carpeting in her home, a woman with no previously known respiratory ailments experienced dyspnea, chest tightness, and difficulty breathing. Testing of the air in the home revealed that chemicals associated with new carpet emissions were present. The chemicals identified included

Butylated hydroxytoluene	5.10
Formaldehyde	0.35
Styrene	2.95
2-Butoxyethanol	0.83
Undecane	5.74
Acetic acid	-0.17
Octanal	2.78
Dipropylene glycol	-0.64
2-Phenoxyethanol	1.16
2-(2-Butoxyethoxy)-ethanol	0.56
Naphthalene	3.30
Decane	5.01
Dichlorodifluoromethane	2.16
Isobutene	2.76
Propane	2.36
<i>n</i> -Butane	2.89
Ethanol	-0.31
Acetone	-0.24
Trichlorofluoromethane	2.53
Isopropanol	0.05
Toluene	2.73
Hexanal	1.78
Benzaldehyde	1.48
<i>a</i> -Pinene	4.83
<i>d</i> -Limonene	4.57

The concentrations of all species, as well as for total VOCs, were well below levels considered harmful to humans.

Case 12^[75]

A housewife who had previously been completely asymptomatic and with no history of respiratory symptoms began wheezing within minutes after a fumigating mixture of chemicals was applied to her kitchen following a fire. The mixture contained

Vegetable oil	Not available
Dipropylene glycol	-0.64
A terpene hydrocarbon	4.64 (est)
An unsaturated aldehyde	1.7–2.78 (est)
Isobornyl acetate	3.86
Sodium nitrate	-0.79

The woman was subsequently diagnosed with RADS following her exposure to this mixture of irritants.

Case 13^[85]

A 56-year-old purchaser of a new yacht reported the onset of dyspnea, tightness of chest, and cough whenever she was in the closed cabin of the yacht. Within 3 months she developed permanent asthma. The chemicals contained in the yacht cabin air included

Toluene	2.73
Formaldehyde	0.35
Benzene	2.13

The concentrations of all three air contaminants were below those known to produce respiratory symptoms and cause OA.

The case studies just described are representative of many others to be found in the literature for instances where low level mixtures of lipophiles and hydrophiles act together to induce respiratory effects that are not anticipated from the levels of exposure.

Not all mixtures that are toxic to the respiratory system are mixtures of lipophiles and hydrophiles. In some instances, irritant chemicals react to produce more toxic species. Chloramine-induced pneumonitis from the mixing of household ammonia and bleach is an example of this phenomenon.^[100,101] Household ammonia cleaner is usually a 5–10% aqueous solution of ammonia. Household bleach is generally a 5.25% solution of sodium hypochlorite. At these concentrations, these chemicals alone act as respiratory irritants. When mixed together, however, they react to form monochloroamine, dichloroamine, and trichloroamine as shown in Fig. 17.1. Chloramines are far more toxic than either hypochlorite or ammonia and are capable of producing inflammation and edema of the respiratory system. Case 14 is an example of the toxicity of chloramines.

NH₃ + NaOCI → NH₂CI + NaOH

NH₂CI + NaOCI → NHCI₂ + NaOH

NH₂CI + NaOCI → NCI₃ + NaOH

Figure 17.1 Reaction of ammonia and sodium hypochlorite to produce chloramines.

Case 14^[101]

A 62-year-old woman was without respiratory illness until the day she cleaned with a mixture of ammonia and bleach. She noted eye, nose, and throat irritation, but continued to clean for several hours. Several hours later, she noted increasing respiratory distress and called an ambulance. Upon arrival, paramedics had to intubate her at home due to respiratory failure. The woman recovered after 30 days of hospitalization, though a roentgenogram taken 38 days after admission showed residual interstitial infiltrate.

17.8 Summary

The continuing worldwide increase in respiratory disease corresponds to increases in the release of chemicals into the atmosphere. Respiratory irritation, sensitization, asthma, RADS, and lung cancer can be attributed to numerous single chemicals whose toxicological properties are, for the most part, well known. Many unexplained incidences of respiratory disease cannot be attributed to single chemical exposures, but have been shown to occur when exposures are to chemical mixtures that are composed of at least one lipophile and one hydrophile. The sources of such mixtures include diesel exhausts, tobacco smoke, carpet emissions, paint fumes, and cleaning products. Prevention of chemically induced respiratory diseases should include limiting exposures to these chemical mixtures.

References

- 1. Krone CA. Diisocyanates and nonoccupational disease: A review. Arch Environ Health 2004; 59(6):300–16.
- 2. Kunkel DB. Occupational asthma: Causes and management. *Emerg Med* 1987:86–94.

- 3. Scorecard, the pollution information site. Health effects, respiratory toxicity references, www.scorecard.org/health-effects/references.tcl?short_harzard_name=resp
- Koren HS, Graham DE, Delvin RB. Exposure of humans to a volatile organic mixture III. Inflammatory response. *Arch Environ Health* 1992; 47(1):39–44.
- 5. Zeliger HI. Toxic effects of chemical mixtures. *Arch Environ Health* 2003; 58(1):23–9.
- 6. Norback D, Wieslander G, Edling C. Occupational exposure to volatile organic compounds (VOCs), and other air pollutants from the indoor application of water-based paints. *Ann Occup Hyg* 1995; 39(6):783–94.
- 7. Hansen MK, Larsen M, Cohr KH. Waterborne paints. A review of their chemistry and toxicology and the results of determinations made during their use. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 1987; 13:473–85.
- Harving H, Korsgaard J, Dahl R, et al. Low concentrations of formaldehyde in bronchial asthma: A study of exposure under controlled conditions. *Br Med J* 1986; 293:310.
- 9. Alexandersson R, Kolmodin-Hedman B, Hedenstierna G. Exposure to formaldehyde: Effects on pulmonary function. *Arch Environ Health* 1982; 37(5):279–84.
- Wilkins CK, Cluasen PA, Wolkoff S, et al. Formation of strong airway irritants in mixtures of isoprene/ozone and isoprene/ozone/nitrogen dioxide. *Environ Health Perspect* 2001; 109(9):937–41.
- 11. Rohr AC, Wilkens CK, Clausen PA, et al. Upper airway and pulmonary effects of oxidation products of (+)-alpha-pinene, d-limonene, and isoprene in BALB/c mice. *Inhal Toxicol* 2002; 14(7):663–84.
- 12. Wilkins CK, Wolkoff P, Clausen PA. Upper airway irritation of terpene/ozone oxidation products (TOPS). Dependence on reaction time, relative humidity and initial ozone concentration. *Toxicol Lett* 2003; 143(2):109–14.
- Swenberg JA, Beauchamp RO, Jr. A review of the chronic toxicity, carcinogenicity and possible mechanisms of action of inorganic acid mists in animals. *Crit Rev Toxicol* 1997; 27(3):253–9.
- 14. Yamashita M, Tanaka J, Yamashita M, et al. Mist particle diameters are related to the toxicity of waterproofing sprays: Comparison between toxic and non-toxic products. *Vet Hum Toxicol* 1997; 39(2):71–4.
- 15. Baeza-Squiban A, Bonvallot V, Boland S, Marano F. Airborne particles evoke an inflammatory response in human air epithelium. Activation of transcription factors. *Cell Biol Toxicol* 1999; 15:375–80.
- Seagrave J, McDonald JD, Bedrick E, et al. Lung toxicity of ambient particulate matter from southeastern U.S. sites with different contributing sources: Relationships between composition and effects. *Environ Health Perspect* 2006; 114(9):1387–93.
- 17. Bednarek M, Gorecka D, Wielgomas J, et al. Smokers with airway obstruction are more likely to quit smoking. *Thorax* 2006; 61:869–73.
- 18. Dosman JA, Cockcroft DW, Hoeppner VH. Airways obstruction in occupational pulmonary disease. *Med Clin N Am* 1981; 65(3):691–706.
- 19. Arts JH, Mommers C, de Heer C. Dose–response relationships and threshold levels in skin and respiratory allergy. *Crit Rev Toxicol* 2006; 36(3):219–51.
- National Research Council. Multiple chemical sensitivity. Addendum to biologic markers in immunotoxicology, National Academy Press, Washington, DC, 1992, pp. 13–34.

17: Respiratory System

- 21. Kimber I, Dearman RJ. Chemical respiratory allergy: Role of IgE antibody and relevance of route of exposure. *Toxicology* 2002; 181–2:311–15.
- 22. van Kampen V, Merget R, Baur X. Occupational airway sensitizers: An overview on the respective literature. *Am J Ind Med* 2000; 38(2):164–218.
- 23. Ebino K, Ueda H, Kawakatsu H, et al. Isolated airway exposure to toluene diisocyanate results in skin sensitization. *Toxicol Lett* 2001; 121:79–85.
- 24. Arts JH, Kuper CF, Spoor SM, Bloksma N. Airway morphology and function in rats following dermal sensitization and respiratory challenge with low molecular weight chemicals. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 1998; 152(1):66–76.
- 25. Sailstad DM, Ward MD, Boykin EH, Selgrade MK. A murine model for low molecular weight chemicals: Differentiation of respiratory sensitizers (TMA) from contact sensitizers (DNFB). *Toxicology* 2003; 194(1–2):147–61.
- Vanoirbeek JA, Tarkowski M, Vanhooren HM, et al. Validation of a mouse model of chemical-induced asthma using trimellitic anhydride, a respiratory sensitizer and dinitrochlorobenzene, a dermal sensitizer. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2006; 117(5):1090–7.
- 27. Mazzarella G, Ferraraccio F, Prati MV, et al. Effects of diesel exhaust particles on human lung epithelial cells: An in vitro study. *Respir Med* 2007; 101(6):1155–62.
- Liang F, Lu M, Birch ME, et al. Determination of polycyclic aromatic sulfur heterocycles in diesel particulate matter and diesel fuel by gas chromatography with atomic emission detection. *J Chromatogr A* 2006; 1114(1): 145–53.
- 29. Liang F, Lu M, Keener TC, et al. The organic composition of diesel particulate matter, diesel fuel and engine oil of a non-road diesel generator. *J Environ Monit* 2005; 7(10):983–8.
- 30. Muranaka M, Suzuki S, Koizumi K, et al. Adjuvant activity of diesel-exhaust particles for the production of IgE antibody in mice. *J. Allergy Clin Immunol* 1986; 77:616–23.
- 31. Diaz-Sanchez D. The role of diesel exhaust particles and their associated polyaromatic hydrocarbons in the induction of allergic airway disease. *Allergy* 1997; 52(Suppl 38):52–6.
- 32. Saxon A, Diaz-Sanchez D. Diesel exhaust as a model xenobiotic in allergic inflammation. *Immunopharmacology* 2000; 48:325–7.
- 33. Karlberg AT, Bodin A, Matura M. Allergenic activity of an air-oxidized ethoxylated surfactant. *Contact Dermatitis* 2003; 49(5):241–7.
- 34. Bergh Magnusson K, Nissson JL, Karlberg AT. Formation of formaldehyde and peroxides by air oxidation of high purity polyoxyethylene surfactants. *Contact Dermatitis* 1998; 39(1):14020.
- 35. Ziem G, McTamney J. Profile of patients with chemical injury and sensitivity. *Environ Health Perspect* 1997; 109 (Suppl 2):417–36.
- 36. Venables KM, Dally MB, Nunn AJ, et al. Smoking and occupational allergy in workers in a platinum refinery. *Br Med J* 1989; 299(6705):939–42.
- 37. Ring J, Eberlin-Koenig B, Beherendt H. Environmental pollution and allergy. *Ann Allergy Immunol* 2001; 87:2–6.
- 38. Behrendt H, Becker WM, Fritzsche C, et al. Air pollution and allergy: Experimental studies on modulation of allergen release from pollen by air pollutants. *Int Arch Allergy Immunol* 1997; 113:467–78.

- 39. Brooks SM. Bronchial asthma of occupational origin: A review. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 1977; 3:53–72.
- 40. Balmes JR. Occupational airways diseases from chronic low-level exposures to irritants. *Clin Chest Med* 2002; 23:727–35.
- 41. Vally H, Thompson PJ. Allergic and asthmatic reactions to alcoholic drinks. *Addict Biol* 2003; 8(1):3–11.
- 42. Merget R, Korn M. Metabisulphite-induced occupational asthma in a radiographer. *Eur Res J* 2005; 25:386–8.
- 43. Freedman BJ. Asthma induced by sulphur dioxide, benzoate and tartrazine contained in orange drinks. *Clin Allergy* 1977; 7(5):407–15.
- 44. Kimber I. The role of the skin in the development of chemical respiratory hypersensitivity. *Toxicol Lett* 1996; 86(2–3):89–92.
- 45. Beck LA, Leung DY. Allergen sensitization through the skin induces systemic allergic sensitization. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 2000; 106 (Suppl 5):S258–63.
- 46. Tarlo SM. Irritant-induced occupational asthma. Chest 1989; 96(2):297-300.
- 47. Tarlo SM, Liss G, Corey P, Border I. A workers' compensation claim population for occupational asthma. *Chest* 1995; 107(3):634–41.
- 48. Tarlo SM, Broder I. Outcome of assessments for occupational asthma. *Chest* 1991; 100(2):329–35.
- 49. Brooks SM, Hammad Y, Richards I, et al. The spectrum of irritant-induced asthma. *Chest* 1998; 113(1):42–9.
- 50. Chatkin JM, Tarlo SM, Liss G, et al. The outcome of asthma related to workplace irritant exposures. *Chest* 1999; 116(6):1780–8.
- 51. Wheeler S, Rosenstock L, Barnhart S. A case of 71 patients referred to a hospital-based occupational and environmental medicine clinic for occupational asthma. *WJM* 1998; 168(2):98–104.
- 52. Bernstein DI. Allergic reactions to workplace allergens. *JAMA* 1997; 278:1907–13.
- 53. Rosenman KD, Reilly MJ, Schill MS, et al. Cleaning products and work-related asthma. *J Occup Environ Med* 2003; 45(5):556–63.
- 54. Gent JF, Triche EW, Holford TR, et al. Association of low-level ozone and fine particles with respiratory symptoms in children with asthma. *JAMA* 2003; 290(14):1859–67.
- 55. Lind ML, Albin M, Rylander L, et al. Incidence of asthma in female Swedish hair dressers. *Occup Environ Med* 2007; 64(3):191–5.
- 56. Preller L, Doekes G, Heederik D, et al. Disinfectant use as a risk factor for atopic sensitization and symptoms consistent with asthma: An epidemiological study. *Eur Resp J* 1996; 9:1407–13.
- 57. Bernard A, Carbonnelle S, de Burbure C, et al. Chlorinated pool attendance, atropy and the risk of asthma during childhood. *Environ Health Perspect* 2006; 114(10):1567–73.
- 58. Thickett KM, McCoach JS, Gerber JM, et al. Occupational asthma caused by chloramines in indoor swimming-pool air. *Eur Respir J* 2002; 19:827–32.
- 59. Gilliland FD, Islam T, Berhane K, et al. Regular smoking and asthma incidence in adolescents. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2006; 174(10):1094–100.
- 60. Kreiss K, Cox-Ganser J. Metalworking fluid-associated hypersensitivity pneumonitis: A workshop summary. *Am J Ind Med* 1997; 32(4):423–32.

- 61. Robbins T. Acute respiratory effects on workers exposed to metalworking fluid aerosols in an automotive transmission plant. *Am J Ind Med* 1997; 31(5):510–24.
- 62. DeVan TD, Koh WP, Lee HP, et al. Vapor dust and smoke exposure in relation to adult-onset asthma and chronic respiratory symptoms: The Singapore Chinese health study. *Am J Epidemiol* 2006; 163(12):1118–28.
- 63. Hoppin JA, Umbach DM, London SJ, et al. Chemical predictors of wheeze among farmer pesticide applicators in the agricultural health study. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2002; 165:683–9.
- 64. Toren K, Balder B, Brisman J, et al. The risk of asthma in relation to occupational exposures: A case-control study from a Swedish city. *Eur Respir J* 1999; 13:496–501.
- 65. Antonini JM, Taylor MD, Zimmer AT, Roberts JR. Pulmonary responses to welding fumes: Role of metal constituents. *J Toxicol Environ Health A* 2004; 67(3):233–49.
- 66. Yu IJ, Kim KJ, Chang HK, et al. Pattern of deposition of stainless steel welding fume particles inhaled into the respiratory systems of Sprague-Dawley rats exposed to a novel welding fume generating system. *Toxicol Lett* 2000; 116(1–2):103–11.
- 67. Keskinen H, Kallisomaki PL, Alanko K. Occupational asthma due to stainless steel welding fumes. *Clin Allergy* 1980; 10(2):151–9.
- 68. Taylor MD, Roberts JR, Leonard SS, et al. Effects of welding fumes of differing composition and solubility on free radical production and acute lung injury and inflammation in rats. *Toxicol Sci* 2003; 75:181–91.
- 69. Vandenplas O, Delwiche JP, Vanbilsen ML, et al. Occupational asthma caused by aluminum welding. *Eur Respir J* 1998; 11:1182–4.
- 70. Leuppi JD, Schnyder P, Hartmann K, et al. Drug-induced broncho-spasm: Analysis of 187 spontaneously reported cases. *Respiration* 2001; 68:345–51.
- 71. Akbari O, Faul JL, Hoyte EG, et al. CD4+ invariant T-cell receptor + natural killer T cells in bronchial asthma. *New Eng J Med* 2006; 354(11):1117–29.
- 72. Editors. Lancet 2006; 368(9538):826.
- 73. Petsonk EL. Work-related asthma and implications for the general public. *Environ Health Perspect* 2002; 110 (Suppl 4):569–72.
- 74. Thurston GD. Backpack study. To be published, 2008.
- 75. Brooks SM, Weiss MA, Bernstein IL. Reactive airways dysfunction syndrome (RADS). Persistent asthma syndrome after high level irritant exposures. *Chest* 1985; 88(3):376–84.
- 76. Sallie B, McDonald C. Inhalation accidents reported to the SWORD surveillance Project 1990–1993. *Ann Occup Hyg* 1996; 40(2):211–21.
- 77. Bardana EJ, Jr. Reactive airways dysfunction syndrome (RADS): Guidelines for diagnosis and treatment and insight into likely prognosis. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol* 1999; 83:583–6.
- 78. Promisloff RA, Lenchner GS, Cichelli AV. Reactive airway dysfunction syndrome in three police officers following a roadside chemical spill. *Chest* 1990; 98:928–9.
- 79. Palczynski D, Gorski P, Jakubowski J. The case of TDI-induced reactive airway dysfunction syndrome with the presence of specific IgE antibodies. *Allergol Immunopathol* 1994; 22:80–2.

- 80. Kern DG. Outbreak of the reactive airways dysfunction syndrome after a spill of glacial acetic acid. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 1991; 144:1058–64.
- 81. Lerman S, Kipen H. Reactive airways dysfunction syndrome. *AFP* 1988; 38(6):135–8.
- 82. Boulet LP. Increases in airway responsiveness following acute exposure to respiratory irritants. Reactive airways dysfunction syndrome or occupational asthma? *Chest* 1988; 94:476–81.
- 83. Deschamps D, Rosenberg N, Soler P, et al. Persistent asthma after accidental exposure to ethylene oxide. *Br J Ind Med* 1992; 49(7):523–5.
- 84. Sparks PJ, Simon GE, Katon WJ, et al. An outbreak of illness among aerospace workers. *West J Med* 1990; 153(1):28–33.
- 85. Burkhart KK, Brit A, Petrini G, et al. Pulmonary toxicity following exposure to an aerosolized leather protector. *Clin Toxicol* 1996; 34(1):21–4.
- 86. de la Hoz RE. Reactive airways dysfunction syndrome following exposure to a fluorocarbon. *Eur Respir J* 1999; 13:1192–4.
- 87. Matrat M, Laurence MF, Iwatsubo Y, et al. Reactive airways dysfunction syndrome caused by bromochlorodifluoromethane from fire extinguishers. *Occup Environ Med* 2004; 61:712–14.
- 88. Kipen HM, Blume R, Hutt D. Asthma experience in an occupational and environmental medicine clinic. Low dose reactive airways dysfunction syndrome. *JOM* 1994; 36(10):1133–7.
- 89. Boffetta P, Jourenkova N, Gustavsson P. Cancer risk from occupational and environmental exposure to polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. *Cancer Causes Control* 1997; 8:444–72.
- Armstrong B, Hutchinson E, Unwin J, Fletcher T. Lung cancer risk after exposure to polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons: A review and meta-analysis. *Environ Health Perspect* 2004; 112(9):970–8.
- 91. Tolbert PE. Oils and cancer. Cancer Causes Control 1997; 8:386-405.
- 92. Ritz B. Cancer mortality among workers exposed to chemicals during uranium processing. *JOEM* 1999; 41(7):556–66.
- Morgenstein H, Ritz B. Effects of radiation and chemical exposures on cancer mortality among Rocketdyne workers: A review of three cohort studies. *Occup Med* 2001; 16(2):219–37.
- 94. Zeliger HI. Unexplained cancer clusters: Common threads. *Arch Environ Health* 2004; 59(4):172–6.
- 95. Parkin MD, Bray F, Ferlay J, Pisani P. Global cancer statistics, 2002. *CA Cancer J Clin* 2005; 55:74–108.
- 96. Kilburn KH, Seidman BC, Warshaw R. Neurobehavioral and respiratory symptoms of formaldehyde and xylene exposure in histology technicians. *Arch Environ Health* 1985; 40(4):229–33.
- 97. Lee BW, Kelsey KT, Hashimoto D, et al. The prevalence of pulmonary and upper respiratory tract symptoms and spirometric test findings among news-paper pressroom workers exposed to solvents. *JOEM* 1997; 39(10):960–9.
- 98. Lerman S, Kipen H. Reactive airways dysfunction syndrome. *AFP* 1988; 38(6):135–8.
- 99. Anderson RC, Anderson JH. Acute respiratory effects of diaper emissions. *Arch Environ Health* 1999; 54(5):353–8.

- Gapany-Gapanavicius M, Molho M, Tirosh M. Chloramine-induced pneumonitis from mixing household cleaning agents. Br Med J 1982; 285:1086.
- 101. Reisz GR, Fammon RS. Toxic pneumonitis from mixing household cleaners. *Chest* 1986; 89(1):49–52.

18.1 Introduction

The nervous system is comprised of the brain, spinal cord, sensory organs, and a vast array of nerves that control thought, movement, heart function, respiration, vision, hearing, speech, smell, touch, and many other physiological functions. The nervous system is readily attacked by toxic chemicals for the following reasons:

- 1. Nerve cells, unlike other body cells, normally do not regenerate once killed. Accordingly, toxic damage to the brain or spinal cord is usually permanent.
- 2. The structure of nerve cells is remarkably different from that of other body cells (see Fig. 18.1).^[1] The much greater surface area of nerve cells leaves them more vulnerable to chemical attack.
- 3. Nerve cell loss and other irreversible nervous system declines generally increase as the body ages. Toxic actions on the nervous system can, therefore, profoundly affect the body as it ages.



Figure 18.1 Structure of the nerve cell.^[1]

- 4. Seemingly minor alterations in the structure or function of the nervous system can have major impacts on neurological, behavioral, or physiological body functions.
- Many neurotoxic chemicals easily cross the blood-brain barrier, leading to direct exposure of brain regions to toxic chemicals carried in the blood.
- 6. Unlike other tissues, the brain is composed of 55% fat tissue. This makes the brain a ready depository for toxic lipophilic chemicals and hydrophilic chemicals dissolved in them.
- 7. Myelin has the highest lipid content, 75%, of all biological membranes. This facilitates the absorption of lipophilic chemicals that can lead to serious nervous system injury.
- 8. Numerous chemicals can interfere with the delicate electrochemical balance necessary for nervous system communication of vital body information.

Neurotoxicity is defined as an adverse effect upon the structure or function of the nervous system following exposure to a chemical agent. Conversely, a neurotoxic chemical is one that adversely affects the nervous system. The action of a neurotoxin can be at the cellular or molecular level. At the cellular level, a neurotoxin might, for example, affect the flow of sodium or potassium ions across the cell membrane, thereby disrupting the transmission of information between nerve cells. At the molecular level, it might interfere with protein synthesis in nerve cells, resulting in a reduced production of a neurotransmitter and a brain dysfunction. Toxic chemicals can cause a slow degeneration of the nerve cell body or axon that may result in permanent neuronal damage.^[1]

Effects observed in humans following neurotoxic exposure include modification of motor and sensory activities, emotional states, integrative capabilities such as learning and memory, adverse effects on sensory systems (including sight, hearing, smell, touch, and pain sensation), behavior modification, sleep loss, speech impairment, delirium, hallucinations, convulsions, and death.^[1–4]

Neurotoxic chemical exposure to the fetus and young child may cause adverse developmental neurotoxic effects. These effects are the subject of the next chapter and are not considered in detail here.

In keeping with the purpose of this book, the discussion of the neurotoxic effects of single chemicals will serve only as an introduction to the discussion of the neurotoxic effects of chemical mixtures.

18.2 Neurotoxic Chemicals

Numerous neurotoxic chemicals have been identified. These include pesticides (particularly, but not limited to, organophosphates and carbamates), aliphatic and aromatic hydrocarbons, alcohols, ethers, ketones, heavy metals (including lead, mercury, manganese, and others), and mixtures of these. Hundreds of individual chemicals are established or suspected neurotoxins. The EPA Guidelines for Neurotoxicity Risk Assessment^[4] and the Scorecard list of neurotoxicants^[5] contain partial lists of neurotoxic chemicals. The actual number of chemicals with neurotoxic potential has been estimated to range between 3% and 28% of all the approximately 80,000 chemicals in use (2400–22,400).^[1] Clearly, the number of mixtures possible is infinite, though little attention has been devoted to the neurotoxic effects of mixtures.

Organophosphate and carbonate pesticides act by inhibiting the enzyme acetylcholinesterase, which hydrolyzes acetylcholine, a neurotransmitter. This inhibition in the CNS or peripheral nervous system prolongs the action at the neuron's synaptic receptors and produces clinically measurable overstimulation symptoms that include muscle weakness, perspiration, tremor, blurred vision, and salivation.^[6] More than 90 different organophosphate pesticides have been identified.^[7]

Organochlorine pesticides act by exciting the nervous system and produce symptoms that include dizziness, headache, disorientation, confusion, loss of balance, weakness, muscle twitching, tremors, convulsions, and, in the extreme, coma.^[7]

Pyrethroids, though far less toxic to humans than insects, induce repeated firing of nerve cells and cause incoordination, tremor, salivation, and irritability to sound and touch.^[7]

Chlorophenoxy herbicides are, by themselves, of relative low toxicity to humans. They are, however, often contaminated with dioxins, of which, 2,3,7,8-tetrachloro-*p*-dioxin (TCDD) is the most toxic, which cause CNS and peripheral nervous system neuropathies.^[8]

A partial list of widely used neurotoxic pesticides is contained in Table 18.1. A complete list may be found in the literature.^[1,7]

Volatile organic solvents that are commonly used in adhesives, paints, and cleaners, including aromatic hydrocarbons, halogenated hydrocarbons, ketones, ethers, and alcohols, act as depressants. Exposure to these can result in motor impairment, behavioral changes, and adverse effects on sensory perception.^[2] Table 18.2 contains a partial list of neurotoxic volatile organic chemicals.

Organophosphates
Azinphos-methyl
Dichlorvos
Tetraethyl pyrophosphate
Ethyl parathion
Diazinon
Ethion
Chlorpyrifos
Malathion
Endothion
Chlorthiophos
Thiometon
Carbamates
Aldicarb
Propoxur
Dimetan
Bendiocarb
Carbaryl
Organochlorines
DDT
Aldrin
Dieldrin
Toxaphene
Mirex
Endrin
Lindane
Heptachlor
Chlordane
Pyrethroids
Bathrin
Tetramethrin
Cyfluthrin
Fluvalinate
Resmethrin
Chlorophenoxy compounds
2,4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid (2,4-D)
2,4,5-trichlorophenoxyacetic acid (2,4,5-T)
2-methyl-4-chlorophenoxyacetic acid (MCPA)
2,4,5-trichlorophenoxyproprionic acid (Silvex)

Table 18.1 Neurotoxic Pesticides

298

Table 18.2 Partial List of Neurotoxic Volatile Organic Chemicals

Aliphatic hydrocarbons *n*-Hexane

Isomethylhexane Propane Butane *n*-Hepatane

Aromatic hydrocarbons

Toluene Xylene Styrene

Alcohols

Methanol Ethanol *n*-Butanol

Ethers

2-Butoxyethanol Diethyl ether

Ketones

Acetone Methylethylketone Methyl-*n*-butylketone Methylisobutylketone Methyl-*n*-amylketone

Halogenated compounds

Methylene chloride Chloroform 1,1,1-Trichloroethane Trichloroethylene Perchloroethylene Chlorodifluoromethane Dichlorodifluoromethane Trichlorofluoromethane

Esters

Ethyl acetate *n*-Butyl acetate
Heavy metal exposures can adversely affect those exposed in several ways. Even at relatively low levels, lead exposure can cause neurobehavioral problems including learning disorders.^[9] Mercury compounds are powerful neurotoxins whose exposure leads to speech and vision impairment, lack of coordination, and severe developmental neurotoxic effects. Methyl mercury is a potent neurotoxin. In one unfortunate incidence in the mid-1950s, a chemical plant in Japan discharged methyl mercury into Minamata Bay. When local residents ate fish and shellfish that were contaminated with the methyl mercury, severe neurotoxic and developmental neurotoxic effects resulted in adults and their offspring.^[10,11] Another infamous methyl mercury poisoning occurred in Iraq in 1971 when wheat treated with it was consumed by large numbers of people. It is estimated that more than 50,000 individuals were affected and that some 5000 people died as a result of the consumption of the contaminated wheat.^[12]

Chronic exposure to low levels of mercury can also result in neurotoxic effects, as evidenced by the increased neurological symptoms observed in workers in a mercury thermometer manufacturing plant.^[13] A good discussion of the toxicity of mercury is presented in the article by Magos and Clarkson.^[14]

Manganese is an essential trace element in the human diet. Overexposure, however, can lead to numerous neurological effects including hallucinations, abhorrent behavior, emotional instability, and Parkinsonism.^[15]

Lead is highly toxic to the human nervous system. Even at low concentrations, it can cause neurobehavioral problems, including learning disorders in children.^[16]

Other neurotoxic metals include aluminum, [17,18] cadmium, [19,20] and thallium. [21,22]

18.3 Indicators and Symptoms of Neurotoxic Poisoning

Neurotoxic poisoning can result in five different categories of indicators. These and their symptoms are presented in Table 18.3. The material presented in Table 18.3 and the format has been adapted from the literature.^[1,4,23]

18.4 Mechanisms of Neurotoxic Action

A detailed treatment of the mechanisms by which neurotoxic chemicals act is beyond the scope of this book. The following discussion briefly

Table 18.3 Indicators of Neurotoxic Poisoning and Their Symptoms^[1,4,23]

1.	Structural or neuropathological
	Gross changes in morphology, including brain weight
	Histologic changes in neurons or glia (neuropathy, axonopathy,
	myelinopathy)
2	Neurochemical
	Changes in synthesis, release, uptake of vital molecular species.
	and/or neurotransmitter degradation
	Changes in second-messenger-associated signal transduction
	Changes in membrane-bound enzymes regulating neuronal activity
	Inhibition and aging of neuropathy enzymes
	Increases in glial fibrillary acidic protein in adults
3.	Neurophysiological
	Change in velocity, amplitude, or refractory period of nerve conduction
	Change in latency or amplitude or sensory-evoked potential
	Change in electroencephalographic pattern
4.	Behavioral and neurological
	Changes in touch, vision (including color perception loss), auditory,
	taste, or smell sensations
	Speech impairment
	Changes in equilibrium
	Pain disorders
	Increased or decreased motor activity
	Abnormal movement
	Changes in motor coordination, weakness, twitching, paralysis,
	tremor, or posture
	Decreased occurrence or absence, magnitude or latency of
	Changed magnitude of neurological massurement including
	or in strength and hindlimb splay
	Loss of coordination and unsteadiness
	Seizures and convulsions
	Changes in rate or pattern of activities
	Changes in learning, memory, or attention span
	Confusion
	Sleep disturbances
	Headache
	Loss of appetite
	Excitability
	Depression
	(Continued)

	Irritability
	Restlessness
	Nervousness
	Tension
	Depression
	Stupor
	Fatigue
	Delirium and hallucinations
5.	Developmental
	Changes in the time of appearance or lack of expected behavior elements
	during development, or failure to develop as expected
	Onset of unexpected behavior patterns during development
	Changes in growth or organization of nervous system elements

Table 18.3 Indicators of Neurotoxic Poisoning and Their Symptoms^[1,4,23] (Continued)

addresses the subject. For greater depth, the reader is referred to the literature. $^{\left[24-27\right] }$

Neurotoxic chemicals enter the body via inhalation, ingestion, and/or dermal absorption. These chemicals and their metabolites enter the blood-stream and are partitioned from there into body tissues. Many neurotoxins are lipophiles and accumulate in adipose tissue. The brain is particularly vulnerable to lipophilic chemical attack since 50% of the dry weight of the brain is lipid, compared to 6–20% lipid makeup for other body organs. Not all neurotoxins, however, are lipophiles. Lead compounds, for example, that are hydrophilic are potent neurotoxins.

Neurotoxicity cannot be explained by a single mechanism. Lipid-soluble molecules rapidly pass the blood–brain barrier and depress nerve cell membrane functions.^[24] Carbon monoxide is a neurotoxin that acts by reducing oxygen supply to nervous system cells via inhibition of mito-chondrial respiration.^[24] Oxidative stress has been implicated as a factor responsible for neurotoxic damage caused by various metals, including methyl mercury.^[28,29] Organophosphate and carbamate pesticides poison people by phorphorylation of the acetylcholinesterase enzyme at nerve endings.^[6,7] The enhanced neurotoxicity observed in those exposed to a mixture of *n*-hexane and methyl-*n*-butylketone is believed to be caused by a common metabolite, 2,5-hexanedione.^[30]

The mechanisms by which many neurotoxic chemicals and chemical mixtures act remain unknown. Much of the knowledge regarding the

actions of chemical neurotoxins has been learned by empirical observation and epidemiological studies.

18.5 Neurodegenerative Diseases and Toxic Chemical Exposures

Neurodegenerative diseases (NDDs) are those in which the irreversible deteriorization of neurons affects movement and/or memory. A number of these diseases have been associated with neurotoxic chemical exposures. These include Parkinson's disease, Alzheimer's disease, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (also called motor neuron disease), and multiple sclerosis. NDDs and their associations with neurotoxic exposures are introduced here. Specific examples and case studies are discussed in the following sections.

18.5.1 Parkinson's Disease (PD)

PD is a slowly progressing degenerative condition in which dopamineproducing cells in the brain are lost. Symptoms include tremor or trembling of the arms, legs, jaw, and face, slowness of movement, unstable posture, stiffness or rigidity of the limbs and trunk, and/or impaired balance and coordination. PD is slowly progressive and is related to an individual's genetic susceptibility, age, and environmental exposure over one's lifetime.^[31]

Insight into the environmental causes of PD was obtained in the 1980s when it was shown that an impurity in synthetic heroin, 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,5,6-tetrahydropyridine (MPTP), a substance chemically similar to several pesticides, caused severe Parkinsonism in addicts who used this drug intravenously.^[32] It has been subsequently shown that exposures to pesticides,^[33,34] as well as to some heavy metals^[35,36] and volatile organic solvents,^[37–39] have resulted in increased incidences of PD.

18.5.2 Alzheimer's Disease (AD)

AD is a neurodegenerative disease associated with loss of function and death of nerve cells in the brain. It is characterized by a progressive loss of mental function (dementia) with disorientation, confusion, and loss of memory and learning ability.

In some studies, increased incidences of AD have been associated with exposures to volatile organic solvents. These include aromatic hydrocarbons, alcohols, phenols, ketones, and other solvents.^[40,41] Other studies, however, have found no association between exposures to solvents and the onset of AD.^[42,43]

18.5.3 Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis (ALS)

ALS, also known as motor neuron disease (MND) and Lou Gehrig's disease, is the most common of a group of disorders in which neurons in the spinal cord and brain stem deteriorate and die, resulting in weakness and muscle deterioration.

Some studies have associated ALS associated with exposures to solvents,^[44,45] 60 Hz magnetic fields, and welding,^[46] whereas others have questioned these associations.^[47–49] A study of twins, however, strongly suggested an association between exposures to solvent chemicals and ALS.^[50] As of this writing, the connection between neurotoxic chemical exposure and ALS remains suggestive, but not definitively proven.

18.5.4 Multiple Sclerosis (MS)

MS is a central nervous system disorder in which myelin is gradually destroyed in patches throughout the brain or spinal cord, or both. This loss of myelin interferes with nerve transmissions and leads to muscular weakness, loss of coordination, numbness, tremors, and speech and vision disturbances. MS is thought to be an autoimmune disease.

MS has been associated with solvent exposures. Shoe and leather workers, who are exposed to numerous hydrocarbon- and ketone-containing glues, were observed to have an almost 5-fold greater risk for MS than the general population.^[51] Other studies showed an increased risk for MS in those who are occupationally exposed to solvents, ionizing radiation, and welding fumes, as well as in those in contact with animals.^[52,53] Epidemiological studies have also shown an association between exposure to organic solvents and increased risk for MS.^[54,55] It should be noted, however, that other studies have not supported the connection between chemical exposures and MS.^[56,57] Here too, the suggestive evidence for the connection to neurotoxic exposure and increased risk for contracting MS is strong, but not definitive.

18.6 Neurotoxicity of Chemical Mixtures

Virtually all human environmental exposures to toxic chemicals are to mixtures. This is particularly the case for exposures to pesticides, heavy metals, and organic solvents that are known neurotoxins. Despite this, relatively few studies have been carried out on the neurotoxic effects of chemical mixtures. This section addresses the results of these mixture studies.

As discussed in Section 18.3, neurotoxic chemicals act via multiple mechanisms. One explanation offered as to why some mixtures of neurotoxins produce enhanced effects is based on a multihit hypothesis.^[58] This hypothesis argues that while the brain may compensate for the effects of a single chemical acting on a particular target in it, the brain cannot as effectively respond to a multitarget attack via multiple attack mechanisms. When one couples this approach with the greater absorption of neurotoxins when exposures are to mixtures of lipophiles and hydrophiles,^[59] it becomes clear that effects produced by exposures to mixtures can be far different from those predicted from considerations of single chemicals only. It has also been shown that lipophilic species facilitate the absorption of hydrophilic ones resulting in the absorption of greater quantities of hydrophiles than expected.^[59]

Mixtures of pesticides, heavy metals, or organic solvents often produce unanticipated neurotoxic effects. The following are published examples of such effects. Octanol:water partition coefficients (K_{ow}) are given for all chemicals cited to demonstrate lipophilicity or hydrophilicity.

18.6.1 Pesticide Mixtures

In a study on laboratory animals, it was shown that a mixture of five organophosphate pesticides produced greater than additive neurotoxic effects.^[60] The five pesticides were

Chloropyrifos	4.66
Diazinon	3.81
Dimethoate	0.78
Acephate	-0.85
Malathion	2.36

As can be seen, even though all of the pesticides are organophosphates, they vary widely in K_{ow} . It is hypothesized that the lipophilic species (chlorpyrifos, diazinon, and malathion) facilitate the absorption of the hydrophilic species (dimethoate and acephate) and thereby multiply the neurotoxic effects.

Pyrethroids are ion channel toxins that prolong neuronal excitation.^[61] Despite their lipophilic character, pyrethroids are slowly absorbed through the skin and have limited toxicities. When applied with organophosphates,

however, the organophosphates enhance pyrethroid neurotoxicity.^[62] It is hypothesized that here too, the lipophilic species acts as a carrier of the hydrophilic species, resulting in greater uptake of pyrethroids than would occur in the absence of a lipophilic species.

Military personnel in the First Gulf War (1991) were deliberately exposed to a combination of three chemicals to protect their health. The three chemicals were pyridostigmine bromide (PB), an antinerve agent; DEET, an insect repellent; and permethrin, an insecticide. Of the threequarters of a million personnel who served in the war, approximately 30,000 complained of neurological symptoms. PB is considered to be safe to humans in the doses administered. It is a quaternary dimethyl carbamate that is used as a treatment for myasthenia gravis at higher doses than that administered to military personnel. DEET (N,N-dimethyl-m-toluamide) has been used extensively by humans as an insect repellant. Symptoms associated with DEET poisoning include tremors, seizures, speech impairment, and restlessness. High levels of DEET have been shown to produce demyelination. It is not known to be toxic at the levels used by military personnel. Permethrin is a synthetic pyrethroid insecticide that affects sodium channels and leads to prolonged depolarization and repetitive discharges in presynaptic nerves fibers that are associated with tremor, hyperactivity, and convulsions. It, too, however is not believed to be toxic at the levels applied to soldiers.^[63]

The three chemicals vary widely in lipophilicity/hydrophilicity, with K_{ow} values ranging from -3.73 to 7.74:

PB	-3.73
DEET	2.18
Permethrin	7.74

In a series of experiments on laboratory animals (hens and rats) it was shown that treatment with each of the three compounds alone had minimal toxicity. All binary combinations, however, produced greater neurotoxicity than the individual compounds and a mixture of all three showed further enhanced neurotoxic effects. The effects noted included locomotor dysfunction, tremor, and behavioral effects.^[63–65] Since the laboratory effects observed mirror those seen in Gulf War veterans, the authors of these studies suggest that the veterans could have been poisoned by the mixture to which they were exposed.

Maneb ($K_{ow} = 0.62$), a dithiocarbonate, and paraquat ($K_{ow} = -2.71$), an organophosphate, show potentiated neurotoxic effects in animal studies when co-exposure to these occurs during gestation. These pesticides also

demonstrate both progressive and cumulative neurotoxicity, including marked vulnerability to the effects of paraquat following gestational exposure to maneb.^[58]

The amines spermidine, spermine, and putrescine, which are all hydrophiles, act synergistically with malathion, a lipophile, to inhibit cholinesterase activity in toads.

Sperimidine	-0.66
Spermine	-0.68
Putrescine	-0.70
Malathion	2.36

Spermidine plus malathion application resulted in a 13-fold increase in toad larvae mortality, while spermidine alone had no effect on the enzyme.^[66]

It has been shown that co-exposure to the pesticide tributyltin ($K_{ow} = 7.35$) and the PCB 126 isomer ($K_{ow} = 6.98$) results in potentiated neurotoxicity.^[67] Both of these pesticides are lipophiles, and the mechanism behind the potentiated effect of the mixture is unknown.

As discussed above, MPTP has been shown to be causal in the development of PD. The structural similarity between MPTP and organophosphate pesticides suggests that such pesticides might also cause PD, and epidemiological studies have demonstrated such relationships.^[33] In a recent in vitro study, it was demonstrated that co-administration to the organophosphate endosulfan ($K_{ow} = 3.83$) and the dithiocarbamate zineb ($K_{ow} = -0.39$) results in synergistic apoptotic/necrotic process action in human neuroblastoma cells. The authors conclude that such pesticide-induced neuronal cell death may be associated with early and late apoptosis of dopaminergic neurons and be causal for PD.^[68] This study collaborates an earlier one in which the combination of paraquat and maneb (also a dithiocarbamate) had a greater impact on the dopamine system of mice than either compound administered alone. The mixture, but not paraquat alone, reduced motor activity immediately after treatment. In this study too, the authors conclude that the synergistic effects of combined paraquat and maneb suggest that such mixtures could play a role in the etiology of PD.^[69]

The effects of pesticide chemical mixtures on neurodegenerative diseases other than PD have not to date been studied. It should not be surprising if relationships are established in the future.

The neurotoxic effects of pesticide mixtures are not limited to acute exposures. Chronic low level exposures over many years of agricultural work or other pesticide handling has been shown to produce deficits in neurological performance. Such deficits have been observed for those exposed to carbamate as well as organophosphate pesticides.^[70–72] Banana workers exposed to low levels of organophosphate and carbamate pesticides long term were observed to score lower on tests measuring psychomotor and visuomotor skills and language function.^[70] Neurobehavioral performances of Hispanic immigrant workers who were chronically exposed to low levels of organophosphate pesticides tested with lower neurobehavioral performances than those in a nonagricultural Hispanic immigrant population.^[71] As discussed in Chapter 14, agricultural pesticides are often applied as mixtures and commercial pesticides are dissolved or suspended in solvents, surfactants, and other processing chemicals. Accordingly, it is most likely that the individuals observed in the studies just cited were exposed to mixtures composed of multiple lipophilic and hydrophilic species.

18.6.2 Organic Solvent Mixtures

As discussed in Section 18.2, many organic compounds are neurotoxic. Numerous studies have shown that exposures to low levels of organic solvent mixtures induce a wide variety of neurotoxic symptoms. Regretfully, many of the studies that address the neurotoxic effects of organic solvent mixtures fail to identify the mixture components, or when doing so, do not provide quantitative exposure data. Often, however, the compositions and approximate concentrations can be inferred from the work that the exposed individuals were doing and the settings in which they were working. When analyzed this way, it becomes clear that there are many instances of neurotoxic impact from low level exposures of lipophile/hydrophile mixtures.^[73–78] These studies also demonstrate that neurotoxic effects are not limited to short-term acute exposures, but may also ensue following long-term chronic exposures.^[74,79] It has also been shown by pharmacokinetic models that exposures to the same mixtures under resting and working conditions result in far greater uptake of organic solvent mixtures when a person is working relative to when resting.^[80]

Some neurotoxic effects of exposures to organic solvent mixtures are not anticipated. Solvent mixture exposures to lipophilic/hydrophilic mixtures have been shown to impair color vision in those exposed to paints and lacquers, printers, and workers in microelectronics plants.^[81–83] The authors of these studies did not offer any hypothesis for the observed effects.

Moderate hearing losses have been noted in workers exposed to organic solvents.^[84] Synergistic hearing loss effects have been reported in workers

jointly exposed to noise and solvents, both within occupational exposure limits.^[85] No mechanistic explanations have been offered for these oto-toxic effects.

Much qualitative and quantitative information about the neurotoxic effects of exposures to organic solvents has been gathered from studies on painters.^[86–95] Solvent-based paints typically contain aliphatic and aromatic hydrocarbons, alcohols, ketones, and esters. A partial, but representative, list of these and their K_{ow} values are given in Table 18.4. As can be seen from this list, a number of lipophilic and hydrophilic chemicals are present in almost all paints.

The quantities of solvents in paints vary with desired characteristics (e.g., drying time desired) and application (building interiors, automotive surfaces, and architectural applications). Other solvents, including chlorinated hydrocarbons and terpenes, for example, are also formulated into paints. Virtually all solvent-based paints contain mixtures of lipophiles and hydrophiles. The exposures of painters to low levels of solvents (sufficiently low enough so that they do not experience acute symptoms at the time of exposure and below the TLVs for the individual solvent molecules) enables one to ascribe neurotoxicological reactions to low level mixture exposures.

The neurological health of painters has been extensively studied. Painters have been found to suffer from impaired behavioral effects,^[86,87,93] sensory and sensorimotor neuropathies,^[89] psychiatric function,^[90,91,94] and learning and memory deficiency^[92] problems. In the studies just cited, as well in many other similar ones, exposures were generally low level, occurring over a period of years, and exposures were to mixtures of lipophilic and hydrophilic chemicals. Other studies on exposures to single

Toluene	2.73
Xylene	3.15
C-6 to C-9 aliphatic hydrocarbons	4.10-6.15
Isopropanol	0.05
<i>n</i> -Butanol	0.88
Acetone	-0.24
Methyl isobutyl ketone	1.19
Ethyl acetate	0.73
<i>n</i> -Butyl acetate	1.78

 Table 18.4 Organic Solvents Typically Found in Solvent-Based Paints and Their K_{ow} Values

chemicals have established safe exposure levels for single chemical species. The evidence gathered from painters' exposures show, however, that low level exposures to lipophilic/hydrophilic mixtures are associated with neurotoxic effects not predicted from considerations of the neurotoxicities of the single species.

Low molecular weight ketones are not, by themselves, particularly neurotoxic. They do, however, potentiate the neurotoxicities of alkanes and other compounds.^[30,96–103] The neurotoxic synergism of *n*-hexane and methyl-*n*butyl ketone (MBK) has long been known and is generally attributed to their common metabolite 2,5-hexanedione.^[30,100] Synergism, however, has also been reported for mixtures of *n*-hexane and methyl-iso-butyl ketone (MIBK)^[96,97] as well as for *n*-hexane and methylethyl ketone (MEK).^[98–100] The potentiated effects of ketones on alkanes are not limited to *n*-hexane. Peripheral neurotoxicity in a shoemaker was reported following his exposure to a mixture of MEK, ethyl acetate, cyclohexane, and *n*-heptane.^[101] The mechanism(s) for these synergistic effects are as yet unknown.

O-ethyl O-4-nitrophenyl phenylphosphonothionate (EPN) is a cholinesterase inhibitor. Combined exposure to both EPN and MBK resulted in a neurotoxic effect in hens that was twice than expected from an additive effect of the two chemicals,^[102] and treatment of hens with a combination of EPN, MIBK, and *n*-hexane produced acute cholinergic and delayed neurotoxic symptoms.^[103]

Inhalation of volatile organic solvents can produce acute depressant effects and even death in humans when inhalation is concurrent with exposure to other depressants. For example, combined ingestion of ethanol and inhalation of carbon tetrachloride or trichloroethylene produces enhanced depressant effects, and toluene and 1,1,1-trichloroethane enhance the effects of CNS depressant drugs.^[2]

Histology technicians exposed to formaldehyde ($K_{ow} = 0.35$) and xylene ($K_{ow} = 3.15$) or toluene ($K_{ow} = 2.73$) exhibit symptoms of neurobehavioral impairment of memory, judgment, and equilibrium.^[104] These effects cannot be attributed to the individual chemicals in the mixtures.

Hydrocarbon fuels are complex mixtures of more than 250 different molecular species. Compounds contained in such fuels include benzene, toluene, xylene, various alkyl benzenes, naphthalene, hexanes, heptanes, octanes, and higher molecular weight alkanes, all of which are neurotoxic. Fuel additives further complicate the mixtures. Acute and chronic exposures to low levels of hydrocarbon fuels, including gasoline, kerosene, diesel fuel, and jet fuel result in neurotoxic and neurobehavioral effects that are at times seemingly different from those anticipated from exposure to the individual chemicals.^[105]

Many household products contain neurotoxic chemical mixtures. These include fragrance products,^[106] marking pens,^[107] and air fresheners.^[108] These products contain mixtures of lipophilic and hydrophilic chemicals and exposures in home use are typically far below the TLVs of any of the individual chemicals. Exposures to these products, however, in test chambers produce unpredicted behavioral abnormalities in laboratory animals including altered gait, loss of balance, hypoactivity, tremors, and other symptoms. Though no specific human neurotoxic effects have been noted, these studies suggest that neurotoxic impacts on people are likely.

Many household and commercial neurotoxic products are intentionally inhaled for recreational purposes. The volatile solvents contained in these products are rapidly absorbed and carried to the brain, producing a feeling of euphoria. The practice, also known as glue sniffing or huffing, is wide-spread among adolescents and has resulted in numerous permanent neurological injuries and deaths when excessive quantities of neurotoxic solvents have been absorbed.^[109,110] Table 18.5 lists volatile chemicals that are frequently abused by intentional inhalation and the products that contain these compounds.

Chemicals	Products
Acetone	Nail polish removers, adhesives
Aliphatic and aromatic	Gasoline, lighter fluids, paints, paint
hydrocarbons	thinners
Bromochlorodifluoromethane	Fire extinguishers
Butanes	LPG fuel, cigarette lighters
2-Butanone (MEK)	Adhesives, pipe cements
Chlorofluoromethanes	Aerosol propellants
Ethyl acetate	Adhesives
Methyl isobutyl ketone	Paints, adhesives
Methylene chloride	Paint strippers
Propane	Heating and cooking fuels
Tetrachloroethylene	Dry cleaning fluid, spot removers
1,1,1-Trichloroethane	Degreasers, typewriter correction
	fluids, fabric stain-proofing products
Toluene	Adhesives, paint products
Xylene	Adhesives

Table 18.5 Volatile Chemicals Frequently Abused by IntentionalInhalation and Products Containing These Compounds

Frequently, the intentionally inhaled chemicals are mixtures, as is the case when paints and adhesives are abused. Since the intent of those inhaling these chemicals is to get as much as possible per inhalation, the quantities of single chemicals and mixtures absorbed are often far above PELs and produce acute poisonings.^[110] In instances I have investigated, I have observed deaths and brain damage to the point where the individuals were left in permanent vegetative states.

18.7 Case Studies: Neurotoxic Chemical Mixtures

The case studies presented here are all from the published literature. In every study the neurotoxic effects found are related to exposures to chemical mixtures of lipophiles and hydrophiles that induced neurotoxic effects not anticipated from the individual chemicals. The K_{ow} values for each of the chemicals are given. If not listed in a column they follow the individual chemical names in parentheses.

Case 1^[111]

A 57-year-old man who had spent 41 years as a painter was disabled and forced to retire. He was diagnosed with chronic toxic encephalopathy. The man started work as a painter at the age of 16. He started experiencing impaired short-term memory function while in his forties. His condition progressed until he retired and his exposures to the paint solvents ceased. Following his retirement, his condition stabilized and even improved in some areas. Material safety data sheets provided by his employer indicated that this man had been exposed to lead, titanium dioxide, creosote, and the following volatile solvents:

Ammonia	-1.38
Chlorine	0.85
Methanol	-0.77
Isopropanol	0.05
MEK	0.29
MIBK	1.19
Formaldehyde	0.35
Carbon tetrachloride	2.83
Methylene chloride	1.25

Ethylene glycol	-1.36
Propylene glycol	-0.92
Hexylene glycol	0.58
Nitroethane	0.18
Cyclohexanone	0.81
Acetone	-0.24
Xylene	3.15
Toluene	2.73
Benzene	2.13
Petroleum naphthas	4.10-6.15

As can be seen from the K_{ow} values, this painter was exposed to mixtures of lipophiles and hydrophiles. His case history reveals that his exposures ranged from concentrations exceeding TLVs to very low levels of inhalation exposure. He was also dermally exposed, frequently having used naphtha to wash his hands after work. His exposures are typical of many painters and his neurotoxicological symptoms are consistent with those observed in other painters.^[87–89]

Case 2^[112]

In a study of hospital histology technicians it was found that these workers had greater disturbances of memory, mood, equilibrium, and sleep and had greater frequencies of headaches than other unexposed clerical workers in the same hospitals. The chemicals they were exposed to included

Formaldehyde	0.35
Xylene	3.15
Toluene	2.73
Ethanol	-0.31
Chloroform	1.97
Methyl methacrylate	1.38

The histology technicians were regularly exposed to mixtures of formaldehyde toluene, and xylene and less frequently to ethanol, chloroform, and methyl methacrylate. All exposures were at levels below TLVs for the individual chemicals and below levels at which the neurotoxic effects that were observed are expected. All the mixtures to which the histology technicians were exposed contained at least one lipophile and one hydrophile.

Case 3^[113]

An epidemiologic investigation of car and industrial spray painters in Sweden showed that these individuals were always exposed to mixtures of solvents, often to 8–10 different chemicals at the same time and always to mixtures of lipophiles and hydrophiles. The chemicals detected in the workers' breathing zones included

Toluene	2.73
Xylene	3.15
Styrene	2.95
Ethanol	-0.31
Propanol	0.05
Butanol	0.88
Acetone	-0.24
Methyl <i>n</i> -butyl ketone	1.38
Methyl isobutyl ketone	1.19
Ethyl amyl ketone	2.15
Ethyl acetate	0.73
Isoamyl acetate	2.26
Methylene chloride	1.25
1,1,1-Trichloroethane	2.49
Trichloroethylene	2.42

Though the levels of exposure were found to be considerably lower than Swedish TLVs, the exposed individuals showed increased frequencies of neurological and psychiatric symptoms than unexposed controls.

Case 4^[114]

A group of 15 industrial painters from three different employment sites were evaluated for symptoms related to work and compared with 30 nonpainters. Painters at all three sites were exposed to mixtures of lipophilic and hydrophilic solvents. These were

Site A

Toluene	2.73
Xylene	3.15
Methyl ethyl ketone	0.29
Acetone	-0.24
Ethyl acetate	0.73

Ethyl benzene	3.15
Isobutyl acetate	1.78
<i>n</i> -Butyl acetate	1.78
Hexane	3.90
Mineral spirits	4.10-6.15
Naphthalene	3.30

Site B

Toluene	2.73
Xylene	3.15
Aliphatic and aromatic hydrocarbons	4.10-61.5
Methyl ethyl ketone	0.29
Trichloroethylene	2.42
Methylene chloride	1.25

Site C

Toluene	2.73
Xylene	3.15
Ethyl acetate	0.73
Aliphatic and aromatic hydrocarbons	4.10-6.15

Though the chemicals they were exposed to varied by work site, the symptoms reported and conditions found were identical. All 15 painters reported episodes of headaches, nausea, dizziness, and disorientation. Neuropsychological evaluations showed learning and memory deficits, impaired neuropsychological functioning, and personality problems. Several of the painters were found to have sensorimotor peripheral neuropathies. Though chemicals of exposure at all three work sites included toluene and xylene, some of the symptoms and conditions reported in this study (e.g., peripheral neuropathies) are not consistent with the known neurotoxicology of these solvents. It is concluded that the range of effects experienced by the 15 painters in this study is the result of exposures to mixtures of lipophilic and hydrophilic chemicals.

Case 5^[115]

A study that addressed the cognitive and neurosensory effects of exposure to chemicals used by nail salon technicians revealed effects similar to those observed among solvent-exposed workers in other environments. Nail salon technicians are routinely exposed to low levels of the following lipophilic and hydrophilic chemicals:

Formaldehyde	0.35
Toluene	2.73
<i>n</i> -Butyl acetate	1.78
Ethyl acetate	0.73
Methyl methacrylate	1.38

In this study 33 nail technicians were compared to a similar demographic group that had no known history of exposure to toxic chemicals. Despite concentrations below TLVs for all of the chemicals, the nail technicians performed more poorly on tests of attention and processing speed than the controls did. The nail technicians also had reduced olfaction levels.

Case 6^[116]

The effects of low levels of organic solvent mixtures to which printers were exposed were studied as a function of levels of exposure. The printers were exposed to the following chemicals:

<i>n</i> -Hexane	3.90
Toluene	2.73
Isopropyl alcohol	0.05
Benzene	2.13

In this study, neurological symptoms, including memory loss and reduced olfaction in the printers were found to increase with increasing levels of exposure. It is interesting to note that all exposure levels were below TLVs. The neurotoxic effects are attributed to the mixture of lipophilic and hydrophilic chemicals. The results of this study concur with a neurotoxic exposure case involving a printer exposed to the same chemicals that I investigated, but have not to date been published. In that case, the exposure levels to which the printer was exposed were more than an order of magnitude below the TLVs of all the chemicals.

Case 7^[117]

The irradiation of mail addressed to the Congress of the United States began in November 2001 following the discovery of anthrax spores in some of the mail. Although irradiation had successfully been used to disinfect food and medical devices for many years (see Section 10.16), this marked the first such application to mail. Shortly after resumption of mail delivery to Congress, adverse neurological health effects, including headaches and nausea, were experienced by employees handling the mail. Testing was carried out for chemicals that could have potentially come from irradiated mail. These included

Carbon monoxide	1.78
Formaldehyde	0.35
Ozone	-0.87
Polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons	4.10-6.50
Toluene	2.73

The levels of all tested chemicals were either at low levels or not found. It should be noted that it is probable that other molecular species were also present, as irradiation is known to cleave molecules and produce aldehydes, ketones, and other species that are largely hydrophilic. The study concluded that the health effects noted were not the result of exposures to emissions from irradiated mail, despite the fact that the employees had other clinically evident symptoms, including nose bleed, itching skin, and skin rashes. It is opined here that the low level mixture of lipophiles and hydrophiles was indeed responsible for the neurotoxic and other effects reported and that the impacts on workers were inappropriately ignored.

Case 8^[118]

A "mystery illness" was reported in a group of casino workers who complained of neurotoxic and respiratory symptoms following the fumigation of the casino with the following mixture:

Propoxur	1.52
Coumaphos	4.13
1,1,1-Trichloroethane	2.49
Methylene chloride	1.25
Xylene	3.15
Acetone	-0.24

Neurologic and neuropsychologic symptoms reported included difficulty concentrating, memory loss, numbress in the face or extremities, shaking, tremors, headache, and sleep disorders. Industrial hygiene evaluation revealed only trace quantities of the chemicals noted, yet pesticide poisoning symptoms were observed.

Case 9^[119]

Adverse neurological effects were noted in shoemakers exposed to solvents from glues they use. The chemicals contained in these glues included

<i>n</i> -Hexane	3.90
Cyclohexane	3.44
Methylethyl ketone	0.29
Ethyl acetate	0.73

The symptoms reported included sleepiness, dizziness, headache, weakness, and peripheral neuropathies. These symptoms prevailed despite the low levels of exposure, which were below PEL values. The results reported in this case are similar to those reported for other shoemaker exposures.^[101,120,121]

Case 10^[59]

Low levels of an applied herbicide/pesticide mix were drawn into the air conditioning makeup air of a commercial building. Workers reported neurological symptoms that included nausea, dizziness, and headache immediately after the pesticide mix was applied. Chemicals contained in the mix included

2,4-Dichlorophenoxyacetic acid (2,4-D)	0.65
2-(2-Methyl-4-chlorophenoxy) propionic acid	3.13
3,6-Dichloro- <i>o</i> -anisic acid	1.13
Naphthalene	3.30
Dinitroaniline	1.29
Solvent naphtha	4.10-6.50

The concentrations of all the chemicals were far below their TLVs.

Case 11^[122]

To assess the combined effect of 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydrdopyridine (MPTP, $K_{ow} = 2.71$), which is known to induce PD,^[32] and the organophosphate pesticide paraquat ($K_{ow} = -2.71$), mice were treated with a low nontoxic dose of MPTP followed by a treatment with paraquat. The study showed that prior treatment with MPTP potentiated the effects of paraquat on the nigrostriatal dopaminergic system. The authors concluded that these results support the role of toxic mixtures in causing PD.

18.8 Summary

Multiple neurotoxic effects can be induced by exposures to mixtures of lipophilic and hydrophilic chemicals at levels below those known to be neurotoxic for the individual chemicals. It is hypothesized that lipophilic chemicals facilitate the absorption of hydrophilic species resulting in the uptake of greater quantities of hydrophiles than would occur in the absence of the lipophiles. Neuropathies, behavioral changes, and neurodegenerative diseases have been shown to be caused by these mixtures, often via unknown mechanisms. Both acute and chronic low level effects following exposures to such mixtures have been reported. Since exposures to chemicals almost always are to mixtures, the need to lower the threshold limit values for neurotoxic chemicals is indicated.

References

- U.S. Congress, Office of Technology Assessment. Neurotoxicity: Identifying and controlling poisons of the nervous system, OTA-BA-436, Washington, DC, April 1990.
- Evans EB, Balster RL. CNS depressant effects of volatile organic solvents. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 1991; 15:233–41.
- 3. Seaton A, Jellinek EH, Kennedy P. Major neurological disease and occupational exposure to organic solvents. *Q J Med* 1992; 84(305):707–12.
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Guidelines for neurotoxicity risk assessment, EPA 630/R-95/001F, Washington, DC, April 1998.
- Scorecard. The Pollution Information Site. www.scorecard.org/health-effects/ chemicals-2.tcl?_hazard_name= neuro&all_p=t
- 6. Costa LG. Interactions of neurotoxicants with neurotransmitter systems. *Toxicology* 1988; 49:359–66.
- Morgan DP. Recognition and management of pesticide poisonings, 4th ed., United States Environmental Protection Agency, EPA Publication No. EPA-540/9-88-001, Washington, DC, March 1989.
- 8. Pocchiari F, Silano V, Zampieri A. Human health effects from accidental release of tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (TCDD at Seveso, Italy. *Ann NY Acad Sci* 1979; 320:311–20.
- 9. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry. The nature and extent of

lead poisoning in children in the United States: A report to Congress, Centers for Disease Control, Atlanta, GA, 1988.

- 10. Eto K. Pathology of Minamata disease. Toxicol Pathol 1997; 25(6):614–23.
- 11. Takeuchi T. Pathology of Minamata disease. With special reference to its pathogenesis. *Act Pathol Jpn* 1982; 32(Suppl 1):73–99.
- 12. Greenwood MR. Methylmercury poisoning in Iraq. An epidemiological study of the 1971–1972 outbreak. *J Appl Toxicol* 1985; 5(3):148–59.
- 13. Tang N, Li YM. Neurotoxic effects in workers of the clinical thermometer manufacture plant. *Int J Occup Med Environ Health* 2006; 19(3):198–202.
- 14. Magos L, Clarkson TW. Overview of the clinical toxicity of mercury. *Ann Clin Biochem* 2006; 43 (Pt 4):257–68.
- 15. Aschner M, Dorman DC. Manganese: Pharmacokinetics and molecular mechanisms of brain uptake. *Toxicol Rev* 2006; 25(3):147–54.
- 16. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry. The nature and extent of lead poisoning in children in the United States: A report to Congress, Centers for Disease Control, Atlanta, GA, 1988.
- 17. Silva VS, Duarte AI, Rego AC, et al. Effects of chronic exposure to aluminum on isoform expression and activity of rat (Na+/K+)ATPase. *Toxicol Sci* 2005; 88(2):485–94.
- Savory J, Herman MM, Ghribi O. Mechanisms of aluminum induced neurodegeneration in animals: Implications for Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimers Dis 2006; 10(2–3):135–44.
- Calevro F, Beuersmann D, Hartwig A. Effect of cadmium (II) on the extent of oxidative DNA damage in primary brain cell cultures for Pleuerdeles larvae. *Toxicol Lett* 1998; 94(3):217–25.
- 20. Bar-Sela S, Reingold S, Richter ED. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis in a battery-factory worker exposed to cadmium. *Int J Occup Environ Health* 2001; 7(2):109–12.
- 21. Kumar R, Agarwal AK, Seth PK. Oxidative stress-mediated neurotoxicity of cadmium. *Toxicol Lett* 1996; 89(1):65–9.
- 22. Atsmon J, Taliansky E, Landau M, Neufeld MY. Thallium poisoning in Israel. *Am J Med Sci* 2000; 320(5):327–30.
- 23. Anger WK. *Workplace exposures, neurobehavioral toxicology*, Annau Z (ed.), Johns Hopkins University Press, Baltimore, MD, 1988, pp. 331–47.
- 24. Savolainen H. Neurotoxicity of industrial chemicals and contaminants: Aspects of biochemical mechanisms and effects. *Arch Toxicol Suppl* 1983; 5:71–83.
- 25. Savolainen H. Toxicological mechanisms in acute and chronic nervous system degeneration. *Acta Neurol Scand Suppl* 1982; 92:23–35.
- Abou-Donia MB, Lapadula DM. Mechanisms of organophosphorus esterinduced delayed neurotoxicity: Type I and type II. Ann Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 1990; 30:405–40.
- 27. Cooper JR, Bloom FE, Roth RH. *The biochemical basis of neuropharmacology*, Oxford University Press, New York, 1982.
- 28. Shanker G, Aschner JL, Syversen T, Aschner M. Free radical formation in cerebral cortical astrocytes in culture induced by methylmercury. *Brain Res Mol Brain Res* 2004; 128(1):48–57.

- 29. Aschner M, Syversen T, Souza DO, et al. Involvement of glutamate and reactive oxygen species in methylmercury neurotoxicity. *Braz J Med Biol Res* 2007; 40(3):285–91.
- 30. Lolin Y. Chronic neurological toxicity associated with exposure to volatile substances. *Hum Toxicol* 1989; 8:293–300.
- National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences. Role of the environment in Parkinson's Disease, 2007. www.niehs.nih.gov/oc/factsheets/ parkinson/home.htm
- 32. Jenner P, Marsden CD. MPTP-induced parkinsonism: A model of Parkinson's disease and its relevance to the disease process. In Jankovic J, Tolosa E (eds), *Parkinson's disease and movement disorders*, Williams and Wilkins, Baltimore, MD, 1993, pp. 69–75.
- 33. Ascherio A, Chen H, Weisskopf MG, et al. Pesticide exposure and risk for Parkinson's disease. *Ann Neurol* 2006; 60(2):197–203.
- 34. Richardson JR, Caudle WM, Wang M, et al. Developmental exposure to the pesticide dieldrin alters the dopamine system and increases the neurotoxicity in an animal model of Parkinson's disease. *FASEB J* 2006; 20:1695–97.
- 35. Ngim CH, Devathasan G. Epidemiologic study on the association between body burden mercury level and idiopathic Parkinson's disease. *Neuroepidemiology* 1989; 8:128–41.
- 36. Wang JD, Huang CC, Hwang YH, et al. Manganese induced parkinsonism: An outbreak due to an unrepaired ventilation control system in a ferromanganese smelter. *Br J Ind Med* 1989; 46(6):556–9.
- 37. McDonnell L, Maginnis C, Lewis S, et al. Occupational exposure to solvents and metals and Parkinson's disease. *Neurology* 2003; 61:716–17.
- 38. Smargiassi A Mutti A, De Rosa A, et al. A case control study of occupational and environmental risk factors for Parkinson's disease in the Emilia-Ramagna region of Italy. *Neurotoxicology* 1998; 19(7):709–12.
- 39. Pezzoli G, Canesi M, Antonini A, et al. Hydrocarbon exposure and Parkinson's disease. *Neurology* 2000; 55:667–73.
- Kukull WA, Larson EB, Bowen JD, et al. Solvent exposure as a risk factor for Alzheimer's disease: A case-control study. *Am J Epidemiol* 1995; 141(11): 1059–71.
- 41. Qiu C, Karp A, von Strauss E, et al. Lifetime principal occupation and risk of Alzheimer's disease in the Kungsholmen project. *Am J Ind Med* 2003; 43:204–11.
- 42. Graves AB, Rosner D, Echeverria D, et al. Occupational exposures to solvents and aluminum and estimated risk of Alzheimer's disease. *Occup Environ Med* 1998; 55(9):627–33.
- 43. Gun RT, Korten AE, Jorm AF, et al. Occupational risk factors for Alzheimer's disease: A case-control study. *Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord* 1997; 11(1):21–7.
- 44. Gunnarsson LG, Bodin L, Soderfeldt B, Axelson O. A case-control study of motor neurone disease: Its relation to heritability, and occupational exposures, particularly to solvents. *Br J Ind Med* 1992; 49(11):791–8.
- Chancellor AM, Slattery JM, Fraser H, Warlow CP. Risk factors for motor neuron disease: A case-control study based on patients from the Scottish Motor Neuron Disease Register. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1993; 56(11):1200–6.

- 46. Park RM, Schulte PA, Bowman JD, et al. Potential occupational risks for neurodegenerative diseases. *Am J Ind Med* 2005; 48(1):63–77.
- 47. Chio A, Tribolo A, Schiffer E. Motor neuron disease and solvent and glue exposure. *Lancet* 1989; 2:921.
- Gait R, Maginnis C, Lewis S, et al. Occupational exposure to metals and solvents and the risk of motor neuron disease. A case-control study. *Neuroepidemiology* 2003; 22:353–6.
- 49. McGuire V, Longstreth WT, Jr, Nelson LM, et al. Occupational exposures and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. A population-based case-controlled study. *Am J Epidemiol* 1997; 145:1076–88.
- 50. Graham AJ, Macdonald AM, Hawkes CH. British motor neuron disease twin study. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* 1997; 62(6):562–0.
- 51. Amaducci L, Arfioli C, Inzitari D, Mrachi M. Multiple sclerosis among shoe and leather workers: An epidemiological survey in Florence. *Acta Neurol Scand* 1982; 65(2):94–103.
- 52. Flodin U, Soderfeldt B, Noorlind-Brage H, et al. Multiple sclerosis, solvents and pets. A case-referent study. *Arch Neurol* 1988; 45(6):620–3.
- 53. Landtblom AM, Flodin U, Karlsson M, et al. Multiple sclerosis and exposure to solvents, ionizing radiation and animals. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 1993; 19(6):399–404.
- Landtblom AM, Flodin U, Soderfeldt B, et al. Organic solvents and multiple sclerosis: A synthesis of the current evidence. *Epidemiology* 1996; 7(4): 429–33.
- 55. Riise T, Moen BE, Kyvik KR. Organic solvents and risk of multiple sclerosis. *Epidemiology* 2002; 13(6):718–20.
- 56. Gronning M, Albrektsen G, Kvale G, et al. Organic solvents and multiple sclerosis: A case-control study. *Acta Neurol Scand* 1993; 88(4):247–50.
- 57. Mortensen JT, Bronnum-Hansen H, Rasmussen K. Multiple sclerosis and organic solvents. *Epidemiology* 1998; 9(2):168–71.
- 58. Cory-Slechta DA. Studying toxicants as single chemicals; does this strategy adequately identify neurotoxic risk? *Neurotoxicology* 2005; 26(4):491–510.
- 59. Zeliger HI. Toxic effects of chemical mixtures. *Arch Environ Health* 2003; 58(1):23–9.
- 60. Moser VC, Simmons JE, Gennings C. Neurotoxicological interactions of a five-pesticide mixture in preweanling rats. *Toxicol Sci* 2006; 92(1): 235–45.
- Soderlund DM, Clark JM, Sheets LP, et al. Mechanisms of pyrethroid neurotoxicity: Implications for cumulative risk assessment. *Toxicology* 2002; 171(1):3–59.
- 62. Ray DE, Forshaw PJ. Pyrethroid insecticides: Poisoning syndromes, synergies and therapy. *J Toxicol Clin Toxicol* 2000; 38(2):95–101.
- 63. Abou-Donia MB, Dechkowskaia AM, Goldstein LB, et al. Co-exposure to pyridostigmine bromide, DEET and/or permethrin causes sensorimotor deficit and alterations in brain acetylcholinesterase activity. *Pharm Biochem Behav* 2004; 77:253–62.
- 64. Abou-Donia MB, Wilmarth KR. Neurotoxicity resulting from coexposure to pyridostigmine bromide, DEET and permethrin: Implications of Gulf War chemical exposures. *J Toxicol Environ Health* 1996; 48:35–56.

- 65. Abou-Donia MB, Goldstein LB, Jones KH, et al. Locomotor and sensorimotor performance deficit in rats following exposure to pyridostigmine bromide, DEET, and permethrin, alone and in combination. *Toxicol Sci* 2001; 68(2):517–19.
- 66. Venturino A, Gauna LE, Bergoc RM. Effect of exogenously applied polyamine on malathion toxicity in the toad Bufo arenarum Hensel. *Arch Environ Contam Toxicol* 1992; 22(1):135–9.
- 67. DeLong GT, Rice CD. Tributyltin potentiates 3,3',4,4',5-pentachlorobiphenylinduced cytochrome P-4501A-related activity. *J Toxicol Environ Health* 1997; 51(2):131–48.
- 68. Jia Z, Misra HP. Exposure to mixtures of endosulfan and zineb induces apoptotic and necrotic cell death in SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cells in vitro. *J Appl Toxicol* 2007; 27(5):434–46.
- 69. Thiruchelvam M, Richfield EK, Baggs RB, et al. The nitrostriatal dopaminergic system as a preferential target of repeated exposures to combined paraquat and maneb: Implications for Parkinson's disease. *J Neurosci* 2000; 20(24):9207–14.
- Wesseling C, Keifer M, Ahlbom A, et al. Long-term neurobehavioral effects of mild poisonings with organic phosphate and N-methyl carbamate pesticides among banana workers. *Int J Occup Environ Health* 2002; 8(1):27–34.
- 71. Rothlein J, Rohlman D, Lasarev M, et al. Organophosphate pesticide exposure and neurobehavioral performance in agricultural and non-agricultural Hispanic workers. *Environ Health Perspect* 2006; 114(5):691–6.
- 72. Rohlman DS, Lasarev M, Anger WK, et al. Neurobehavioral performance of adult and adolescent agricultural workers. *Neurotoxicology* 2006; 26(4): 589–98.
- 73. Linstrom K. Psychological performances of workers exposed to various solvents. *Work Environ Health* 1973; 10:151–5.
- 74. Gregersen P. Neurotoxic effects of organic solvents in exposed workers: Two controlled follow-up studies after 5.5 and 10.6 years. *Am J Ind Med* 1988; 14(6):681–701.
- 75. Gupta BN, Kumar P, Srivastava AK. An investigation of the neurobehavioral effect on workers exposed to organic solvents. *J Soc Occup Med* 1990; 40(3):94–6.
- 76. Lindelof B, Almkvist O, Gothe CJ. Sleep disturbances and exposure to organic solvents. *Arch Environ Health* 1992; 47(2):104–6.
- 77. Seaton A, Jellinek EH, Kennedy P. Major neurological disease and occupational exposure to organic solvents. *Q J Med* 1992; 84(305):707–12.
- 78. Naskali L, Oksanen H, Tahti H. Astrocytes as targets for CNS effects of organic solvents in vitro. *Neurotoxicology* 1994; 15(3):609–12.
- 79. Juntenen J. Neurotoxic syndromes and occupational exposure to solvents. *Environ Res* 1993; 60(1):98–111.
- Dennison JE, Bigelow PL, Mumtaz MM, et al. Evaluation of potential toxicity from co-exposure to three CNS depressants (toluene, ethylbenzene and xylene) under resting and working conditions using PPK modeling. *J Occup Environ Hyg* 2005; 2(3):127–35.
- 81. Gobba F. Color vision: A sensitive indicator of exposure to neurotoxins. *Neurotoxicology* 2000; 21(5):857–62.

- 82. Gobba F, Cavalleri A. Color vision impairment in workers exposed to neurotoxic chemicals. *Neurotoxicology* 2003; 24(4–5):693–702.
- 83. Lomax RB, Ridgway P, Meldrum M. Does occupational exposure to organic solvents affect colour discrimination? *Toxicol Rev* 2004; 23(2):91–121.
- 84. Sliwinska-Kowalska M, Zamyslowska-Mzmytke E, Szymczak W, et al. Hearing loss among workers exposed to moderate concentrations of solvents. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 2001; 27(5):335–42.
- 85. Morioka I, Miyai N, Yamamoto K, Miyashita K. Evaluation of combined effect of organic solvents and noise by the upper limit of hearing. *Ind Health* 2000; 38(2):252–7.
- Hanninen H, Eskelinen MA, Husman K, Nurminen M. Behavioral effects of long-term exposure to a mixture of organic solvents. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 1976; 4:240–55.
- Maizlish NA, Langolf GD, Whitehead LW, et al. Behavioral evaluation of workers exposed to mixtures of organic solvents. *Br J Ind Med* 1985; 42(9):579–90.
- Iregren A. Subjective and objective signs of organic solvent toxicity among occupationally exposed workers. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 1986; 12:469–75.
- 89. Maizlish NA, Fine LJ, Albers JW, et al. A neurological evaluation of workers exposed to mixtures of organic solvents. *Br J Ind Med* 1987; 44(1):14–25.
- 90. Triebig G, Barocka A, Erbguth R, et al. Neurotoxicity of solvent mixtures in spray painters II. Neurologic, psychiatric, psychological and neuroradiologic findings. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health* 1992; 64(5):361–72.
- 91. Lundberg I, Michelsen H, Nise G, et al. Neuropsychiatric function housepainters with previous long-term heavy exposure to organic solvents. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 1995; 21 (Suppl 1):1–44.
- 92. Morrow LA, Steinhauer SR, Condray R, Hodgson M. Neuropsychological performance of journeymen painters under acute solvent exposure and exposure-free conditions. *J Int Neuropsychol Soc* 1997; 3(3):269–75.
- 93. Tsai SY, Chen JD, Chao WY, Wang JD. Neurobehavioral effects of occupational exposure to low-level organic solvents among Taiwanese workers in paint factories. *Environ Res* 1997; 73(1–2):146–55.
- 94. Triebig G, Nasterlack M, Hacke W, et al. Neuropsychiatric symptoms in active construction painters with chronic solvent exposure. *Neurotoxicology* 2000; 21(5):791–4.
- 95. Lee CR, Jeong KS, Kim Y, et al. Neurobehavioral changes of shipyard painters exposed to mixed organic solvents. *Ind Health* 2005; 43(2):320–6.
- 96. Abou-Donia MB, Lapadula DM, Campbell G, Timmons PR. The synergism of n-hexane-induced neurotoxicity by methyl isobutyl ketone following subchronic (90 days) inhalation in hens: Induction of hepatic microsomal cytochrome P-450. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 1985; 81(1):1–16.
- 97. Lapadula DM, Habig C, Gupta RP, et al. Induction of cytochrome P450 isozomes by simultaneous inhalation exposure of hens to n-hexane and methyl isobutyl ketone (MIBK). *Biochem Pharmacol* 1991; 41(6–7):877–83.
- Takeuchi Y, Ono U, Hisanaga N, et al. An experimental study of the combined effects of n-hexane and methyl ethyl ketone. *Br J Ind Med* 1983; 40(2):199–203.

- 99. Shibata E, Huang J, Hisanaga N, et al. Effects of MEK on kinetics of n-hexane metabolites in serum. *Arch Toxicol* 1990; 64(3):247–50.
- 100. Noraberg J, Arlien-Soberg P. Neurotoxic interactions of industrially used ketones. *Neurotoxicology* 2000; 21(3):409–18.
- Valenti F, Agnesi R, Del Vecchio L, et al. Does n-heptane cause peripheral neurotoxicity? A case report in a shoemaker. *Occup Med* 1994; 44:102–4.
- 102. Abou-Donia MB, Lapadula DM, Campbell G, Abdo KM. The joint neurotoxic action of inhaled methyl butyl ketone vapor and dermally applied O-ethyl O-4-nitrophenyl phenylphosphonothionate in hens. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 1985; 79(1):69–82.
- 103. About-Donia MB, Hu ZH, Lapadula DM, Gupta RP. Mechanisms of joint neurotoxicity of n-hexane, methyl isobutyl ketone and O-ethyl O-4nitrophenyl phenylphosphonothionate in hens. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 1991; 257(1):282–9.
- Kilburn KH, Warshaw R, Thornton JC, Husmark I. An examination of factors that could affect choice reaction time in histology technicians. *Am J Ind Med* 1989; 15(6):679–86.
- 105. Ritchie GD, Still KR, Alexander WK, et al. A review of the neurotoxicity risk of selected hydrocarbon fuels. *J Toxicol Environ Health B Crit Rev* 2001; 4(3):223–312.
- 106. Anderson RC, Anderson JH. Acute toxic effects of fragrance products. *Arch Environ Health* 1998; 53(2):138–46.
- 107. Anderson RC, Anderson JH. Acute toxicity of marking pen emissions. *J Toxicol Environ Health* 2003; 66 (Part A):829–45.
- 108. Anderson RC, Anderson JH. Toxic effects of air freshener emissions. *Arch Environ Health* 1997; 52(6):433–41.
- Ramsey J, Anderson HR, Bloor K, Flanagan RJ. An introduction to the practice, prevalence and chemical toxicology of volatile substance abuse. *Hum Toxicol* 1989; 8:261–9.
- 110. Meredith TJ, Ruprah M, Liddle A, Flanagan RJ. Diagnosis and treatment of acute poisoning with volatile substances. *Hum Toxicol* 1989; 8:277–86.
- 111. Feldman RG, Ratner MC, Ptak T. Chronic encephalopathy in a painter exposed to mixed solvents. *Environ Health Perspect* 1999; 107(5):417–22.
- 112. Kilburn KH, Seidman BC, Warshaw R. Neurobehavioral and respiratory symptoms of formaldehyde and xylene exposure in histology technicians. *Arch Environ Health* 1985; 40(4):229–33.
- 113. Elofsson SA, Gamberale F, Hindmarsh T, et al. Exposure to organic solvents. A cross-sectional epidemiologic investigation on occupationally exposed car and industrial spray painters with special reference to the nervous system. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 1980; 239–73.
- 114. Linz DH, de Garmo PL, Morton WE, et al. Organic solvent-induced encephalopathy in industrial painters. *J Occup Med* 1986; 28(2):119–25.
- 115. LoSasso GL, Rapport LJ, Axelrod BN, Whitman RD. Neurocognitive sequelae of exposure to organic solvents and (meth)acrylates among nail studio technicians. *Neuropsychiatry Neuropsychol Behav Neurol* 2002; 15(1):44–55.

- 116. Yu IT, Lee NL, Zhang XH, et al. Occupational exposure to mixtures of organic solvents increases the risk of neurological symptoms among printing workers in Hong Kong. *J Occup Environ Med* 2004; 46(4):323–30.
- 117. Report of the general counsel of the office of compliance, U.S. Congress. Investigation of the health effects of irradiated mail, Case Nos. OSH-0201, 0202, Washington, DC, July 2, 2002.
- 118. Cone JE, Sult TA. Acquired intolerance to solvents following acute pesticide/solvent intoxication in a building. Washington, DC. U.S. Department of Labor, Occupational Safety and Health Administration, Report No. 0030-CONE-91-012, 1991.
- 119. Mutti A, Cavatorta A, Lommi G, et al. Neurophysiological effects of longterm exposure to hydrocarbon mixtures. *Arch Toxicol* 1982; (Suppl 5): 120–4.
- Perbellini L, Soave C, Cerpelloni M. Solvent pollution in shoe factories. *Med Lav* 1992; 83(2):115–19 [abstract only].
- 121. Nijem K, Kristensen P, Thorud S, et al. Solvent exposures at shoe factories and workshops in Hebron City, West Bank. *Int J Occup Environ Health* 2001; 7(3):182–8.
- 122. Shepherd KR, Lee ES, Schmued L, et al. The potentiating effects of 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine (MPTP) on paraquat-induced neurochemical and behavioral changes in mice. *Pharmacol Biochem* 2006; 83(3):349–59.

19.1 Introduction

Children are not miniature adults. Neurotoxic effects induced by xenobiotic chemicals in adults may not be indicative of the effects on the developing nervous system, which spans from conception through adolescence. Conversely, there are chemicals that are neurotoxic to the developing fetus and the growing child that are benign to adults. The CNS is the most vulnerable of all body systems to developmental injury, and developmental neurotoxic effects to it are influenced by the timing of the exposures as well as the dose. Exposures during the development of a particular part of the nervous system can have extreme effects, whereas the same exposures at other times can be benign. For example, maternal exposure to the DDT metabolite DDE affects psychomotor development only when exposure is in the first trimester of pregnancy.^[1] Neurotoxic effects can be delayed in onset and manifest themselves at any time throughout one's life span.^[1–4]

Exposures to developmental neurotoxins are believed to be responsible for the staggering numbers of affected children. In the United States, 5–10% of public school children have learning disabilities, up to 17% of children suffer from attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), approximately 1% of all children are mentally retarded and as many as 1 in 150 children born have autism.^[5,6] Though some of these effects are genetically influenced, the available evidence suggests that environmental exposures and not genetics are the primary causes for these disorders.^[5]

A large number of individual chemicals are recognized developmental neurotoxins. These include heavy metals, alcohol, and other solvents, recreational drugs (e.g., nicotine and cocaine), pesticides, and some pharmaceuticals. Table 19.1 contains a partial list of these and some of the effects ascribed to them.^[1,5,7–21]

19.2 Mixture Neurotoxicity

Though most environmental exposures are to mixtures, most developmental neurotoxicity studies have addressed only single chemicals. Only a very few have addressed the effects of mixtures and even fewer have reported quantitative data on concentrations and dose levels. Following is a review of the literature on the subject.

Metais		
Cadmium	Learning disabilities	
	Decreased IQ	
Lead	Learning disabilities	
	Hyperactivity and aggression	
Manganese	Brain damage	
	Memory impairment	
Mercury	Motor dysfunction	
	Learning and memory disabilities	
Solvents		
Ethanol	Attention deficits and behavioral disorders	
	Memory impairment	
Styrene	Decreased activity	
	Behavioral disorders	
Toluene	Speech and motor dysfunctions	
	Learning disabilities	
Trichloroethylene	Hyperactivity	
	Behavioral disorders	
Xylene	Learning and memory impairments	
	Motor dysfunction	
Pesticides		
Bioallethrin	Hyperactivity	
CI 1 1 1	Desursed as and in stime	
Chlorpyrifos	Decreased coordination	
Chlorpyrifos	Memory impairment	
DDT	Memory impairment Hyperactivity	
DDT	Memory impairment Hyperactivity Memory and coordination impairment	
DDT DDE	Memory impairment Hyperactivity Memory and coordination impairment Motor dysfunction	
DDT DDE Deltamethrin	Memory impairment Hyperactivity Memory and coordination impairment Motor dysfunction Hyperactivity	
Chlorpyrifos DDT DDE Deltamethrin Diazinon	Memory impairment Hyperactivity Memory and coordination impairment Motor dysfunction Hyperactivity Decreased coordination	
Chlorpyrifos DDT DDE Deltamethrin Diazinon	Memory impairment Hyperactivity Memory and coordination impairment Motor dysfunction Hyperactivity Decreased coordination Memory impairment	
Chlorpyrifos DDT DDE Deltamethrin Diazinon Miscellaneous	Memory impairment Hyperactivity Memory and coordination impairment Motor dysfunction Hyperactivity Decreased coordination Memory impairment	
Chlorpyrifos DDT DDE Deltamethrin Diazinon Miscellaneous Dioxins	Memory impairment Hyperactivity Memory and coordination impairment Motor dysfunction Hyperactivity Decreased coordination Memory impairment Learning disabilities	
Chlorpyrifos DDT DDE Deltamethrin Diazinon Miscellaneous Dioxins Fluoride	Memory impairment Hyperactivity Memory and coordination impairment Motor dysfunction Hyperactivity Decreased coordination Memory impairment Learning disabilities Hyperactivity	
Chlorpyrifos DDT DDE Deltamethrin Diazinon Miscellaneous Dioxins Fluoride	Memory impairment Hyperactivity Memory and coordination impairment Motor dysfunction Hyperactivity Decreased coordination Memory impairment Learning disabilities Hyperactivity Decreased IQ	
Chlorpyrifos DDT DDE Deltamethrin Diazinon Miscellaneous Dioxins Fluoride Nicotine	Memory impairment Hyperactivity Memory and coordination impairment Motor dysfunction Hyperactivity Decreased coordination Memory impairment Learning disabilities Hyperactivity Decreased IQ Hyperactivity	
Chlorpyrifos DDT DDE Deltamethrin Diazinon Miscellaneous Dioxins Fluoride Nicotine	Memory impairment Hyperactivity Memory and coordination impairment Motor dysfunction Hyperactivity Decreased coordination Memory impairment Learning disabilities Hyperactivity Decreased IQ Hyperactivity Learning and cognitive disabilities	
Chlorpyrifos DDT DDE Deltamethrin Diazinon Miscellaneous Dioxins Fluoride Nicotine PCBs	Memory impairment Hyperactivity Memory and coordination impairment Motor dysfunction Hyperactivity Decreased coordination Memory impairment Learning disabilities Hyperactivity Decreased IQ Hyperactivity Learning and cognitive disabilities Memory and learning impairments	
Chlorpyrifos DDT DDE Deltamethrin Diazinon Miscellaneous Dioxins Fluoride Nicotine PCBs	Memory impairment Hyperactivity Memory and coordination impairment Motor dysfunction Hyperactivity Decreased coordination Memory impairment Learning disabilities Hyperactivity Decreased IQ Hyperactivity Learning and cognitive disabilities Memory and learning impairments Psychomotor dysfunction	
Chlorpyrifos DDT DDE Deltamethrin Diazinon Miscellaneous Dioxins Fluoride Nicotine PCBs Carbon monoxide	Memory impairment Hyperactivity Memory and coordination impairment Motor dysfunction Hyperactivity Decreased coordination Memory impairment Learning disabilities Hyperactivity Decreased IQ Hyperactivity Learning and cognitive disabilities Memory and learning impairments Psychomotor dysfunction Brain damage	

 Table 19.1 Partial List of Known Developmental Neurotoxic Chemicals

19: DEVELOPMENTAL NEUROTOXICOLOGY

It has been known for more than 25 years that maternal exposures to some solvent mixtures during pregnancy result in children being born with CNS defects.^[22] Table 19.2 summarizes the data reported by Holmberg in 1979 that first identified this phenomenon. K_{ow} values were not included in the Holmberg article but are added here to show lipophilicity and hydrophilicity. Holmberg identified 13 mothers who had been exposed to solvent mixtures on the job during pregnancies and the resultant CNS defects in their children. It should be noted that his report included one mother who was exposed only to toluene, a chemical that has since been established as teratogenic.^[4,5]

It is noteworthy that most of the exposures in the Holmberg study were to mixtures of lipophiles and hydrophiles.

Other studies that have addressed the developmental neurotoxicities of chemical mixtures include the following:

1. Exposure to PCBs during gestation and lactation is known to induce neurobehavioral effects. A mixture of 14 PCBs and 11 organochlorine pesticides (aimed at simulating the blood levels reported in Canadian populations living in the Great Lakes/St. Lawrence basin), however, was shown to be more toxic than Arochlor 1254 (a commercial PCB mixture) alone and to induce a different profile of effects on early neurodevelopment in laboratory animals.^[23]

All the organochlorine pesticides are lipophilic as can be seen from the following K_{ow} data:

Aldrin	6.50
DDT	6.91
DDE	6.51
Dieldrin	5.20
Heptachlor epoxide	4.98
Hexachlorobenzene	5.73
Mirex	7.18
cis-Nonachlor	6.20
trans-Nonachlor	6.20
Hexachlorocyclohexane	3.72
Oxychlordane	5.48

All PCB congeners are also lipophilic, as was the corn oil used to dissolve the mixture. The mixture, however, was not completely soluble in corn oil and 5% diethyl ether was used as a solvent to ensure complete solubility and homogeneity. Diethyl ether is a hydrophile with a K_{ow} of 0.89. It is not known what role the diethyl ether played in the mixture effects noted.

Case	Industry	Solvents	K _{ow}	CNS Defect
1	Plastics	Styrene	2.95	Congenital
	manufacturing	Acetone	-0.24	Hydrocephaly
2	Leather	Denatured	-0.31	Anencephaly
		ethanol		
		Dyes	L,H	
3	Textile	Ethylene oxide	-0.30	Hydrocephaly
		Dyes	L,H	
		Alkylphenols	1.95	
4	Laboratory	Benzene	2.13	Anencephaly
		Methylene	1.25	
		chloride		
		Diethyl ether	0.89	
		Methanol	-0.77	
5	Museum	White spirit ^a	L	Congenital
				hydrocephaly
6	Plastics	Styrene	2.95	Anencephaly
	manufacturing	Acetone	-0.24	
7	Printing and publishing	White spirit ^a	L	Meningomyelocele with hydrocephaly
8	Rubber	Toluene	2.73	Hydrocephaly
	products	White spirit ^a	L	
		MEK	0.29	
		Xylene	3.15	
9	Metal	Petroleum,	L	Meningomyelocele
	products	Denatured ethanol	-0.31	
10	Leather	Denatured ethanol	-0.31	Hydrocephaly
		Dves	LH	
11	Building	Toluene	2.73	Meningomyelocele
	201101119	White spirit	L	in going endeere
12	Home	Styrene mixed	2.95	Anencephalv
and	handicrafts	Mixed	L	
13		Aliphatic/		
		aromatic		
		Hydrocarbons		

 Table 19.2 CNS Birth Defects Following Maternal Exposure to Solvent Mixtures during Pregnancy^[22]

Notes:^aWhite spirit is a mixture composed primarily of C9-C12 hydrocarbons.

L, lipophilic mixture; L,H, mixture of lipophilic and hydrophilic species.

2. Children living in agricultural communities are regularly exposed to pesticide mixtures through airborne and take-home sources. Neurobehavioral performances of Latino preschool children of agricultural workers in North Carolina and Oregon were found to be poorer than those living in nonagricultural communities in the same areas.^[24] Agricultural pesticides are most often applied as mixtures. Combined with their solvents, surfactants, and other additives they are almost always mixtures of lipophiles and hydrophiles (see Chapter 14).

3. Elevated odds ratios for neural tube defects were higher in children whose fathers worked at jobs that exposed them to chemical mixtures than in children whose parents did not work in such jobs. In a California study it was found that the children of farm workers, janitors, cooks, and grounds-men/gardeners, all of which are jobs that exposed these workers to mixtures of lipophilic and hydrophilic chemicals, had higher incidences of neural tube defects than the children of managers and professionals. Other factors, including race, ethnicity, maternal health, maternal exposures to toxic chemicals, and education levels were ruled out as contributing factors.^[25]

4. Perinatal exposure of mice to dieldrin alters the dopaminergic neurochemistry in their offspring. Exposure to a mixture of dieldrin and MPTP during development exacerbates the neurotoxicity of MPTP, a known chemical cause of Parkinson's disease. This study serves as a model for the induction of Parkinson's disease by chemical mixtures.^[26]

5. A second study related to Parkinson's disease involved the effects of a mixture of the herbicide paraquat and the fungicide maneb (a combination commonly applied to crops). Paraquat alone and maneb alone adversely affect dopamine systems, but the effects of the mixture are greater than that of either pesticide alone.^[27]

It is often difficult to ascribe neurodevelopmental deficits to chemical exposure only. Genetic makeup predisposes some individuals to chemical insult effects. Autism and ADHD are two prominent examples of developmental conditions that fit such a hypothesis. Both affect large numbers of children and their prevalences can be linked to environmental chemical exposures. These are discussed in the following chapters.

19.3 Summary

The developing fetus and the growing child are at greater risk than are adults from exposures to neurotoxic chemicals. Relatively little is known about developmental neurotoxic effects of single chemicals and even less about the effects of chemical mixtures.

Very few studies have been carried out on the developmental neurotoxicity of chemical mixtures. Those that have been reported, however, have demonstrated enhanced or unanticipated neurotoxic effects following mixture exposures.

References

- 1. Torres-Sanchez L, Rothenberg J, Schnaas L, et al. In utero p,p'-DDE exposure and infant neurodevelopment: A perinatal cohort in Mexico. *Environ Health Perspect* 2007; 115(3):435–9.
- Rice D, Barone Jr, S. Critical periods of vulnerability for the developing nervous system: Evidence from humans and animal models. *Environ Health Perspect* 2000; 108 (Suppl 3):511–33.
- 3. Rodier PM. Environmental causes of central nervous system maldevelopment. *Pediatrics* 2004; 113(4):1076–83.
- 4. Commission for Environmental Cooperation. Toxic chemicals and children's health in North America, CEC Project Report, 2006, Montreal, Quebec, Canada.
- Schletter T, Stein J, Reich F, et al. *Harm's way: Toxic threats to child development*, Greater Boston Physicians for Social Responsibility, Cambridge, MA, 2000.
- 6. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. New data on autism spectrum disorders, Atlanta, GA, February 8, 2007, www.cdc.gov
- Rask C, Kosofsky BE. Developmental considerations of neurotoxic exposures. *Neurol Clin* 2000; 18(3):541–62.
- Calderon J, Navarro ME, Jimenez-Capdeville ME, et al. Exposure to arsenic and lead and neuropsychological development in Mexican children. *Environ Res* 2001; 85(2):69–76.
- 9. Trasande L, Schechter CB, Haynes KA, Landrigan PJ. Mental retardation and prenatal methylmercury toxicity. *Am J Ind Med* 2006; 49(3):153–8.
- Izumi Y, Kitabayashi R, Funatsu M, et al. A single day of ethanol exposure during development has persistent effects on bi-directional plasticity, N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor function and ethanol sensitivity. *Neuroscience* 2005; 136(1):269–79.
- 11. Izumi Y, Nagashima K, Murayama K, Zorumski CF. Acute effects of ethanol on hippocampal long-term potentiation and long-term depression are mediated by different mechanisms. *Neuroscience* 2005; 136(2):509–17.
- Lee RD, An SM, Kim SS, et al. Neurotoxic effects of alcohol and acetaldehyde during embryonic development. *J Toxicol Environ Health* 2005; 68(23–4):2147–62.
- Laslo-Baker D, Barrera M, Knittel-Keren D, et al. Child neurodevelopmental outcome and maternal occupational exposure to solvents. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med* 2004; 158(10):956–61.

19: DEVELOPMENTAL NEUROTOXICOLOGY

- 14. Kim SY, Ynag JH. Neurotoxic effects of 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin in cerebellar granule cells. *Exp Mol Med* 2005; 37(1):58–64.
- 15. Kim SY, Lee HG, Choi EJ, et al. TCDD alters PKC signaling pathways in developing neuronal cells in culture. *Chemosphere* 2007; 67(9):S421–7.
- Needham LL, Barr DB, Caudill SP, et al. Concentrations of environmental chemicals associated with neurodevelopmental effects in U.S. populations. *Neurotoxicology* 2005; 26(4):531–45.
- 17. Kayeyama M, Tohyama C. Developmental neurotoxicity of dioxin and its related compounds. *Ind Health* 2003; 41(3):215–30.
- Birnbaum LS, Tuomisto J. Non-carcinogenic effects of TCDD in animals. Food Addit Contam 2000; 17(4):275–88.
- 19. Porterfield SP. Thyroidal dysfunction and environmental chemicals potential impact on brain development. *Environ Health Perspect* 2000; 108 (Suppl 3):433–8.
- 20. Ginsberg MD, Myers RE. Fetal brain damage following maternal carbon monoxide intoxication: An experimental study. *Acta Obstet Gynec Scand* 1974; 53:309–17.
- 21. Fechter LD, Annau Z. Toxicity of mild prenatal carbon monoxide exposure. *Science* 1977; 197(4304):680–2.
- 22. Holmberg PC. Central nervous system defects in children born to mothers exposed to organic solvents during pregnancy. *Lancet* 1979; 2(8135):177–9.
- 23. Bowers WJ, Nakai JS, Wade MG, et al. Early developmental neurotoxicity of a PCB/organochlorine mixture in rodents after gestational and lactational exposure. *Toxicol Sci* 2004; 77:51–62.
- 24. Rohlman DS, Arcury TA, Qunadt SA, et al. Neurobehavioral performance in preschool children from agricultural and non-agricultural communities in Oregon and North Carolina. *Neurotoxicology* 2005; 26(4):589–98.
- Shaw GM, Nelson V, Olshan AF. Paternal occupational group and risk of offspring with neural tube defects. *Pediatr Peridat Epidemiol* 2002; 16(4): 328–33.
- 26. Richardson JR, Caudle WM, Wang M, et al. Developmental exposure to the pesticide dieldrin alters the dopamine system and increases neurotoxicity in an animal model of Parkinson's disease. *FASEB J* 2006; 20(10):1695–7.
- 27. Cory-Slechta DA, Thiruchelvam M, Barlow BK, Richfield EK. Developmental pesticide models of the Parkinson disease phenotype. *Environ Health Perspect* 2005; 113(9):1263–70.

20 Autism: Effect of Maternal Exposure to Neurotoxic Chemicals

20.1 Autism

Autism spectrum disorder (ASD) is a neurodevelopmental syndrome characterized by communication and social interaction impairments, abnormal movements, repetitive behaviors, and sensory dysfunction.^[1–3] It usually manifests itself from 18 months to 3 years, is more prevalent in boys than girls, and involves noticeable brain differences in those who have it.^[3] All autism disorders—autism, Asperger Syndrome, other autism-like conditions/atypical autism—may approach 1% of school populations in some areas.^[4,5] The most recent studies (2007) have shown that there is a range in prevalence of 1 in 500 to 1 in 166 children born in the United States.^[6] Though some of the increases being reported in some areas may be attributed to better diagnoses and record keeping, it is estimated that autism prevalence in the United States is increasing by 17% annually.^[6]

Autism is seemingly found in every part of the world though its prevalence varies. The highest autism rates are found in the industrialized developed countries of the world. Though found in the indigenous populations of Africa, the rates there are low.^[7] Autism is also virtually unknown in the Amish and Mennonite communities of Pennsylvania and Ohio.^[8,9] Several researchers have noted a tendency for parents of autistic children to be highly educated and of higher socioeconomic groups.^[7,10]

Autism prevalence data from around the world and, indeed, even within individual countries and states, are sporadic, but they indicate rising rates almost everywhere. For example, autism rates in Iceland increased from 3.8 per 10,000 in the period of 1973–83 to 8.6 per 10,000 in the period of 1984–93.^[11] Thirty-one cases of autism per 10,000 births were reported in Sweden in the 1990s;^[12] an autism rate of 11.3 per 10,000 births was reported for people native to southern Japan;^[13] and rates of 30 per 10,000 in U.S. metropolitan areas was reported in 2003.^[14]

It is generally agreed that autism has been increasing worldwide at least since 1979 at a rate of 3.8% per year.^[15,16] As of 2002, the conservative estimate of worldwide prevalence was 10/10,000 births.^[17]

The available data, however, points in the direction that autism prevalence is lower in rural than in urban areas within the same locale. Autism is prevalent at the rate of 3.06 per 10,000 in the urban areas of Kukishama-Ken
in northern Japan and at a rate of 1.18 per 10,000 in rural areas of this region.^[17] In this study, it was noted that autism rates were lower when parents worked in agriculture, forestry, fishing, or mining, all presumably rural areas. Among the indigenous peoples of Africa, autism rates are lower than in other parts of the world.^[7]

Autism is generally believed to have a strong genetic component. Its associated neurological effects are believed to occur in early embryonic development, at 20–24 days of gestation.^[18] The initiating injury for autism occurs around the time of neural tube closing.^[19] Parents with autism or Asperger Syndrome pass these along to their offspring^[20] and men with Asperger Syndrome produce children who are more likely to develop autism.^[21] Autism is related to above average head size, something that seems to reflect a large brain. This could be because of a deficit in neural cell pruning brought on by exposure to environmental chemicals.^[22]

Autism, however, is not believed to be attributable solely to inherited traits.^[23,24] It has been suggested that though a genetic factor is essential, a second deleterious environmental exposure produces a genetic–environmental interaction that ultimately produces autism.^[3,16,21,25,26] Several researchers have suggested that autism may be subject to environmental influences that can include viruses, hormones, intrauterine stresses, and toxicants.^[26] Included among these are maternal use of cocaine,^[27,28] exposure to Rubella virus, valproic acid or thalidomide during pregnancy.^[18]

Maternal neurotoxic chemical exposures are also suspected of being associated with increased rates of autism.^[22] Here, the case is made for maternal environmental exposure to neurotoxic chemicals as a contributing factor. It has been well established that neurotoxins cause brain damage in the developing fetus, and that in the developing fetus the CNS is the most vulnerable of all body systems to injury. Ethanol, cocaine, nicotine, thalidomide, isotriternair, mercury, manganese, lead, dioxins, polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), toluene, trichloroethylene, xylene, arsenic, carbon tetrachloride, benzene, dichloroethylenes, perchloroethylene, trihalmethanes, haloacetic acids, chlorophenols, chloral hydrate, haloacetonitriles, and perchlorates are but a few of the chemicals known to cause fetal brain damage.^[22,29–33] Prenatal exposure to PCBs has been shown to lower IQ in the offspring.^[32] Maternal use of the antiepileptic drug phentoin results in a 10-point decrease in IQ in the offspring.^[34]

Neurotoxic agents can act differently in children than in adults because of their effects on developments that have no parallels in adults.^[29] The developing fetus is more sensitive to neurotoxic agents than adults or even young children.^[22] Low levels that are not harmful to adults negatively affect the developing brain.^[30] Different chemicals can cause different injuries at different parts of the fetus' development, that is, different parts are sensitive at different stages of development. A given neurotoxic agent can cause multiple effects, and neurodevelopmental consequences of exposure may vary since different areas of the brain develop at different times and also because dose and timing lead to different outcomes.^[29,33,35] The nervous, immune, endocrine, and reproductive systems are extensively interconnected and interference with any one of these can have profound effects on any or all of these systems.^[36]

20.2 Chemical Mixtures

Mixtures of chemicals have been shown to produce neurotoxic effects that are not predicted from the known toxicology of the mixtures' individual chemicals. Low concentrations of chemical mixtures produce unusual and unexpected CNS effects.^[37–40] These effects are confounded by concurrent exposure to other toxic chemicals.^[41]

It is estimated that 28% of all chemicals used in commerce could be neurotoxic.^[42] Common household products including air fresheners, fragrance products, marking pens, and mattress covers contain known neurotoxins.^[43–46] The neurotoxic effects of marking pens are attributed to chemical mixtures.^[46] Aspertaine, saccharin, artificial food colors, benzyl alcohol, and other excipients used in pharmaceutical preparations and foods are neurotoxins.^[47,48]

Superfund sites are sites that emit numerous neurotoxins into the air and water environments. Love Canal studies have shown nervous system effects that can be attributed to living near a toxic waste site.^[36] Elevated neural tube defects in offspring were identified with mothers residing proximate to hazardous waste sites.^[49,50] It has also been shown that people residing close to industrial facilities that emit solvents or metals have offspring with increased CNS defects.^[51]

The following studies relate autism to environmental factors:

1. In a study in Southern Japan, the prevalence rate for natives to the area was 11.3 per 10,000 births. The rate for migrants to the same area was 17.6 per 10,000 births. The native rates fluctuated from year to year in a 4-year cycle, whereas the migrant rates did not. In this study, children born in the second quarter of the year had a higher rate of autism than those born in other times of the year. It was also found that the prevalence of autism was closely related to the number of hospital admissions for pneumonia and bronchitis

in the children affected.^[13] The rate fluctuations reported in this study cannot be attributed to genetic factors.

- 2. The literature reports that in 36–91% of the time, both monozygotic twins are autistic.^[3,52–54] If genetics were the only factor, one would expect dual autism in all monozygotic twins.
- 3. The prevalence of autism in an area of Northern Japan was studied. The overall prevalence was 2.33 per 10,000 births. The prevalence in the cities, however, was 3.06/10,000, and characteristically, in the rural areas it was only 1.18/10,000. Autism prevalence was found to be relatively low when parents had rural jobs (forestry, fishing, or mining) and relatively high when fathers had jobs for which higher education is generally required (perhaps relating to urban residence). This study showed that autism rates varied from year to year.^[17] Both these factors, the greater autism prevalence in urban than in rural children and the year to year fluctuations in rates, cannot be attributed to genetic factors.
- 4. Lotter reported that though autism is found in the indigenous people of Africa, the prevalence seems to be less than in more developed parts of the world. He also reported that the prevalence of autism in Africa was less in the rural areas than in the urban areas of the continent.^[7] Here again, the greater preponderance of autism in urban than in rural areas cannot be attributed to genetics.
- 5. Autism is virtually unknown in the Amish and Mennonite communities of Lancaster County, Pennsylvania.^[8,9] In these communities, no incidences of autism have been reported in more than 16,000 births from 1988 to 2004. The Amish and Mennonite autism data are the result of 16 years of record keeping among the Amish in Lancaster County, Pennsylvania, by Dr. D. Holmes Morton of the Clinic for Special Children in Strasburg, Pennsylvania. This clinic sees every child in the Amish and Mennonite communities in Lancaster County, Pennsylvania, with neurological disorders. The Amish and Mennonites live in rural communities. They do not use chemicals or electricity in their daily lives, use only organic farming techniques, and abstain from tobacco and recreational drugs. The absence of autism in these communities strongly suggests a relationship between autism and environmental factors. The Amish and Mennonite communities are insular. Accordingly, it is possible that the lack of autism in these groups could be strictly genetic. This is considered unlikely, however, since they are of German extract genetically and prevalence of autism in Germans is similar to that in other Western populations.
- 6. It has been reported that maternal use of cocaine has resulted in a 11.4% rate of autism for offspring.^[27] This extremely high rate of

autism far exceeds any rate reported in all other studies reported and strongly suggests an environmental factor.

- 7. Stromland et al.^[18] have reported that children exposed to thalidomide between 20 and 24 days of gestation show a very high rate of autism. Of 86 children so exposed, 4 subsequently developed autism, a rate that cannot be accounted for by genetics alone.
- 8. The state of California systematically monitors, collects, and reports autism data statewide on a consistent basis, with the number of cases diagnosed in each county reported on a quarterly basis.^[55] The data show lowest autism rates for rural counties, higher values for urban and highly populated suburban counties, and much higher values for Los Angeles County. In 1999 and again in 2003, California issued reports on the prevalence of autism in the state.^[56,57] These reports show autism increasing in the state at the rate of about 3% per year, with the increases greatest in Los Angeles County, lower in the other urban and highly populated suburban counties, and least in the rural counties of the state. Table 20.1 summarizes the California data for the period 2003–4. This table includes the number of autism cases by county and statewide for each of the 2 years, the percentage increase of autism by county and statewide, population data for the 2 years and autism cases per million population in 2004.

The increases in autism prevalence in California have, for the past 20 years, been correspondingly greater in the more highly urbanized areas than in rural areas. The alarmingly high autism prevalence in Los Angeles County is consistent with this observation. These large increases cannot be attributed to improvements in detection, as has been proposed,^[50] nor can this be attributed to ethnicity, racial identity, or immigration status as has been previously suggested in much smaller studies.^[12,20] Higher maternal age, as has been previously suggested,^[12] however, can also be ruled out due to the very large annual increase in California autism without a concurrent increase in maternal age. Genetic, mutational changes, or other factors similarly cannot account for the increase in California. During the 1-year period April 2003-4, the population of California grew by only 1.5%^[58] yet autism prevalence increased by 13%. As seen in Table 20.1, for the time period, 2003–4, the population increases in every county were far below the increases in autism cases. Various reasons have been proposed to account for the greatly increased rates in California. These include the suggestion that factors such as

, and Autism Cases per 1,000,000	
2003-4, Population Data	
Rates for California,	
Autism Prevalence	in 2004
Table 20.1	Population

County	Autism Cases 2003	Autism Cases 2004	Autism % Increase 2003–2004	Population 2004 36,000,000	Population % Increase 2003–2004	Autism Cases per 1,000,000 2004
Alameda	719	816	14	1,498,700	0.7	483
Alpine	0	1	*	1,280	0.0	*
Amador	ŝ	L	*	36,850	0.5	110
Butte	111	128	15	212,700	0.9	533
Calaveras	17	24	*	43,350	1.4	163
Colusa	С	3	*	20,100	1.8	152
Contra Costa	517	582	13	1,003,900	1.1	586
Del Norte	11	11	*	28,250	0.9	393
El Dorado	35	37	7	168,100	1.3	223
Fresno	212	281	33	862,600	2.0	332
Glenn	12	12	*	27,750	1.3	438
Humboldt	80	88	10	130,000	0.9	683
Inyo	4	5	*	18,500	0.3	271
Kern	365	423	16	724,900	2.3	597
Kings	33	44	33	141,400	2.0	240
Lake	17	18	9	63,200	1.4	289
Lassen	9	11	*	34,850	2.0	322
Los Angeles	9,375	10,663	14	10,103,000	1.4	940
Madera	21	28	33	135,300	2.9	213
Marin	84	87	4	250,200	0.2	338

$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	1,866,500 2	1,335,400 1.8	1,776,700 3.4	21,100 0.5	292,100 3.0	3,017,300 1.4	96,100 1.1	131,600 1.2	421,400 1.4	13,500 0.7	9,650 1.0		232,100 2.3	89,200 0. 232,100 2.
928 17 1,529 12 215 215 352 33 116 23 267 23 267 23 267 23 11 906 21 114 12 88 7 7	928 17		714 22	825 20 714 22	5 * 825 20 714 22	122 24 5 * 825 20 714 22	2,216 7 122 24 5 * * 825 20 714 22	20 25 2,216 7 122 24 5 * 825 20 714 22	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$103 \\ 65 \\ 65 \\ 20 \\ 20 \\ 25 \\ 17 \\ 7 \\ 7 \\ 7 \\ 7 \\ 7 \\ 825 \\ 714 \\ 22 \\ 20 \\ 22 \\ 22 \\ 22 \\ 22 \\ 22 \\ 2$	5 103 65 65 20 25 17 25 122 122 825 7 714 22 20 25 825 825 20 22 24 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 23	$\begin{array}{c}1\\5\\5\\65\\103\\65\\20\\27\\122\\122\\825\\825\\714\\714\end{array}$	95 1 5 65 103 65 114 65 20 25 25 25 27 7 27 27 27 27 27 27 27 27 27 27 27 2	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
ego 1,377 encisco 1,377 ancisco 191 aquin 256 is Obispo 94 ateo 223 Sarbara 232 Mara 750 Cruz 102 82		Benito 18 Bernadino 705	amento 584 Benito 18 Bernodino 705	amento 584 Benito 18 Bernadino 705	nas 4 srside 689 amento 584 Benito 18 Barnodino 705	er 98 nas 4 erside 689 camento 584 Benito 18 Bernodino 705	nge 2,067 er 98 nas 4 srside 689 amento 584 Benito 18 Barnodino 705	ada 16 1ge 2,067 er 98 nas 4 srside 689 amento 584 Benito 18 Banito 705	a 54 ada 16 nge 2,067 er 98 er 98 nas 4 erside 689 amento 584 Benito 18 Banito 705	a 54 ada 54 ada 16 nge 2,067 er 98 nas 4 viside 689 amento 584 Benito 18 Barnodino 705	IO 6 a 54 ada 16 ada 2,067 nge 2,067 er 98 nas 4 srside 689 amento 584 Benito 18 Benito 705	loc 1 10 6 11 90 11 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 18 16 18 18 2,067 18 18 2,067 18 2,067 18 2,067 18 2,067 18 2,067 16 2,067 16 2,067 16 2,00 16 16 2,00 16 16 16 2,00 16 16 2,00 16 16 16 2,00 16 16 16 2,00 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 17 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 17 16 16 16 17 16 16 17 16 16 17 16 16 17 17 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 17 16 16 16 17 16 16 17 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16	ced 81 loc 1 no 6 nterey 90 a 54 ada 16 nge 2,067 nas 689 arside 689 amento 584 Benito 18	adocino 37 ceed 81 doc 81 no 6 no 6 no 6 ada 54 ada 16 nge 2,067 nas 4 err 98 mas 689 error 584 Benito 18 Benito 705
			amento 584 714 22 1,335,400 1.	straide 689 825 20 1,776,700 3. amento 584 714 22 1,335,400 1.	nas 4 5 * 21,100 0. rside 689 825 20 1,776,700 3. amento 584 714 22 1,335,400 1.	er 98 122 24 $292,100$ $3.$ nas 4 5 * $21,100$ $0.$ traide 689 825 20 $1,776,700$ $3.$ amento 584 714 22 $1,335,400$ $1.$	nge $2,067$ $2,216$ 7 $3,017,300$ 1.er 98 122 24 $292,100$ $3.$ nas 4 5 $*$ $21,100$ $0.$ rside 689 825 20 $1,776,700$ $3.$ amento 584 714 22 $1,335,400$ $1.$	ada1620 25 $96,100$ 1.nge $2,067$ $2,216$ 7 $3,017,300$ 1.er 98 122 $2,4$ $292,100$ 3.nas 4 5 * $21,100$ 0.rside 689 825 20 $1,776,700$ 3.amento 584 714 22 $1,335,400$ 1.	a 54 65 17 $131,600$ $1.$ ada 16 20 25 $96,100$ $1.$ age $2,067$ $2,216$ 7 $3,017,300$ $1.$ ar 98 122 $2,4$ $292,100$ $3.$ er 98 122 $2,4$ $292,100$ $3.$ nas 4 5 $*$ $21,100$ $0.$ sride 689 825 20 $1,776,700$ $3.$ amento 584 714 22 $1,335,400$ $1.$	nterey9010314421,4001.a 54 65 17 $131,600$ $1.$ ada 16 20 25 $96,100$ $1.$ age $2,067$ $2,216$ 7 $3,017,300$ $1.$ ar 98 122 24 $292,100$ $3.$ er 98 122 24 $292,100$ $3.$ arside 689 825 20 $1,776,700$ $3.$ amento 584 714 22 $1,335,400$ $1.$	1065*13,5000.a546514421,4001.a546517131,6001.ada16202596,1001.ada1620273,017,3001.ace2,0672,21673,017,3001.ar9812224292,1003.ar45*21,1000.arside689825201,776,7003.amento584714221,335,4001.	loc111 $*$ $9,650$ 1.no65 $*$ $*$ $13,500$ 0.nterey90103 14 $421,400$ 1.a 54 65 17 $131,600$ 1.ada 16 20 25 $96,100$ 1.ada 16 20 25 $96,100$ 1.ada 16 $2,067$ $2,216$ 7 $3,017,300$ 1.aer 98 122 $2,4$ $292,100$ $3.$ as 4 5 $*$ $21,100$ $0.$ arside 689 825 20 $1,776,700$ $3.$ amento 584 714 22 $1,335,400$ $1.$	ced 81 95 17 $232,100$ 2 loc11 $*$ $9,650$ 1.loc6 5 $*$ $13,500$ 0.lo6 5 $*$ $13,500$ 0.lerey90103 14 $421,400$ 1.a 54 65 17 $131,600$ 1.a 16 20 25 $96,100$ 1.ada 16 20 25 $96,100$ 1.ada 122 $2,216$ 7 $3,017,300$ 1.are 98 122 $2,24$ $292,100$ $3.$ are 689 825 20 $1,776,700$ $3.$ amento 584 714 22 $1,335,400$ $1.$	$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$

utism Cases per 1,000,000	
, and A	
opulation Data	
)3-4, P	
rnia, 200	
Califo	
Rates for	
Prevalence	Continued)
Autism]	i in 2004 (
Table 20.1	Population

County	Autism Cases 2003	Autism Cases 2004	Autism % Increase 2003–2004	Population 2004 36,000,000	Population % Increase 2003–2004	Autism Cases per 1,000,000 2004
Siskiyou	10	12	20	44,850	0.6	268
Solano	193	222	15	416,500	1.0	533
Sonoma	314	355	13	472,700	0.7	722
Stanislaus	243	305	26	491,900	1.8	620
Sutter	29	30	ю	85,500	2.0	351
Tehama	17	18	9	58,700	1.4	307
Trinity	2	ŝ	*	13,450	1.1	223
Tulare	121	148	22	396,800	2.1	373
Tuolumne	19	22	16	56,900	0.5	387
Ventura	623	713	14	802,400	1.4	889
Yolo	75	82	6	184,500	1.9	444
Yuba	16	19	19	64,800	1.6	293
Statewide	21,209	24,297	13	36,144,000	1.5	672
*Numbers too small to be sta	atistically meaningfu					

hormone levels, diet, and lack of early pre-natal care in some groups could be responsible.^[50] None of these, however, is supported by data.

The data in Table 20.1 show that the rates of autism are much lower in the rural counties than in the urban ones and that the autism rates in Los Angeles County and surrounding counties (Orange and Ventura) are much higher than those in other urban areas. It should be noted that the autism rates in San Francisco and surrounding counties (Marin, Santa Cruz) are lower than those in other urban areas, yet even there the rates continue to rise.

A recently published study (2007) found very high autism rates in children whose mothers resided in the California's Central Valley area and were exposed to the organochlorine pesticides difocol and endosulfan during pregnancy CNS embryogenesis. This association was greater the closer the mothers resided to pesticide spray sites and declined with distance of residence from the application sites. Controls, children without maternal exposure to these pesticides, had autism rates consistent with those reported for rural areas in California, whereas those born to mothers with the greatest exposures to difocol and endosulfan had autism rates as much as six times higher.^[59]

Whether the increases in autism reported in this study are entirely attributable to the named organochlorine pesticides alone or to combinations of these with other chemicals remains unknown. As discussed in Chapter 14, pesticides are almost never applied as pure substances, but are formulated with solvents, surfactants, disbursants, and other additives to increase efficacy. Also, pesticides are generally applied as mixtures of different materials to address multiple "pest problems."

It is suggested here that the dramatic increase in autism in California is due to environmental factors. The highly populated areas of California have poor air and water quality, contain numerous neurotoxic chemicals,^[60–64] and are in close proximity to numerous Superfund sites.^[75] This is particularly the case in the Los Angeles area. The recent study connecting increased autism prevalence to maternal organochlorine pesticide exposure in rural California areas^[59] supports the relationship between exposures to environmental pollutants and autism. Residents of urban areas are

generally exposed to higher levels of toxic chemicals that accordingly are causative of higher autism rates. Rural residents generally have lower exposure to toxic chemicals but their autism rates can also be adversely affected by inordinately high levels of exposure.

9. High rates of autism were suspected in the five-county metropolitan Atlanta area^[14] and in Brick Township, New Jersey.^[65] The data collected show that the values for the Atlanta area and for Brick Township are similar to those for other large urban areas including California, other than the Los Angeles area.^[32] These high values are attributed to Atlanta's air pollution^[66] and Brick Township's proximity to several Superfund sites.^[67]

As noted above, there is a tendency for parents of autistic children to be highly educated and of higher socioeconomic groups.^[7,10] This is perhaps so because more highly educated and upper socioeconomic groups tend to live in more environmentally contaminated urban locations than others.

20.5 Summary

Cocaine and thalidomide have been identified as causative agents for autism.^[18,27] Although other specific environmental chemicals have not yet been definitively identified, the recent discovery that maternal exposures during critical gestational periods to pesticides containing the organochlorine pesticides difocol and endosulfan result in dramatically increased rates of autism in their offspring^[68] lead one to expect that additional individual chemicals and mixtures of chemicals will be discovered as time goes on. It has been shown that mixtures of lipophilic and hydrophilic chemicals can cause neurotoxic effects at very low concentrations and in ways in which the individual components of the mixtures do not by themselves so act.^[37–39] It has also been shown that exposures to specific mixtures of otherwise benign single chemicals have many toxic consequences, including neurotoxic effects.^[37] Of the almost infinite number of toxic chemical mixtures possible in the environment only a few have been demonstrated to be toxic. If one properly includes food, tobacco, pharmaceuticals, excipients, and recreational drugs in the equation, and considers previously published findings,^[37–39,69] it is reasonable to assume that at least some of these mixtures do have neurotoxic consequences. It is suggested here that maternal exposures to as yet unspecified chemical mixtures increases the prevalence of autism.

Autism certainly has a genetic factor associated with it. Studies, however, showing seasonal and annual variations in its prevalence, increased prevalence in urban versus rural areas, increased prevalence in areas with increased environmental pollution, and increased prevalence in offspring of mothers who have taken certain drugs, leads to the conclusion that there is a connection between maternal environmental exposure to neurotoxic chemicals and the prevalence of autism.

Finally, a discussion of the environmental causes of autism would not be complete without addressing the question of whether or not thimerosal, a mercury-containing preservative that was incorporated into children's vaccines for measles, mumps, and rubella (as well as in other vaccines) for many years, is a causative agent. Mercury exposure has been identified with an increased prevalence of autism. In a Texas study, it was found that environmental releases of mercury are related to an increase of more than 60% in the autism rate in the area of release.^[70] The effect of mercury from childhood vaccines that contain thimerosal as a possible trigger for autism has been researched and debated extensively. Some believe that thimerosal is not an autism trigger^[71] because the autism rates have continued to climb after its use in children's vaccines was discontinued. Others argue that it is plausible that thimerosal is a causative agent for autism.^[68,72] Recently, however, autism has been associated with a urinary porphorin pattern indicative of mercury toxicity in a large cohort study of French children. In that study, coproporphyrin levels were significantly elevated in children with autism compared to control groups.^[73] These results have been duplicated in an American study.^[74] The reasons for the elevated mercury levels in the autistic children in these studies are unknown. All children had no known significant mercury exposure other than from thimerosal-containing vaccines that they were given. Why the autistic children and not the nonautistic children (who also were given thimerosal-containing vaccines) retained the mercury in their systems is also unknown. To date, no one has studied the effects of mixtures of thimerosal with other chemicals. Perhaps the question will be answered after such evaluations are undertaken.

References

- 1. Bernard S, Enayati A, Roger H, et al. The role of mercury in the pathogenesis of autism. *Mol Psychiatry* 2002; 7:S42–3.
- Goldman LR, Koduru S. Chemicals in the environment and developmental toxicity to children: A public health and policy perspective. *Environ Health Perspect* 2000; 108 (Suppl 3):443–8.

- 3. Jick H, Kaye JA. Epidemiology and possible causes of autism. *Pharmacotherapy* 2003; 23(12):1524–30.
- Kadesjo B, Gillberg C, Gillberg BH. Brief report: Autism and asperger syndrome in seven-year old children: A total population. *J Autism Dev Disord* 1999; 29(4):327–31.
- 5. Wing L, Potter D. The epidemiology of autistic spectrum disorders: Is the prevalence rising? *Ment Retard Dev Disabil Res Rev* 2002; 8(3):151–61.
- 6. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. New data on autism spectrum disorders, Atlanta, GA, February 8, 2007, www.cdc.gov
- 7. Lotter V. Childhood autism in Africa. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 1978; 19:231–44.
- 8. Morton DH. Clinic for special children, Strasburg, PA, personal communication, July 2004.
- 9. Clinic for Special Children, Strasburg, PA, http://.clinicforspecialchildren.com/
- Sanua VD. Is infantile autism a universal phenomenon? An open question. Int J Soc Psychiatry 1984; 30(3):163–77.
- 11. Magnusson P, Saemendsen D. Prevalence of autism in Iceland. *J Autism Dev Disord* 2001; 31(2):153–63.
- 12. Arvidsson T, Danielson B, Forsberg P, et al. Autism in 3–6-year old children in a suburb of Goteborg, Sweden. *Autism* 1997; 1(2):163–73.
- Tanoue Y, Oda S, Asano F, Kawashima K. Epidemiology of infantile autism in southern Ibaraki, Japan: Differences in prevalence in birth cohorts. *J Autism Dev Disord* 1988; 18(2):155–66.
- 14. Yeargin-Allsopp M, Rice C, Karapurkar T, et al. Prevalence of autism in a US metropolitan area. *J Am Med Assoc* 2003; 289(1):49–55.
- 15. Fombonne E. Epidemiological trends in rates of autism. *Mol Psychiatry* 2002; 7:S4–6.
- 16. London E, Etzel RA. The environment as an etiologic factor in autism: A new direction for research. *Environ Health Perspect* 2000; 108 (Suppl 3):401–4.
- 17. Hoshino Y, Kumashiro H, Yashima Y. The epidemiological study of autism in Fukushima-ken. *Folia Psychiatrica et Neurologica Japonica* 1982; 36(2):115–24.
- 18. Stromland K, Nordin V, Miller M, et al. Autism in thalidomide embryopathy: A population study. *Dev Med Child Neurol* 1994; 36(4):351–66.
- Rodier PM, Ingram JL, Tisdale B, et al. Embryological origin for autism: Developmental anomalies of the cranial nerve motor nuclei. *J Comp Neurol* 1996; 370(2):247–61.
- Gillberg IC, Gillberg C. Autism in immigrants: A population-based study from Swedish rural and urban areas. *J Intellect Disabil Res* 1996; 40 (Part I): 24–31.
- Gillberg C, Schaumann H, Gillberg IC. Autism in immigrants: Children born in Sweden to mothers born in Uganda. *J Intellect Disabil Res* 1995; 39 (Part 2):141–4.
- 22. Rodier PM. Environmental causes of central nervous system maldevelopment. *Pediatrics* 2004; 113(4):1076–83.
- 23. Steffenberg S, Gillberg C, Hellgren L, et al. A twin study of autism in Denmark, Finland, Iceland, Norway and Sweden. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry* 1989; 30(3):405–16.

- 24. Kates WR, Burnette CP, Eliez S, et al. Neuroanatomic variation in monozygotic twin pairs discordant for the narrow phenotype for autism. *Am J Psychiatry* 2004; 161(3):539–46.
- 25. DeStefano F, Chen RT. Autism and measles-mumps-rubella vaccination. Controversy laid to rest? *CNS Drugs* 2001; 15(11):831–7.
- 26. Hultman CM, Sparen P, Cnattingius S. Perinatal factors for infantile autism. *Epidemiology* 2002; 13(4):417–23.
- 27. Davis E, Fennoy I, Laraque D, et al. Autism and developmental abnormalities in children with perinatal cocaine exposure. *J Natl Med Assoc* 1992; 84(4):315–19.
- 28. Oro AS, Dixon SD. Perinatal cocaine and methamphetamine exposure: Maternal and neonatal correlates. *J Pediatr* 1997; 111:571–8.
- 29. Mendola P, Selevan SG, Gutter S, Rice D. Environmental factors associated with a spectrum of neurodevelopmental deficits. *Ment Retard Dev Disabil Res Rev* 2002; 8:188–97.
- 30. Schletter T. Toxic threats to neurologic development in children. *Environ Health Perspect* 2001; 109 (Suppl 6):813–16.
- Nakai K, Satoh H. Developmental neurotoxicity following prenatal exposure to methylmercury and PCBs in humans from epidemiological studies. *Tohoku J Exp Med* 2002; 196:89–98.
- 32. Ribas-Fito N, Sala M, Kogevinas M, Sunyer J. Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) and neurological development in children: A systematic review. *J Epidemiol Community Health* 2001; 55:537–46.
- 33. Bove FJ, Fulcomer MC, Klotz JB, et al. Public drinking water contamination and birth outcomes. *Am J Epidemiol* 1995; 141(9):850–62.
- 34. Scolnik D, Nulman I, Rovet J, et al. Neurodevelopment of children exposed in utero to phenytoin and carbamazepine monotherapy. *J Am Med Assoc* 1994; 271(10):767–70.
- 35. Laslo-Baker D, Barrera M, Knittel-Keren D, et al. Child neurodevelopmental outcome and maternal occupational exposure to solvents. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med* 2004; 158(10):956–61.
- 36. Carpenter DO. Human health effects of environmental pollutants: New insights. *Environ Monit Assess* 1998; 53:245–58.
- 37. Zeliger HI. Toxic effects of chemical mixtures. *Arch Environ Health* 2003; 58(1):23–9.
- Abou-Donia MB, Dechkovskaia AM, Goldstein LB, et al. Co-exposure to pyridostigmine bromide, DEET, and/or permethrin causes sensorimotor deficit and alterations in brain acetylcholinesterase activity. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav* 2004; 77:253–62.
- 39. Porter WP, Jaeger JW, Carlson IH. Endocrine, immune and behavioral effects of aldicarb (carbamate), atrazine (triazine) and nitrate (fertilizer) mixtures at groundwater concentrations. *Toxicol Ind Health* 1999; 15(1–2): 133–50.
- 40. Jett DA, Navoa RV, Lyons MA, Jr. Additive inhibitory action of chlorpyrifos and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons on acetylcholinesterase activity in vitro. *Toxicol Lett* 1999; 105(3):223–9.
- 41. Graves CG, Matanoski GM, Tardiff RG. Weight of evidence for an association between adverse reproductive and developmental effects and exposure to

disinfection by-products: A critical review. *Regul Toxicol Pharmacol* 2001; 34:103–24.

- 42. National Environmental Trust, Washington, DC, Physicians for Social Responsibility, Washington, DC, Learning Disabilities Association of America, Pittsburg, PA. Polluting our future: Chemical pollution in the U.S. that affects child development and learning, March 2004, www.safekidsinfo.org
- 43. Anderson RC, Anderson JH. Toxic effects of air freshener emissions. *Arch Environ Health* 1997; 52(6):433–41.
- 44. Anderson RC, Anderson JH. Acute toxic effects of fragrance products. *Arch Environ Health* 1998; 53(2):138–46.
- 45. Anderson RC, Anderson JH. Respiratory toxicity in mice exposed to mattress covers. *Arch Environ Health* 1999; 54(3):202–9.
- 46. Anderson RC, Anderson JH. Acute toxicity of marking pen emissions. *J Toxicol Environ Health A* 2003; 66:829–45.
- 47. Finegold BF. Dietary management of nystagmus. *J Neural Transm* 1979; 45(2):107–16.
- 48. American Academy of Pediatrics, Committee on Drugs. Inactive ingredients in pharmaceutical products: Update. *Pediatrics* 1997; 99(2):268–78.
- 49. Croen LA, Shaw GM, Sanbonmatsu L, et al. Maternal residential proximity to hazardous waste sites and risk for selected congenital malformations. *Epidemiology* 1997; 8(4):347–54.
- 50. Croen LA, Grether JK, Sevin S. Descriptive epidemiology of autism in California population: Who is at risk? *J Autism Dev Disord* 2002; 32(3): 217–24.
- 51. Marshall EG, Gersburg LJ, Deres DA, et al. Maternal residential exposure to hazardous wastes and risk of central nervous system and musculoskeletal birth defects. *Arch Environ Health* 1997; 52(6):416–25.
- 52. Greenberg DA, Hodge SE, Sowinski J, Nicoll D. Excess of twins among affected sibling pairs with autism: Implications for the etiology of autism. *Am J Hum Genet* 2001; 69:1062–7.
- 53. Muhle R, Trentacoste SV, Rapin I. The genetics of autism. *Pediatrics* 2004; 113(5):472–86.
- 54. Bailey A, Le Couteur A, Gottesman E, et al. Autism as a strongly genetic disorder: Evidence from a British twin study. *Psychol Med* 1995; 25:63–77.
- 55. California Department of Developmental Services, Sacramento, CA. Reports on autism in California, July 2004, http://www.dds.ca.gov/FactsStats/diag-nostic_info.cfm
- 56. California Department of Developmental Services. Changes in the population of persons with autism and pervasive developmental disorders in California's developmental services system: 1987 through 1998. Department of Developmental Services, 1600 9th St., Rm. 240, Sacramento, CA, March 1999.
- California Department of Developmental Services. Autistic spectrum disorders, changes in the California caseload, an update: 1999–2002. Department of Developmental Services, 1600 9th St., Rm. 240, Sacramento, CA, May 2003.
- 58. Department of Finance, State of California, Sacramento, CA. Population estimates with annual percentage change 2003 to 2004, May 5, 2004.

- 59. Roberts EM, English PB, Grether JK, et al. Maternal residence near agricultural pesticide applications and autism spectrum disorders among children in the California Central Valley. *Environ Health Perspect* 2007; 115(10): 1482–9.
- 60. California Environmental Protection Agency, Air Resources Board. The California almanac of emissions and air quality, 2005 edition, Air Resources Board, Sacramento, CA, March 2005.
- 61. Swan SH, Waller K, Hopkins B, et al. A prospective study of spontaneous abortion: Relation to amount and source of drinking water consumed in early pregnancy. *Epidemiology* 1998; 9(2):126–33.
- 62. Urbansky ET. Perchlorate as an environmental contaminant. *Environ Sci Pollut Res* 2002; 9(3):187–92.
- 63. EPA (U.S. Environmental Protective Agency). National priorities list sites in California, June 7, 2004, http://www.epa.gov/superfund/sites/npl/ca.htm
- 64. California Environmental Protection Agency, California Air Resources Board. The California almanac of emissions and air quality, 2005 edition. Sacramento, CA.
- 65. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Prevalence of autism in Brick Township, New Jersey, 1988: Community report, Atlanta, GA, April 2000.
- 66. Georgia Department of Natural Resources, Environmental Protection Division, Air Protection Branch. Ambient monitoring program, www.gadnr.org/epd/ air/amp/
- 67. New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection, Site Remediation and Waste Management Program. New Jersey superfund sites, www.nj.gov/dep/ srp/community
- 68. Geier DA, Geier MR. A case series of children with apparent mercury toxic encephalopathies manifesting with clinical symptoms of regressive autistic disorders. *J Toxicol Environ Health A* 2007; 70(10):837–51.
- 69. Zeliger HI. Cancer clusters: Common threads. *Arch Environ Health* 2004; 54(3):172–6.
- 70. Palmer RF, Blanchard S, Stein Z, et al. Environmental mercury release, special education rates and autism disorder: An ecological study in Texas. *Health Place* 2006; 12(2):203–9.
- 71. Shevell M, Fombonne E. Autism and MMR vaccination or thimerosal exposure: An urban legend? *Can J Neurol Sci* 2006; 33(4):339–40.
- 72. Blaxill MF, Redwood L, Bernard S. Thimerosal and autism? A plausible hypothesis that should not be dismissed. *Med Hypotheses* 2004; 62(5): 788–94.
- Nataf R, Skorupka C, Amet L, et al. Porphyrinuria in childhood autistic disorder: Implications for environmental toxicity. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 2006; 214(2):99–108.
- Geier DA, Geier MR. A prospective assessment of porphyrins in autistic disorders: A potential marker for heavy metal exposure. *Neurotox Res* 2006; 10(1):57–64.
- 75. EPA (U.S. Environmental Protective Agency). National priorities list sites in California, June 7, 2004, http://www.epa.gov/superfund/sites/npl/ca.htm

21.1 Introduction

ADHD is a neurodevelopmental and behavioral disorder that is characterized by poor concentration and hyperactivity. Children with ADHD are impulsive and easily distracted to degrees that are greater than expected for their age. These children often daydream and are slow to complete tasks.

21.2 Prevalence of ADHD

ADHD is a worldwide disorder. Estimates for ADHD prevalence worldwide vary from 1.5% to almost 20%.^[1–6] The prevalence of ADHD in the United States is estimated by the U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) to be 7.74% of all school age children (about 4.4 million children).^[7] A recently published study (2007) determined that almost 9% of all U.S. children suffer from ADHD.^[8] It is not known why the range of prevalences reported vary as much as they do. They may be because of actual differences or variations in diagnosis and data collection.

In the United States, some 44% of the children diagnosed with ADHD are treated with methylphenidate (Ritalin) or similar drugs.^[9] Table 21.1 shows the CDC data for percentages of children diagnosed and percentages of those treated with drugs in each of the states.^[7,9] As can be seen from the data, the number of cases diagnosed and the number drug treated vary widely. As with the worldwide data, the reasons for the variations in prevalence are not known. The differences in the numbers treated may represent varying environmental exposures and local cultural variations in dealing with ADHD.

ADHD is not just limited to children. It has been estimated that 4.4% of adults aged 18–44 in the United States experience symptoms and some disability.^[10]

21.3 Environmental Factors in ADHD

ADHD is a heritable disorder. Available evidence, however, strongly points to environmental as well as genetic factors as causative for ADHD.

State	Percentage Diagnosed with ADHD	Percentage Drug Treated for ADHD
Alabama	11.09	6.48
Alaska	7.07	3.95
Arkansas	9.88	6.51
Arizona	5.89	3.02
California	5.34	2.13
Colorado	4.95	2.75
Connecticut	7.38	3.26
Delaware	9.74	5.97
Florida	9.21	4.82
Georgia	9.37	5.57
Hawaii	6.14	2.71
Idaho	6.38	3.66
Illinois	6.32	3.32
Indiana	7.93	4.96
Iowa	8.35	5.52
Kansas	8.14	5.34
Kentucky	10.12	4.77
Louisiana	10.31	6.34
Maine	7.92	4.48
Maryland	9.11	5.84
Massachusetts	8.51	5.43
Michigan	9.21	5.32
Minnesota	7.93	4.67
Mississippi	9.59	5.38
Missouri	7.67	4.53
Montana	7.09	4.38
Nebraska	6.39	4.29
Nevada	7.22	3.33
New Hampshire	9.14	5.67
New Jersey	7.22	3.10
New Mexico	6.10	3.48
New York	6.27	3.39
North Carolina	9.54	6.14
North Dakota	9.39	4.38
Ohio	8.88	4.97
Oklahoma	8.11	4.08

 Table 21.1 CDC Data for ADHD Cases Diagnosed and Treated in Each of the States in the United States

(Continued)

State	Percentage Diagnosed with ADHD	Percentage Drug Treated for ADHD
Oregon	7.15	3.83
Pennsylvania	8.17	5.34
Rhode Island	9.81	5.86
South Carolina	9.98	6.24
South Dakota	6.49	4.24
Tennessee	9.87	4.79
Texas	7.69	4.87
Utah	5.49	3.06
Vermont	6.90	3.79
Virginia	9.28	5.46
Washington	7.18	4.03
Washington, DC	6.74	3.48
West Virginia	10.08	5.81
Wisconsin	8.06	4.66
Wyoming	7.13	3.98
U.S. total	7.74	4.33

Table 21.1	CDC Data for ADHD Cases Diagnosed and Treated in Each
of the States	s in the United States (Continued)

The studies with twins are compelling. Monozygotic (MZ) twins share all of their genes and dizygotic (DZ) twins share half of their genes. If ADHD were due strictly to genetic factors, one would expect to find 100% concordance for ADHD in MZ twins and 50% concordance in DZ twins. This is not, however, the case. The concordance among twins has been reported in several studies and averages 66% for MZ twins and 28% for DZ twins. These concordance numbers are high enough to establish genetics as a factor and at the same time low enough to establish environmental factors as causative for ADHD.^[11–13]

Beyond the genetic factors, the causes of ADHD are unknown and very few studies have examined the relationship between ADHD and exposures to environmental chemicals. It is known, however, that maternal prenatal exposures to lead, alcohol, tobacco smoke, and marijuana are known to result in the birth of children with high incidences of ADHD.^[14–17] It has also been established that exposure to excessive quantities of phenylalanine either prenatally *in utero*, as a result of the mother having phenylketonuria (PKU) and fetus not having PKU, or postnatally where the child has PKU, results in the development of ADHD hyperactive and behavioral

symptoms.^[18,19] The mechanisms for these effects remain unknown, but these reactions to specific agents further demonstrate that environmental exposures may be triggers for ADHD. It is also known that many different chemicals trigger developmental neurotoxic effects (see Chapters 19 and 20), and it is accordingly reasonable to conclude that there may be many single chemicals and chemical mixtures that are environmental triggers for ADHD. The following section discusses the evidence of synthetic dietary components as such triggers.

21.4 Chemical Mixtures as Triggers for ADHD

It has already been noted that maternal tobacco and marijuana smoking are causative agents for ADHD symptomology.^[16,17] Tobacco and marijuana smoke are very complex chemical mixtures containing more than 4000 different chemicals. The ADHD causative agents in these are unknown. Xenobiotic chemicals contained in foods, however, are fewer in number, more easily identified, and have been tested as agents that induce the symptoms of ADHD.

In 1975, Feingold published a remarkable article in which he asserted that excluding artificial colors, artificial flavors, and preservatives from the diets of hyperactive children could significantly benefit as many as half of the affected children.^[20] Feingold's assertion provoked extensive scientific and medical attention as well as wide media coverage and dispute. It has, however, withstood many challenges and the test of time. Feingold's published results were based on large numbers of children he had successfully treated clinically by removing artificial colors, flavors, and preservatives from their diets. Though there are still some who deny that synthetic food colorants and preservatives are triggers for hyperactivity, it is generally accepted in the scientific and medical communities that withholding these chemicals from the diets of children with ADHD can substantially reduce the symptoms in many of them. Two excellent reviews have been published that summarize and critique the research that has been carried out and the results reported both by those whose work has substantiated Feingold's hypothesis^[21-24] and by those whose work has challenged it.^[25-27] In several instances the data in the research challenging his position has been shown to indeed support it.^[25,28] The reader is referred to the literature for the reviews noted, both of which strongly establish the validity of Feingold's hypothesis.^[29,30]

21: ATTENTION DEFICIT HYPERACTIVITY DISORDER (ADHD) 355

The position taken here is that published by Weiss and Schnoll et al.,^[29,30] that is, that the three points of Feingold's hypothesis are supported by experiments that meet the criteria for scientific validity. These are

- 1. Many children who are diagnosed as hyperactive improve when put a diet devoid of artificial food colors, artificial flavors, and synthetic preservatives.
- 2. Some children become hyperactive, at least in the short term, following the ingestion of artificial food dyes.
- Younger children are seemingly more sensitive to artificial food colors, artificial flavorants, and synthetic preservatives than older ones.

The most recent research that has been published is not only supportive of the view that synthetic colors, flavors, and preservatives do indeed impact hyperactive behavior in some children, but also demonstrates synergistic effects between artificial colors and other synthetic additives.

In one study,^[31] significant synergy was observed when the following commonly used mixtures of artificial food colors and flavorants were introduced in vitro:

- 1. Brilliant blue and L-glutamic acid (monosodium glutamate)
- 2. Quinoline yellow and aspartame.

Very little has been published about the neurotoxicity of artificial food colors, but *L*-glutamic acid and aspartic acid are well-established neurotoxins. (Aspartame is rapidly hydrolyzed to release aspartic acid and two other neurotoxins, phenylalanine and methanol.) The two mixtures noted above synergistically inhibited the neurite outgrowth in mouse NB2a neuroblastoma cells to far greater extents than *L*-glutamic acid and aspartame did alone without the addition of the artificial food colors.

In the second study, a double-blind, with placebo-controlled one 1 to 4-year-old children, it was found that the combination of 5 mg each of sunset yellow, tartrazine, carmoisine, and ponceau 4R (artificial colors commonly used to color soft drinks) plus 45 mg of sodium benzoate (a commonly used soft drink preservative) induced hyperactivity in statistically relevant numbers of the children.^[32]

The two studies just cited are relevant because food colors, flavors, and preservatives are typically used in combination in processed foods. Such foods are generally consumed with other foods containing yet additional synthetic chemicals. Table 21.2 contains a list of artificial food colors,

	K _{ow}
Colors	
Brilliant blue	-1.50
Quinoline yellow	1.06
FD&C Blue No. 1	0.66
FD&C Blue No. 2	-0.32
FD&C Green No. 3	-3.22
FD&C Red No. 40	-0.55
FD&C Yellow No. 5 (tartrazine)	-10.17
FD&C Yellow No. 6 (sunset yellow)	-1.18
Carmoisine	0.00
Ponceau 4R	1.63
Flavors	
Aspartaine	0.07
L-glutamic acid	-3.69
Saccharine	0.91
Preservatives	
BHA	3.50
BHT	5.10
TBHQ	2.94

Table 21.2	Artificial Food	Colors,	Flavors,	and	Preservatives	and	Their
K _{ow} Values							

flavors, and preservatives widely used in processed food. None have any nutritional value, and all have been shown to be toxic. The K_{ow} values in the table show that all the colors and flavors are hydrophilic and the preservatives are all lipophilic. It is suggested here that some of the conflicting results regarding the neurotoxic effects of artificial food colors may be due to the presence or absence of lipophilic preservatives that facilitate the absorption of the hydrophilic colors and flavors. The Feingold diet, which prescribes the elimination of all synthetic food additives, is devoid of synthetic lipophilic and hydrophilic xenobiotics.

Further complicating the neurotoxicity of artificial food colors is the fact that the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) allows these to be contaminated with neurotoxic heavy metals.^[33] The standards for these are

Lead	Not more than 10 ppm
Arsenic	Not more than 3 ppm
Mercury	Not more than 1 ppm

21: ATTENTION DEFICIT HYPERACTIVITY DISORDER (ADHD)

These metals are all hydrophiles and though their allowable quantities are low, they may nevertheless form neurotoxic mixtures with lipophilic species from other dietary items and have toxic impact. No studies have yet been carried out on the allowable levels of these heavy metals in dietary mixtures containing colors, flavors, and preservatives. A search of the literature did not reveal other studies related to the Feingold diet that analyzed for or considered the effects of lead, arsenic, and mercury.

357

A further search of the literature did not reveal any research into the effects of exposure to chemicals or chemical mixtures other than synthetic colors, flavors, and preservatives on ADHD. To date, no work has been published on the effects of maternal exposure to colors, flavors, and preservatives.

21.5 Summary

Little is known about the cause of ADHD and no cure has been found for it. It has been shown that maternal ingestion of lead or ethanol as well as smoking or marijuana use are causative for ADHD. Both tobacco and marijuana smoke are complex mixtures of thousands of individual chemicals and the chemical(s) responsible for inducing ADHD have not been identified. It has also been shown that exposures to mixtures of artificial colors and flavors are synergistically neurotoxic.

Though ADHD cannot be cured, the removal of artificial colors, flavors, and preservatives has been demonstrated definitively to reduce ADHD symptoms in as many as half of the children stricken with it and that challenges with these chemicals induce hyperactivity in many children. It is suggested that mixtures of hydrophilic artificial colors and flavors mixed with lipophilic preservatives may be at least partially responsible for the hyperactivity induced in many children who consume such mixtures.

References

- Mukhopadhey W, Misra S, Mitra T, et al. Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. *Indian J Pediatr* 2003; 70(10):798–2.
- 2. Pineta D, Ardila A, Rosselli M, et al. Prevalence of attention-deficit/ hyperactivity disorder symptoms in 4- to 17-year-old children in the general population [Colombia]. *J Abnorm Child Psychol* 1999; 27(6):455–62.
- Rohde LA, Biederman J, Busnello EA, et al. ADHD in a school sample of Brazilian adolescents: A study of prevalence comorbid conditions and impairments. *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry* 1999; 38(6):716–22.

- Rowland AS, Umbacj DM, Stallone L, et al. Prevalence of medication treatment for attention deficit hyperactivity disorder among elementary school children in Johnston County, North Carolina. *Am J Public Health* 2002; 92(2):231–4.
- 5. Yao KN, Solanto MV, Wender EH. Prevalence of hyperactivity among newly immigrated Chinese-American children. *JDBP* 1988; 9(6):367–73.
- 6. Ashenafi Y, Desta DK, Alem A. Prevalence of mental and behavioral disorders in Ethiopian children. *East Afr Med J* 2001; 78(6):308–11.
- 7. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Epidemiologic issues in ADHD, Atlanta, GA, 2007. www.cdc.gov/ncbdd/adhd/adhdprevalence.htm
- Froelich TE, Lanphear BP, Epstein JN, et al. Prevalence, recognition, and treatment of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder in a national sample of U.S. children. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med* 2007; 161(9):857–64.
- 9. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Epidemiologic issues in ADHD, Atlanta, GA, 2007. www.cdc.gov/ncbdd/adhd/adhdmedicated.htm
- 10. Kessler RC, Adler L, Barkley R, et al. The prevalence and correlates of adult ADHD in the United States: Results from the national comorbidity survey replication. *Am J Psychiatry* 2006; 163(4):716–23.
- Nadder TS, Silberg JL, Eaves LJ, et al. Genetic effects on ADHD symptomology in 7- to 13-year-old twins: Results from a telephone survey. *Behav Genet* 1998; 28(2):83–100.
- 12. Sharp WS, Gottesman RF, Greenstein DK, et al. Monozygotic twins discordant for attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: Ascertainment and clinical characteristics. *J Am Acad Adolesc Psychiatry* 2003; 42(1):93–7.
- Castellanos FX, Sharp WS, Gottesman RF, et al. Anatomic brain abnormalities in monozygotic twins discordant for attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. *Am J Psychiatry* 2003; 160(9):1693–6.
- 14. Tuthill RW. Hair levels related to children's classroom attention-deficit behavior. *Arch Environ Health* 1996; 51(3):214–20.
- 15. Stein J, Schettler T, Wallinga D, Valenti M. In harm's way: Toxic threats to child development. *Dev Behav Pediatr* 2002; 23(1S):S13–21.
- Mick E, Biederman J, Faraone SV, et al. Case-control study of attentiondeficit hyperactivity disorder and maternal smoking, alcohol use, and drug use during pregnancy. *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry* 2002; 41(4): 378–85.
- 17. Goldschmidt L, Day NL, Richardson GA. Effects of prenatal marijuana exposure and child behavior problems at age 10. *Neurotoxicol Teratol* 2000; 22(3):325–36.
- Antshel KM, Waisbren SE. Timing is everything: Executive functions in children exposed to elevated levels of phenylalanine. *Neuropsychology* 2003; 17(3):458–68.
- 19. Antshel KM, Waisbren SE. Developmental timing of exposure to elevated levels of phenylalanine is associated with ADHD symptom expression. *J. Abnormal Child Psychol* 2003; 31(6):565–74.
- 20. Feingold BF. Hyperkinesis and learning disabilities linked to artificial food flavors and colors. *Am J Nurs* 1975; 75:797–803.
- 21. Williams JI, Cram DM, Tausig FT, Webster E. Relative effects of drugs and diet on hyperactive behaviors: An experimental study. *Pediatrics* 1978; 61(6):811–17.

- 22. Salamy J, Shucard D, Alexander H, et al. Psychological changes in hyperactive children following the ingestion of food additives. *Int J Neurosci* 1982; 16(3–4):241–6.
- 23. Boris M, Mandel FS. Foods and additives are common causes of the attention deficit hyperactive disorder in children. *Ann Allergy* 1994; 72(5):462–8.
- 24. Swanson JM, Kinsbourne M. Food dyes impair performance of hyperactive children on a laboratory learning test. *Science* 1980; 207:1485–7.
- 25. Harley JP, Ray RS, Tomasi L, et al. Hyperkinesis and food additives; testing the Feingold hypothesis. *Pediatrics* 1978; 61(6):818–28.
- 26. Rippere V. Food additives and hyperactive children: A critique of Conners. *Br J Clin Psychol* 1983; 22 (Pt 1):19–32.
- 27. Wolraich M. Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. *Prof Care Mother Child* 1998; 8(2):35–7.
- 28. Levy F, Hobbes G. Hyperkinesis and diet: A replication study. *Am J Psychiatry* 1978; 135(12):1559–60.
- 29. Weiss B. Food additives and environmental chemicals as sources of childhood behavior disorders. *J Am Acad Child Psychiatry* 1982; 21(2):144–52.
- Schnoll R, Burshteyn D, Cea-Aravena J. Nutrition in the treatment of attentiondeficit hyperactivity disorder: A neglected but important aspect. *Appl Psychophysiol Biofeedback* 2003; 28(1):63–75.
- 31. Lau KL, McLean WG, Williams DP, Howard CV. Synergistic interactions between commonly used food additives in a developmental neurotoxicity test. *Toxicol Sci* 2006; 90(1):178–87.
- 32. Bateman B, Warner JO, Hutchinson E, et al. The effects of a double blind, placebo controlled, artificial food colourings and benzoate preservative challenge on hyperactivity in general population sample of preschool children. *Arch Dis Child* 2004; 89(6):506–11.
- United States Food and Drug Administration. Code of Federal Regulations 21 CFR 74, wwwcfsan.fda.gov~lrd/cfr74102.hmtl

22.1 Introduction

The endocrine system is comprised of a network of hormone-producing glands that synthesize and release carefully measured doses of these hormones, which in some instances are in the parts per trillion range. Insufficient as well as excessive quantities of these hormones can be detrimental to one's health and well-being. As discussed in Section 4.11, endocrine disrupting compounds (EDCs) are exogenous chemicals that alter the function of the endocrine system by one of four different ways:

- 1. Acting as hormone mimics, that is, attaching themselves to hormone receptor sites and mimicking the effects of endogenous hormones.
- 2. Antagonizing the effects of endogenous hormones.
- 3. Disrupting the synthesis and/or metabolism of endogenous hormones.
- 4. Disrupting the synthesis and metabolism of endogenous hormone receptors.

EDCs are known to adversely affect the human reproductive process, by impacting both male and female fertility.^[1–12] This subject is examined in Chapter 23. EDCs also affect the thyroid. Thyroid hormone is well known to be essential for brain development which is sensitive to both thyroid hormone deficit and excess. EDCs affect the thyroid gland and through this action fetal brain development.^[13–19] The hypothalamic–pituitary– adrenal (HPA) axis, a complex interactive between the hypothalamus, the pituitary gland, and the adrenal gland, is a major part of the neuroendo-crine system that regulates digestion, the immune system, mood, sexuality, and energy usage. Xenobiotics that disrupt any part of this vital axis can have serious and even catastrophic effects on those so affected.^[11,17,20,21,23–26] There is also suggestive evidence that EDC exposures are responsible for the onset of type 2 diabetes and breast cancer.

22.2 Endocrine Disrupting Chemicals

A large number of individual chemicals have been demonstrated to be endocrine disruptors. EDCs include pesticides, synthetic hormones, heavy metals, plasticizers, and other industrial chemicals. Table 22.1

Alachlor
Aldicarb
Aldrin
Ammonium perchlorate
Arsenic
Atrazine
Benzene
<i>Bis</i> (2-ethylhexyladipate)
Bis(2-ethylhexylphthalate
Bisphenol A
2-Bromopropane
Cadmium
Carbon disulfide
Carbon tetrachloride
Chlordane
Chloroform
Chlorpyrifos
2,4-D
DDE
DDT
1,2-Dichlorobenzene
1,2-Dichloropropane
Dibutyl phthalate
Dieldrin
Diethyl phthalate
Diethylstilbestrol
Endosulfan
Epichlorohydrin
Ethanol
Ethyl benzene
Formaldehyde
Heptachlor
Hexachlorobenzene
Hydrazine
Hydrogen cyanide
Lead
Lindane
Malathion
Maneb

 Table 22.1 Partial List of Endocrine Disrupting Chemicals

362

Mercury
Methoxychlor
Methylene bromide
Mirex
Nitrogen dioxide
<i>p</i> -Nonylphenol
Parathion
Pentachlorophenol
Permethrin
PBBs
PCBs
Styrene
2,4,5-T
TCDD
Tetrahydrofuran
Thiocyanate
Tributyl tin
Trichloroethylene
Triphenyltine
VM&P naphtha

contains a partial list of these culled from a number of literature sources.^[3,4,27,28]

Chemicals toxic to the endocrine system can disturb its development as well as the development of organs that respond to endocrine signals. The damage to the developing organism can occur during prenatal or early postnatal life from exposures both during pregnancy and after birth. In addition, due to the persistence of ED chemicals in body fat, exposures to the mother at any time during her life can result in transgenerational exposures to her offspring.^[29]

In keeping with the stated purpose of this book, the endocrine disrupting effects of single chemicals are discussed briefly and serve as an introduction to a discussion of the endocrine toxic effects of chemical mixtures.

A number of structurally different xenobiotic chemicals are estrogen mimics. These compounds include pesticides, industrial chemicals, and components of many plastics, including polystyrene and polycarbonate. Some are listed in Table 22.2.

Chemical	Reference
Bisphenol A	[30–33]
<i>p</i> -Nonylphenol	[34]
PCBs	[35,36]
Phthalate ester plasticizers	[37]
BHA	[37]
BHT	[37]
<i>n</i> -Butylbenzene	[37]
<i>p</i> -Crosol	[37]
2,4-Dichlorphenol	[37]
<i>p</i> -Hydroxybenzoic acid	[37]
DDT	[38]
Kepone	[38]

 Table 22.2 List of Synthetic Estrogen Mimicking Compounds

Some xenobiotics have androgenic as well as estrogenic activity. These include phthalate ester plasticizers,^[39–41] bisphenol-A,^[42] the DDT metabolite DDE,^[43] and cadmium, a component of cigarette smoke.^[44,45] The effects of these endocrine disruptors include early puberty^[46] and male reproductive organ disorders including decreased penis size^[40,41] and hypospadias, the result of arrested development of the urethra, foreskin, and ventral surface of the penis where the urethral opening may be anywhere along the shaft, within the scrotum or in the perineum.^[47,48] It has been suggested that endocrine disruptors are at least partially responsible for the decreases in human semen quality and quantity.^[5] The implications of these effects on infertility are discussed in Chapter 23.

Ethanol has been shown to induce oxidative damage in the pituitary gland and contribute to pituitary dysfunction. Chronic exposure of laboratory animals to ethanol results in a decline in serum testosterone and decreased serum luteinizing hormone and follicle-stimulating hormone.^[49]

Drinking water contamination with endocrine disruptors has become a serious concern. Arsenic, which is a worldwide drinking water contaminant, is a potent endocrine disruptor.^[50,51] Organochlorine and other endocrine disrupting persistent organic polluting chemicals make their way into drinking water and raise questions about water potability in many areas.^[28]

It has been long known that hypothyroidism leads to retardation and other serious developmental disorders.^[52] It has been shown that the neuropsychological development of a fetus is adversely affected when thyroid deficiency occurs in a pregnant woman and her fetus.^[53] Even very small reductions in thyroid levels in mothers during pregnancy have been shown

to impact the intellectual levels of children. Free hormone thyroid levels circulating in pregnant women are in the parts per trillion range and thyroid disrupting chemicals that reduce the hormonal levels even slightly can have huge neurotoxicological effects on the developing fetus. PCBs and the pesticides aminotriazole, dimethoate, and fenvalerate prevent the release of thyroid hormone. Phthalates and other widely used chemicals compete for sites on the thyroid transport proteins that deliver thyroid hormones throughout the body.^[54] It has been suggested that thyroid disrupting xenobiotics may be related to increases in the prevalence of autism and ADHD, though this has not, to date, been proven.^[54]

22.3 Diabetes and Endocrine Disrupting Chemicals

Diabetes is a disease that ensues when the body fails to produce or use insulin appropriately. This disease currently affects more than 6% of the U.S. population (21 million people). The international Diabetes Federation (IDF) estimates there are 246 million people with diabetes worldwide in 2007 compared with 194 million in 2003. The following IDF data indicate the scope of the worldwide diabetes epidemic.^[55]

Year	Millions of Diabetics
1985	30
2000	150
2025	380 (est)

Diabetes is primarily concentrated in urban areas and is mostly prevalent in people who are obese, eat an unhealthy diet, and live sedentary lifestyles. The highest diabetes prevalences are in North America (9.2%) and Europe (8.4%).^[55]

The most prevalent form of diabetes, which accounts for 85–95% of all cases, is type 2 diabetes, defined by reduced insulin production and insulin resistance. Insulin resistance occurs when increasing quantities of insulin are required to regulate the transport of plasma glucose to body tissues. It is often accompanied by obesity, which elevates the free fatty acid levels in blood serum and is thought to induce insulin resistance.^[56]

Recent research into the biology of adipose tissue has revealed that adipose is not simply an energy storage site, but that it also secretes a variety of molecular species that affect the body's metabolism. Adipocytes are cells contained in adipose tissue that have been shown to be endocrine cells that secrete a number of bioactive substances called adipocytokines. The adipocytokines include adiponectin, a protein that is an insulin sensitizing hormone.^[57,58] The secretion of virtually all known adipose proteins is reduced when white adipose tissue (WAT) mass is markedly increased, as in the obese. Adipose protein secretion is also markedly reduced when WAT is markedly decreased, as in liposuction.^[59] Levels of adiponectin mRNAs and its plasma levels are reduced in obesity and in type 2 diabetes.^[57,58]

With the knowledge that adipose tissue is an endocrine organ, it is suggested that it may be impacted by endocrine disrupting chemicals and be a causative effect for type 2 diabetes. This connection is advanced by the following four-point argument.^[56]

- 1. Testosterone is known to affect body fat distribution and insulin sensitivity in men. Testosterone administration has been shown to reduce total fat mass and improve insulin sensitivity.^[60]
- 2. Humans are constantly exposed to synthetic chemicals that are antiandrogenic. These chemicals include phthalates that are used in a wide variety of products including prescription drugs, cosmetics, soaps, shampoos, adhesives, paints, lubricants, and as a plasticizer for polyvinyl chloride.^[61] Even though phthalates (with half lives of less than 24 h) are rapidly metabolized by humans, more than 75% of the people in the United States have measurable quantities of several phthalate metabolites in their urine.^[62]
- 3. Antiandrogenic effects have been associated with several phthalates,^[63] as well as with PCBs, dioxins, and organochlorine pesticides, chemicals that have been associated with diabetes prevalence in adult men.^[64,65] Mixtures of phthalates and other antiandrogens have been shown to act in an additive manner in animal studies,^[66,67] and in a greater than additive manner in one human study.^[68]
- 4. The Stahlhut et al. study^[56] found that there is a correlation between urinary phthalate metabolite concentrations and abdominal obesity and insulin resistance in men. It is suggested that the antian-drogenic phthalates adversely impact testosterone production, which in turn results in obesity and insulin resistance, both of which are related to type 2 diabetes. Though the authors do not discuss the effects of phthalates or other antiandrogens on adipocytes, it is thought that such an effect may also play a role in the onset of type 2 diabetes. The mechanism(s) remains unknown, but it is known, however, that white adipose tissue is a repository for numerous lipophilic persistent organic pollutants (POPs), including PCBs, dioxins, DDT, DDE, and other organochlorine pesticides and that these chemicals are endocrine disruptors.^[69] Unlike phthalates, which are fairly rapidly metabolized, these POPs metabolize very slowly (with half lives of years). The effects of the

interactions of the POPs metabolites with other xenobiotics and their effects, if any, on diabetes remain areas of ongoing research.

Though it is tempting to attribute the epidemic increase in diabetes in the last two decades to the ubiquitous phthalates, more research remains to be carried before this is proven. The Stahlhut et al. study correlates urinary phthalate metabolite presence with insulin resistance only. The connection to type 2 diabetes has thus been suggested but proof awaits further inquiry.

22.4 Breast Cancer and Endocrine Disruptors

It has been shown that environmental toxicant exposure during rapid growth and differentiation is associated with increased susceptibility to cancer. Prenatal human exposure to ionizing radiation is known to increase cancer rates and there is suggestive evidence that leukemia and brain cancers are associated with parental exposures to chemicals.^[70,71] It is also known that prenatal exposure to natural and synthetic estrogens is associated with increased breast and vaginal tumors in humans and that 2,3,7,8-tetrachloro-dibenzodioxin (TCDD), an endocrine disrupting chemical, has been shown to adversely affect mammary gland development in laboratory animals.^[70]

Other, environmentally pervasive xenoestrogenic chemicals have also been associated with human breast cancer. The connection between xenoestrogenic exposure and human breast cancer is a circumstantial one. It is based on the following nine parameters:

- 1. Parabens, which are used as preservatives in a multitude of food, cosmetic, and pharmaceutical products, have been shown to exhibit estrogenic properties and to accumulate chemically intact in human breast tissue.^[72]
- 2. Fetal exposure of mice to low doses of bisphenol A results in mammary gland effects, including neoplasias that are manifested in adult life.^[73,74] Both bisphenol A sulfate and bisulfate have been shown to stimulate the growth of receptor-positive breast tumor cells.^[75]
- 3. Exposure to excess estrogen is believed to be associated with an increased risk of developing breast cancer.^[73,76,77] The continuing rise in breast cancer incidence rates in the Western world countries cannot be entirely explained by genetic risk factors alone and it is estimated that 90% of breast cancers are due to environmental exposures.^[78] Elevated levels of endogenous estrogen and its use by women for alleviation of menopausal symptoms has been associated with increases in breast cancer rates.^[76,77] Chlorinated

hydrocarbon pesticides, BCBs, dioxins, phthalates, bisphenol A, nonyl phenol, aluminum chlorohydrate, BHA, BHT, and triclosan are some of the chemicals that are widely used and widely distributed in the environment that are estrogenic.

- 4. The compounds that have been identified as xenoestrogens vary widely in chemical nature. Many are highly lipophilic and slowly metabolized (TCDD, chlorinated hydrocarbon pesticides). Others are less lipophilic and more labile (phthalates) and some are hydrophilic (methyl paraben, aluminum chloride, and aluminum chlorohydrate). It is known that lipophilic chemicals are more readily absorbed through the skin than hydrophilic chemicals, but as has been pointed out repeatedly in this book, lipophiles facilitate the absorption of hydrophiles and contribute to unexplained mixture effects. Table 22.3 lists some of the known xenoestrogens, types of products they are used in, and their K_{ow} values.
- 5. Because studies have shown that these estrogen-like chemicals are weakly estrogenic compared with endogenous hormones, there has been a tendency to dismiss their impact. Recent studies, however, have demonstrated that mixtures of these, each at the no observed effect concentrations (NOEC), dramatically enhance hormone action.^[79,80] In these studies, the mixtures of xenoestrogens contained compounds commonly found in foods, cosmetics, sunscreens, plastics, and in the extended environment. It is significant to note that in both studies, the mixtures were comprised of chemicals that were dissimilar structurally and chemically from each other. Seemingly, the only shared characteristic was estrogenic activity. One of the studies^[79] included hydroxylated PCBs, benzophenones, parabens, and bisphenol A.
- 6. The role of cosmetics in promoting the onset of breast cancer has received considerable attention. Xenoestrogens from environmental sources (PCBs and organochlorine pesticides) have been found in breast adipose tissue and in human breast milk. The breast, however, is also exposed to xenoestrogens that are applied topically to underarms and breast skin.^[77,81] These include

Parabens Aluminum salts Cyclosiloxanes Triclosan UV light absorbers Phthalates Anthraquinones Nonyl phenol

Compound	Use	K _{ow}
Bis(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate	Plastics	7.60
Dibutyl phthalate	Plastics	4.50
Monobutyl phthalate	Cosmetics, cleansers	2.84
DDT	Pesticide	6.91
DDE	Pesticide metabolite	6.51
Endosulfan	Pesticide	3.83
Chlordane	Pesticide	6.16
Methoxychlor	Pesticide	5.08
Dieldrin	Pesticide	5.20
Heptachlor	Pesticide	6.10
Mirex	Pesticide	7.18
Triclosan	Cosmetics	4.76
TCDD	Pesticide impurity	6.80
BHA	Food preservation	3.50
BHT	Food preservation	5.10
PCBs	Dielectric fluid	6.29–7.65
Methyl paraben	Cosmetics	1.96
<i>n</i> -Butyl paraben	Cosmetics	3.57
Bisphenol A	Plastics	3.32
Nonyl phenol	Surfactants	5.76
2,4-Dihydroxybenzophenone	Sunscreens	3.69
Octyldimethyl-p-aminobenzoic acid	Sunscreens	5.77
Aluminum chloride	Antiperspirants	1.26
Aluminum chlorohydrate	Antiperspirants	-0.30

Table 22.3 Xenoestrogenic Compounds, Products They Are Used in and Their K_{ow} Values

All of these compounds are readily absorbed through the skin in the breast area. Because they are not ingested or inhaled, they are not subjected to metabolism, but arrive at and are stored in breast adipose intact.^[77]

- 7. The strongest evidence supporting the hypothesis that xenobiotics in underarm cosmetics are a cause of breast cancer comes from clinical observations showing disproportionately high incidences of breast cancer in the breast's upper outer quadrant. This corresponds to the area where deodorants and other cosmetics are applied.^[82–84]
- More suggestive evidence for the connection between cosmetic use and breast cancer comes from a consideration of breast cancer rates in premenopausal women. Evidence for this hypothesis

comes from a comparison of breast cancer rates in African American and Caucasian women in the United States. Breast cancer rates in African American women are higher than those for Caucasians, as is their use of xenoestrogen-containing personal care products.^[85]

9. The association between obesity and insulin resistance as risk factors for breast cancer provides still more suggestive evidence. As seen in the last section, obesity and insulin resistance are influenced by endocrine disrupting compounds. Obesity is related to increases in adipocytokine production and some of these polypeptides promote angiogenesis (the process of developing new blood vessels), which is essential for breast cancer development and progression. Experimental evidence also exists showing that some adipocytokines act directly on breast cancer cells and stimulate their proliferation and invasive capacity. Thus, it is hypothesized that adipocytokines may play a role in the causation of breast cancer.^[86]Though the circumstantial evidence is strongly suggestive, to date, there is no proven link between the presence of these xenoestrogens in breast tissue and the onset of breast cancer. It is possible that these chemicals act additively or even synergistically with other xenoestrogens to promote breast cancer. Research in this area is ongoing.

Finally, it should be noted that smoking, both active and passive, has been associated with breast cancer risk.^[87] Tobacco smoke contains cadmium, a known endocrine disruptor, as well as numerous carcinogens. No mechanism has yet been proposed for the association between smoking and breast cancer.

22.5 Mixture Effects on Endocrine Function—Case Studies

Mixtures of endocrine disrupting chemicals have been shown to produce additive, synergistic, and unexpected dose–response effects. The following studies are illustrative of the effects noted.

1. Linuron, a urea derivative herbicide and androgen receptor antagonist, and butyl benyl phthalate, a plasticizer, are two compounds with very different chemical properties, yet in a laboratory animal study, prenatal exposure to a mixture of these produced dose-additive testosterone and other adverse developmental effects.^[66]

22: ENDOCRINE SYSTEM

2. In an invitro study, mixtures of six synthetic endocrine disrupting chemicals and plant-derived phytoestrogens were evaluated for estrogenic activity. The EDCs were

Methoxychlor *o,p*-DDT Octylphenol Bisphenol A Beta-hexachlorocyclohexane 2,3-*bis*(Hydroxyphenyl)-proprionitrile

At low doses, additive effects were observed. At higher doses, however, the responses of mixtures of synthetic EDCs and phytoestrogens were greater than additive. In this study, mixtures of the synthetic chemicals alone interacted in a less than additive manner.^[88] These results illustrate the often unpredictable interaction of endocrine disrupting mixtures.

3. An in vitro study of ternary mixtures of xenoestrogens demonstrated that the additive effects of EDCs are often observed when the chemicals that comprise the mixture are similar and that different effects may be observed when the chemicals are different. In this study, the following three mixtures were prepared and evaluated for estrogenic activity:

(a)	Methoxychlor	(b)	Benzo[a]pyrene	(c)	17-Beta-estradiol
	o,p-DDT		1,2-benzanthracene		genestein
	Dieldrin		Chrysene		(a phytoestrogen)
					o.p-DDT

Additive effects were observed for the organochlorine pesticide mixture (a) and the mixture of polyaromatic hydrocarbons (b). The mixture of the natural hormone, the phytohormone, and the organochlorine hydrocarbon (c), however, exhibited an antagonistic response.^[89]

- 4. In an "in culture" bioassay using human breast estrogen-sensitive MFC7 cells to assess the estrogenicity of several pesticides, it was found that mixtures of the pesticides induced estrogenic responses at lower concentrations than those required for the single pesticides. The pesticides tested included DDT, chlordecone, dieldrin, toxaphene, and endosulfan.^[90]
- 5. UV filters are formulated into sunscreens and cosmetics to protect against solar UV radiation, and commercial sunscreen and cosmetic products often contain mixtures of these filters. Eight
different UV filter compounds were tested in mixtures of two, four, and eight, alone or combined with 17-beta estradiol for estrogenic activity in a recombinant yeast assay carrying the human estrogen receptor alpha. Despite the concentrations of all compounds being at the NOEC levels, most binary mixtures and all four and eight component mixtures showed synergistic activity.^[91] These results demonstrate the difficulties encountered when trying to predict the endocrine toxicology of mixtures based upon the known toxicities of single chemicals.

6. Many single endocrine disrupting chemicals are known to be toxic to the hypothalamic-pituitary-thyroid (HPT) axis. Studies with sexually mature male laboratory animals, however, have indicated that the toxicities to the HPT axis demonstrated by the individual chemicals are manifest only at levels much higher than those humans are commonly exposed to environmentally. A study of the combined effects of a mixture of common organochlorine pollutants and heavy metals demonstrated that the mixture impacted thyroid endpoints, including circulating thyroid hormone levels and thyroid physiology, in test animals when each was present at very low concentration, that is, at minimum risk or daily tolerable levels. The chemicals in the mixture were

DDT DDE TCDD PCBs Methoxychlor Endosulfan Heptachlor Hexachlorocyclohexane Dieldrin Aldrin Mirex Several chlorinated benzenes Lead Cadmium

The authors of the study conclude that low doses of ubiquitous environmental pollutants can alter HPT physiology in sexually mature males.^[92]

7. A study was designed to test the mixture effects of different concentrations of known thyroid disrupting chemicals. The mixture consisted of several of each of dioxins, PCBs, and polybrominated diphenyl ethers. The study tested the concentrations of serum total thyroxine (T4) following administration to laboratory animals at different concentrations, ranging from environmentally found background levels to 100 times those levels. The ratio of chemicals was based on environmental concentrations. The results showed that additive effects were obtained at lower concentrations, but that synergistic effects prevailed at higher concentrations, with (T4) levels dropping by 2–3 times the predicted levels.^[93]

- 8. Ammonium perchlorate and sodium chlorate are common water pollutants in some areas of the United States. Each affects the pituitary–thyroid homeostasis by inhibiting iodine uptake, thus interfering with the synthesis of thyroglobulin and reducing circulating thyroxin. The administration of low levels of ammonium perchlorate and sodium chlorate alone did not reduce circulating thyroxine levels in laboratory animals. Thyroxin levels, however, were significantly reduced when the same levels of these chemicals were administered as a mixture.^[94] This study points out the danger posed when both compounds are present in drinking water.
- 9. Endocrine disrupting chemical contaminants in drinking water are typically removed by treatment with UV radiation and hydrogen peroxide. In an EDC removal study, mixtures of four EDCs were prepared in laboratory water and in natural river water to evaluate the efficacy of UV/hydrogen peroxide treatment. The EDCs included estradiol, ethinyl estradiol, bisphenol A, and nonyl phenol. Treatment success was evaluated by testing for estrogenic activity in vitro (yeast estrogen screen) and in vivo (with fish). Typical treatment levels of UV and peroxide successfully removed all estrogenic activity in vitro, but not in vivo. Estrogenic activity removal rates were higher in laboratory water than in natural river water. The authors attribute this difference to the presence of radical scavengers in river water.^[95] These results are indicative of the sensitivity of living organisms to very low levels of endocrine disruptors and the need to carefully test the effects of EDCs under all conditions of exposure.

22.6 Tobacco Smoke

Tobacco smoke is a complex mixture of more than 4000 different chemicals that has multiple toxic effects on the endocrine system. In addition to the associations between tobacco smoke with breast cancer (see Section 22.4), smoking has other endocrine disrupting effects. Smoking affects the pituitary, thyroid, and adrenal glands, the testes, and the ovaries. It also affects the action of insulin, and smoking is believed to be a causative agent for diabetes.^[96] Cigarette smoke contains compounds suspected of causing reproductive damage through its effects on steroidal hormones^[97] and parental smoking also affects thyroid function in infants.^[96] Though nicotine is believed responsible for some of these effects, others have so far defied explanation. The complexity of tobacco smoke makes identification of the responsible endocrine disrupting compounds difficult to ascertain. To date, there have not been any published studies that address the combined effects of known EDCs and tobacco smoke. The reader is referred to literature for an excellent review of the state of knowledge regarding the toxic effects of tobacco smoke to the endocrine system.^[96]

22.7 Summary

Endocrine disrupting chemicals can wreak havoc with the human reproductive process as well as with endocrine system homeostasis. Their introduction into the environment has had an enormous effect on wild life. Given the similarities between many of the hormones (particularly the sex hormones) that circulate in animal and human bodies, the wildlife impacts serve as models and predictors of the effects of EDCs on humans.

Mixtures of EDCs have been shown to exhibit low level and unexpected endocrine effects, even at NOEC levels, and have been strongly identified with type 2 diabetes and breast cancer in women. Though definitive proof of these associations is still awaited, it should not be surprising if EDCs were connected with other "mysterious" illnesses in the future.

References

- WHO/IPCS 2002. Global assessment of the state-of-the-science of endocrine disruptors. WHO/PCS/EDC/02.2, www.who.int/pcs/emerg_site/edc/global_ edc_ch5.pdf
- Sonnenschein C, Soto AM. An updated review of environmental estrogen and androgen mimics and antagonists. J Steroid Mol Biol 1998; 65(1–6):143–50.
- Colborn T, Demanoski D, Myers JP. *Our stolen future*, Penguin Books, New York, 1997.
- Colborn T, von Saal FS, Soto AM. Developmental effects of endocrine disrupting chemicals in wildlife and humans. *Environ Health Perspect* 1993; 101(5):378–84.

- Soto AM, Maffini MV, Schaeberle CM, Sonnenschein C. Strengths and weaknesses of in vitro assays for estrogenic and androgenic activity. *Best Pract Res Endocr Metab* 2006; 20(1):15–33.
- 6. Borgeest C, Greenfield C, Tomic C, Flaws JA. The effects of endocrine disrupting chemicals on the ovary. *Front Biosci* 2002; 7:d1941–8.
- 7. Mueller SO. Xenoestrogens: Mechanisms of action and detection methods. *Anal Bioanal Chem* 2004; 378(3):582–7.
- 8. McLachlan JA, Simpson E, Martin M. Endocrine disrupters and female reproductive health. *Best Pract Res Clin Endocr Metab* 2006; 20(1):63–75.
- 9. Mantovani A, Maranghi F. Risk assessment of chemicals potentially affecting male fertility. *Contraception* 2005; 72(4):308–13.
- MeHH Henley DV, Korach KS. Endocrine disrupting chemicals use distinct mechanisms of action to modulate endocrine system function. *Endocrinology* 2006; 147 (6 Suppl):S25–32.
- 11. Queiroz ED, Waissmann W. Occupational exposure and effects on the male reproductive system. *Cad Saude Publica* 21006; 22(3):485–93.
- 12. Basur PK. Disrupted sex differentiation and feminization of man and domestic animals. *Environ Res* 2006; 100(1):18–38.
- 13. Pluim HJ, de Vijlder JJM, Olie K, et al. Effects of pre- and postnatal exposure to chlorinated dioxins and furans on human neonatal thyroid hormone concentrations. *Environ Health Perspect* 1993; 101(6):504–8.
- Bigsby R, Chapin RE, Daston GP, et al. Evaluating the effects of endocrine disruptors on endocrine function during development. *Environ Health Perspect* 1999; 107 (Suppl 4):613–18.
- 15. Porterfield SP. Thyroidal dysfunction and environmental chemicals potential impact on brain development. *Environ Health Perspect* 2000; 108 (Suppl 3):433–8.
- 16. Zoeller RT, Crofton KM. Thyroid hormone action in fetal brain development and potential for disruption by environmental chemicals. *Neurotoxicology* 2000; 21(6):935–46.
- 17. Howdeshell KL. A model of the development of the brain as a construct of the thyroid system. *Environ Health Perspect* 2002; 110 (Suppl 3):337–48.
- Zoeller RT, Dowling ALS, Herzin CTA. Thyroid hormone, brain development and the environment. *Environ Health Perspect* 2002; 110 (Suppl 3): 355–61.
- 19. Massart F, Massai G, Placidi G, Saggese G. Child thyroid disruption by environmental chemicals. *Minerva Pediatr* 2006; 58(1):47–53.
- 20. Turnbull AV, Rivier CL. Regulation of the hypothalamic–pituitary–adrenal axis by cytokines: Actions and mechanisms of action. *Physiol Rev* 1999; 79:1–79.
- 21. Kim Ck, Giberson PK, Yu W, et al. Effects of prenatal ethanol exposure on hypothalamic–pituitary–adrenal responses to chronic cold stress in rats. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res* 1999; 23(2):301–10.
- 22. Haddad JJ. Alcoholism and neuro–immun–endocrine interactions: Physiochemical aspects. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 2004; 323(2):361–71.
- 23. Oskam I, Ropstad E, Lie E, et al. Organochlorines affect the steroid hormone cortisol in free-ranging polar bears (Ursus maritimus) at Svalbard, Norway. *J Toxicol Environ Health* 2004; 67(12):959–77.

- 24. Sari DK, Kuwahara S, Furuya M, et al. Hypothalamo–pituitary–adrenal gland axis in mice inhaling toluene prior to low-level long-term exposure to form-aldehyde. *J Vet Med Sci* 2005; 67(3):303–9.
- 25. Hamilton KL, Harris AC, Gewirtz JC, et al. HPA axis dysregulation following prenatal opiate exposure and postnatal withdrawal. *Neurotoxicol Teratol* 2005; 27(1):95–103.
- 26. Hinson JP, Raven PW. Effects of endocrine-disrupting chemicals on adrenal function. *Best Pract Res Clin Endocr Metab* 2006; 20(1):111–20.
- 27. Scorecard. Health effects: Endocrine toxicants, www.scorecard.org/healtheffects/chemicals-2.tcl?short_hazard_name=endo&all_p=t
- 28. Falconer IR, Chapman HF, Moore MR, et al. Endocrine-disrupting compounds: A review of their challenge to sustainable and safe water supply and water reuse. *Environ Toxicol* 2006; 21(2):181–91.
- 29. Colborn T, vom Saal FS, Soto AM. Development of endocrine-disrupting chemicals in wildlife and humans. *Environ Health Perspect* 1993; 101(5):378–84.
- 30. Brotons JA, Olea-Serrano MT, Villalobos M, et al. Xenoestrogens released from lacquer coatings in food cans. *Environ Health Perspect* 1995; 103(6): 608–12.
- 31. Takeshita A, Koibuchi N, Oka J, et al. Bisphenol-A, an environmental estrogen, activates the human orphan nuclear receptor, steroid and xenobiotic receptor-mediated transcription. *Eur J Endocrinol* 2001; 145:513–17.
- 32. Howdeshell KL, Peterman PH, Judy BM, et al. Bisphenol A is released from used polycarbonate animal cages into water at room temperature. *Environ Health Perspect* 2003; 111(9):1180–7.
- Hiroi T, Okada K, Imaoka S, et al. Bispheno A binds to protein disulfide isomerase and inhibits its enzymatic and hormone-binding activities. *Endocrinology* 2006; 147(6):2773–80.
- Soto AM, Justicia H, Wray JW, Sonnenschein C. p-Nonylphenol: An estrogenic xenobiotic released from "modified" polystyrene. *Environ Health Perspect* 1991; 92:167–73.
- 35. Garritano S, Pinto B, Calderisi M, Cirillo T, et al. Estrogen-like activity of seafood related to environmental chemical contaminants. *Environ Health* 2006; 5(1):9.
- Korach KS, Sarver S, Chae K, et al. Estrogen receptor-binding activity of polychlorinated hydroxybiphenyls: Conformationally restricted structural probes. *Mol Pharmacol* 1988; 33:120–6.
- 37. Jobling S, Reynolds R, White R, et al. A variety of environmentally persistent chemicals, including some phthalate plasticizers, are weakly estrogenic. *Environ Health Perspect* 1995; 103(6):582–7.
- 38. McLachlan JA. Functional toxicology: A new approach to detect biologically active xenobiotics. *Environ Health Perspect* 1993; 101(5):386–7.
- 39. Lottrup G, Andersson AM, Leffers H, et al. Possible impact of phthalates on infant reproductive health. *Int J Androl* 2006; 29(1):172–80.
- 40. Marsee K, Woodruff TJ, Axelrod DA, et al. Estimated daily exposures in population of mothers of male infants exhibiting reduced anogenital distance. *Environ Health Perspect* 2006; 114(6):805–9.
- 41. Swan SH, Main KM, Liu R, et al. Decrease in anogenital distance among male infants with prenatal phthalate exposure. *Environ Health Perspect* 2005; 113:1056–61.

- 42. Timms BG, Howdeshell KL, Barton L, et al. Estrogenic chemicals in plastic and oral contraceptives disrupt development of the fetal mouse prostate and urethra. *PNAS* 2005; 102(19):7014–19.
- 43. Kelce WR, Stone CR, Laws SC, et al. Persistent DDT metabolite p,p'-DDE is a potent androgen receptor antagonist. *Nature* 1995; 375(6532):581–5.
- 44. Henson MC, Chedrese PJ. Endocrine disruption by cadmium, a common environmental toxicant with paradoxical effects on reproduction. *Exp Biol Med* 2004; 229(5):383–92.
- 45. Takiguchi M, Yoshihara S. New aspects of cadmium as endocrine disruptor. *Environ Sci* 2006; 13(2):107–16.
- 46. Parent AM, Teilmanm G, Juul A, et al. The timing of normal puberty and the age limits of sexual precocity: Variations around the world, secular trends, and changes after migration. *Endocr Rev* 2003; 24(5):668–93.
- 47. Baskin LS, Himes K, Colborn T. Hypospadias and endocrine disruption: Is there a connection? *Environ Health Perspect* 2001; 109(11):1175–83.
- 48. Paulozzi LJ, Erickson JD, Jackson RJ. Hypospadias trends in two US surveillance systems. *Pediatrics* 1997; 100(5):831–4.
- 49. Ren JC, Banan A, Keshavarazian A, et al. Exposure to ethanol induces oxidative damage in the pituitary gland. *Alcohol* 2005; 35(2):91–101.
- 50. Bodwell JE, Goose JA, Nomikos AP, Hamilton JW. Arsenic disruption of steroid receptor gene activation: Complex dose–response effects are shared by several steroid receptors. *Chem Res Toxicol* 2006; 19(12):1619–29.
- Davey JC, Bodwell JE, Goose JA, Hamilton JW. Arsenic as an endocrine disruptor: Effects of arsenic on estrogen receptor-mediated gene expression in vivo and in cell culture. *Toxicol Sci* 2007; 98(1):75–86.
- 52. Porterfield SP. Thyroidal dysfunction and environmental chemicals—potential impact on brain development. *Environ Health Perspect* 2000; 108 (Suppl 3): 433–8.
- 53. Haddow JE, Palomaki GE, Allen Wc, et al. Maternal thyroid deficiency during pregnancy and subsequent neuropsychological development of the child. *N Eng J Med* 1999; 341(8):549–55.
- 54. Colborn T. Neurodevelopment and endocrine disruption. *Environ Health Perspect* 2004; 112(9):944–9.
- 55. International Diabetes Federation. Diabetes prevalence, www.idf.org/home/ index.cfm?node=264
- 56. Stahlhut RW, van Wijngaartden E, Dye TD, et al. Concentrations of urinary phthalate metabolites are associated with increased waist circumference and insulin resistance in US males. *Environ Health Perspect* 2007; 115(6): 876–82.
- 57. Matsuzawa Y, Shimomura I, Kihara S, Funahashi T. Importance of adipocytokines in obesity-related diseases. *Horm Res* 2003; 60 (Suppl 3):56–9.
- 58. Matsuzawa Y. Adipocytokines and metabolic syndrome. *Semin Vasc Med* 2005; 5(1):34–9.
- 59. Guerre-Milo M. Adipose tissue hormones. J Endocrinol Invest 2002; 25(10):855-61.
- Isidori AM, Giannetta E, Gianfrilli D, et al. Effects of testosterone on sexual function in men: Results of a meta-analysis. *Clin Endocr* 2005; 63(4):381–94.

- 61. Schettler T. Human exposure to phthalates via consumer products. *Int J Androl* 2006; 29(1):134–9.
- 62. Silva MJ, Barr DB, Reidy JA. Urinary levels of seven phthalate metabolites in the U.S. population from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) 1999–2000. *Environ Health Perspect* 2004; 112(3):331–8.
- 63. Main KM, Mortensen GK, Kaleva KM, et al. Human breast milk contamination with phthalates and alterations of endogenous reproductive hormones in infants three months of age. *Environ Health Perspect* 2006; 114(2):270–6.
- 64. Rylander L, Rignell-Hydbom A, Hagmar L. A cross-sectional study of the association between persistent organochlorine pollutants and diabetes. *Environ Health* 2005; 4:28.
- 65. Lee DH, Lee IK, Song K. A strong dose–response relation between serum concentrations of persistent organic pollutants and diabetes: Results from the National Health and Examination Survey 1999–2000. *Diabetes Care* 2006; 29(7):1638–44.
- 66. Hotchkiss AK, Parks-Saldutti LG, Ostby JS, et al. A mixture of "antiandrogens": Linuron and butyl benzyl phthalate alters sexual differentiation of the male rat in a cumulative fashion. *Biol Reprod* 2004; 71(6):1852–61.
- 67. Grey LE, Jr, Wilson VS, Stoker T, et al. Adverse effects of environmental antiandrogens and androgens on reproductive development in mammals. *Int J Androl* 2006; 29(1):96–104.
- 68. Hauser R, Williams P, Altshul L, Calafat AM. Evidence of interaction between polychlorinated biphenyls and phthalates in relation to human sperm motility. *Environ Health Perspect* 2005; 113(4):425–30.
- 69. Mullerova D, Kopecky J. White adipose tissue: Storage and effector site for environmental pollutants. *Physiol Res* 2007; 56(4):375–81.
- 70. Birnbaum LS, Fenton SE. Cancer and developmental exposure to endocrine chemicals. *Environ Health Perspect* 2003; 111(4):389–94.
- Wilkins JR III, McLaughlin JA, Sinks TH, et al. Parental occupation and intracranial neoplasms of childhood: Anecdotal evidence from a unique occupational cancer cluster. *J Am Ind Med* 1991; 19:643–53.
- 72. Darbre PD, Alijarrah A, Miller WR, et al. Concentrations of parabens in human breast tumours. *J Appl Toxicol* 2004; 24(1):5–13.
- 73. Murray TJ, Maffini MV, Ucci AA, et al. Induction of mammary gland ductal hyperplasias and carcinoma in situ following fetal bisphenol A exposure. *Reprod Toxicol* 2007; 23(3):383–90.
- 74. Vandenberg LN, Maffini MV, Wadia PR, et al. Exposure to environmentally relevant doses of eh xenoestrogen bisphenol-A alters development of the fetal mouse mammary gland. *Endocrinology* 2007; 148(1):116–27.
- 75. Stowell CL, Barvian KK, Young PC, et al. A role for sulfation-desulfation in the uptake of bisphenol A into breast tumor cells. *Chem Biol* 2006; 13(8):891–7.
- 76. Kortenkamp A. Breast cancer, oestrogens and environmental pollutants: A re-evaluation from a mixture perspective. *Int J Androl* 2006; 29:193–8.
- 77. Darbre PD. Environmental oestrogens, cosmetics and breast cancer. *Best Pract Clin Endocr Metab* 2006; 20(1):121–43.
- 78. Lipworth L. Epidemiology of breast cancer. *Euro J Cancer Prev* 1995; 4(1): 7–30.

- 79. Silva E, Rajapakse N, Kortenkamp A. Something from "nothing"—eight weak estrogenic chemicals combined at concentrations below NOECs produce significant mixture effects. *Environ Sci Technol* 2002; 36(8):1751–6.
- Rajapakse N, Silva E, Kortenkamp A. Combining xenoestrogens at levels below individual no-observed-effect concentrations dramatically enhances steroid hormone action. *Environ Health Perspect* 2002; 110(9):917–21.
- 81. Harvey PW, Darbre P. Endocrine disruptors and human health: Could oestrogenic chemicals in body care cosmetics adversely affect breast cancer incidence in women? *J Appl Toxicol* 2004; 24(3):167–76.
- 82. Darbre PD. Underarm cosmetics are a cause of breast cancer. *Eur J Cancer Prev* 2001; 10(5):389–93.
- 83. Darbre PD. Underarm cosmetics and breast cancer. *J Appl Toxicol* 2003; 23(2):89–95.
- Fernandez MF, Rivas A, Olea-Serrano F, et al. Assessment of total effective xenoestrogen burden in adipose tissue and identification of chemicals responsible for the combined estrogenic effect. *Anal Bioanal Chem* 2004; 379(1): 163–70.
- Donovan M, Tiwary CM, Axelrod D, et al. Personal care products that contain estrogens or xenoestrogens may increase breast cancer risk. *Med Hypotheses* 2007; 68(4):756–66.
- 86. Rose DP, Komninou D, Stephenson GD. Obesity, adipocytokines and insulin resistance in breast cancer. *Obes Rev* 2004; 6(3):153–65.
- 87. Mukherjee S, Koner BC, Ray S, Ray A. Environmental contaminants in pathogenesis of breast cancer. *Indian J Exp Biol* 2006; 44(8):597–617.
- 88. Charles GD, Gennings C, Tornesi B, et al. Analysis of the interaction of phytoestrogens and synthetic chemicals: An in vitro/in vivo comparison. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 2007; 218(3):280–8.
- 89. Charles GD, Gennings C, Zacharewski TR, et al. Assessment of interactions of diverse ternary mixtures in an estrogen receptor-alpha reporter assay. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 2002; 180(1):11–21.
- 90. Soto AM, Chung KL, Sonnenschein C. The pesticides endosulfan, toxaphene and dieldrin have estrogenic effects on human estrogen-sensitive cells. *Environ Health Perspect* 1994; 102(4):383–3.
- 91. Kunz PY, Fent K. Estrogenic activity of UV filter mixtures. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 2006; 217(1):86–99.
- 92. Wade MG, Parent S, Finneson KW. Thyroid toxicity due to subchronic exposure to a complex mixture of 16 organochlorines, lead and cadmium. *Toxicol Sci* 2002; 67(2):207–18.
- 93. Crofton KM, Craft ES, Hedge JM, et al. Thyroid-hormone-disrupting chemicals: Evidence for dose-dependent additivity or synergism. *Environ Health Perspect* 2005; 113(11):1549–54.
- 94. Khan MA, Fenton SE, Swank AE, et al. A mixture of ammonium perchlorate and sodium chlorate enhances the pituitary–thyroid axis caused by the individual chemicals in adult male F344 rats. *Toxicol Pathol* 2005; 33(7): 776–83.
- 95. Chen PJ, Rosenfeldt EJ, Kullman SW, et al. Biological assessments of a mixture of endocrine disruptors at environmentally relevant concentrations in

water following UV/H(2)O(2) oxidation. *Sci Total Environ* 2007; 376(1–3): 18–26.

- 96. Kapoor D, Jones TH. Smoking and hormones in health and endocrine disorders. *Eur J Endocrinol* 152(4):491–9.
- 97. Windham GC, Mitchell P, Anderson M, Lasley BL. Cigarette smoking and effects on hormone function in premenopausal women. *Environ Health Perspect* 2005; 113(10):1285–90.

23.1 Introduction

Toxic infertility as used here refers to adverse effects on the reproductive systems of human males and females that result from exposure to xenobiotic single chemicals and chemical mixtures. This infertility may be because of direct toxic effects on the male or female reproductive organs and endocrine systems, or on the developing fetus such that the fetus cannot be either conceived or carried to term after conception. Developmental toxicity, the onset of adverse effects on the developing fetus or child after birth are discussed in Chapter 24.

Reproductive disorders in humans are known to be caused by more than 100 different individual chemicals and are suspected to be caused by some 200 more. Table 23.1 lists some of these compounds and their K_{ow} values.^[1] As can be seen from this table, many different types of chemicals containing far different functional groups cause reproductive disorders. These include aliphatic and aromatic hydrocarbons, glycol ethers, chlorinated hydrocarbons, pesticides, and heavy metals. Both lipophilic and hydrophilic compounds are contained in the list. Some of the chemicals are rapidly metabolized, whereas others accumulate in adipose tissue and are stored in the body for long periods of time. The mechanisms by which many of these chemicals act remain unknown.

Infertility rates in both women and men have been continually rising. It is estimated that approximately 50% of human conceptuses fail to reach term. Sperm count concentrations in men have been continually declining over the past 50 years. At the same time, increases in hypspadias, cryptochidism, and testicular cancer have further contributed to increasing male infertility. Xenoestrogens have contributed to male infertility as well as to female infertility. Spontaneous abortion rates and preterm births continue to rise, contributing further to infertility.

Xenobiotic chemicals are thought to contribute to all these causes of infertility, though the effects of chemical mixtures on infertility have only recently begun to be explored.^[2] This chapter examines the effects of chemical mixtures on female and male infertility from the perspectives of the impacts of exposures in adults as well as fetuses.

Acrylamide	-0.69	S
Acrylonitrile	-0.34	S
Aldrin	6.50	S
Aldicarb	1.13	S
Aluminum chloride	1.26	S
Arsenic	0.68	S
Benzene	2.13	K
1-Bromopropane	2.10	S
1,3-Butadiene	1.99	K
2-Butoxyethanol acetate	1.57	S
Cadmium	-0.07	Κ
Carbon disulfide	1.94	Κ
Carbon tetrachloride	2.83	S
Chlordane	6.16	S
Chloroform	1.97	S
2,4-D	2.81	S
DDT	6.91	K
Dibutyl phthalate	4.50	S
Dinitrotoluene	2.18	K
Epichlorohydrin	0.45	K
Ethanol	-0.31	S
Ethylene glycol	-1.36	S
Ethylene glycol monobutyl ether	0.83	S
Ethylene glycol monoethyl ether	0.32	K
Ethylene glycol monoethyl ether acetate	0.59	K
Ethylene oxide	-0.30	K
Formaldehyde	0.35	S
Lead	0.73	K
Methylene chloride	1.25	S
Methyl ethyl ketone	0.29	S
Methyl isocyanate	0.79	S
Methyl methacrylate	1.38	S
Toluene	2.73	S
Trichloroethylene	3.40	S
Vinyl chloride	1.62	S
Xylene	3.15	S

Table 23.1 Single Chemicals Known (K) or Suspected (S) Reproductively Toxic

23.2 Xenobiotics and Female Infertility

Xenobiotic exposures can impact female fertility in humans in several ways. Much of the published research on xenobiotic impact on female infertility has concerned itself with the effects of pesticides.^[3] The effects, however, are just as applicable to other toxicants. Interference with any of the following six processes adversely impacts fertility:

- 1. *Hormone synthesis*. All hormones vary in chemical structure. Each is made via a multistep synthesis, every step of which can be impacted by xenobiotics.
- 2. *Hormone transport.* Steroid hormones bind to carrier proteins and are transported in the blood stream to their required sites. At these sites, the hormones transfer to storage sites while they await release for use. When these carrier proteins are interfered with, the hormones are not delivered to the required sites.
- 3. *Hormone storage and release*. For a woman to be fertile, hormones must be stored and available for release at the precise time of need. Chemicals that block the storage sites or prevent their release once stored interfere with hormone availability.
- 4. *Hormone receptor recognition and binding*. Hormones convey messages to particular tissues by binding to receptors. Hormone mimics are chemicals that interfere with this process. Agonists act by binding to hormone receptor sites. Antagonists inhibit receptor binding. Both adversely impact the initiation of steps required for fertility.
- 5. *Thyroid function*. Some xenobiotics reduce the quantities of circulating thyroid hormone levels. This can result in altered hormone metabolism.
- 6. *CNS function*. The CNS is critical in the integration of behavior with hormonal activity. Some neurotoxins disturb normal behavior and the reproductive process.

Pesticides have been shown to impact every one of the six processes just listed. Since pesticide residues are ubiquitous in the human environment and food supply worldwide (see Chapter 10), fertility declines should not be surprising. An excellent review of the subject is contained in a recent article by Bretveld et al.^[3]

Though no one pesticide or chemical impacts all six processes, it is very clear that simultaneous exposures to multiple pesticides can have greater effects than those expected from exposures to single pesticides alone. For example, alachlor and atrazine are two herbicides that are applied together to corn fields in Nebraska.^[4] Alachlor binds to and activates the estrogen receptor.^[5] Atrazine interferes with hormone synthesis.^[6] In the Nebraska study cited, the two herbicides were also mixed with seven other pesticides and induced reproductive effects in reptiles far in excess of those predicted by a consideration of the individual species.^[4]

Some chemicals can have multiple effects on fertility. Alkaloids in cigarette smoke, nicotine, cotinine, and anabasine, administered alone or as a mixed aqueous extract of cigarette smoke, for example, inhibit progesterone synthesis and have a cytotoxic effect that reduces the fertilization, implantation, and embryonic viability.^[7–9]

Some chemical exposures and employment in some occupations where chemicals are used are known to impact fertility in women. These include exposures to lead, manganese, organic mercury compounds, carbon disulfide, 2-bromopropane, and welding fumes.^[10]

23.3 Smoking and Female Fertility

It has been shown that women exposed to cigarette smoke as well as those with prenatal exposures to their mothers' cigarette smoke have substantially less fecundity (the ability to produce offspring within a given period of time) than women who are not exposed to smoke and whose mothers did not smoke during pregnancy.^[11,12]

In a study with donated oocytes, it was shown that women who smoke are less fertile than those who do not and that exposure to tobacco smoke affects uterine receptiveness to embryo implantation.^[13]

Maternal smoking, even moderate smoking, increases the risk of preterm birth. A laboratory study on animals has shown that exposure to mainstream cigarette smoke at concentrations equivalent to smoking less than one pack of cigarettes per day resulted in a significant shortening of gestation as well as elevated serum estrogen levels and reduced progesterone to 17-beta-estradiol levels. Anatomical effect differences were also noted in this study.^[14]

Smoking also interferes with fertility by altering the menstrual cycle. Acting through some unknown mechanism, it was demonstrated via steroid hormone metabolites in women that tobacco smoke contributed to variable cycle lengths, with shortening of the cycle being the primary effect.^[15] These effects are consistent with lower fecundity in cigarette smokers than in nonsmokers.

The mechanisms for the effects of tobacco smoke on female fertility remain largely unknown. The transgenerational effect noted^[11] is particularly without explanation. As noted previously, there are more than 4000

single chemicals in tobacco smoke and the numbers of mixtures possible are endless.

23.4 Chemically Induced Spontaneous Abortion

It has been known for some time that there is a positive association between occupational exposures to organic solvents and solvent mixtures and spontaneous abortion (SAB).^[16] Studies carried out on three different groups of women with different employment exposures demonstrate this point.

23.4.1 Shoe Industry Employees

A high risk of SAB was reported in female Italian shoe factory employees.^[17] Shoe manufacturing requires the use of adhesives that are dissolved in mixtures of lipophilic and hydrophilic organic solvents.^[18,19] The solvents typically used (and their K_{ow} values) are

<i>n</i> -Hexane	3.90
Cyclohexane	3.44
<i>n</i> -Heptane	4.66
Methylethyl ketone	0.29
Ethyl acetate	0.73

No mechanistic explanation was offered for the observed increases in SA.

23.4.2 Semiconductor Manufacturing

Women working in semiconductor manufacturing plants that use mixtures containing ethylene glycol ethers have higher SAB rates than women who do not work in these plants.^[20,21] Semiconductor manufacturing plant workers are exposed to numerous organic solvents including lipophiles and hydrophiles.^[22] These chemicals include

Ethylene glycol monobutyl ether	0.83
Trichloroethylene	3.40
Hydrofluoric acid	0.23
Nitric acid	0.21

Methylene chloride	1.25
Toluene	2.73

The mechanistic cause for the observed increase in SAB is unknown.

23.4.3 Toluene Mixtures

Though toluene alone is not known to induce SAB, an occupational study in Finland has reported associations when pregnant women were exposed to mixtures of toluene with other organic solvents, including hydrophilic and lipophilic species.^[23] These studies point out difficulties encountered where adverse health associations are made without considering mixture effects.

23.4.4 Agricultural Mixtures

Occupational exposures to pesticides are believed to increase SAB rates. In a study on laboratory mice, the animals were exposed to a low dose mixture of herbicides, insecticides, a desiccant, and a fertilizer, a combination commonly used in upper Midwestern United States. The chemicals contained in the mixture were

Atrazine	2.61
Dicamba	2.21
Metolachlor	2.90
2,4-D	2.81
Pendimethalin	2.34
Mecoprop	3.13
Chlorpyrifos	4.96
Terbufos	4.48
Permethrin	6.50
Diquat	2.36
Ammonium nitrate	-4.39

Mixtures simulating groundwater pollution were administered to test animals. The mixture reduced development to blastocyst and mean cell number per embryo, simulating what is expected in SAB.^[24] The authors of the study conclude that these results demonstrate that agricultural mixtures can induce early development effects at concentrations assumed to be safe for human consumption.

23.4.5 Anesthetic Gases

It has been known for some time that anesthetists, other operating room personnel, dentists, and dental associates have higher rates of SAB and other adverse birth outcomes than control groups.^[25–27] The chemicals these women are exposed to include halothane, nitric oxide, methoxy flurane, and other unspecified chemicals from antiseptic solutions, propellants, and adhesive solutions.^[25] Symptoms reported by these workers include headache and nausea effects that are indicative with CNS impact. These effects are consistent with those expected from anesthesia and are indicative of the impact of neurotoxins on fertility.

23.4.6 Laboratory Workers

Pregnant women who work in chemical laboratories have higher rates of SAB than those who do not. Two studies demonstrate this point. In the first, women working in Swedish pharmaceutical chemical laboratories were found to have significantly higher rates of SAB than women working in other laboratories in the same facilities.^[28] In a second study, it was found that pregnant women who worked in pulp and paper mill laboratories had higher SAB rates than those who worked in other areas of these plants.^[29] The exposures in both studies were to organic solvents and other chemicals.

23.4.7 Environmental Tobacco Smoke Exposure

Nicotine in tobacco is metabolized to cotinine and urinary cotinine levels serve as indicators of the levels of exposure to environmental tobacco smoke (ETS), also referred to as secondhand smoke. In a Swedish study, a relationship between increased urinary cotinine level and increased risk for SAB was demonstrated.^[30] No specific chemical(s) were identified as the causative agent(s).

23.4.8 Marijuana Use

In a laboratory study on mice, a component of marijuana has been shown to cause early pregnancy failure in mice by blocking binding sites and preventing implantation of the embryo in the uterus. Tetrahydrocannabinol, the major psychoactive component of marijuana, has been shown to be the responsible agent.^[31] Marijuana, the most widely used psychoactive drug, thus presents a formidable barrier to fertility. It should be noted that smoking marijuana also exposes one to numerous other toxic compounds, as in smoking tobacco.

23.4.9 Formulated Pesticide Use

Glyphosate is a herbicide used worldwide to control unwanted plant growth. Roundup is a common herbicide product that is glyphosate based and formulated with other chemicals to facilitate its action. In a study designed to examine the toxicity of glyphosate and Roundup to human placental JEG3 cells, it was found that glyphosate is toxic to these cells and that Roundup reduces JEG3 cell viability at least twice as much as glyphosate alone. It was further found that Roundup reduces cell viability to the same extent as glyphosate alone at concentrations 10 times lower than glyphosate alone.^[32] The authors of the study conclude that the adjuvents in Roundup facilitate the absorption of glyphosate through the cell membrane and hence the greater toxic effect. This is consistent with the finding that lipophiles (such as those contained in Roundup) facilitate the absorption of hydrophiles (such as glyphosate with a K_{ow} of -4.00).

23.4.10 Water Disinfection Byproducts

As discussed in Section 8.9, disinfection of drinking water with chlorine gives rise to disinfection by products (DBPs). Several studies have shown that drinking cold tap water containing DBPs is associated with increased incidence of SAB in a dose-related manner.^[33–36] One study, for example, found that SAB was doubled in women drinking six or more glasses of cold tap water per day compared with women not drinking any tap water.^[33]

Most studies that examined the relationship between DBPs and SAB related the rates of SAB with total trihalomethanes (THMs), the principal disinfection byproducts, and the ones subject to U.S. EPA regulation.^[37] One of the studies found a relationship between elevated rates of SAB and drinking tap water with bromodichloromethane (BDCM), one of the trihalomethanes, as well as with total trihalomethane levels.^[34] That study did not, however, find an association between increased SAB and dermal exposure (showering and swimming in THM and BDCM contaminated water). This is surprising, given the propensity for THMs to absorb through the skin^[38] and suggests that the toxicity of DBPs, particularly as it pertains to SAB is complex and requires a consideration of the entire mixture and not just THMs.^[35,39] Table 23.2 contains a comprehensive list of DBPs and their K_{ow} values. The compounds include trihalomethanes, haloacetic acids, haloacetonitriles, and haloketones.

	K _{ow}
Trihalomethanes	
Chloroform	1.97
Bromodichloromethane	2.00
Chlorodibromomethane	2.16
Bromoform	2.40
Haloacetic acids	
Chloroacetic acid	0.22
Dichloroacetic acid	0.92
Trichloroacetic acid	1.33
Bromoacetic acid	0.41
Bromochloroacetic acid	0.61
Dibromoacetic acid	0.70
Haloacetonitriles	
Bromochloroacetonitrile	0.38
Dichloroacetonitrile	0.29
Haloketones	
1,1-dichloropropanone	0.20
1,1,1-trichloropropanone	1.12

Table 23.2 Disinfection Byproducts from Chlorination of DrinkingWater and Their K_{ow} Values

As seen from the data, water disinfected with chlorine can have a complex mixture of lipophiles and hydrophiles. The lipophilic THMs can facilitate the absorption of the hydrophilic haloacetic acids, haloacetonitriles and haloketones. An analogy between the reproductive toxicity and carcinogenicity of DBPs can be drawn. Though no single chlorinated byproduct studied appears to be carcinogenic, there is evidence from animal studies that DBP mixtures are carcinogenic.^[40]

23.5 Xenobiotics and Male Infertility

There has been a significant increase in male infertility over the past three-quarters of the century. This time frame corresponds to one where dramatic increases in the use of pesticides and other synthetic chemicals have occurred. Many different chemicals have been associated with male infertility including pesticides, heavy metals, dioxins, PCBs, phthalates, and others. Male fertility depends upon normal development during the fetal period extending through childhood growth and puberty. Xenobiotic exposures after puberty can also affect fertility.

Male infertility manifests in several ways. These include sex organ malformation, reduced sperm count, reduced level of seminal fluid, decreased libido, and testicular cancer. Discussions of these conditions, all of which have been attributed to xenobiotic influences (primarily by endocrine disruptors^[41]), follow.

23.5.1 Genital Malformations

Genital malformations are the most common birth defects in man.^[42] Hypospadias is the result of arrested development of the urethra, foreskin, and ventral surface of the penis where the urethral opening may be anywhere along the shaft, within the scrotum or in the perineum.^[43] Cryptorchidism is the failure of one or both testes to descend into the scrotum. The incidence of both conditions has increased dramatically in recent years and has been associated with *in utero* exposures to endocrine disrupting chemicals.^[43–46] Mixtures of pesticides and other estrogenic and antian-drogenic xenobiotics have been causally related to both conditions^[44,46] and maternal consumption of ethanol during pregnancy has been shown to increase the risk of cryptorchidism.^[47]

23.5.2 Impaired Spermatogenesis

It is estimated that 6% of reproductive age men are infertile and that 90% of those are related to impaired spermatogenesis.^[48] It is believed that impaired spermatogenesis is related to prenatal and neonatal exposures to endocrine disrupting chemicals.^[49,50]

23.5.3 Decreasing Semen Quality

Sperm counts in men have declined by about 50% during the time period 1940–90, from an average of 113 million per milliliter of semen in 1940 to an average of 66 million in 1990. During the same time frame there has been a decrease in seminal volume from 3.40 to 2.75 ml.^[51] The reasons for the observed decline in semen quality are exposures to pesticide mixtures^[52] and other xenobiotic endocrine disruptors,^[53] maternal consumption of beef-containing anabolic steroids^[54] and other xenobiotics, and tobacco smoking.^[55]

23.5.4 Testicular Cancer

The incidence of testicular cancer rose sharply in the twentieth century.^[48] Because testicular cancer occurs predominantly in younger men (aged 15–19), this increase has contributed to overall male infertility. The steep increase in testicular cancer has been associated with *in utero* exposures to endocrine disruptors.^[56,57]

23.6 Chemicals Affecting Male Infertility

As discussed earlier, male infertility has been associated with exposures to xenobiotic chemicals. Though affects have been reported for single chemicals, most are based on laboratory testing on animals, since most environmental exposures to humans come from mixtures. Some data, however, has been collected from infertility induced by industrial and environmental exposures. Table 23.3 contains a partial list of chemicals associated with male infertility.^[48,58–66] These chemicals include pesticides, heavy metals, and industrial chemicals.

23.7 Effects of Chemical Mixtures on Male Fertility

Exposures to the chemicals listed in Table 23.3 are rarely to single chemicals. Regretfully, few studies have been carried out on the effects of mixture exposure and male infertility. Those that have addressed this subject have shown that unanticipated effects are indeed encountered. The following illustrate this point.

23.7.1 Organic Solvent Mixtures

Several studies have linked paternal exposure to organic solvents with infertility.^[67–71] Two of these studies related increased infertility with exposures to mixtures of aromatic solvents (benzene, toluene, ethyl benzene, and toluene).^[72,73] One study reported significantly decreased implantation rates after in vitro fertilization following paternal exposure to unspecified organic solvents.^[74]

A case control study of the effects of occupational exposures on male infertility found that a mixture of styrene ($K_{ow} = 2.95$) and acetone ($K_{ow} = -0.24$) affects the male genital system and leads to impotence,

1,2-dibromo-3-chloropropane
Carbaryl
Chlordane
Difocal
Dieldrin
DDE
DDE
Endosulfan
Kepone
Lindane
Malathion
Methoxychlor
Mirex
Pentachloro phenol
Toxaphene
Heavy metals
Aluminum
Arsenic
Boron
Cadmium
Chromium
Copper
Lead
Manganese
Mercury
Industrial and Environmental Chamicals
A romatic hydrocarbons
1.2 Dibromo (1.2 dibromoothyl) gyalahayana
2 Bromonropano
Carbon disulfide
Chloroprene
Dioving
2-Ethoxy ethanol
Ethylene dibromide
Methyl chloride
Ozone
PCBs
Dhthalatas
Styrene
Trichloroethylene
Vinyl chlorida

Table 23.3 Endocrine Disrupting Chemicals Associated with Male Infertility Pesticides

infertility, and increased spontaneous abortions in their wives.^[75] Similar effects were reported following workplace exposures to pesticides, heavy metals, and other chemicals. No mechanism(s) for the actions of these chemicals was reported.

23.7.2 Pesticide Mixture

In a study of men living in an agricultural setting, it was shown that higher exposures to mixtures of organophosphorus and pyrethroid insecticides resulted in lower sperm concentrations.^[76] Pyrethroid insecticides are known to enhance the toxic effects of organophosphorus insecticides and apparently also enhance male infertility.

23.7.3 Mild Steel Welding Fumes

The composition of mild steel by percentage is as follows:

Carbon	0.03-1.25
Iron	80–90
Manganese	0.2 - 16
Phosphorus	Max 0.05
Sulfur	Max 0.05
Silicon	0-0.5

Fumes from welding mild steel can be reasonably expected to include vapors and particulates of the above list as well as carbon monoxide, carbon dioxide, fluorides, oxides of nitrogen, and ozone.^[77] Welders of mild steel, but not stainless steel, have been found to have reduced semen quality and decreased fecundity compared with nonwelders.^[78] Welders are exposed to complex chemical mixtures that act via an unknown mechanism. It is interesting to note that one might have expected stainless steel welders to have a more adverse reaction because of the presence of chromium, which is an endocrine disrupting chemical, but, however, this is not the case.

23.7.4 Tobacco Smoke

It has been shown that nonsmokers produce about 50% more sperm than smokers and that sperm concentrations are 37% higher in nonsmokers than in smokers.^[79,80]

Cigarette smoking is also a strong risk factor for erectile dysfunction (ED). In one study on the effect of smoking on erectile dysfunction, it was shown that 1 year after ceasing smoking, 25% of those suffering from ED noted improved status, whereas 6.7% of those who continued to smoke for another year noted a decline in ED.^[81] As was noted earlier, smoking also impacts female fertility (as well as a host of other health issues).

23.7.5 PCBs and Phthalate Interaction

PCBs and phthalates are endocrine disrupting chemicals that adversely impact male fertility, especially sperm motility. In a sperm motility study, exposure to a mixture of PCB-153 and monobenzyl phthalate or monobutyl phthalate produced greater than expected negative impacts. The authors of the study hypothesize that the mechanism is through interactions between PCB metabolites and enzymes responsible for phthalate metabolism.^[82] PCBs accumulate in body adipose tissue and metabolize slowly. Phthalates metabolize rapidly and are not known to accumulate in body tissues. Accordingly, it is more than likely that exposures to phthalates long after exposures to PCBs can produce enhanced negative sperm motility effects in men and dramatically reduce their fertility.

23.7.6 Diesel Exhausts

Diesel exhaust particle extracts were found to exert an antiandrogenic effect on human prostate carcinoma PCR/AR cells in vitro. A similar effect was observed when equimolar mixtures of 10 PAHs each having four or more rings (structures found in PAHs) at concentrations equivalent to those in the diesel exhaust particle extract were administered.^[83] These experiments demonstrate the antiandrogenic effect of high molecular weight PAHs and strongly suggest a role for diesel exhaust, a common air pollutant, particularly in urban environments, in male infertility.

23.7.7 Acrylates

Several years ago, while visiting a plastics and adhesive complex in the Far East, a worker confided in me that male colleagues of his working with acrylics were less fecund than those in the complex who did not work with acrylics and that when they did succeed in impregnating their wives, 80% of the children born were female. Acrylic polymers are not known to be antiandrogenic, but some of their plasticizers (such as bisphenol A and

bisphenol A dimethacrylate) are xenoestrogens.^[84] A check of the literature then and to date does not reveal any reference to male infertility in acrylic workers. It is also unknown what other chemicals the affected workers may have been exposed to. The effect anecdotally reported to me remains a mystery. It should be noted, however, that paternal exposures to some chemicals are known to reduce the male:female ratios in offspring. For example, it has been shown that paternal exposure to dibromochloropropane during its production reduced the number of male offspring from 52.9% before exposure to dibromochloropropane to 35.2% after exposure to this chemical.^[85]

23.8 Testicular Dysgenesis Syndrome

The recently proposed testicular dysgenesis syndrome (TDS) hypothesizes that four maladies—hypospadias, cryptorchidism, impaired spermatogenesis, and testicular cancer—are all manifestations of disturbed prenatal testicular development.^[86,87] TDS is believed to be connected to genetic and environmental factors, though this has not yet been demonstrated. All four conditions noted have been independently related to endocrine disrupting chemicals, and hence the association in TDS, which the authors of the most recent article on the subject conclude may be clinically manifest by a reduced sperm concentration.^[87]

23.9 Summary

Human infertility can result from the action of xenobiotic chemicals on the female reproductive system, the male reproductive system, attack on the fetus, and the induction of effects in utero that are manifest during adulthood, giving rise to a programmed infertility. Spontaneous abortion can ensue when pregnant women are exposed to toxic chemicals such as those in disinfection byproducts produced by the chlorination of drinking water.

Infertility in both women and men has increased dramatically during the latter half of the twentieth century, a time that saw a dramatic increase in the use of pesticides, plasticizers, and other endocrine disrupting synthetic chemicals.

Many single chemicals have been identified as endocrine disruptors, but little is known about the endocrine disrupting effects of chemical mixtures. What little is known suggests that the effects of mixtures are greater than anticipated from the known toxicology of the mixture components. Infertility is increased by one of the most common mixtures to which humans are exposed: tobacco smoke.

References

- 1. Scorecard. Reproductive toxicants, www.scorecard.org/health-effects/ chemicals.tcl?short_hazard_name=repro&all_p=t
- 2. United States Environmental Protection Agency. Guidelines for reproductive risk assessment, Federal Register 61(212):56274-56322, EPA/630/R-96/009, Washington, DC, October 1996.
- 3. Bretveld RW, Thomas CMG, Scheepers PTJ, et al. Pesticide exposure: The hormonal function of the female reproductive system. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol* 2006; 4:30–4.
- 4. Hayes TB, Case P, Chui S, et al. Pesticide mixtures, endocrine disruption and amphibian declines: Are we understanding the impact? *Environ Health Perspect* 2006; 114 (Suppl 1):40–50.
- 5. Klotz DM, Beckman BS, Hill SM, et al. Identification of environmental chemicals with estrogenic activity using a combination of in vitro assays. *Environ Health Perspect* 1996; 104(10):1084–9.
- Sanderson JT, Seinen W, Glesy JP, et al. 2-Chloro-s-triazine herbicides induce aromatase (CPY19) activity in H295R human adrencortical carcinoma cells: A novel mechanism for estrogenicity? *Toxicol Sci* 2000; 54(1):121–7.
- Gocze PM, Porpaczy Z, Freeman DA. Effect of alkaloids in cigarette smoke on human granulose cell progesterone synthesis and cell viability. *Gynecol Endocrinol* 1996; 10(4):223–8.
- Gocze PM, Freeman DA. Cytotoxic effects of cigarette smoke alkaloids inhibit the progesterone production and cell growth of cultured MA-10 Leydig tumor cells. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* 2000; 93(1):77–83.
- 9. Chen C, Wang X, Wang L, et al. Effect of environmental tobacco smoke on levels of urinary hormone markers. *Environ Health Perspect* 2005; 113(4):412–17.
- 10. Winker R, Rudiger HW. Reproductive toxicology in occupational settings: An update. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health* 2006; 79(1):1–10.
- 11. Weinberg CR, Wilcox AJ, Baird DD. Reduced fecundability in women with prenatal exposure to cigarette smoking. *Am J Epidemiol* 1989; 129(5):1072–8.
- 12. Jensen TK, Henriksen TB, Hjollund NH, et al. Adult and prenatal exposure to tobacco smoke as risk indicators of fertility among 430 Danish couples. *Am J Epidemiol* 1998; 148(10):992–7.
- 13. Soares SR, Simon C, Remohi J, Pellicer A. Cigarette smoking affects uterine receptiveness. *Hum Reprod* 2007; 22(2):643–7.
- 14. Ng SP, Steinetz BG, Lasano SG, Zelikoff JT. Hormonal changes accompanying cigarette smoke-induced preterm births in a mouse model. *Exp Biol Med* 2006; 231(8):1403–9.
- 15. Windham GC, Elkin EP, Swan SH, et al. Cigarette smoking and effects on menstrual cycle. *Obstet Gynecol* 1999; 93(1):59–65.

23: TOXIC INFERTILITY

- Lindbohm ML, Taskinen H, Sallmen M, Hemminki K. Spontaneous abortion among women exposed to organic solvents. *Am J Ind Med* 1990; 17(4):449–63.
- 17. Agnesi R, Valentini F, Mastrangelo G. Risk of spontaneous abortion and maternal exposure to organic solvents in the shoe industry. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health* 1997; 69(5):311–16.
- Mutti A, Cavartorta A, Lommi G, et al. Neurophysiological effects of longterm exposure to hydrocarbon mixtures. *Arch Toxicol* 1982; (Suppl 5):120–4.
- 19. Valentini F, Agnesi R, Dal Vecchio L, et al. Does n-heptane cause peripheral neuropathy? A case report in a shoemaker. *Occup Med* 1994; 44:102–4.
- 20. Swan SH, Beaumont JJ, Hammond SK, et al. Historical cohort study of spontaneous abortion among fabrication workers in the Semiconductor Health Study: Agent-level analysis. *Am J Ind Med* 1995; 28(6):751–69.
- 21. Correa A, Gray RH, Cohen R, et al. Ethylene glycol ethers and risks of spontaneous abortion and subfertility. *Am J Epidemiol* 1996; 143(7):707–17.
- Wilkins JR III, McLaughlin JA, Sinks TH, Kosnik EJ. Parental occupation and intracranial neoplasms of childhood: Anecdotal evidence from a unique occupational cancer cluster. *Am J Ind Med* 1991; 19:643–53.
- 23. Bukowski JA. Review of epidemiological evidence relating toluene to reproductive outcomes. *Regul Toxicol Pharmacol* 2001; 33(2):147–56.
- 24. Greenlee AR, Ellis TM, Berg RL. Low-dose agrochemicals and lawn-care pesticides induce developmental toxicity in murine preimplantation embryos. *Environ Health Perspect* 2004; 112(6):703–9.
- 25. Cohen EN, Bellville JW, Brown BW, Jr. Anesthesia, pregnancy and miscarriage. *Anesthesiology* 1971; 35(4):343–7.
- 26. Ad Hoc Committee of the Effect of Trace Anesthetics. Occupational disease among operating room personnel. *Anesthesiology* 1974; 41(4):321–34.
- 27. Axelsson G, Rylander R. Exposure to anaesthetic gases and spontaneous abortion: Response bias in a post questionnaire study. *Int J Epidemiol* 1982; 11(3):250–6.
- Hansson E, Jansa S, Wande H, et al. Pregnancy outcomes for women working in laboratories in some of the pharmaceutical industries in Sweden. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 1980; 6:131–4.
- 29. Blomqvist U, Ericson A, Kallen B, et al. Delivery outcome for women working in the pulp and paper industry. *Scand J Environ Health* 1981; 7:114–18.
- 30. George L, Granath F, Johansson ALV. Environmental tobacco smoke and risk of spontaneous abortion. *Epidemiology* 2006; 17(5):500–5.
- 31. Wang H, Xie H, Guo Y, et al. Fatty acid hydrolase deficiency limits early pregnancy events. *J Clin Invest* 2006; 116(8):2122–31.
- 32. Richard S, Moslemi S, Sipahutar H, et al. Differential effects of glyphosate and roundup on human placental cells and aromatase. *Environ Health Perspect* 2005; 113(6):716–20.
- Swan SH, Waller K, Hopkins B, et al. A prospective study of spontaneous abortion: Relation to amount and source of drinking water consumed in early pregnancy. *Epidemiology* 1998; 9(2):126–33.
- 34. Waller K, Swan SH, DeLorenze G, Hopkins B. Trihalomethanes in drinking water and spontaneous abortion. *Epidemiology* 1998; 9(2):134–40.
- Nieuwenhuijsen MJ, Toledano MB, Eaton NE, et al. Chlorination disinfection byproducts in water and their association with adverse reproductive outcomes: A review Occup Environ Med 2000; 57:73–85.

- 36. Bove F, Shim Y, Zeitz P. Drinking water contaminants and adverse pregnancy outcomes: A review. *Environ Health Perspect* 2002; 110 (Suppl 1):61–74.
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. National primary drinking water regulations: Disinfectants and disinfection byproducts. *Fed Reg* 63(241): 69389–476.
- Xu X, Mariano TM, Laskin JD, Weisel CP. Percutaneous absorption of trihalomethanes, haloacetic acids and haloketones. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 2002; 184:19–26.
- 39. Zeliger HI. Toxic effects of chemical mixtures. *Arch Environ Health* 2003; 58(1):23–9.
- 40. Mills, CJ, Cantor RJ, Reif J, et al. Health risks of drinking water chlorination byproducts: Report of an expert working group. *CDIC* 1998; 19(3):1–17.
- 41. Colborn T Dumanoski D, Myers JP. *Our stolen future*, Penguin Books, New York, 1996.
- 42. Basrur PK. Disrupted differentiation and feminization of man and domestic animals. *Environ Res* 2005; 100(1):18–38.
- 43. Baskin LS, Himes K, Colborn T. Hypospadias and endocrine disruption: Is there a connection? *Environ Health Perspect* 2001; 109(11):1175–83.
- 44. Paulozzi LJ, Erickson JD, Jackson RJ. Hypospadias trends in two U.S. surveillance systems. *Pediatrics* 1997; 100(5):831–4.
- Toppari J, Virtanen H, Skakkebaek NE, Main KM. Environmental effects on hormonal regulation of testicular descent. *J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol* 2006; 102(1–5):184–6.
- 46. Damgaard IN, Skakkebaek NE, Toppari J, et al. Persistent pesticides in human breast milk and cryptorchidism. *Environ Health Perspect* 2006; 114(7): 1133–8.
- 47. Damgaard IN, Jensen TK, Petersen JH, et al. Cryptorchidism and maternal alcohol consumption during pregnancy. *Environ Health Perspect* 2007; 115(2):272–7.
- 48. Kaltenecker E, de Queiroz R, Waissmann W. Occupational exposure and effects on the male reproductive system. *Cad Saude Publica, Rio de Janeiro* 2006; 22(3):485–93.
- 49. Mantovani A, Maranghi F. Risk assessment of chemicals potentially affecting male fertility. *Contraception* 2005; 72(4):308–13.
- 50. Kuwada M, Kawashima R, Nakamura K, et al. Study of neonatal exposure to androgenic endocrine disruptors, testosterone and dihydrotestosterone by normal-phase HPLC. *Biomed Chromatogr* 2006; 20(11):1237–41.
- 51. Carlsen E, Giwercmen A, Keiding N, et al. Evidence for decreasing quality of semen during the past 50 years. *BMJ* 1992; 305:609–13.
- 52. Perry MJ, Venners SA, Barr DB, Xu X. Environmental pyrethroid and organophosphorus insecticide exposures and sperm concentration. *Reprod Toxicol* 2007; 23(1):113–18.
- 53. Sharpe RM, Skakkebaek NE. Are oestrogens involved in falling sperm counts and disorders of the male reproductive tract? *Lancet* 1993; 341(8857): 1392–5.
- 54. Swan SH, Liu F, Overstreet JW, et al. Semen quality of fertile US males in relation to their mothers' beef consumption during pregnancy. *Hum Reprod* 2007; 22(6):1497–1502.

- 55. Ramlau-Hansen CH, Thulstrup AM, Aggerholm AS, et al. Is smoking a risk factor for decreased semen quality? A cross-sectional analysis. *Hum Reprod* 2007; 22(1):188–96.
- 56. Oliver RT. Testicular cancer. Curr Opin Oncol 1996; 8(3):252-8.
- 57. Paduch DA. Testicular cancer and male infertility. *Curr Opin Urol* 2006; 16(6):419–27.
- 58. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Recognition and management of pesticide poisonings, 4th ed. EPA-540/9-88-001, Washington, DC, March 1989.
- Easton M, Schencker M, Whorton MD, et al. Seven-year follow-up of workers exposed to 1,2-dibromo-3-chloropropane. J Occup Med 1986; 28(11):1145–50.
- 60. Kelce WR, Stone CR, Laws SC, et al. Persistent DDT metabolite p,p'-DDE is a potent androgen receptor antagonist. *Nature* 1995; 375(6532):581–5.
- 61. Hauser R, Meeker JD, Singh NP, et al. DNA damage in human sperm is related to urinary levels of phthalate monoester and oxidative metabolites. *Hum Reprod* 2007; 22(3):688–95.
- 62. Hauser R, Meeker JD, Duty S, et al. Altered semen quality in relation to urinary concentrations of phthalate monoester and oxidative metabolites. *Epidemiology* 2006; 17(6):682–91.
- 63. Duty SM, Singh NP, Silva MJ, et al. The relationship between environmental exposures to phthalates and DNA damage in human sperm using the neutral comet assay. *Environ Health Perspect* 2003; 111(9):1164–9.
- 64. Larsson A, Erickson LA, Andersson PL, et al. Identification of the flame retardant 1,2-dibromo-4-(1,2-dibromoethyl)cyclohexane as an androgen agonist. *J Med Chem* 2006; 49(25):7366–72.
- 65. Marsee K, Woodruff TJ, Axelrod DA, et al. Estimated daily phthalate exposures in a population of mothers and male infants exhibiting reduced anogenital distance. *Environ Health Perspect* 2006; 114(6):805–9.
- 66. Kumar S. Occupational exposure associated with reproductive dysfunction. *J Occup Health* 2004; 46:1–19.
- 67. Sonnenschein C, Soto AM. An updated review of environmental estrogen and androgen mimics and antagonists. *J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol* 1998; 65(1–6):143–50.
- 68. Lamb JC, Hentz KL. Toxicological review of male reproductive effects and trichloroethylene exposure: Assessing the relevance to human male reproductive health. *Reprod Toxicol* 2006; 22(4):557–63.
- 69. Sokol Rx, Kraft P, Fowler IM, et al. Exposure to environmental ozone alters semen quality. *Environ Health Perspect* 2006; 114(3):360–5.
- 70. Baranski B. Effects of the workplace on fertility and related reproductive outcomes. *Environ Health Perspect* 1993; 101 (Suppl 2):81–90.
- 71. Schrag SD, Dixon RL. Occupational exposures associated with male reproductive dysfunction. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol* 1985; 25:567–92.
- 72. Tielemans E, Burdorf E, te Velde ER, et al. Occupationally related exposures and reduced semen quality: A case-control study. *Fertil Steril* 1999; 71(4):690–6.
- De Celis R, Feria-Velasco A, Gonzalez-Unzaga M, et al. Semen quality of workers occupationally exposed to hydrocarbons. *Fertil Steril* 2000; 73(2): 221–8.

- 74. Tielemans E, van Kooij R, Looman C, et al. Paternal occupational exposures and embryo implantation rates after IVF. *Fertil Steril* 2000; 74(4):690–5.
- 75. Baranski B. Effects of workplace on fertility and related reproductive outcomes. *Environ Health Perspect* 1993; 101 (Suppl 2):81–90.
- Perry MJ, Venners SA, Barr DB, Xu X. Environmental pyrethroid and organophosphorus insecticide exposures and sperm concentration. *Reprod Toxicol* 2007; 23(1):113–18.
- 77. American Welding Society. Safety in welding, cutting and allied processes. *ANSI* Z49.1:1999, Miami, FL, 1999.
- 78. Bonde JP. The risk of male subfecundity attributable to welding of metals. Studies on semen quality, infertility, fertility, adverse pregnancy outcome and childhood malignancy. *Int J Androl* 1993; 16 (Suppl 1):1–29.
- 79. Saaranen M, Suonio S, Kauhanen O, Saarikoski S. Cigarette smoking and semen quality in men of reproductive age. *Andrologia* 1987; 19(6):670–6.
- Richthoff J, Elzanaty S, Rylander L, et al. Association between tobacco exposure and reproductive parameters in adolescent males. *Int J Androl* 2008; 31(1):31–39.
- Kupelian V, Lindk CL, McKinlay JB. Association between passive smoking and erectile dysfunction: Results from the Boston area community health (BACH) survey. *Eur Urol* 2007; 52(2):416–22.
- 82. Hauser R, Williams P, Altschul L, Calafat AM. Evidence of interaction between polychlorinated biphenyls and phthalates in relation to human sperm motility. *Environ Health Perspect* 2005; 113(4):425–30.
- Kizu R, Okamura K, Toriba A, et al. Antiandrogenic activities of diesel exhaust particle extracts in PC3/AR human prostate carcinoma cells. *Toxicol Sci* 2003; 76(2):299–309.
- Mlynarcikova A, Kolena J, Fickova M, Scsukova S. Alterations in steroid hormone production by porcine ovarian granulose cells caused by bisphenol A and bisphenol A dimethacrylate. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* 2005; 244(1–2): 57–62.
- 85. Potashnik G, Goldsmith J, Insler V. Diborochloropropane-induced reduction of the sex ratio in man. *Andrologia* 1984; 16(3):213–18.
- 86. Skakkebaek NE. Endocrine disruptors and testicular dysgenesis syndrome. *Horm Res* 2002; 57 (Suppl 2):43.
- 87. Bay K, Asklund C, Skakkebaek NE, Andersson AM. Testicular dysgenesis syndrome: Possible role of endocrine disruptors. *Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab* 2006; 20(1):77–90.

24.1 Introduction

Teratogenic effects are those that cause malformations in the developing fetus and children. They can be genetically dictated by environmental effects, or be multifactorial (combinations of the two). Environmentally induced teratogenicity can be caused by single chemical agents or mixtures of chemicals. Developmental toxins are those substances that can produce teratogenic effects during fetal and childhood development. Such effects include structural abnormalities, functional abnormalities, early birth, low birth weight, growth retardation, or death.^[1]

Most major structural malformations in the human fetus that are triggered by xenobiotics are initiated during the embryonic period of development, which ranges from the third to the eighth week of gestation. Birth defects, however, are not limited to exposures during this 5-week period. Teratogenic effects ensue when exposures occur during critical developmental events, key developmental steps that are completed by a particular developmental stage. Examples of critical developmental events include neural tube closing and separation of the heart into separate chambers. The urogenital system is an example of a late developing system in the human embryo (occurring after 5-8 weeks of gestation). Though most teratogenic effects are believed to occur in the first trimester of pregnancy, it is well established that developmental toxicity extends from conception through adolescence.^[2] Fetuses and young children (those under 1 year of age) develop more rapidly than at any other time of life. This rapid development makes them particularly vulnerable to the actions of teratogenic chemicals. Air pollutants, for example, can lead to different degrees of exposure and hence to greater respiratory injuries in young children than in adults because children inhale greater quantities of air per unit surface area than adults.^[3] There are also significant differences in pharmacokinetics between children and adults and even between children of different ages, with children metabolizing xenobiotics at rates that are significantly greater than the rates for adults.^[4]

Specific teratogens do not affect all individuals. For example, fewer than 20% of all infants exposed to thalidomide were adversely affected. It is commonly believed that some individuals have a genetic predisposition to be affected by certain teratogens.^[2]

Teratogens are dose sensitive. Embryotoxicity is believed to be dependent upon multicellular injury, and there is a threshold dose below which there is no risk. Thalidomide provides an example. Human embryos are affected when a dose of 50 mg is taken by a pregnant woman during the susceptible period. A dose of 0.5 mg administered in the same critical period results in no observable effect.^[2]

Five specific mechanisms have been identified as those that disturb proper development. These include interaction with hormone receptors, covalent bonding to DNA, degradation of cell membranes or proteins, enzyme inhibition, and protein modification by interference with sulfhydryl groups.^[2] It is important to note that teratogens with widely differing functional groups and reactivities can produce identical developmental effects. It is also noteworthy that mixtures of teratogens can simultaneously disturb more than one developmental mechanism and induce effects not expected from the actions of the mixture components.

Low birth weight, premature birth, behavioral and learning disorders, infertility, and structural birth defects are teratogenic effects with environmental triggers. Behavioral and learning disorders were discussed in Chapters 19–21 and infertility was addressed in Chapter 23. These are covered only briefly in this chapter. This chapter describes and references the known effects of single chemical teratogens, but its emphasis is on the teratogenic effects of chemical mixtures.

24.2 Single Chemical Teratogens

Numerous single chemicals have been identified as known or suspected developmental toxins.^[1,5] Some of these chemicals, including pesticides, heavy metals, pharmaceuticals, and industrial chemicals, are listed in Table 24.1.

24.3 Paternally Transmitted Teratogenic Effects

Teratogenic effects can result from paternal as well as maternal exposures to toxic chemicals.^[6,7] Table 24.2 lists paternal occupations that have been associated with birth defects in offspring.^[7]

All these occupations have exposures to chemical mixtures associated with them. For most, the specific causative agents are unknown. Examples of paternal exposures leading to teratogenic effects are given in Section 24.5.

	1,2-Dibromoethane
ĺ	2,4Ddinitrotoluene
	2,6-Dinitrotoluene
ĺ	2-Ethoxyethanol
	2-Methoxyethanol
ĺ	Arsenic
	Benomyl
ĺ	Benzene
ĺ	Bromomethane
ĺ	Bromooxynil
ĺ	Bromooxynil octanoate
ĺ	Cadmium
ĺ	Carbon disulfide
ĺ	Chlorosulfuron
ĺ	Cyanazine
	Cycloate
ĺ	Cyclohexanol
	DDT
	Disinfection byproducts
	Trihalomethanes
	Haloacetic acids
	Haloketones
	Haloacetonitriles
	Dinitrobenzene (ortho, meta, and para)
	Dinitrobutyl phenol
	Dinocap
	Disodium cyanodithioimidocarbonate
	Endrin
	Epichlorohydrin
	Ethanol
	Ethyl dipropylthiocarbamate
	Ethylene glycol monomethyl ether
	Ethylene oxide
	Ethylene thiourea
	Fluorouracil
	Halothane
	Heptachlor
	Hexachlorobenzene
	Hydramethylnon
	Linuron
	Lithium carbonate

(Continued)

	_
Metham sodium	
Methanol	
Methyl mercury	
Myclobutanil	
Nabam	
Nicotine	
Nitrapyrin	
PCBs	
Phenol	
Phenytoin	
Potassium dimethyldithiocarbamate	
Propargite	
Sodium dimethyldithiocarbamate	
Tetracycline hydrochloride	
Tetraethyl lead	
Thalidomide	
Thiophanate-methyl	
Toluene	
Triadimefon	
Trichloroethylene	
Triethylene glycol	
Urethane	
Vinclozolin	
Xylene	

 Table 24.1 Known or Suspected Developmental Toxins^[1,3] (Continued)

Table 24.2 Paternal Occupations Associated with Birth Defects in Offspring^[7]

Anesthetic gas use or proximity to its use
Automobile manufacturer
Carpenter
Electrical worker
Electronic equipment operator
Farm worker or manager
Fire fighter
Food processor
Forestry and logging worker
Janitor
Jewelry maker
Material moving equipment operator

(Continued)

Table 24.2 Paternal Occupations Associated with Birth Defects in
Offspring $^{[7]}(Continued)$

24.4 Transgenerational Teratogenic Effects

It has been recently established that paternal exposures to teratogenic effects can be transgenerationally transmitted. The following example illustrates this effect.

Embryonic exposure to vinclozolin, an antiandrogenic endocrine disruptor, has been shown to promote prostate disease, kidney disease, immune system abnormalities, testicular abnormalities, breast and other tumor development, and a number of blood abnormalities in the F1–F4 generations of laboratory animals.^[8,9] The effects observed were noted in the adults of the four ensuing generations that followed the exposure.

24.5 Teratogenic Mixtures

It has long been known that certain maternal occupational chemical exposures during pregnancy are associated with increased risks of congenital malformations in their offspring. In many instances, single chemicals have been identified as the causative agents. In other studies, the effects noted can only be attributed to unexpected impacts of chemical mixtures. The following studies are illustrative of the unexpected mixture effects.

24.5.1 Organic Solvents

Some single organic solvents, for example, toluene, xylene, and ethanol, are known teratogens. Regretfully, many of the studies in the literature lump all organic solvent exposures together and fail to identify the specific

compounds and their exposure levels. It is accordingly difficult to draw meaningful conclusions about the teratogenic effects of both single compounds and mixtures. Several studies have drawn teratogenic conclusions, yet fail to identify specific compounds. Two investigations have shown that pregnant mothers who are exposed to unspecified organic solvents at work are more likely than those who are not so exposed to bear children with oral cleft and other congenital malformations.^[10,11] Another study found CNS defects in the offspring of women exposed to unspecified organic solvents during pregnancy.^[12]

One study that overcomes some of the shortcomings of those just cited reported adverse neurodevelopment outcomes following maternal exposures to 19 organic solvents and mixtures of these.^[13] In this study, the women were occupationally exposed to the chemicals listed in Table 24.3. Also included in this table are the K_{ow} values and whether or not the specific chemical is a known teratogen or a known endocrine disruptor.^[5] It is interesting to note that only three of the chemicals in the study—ethanol, trichloroethylene, and mineral spirits (a mixture of hydrocarbon solvents)—are endocrine disruptors. This shows that teratogenic effects can be induced by chemicals and mixtures that are independent of the endocrine system.

The authors of this study acknowledge that associating specific chemicals with teratological effects is difficult since many of the exposures reported were to mixtures of chemicals used simultaneously. From the occupations of the women included in the study, however, it is possible to approximate, if not accurately identify, the chemicals of exposure. Their occupations included laboratory technician, painter, science teacher, embalmer, hair stylist, chemical technologist, industrial laundry worker, conservator, carpenter, and salon receptionist. It is safe to say that employment in the areas just noted would almost always expose an individual to mixtures of lipophilic and hydrophilic chemicals. The levels of exposures to the individual chemicals were unavailable and not reported. However, since the study was carried out in Canada, a country with strict toxic exposure regulations, and reported in 2004, a time when permitted exposure levels for toxic chemicals were low, it is safe to say that levels of exposure in these industrial settings were such that allowable levels were generally not exceeded and that the effects reported must be attributed to mixtures (which produce adverse effects at lower concentrations than single chemicals) and not single chemicals.

Paternal occupational exposure to organic solvents can also produce teratogenic effects. Painters, automobile body shop workers, printers, and fiberglass workers have all been shown to father children with low birth

Chemical	K _{ow}	Known Teratogen	Known Endocrine Disruptor
Toluene	2.73	Yes	No
Xylene	3.15	Yes	No
Ethanol	-0.31	Yes	Yes
Methanol	-0.77	Yes	No
Isopropanol	0.05	No	No
Benzyl alcohol	1.10	No	No
tert-Butanol	0.35	No	No
Acetone	-0.24	No	No
Methylethyl ketone	0.29	No	No
Ethyl acetate	0.73	No	No
Hexane	3.90	No	No
Mineral spirits	4.10-6.5	No	Yes
Methylene chloride	1.25	No	No
1,1,1-Trichloroethane	2.49	No	No
Trichloroethylene	3.40	Yes	Yes
Phenol	1.46	Yes	No
Propylene glycol	-0.92	No	No
Ethylene glycol monomethylether acetate	0.10	No	No
Triethylene glycol	-1.75	Yes	No

Table 24.3 Organic Solvents Reported to Produce Teratogenic Effectsand Their K_{ow} Values

weight and congenital malformations.^[14,15] Workers in these occupations are continually exposed to mixtures of lipophiles (aliphatic and aromatic hydrocarbons) and hydrophiles (alcohols, ketones, and esters) while working. Many of the paints, adhesives, inks, and other materials used in these occupations have no known teratogens or have very low concentrations of teratogens, yet teratogenic effects are transmitted to the offspring of the men who work with these materials. It is unknown whether the teratogenic effects attributed to paternal exposures to organic solvents are because of injuries to sperm caused by these compounds and/or mixtures of these, or to deposition from seminal fluid in the mother's reproductive tract after impregnation.^[7] Though it is generally acknowledged that paternal exposures can lead to teratogenic effects in their offspring, it is also possible that workers can "bring home" the teratogens on their clothing and equipment, leading to maternal exposure during pregnancy.
24.5.2 Wood Preservative Chemicals

Paternal exposure to dioxin-contaminated chlorophenols in the sawmill industry has been associated with congenital abnormalities of the eye, anencephaly or spina bifida, and congenital abnormalities of the genital organs of their offspring.^[16] All the chlorophenols (from the monosubstituted to the pentasubstituted) are teratogenic.^[17] The chlorinated dioxins are byproducts of the chlorophenols and are also teratogenic.^[18] One of these, TCDD, is a potent teratogen.^[19] It is unknown what roles were played by the chlorinated phenols and the chlorinated dioxins or their mixtures in the adverse reproductive effects reported following paternal exposures to dioxin-contaminated chlorophenols in this sawmill industry study.^[16]

24.5.3 Pesticides

Exposures to pesticides by pregnant women are well known to result in offspring with birth defects. The following examples are illustrative:

In a case report, a mother who applied DEET daily during her entire pregnancy gave birth to a child with craniofacial dysmorphology, mental retardation, and sensorimotor impairment.^[20]

Elevated risks of neural tube defects and other deformities were associated with maternal residence in proximity to agricultural pesticide applications in a California study. The risks were associated with amide, benzimidazole, methyl carbamate, or organophosphorus pesticide use. The risks were found to be greater when increasing numbers of pesticides were applied.^[21]

In a study in rural South Africa, a case control study was conducted to investigate the association between pesticide exposure and the occurrence of birth defects. It was found that women who were exposed to pesticides in gardens and fields were seven times more likely to give birth to babies with birth defects than women not so exposed. Deformed babies were also almost twice as likely to be born when their mothers dipped livestock in pesticides to prevent ticks and 6.5 times more likely to be born when their mothers fetched water with plastic containers that had previously held pesticides than cohort mothers who did not dip livestock or use pesticide-contaminated water containers.^[22]

A study in Washington state found that maternal exposure to agricultural chemicals (fertilizers and pesticides) produced an elevated risk of limb defects.^[23]

In one case study, it was shown that paternal exposure to pyridil herbicides (paraquat and diquat) was associated with congenital malformations in their offspring.^[24] This study also found an association for congenital malformation from exposure to aliphatic hydrocarbons and inorganic compounds.

The results of the last study point out the difficulties in associating specific pesticide exposures to end results. As discussed in Chapter 14, pesticides are almost always applied admixed with solvents, surfactants, and other chemicals that aid in their solution, distribution, and adsorption. More times than not, mixtures of different pesticides are applied to achieve multiple effects. Such pesticide mixtures contain multiple lipophiles and hydrophiles and the mixtures produce effects that are greater than those anticipated from the individual components. Accordingly, it should not be surprising that the teratogenic effects of pesticide mixtures should exceed those of the single species and produce enhanced detrimental outcomes in offspring.

24.5.4 Chemical–Radiation Mixture

Hyperthermia induced by an elevation in ambient temperature following RF radiation is known to be associated with fetal developmental effects. 2-Methoxyethanol is a known teratogen. In a study on laboratory animals it was demonstrated that combined exposure to RF and 2-methoxyethanol enhanced the adverse effects produced by either agent alone. It was also noted that teratogenic effects of 2-methoxyethanol were observed at levels below those found for the solvent alone, when it was co-administered with RF.^[25]

24.5.5 Ethanol Mixtures

Thousands of studies have addressed the teratogenic effects associated with the drinking of ethanol during pregnancy. There are several mechanisms for the teratogenicity of ethanol. It can kill brain cells, interfere with the transport of glucose and amino acids or impair placental–fetal blood flow, and interfere with hormonal and chemical regulatory systems in the brain that control the maturation and migration of nerve cells.^[2] Consumption of too much ethanol by the mother during pregnancy can result in fetal alcohol syndrome (FAS), a pattern of mental and physical defects in the offspring. FAS symptoms include^[26]

Mental retardation Structural birth defects Abnormal facial features Growth problems CNS problems Difficulty learning Memory problems Vision problems Hearing problems Behavioral problems

Mixtures of ethanol with other toxic chemicals produce unanticipated effects with greater teratogenic effects than ethanol or its mixture partners alone. The following study illustrates this phenomenon.

2-Ethoxyethanol is teratogenic to animals and humans.^[27,28] Concomitant exposure to a mixture of 2-ethoxyethanol and ethanol in the latter stages of gestation potentiated the behavioral and neurotoxic effects of 2-ethoxyethanol alone in laboratory animals.^[29] The authors of the study recommend that physicians advise pregnant women working with glycol ethers that consumption of ethanol during pregnancy could be particularly dangerous for them.

24.5.6 Air Pollution

Maternal exposure to air pollution during pregnancy, particularly during the first and third trimesters is associated with preterm delivery and low birth weight. Several studies have addressed this topic and an analysis of these shows that elevated levels of sulfur dioxide, nitrogen dioxide, carbon monoxide, hydrocarbons, particulates, and ozone are all suspected as culpable.^[30–34] Though a number of studies tried to tie the teratogenic effects to single pollutants, this could not be effectively done, as an increase in one parameter (e.g., nitrogen dioxide) is almost always associated with increases in other values (e.g., ozone, carbon monoxide). As discussed in Chapter 7, polluted air almost invariably contains a mixture of numerous lipophilic and hydrophilic chemicals that combine to cause often unanticipated toxic outcomes. Taken together, however, the studies cited produce powerful evidence that polluted air is teratogenic.

Polluted air is a postnatal developmental problem as well as a prenatal one. Studies in California have demonstrated that exposure to polluted air impairs lung development and lung function in children and young adults.^[35–37]

24.5.7 Paint

A study in the Netherlands reported congenital malformations in the offspring of male painters with occupational exposure to organic solvents.^[38] Specific teratogens were not identified, but as previously discussed in Sections 12.5 and 13.5, both waterborne paints and oil-based paints contain mixtures of lipophilic and hydrophilic species. Exposures to both types of paints have been associated with low level unexpected effects. Accordingly, the teratogenic results reported in the Dutch study are not surprising.

24.5.8 Hazardous Waste Site Proximity

Hazardous waste sites release mixtures of solvents into the air and heavy metals, pesticides, and other organic compounds into surface and groundwaters. Several studies in different geographic settings have tied maternal residential proximity to increased teratogenic risks. These studies include the following:

A study in New York state found increased risk for congenital malformations in children whose mothers lived near hazardous waste sites during pregnancy.^[39] A second New York study found elevated risks for CNS defects to be associated residential proximity to hazardous waste sites that emit organic solvents or metals.^[40]

A California study found elevated levels of neural tube and heart defects in offspring to be associated with maternal residence within 1 mile of hazardous waste sites in the National Priority List of contaminated sites.^[41]

A study in Europe found a fairly consistent increase in risk for neural tube defects, malformations of the cardiac septal, and anomalies of great arteries and veins in offspring the closer their mothers lived to hazardous waste landfill sites.^[42]

A Texas study found significant additional risk for congenital heart disease in children whose mothers lived close to hazardous waste sites than in children whose mothers did not live near toxic waste sites.^[43]

In Alaska, low birth weight and intrauterine growth retardation in babies were associated with maternal residency in villages that had open dumpsites containing hazardous materials in them.^[44]

Even though the exact nature of the injuries to the children involved varied from site to site, these studies, and others like it, taken together make a compelling case for the teratogenic hazards posed by emissions and leachates from hazardous waste sites. All such sites release complex mixtures of toxic chemicals with varying compositions. The particular composition from a given site no doubt influences which teratogenic injuries will be sustained by those whose mothers are exposed.

24.5.9 Tobacco Smoke

It is well known that smoking cigarettes during pregnancy is injurious to the developing fetus. The risks a smoking mother exposes her child to include reduced birth weight and deformities of the skull, extremities, and kidneys; enhanced susceptibility to respiratory diseases; reduced formation of new blood vessels; neurological damage; changes in the immune system; and injuries to other organs.^[45–47] These injuries have also been associated with maternal prenatal exposure to secondhand or passive smoking as well.^[46] Though nicotine has been shown to be a neurological teratogen,^[48] and carbon monoxide poisoning has been associated with some deformities,^[45] the specific teratogens responsible for other effects remain unknown. Given the large number of toxic compounds and their multiple functional groups in tobacco smoke, much remains to be learned. The effects of mixtures of compounds present in tobacco smoke and their possible teratogenic effects require further research.

24.6 Summary

Endocrine disrupting and nonendocrine disrupting chemicals and mixtures of chemicals have been shown to be teratogenic. Environmental and on-the-job exposures can result in the adsorption of teratogenic chemicals that may have adverse effects on the developing fetus. Teratogenic effects can be transmitted to the human fetus by maternal exposure, paternal exposure, and even transgenerationally. The mechanisms for the actions of teratogenic mixtures remain largely unknown.

References

- 1. National Environmental Trust, Physicians for Social Responsibility, Learning Disabilities Association of America. Polluting our future: Chemical pollution in the U.S. that affects child development and learning, www.safekidsinfo.org
- 2. Brent RL, Colie C, Daston G, et al. *Teratology primer*, The Teratology Society, Reston, VA, 2005.
- Daston G, Faustman E, Ginsberg G, et al. A framework for assessing risks to children from exposure to environmental agents. *Environ Health Perspect* 2004; 112(2):238–56.
- 4. Hattis D, Ginsberg G, Sonawane B, et al. Differences in pharmacokinetics between children and adults—II. Children's variability in drug elimination half-lives and in some parameters needed for physiologically-based pharmacokinetic modeling. *Risk Anal* 2003; 23(1):117–42.
- Scorecard. Health effects: Developmental toxicants, www.scorecard.org/ health-effects/chemicals.tcl?short_hazard_name=devel&all_p=t

- 6. Logman JF, de Vries LE, Hemels ME, et al. Paternal organic solvent exposure and adverse pregnancy outcomes: A meta-analysis. *Am J Ind Med* 2005; 47(1):37–44.
- 7. Chia SE, Shi LM. Review of recent epidemiological studies on paternal occupations and birth defects. *Occupat Environ Med* 2002; 59(3):149–55.
- Anway MD, Leathers C, Skinner MK. Endocrine disruptor vinclozolin induced epigenic transgenerational adult onset disease. *Endocrinology* 2006; 147(12):5515–23.
- 9. Anway MD, Leathers C, Uzumcu M, Skinner MK. Transgenerational effect of the endocrine disruptor vinclozolin on male spermatogenesis. *J Androl* 2006; 27(6):868–79.
- 10. Cordier S, Ha MC, Ayme S, Goujard J. Maternal occupational exposure and congenital malformations. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 1992; 18(1):11–17.
- 11. Hansson E, Jansa S, Wande H, et al. Pregnancy outcome for women working in laboratories in some of the pharmaceutical industries in Sweden. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 1980; 6(2):131–4.
- 12. Holmberg PC. Central-nervous-system defects in children born to mothers exposed to organic solvents during pregnancy. *Lancet* 1979; 2(8135):177–9.
- 13. Laslo-Baker D, Barrera M, Kittle-Keren D, et al. Child neurodevelopmental outcome and maternal occupational exposure to solvents. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med* 2004; 158(10):956–61.
- 14. Daniell WE, Vaughan TL. Paternal employment in solvent related occupations and adverse pregnancy outcomes. *Br J Ind Med* 1988; 45(3):193–7.
- 15. Hooivelt M, Haveman W, Roskes K, et al. Adverse reproductive outcomes among male painters with occupational exposure to organic solvents. *Occup Environ Med* 2006; 63(8):538–44.
- 16. Dimich-Ward H, Hertazman C, Teschke K, et al. Reproductive effects of paternal exposure to chlorophenate wood preservatives in the sawmill industry. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 1996; 22(4):267–73.
- 17. Zhao F, Mayura K, Hutchinson RW, et al. Developmental toxicity and structure–activity relationships of chlorophenols using human embryonic palatal mesenchymal cells. *Toxicol Lett* 1995; 78(1):35–42.
- Briois C, Ryan S, Tabor D, et al. Formation of polychlorinated dibenzop-dioxins and dibenzofurans from a mixture of chlorophenols over fly ash: Influence of water vapor. *Environ Sci Technol* 2007; 41(3):850–6.
- Vainio H, Hesso A, Jappinen P. Chlorinated dioxins and dibenzofurans in the environment: A hazard to public health? *Scand J Work Environ Health* 1989; 15(6):377–82.
- 20. Schaefer C, Peters PW. Intrauterine diethyltoluamide exposure and fetal outcome. *Reprod Toxicol* 1992; 6(2):175–6.
- 21. Rull RP, Ritz B, Shaw GM. Neural tube defects and maternal residential proximity to agricultural pesticide applications. *Am J Epidemiol* 2006; 163(8):743–53.
- 22. Heeren GA, Tyler J, Mandeya A. Agricultural chemical exposures and birth defects in the Eastern Cape Province, South Africa: A case control study. *Environ Health* 2003; 2(1):11.
- 23. Engel LS, O'Meara ES, Schwartz SM. Maternal occupation in agriculture and risk of limb defects in Washington state, 1980–1993. *Scand J Environ Health* 2000; 26(3):193–8.

- 24. Garcia AM, Benavides FG, Fletcher R, Orts E. Paternal exposure to pesticides and congenital malformations. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 1998; 24(6):473–80.
- 25. Nelson BK, Conover DL, Brightwell WS, et al. Marked increase in the teratogenicity of the combined administration of the industrial solvent 2-methoxyethanol and radiofrequency radiation in rats. *Teratology* 1991; 43(6):621–34.
- 26. National Institute of Health. Fetal alcohol syndrome, www.nlm.nih.gov/ medlineplus/fetalalcholsyndrome.html
- 27. O'Donohue TL. Ethoxyethanol behavioral teratology in rats. *Neurotoxicology* 1981; 2:231–49.
- 28. Cordier S, Bergeret A, Goujard J, et al. Congenital malformation and maternal occupational exposure to glycol ethers. Occupational exposure and congenital malformations working group. *Epidemiology* 1997; 8(4): 355–63.
- 29. Nelson BK, Brightwell WS, Setzer JV, et al. Reproductive toxicity of the industrial solvent 2-ethoxyethanol in rats and interactive effects of ethanol. *Environ Health Perspect* 1984; 57:255–9.
- 30. Leem JH, Kaplan BM, Shim YK, et al. Exposures to air pollutants during pregnancy and preterm delivery. *Environ Health Perspect* 2006; 114(6):905–10.
- 31. Dugandzig R, Dodds L, Stieb D, Smith-Doiron M. The association between low level exposures to ambient air pollution and term low birth weight: A retrospective cohort study. *Environ Health* 2006; 5:3–11.
- 32. Wilhelm M, Ritz B. Local variations in CO and particulate air pollution and adverse birth outcomes in Los Angeles County, California, USA. *Environ Health Perspect* 2005; 113(9):1212–21.
- 33. Salam MT, Millstein J, Li YF, et al. Birth outcome and prenatal exposure to ozone, carbon monoxide, and particulate matter: Results from the Children's Health Study. *Environ Health Perspect* 2005; 133(11):1638–44.
- 34. Lin CM, Li CY, Mao IF. Increased risks of low-birth-weight infants in a petrochemical industrial city with high air pollution levels. *Arch Environ Health* 2004; 59(12):663–8.
- 35. Tager IB, Balmes J, Lurmann F, et al. Chronic exposure to ambient ozone and lung function in young adults. *Epidemiology* 2005; 16(6):751–9.
- Gauderman WJ, Avol E, Gilliland F, et al. The effect of air pollution on lung development from 10 to 18 years of age. *N Engl J Med* 2004; 351(11): 1057–67.
- Gauderman WJ, McConnell R, Gilliland F, et al. Association between air pollution and lung function growth in southern California children. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 162(4):1383–90.
- 38. Hooiveld M, Haverman W, Roskes K, et al. Adverse reproductive outcomes among male painters with occupational exposure to organic solvents. *Occup Environ Med* 2006; 63:538–44.
- 39. Geschwind SA, Stolwijk JA, Bracken M, et al. Risk of congenital malformations associated with proximity to hazardous waste sites. *Am J Epidemiol* 1992; 135(11):1197–207.

24: TERATOGENS

- 40. Marshall EG, Gensburg LJ, Deres DA, et al. Maternal residential exposure to hazardous wastes and risk of central nervous system and musculoskeletal birth defects. *Arch Environ Health* 1997; 52(6):416–25.
- 41. Croen LA, Shaw GM, Sanbonmatsu L, et al. Maternal residential proximity to hazardous waste sites and risk for selected congenital malformations. *Epidemiology* 1997; 8(4):347–54.
- 42. Dolk H, Vrijheld M, Armstrong B, et al. Risk of congenital anomalies near hazardous waste landfill site in Europe: The EUROHAZCON study. *Lancet* 1988; 352(9126):423–7.
- 43. Malik S, Schecter A, Caughy M, Fixler DE. Effect of proximity to hazardous waste sites on the development of congenital heart disease. *Arch Environ Health* 2004; 59(4):177–81.
- 44. Gilbreath S, Kass PH. Adverse birth outcomes associated with open dumpsites in Alaska native villages. *Am J Epidemiol* 2006; 164(6):518–28.
- 45. Haustein KO. Cigarette smoking, nicotine and pregnancy. Int J Clin Pharmacol Ther 37(9):417–27.
- 46. Nelson E, Jodscheit K, Guo Y. Maternal passive smoking during pregnancy and fetal developmental toxicity. Part 1: Gross morphological effects. *Hum Exp Toxicol* 1999; 18(4):252–6.
- Nelson E, Goubet-Wiemers C, Guo Y, Jodscheit K. Maternal passive smoking during pregnancy and fetal developmental toxicity. Part 2: Histological changes. *Hum Exp Toxicol* 1999; 18(4):257–64.
- 48. Slotkin TA. Fetal nicotine or cocaine exposure: Which one is worse? *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 1998; 285(3):931–45.

25.1 Introduction

Tissue injury in the body can be caused by microbial infection, trauma, heat, radiation, or toxic chemical absorption. Whenever this occurs, the immune system immediately responds to the insult. A malfunctioning immune system can result in more severe injury or death.

Chemicals that attack the immune system render the body less capable of responding in times of need. Such chemicals are defined as immunotoxins, and immunotoxicology is the study of adverse health effects that result from the interactions of xenobiotics and the immune system.^[1] Numerous individual chemicals, including benzene, PCBs, and dioxins, suppress immune system function in humans and lead to increased incidences and intensities of infectious diseases and cancer.

Immunotoxic effects can be manifest in three different ways. First, immunosuppression occurs when one or more of the immune system components is affected, resulting in a reduction in immune system function. Immunosuppression is manifest by decreased resistance to viral, bacterial, fungal, and other infectious agents and by increased susceptibility to cancer.^[2,3]

Immunosuppression is not the only mechanism by which immunotoxins affect humans. Some chemicals, including anhydrides and isocyanates, are immunostimulants (also referred to as immunoenhancers), or allergens, compounds that stimulate specific immune responses and induce hypersensitivity (allergic reaction) in susceptible individuals.

Xenobiotics can also cause autoimmune diseases, conditions where healthy body tissue is attacked by an impacted immune system that does not discriminate between self-antigens and foreign antigens.

The major components of the immune system are

- Antibodies
- Bone marrow
- Complement system
- Lymph system
- Spleen
- Thymus
- White blood cells.

The complexity of the immune system renders it readily attacked by many chemicals. Such attack may result, for example, in organ damage in the thymus, bone, and lymph nodes as well as in cellular pathology in immunocompetent cells.^[4] More than 350 different compounds have been identified as immunotoxins.^[5,6] Table 25.1 contains a representative list of these. This list includes heavy metals, chlorinated and organophosphorus pesticides, aromatic hydrocarbons, polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons, organic solvents, and many widely used chemicals. Many lipophilic and hydrophilic chemicals are immunotoxins and the immunotoxicity of these compounds is manifest via multiple mechanisms.

25.2 Immunosuppressants

A wide variety of structurally and functionally unrelated chemicals have been shown to be immunosuppressant. These include pesticides, PCBs, TCDD, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, ethanol, and heavy metals.^[2,5,7–12] The disruption of normal immune system function can be attributed to the compounds themselves or to their metabolites and can proceed by many different mechanisms.^[4,13–15] Electromagnetic radiation, though not a chemical, has also been associated with immunosuppression, via as yet undefined mechanisms.^[16]

Exposure to xenobiotics reduces the effectiveness of childhood immunizations. In a study carried out on the Faroe Islands in the North Atlantic Ocean, it was found that the higher the level of PCB exposure, the lower the level of antibody protection in children against diphtheria and tetanus following routine immunization.^[17]

Immunosuppressant exposure also impacts the development of the immune system. Several studies have shown this effect,^[12,13,18] including one that examined TCDD, described in the study as "a notorious immunotoxicant."^[12] Other chemicals that cause developmental immunotoxicity include PCBs,

Table 25.1	Representative	List of In	nmunotoxic	Chemicals
------------	----------------	------------	------------	-----------

Cobalt
Chromium
Cyclohexanone
DDT
1,2-Dichloroethane
trans-1,2-Dichloroethylene
Dieldrin
7,12-Dimethylbenz[a]anthracene
1,4-Dioxane
Diethyl phthalate
Diethylamine
Endosulfan
Epichlorohydrin
Epoxy resins
Ethyl acrylate
Ethylene oxide
Ethylene diamine
Formaldehyde
Hydrazine
Hydroquinone
Lead
Mercury
2-Methoxyethanol
Methyl isocyanate
Methylene chloride
Nitrogen dioxide
PCBs
Phenyl hydrazine
Phthalic anhydride
Sodium dichromate
TCDD
Tetrachloroethylene
Toluene
Toluene diisocyanates
Trichloroethylene
Triethanolamine
Trimellitic anhydride
Tungsten carbide
Turpentine
Xylenes
Zirem

Table 25.1 Representative List of Immunotoxic Chemicals (Continued)

polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, chlordane, DDT, hexachlorobenzene, methyl mercury, lead, and cadmium.^[13]

25.3 Immunostimulants

Immunostimulants are substances that induce changes in the immune system such that further exposure to these and other chemicals leads to sensitization, that is, recognition by the body and producing hypersensitivity, allergic responses that are greater and occur in response to lower doses than are observed in nonsensitized individuals. Inhalation of an allergen by a previously sensitized person can lead to rhinitis, conjunctivitis, and pulmonary symptoms, including bronchial constriction or obstruction as in asthma.^[19] Examples of respiratory system sensitizers include trimellitic anhydride, toluene diisocyanate, methylhexahydrophthalic anhydride, platinum, nickel, chromium, cobalt, beryllium, epoxy resin catalysts, and ammonium persulfate.^[2,5,20,21] Those with prior skin sensitization, as in allergic contact dermatitis, react to contact allergens with swelling and/or rash when further exposed to dermal allergens.^[19] 1-Chloro-2,4-dinitrobenzene, 2,4-dinitrofluorobenzene and glycerol monothioglycolate (a reducing agent used in hair permanent waving solutions) are examples of dermal sensitizers.^[5,22-25] Some sensitizing chemicals can induce both contact dermatitis and asthma. Examples of these are toluene diisocyanate and trimellitic anhydride.^[22,23]

Respiratory sensitization to chemicals may be acquired via dermal contact.^[26] An example of this is the induction of airway sensitization in workers in a herbicide-producing plant that manufactured 3-amino-5-mercapto-1,2,4-triazole (AMT) by dermal contact. Experiments with mice confirmed the sensitization potential of AMT.^[27]

Dermal sensitization may follow prior respiratory sensitization. Hairdressers applying permanent waves containing glyceryl monothioglycolate as well as clients receiving such treatment have been shown to be more likely to develop allergic contact dermatitis when they had previously become allergic to biological and chemical allergens.^[24]

25.4 Autoimmune Toxins

Exposures to xenobiotics have been associated with the onset of several autoimmune diseases. Lupus (systemic lupus erythematosus or SLE), scleroderma (systemic sclerosis), rheumatoid arthritis, and other maladies

have been strongly associated with exposures to single chemicals and mixtures of chemicals. The single chemicals include silica dust, vinyl chloride, mercuric chloride, trichloroethylene, hexachlorobenzene, hydrazine, and tartrazine. Mixtures include epoxy resins, hair dyes, paint thinners, and other (unspecified) organic solvent mixtures, industrial emissions, airborne particulate matter, and hazardous waste site emissions.^[28–33]

The causal relationship between environmental exposure and autoimmune disease onset is seen from the data derived from studies of monozygotic twins. The concordance of autoimmune disease among such twins is only in the 25–40% range, low enough to implicate environmental exposure, yet high enough to indicate genetic influences as well.^[33]

25.5 Immunotoxic Mixtures

The study of immunotoxic mixtures is complicated by the large number and diversity of chemicals agents that are toxic to the immune system, multiple mechanisms by which the immune system is impacted, and exposures that are almost always to mixtures containing numerous immunotoxins.

Many persistent organic pollutants (POPs) and other environmental contaminants have been associated with immunotoxic effects, but, in most instances, it remains difficult to assign the effects to pure compounds. For example, immunotoxic effects of PCBs in free-ranging harbor seals have been associated with increasing blubber concentrations of PCBs,^[34] yet the waters inhabited by these animals are also contaminated with other POPs, including chlorinated pesticides and chlorinated polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons. Indeed, the PCBs themselves are mixtures of different moieties with varying immunotoxic properties.

Several studies, however, have been able to demonstrate the immunotoxic effects of mixtures. Illustrative examples of these follow.

25.5.1 Benzene and Toluene

Benzene is a proven hematotoxic chemical and toluene, too, is immunotoxic. Mixed together, however, in groundwater, toluene at low dosage does not protect against or contribute to benzene-induced immune functions in mice (involution of thymic mass and suppressions of both B-cell and T-cell mitogenesis). At high dose, however, toluene still did not demonstrate the immunotoxic effects attributed to benzene, but had an antagonistic effect on benzene immunotoxicity.^[35] The authors of the study did not offer a mechanistic explanation for the observed phenomenon. It is thought, however, that by competing with benzene for metabolic action, toluene may have suppressed the production of benzene metabolites that are immunotoxic.

25.5.2 Pesticides and Fertilizers

Water contaminated with mixtures of the pesticides aldicarb ($K_{ow} = 1.13$) or atrazine ($K_{ow} = 2.61$) and nitrate ($K_{ow} = -4.39$) was administered to mice at concentrations simulating contaminated groundwater at levels found environmentally in Midwestern U.S. farming communities. Though the pesticides alone are immunotoxic, nitrate is not. The mixtures of single pesticides with nitrate, however, reduced the ability to make antibodies against a foreign protein in laboratory animals.^[36] No mechanistic explanation for this phenomenon was offered by the authors.

25.5.3 Propoxur and Heavy Metals

The mixture of the carbamate pesticide propoxur with either arsenic or mercury resulted in unanticipated changes in the spleens of laboratory animals orally exposed to the mixtures, when compared to the effects noted after treatment with propoxur, arsenic, or mercury alone.^[37]

25.5.4 Environmental Tobacco Smoke Sensitization

Asthma is the most prevalent chronic disease affecting children worldwide and its prevalence has tripled in the last 30 years. Though a genetic predisposition is generally believed essential for asthma to ensue, environmental exposures to immunotoxins have been demonstrated to play a role in the induction of asthma. Two studies have shown that children exposed to environmental tobacco smoke (ETS) have increased incidences of asthma. Young children (aged 2 months to 5 years) who are exposed to ETS are more than twice as likely to be sensitized and develop asthma than their cohorts who are not so exposed.^[38,39]

25.5.5 Tobacco Smoke and Organic Solvents

Both tobacco smoke and aromatic organic solvents when acting separately diminish serum immunoglobulin levels in humans. Tobacco smoke as well as benzene and its homologs decrease serum IgA and IgG levels. Tobacco smokers also have reduced IgM levels. The serum of tobacco smokers occupationally exposed to benzene and its homologs has been shown to have levels of all three immunoglobulins reduced to a greater extent than the reductions associated with either smoking or solvent exposure alone.^[40,41] Given the complexity of tobacco smoke as well as the presence of benzene in this smoke, it is at this time not possible to mechanistically account for the observed phenomena.

25.5.6 Tobacco Smoke and House Dust Mites

Human exposure to a combination of tobacco smoke and the house dust mites has been shown to result in allergic sensitization. It is believed that tobacco smoke impairs the barrier function of the airway epithelium, leading to increased access of allergens contained in the house dust mite. In vitro studies with human bronchial epithelial cells have confirmed this hypothesis.^[42,43] In this instance it is believed that lipophiles in tobacco smoke serve to facilitate the permeation of toxic allergens.

25.5.7 Air Pollution

A study of respiratory diseases induced by outdoor air pollutants has shown that allergic diseases are more prevalent in urban areas than in more rural places and are also more prevalent in industrialized countries than in developing nations. These increased prevalences have been associated with air pollutants, including oxides of nitrogen and sulfur, ozone, respirable particulates, and volatile organic chemicals. The mixtures that are developed by these chemicals are complex and the mechanisms of their actions are still under investigation. It is known, however, that diesel exhaust particles cause respiratory symptoms and are able to modulate the immune response in predisposed people by increasing immunoglobulin IgE synthesis. Evidence was also presented in this study demonstrating that air pollutants, like cigarette smoke, can interact with aeroallergens in the atmosphere and/or in human airways to potentiate their effects.^[44]

In a European study, it was shown that children living in two different industrialized areas, one containing chemical manufacturing factories and the second the site of metal smelters, had greatly elevated prevalences of asthma and allergies than control children living in an area with clean air. The air in the chemical manufacturing area was contaminated with the following lipophilic compounds:

- DDT
- Hexachlorocyclohexane
- PCBs
- Dioxins
- Furans.

The air in the smelting area was contaminated with arsenic, cadmium, chromium, lead, and nickel. It should be noted that both air polluted areas were further contaminated by oxides of sulfur and nitrogen produced by the burning of brown coal. Though much of the chemical composition of the polluted air was much different in the two polluted areas, one primarily lipophilic and the other predominantly hydrophilic, the immunotoxic effects produced were similar. The children living in the smelting area were, however, more often sensitized to common aeroallergens.^[45] This suggests that multiple mechanisms may be responsible for the observed effects.

25.6 Multiple Chemical Sensitivity (MCS) and Chronic Fatigue Syndrome (CFS)

MCS and CFS are conditions with strong immunological factors. These are examined in Chapters 26 and 27, respectively. The similarities and differences between MCS and CFS are addressed at the end of Chapter 27.

25.7 Summary

Immunotoxic chemicals can interfere with the body's ability to ward off disease, can induce and exacerbate allergic responses, and contribute to autoimmune diseases. The complexity of the immune system and its interaction with other body systems makes it particularly vulnerable to attack by xenobiotics. Studies that have been carried out, however, have demonstrated that a wide variety of chemicals are immunotoxic and that chemical mixtures such as those contained in air polluted with the products of combustion, industrial emissions, and tobacco smoke is immunotoxic. Such polluted air can induce immunostimulative responses and bring on allergic reactions in previously sensitized individuals.

References

- 1. Kimber I, Dearman RJ. Immune responses: Adverse versus non-adverse effects. *Toxicol Pathol* 2002; 30(1):54–8.
- Krzystyniak K, Tryphonas H, Fournier M. Approaches to the evaluation of chemical-induced immunotoxicity. *Environ Health Perspect* 1995; 103 (Suppl 9):17–22.

25: IMMUNE SYSTEM

- 3. Gleichmann E, Kimber I, Purchase IF. Immunotoxicology: Suppressive and stimulatory effects of drugs and environmental chemicals on the immune system. A discussion. *Arch Toxicol* 1989; 63(4):257–73.
- 4. Sullivan JB, Jr. Immunological alterations and chemical exposure. *J Toxicol Clin Toxicol* 1989; 27(6):311–43.
- 5. Dean JH, Luster MI, Munson AE, Kimber I. *Immunotoxicology and immunopharmacology*, 2nd ed., Raven Press, New York, 1994.
- 6. Scorecard. Health effects: Immunotoxicity, www.scorecard.org/health-effects/ chemicals-2.tcl?short_hazard_name=immun&all_p=t
- 7. Voccia I, Blakley B, Brousseau P, et al. Immunotoxicity of pesticides: A review. *Toxicol Ind Health* 1999; 15(1–2):119–32.
- Lang DS, Meier KL, Luster MI. Comparative effects of immunotoxic chemicals on in vitro proliferative responses of human and rodent lymphocytes. *Toxicol Sci* 1993; 21(4):535–45.
- 9. Galloway T, Handy R. Immunotoxicity of organophosphorus pesticides. *Ecotoxicology* 2003; 12(1–4):345–63.
- Sweet LI, Zelikoff JT. Toxicology and immunotoxicology of mercury: A comparative review in fish and humans. *J Toxicol Environ Health B Crit Rev* 2001; 4(2):161–205.
- 11. Vos JG, Van Loveren H. Experimental studies on immunosuppression: How do they predict for man? *Toxicology* 1998; 129(1):13–26.
- 12. Van Loveren H, Vos J, Putnam E, Piersma A. Immunotoxicological consequences of perinatal chemical exposures: A plea for inclusion of immune parameters in reproduction studies. *Toxicology* 2003; 185(3):185–91.
- 13. Holladay SD, Smialowicz RJ. Development of the murine and human immune system: Differential effects of immunotoxicants depend on time of exposure. *Environ Health Perspect* 2000; 108 (Suppl 3):463–73.
- 14. Holsapple MP, Karras JG, Ledbetter JA, et al. Molecular mechanisms of toxicant-induced immunosuppression: Role of secondary messengers. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol* 1996; 36:131–59.
- 15. Parthasarathy NJ, Kumar RS, Manikandan S, et al. Effect of methanolinduced oxidative stress on the neuroimmune system of experimental rats. *Chem Biol Interact* 2006; 161(1):14–25.
- 16. Sailstad DM, Boykin EH, Slade R, et al. The effect of vitamin A acetate diet on ultraviolet radiation-induced immune suppression as measured by contact hypersensitivity in mice. *Photochem Photobiol* 2000; 72(6):766–71.
- Heilmann C, Grandjean P, Weihe P, et al. Reduced antibody responses to vaccinations in children exposed to polychlorinated biphenyls. *PLoS Med* 2006; 3(8):311–26.
- 18. Van Loveren H, Piersma A. Immunotoxicological consequences of perinatal chemical exposures. *Toxicol Lett* 2004; 149(1–3):141–5.
- Board on Environmental Studies and Toxicology, Commission on Life Sciences, National Research Council. *Multiple chemical sensitivities*. *Addendum to biologic markers in immunology*, National Academy Press, Washington, DC, 1992, pp. 13–34.
- 20. Kanerva L, Hyry H, Jolanki R, et al. Delayed and immediate allergy caused by methylhexahydrophthalic anhydride. *Contact Dermatitis* 1997; 36(1):34–8.

- 21. Nemery B. Metal toxicity and the respiratory tract. *Eur Respir J* 1990; 3(2):202–19.
- 22. Sailstad DM, Ward MD, Boykin EH, Segrade MK. A murine model for low molecular weight chemicals: Differentiation of respiratory sensitizers (TMA) from contact sensitizers (DNFB). *Toxicology* 2003; 194(1–2):147–61.
- 23. Vanoirbeek JA, Tarkowski M, Vanhooren HM, et al. Validation of a mouse model of chemical-induced asthma using trimellitic anhydride, a respiratory sensitizer, and dinitrochlorobenzene, a dermal sensitizer. *JAllergy Clin Immunol* 2006; 117(5):1090–7.
- 24. Storrs FJ. Permanent wave contact dermatitis: Contact allergy to glycerol monothioglycolate. *J Am Acad Dermatol* 1984; 11(1):74–85.
- 25. Morrison LH, Storrs FJ. Persistence of an allergen in hair after glyceryl monothioglycolate-containing permanent wave solutions. *J Am Acad Dermatol* 1988; 1(1):52–9.
- 26. Kimber I, Dearman RJ. Chemical respiratory allergy: Role of IgE antibody and relevance of route of exposure. *Toxicology* 2002; 27(181–2):311–15.
- Klink KJ, Meade BJ. Dermal exposure to 3-amino-5-mercapto-1,2,4-triazole (AMT) induces sensitization and airway hyperactivity in BALB/c mice. *Toxicol Sci* 2003; 75(1):89–98.
- 28. Mayes MD. Epidemic studies of environmental agents and systemic autoimmune diseases. *Environ Health Perspect* 1999; 107 (Suppl 5):743–8.
- 29. D'Cruz D. Autoimmune diseases associated with drugs, chemicals and environmental factors. *Toxicol Lett* 2000; 112–113:421–32.
- Van Loveren H, Vox JG, Germolec D, et al. Epidemiological associations between occupational and environmental exposures and autoimmune disease: Report of a meeting to explore current evidence and identify research needs. *Int J Hyg Environ Health* 2001; 203(5–6):483–95.
- 31. Cooper GS, Miller FW, Germolec DR. Occupational exposure and autoimmune diseases. *Int Immunopharmacol* 2002; 2(2–3):303–13.
- 32. Hess EV. Environmental chemicals and autoimmune disease: Cause and effect. *Toxicology* 2002; 181–2:65–70.
- 33. Powell JJ, Van de Water J, Gershwin ME. Evidence for the role of environmental agents in the initiation or progression of autoimmune conditions. *Environ Health Perspect* 1999; 107 (Suppl 5):667–72.
- 34. Mos L, Morsey B, Jeffries SJ. Chemical and biological pollution contribute to the immunological profiles of free-ranging harbor seals. *Environ Toxicol Chem* 2006; 25(12):3110–17.
- Hsieh GC, Parker RD, Sharma RP, Hughes BJ. Subclinical effects of groundwater contaminants III. Effects of repeated oral exposure to combinations of benzene and toluene on immunologic responses in mice. *Arch Toxicol* 1990; 64(4):320–28.
- 36. Porter WP, Jaeger JW, Carlson IH. Endocrine, immune and behavioral effects of aldicarb (carbamate), atrazine (triazine) and nitrate (fertilizer) mixtures at groundwater concentrations. *Toxicol Ind Health* 1999; 15(1–2):133–50.
- Institoris L, Siroko O, Undeger U, et al. Detection of the effects of repeated dose combined propoxur and heavy metal exposure by measurement of certain toxicological, haematological and immune function parameters in rats. *Toxicology* 2001; 163(2–3):185–93.

- 38. Gergen PJ, Fowler JA, Maurer KR, et al. The burden of environmental tobacco smoke exposure on the respiratory health of children 2 months through 5 years of age in the United States: Third national health and nutrition examination survey, 1988 to 1994. *Pediatrics* 1998; 101(2):E8.
- Goodwin RD. Environmental tobacco smoke and epidemic of asthma in children: The role of cigarette use. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 2007; 98(5):447–54.
- 40. Moszczynski P, Lisiewica J, Slowinski S. Synergistic effect of organic solvents and tobacco smoke on serum immunoglobulin levels in humans. *Med Pr* 1989; 40(6):337–41 [abstract only].
- 41. Moszczynski P, Slowinski S, Moszczynski P. Synergistic effect of organic solvents and tobacco smoke on the indicators of humoral immunity in humans. *Gig Tr Prof Abol* 1991; 3:34–6 [abstract only].
- 42. Rusznak C, Sapsford RJ, Devalia JL, et al. Cigarette smoke potentiates house dust mite allergen-induced increase in the permeability of human bronchial epithelial cells in vitro. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 1999; 20(6):1238–50.
- 43. Rusznak C, Sapsford RJ, Devalia JL, et al. Interaction of cigarette smoke and house dust mite allergens on inflammatory mediator release from primary cultures of human bronchial epithelial cells. *Clin Exp Allergy* 2001; 31(2):226–38.
- 44. D'Amato G, Liccardi G, D'Amato M, Cazzola M. Respiratory allergic diseases induced by outdoor air pollution in urban areas. *Monaldi Arch Chest Dis* 2002; 57(3–4):161–3.
- 45. Heinrich J, Hoelscher B, Wjst M, et al. Respiratory diseases and allergies in two polluted areas in East Germany. *Environ Health Perspect* 1999; 107(1):53–62.

26 Chemical Sensitivity: Multiple Chemical Sensitivity (MCS), Chronic Fatigue Syndrome (CFS), Fibromyalgia (FM), and Gulf War Syndrome (GWS)

26.1 Introduction

Individuals with chemical sensitivity, also referred to as chemical intolerance, are those who react adversely to low levels of chemicals that are tolerated by the general population. These include Multiple Chemical Sensitivity (MCS), Chronic Fatigue Syndrome (CFS), Fibromyalgia (FM), and Gulf War Syndrome (GWS). Each is a clinically defined condition that can give rise to chemical sensitivity, but there is, however, considerable comorbidity between them. Each is addressed individually, followed by a discussion of its similar responses to chemical stimuli.

26.2 Multiple Chemical Sensitivity (MCS)

MCS is a chronic condition in which multiple symptoms occur following exposure to chemicals at low levels (levels generally tolerated by healthy persons). The concept of sensitivity to multiple chemicals, which was first described by Randolph in the 1940s,^[1,2] may have existed for more than a hundred years.^[3]

Randolph characterized MCS as follows:

- 1. An acquired disorder following exposure to unusually high levels of an organic chemical.
- 2. Both psychiatric (depression, mania, hallucinations, and anxiety) and physical (arthritis, bronchospasm, and rhinitis) symptoms may be present.
- 3. Stimulatory syndromes (e.g., mania) may be triggered by acute exposures and be followed by withdrawal symptoms (e.g., head-ache, depression) hours to days after removal from an exposure.
- 4. Adaptive phenomena: Chemically sensitive individuals do not experience acute reactions while living in a chemical environment, but are chronically ill during this phase.

- 5. Spreading phenomena: As the illness progresses, the patient becomes susceptible to larger numbers of chemicals and has more serious symptoms.
- 6. Avoidance: The chemically sensitive person has resolution of his/ her symptoms and remains well by avoiding the chemical environment.

Cullen, in 1987, was the first to use the term multiple chemical sensitivities. He described the syndrome as

an applied disorder characterized by recurrent symptoms, referable to multiple organ systems, occurring in response to demonstrable exposure to many chemically unrelated compounds at doses far below those established in the general population to cause harmful effects. No single widely accepted test of physiologic function can be shown to correlate with symptoms.^[4]

Cullen's definition implies the following:^[5]

- 1. MCS is acquired following a documentable environmental exposure that has caused clinically observable health effects.
- 2. The symptoms, which are referable to multiple organs, vary predictably in response to environmental stimuli.
- 3. Symptoms occur following exposures to measurable concentrations of chemicals, but these levels are below those known to harm healthy individuals.
- 4. Though symptoms are experienced in many organs, there is no evidence of organ damage.

Consensus criteria for the definition of MCS were established by researchers in the field in 1989 and edited in 1999.^[6,7] These are as follows:

- 1. Symptoms are reproducible with [repeatable chemical] exposure.
- 2. The condition is chronic.
- 3. Low levels of exposure (lower than previously or commonly tolerated) result in manifestations of the syndrome (i.e., increased sensitivity).
- 4. The symptoms improve, or resolve completely, when triggering chemicals are removed.
- 5. Responses often occur to multiple chemically-related substances.
- 6. Symptoms involve multiple-organ symptoms.

Since 1999, science's understanding of MCS has expanded and the following, more precise working definition of it was proposed in 2006:^[8]

- 1. A medical condition manifested by recurrent symptomatic responses to chemical exposures at levels lower than previously or commonly tolerated.
- 2. Symptoms occur at levels of exposure below those generally known to cause adverse human effects.
- 3. The condition is chronic, persisting for at least three months.
- 4. Symptoms improve or resolve when exposure ceases.
- 5. Reactivity apparently spreads to include previously tolerated substances.
- 6. Symptoms occur with exposure to chemically diverse, unrelated substances.
- 7. For a given individual, similar symptoms generally occur with similar types of exposure to similar agents.
- 8. Symptoms vary markedly in terms of time to onset, recovery time, severity, frequency and duration.
- 9. Intolerance for previously tolerated alcohol and some pharmaceutical agents.
- 10. Symptoms are not limited to a single organ system.
- 11. Organ dysfunction that can be objectively verified is present, including but not limited to: cardiac, endocrine, immunological, neurocognitive neurological, and pulmonary; non-atopic rhinitis.
- 12. Neurobehavioral dysfunction is present, including diminished mental acuity and mood alterations (such as reactive depression, irritability, anxiety tension, confusion, fatigue and anger).
- 13. Difficulty with maintaining usual habits and activities of daily living and reduced quality of life, and ability to access hospital and medical services. Examples: ability to go to work or school; choice of personal care products, clothing, food and home location; ability to travel to other cities or drive a car; ability to be around others and enjoy social activities such as going to meetings, places of worship, restaurants; choice of hobbies or recreation; ability to perform home maintenance chores.

Other names for MCS include^[9,10]

Environmental hypersensitivity Total immune disorder syndrome Twentieth-century disease Total allergy syndrome Environmental illness Sick building syndrome Idiopathic environmental intolerance Chemical AIDS Environmentally induced disease Cerebral allergy Chemically induced immune dysregulation Ecologic illness Food and chemical sensitivities

Clinical ecology, a branch of medicine that believes that foods and environmental chemicals can be responsible for illnesses with multiple symptoms that lack objective physical markers, defines ecologic illness as follows:

Ecological illness is a polysymptomatic, multisystem chronic disorder manifested by adverse reactions to environmental excitants, as they are modified by individual susceptibility in terms of specific adaptations. The excitants are present in air, water, drugs, and our habitats.^[11]

William Rea is the leading practitioner of clinical ecology. His Environmental Health Center in Dallas, Texas, has diagnosed more than 20,000 patients with chemical sensitivities. Rea defines chemical sensitivity as follows:

Chemical sensitivity is defined as an adverse reaction to ambient doses of toxic chemicals in our air, food and water at levels which are generally accepted as subtoxic. Manifestation of adverse reactions depend on

- 1. the tissue or organ involved;
- 2. the chemical and pharmacologic nature of the toxin;
- 3. the individual susceptibility of the exposed person (genetic makeup, nutritional state and total [toxic] load at the time of exposure;
- 4. the length of time of the exposure;
- 5. the amount and variety of other body stresses (total load) and synergism at the time of reaction;
- 6. the derangement of metabolism that may occur from the initial insults.^[12,13]

26.3 MCS Symptoms

Those with MCS experience a wide variety of cardiac, respiratory, endocrine, hepatic, immunological, nervous system, and musculoskeletal

26: CHEMICAL SENSITIVITY

Abdominal pressure, pain, and cramps
Anger
Anaphylactic shock
Anxiety
Attention deficit
Blurring of vision
Breathing difficulty
Chest pain
Cognitive dysfunction
Contact dermatitis
Confusion
Coordination difficulties
Coughing
Diarrhea
Dizziness
Dry eyes
Dry mouth
Fatigue
Fever
Food intolerance
Headache
Hearing changes
Heart palpitations
Heartburn
Hives
Immune system suppression
Inability to focus vision
Inability to concentrate
Indigestion
Itchy eyes or nose
Joint pain
Lightheadedness
Lethargy
Low energy
Memory problems
Muscle pain, spasm
Muscle twitching
Nausea
Nerve pain
Numbness, tingling

Table 26.1 Partial List of Symptoms Associated with MCS

Overactive bladder
Panic
Paralysis
Reduced tolerance to heat or cold
Restless leg syndrome
Seizures
Sinus discomfort
Skin irritation
Skin rash
Sleep disturbances
Slurred speech
Sneezing
Swollen glands
Tendonitis
Trembling
Unusual thirst
Vertigo
Vomiting
Weak voice, hoarseness
Weakness

organ symptoms.^[5,14,15] Table 26.1 contains a partial list of symptoms associated with MCS.

As seen in Table 26.1 a very large number of symptoms have been associated with MCS. The symptoms most commonly encountered are those of the CNS, respiratory, and mucosal irritation or gastrointestinal ones, and to a lesser extent musculoskeletal ones.^[5,14]

26.4 Causative MCS Chemicals

A large number of chemicals have been shown to precipitate MCS. The sources of these chemicals include industrial chemicals, off-gassing in tightly sealed buildings, polluted air and water in areas contaminated by industrial discharges, and toxic waste site releases, and those from the use of consumer products, including pharmaceuticals, personal care products, paints, adhesives, pesticides, and other chemical products used around the home. Table 26.2 lists some of the individual compounds that have been associated with MCS.^[12–16]

Aluminum
Benzoyl peroxide
Carbon tetrachloride
Chlorine
Chlordane
Chloropyrifos
DDT
Ethyl methacrylate
Formaldehyde
Glycine
Mercury
Phenol
Platinum
Toluene
Toluene diisocyanate
Trichloroethylene
Xylene

Table 26.2	Single	Chemicals	Associated	with	MCS
------------	--------	-----------	------------	------	-----

Though many single chemicals have been implicated, most of those who are affected with MCS are sensitized by and react to chemical mixtures.^[5,13,17–19] Some of the mixtures that trigger MCS arise from the sources listed in Table 26.3.

As described in the earlier chapters of this book (Part 2), virtually each one of MCS triggering sources listed in Table 26.3 contains mixtures of lipophilic and hydrophilic chemicals.

26.5 MCS Mechanistic Considerations

MCS affects multiple, often unpredictable and seemingly unrelated, body sites. Different explanations have been proposed to explain this phenomenon. These are discussed here under the headings of the researchers who are their primary proponents: William J. Rea, Iris R. Bell, and Martin L. Pall.

William J. Rea

Rea instructs that several principles must be considered to demonstrate the influence of environmental chemicals on chemical sensitivity. These

Aerosol air fresheners
Aerosol deodorants
After shave lotions
Asphalt pavements
Carpet emissions
Cosmetics
Deodorizers
Diesel exhausts
Diesel fuel fumes
Dry cleaning fluid
Floor cleaners
Furniture polishes
Gasoline exhausts
Gasoline fumes
Hair sprays and treatments
Household cleaners
Insect repellents
Laundry detergents
Marking pens
Nail polishes
Nail polish removers
Paint removers and strippers
Perfumes and colognes
Pesticides
Roofing tar
Shampoos
Solvent-based paints
Tobacco smoke
Varnishes

Table 26.3 Chemical Mixtures that Trigger MCS

include total body load, adaptation, bipolarity, biochemical individuality, spreading, and switch phenomenon.^[12,13]

- 1. *Total body load*. Total body load (burden) is the total pollutant load from whatever source that the patient carries. This can include organic chemicals, heavy metals, and other inorganics, as well as biological (bacteria, viruses, parasites, molds, and food).
- 2. *Adaptation*. Adaptation addresses the body's ability to increase body load without apparent symptoms, despite the fact that

continued toxic exposures may continue to damage the immune and enzyme detoxification systems (xenobiotic metabolic processes). At some point, such continued accumulation results in end-organ failure.

- 3. *Bipolarity*. Following toxic exposure, the body develops a bipolar response of a stimulatory phase followed by a depressive phase, with the induction of immune and enzymatic detoxification systems. If the toxic insult is great enough, the induced immune and enzyme detoxification systems are depleted or depressed by over-utilization and overstimulation. Bipolarity helps explain why symptoms may not be obviously related to exposures, but ensue following later exposures.
- 4. *Biochemical individuality*. Biochemical individuality addresses the unique genetic susceptibility of the individual. A group of people can be exposed to the same pollutant. One may develop arthritis, one sinusitis, one cystitis, one asthma, one diarrhea, and another may remain unaffected.
- 5. *Spreading.* This phenomenon occurs when sensitization to one chemical leads to low dose reactions to many other chemically unrelated substances.
- 6. *Switch phenomenon.* Switching refers to the changing of one endorgan response to another end-organ. For example, during a 24-h reaction the same toxic chemical exposure can start off as transient brain dysfunction and be followed by arthralgia, diarrhea, and then arrhythmia.

Iris R. Bell

Bell et al. have proposed a neural sensitization model to account for the observed hypersensitivity on some individuals to low level chemical exposures in MCS.^[17,20–22] These researchers describe neural sensitization as the progressive host amplification of a response over time from repeated, intermittent exposure to a stimulus. They report that drugs, chemicals, endogenous mediators, and exogenous stressors can all initiate sensitization and exhibit cross-sensitization between different types of stimuli. Laboratory studies with animals have demonstrated sensitization to several toxic chemicals, including formaldehyde, toluene, and pesticides. Animal studies have also shown cross-sensitization with formaldehyde and cocaine. Human laboratory studies with chemically intolerant humans have shown heightened sensitization specific chemical exposures as well as to nonspecific experimental challenges.^[20]

Bell et al. described an olfactory-limbic and neural sensitization mechanism for MCS. The following quotation from their 1997 article describes the phenomenon:^[17]

The olfactory-limbic and neural sensitization model proposes that individual differences in reactivity to environmental substances in MCS derive from neurobiologically based sensitization of the olfactory, limbic, mesolimbic and related pathways of the CNS. The nose is a direct pathway into the limbic system for both neural signals and for transport of many molecules. Among the sensory systems, only the olfactory system lacks a blood–brain barrier. The olfactory bulb, amygdale and hippocampus are interconnected parts of a phylogenetically older portion of the brain that is particularly vulnerable to sensitization processes. Repeated intermittent exposures to a given stimulus lead to progressively increased levels of responsivity over time in those structures. Sensitization then persists without reexposures for long periods of time.

In a following article on sensitization in chemically intolerant individuals, Bell and her colleagues write:^[20]

"Stressor" refers to an environmental factor of any category (chemical, physical or psychological) that the individual experiences as significant and thus places demands for adaptation upon the organism as a whole. Sensitization is the progressive amplification of host responses to repeated, intermittent exposures to an initiating stimulus or stressor. Allostasis is "the regulation of the internal milieu through dynamic change in a number of hormonal and physical variables in which there is anything but steady state." The compensatory and anticipatory nervous system and neuroendocrine changes that produce short-term coping for the individual lead to "allostatic load" and long-term costs from the development of chronic disease. Sensitization is one pathway into allostatic load. The manifestations of chronic disease for persons with chemical intolerance reflect individual differences in genetic and gender potential [primarily women] for dysfunction in different psychological subsystems interacting with the current environment.

Martin L. Pall

Pall has proposed that elevated nitric oxide/peroxynitrite levels are implicated in MCS. Peroxynitrite is formed by the reaction of nitric oxide with superoxide which in turn results from the action of reactive oxygen species (Section 4.9). Pall summarizes the evidence for the nitric oxide/peroxynitrite theory in the following 10 steps:^[23]

- 1. Several organic solvents thought to be able to induce MCS, formaldehyde, benzene, carbon tetrachloride, and certain organochlorine pesticides all induce increases in nitric oxide levels.
- 2. A sequence of action of organophosphate and carbamate insecticides is suggested whereby they may induce MCS by activating acetylcholinesterase and thus produce increases in nitric oxide.
- Evidence for induction of inflammatory cytokines by organic solvents that induce the inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS). Elevated cytokines are an integral part of the proposed feedback mechanism of the elevated nitric oxide/peroxynitrite theory.
- 4. Neopterin, a marker of the induction of iNOS, is reported to be elevated in MCS.
- 5. Increased oxidative stress has been reported in MCS; antioxidant therapy may produce improvements in symptoms, as expected, if levels of oxidant peroxynitrite are elevated.
- 6. In a series of studies of a mouse model of MCS involving partial kindling and kindling, excessive NMDA activity and nitric oxide synthesis were shown to be required to produce the characteristic biological response.
- 7. The symptoms exacerbated on chemical exposure are similar to the chronic symptoms of CFS [chronic fatigue syndrome]; these may be explained by several known properties of nitric oxide, peroxynitrite and inflammatory cytokines, each of which have a role in the proposed mechanism.
- 8. These conditions (MCS, CFS ...) are often treated through intramuscular injections of vitamin B-12; B-12 in the form of hydroxocobalamin is a potent nitric oxide scavenger in vitro and in vivo.
- 9. [P]eroxynitrite is known to induce increased permeabilization of the blood-brain barrier; such increased permeabilization is reported in a rat model of MCS.
- 10. Five types of evidence implicate NMDA activity in MCS, an activity known to increase nitric oxide and peroxynitrite levels.

The NMDA (*N*-methyl-*d*-aspartate) receptor is a receptor for glutamate, the most important excitatory neurotransmitter in the brain. Paul has

further theorized that MCS is accompanied by excessive NMDA activity. He attributes this to four factors:

- 1. Nitric oxide stimulates the release of glutamate.
- Peroxynitrite depletes ATP, causing NMDA receptors in depleted cells to be hypersensitive to stimulation.
- 3. Peroxynitrite increases permeability of the blood-brain barrier to organic compounds.
- Nitric oxide inhibits cytochrome P450 metabolism of organic compounds, resulting in the presence of increased concentrations of organic compounds that may stimulate NMDA activity.^[23]

The mechanisms proposed by Rea, Bell, and Pall are not incompatible. Each addresses MCS from a different angle and all three are valid. Rea attributes MCS to a weakened immune system and altered metabolism. Bell proposes that neurosensitization is the key to MCS induction, and Pall theorizes a molecular biological explanation. There are differences, however.

MCS sensitization and manifestation have been linked to both volatile and nonvolatile compounds, organic and inorganic. Neurosensitization resulting from inhalation does not explain sensitization from the ingestion of nonvolatile compounds such as those found in contaminated water and tainted foods nor does it account for the dermal absorption of xenobiotics known to cause sensitization. The neurosensitization and molecular biological approach do not address switching of symptoms resulting from the same exposure to different organs of the body. The model proposed by Rea does not attempt to address the molecular biological approach as the Bell and Paul models do.

26.6 MCS Mixture Effect

The Paul and Bell theories are based upon observed responses to single chemicals. Rea's approach considers mixtures of contaminants as always present, but makes no attempt to ascribe effects to particular mixtures. The theme of this book is that exposures to mixtures of lipophilic and hydrophilic toxic chemicals induce unanticipated effects, including low level responses, greater than anticipated effects, and attacks on unanticipated organs. Also, there are numerous examples of case studies where multiple organs are affected by low levels of the same mixtures. The following studies are illustrative of such multiorgan effects. The K_{ow} values, given in

parentheses, demonstrate the lipophilicity or hydrophilicity of the chemicals involved.

- 1. More than half of approximately 200 employees working with composite plastic materials in the building of an aircraft manufacturing plant reported CNS, respiratory, heart, and gastrointestinal symptoms. Phenol (1.46), formaldehyde (0.35), styrene (2.95), methylene chloride (1.25), methanol (-0.77), as well as several lipophilic aliphatic and aromatic hydrocarbons were found in the air of the building. All exposures were at levels below PEL.^[24]
- 2. A "mystery illness" that affected 17 casino workers with respiratory and CNS symptoms following fumigation with a mixture consisting of propoxur (1.52), coumaphos (4.13), 1,1,1-trichloro-ethane (2.49), methylene chloride (1.25), xylene (3.15), and acetone (-0.24). Industrial hygiene evaluation showed only trace quantities of the chemicals noted.^[25]
- 3. A laboratory study on mice found that there was little or no observed effect when water containing nitrates (-4.39) alone, aldicarb (1.13) alone, or atrazine (2.61) alone at groundwater MCL levels were consumed. When consumed together, however, in drinking water at the MCLs for groundwater, the mixture altered immune, endocrine, and nervous system parameters.^[26]

It has been proposed by this writer that when toxic mixtures are composed of lipophiles and hydrophiles, the lipophilic species facilitate the absorption of the hydrophilic ones and/or metabolites and thereby induce increased toxic effects compared to those caused by the single chemicals.^[27,28] The complicating factor in addressing MCS and its mechanisms is that the toxic environmental mixtures that people in the real world are exposed to are multifaceted and constantly changing. Not only are the individual species changing, but the proportions of lipophiles and hydrophiles are also constantly in flux. For example, an individual may simultaneously eat food contaminated with variable levels residual pesticides and other persistent organic pollutants, breathe air polluted with varying levels of diesel exhaust, ozone, and volatile organic compounds, and drink water containing ever changing quantities of disinfectant byproducts, heavy metals, and other contaminants. A large number and great varietv of chemical products and environmental mixtures are known to trigger MCS (Table 26.3). Given this complexity and the large number of symptoms associated with MCS (Table 26.1), this is not surprising. This variability in exposure and symptoms invites multiple mechanistic explanations, such as those offered earlier.

26.7 Chronic Fatigue Syndrome (CFS)

CFS, also known as Chronic Fatigue and Immune Dysfunction Syndrome (CFIDS), is a multisystem disorder with unknown etiology or pathophysiology. It is currently thought that CFS is a multifactorial condition in which an infective agent causes an aberrant immune response. It is characterized by extreme fatigue, immune system dysfunction, neurological and endocrine disorders, chronic pain, and numerous other symptoms. Many of those with CFS are extremely sensitive to chemical exposure.^[29–34]

CFS is diagnosed by its symptoms following the elimination of other possibilities. For a person to be diagnosed with CFS, she or he must meet the following two criteria:^[29,34]

Unexplained persistent or relapsing fatigue for at least six months duration that is

[1] of new or definite onset,

[2] not the result of ongoing exertion,

[3] is not substantially alleviated by rest,

[4] and results in substantial reduction in previous levels of occupational, educational, social, or personal activities

and

Four or more of the following eight symptoms, persistent or relapsing, for at least six months:

[1] impairment of short term memory or concentration;

[2] sore throat;

[3] tender cervical or axillary lymph nodes;

[4] muscle pain;

- [5] multi-joint pain without joint swelling of redness;
- [6] headaches of a new type, pattern or severity;
- [7] unrefreshing sleep; and
- [8] postexertional malaise lasting more than 24 hours.

The onset of CFS is generally thought to be preceded by a viral infection and flu-like illness, but, despite numerous studies, no etiologic agent has been identified. In patients with CFS, the immunological, endocrine, and CNS are affected.^[35] Symptoms may be exacerbated by infection, stress, and environmental agents, including organophosphate pesticides and other toxic chemicals.^[32] As discussed later, many of those with CFS are extremely sensitive to chemical exposure, and claims that chemicals are causative agents for the onset of CFS have been made. CFS, first discovered in Nevada in the 1980s,^[36] is prevalent worldwide, is more prevalent in women than in men, and occurs as isolated cases or in clusters.^[32,36–44] In a recent study carried out in Georgia (United States), the prevalence of CFS was estimated at 2.54% of people aged 18–59 years old. The study found no significant differences in the prevalence of CFS between metropolitan, urban, or rural areas, nor between Caucasian and African American residents of the state.^[44] Though this number is believed to be fairly well representative of the prevalence rate reported in the industrialized world, the actual number of cases may be higher due to a lack of recognition and underreporting of CFS cases.

It has been hypothesized that the same elevated nitric oxide/peroxynitrite mechanism described for MCS (Section 26.5),^[23] also applies to CFS.^[45–51] In this hypothesis, CFS symptoms are ascribed to nitric oxide, peroxynitrite, and related hypoxia as follows:^[46]

Symptom	Cause
Fatigue, loss of energy	Peroxynitrite attack on mitochondrial function; hypoxia
Immune dysfunction	Elevated oxidative stress (peroxynitrite)
Cognitive dysfunction	Elevated nitric oxide in the CNS; CNS hypoxia
Pain	Nitric oxide stimulation of nociceptors
Intense fatigue after exercising	Superoxide generation by hypoxia

26.8 CFS and Chemical Exposure

Patients with CFS often react to chemical exposures in a similar manner to those with MCS. Though, as discussed earlier, the initial onset of CFS is widely believed to be preceded by a viral infection or flu-like illness, CFS cases have been reported, however, following chronic and acute exposures to chemicals. These are:

 Three clusters of CFS have been associated with poor indoor air quality. In the first, 9 of 10 teachers in Truckee, California, using a conference room that was contaminated with fumes from a spirit copy machines, cigarette smoke, and continually recycled air, developed clinical symptoms consistent with CFS. The second involved 23% of the 22 teachers in a school in Elk Grove, California, who worked in the same wing of the school, a poorly ventilated area with gasoline engine exhausts and volatile organic chemicals from
an adjoining art room. In the third cluster, 10% of the 93 workers in an office building with no functioning windows in Washington, DC, were affected. Though 83% of the workers in the building described the air in it as stuffy, industrial hygiene evaluations of the building failed to identify any air quality abnormalities.^[52]

- 2. Researchers at the National Reference Center for CFS Study at the Department of Infectious Diseases of G. D'Annunio University in Chieti, Italy, reported that five individuals developed clinical features of CFS several months after their exposures, two to the food poison ciguatera and three to organic solvents.^[53]
- 3. CFS was reported in 10 farmers in the United Kingdom as a delayed reaction following chronic low-dose exposure to organo-phosphates, including malathion.^[54] The onset of CFS symptoms in all except one was preceded by a flu-like illness. In the tenth, CFS was preceded by cholecystitis. Due to this, it is not clear whether the pesticide exposures alone were the CFS causative agents in this study.
- 4. Organophosphate pesticides were identified as causative CFS agents in a questionnaire study of sheep farmers in the United Kingdom. These individuals regularly dip their sheep into these insecticides to control lice and other pests, resulting in large dermal exposures. In this study, a high prevalence of CFS was reported. Elevated chronic fatigue scores were associated with higher exposure levels and increased levels of symptoms in the affected farmers.^[55]
- Pesticides were further implicated as causative agents for CFS in a Spanish study that reported on 26 people who developed CFS following their return to a workplace that had been fumigated.^[56]

With the exception of the Spanish study, all the reported CFS cases followed long-term, chronic exposures or disease onset long after exposure. In the British study, infections immediately preceded the reported onset of CFS. These studies, while suggestive, do not establish a causal relationship between chemical exposure and CFS. CFS has immune, nervous, and endocrine system involvement. It should not be surprising, however, that chemicals that affect these body systems can contribute to, if not be a cause of, CFS. This subject is pursued further in Section 26.12.

The most compelling evidence for the association between chemical exposure and CFS comes from the fact that many veterans of the Persian Gulf War in 1991 have been diagnosed with CFS following their exposures in the Persian Gulf. This subject is explored in Section 26.10.

26.9 Fibromyalgia (FM)

FM is a widespread musculoskeletal pain and fatigue disorder. Though the cause of FM remains unknown, many events are thought to trigger its onset. These include a viral or bacterial infection, the development of rheumatoid arthritis, lupus or hypothyroidism, or a traumatic event such as an automobile accident.^[57,58]

Symptoms of FM include

- Pain—chronic widespread pain described as burning, throbbing, shooting, or stabbing. Upper back, lower back, neck, shoulders, and other areas around joints are the painful areas.
- Fatigue—fatigue can be mild to profound, with some patients feeling drained all over and left incapable of accomplishing daily activities.
- Sleep disorder—most FM patients have an alpha-EEG sleep disorder, with deep level sleep being constantly disrupted.
- Irritable bowel syndrome—approximately 40–70% of FM patients frequently have constipation, diarrhea, abdominal pain, abdominal gas, and nausea.
- Chronic headaches—recurrent migraine or tension-type headaches are prevalent in about half of those with FM.
- Temporo-mandibular joint dysfunction syndrome—tremendous face and head pain seen in about 25% of patients with FM.
- MCS—approximately 50% of FM patients have the symptoms associated with MCS.
- Other symptoms—other common symptoms of FM include chest pain, morning stiffness, cognitive or memory impairment, dizziness, impaired coordination, numbness and tingling sensations, irritable bladder, twitching, dry eyes or mouth, and skin sensitivities.

As can be seen from this list of symptoms, many are emblematic of multiple chemical sensitivity and chronic fatigue syndrome. This crossover of symptoms often complicates the diagnosis of FM. Mechanistically, oxidative stress and nitric oxide are believed to play a role in FM pathophysiology; however, it is not clear at this time whether the oxidative stress abnormalities found in FM are the cause or the effect.^[46,59]

One study relating chemical exposure to FM has been published. In it, four patients diagnosed with FM are reported to have complete or nearly complete resolution of their symptoms within months of eliminating two excitotoxins—monosodium glutamate (MSG) or MSG plus aspartame from their diets.^[60] The authors point out that excitotoxins act as excitatory neurotransmitters that can lead to neurotoxicity when excessively consumed. No other similar studies have been found.

26.10 Gulf War Syndrome (GWS)

GWS is an illness with multiple symptoms that affects veterans of the Persian Gulf War in 1991. The symptoms reported include^[61]

- Chronic fatigue
- Loss of muscle control
- Muscle and joint pain
- Headache
- Dizziness
- Loss of balance
- Cognitive and memory problems
- Indigestion
- Skin disorders
- Dyspnea
- Indigestion
- Diarrhea.

The cause of GWS is unknown, but it seems to be related to chemical exposures that soldiers were exposed to during their service in the war. These include

- 1. Smoke from oil well fires
- 2. Diesel exhausts
- 3. Combustion products from depleted uranium munitions
- 4. Pesticides and insect repellants
- 5. Pyridostigmine bromide (PB), administered to troops to protect against injury by nerve gas agents.

As discussed in Section 18.6, military personnel were administered PB and also exposed to DEET (an insect repellant) and permethrin (an insecticide), the combination of which produced unanticipated neurological symptoms.^[62] When the exposures from diesel exhaust, oil well fire smoke, and spent munitions combustion products are added to these, the onset of other unexpected health effects are not surprising. It is to be noted that the chemical mixtures to which the military personnel were exposed to included large numbers of lipophilic and hydrophilic species.

More than 100,000 of the 700,000 U.S. veterans as well as similar numbers of veterans of other nationalities who participated in the Gulf War have registered with the Veterans Administration as having Gulf exposure related illnesses.^[63–67] Many of these individuals have symptoms that meet the criteria for MCS and CFS.^[68,69] Since other causative exposures have been seemingly ruled out, the large number of CFS patients found among

Gulf veterans compels a strong argument for chemical mixture exposure being a cause of at least some cases of CFS.

26.11 Comorbidity of MCS, CFS, and FM

Patients with MCS, CFS, and FM report many of the same symptoms, including myalgia, fatigue, sleep disturbances, and impairment of their ability to perform daily activities. There is also considerable comorbidity of these syndromes in affected patients.^[70–74] The following studies are illustrative:

- 1. Severe chemical intolerance is prevalent among 20–47% of patients with MCS, CFS, and/or FM.^[71]
- 2. In one study, 37% of CFS patients met the clinical criteria for FM and 33% met the criteria for MCS.^[72]
- 3. In a second study, 70% of patients with FM and 30% of those with MCS met the clinical criteria for CFS.^[75]
- A third study reported that of patients with CFS, 40.6% met the clinical criteria for MCS and 15.6% met the clinical criteria for FM.^[73]
- 5. A fourth study found that of people who met the criteria for CFS, 43.9% had CFS alone, 23.7% met the criteria for CFS and MCS, 15.8% met the criteria for CFS–FM, and 16.7% met the criteria for CFS, MCS, and FM.^[74]

It has been proposed that the presence of comorbid illness among patients with MCS, CFS, and FM supports a single syndrome hypothesis, that is, that all are variants of a single functional disorder.^[72] This is supported by the nitric oxide/peroxynitrite hypothesis that was discussed previously.^[23,45–48] and by the shared symptoms in Gulf War veterans.^[68,69] It is argued here, however, that though these illnesses have overlapping symptoms, this hypothesis is yet to be definitively proven. Each of the illnesses has distinct differences from the others and at least one, MCS, demonstrates a resolution of symptoms when exposures to the causative chemicals are eliminated.

26.12 Chemical Sensitivity Trigger Hypothesis

MCS has been shown to be caused by chemical exposure and there is evidence and mechanistic support for chemicals being the causative agents for CFS and FM. It is proposed here that chemicals may, indeed, be causative agents for all chemical sensitivity syndromes for the following reasons:

- 1. Large numbers of Gulf War veterans who were exposed to complex chemical mixtures have been diagnosed with MCS and CFS.^[68,69]
- 2. A number of CFS clusters have been identified with indoor chemical exposures,^[52] as well as with exposure to organic solvents and organophosphate pesticides^[53–55]
- 3. Resolution of FM symptoms has been associated with the dietary removal of excitatory neurotransmitters.^[60]
- 4. All three conditions and their symptoms can be explained by a common nitric oxide/peroxynitrite mechanism.^[23,45–49]
- 5. All three conditions are manifest by immune, neurologic, and endocrine factors.^[13,34] Numerous chemicals and chemical mixtures are known to affect the immune, CNS, and endocrine systems (Chapters 18, 22, and 25). Chemicals or chemical mixtures that are toxic to these three systems would be expected, at the very least, to exacerbate other causative effects, or to act alone as causative agents.
- 6. Hundreds of single chemicals have been identified as immunotoxic, endocrinotoxic, or neurotoxic. More than 50 neurotoxic chemicals are also known to be toxic to the immune system. Of these, 20 are also known to be toxic to the endocrine system These are referenced to the Scorecard web site, which contains the primary toxicity references.^[76] Table 26.4 lists these chemicals.

The chemicals that are toxic to all three systems include organophosphate, organochlorine, and carbamate pesticides, other persistent organic products, heavy metals, solvents, plasticizers, industrial chemicals, and chemicals used in consumer products.

The nitric oxide/peroxynitrite mechanism proposed for chemical sensitization illnesses^[23,46] dictates that chemicals that lead to oxidative stress in the body would exacerbate the effects by increasing nitric oxide and peroxynitrite concentrations. Many of the chemicals listed in Table 26.4 as well as other heavy metals, polyaromatic hydrocarbons, haloalkanes, aromatic amines, phenols, alkenes, alcohols, and other compounds lead to increased nitric oxide and peroxynitrite concentrations.^[77–81] Table 26.5 contains a partial list of these chemicals.

The chemicals listed in Tables 26.4 and 26.5 are all toxic to humans. It is hypothesized that single chemicals with multiple organ targets in the

26: CHEMICAL SENSITIVITY

Chemical	CNS	IMM	END
Acrylamide	*	*	
Acrylonitrile	*	*	
Alachlor	*	*	*
Arochlor 1254 (PCB)	*	*	*
Arsenic	*	*	*
Atrazine	*	*	*
Benzene	*	*	*
Carbaryl	*	*	*
Cobalt	*	*	
Cyclohexanone	*	*	
DDT	*	*	*
Diazomethane	*	*	
Dibenzothiazine	*	*	
Dibutyl phthalate	*	*	*
1,2-dichlorobenzene	*	*	
Dichlorvos	*	*	
Dieldrin	*	*	*
Diethyl phthalate	*	*	*
Diethylamine	*	*	
Diethyl stilbestrol	*	*	
Diisopropyl amine	*	*	
1,4-dioxane	*	*	
Endosulfan	*	*	*
Ethyl acrylate	*	*	
Ethylene oxide	*	*	
Ethylene diamine	*	*	
Formaldehyde	*	*	
Gold	*	*	
Hexylene glycol	*	*	
Hydrazine	*	*	*
Hydroquinone	*	*	
(+)-4-isopropyl-1-methylcyclohexene	*	*	
Lead	*	*	*
Malathion	*	*	*
Maneb	*	*	*
Mercury	*	*	*
Methacrylonitrile	*	*	
Methyl acrylate	*	*	
Methyl mercury	*	*	

Table 26.4 Chemicals with Multiple System Toxicities

(Continued)

Chemical	CNS	IMM	END
Nickel	*	*	*
Ozone	*	*	
Potassium dichromate	*	*	
Propylene glycol	*	*	
Pyridine	*	*	
Styrene	*	*	*
Tin	*	*	*
Toluene	*	*	
Triethyl amine	*	*	
Xylene	*	*	
Zineb	*	*	*
Ziram	*	*	*

 Table 26.4
 Chemicals with Multiple System Toxicities (Continued)

Note: CNS, central nervous system; IMM, immune system; END, endocrine system, Toxicities indicated by *.

Table 26.5 Xenobic	otic Chemicals Le	ading to Increased	Oxidative Stress ^[77–8]
--------------------	-------------------	--------------------	------------------------------------

Lead
Mercury
Cadmium
Beryllium
Arsenic
Chromium
Nickel
Manganese
Iron
Copper
Vanadium
Zinc
Platinum
Selenium
Silica
Carbon tetrachloride
Chloroform
Methylene chloride
Trichloroethylene
Benzene
Bromo benzene

DDT
Methoxychlor
Chlorpyrifos
Acephate
Permethrin
Paraquat
2,4-D
Atrazine
Cyanazine
Pentachlorophenol
Methyl bromide
1,2-Dibromomethane
Ethylene oxide
Ethanol
Octylphenol
Nonylphenol
Epichlorohydrin
Styrene
Acrylonitrile
1,3-Butadiene
Phenol
Phthalates
PCBs
Dioxins
Hydrogen peroxide
Benzidine
Ethylene
Vinyl chloride
Vinylidene chloride
Potassium bromate
2-Nitropropane
Tobacco smoke

Table 26.5	Xenobiotic Chemicals Leading to Increased Oxidative
Stress ^[77-81] (Continued)

body as well as mixtures of chemicals, that together target multiple organs, act to sensitize the body to chemical insult in MCS and, at the very least, act to promote symptoms in patients with CFS and FM. In the extreme, multiple organ chemical action can be one of the agents to trigger the onset of CFS and FM, as in the case of GWS. Weight is given to this hypothesis by an examination of the products known to bring on MCS symptoms (Table 26.3) and the enhanced toxic effects attributed to mixtures. All of

the products in Table 26.3 are composed of mixtures of lipophilic and hydrophilic compounds. Most are toxic to the CNS, immune, and endocrine systems, and many are known to induce oxidative stress. Chemical mixtures of lipophilic and hydrophilic chemicals are known to induce low level chemical sensitivity that is enhanced via the facilitated absorption of hydrophiles by lipophiles.^[27]

26.13 Summary

Large numbers of causative agents, mostly mixtures of functionally different chemicals, have been associated with MCS. People with MCS exhibit a variety of reversible symptoms that are primarily respiratory, neurological, immunological endocrinological, and musculoskeletal, but exhibit other organ symptoms as well. Several mechanisms have been proposed to explain MCS, and although different from each other, these mechanisms are not mutually exclusive. Though MCS has been shown to be caused by exposures to single chemical compounds, most of the causative exposures, however, are to mixtures of chemicals. The causative chemical mixtures for MCS are complex, containing numerous lipophiles and hydrophiles, that include volatile organic compounds, pesticides, and other persistent organic pollutants, heavy metals, and food additives that can act synergistically. The composition of the toxic chemical "soup" to which people are exposed in modern society is also constantly changing. These variables may account for the wide range of seemingly causative agents and symptoms that have been reported for MCS.

There is evidence that CFS and FM are triggered by chemical exposure, though that may not be the primary trigger. Many of the symptoms attributable to CFS and FM are similar to those in MCS and there is comorbidity among patients with these illnesses. There are mechanistic similarities between all three syndromes, that is, increases in nitric oxide and peroxynitrite levels (increased oxidative stress). Though it has been suggested that MCS, CFS, and FM are all manifestations of the same disorder, symptoms in MCS are reversible upon withdrawal of the triggering agents, whereas those in CFS and FM do not readily resolve upon withdrawal of chemical stimuli.

MCS, CFS, and FM all have immune, nervous, and endocrine system manifestations. It has been hypothesized that chemicals, or mixtures of chemicals, that attack these multiple systems may be causative for the onset of all three. The fact that large numbers of Gulf War veterans, who were exposed to a multitude of chemicals toxic to all three systems (immune, nervous and endocrine) and continue to demonstrate clinical symptoms for all three conditions (MCS, CFS and FM) lends supporting evidence for this hypothesis.

References

- 1. Randolph TG. Human ecology and susceptibility to the chemical environment, Thomas, Springfield, IL, 1962.
- 2. Miller CS. White paper. Chemical sensitivity: History and phenomenology. *Toxicol Ind Health* 1994; 10(4–5):253–75.
- 3. Hileman B. Multiple chemical sensitivity. *Chem Eng News* 1991; 69(29): 26–42.
- 4. Cullen MR. The worker with multiple chemical sensitivities: An overview. *Occup Med* 1987; 2(4):655–61.
- 5. Magill MK, Suruda A. Multiple chemical sensitivity syndrome. *Am Fam Physician* 1998; 58(3):721–8.
- Nethercutt JR, Davidoff LL, Curbow B, et al. Multiple chemical sensitivities syndrome: Toward a working case definition. *Arch Environ Health* 1993; 48:19–26.
- 7. Bartha L, Baumzweiger W, Buscher DS, et al. Multiple chemical sensitivity: A 1999 consensus. *Arch Environ Health* 1999; 54(3):147–9.
- 8. Chemical Injury Information Network. Our toxic times 2006; 17(9):20-1.
- 9. Terr AI. Clinical ecology. Ann Int Med 1989; 111(2):168-78.
- 10. Orme T. *Multiple chemical sensitivity*, American Council on Science and Health, New York, NY, 1994.
- 11. J Clin Ecol. Any issue.
- Rea WJ, Johnson AR, Ross GH. Considerations for the diagnosis of chemical sensitivity. In DW Talmage et al. (eds), *Biologic markers in immunotoxicology*, National Academy Press, Washington, DC, 1992, pp. 169–89. Also available online at www.aehf.com/articles/A55.htm
- 13. Rea WJ. Chemical sensitivity, Lewis, Boca Raton, FL, 1992.
- 14. Ziem G, McTamney J. Profile of patients with chemical injury and sensitivity. *Environ Health Perspect* 1997; 105 (Suppl 2):417–36.
- 15. Jewett DL. Diagnosis and treatment of hypersensitivity syndrome. In KM Rest (ed.), *Toxicology and human health, advancing the understanding of multiple chemical sensitivity*, Proceedings of the Association of Occupational and Environmental Clinics (AOEC) Workshop on Multiple Chemical Sensitivity, Washington, DC, September 1991, pp. 111–23.
- Sorg BA, Tschirgl ML, Swindell S, et al. Repeated formaldehyde effects in an animal model for multiple chemical sensitivity. *Ann NY Acad Sci* 2001; 933:57–67.
- 17. Bell IR, Schwartz GE, Baldwin CM, et al. Individual differences in neural sensitization and the role of context illness from low-level environmental chemical exposures. *Environ Health Perspect* 1997; 105 (Suppl 2):457–66.
- 18. Miller CS, Mitzel HC. Chemical sensitivity attributed to pesticide exposure versus remodeling. *Arch Environ Health* 1995; 50(2):119–29.

- Fiedler N, Kelly-McNeil K, Mohr S, et al. Controlled human exposure to methyl tertiary butyl ether in gasoline: Symptoms, psychophysiologic and neurobehavioral responses of self-reported sensitive persons. *Environ Health Perspect* 2000; 108(8):753–63.
- 20. Bell IR, Baldwin CM, Fernandez M, Schwartz GE. Neural sensitization model for multiple chemical sensitivity: Overview of theory and empirical evidence. *Toxicol Ind Health* 1999; 15(3–4):295–304.
- 21. Bell IR, Baldwin CM, Schwartz GE. Sensitization studies in chemically intolerant individuals: Implications for individual difference research. *Ann NY Acad Sci* 2001; 933:38–47.
- 22. Bell IR, Miller CS, Schwartz GE. An olfactory-limbic model of multiple chemical sensitivity syndrome: Possible relationships to kindling and affective spectrum disorders. *Biol Psychiatry* 1992; 32:218–42.
- 23. Pall ML. NMDA sensitization and stimulation by peroxynitrite, nitric oxide, and organic solvents as the mechanism of chemical sensitivity in multiple chemical sensitivity. *FASEB J* 2002; 16:1407–17.
- 24. Sparks PJ, Simon GE, Katon WJ, et al. An outbreak of illness among aerospace workers. *West J Med* 1990; 153(1):28–33.
- 25. Cone JE, Sult TA. Acquired intolerance to solvents following acute pesticide/ solvent intoxication in a building, U.S. Department of Labor, Occupational Safety and Health Administration, Report No. 0030-Cone-91-012, Washington, DC, 1991.
- 26. Porter WP, Jaeger JW, Carlson IH. Endocrine, immune and behavioral effects of aldicarb (carbamate), atrazine (thiazine) and nitrate (fertilizer) mixtures at groundwater concentrations. *Toxicol Ind Health* 1999; 15(1–2):133–50.
- 27. Zeliger HI. Toxic effects of chemical mixtures. *Arch Environ Health* 2003; 58(1):23–9.
- 28. Zeliger HI. Cancer clusters: Common threads. *Arch Environ Health* 2004; 59(4):172–6.
- 29. Fukuda K, Strauss SE, Hickie I, et al. The chronic fatigue syndrome: A comprehensive approach to its definition and study. International Chronic Fatigue Study Group. *Ann Intern Med* 1994; 121(12):953–9.
- 30. The CFIDS Chronicle. The CFIDS Association of America 2005; 18(1):37.
- 31. Lapp CW. Conference overview. CFIDS Res Rev 2005; 6(1):10–11.
- 32. Devanur LD, Kerr JR. Chronic fatigue syndrome. J Clin Virol 2006; 37:139–50.
- 33. Appel S, Chapman J, Shoenfeld Y. Infection and vaccination in chronic fatigue syndrome: Myth or reality? *Autoimmunity* 2007; 40(1):48–53.
- 34. Gerrity TR, Papanicolaou DA, Amsterdam JD, et al. Immunologic aspects of chronic fatigue syndrome. *Neuroimmunomodulation* 2004; 11:351–7.
- 35. Tanriverdi F, Karaca Z, Unluhiarci K, Kelestimur F. The hypothalamopituitary-adrenal axis in chronic fatigue syndrome and fibromyalgia syndrome. *Stress* 2007; 10(1):13–25.
- 36. Daugherty SA, Henry BE, Peterson DL, et al. Chronic fatigue syndrome in northern Nevada. *Rev Infect Dis* 1991; 13 (Suppl 1):S39–44.
- 37. Levine PH, Jacobson S, Picinki AG, Cheney P, Peterson D, et al. Clinical, epidemiologic, and virologic studies in four clusters of the chronic fatigue syndrome. *Arch Intern Med* 1992; 152(8):1611–16.

- 38. Njoku MG, Jason LA, Torres-Harding SR. The prevalence of chronic fatigue syndrome in Nigeria. *J Health Psychol* 2007; 12(3):461–74.
- Reyes M, Gary HE, Jr, Dobbins JG, et al. Surveillance for chronic fatigue syndrome—four U.S. cities, September 1989 through August 1993. MMWR CDC Surveill Summ 1997; 46(2):1–13.
- 40. Shefer A, Dobbins JG, Fukuda K, et al. Fatiguing illness among employees in three large state office buildings, California, 1993: Was there an outbreak? *J Psychiatr Res* 1997; 31(1):31–43.
- 41. Steele L, Dobbins JG, Fukuda K, et al. The epidemiology of chronic fatigue in San Francisco. *Am J Med* 1998; 105(3A):83S–90S.
- 42. Reyes M, Nisenbaum R, Hoaglin DC, et al. Prevalence and incidence of chronic fatigue syndrome in Wichita, Kansas. *Arch Intern Med* 2003; 163(13):1530–6.
- 43. Huibers MJH, Kant IJ, Swaen GMH, Kasl SV. Prevalence of chronic fatigue syndrome-like caseness in the working population: Results from the Maastricht cohort study. *Occup Environ Med* 2004; 61:464–6.
- 44. Reeves WC, Jones JF, Maloney E, et al. Prevalence of chronic fatigue syndrome in metropolitan, urban and rural Georgia. *Popul Health Metrics* 2007; 5:5, www.pophealthmetrics.com/content/5/1/5
- 45. Pall ML. Elevated, sustained peroxynitrite levels as the cause of chronic fatigue syndrome. *Med Hypotheses* 2000; 54(1):115–25.
- 46. Pall ML. Elevated peroxynitrite as the cause of chronic fatigue syndrome: Other inducers and mechanisms of symptom generation. *J Chronic Fatigue Syndr* 2000; 7(4):45–58.
- 47. Pall ML, Satterlee JD. Elevated nitric oxide/peroxynitrite mechanism for the common etiology of multiple chemical sensitivity, chronic fatigue syndrome and posttraumatic stress disorder. *Ann NY Acad Sci* 2001; 933:323–9.
- 48. Pall ML. Common etiology of posttraumatic stress disorder, fibromyalgia, chronic fatigue syndrome and multiple chemical sensitivity via elevated nitric oxide/peroxynitrite. *Med Hypotheses* 2001; 57(2):139–45.
- 49. Pall ML. Levels of nitric oxide synthase product citrulline are elevated in sera of chronic fatigue syndrome patients. *J Chronic Fatigue Syndr* 2002; 10(3/4):37–41.
- 50. Zanelli SA, Trimmer AP, Solenski NJ. Nitric oxide impairs mitochondrial movement in cortical neurons during hypoxia. *J Neurochem* 2006; 97(3): 724–36.
- 51. Pall ML. Nitric oxide synthase partial uncoupling as a key switching mechanism for NO/ONOO-cycle. *Med Hypotheses* 2007; 69(4):821–5.
- Chester AC, Levine PH. Concurrent sick building syndrome and chronic fatigue syndrome: Epidemic neuromyasthenia revisited. *Clin Infect Dis* 1994; 18 (Suppl 1):S43–8.
- 53. Racciatti D, Vecchiet J, Ceccomancini A, et al. Chronic fatigue syndrome following a toxic exposure. *Sci Total Environ* 2001; 270(1–3):27–31.
- 54. Behan PO. Chronic fatigue syndrome as a delayed reaction to chronic lowdose organophosphate exposure. *J Nutr Environ Med* 1996; 6:341–50.
- 55. Tahmaz N, Soutar A, Cherrie JW. Chronic fatigue and organophosphate pesticides in sheep farming: A retrospective study amongst people reporting to a UK pharmacovigilance scheme. *Ann Occup Hyg* 2003; 47(4):261–7.

- 56. Fernandez-Sola J, Lluis PM, Nogue XS. Chronic fatigue syndrome and multiple chemical hypersensitivity after insecticide exposure. *Med Clin* 2005; 124(12):451–3.
- 57. Nampiaparampil DE, Shmerling RH. A review of fibromyalgia. *Am J Manag Care* 2004; 10(11 Pt 1):794–800.
- 58. UK Fibromyalgia. What is fibromyalgia syndrome? www.ukfibromyalgia. com/support_pages/support-definition.html
- 59. Ozgocmen S, Ozyurt H, Sogut S, Akyol O. Current concepts in the pathophysiology of fibromyalgia: The potential role of oxidative stress and nitric oxide. *Rheumatol Int* 2006; 26(7):585–97.
- 60. Smith JD, Terpening CM, Schmidt SO, Gums JG. Relief of fibromyalgia symptoms following discontinuation of dietary excitotoxins. *Ann Pharmacother* 2001; 35(6):702–6.
- 61. Answers.com. Gulf War Syndrome, www.answers.com/topic/gulf-warsyndrome?cat=health
- 62. Abou-Donia MB, Dechkowskaia AM, Goldstein LB, et al. Co-exposure to pyridostigmine bromide, DEET and/or permethrin causes sensorimotor deficit and alterations in brain acetylcholinesterase activity. *Pharm Biochem Behav* 2004; 77:253–62.
- 63. University of Virginia, Environmental Medicine Dept. Gulf War Syndrome, 2007. www.healthsystem.virginia.edu/UVAHealth/adult_environ/gulf.cfm
- 64. Fiedler N, Giardino N, Natelson B, et al. Responses to controlled diesel vapor exposure among chemically sensitive Gulf War veterans. *Psychosomatic Med* 2004; 66:588–98.
- 65. Blanchard MS, Eisen SA, Alpern R, et al. Chronic multisymptom illness complex in Gulf War I veterans 10 years later. *Am J Epidemiol* 2006; 163(1):66–75.
- 66. Salamon R, Verret C, Jutland MA, et al. Health consequences of the first Persian Gulf War on French troops. *Int J Epidemiol* 2006; 35(2):479–87.
- 67. Kelsall HL, Sim MR, Forbes AB, et al. Symptoms and medical conditions in Australian veterans of the 1991 Gulf War: Relation to immunizations and other Gulf War exposures. *Occup Environ Med* 2004; 61(12):1006–13.
- 68. Pollet C, Natelson BH, Lange G, et al. Medical evaluation of Persian Gulf veterans with fatigue and/or chemical sensitivity. *J Med* 1998; 29(3–4): 101–13.
- 69. Reid S, Hotopf M, Hull L, et al. Multiple chemical sensitivity and chronic fatigue syndrome in British Gulf War veterans. *Am J Epidemiol* 2001; 153(6):604–9.
- Aaron LA, Burke MM, Buchwald D. Overlapping conditions among patients with chronic fatigue syndrome, fibromyalgia and temporomandibular disorder. *Arch Intern Med* 2000; 160(2):2398–401.
- Bell IR, Baldwin CM, Schwartz GE. Illness from low levels of environmental chemicals: Relevance to chronic fatigue syndrome and fibromyalgia. *Am J Med* 1998; 105(3A):74S–82S.
- 72. Ciccone DS, Natelson BH. Comorbid illness in women with chronic fatigue syndrome: A test of the single syndrome hypothesis. *Psychosomatic Med* 2003; 65:268–75.

26: CHEMICAL SENSITIVITY

- Jason LA, Taylor RR, Kennedy CL. Chronic fatigue syndrome, fibromyalgia and multiple chemical sensitivities in a community-based sample from persons with chronic fatigue-like symptoms. *Psychosomatic Med* 2000; 62:655–63.
- Brown MM, Jason, LA. Functioning in individuals with chronic fatigue syndrome: Increased impairment with co-occurring multiple chemical sensitivity and fibromyalgia. *Dyn Med* 2007; 6(1):6, www.dynamic-med.com/ content/6/1/6
- 75. Buchwald D, Garrity D. Comparison of patients with chronic fatigue syndrome, fibromyalgia, and multiple chemical sensitivities. *Arch Intern Med* 1994; 154(18):2049–53.
- 76. Scorecard. The pollution information site, www.scorecard.org
- 77. Kovacic P, Jacintho JD. Reproductive toxins: Pervasive theme of oxidative stress and electron transfer. *Curr Med Chem* 2001; 8(7):863–92.
- 78. Kovacic P, Jacintho JD. Mechanisms of carcinogenesis: Focus on oxidative stress and electron transfer. *Curr Med Chem* 2001; 8(7):773–96.
- 79. Kovacic P, Sacman A, Wu-Weis M. Nephrotoxins: Widespread role of oxidative stress and electron transfer. *Curr Med Chem* 2002; 9(8):823–47.
- Kovacic P, Pozos RS, Somanathan R, et al. Mechanism of mitochondrial uncouplers, inhibitors, and toxins: Focus on electron transfer, free radicals and structure–activity relationships. *Curr Med Chem* 2005; 12(22):2601–23.
- Kovacic P, Thurn LA. Cardiovascular toxicity from the perspective of oxidative stress, electron transfer and prevention by antioxidants. *Curr Vasc Pharmacol* 2005; 3(2):107–17.

27.1 Introduction

Human skin provides a barrier that protects the body from the physical, biological, and chemical environment. Skin, however, is also a permeable membrane through which xenobiotic chemicals may enter the body. Chemicals contacting the skin can also injure or burn the skin, cause dermatitis, sensitization, and other skin maladies and make the skin less capable of guarding against physical and biological insult. Lipophilic chemicals more easily permeate the skin than hydrophilic chemicals, but when mixed together, the lipophiles facilitate the absorption of hydrophiles.

As a rule, chemicals that are injurious to the skin also adversely affect the eyes and organs of the gastrointestinal and respiratory systems when contact is made. The effects on these organs are greater than those on the skin because they lack the protective layers present in the skin.

More than 800 chemicals have been identified as being toxic to the skin. These include aliphatic, aromatic and chlorinated hydrocarbons, alcohols, esters, ethers, glycols, aldehydes, ketones, inorganic oxidizers, heavy metals, acids, alkalis, pesticides, plasticizers, polynuclear aromatic compounds, POPs, and surfactants.^[1–3] A partial list of these is contained in Table 27.1. A more complete list is available on the Scorecard web site.^[3]

27.2 Skin Permeability

Skin is naturally covered with protective lipophilic oils, and the outer layer of the skin, the stratum corneum, is also lipophilic.^[4,5] As a result, lipophilic chemicals are absorbed through skin at higher rates than hydrophilic species and permeability is directly related to K_{ow} , as demonstrated by the following two studies. In the first, the permeabilities of a homologous series of parabens across excised guinea pig dorsal skin increased with increasing K_{ow} values as follows:^[6]

Paraben	K _{ow}	Normalized Permeability Coefficients
Methyl	1.66	1.00
Ethyl	2.19	5.02
Propyl	2.71	10.18
Butyl	3.24	14.16

Acetaldehyde
Acetic acid
Acetone
Acetophenone
Acrolein
Acrylamide
Aldrin
Allyl alcohol
Allyl amine
Ammonia
Ammonium dichromate
Ammonium persulfate
Aniline
Anthracene
Antimony compounds
Arsenic compounds
Atrazine
Benzene
Benzoic acid
Beryllium compounds
Biphenyl
Bis(2-ethylhexylphthalate)
Bismuth compounds
Bromine
Butyl acetate
Butyl alcohol
Butyraldehyde
Calcium hydroxide
Calcium oxide
Carbaryl
Carbon disulfide
Chloramines
Chlorine
Chromium compounds
Cobalt compounds
Cresol (all isomers)
Cumene
Cyclohexanone
DDT
Diazanon
Diazomethane

 Table 27.1 Partial List of Chemicals Toxic to the Skin

Table 27.1	Partial List o	f Chemicals	Toxic to the	Skin (Continued)
------------	----------------	-------------	--------------	------------------

Dichlorvos Diethyl ether Diethyl phthalate Diethylene glycol 1,2-Dibromoethane 1.2-Dichlorobenzene 1,2-Dichloroethane 1,1-Dichloroethylene 1,1-Dimethyl hydrazine Dimethyl sulfate Epichlorohydrin Epoxy resins and hardeners Ethanol Ethyl acetate Ethyl acrylate Ethylbenzene Ethylene glycol Ethylene glycol monobutyl ether Ethylene glycol monomethyl ether acetate Ethylene oxide Formaldehyde Formic acid Gasoline Glutaraldehyde Gold compounds Heptachlor Hexachlorobenzene Hexachlorophene Hydrazine Hydrogen bromide (hydrobromic acid) Hydrogen chloride (hydrochloric acid) Hydrogen fluoride (hydrofluoric acid) Hydrogen cyanide Hydrogen peroxide Hydroquinone Isopropyl alcohol Lead compounds Malathion Maneb Mercury compounds (organic and inorganic) Methacrylic acid

Methanol
Methoxychlor
Methyl ethyl ketone
Methyl isobutyl ketone
Methyl isocyanate
Methyl methacrylate
Methyl paraben
Methylene blue
Methylene chloride
Naphthalene
Nitric acid
Nitrogen dioxide
Oxalic acid
Ozone
Paraquat
Parathion
Pentachlorophenol
Phenol
Phosgene
Phosphoric acid
Phosphorus
Phthalic anhydride
Platinum compounds
Polybrominated biphenyls (PBBs)
Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs)
Potassium hydroxide
Portland cement
Propionic acid
Propyl paraben
Propylene glycol
Propylene glycol monomethyl ether
Pyrethrum
Pyridine
Selenium compounds
Sodium azide
Sodium carbonate
Sodium fluoride
Sodium hydroxide
Sodium hypochlorite
Sodium metabisulfite
Stoddard solvent

 Table 27.1 Partial List of Chemicals Toxic to the Skin (Continued)

(Continued)

Styrene
Sulfuric acid
Tetrachloroethylene
Thallium compounds
Tin compounds
Toluene
Toluene-2,4-diisocyanate (TDI)
1,1,1-Trichloroethane
Trichloroethylene
Triethanolamine
Triethyl amine
Turpentine
Vinyl acetate
Vinyl chloride
VM&P naphtha
Xylene (all isomers)
Zinc compounds
Zineb
Ziram

 Table 27.1 Partial List of Chemicals Toxic to the Skin (Continued)

In the second study, carried out a quarter of a century earlier, it was reported that skin permeability was increased after treatment with nonpolar solvents, and that permeability constants for a homologous series of alcohols were a function of increasing carbon number.^[6] What the authors of that study did not report is that the increased permeability observed corresponds exactly to increasing K_{ow} values. The data in Table 27.2 show the relationship between permeability constants (K_p) and K_{ow} values.

Organic chemicals dissolved in water, even in small concentrations, can also be absorbed through the skin.^[7] As discussed in Chapter 8, drinking water in many areas is disinfected with chlorine and, as a result, disinfectant byproducts (DBPs) containing trihalomethanes (THMs) are introduced into potable water. Showering, bathing, and swimming in such water has been shown to result in the absorption of significant quantities of THMs.^[8–10] In a study in which human breast skin was exposed to DBPs in water, it was found that the THM permeability through the skin correlated well with K_{ow} values. The higher the K_{ow} (the more lipophilic it is), the greater the permeability. Table 27.3 shows the permeabilities and K_{ow} values for the THMs in this study.

Alcohol	K _p	K _{ow}
Methanol	1.0	-0.77
Ethanol	1.2	-0.31
Propanol	1.4	0.25
Butanol	2.5	0.88
Pentanol	6.0	1.51
Hexanol	13.0	2.03
Heptanol	32.0	2.62
Octanol	52.0	3.00

Table 27.2 Relationship between Skin Permeability Constants (K_p) and Octanol: Water Partition Coefficients for a Homologous Series of Alcohols

Table 27.3 Permeability Coefficients (K_p) in Human Breast Skin andOctanol: Water Partition Coefficients for THMs in Water^[11]

Trihalomethane	K _p	K _{ow}
Chloroform	0.16	1.97
Bromodichloromethane	0.18	2.00
Chlorodibromomethane	0.20	2.16
Bromoform	0.21	2.40

The exposure of skin to mixtures of lipophilic and hydrophilic chemicals leads to the increased absorption of the hydrophilic species.^[12] The following studies are illustrative:

- 1. Penetration of mouse skin was significantly increased for the herbicides atrazine, alachlor, and trifuralin in their commercial formulations compared to the herbicides alone. Lipophilic solvents were contained in all three commercial formulations.^[13]
- 2. White spirit, a mixture of mostly aliphatic (lipophilic) hydrocarbons, enhanced the penetration of the pesticide lindane through human skin.^[14]
- 3. Pentachlorophenol (PCP) absorption in porcine skin was tripled when exposure to PCP was preceded by preexposure to the lipophilic polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbon benzo[a]pyrene.^[15]

As discussed in Chapters 11, 13, and 14, and illustrated by these references,^[16,17] skin permeability is also enhanced by surfactants and

other so-called inert ingredients in cleaning products, pesticides, and other chemical formulations.

Most drugs do not penetrate epithelial barriers at rates sufficient for clinical usefulness without permeability enhancers, chemicals that are routinely added to dermal drug delivery products.^[18] For example, using human skin in an in vitro study, it was demonstrated that sodium dichlofenac ($K_{ow} = 0.70$) permeability was enhanced by a mixture containing the lipophiles oleic acid ($K_{ow} = 7.64$) and *d*-limonene ($K_{ow} = 4.57$).^[19]

27.3 Allergic Contact Dermatitis (ACD)

ACD is a skin reaction resulting from contact dermal contact with allergens. ACD progresses in two phases. Sensitization is acquired in the initial phase. In the second phase, subsequent exposure elicits an inflammatory reaction.^[20] Large numbers of chemical compounds are known to cause ACD. These include acrylates, aldehydes, amines, anhydrides, ethanolamines, formaldehyde, resins, metals, pesticides, phenols, phthalate esters, preservatives, isocyanates, solvents, and others. Table 27.4 contains a partial list of these. A more complete list can be found on the web.^[21]

ACD has been associated with ethoxylated alcohol surfactants. Though not by themselves known to cause ACD, ethoxylated surfactants are polyethers and are easily air oxidized to hydroperoxides, peroxides, and carbonyl compounds (including formaldehyde and acetaldehyde), substances that do cause ACD.^[22–25] The irritant components of surfactants and other chemicals present in formulated products facilitate the absorption of the ACD causing decomposition products of ethoxylated alcohols and thus exacerbate their effects.^[26] This is yet another example of lipophilic compounds enhancing the absorption of hydrophilic compounds (the decomposition products of ethoxylated alcohols) and hence increasing the toxic effect beyond that predicted.

The formation in situ of contact dermatitis producing chemicals is not limited to ethoxylated alcohol degradation. Photocontact allergic dermatitis can be caused by the application of photosensitive chemicals to the skin followed by irradiation with ultraviolet light.^[27] Examples of such reactions are discussed in Section 16.4.

Combinations of allergens have been shown to produce synergistic effects in sensitized individuals. A study was conducted of 18 human volunteers with contact allergies who were exposed to a 1:1 mixture of two fragrance compounds, each of which is known to induce ACD. The mixtures elicited responses that were 3–4 times higher than anticipated

A crylic acid
Methacrylic acid
Methyl methacrylate
Formaldehyde
A cetaldehyde
Glutaraldehyde
Cinnamic aldehyde
Ethylene diamine
Triethanolamine
Toluene diamine
Dinhenyl amine
Triethanolamine
Acetic anhydride
Maleic anhydride
Phthalic anhydride
Ammonium persulfate
Gylceryl monothioglycolate
Ammonium thioglycolate
Epichlorohydrin
Bisphenol A
Carbaryl
Maneb
Zineb
Methylene bisphenyl isocyanate
Toluene diisocyanate
Hexamethylene diisocyanate
Chromium
Nickel
Mercury
Cobalt
<i>d</i> -Limenene
Turpentine
Diethyl phthalate
Dibutylphthalate
Benzalkonium chloride
Hexachlorophene
Hydrazine sulfate
Benzoyl peroxide
Cyanamid
Dioxane
Propylene glycol
Triphenyl phosphate

 Table 27.4
 Compounds Known to Cause Allergic Contact Dermatitis^[21]

from an additive effect.^[28] No mechanistic explanation was offered by the authors of the study.

27.4 Dermally Induced Respiratory Hypersensitivity

Sensitization of the respiratory tract may result from dermal contact with a sensitizing chemical.^[29–31] Several studies have made this association for chromate,^[32] latex,^[33] the herbicide 3-amino-5-mercapto-1,2,4-triazolem,^[34] and trimellitic anhydride, which is a respiratory sensitizer when inhaled.^[35,36]

The reverse phenomenon has also been demonstrated. Isolated airway exposure to toluene diisocyanate, a powerful respiratory sensitizer, has been demonstrated to cause skin sensitization.^[37] These crossovers are believed to be due to the observation that both dermal and respiratory sensitization result in increased serum IgE antibody levels,^[31,33] and point out the dangers associated with exposures to sensitizing chemicals.

27.5 Chemical Burns

Chemical burns result when living tissue makes contact with corrosive chemicals. Though most chemical burns are to the skin, eye contact, ingestion, and inhalation of corrosives also result in numerous chemical burn instances. It is important to differentiate between chemical irritation and burning. Chemical irritants produce reversible reactions that include swelling, itching, and burning sensations. These effects, however, are transient and skin returns to its normal state when the irritating agent is removed. Chemical burns, on the other hand, are irreversible and result in permanent injury.

Substances that cause chemical burns include acids, alkalis, solvents, oxidizing, and reducing agents. Most chemical burns (including those caused by acids) act by denaturing proteins on contact producing coagulation necrosis. Alkalis liquefy tissue via denaturatization of proteins and saponification of fats, causing liquefaction necrosis. In acid burns, penetration into tissue is limited by coagulation, thus limiting the damage. Alkali burns, which do not cause coagulation, continue to penetrate very deeply into tissue.^[38] This phenomenon makes alkali burns potentially much more dangerous, since the burns do not always immediately produce symptoms, but are progressive over time, producing extensive tissue destruction.

Alkali burns are, accordingly, also referred to as progressive burns. It should be noted that hydrofluoric acid is unique among acids, in that it, like alkalis, produces a liquefaction necrosis, making it perhaps the most dangerous acid for skin contact.

Most chemical burns are caused by acid or base contact.

Acid sources include

- 1. Drain cleaners containing hydrochloric or sulfuric acid.
- 2. Tile cleaners containing hydrochloric, sulfuric, sulfamic, or phosphoric acids.
- 3. Automobile battery fluid containing sulfuric acid.
- 4. Engraving fluids containing nitric acid.
- 5. Etching solutions containing hydrofluoric acid.^[39,40]

Alkali sources include

- 1. Oven cleaners containing sodium or potassium hydroxide.
- 2. Household detergents (laundry and dishwashing) containing sodium silicates or sodium carbonate.
- 3. Drain cleaners containing sodium or potassium hydroxide.
- 4. Cement, mortar, or plaster containing calcium hydroxide or oxide.^[41,42]

Chemicals that are burn agents include

- 1. Anhydrous ammonia^[43]
- 2. Sodium azide (found in automobile air bags)^[44]
- 3. Organic solvents (including toluene).^[45,46]

In short, it is to be anticipated that any solution with a pH greater than 10.0 (alkaline) or less than 3.0 (acidic) has the potential to cause chemical burns. The higher the acidity or alkalinity of a solution, the greater burn danger it poses. Oxidizing and reducing agents, chromates, chlorine, and hydrazine, for example, also pose burn dangers that increase with concentration.

27.6 Mixtures

Most instances of skin reactions to chemical mixtures can be attributed to single components of the mixtures. There are, however, exceptions and most are due to the use of formulated products containing surfactants. These products include household and industrial cleaners, cosmetics, and hair treatments. Surfactants contribute to adverse dermal reactions by stripping the oils that protect the skin, leaving the skin more vulnerable to attack by other chemical species. For example, it was found in one study that the simultaneous application of known contact allergens and a surfactant, sodium lauryl sulfate, to the skin results in an enhanced response to the allergens.^[47]

Chemical burning by alkalis is also enhanced when the alkaline products contain surfactants. In a case study investigated by this writer, a woman received severe progressive chemical burns on her hands when she mixed two cleaners together, one containing sodium carbonate and sodium percarbonate, and the other containing the surfactants sodium dodecylbenzene sulfonate and sodium lauryl ether sulfate. Though each product is considered safe for dermal contact, the mixture burned the user's skin. In this instance, it is believed that the surfactants stripped the protective oils, allowing the alkali to penetrate and burn the skin.

Solvent mixtures can also cause chemical burns. A mixture of phenol and chloroform burned a laboratory worker's face and chest when the mixture that splashed on the worker's face dripped down to the chest.^[48]

27.7 Summary

The human skin serves as the body's first line of defense against biological and chemical attack. It is not, however, an armored plate. Rather, it is a permeable membrane that is vulnerable to attack by a large number of chemicals. It is subject to irritation and burning by chemicals and can also react to chemical allergens, as in allergic contact dermatitis. Respiratory sensitization can also ensue following dermal sensitization.

References

- 1. Pohanish RP (ed.). *Sittig's handbook of toxic and hazardous chemicals and carcinogens*, 4th ed., Noyes, Norwich, NY, 2002.
- 2. Sax NI, Lewis RJ, Sr. *Dangerous properties of industrial materials*, 7th ed., Van Nostrand Reinhold, New York, 1991.
- Scorecard, the pollution information site. Suspected skin or sense organ toxicants, www.scorecarc.org/health-effects/chemcials-2.tcl?short_hazard_ name=skin&all_p=t
- 4. Potts RO, Guy RH. Predicting skin permeability. *Pharm Res* 1992; 9(5):663–9.

- 5. Guy RH, Potts RO. Penetration of industrial chemicals across the skin: A predictive model. *Am J Ind Med* 1993; 23(5):711–19.
- 6. Kitigawa S, Li Hui, Sato S. Skin permeation in excised guinea pig dorsal skin, its modification by penetration enhancers and their relationship with n-octanol/water partition coefficients. *Chem Pharm Bull* 1997; 45(8): 1354–7.
- 7. Scheuplein R, Ross L. Effects of surfactants and solvents on the permeability of epidermis. *J Soc Cosmet Chem* 1970; 21:853–73.
- Aggazzotti G, Fantuzzi G, Tartoni PL, Predieri G. Plasma chloroform concentrations in swimmers using indoor pools. *Arch Environ Health* 1990; 45(2):175–9.
- Gordon SM, Wallace LA, Callahan PJ, et al. Effect of water temperature on dermal exposure to chloroform. *Environ Health Perspect* 1998; 106(3): 337–45.
- 10. Xu X, Weisel CP. Dermal uptake of chloroform and haloketones during bathing. *J Expo Anal Environ Epidemiol* 2005; 15(4):289–96.
- Xu X, Mariano TM, Laskin JD, Weisel CP. Percutaneous absorption of trihalomethanes, haloacetic acids and haloketones. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 2002; 184:19–26.
- 12. Zeliger HI. Toxic effects of chemical mixtures. *Arch Environ Health* 2003; 58(1):23–9.
- 13. Brand RM, Mueller C. Transdermal penetration of atrazine, alachlor and trifuralin: Effect of formulation. *Toxicol Sci* 2002; 68(1):18–23.
- 14. Dick IP, Blain PG, Williams FM. The percutaneous absorption of lindane in man. I. in vivo studies. *Hum Exp Toxicol* 1997; 16(11):645–51.
- 15. Qiao GL, Riviere JE. Systemic uptake and cutaneous disposition of pentachlorophenol in a sequential exposure scenario: Effects of skin preexposure to benzo[a]pyrene. *J Toxicol Environ Health A* 2002; 65(18):1307–31.
- van der Merwe D, Riviere JE. Effect of vehicles and sodium lauryl sulfate on xenobiotic permeability and stratum corneum partitioning in porcine skin. *Toxicology* 2005; 206(3):325–35.
- 17. Baynes RE, Reviere JE. Influence of inert ingredients in pesticide formulations on dermal absorption of carbaryl. *Am J Vet Res* 1998; 59(2):168–75.
- Mangenaro AM, Wertz PW. Review of transmucosal drug delivery. *Mil Med* 1997; 162:27–30.
- 19. Escribano E, Calpena AC, Queralt J, et al. Assessment of dichlofenac permeation with different formulation: Anti-inflammatory study of a selected formula. *Eur J Pharm Sci* 2003; 19(4):203–10.
- 20. Kimber I, Basketter DA, Gerberick GF, Dearman RJ. Allergic contact dermatitis. *Int Immunopharmacol* 2002; 2(2–3):201–11.
- 21. ACD Chemicals. Chemicals that cause occupational allergic contact dermatitis, 2007. www.haz-map.com/allergic.htm
- 22. Bergh M, Magnusson K, Nilsson JL, Karlberg AT. Contact allergenic activity of Tween 80 before and after air exposure. *Contact Dermatitis* 1997; 37(1): 9–18.
- 23. Bergh M, Magnusson K, Nilsson JL, Karlberg AT. Formation of formaldehyde and peroxides by air oxidation of high purity polyoxyethylene surfactants. *Contact Dermatitis* 1998; 39(1):14–20.

- 24. Karlberg AT, Bodin A, Matura M. Allergenic activity of an air-oxidized ethoxylated surfactant. *Contact Dermatitis* 2003; 49(5):241–7.
- 25. Matura M, Bodin A, Skare L, et al. Multicentre patch test study of air-oxidized ethoxylated surfactants. *Contact Dermatitis* 2004; 51(4):180–8.
- 26. Bodin A, Shao LP, Nissson JL, Karlberg AT. Identification and allergenic activity of hydroxyaldehydes—a new type of oxidation product from ethoxy-lated non-ionic surfactant. *Contact Dermatitis* 2001; 44(4):207–12.
- 27. Tokura Y. Immunological and molecular mechanisms of photoallergic contact dermatitis. *J UOEH* 2003; 25(4):387–5.
- 28. Johansen JD, Skov L, Volund A, et al. Allergens in combination have a synergistic effect on the elicitation response: A study of fragrance-sensitized individuals. *Br J Dermatol* 1998; 139(2):264–70.
- 29. Kimber I. The role of the skin in the development of chemical respiratory hypersensitivity. *Toxicol Lett* 1996; 86(2–3):89–92.
- Arts JH, Kuper CF, Spoor SM, Bloksma N. Airway morphology and function of rats following dermal sensitization and respiratory challenge with low molecular weight chemicals. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 1998; 152(1): 66–76.
- 31. Kimber I, Dearman RJ. Chemical respiratory allergy: Role of IgE antibody and relevance of route of exposure. *Toxicology* 2002; 181–2:311–15.
- 32. De Raeve H, Vandecasteele C, Demedts M, Nemery B. Dermal and respiratory sensitization to chromate in a cement floorer. *Am J Ind Med* 1998; 34(2): 169–76.
- 33. Howell MD, Weissman DN, Meade BJ. Latex sensitization by dermal exposure can lead to airway hyperactivity. *Int Arch Allergy Immunol* 2002; 128(3):201–11.
- Klink KJ, Meade BJ. Dermal exposure to 3-amino-5-mercapto-1,2,4-triazole (AMT) induces sensitization and airway hyperactivity in BALB/c mice. *Toxicol Sci* 2003; 75(1):89–98.
- 35. Sailstad DM, Ward MD, Boykin EH, Selgrade MK. A murine model for low molecular weight chemicals: Differentiation of respiratory sensitizers (TMA) from contact sensitizers (NDFB). *Toxicology* 2003; 194(1–2):147–61.
- Vanoirbeek JA, Tarkowski M, Vanhooren HM, et al. Validation of a mouse model of chemical-induced asthma using trimellitic anhydride, a respiratory sensitizer, and dinitrochlorobenzene, a dermal sensitizer. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2006; 117(5):1090–7.
- 37. Ebino K, Ueda H, Kawakatsu H, et al. Isolated airway exposure to toluene diisocyanate results in skin sensitization. *Toxicol Lett* 2001; 121:79–85.
- 38. Nervi SJ, Schwartz RA, Desposito F, Hostetler MA. Chemical burns. Emedicine from Web MD 2006, www.emedicine.com/ped/topic2735.htm
- 39. Bertolini JC. Hydrofluoric acid: A review of toxicity. *J Emerg Med* 1992; 10(2):163–8.
- 40. Bond SJ, Schnier GC, Sundine MJ, et al. Cutaneous burns caused by sulfuric acid drain cleaner. *J Trauma* 1998; 44(3):523–6.
- 41. Rados J, Lipozencic J, Milavec-Puretic V. *Acta Dermatovenerol Croat* 2005; 13(2):114–17 [abstract only].
- 42. Fisher AA. Cement injuries: Part II. Cement burns resulting in necrotic ulcers due to kneeling on wet cement. *Cutis* 1998; 61(3):121.

- 43. Wibbenberger LA, Morgan LJ, Robinson BK, et al. Our chemical burn experience: Exposing the danger of anhydrous ammonia. *J Burn Care Rehabil* 1999; 20(3):226–31.
- 44. Vitello W, Kim M, Johnson RM, Miller S. Full-thickness burn to the hand from an automobile air bag. *J Care Burn Rehab* 1999; 20(3):212–15.
- 45. Mozingo DW, Smith AA, McManus WF, et al. Chemical burns. *J Trauma* 1988; 28(5):642–7.
- 46. Shibata K, Yoshita Y, Matsumoto H. Extensive chemical burns from toluene. *Am J Emerg Med* 1994; 12(3):353–5.
- 47. Loffler H, Becker D, Brasch J, et al. Simultaneous sodium lauryl sulphate testing improves the diagnostic validity of allergic patch tests. *Br J Dermatol* 2005; 152(4):709–19.
- 48. American Industrial Hygiene Association, Health and Safety Committee. Laboratory safety incidents: Chemical exposures and burns, Committee Report 2004, www2.umdnj.edu/eohssweb/aiha/accidents/chemicalexposure.htm

28.1 Introduction

Xenobiotic exposure can adversely affect bones, joints, connective tissue, and muscles. Rheumatoid arthritis, osteoporosis, osteomalacia, systemic sclerosis, scleroderma, systemic lupus erythematosus, and spina bifida are musculoskeletal diseases that have been associated with toxic chemical exposures. Most of these associations, however, have been made to single chemical exposures and not to mixtures. This chapter cites the evidence on which those associations are based and discusses the available examples of mixtures that have been implicated.

Chemicals that are toxic to the musculoskeletal system are listed in Table 28.1.^[1–7]

28.2 Rheumatoid Arthritis (RA)

RA is a chronic inflammatory disease that affects connective tissue, particularly the linings of the joints (synovium). Exposure to respirable dust, particularly silica (but including agricultural and organic dust), has been shown to produce a dose–response relationship with RA.^[6,8–10] Miners, farmers, pulp and paper workers, textile workers, millers, and bakers all have higher incidences of RA than the general public. It is unknown whether the inhaled dusts are either antigenic alone or act as immunological adjuvants that enhance the inflammatory responses of other causative agents.^[8]

28.3 Scleroderma (Systemic Sclerosis)

Scleroderma (SSc) is a chronic autoimmune disease characterized by excessive deposition of collagen and fibrosis (formation of scar tissue) in the skin and other body organs. Though the local manifestation of this disease is not serious, systemic sclerosis (SS), the serious manifestation, can be fatal. Since exposures to the same chemicals have been associated with both variants of this disease, they are discussed together.

Occupations that are associated with SSc and SS include those where exposures to organic solvents and silica are common.^[1,11–14] A partial list of these occupations is given in Table 28.2,^[1,11–14] and a list of the chemicals that have been associated with SSc and SS are given in Table 28.3.^[1,9,13–19]

Aluminum
Arsenic
Benzene
Carbaryl
Cadmium
Chlorobenzene
Chloroform
Disulfiram
Ethanol
Fluorides
Hydrochloric acid
Hydrofluoric acid
Lead
Phosphine
Phosphorus
Selenium
Silica
Sulfuric acid
Tetrachloroethylene
Toluene
Toluidene
1,1,1-Trichloroethane
Trichloroethylene
Xylene
Xylidene

 Table 28.1 Musculoskeletal Single Chemical Toxins

Table 28.2 Partial List of Occupations Associated with SSc and SS

Arts and crafts Adhesive manufacturing Paint manufacturing Painting Furniture refinishing Plastics manufacturing Petroleum refining Hair dressing Vinyl chloride manufacturing Cosmetic and perfume manufacturing Pathology laboratory work

Table 28.2 Partial List of Occupations Associated with SSc and SS (Continued)

Fiberglass manufacturing and use Leather tanning Shoe manufacturing Professional cleaning and maintenance Construction

Table 28.3 Partial List of Chemicals Associated with SSc and SS

Benzene Cleaning products Chloroform Diesel fuel Epoxy resin catalysts Gasoline Mineral spirits (Stoddard solvent) Paint removers Paint thinners Silica Tetrachloroethylene Toluene Toluidene 1,1,1-Trichloroethane Trichloroethylene Vinyl chloride VM&P naphtha Xylene **Xylidene**

All the occupations listed in Table 28.2 carry with them exposures to mixtures of lipophilic and hydrophilic chemicals. Of the chemicals listed in Table 28.3, several are mixtures of compounds. These include gasoline, diesel fuel, mineral spirits, paint removers, paint thinners, and VM&P naphtha. Though many of the studies referenced above consider organic solvents as only a mixture of lipophilic compounds,^[13–15,17] this is inappropriate, since many of the chemicals listed in Table 28.3 are mixtures of lipophiles. For example, a typical solvent-based paint

remover contains the following components (K_{ow} values are listed to demonstrate lipophilic or hydrophilic properties).

Chemical	Kow
Acetone	-0.24
Methanol	-0.77
Methylene chloride	1.25
Toluene	2.78

As seen in Chapter 11, paints, art and craft supplies, adhesives, and cleaning products are also composed of mixtures of lipophiles and hydrophiles.

The evidence for ascribing environmental exposures as being causative for SSc comes from the following consideration. Though women in the general population are predominantly afflicted with SSc, among those with occupational exposures to organic solvents, men are at higher risk for the disease than women.^[11] It has been suggested that solvent induction of SSc is due to the triggering of an autoimmune response in susceptible individuals via enzymatic binding to these solvents.^[17]

28.4 Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE)

SLE is a chronic autoimmune connective tissue disease characterized by inflammation and injury to the joints, tendons, and other connective tissues. Organs affected include the lungs, heart, blood vessels, brain, kidneys, and skin. SLE onset is associated with exposure to silica. Though earlier studies have suggested that organic solvent exposure can also be causative for SLE, more recent studies have refuted this.^[2,3,9] No literature references were found associating SLE onset with exposures to chemical mixtures.

28.5 Osteoporosis and Osteomalacia

Exposures to toxic chemicals can adversely impact the bones as well as the soft tissues of the body. Osteoporosis and osteomalacia are two examples of this effect.

Osteoporosis is a condition characterized by a loss of bone mass and density that has been causally related to exposure to cadmium, a toxic heavy metal that is widely distributed in the ambient environment. In a Chinese study, a dose–response relationship between cadmium exposure and osteoporosis was demonstrated.^[4] Other studies have demonstrated that

exposure even to low levels of cadmium is associated with an increased risk of osteoporosis.^[20,21]

Osteomalacia is a condition in which the bones are softened because of impaired mineralization. Exposure to cadmium has been found to be causative for osteomalacia.^[20,22,23] Other chemicals associated with osteomalacia are aluminum, lead, and fluoride.^[24]

28.6 Mixtures

Only a very few studies have documented the toxic effects of chemical mixtures on the musculoskeletal system. Almost all of these studies address the effects of tobacco smoking and organic solvent exposure. The following studies are illustrative of those reported.

- 1. A study in 1994 reported that tobacco smoking is the only environmental exposure risk factor that has been associated with rheumatoid arthritis. The authors of the study concluded that tobacco smoke can be "reasonably regarded as a contributory cause of rheumatoid arthritis."^[25] No specific compounds in tobacco smoke were identified as being causative and no mechanism for the action of such smoke was offered.
- 2. Cigarette smoke has harmful effects on a number of orthopedic conditions. It delays the healing process associated with both bone fracture and ligament injury. In one study carried out on laboratory mice it was shown that cigarette smoking retarded the healing of a collateral ligament injury.^[26] A companion study demonstrated that smoke also delays the healing of broken tibias and the development of mature cartilage cells.^[27]
- 3. In a study of men with symptomatic osteoarthritis, those who smoke were found to have the disease to be more progressive, to sustain more than twice the cartilage loss, and have more severe pain than their nonsmoking cohorts. This despite the observation that the smokers in the study were younger and thinner than the nonsmokers, factors that normally reduce the effects of osteoarthritis.^[28]
- 4. In a case study, a 56-year-old man developed systemic sclerosis after 23 years of working in a tire manufacturing factory. The chemicals he was exposed to included
 - toluene
 - hepatane
 - dimethylbutylphenyldiamine
 - octaphenol formaldehyde.

The man was exposed via inhalation and dermal routes. His SS developed progressively over 8 years to the point where he had skin, lung, and pericardial involvement.^[29]

- 5. In another case study, a 26-year-old woman was diagnosed with skin scleroderma following a 1-year exposure to solvent vapors that included
 - trichloroethylene
 - tetrachloroethylene
 - acetone
 - benzene
 - isopropanol
 - dimethyl phthalate
 - methoxyethanol
 - phenol
 - xylene.^[30]
- 6. In a study involving more than 600 patients with scleroderma, statistically significant associations were found between SSc and exposures to paint thinners and paint removers.^[17]
- 7. Undifferentiated connective tissue disease (UCTD) is a term used to describe conditions where people have symptoms and laboratory test results that resemble known musculoskeletal diseases such as SS and SSc, but do not have enough of the symptoms to meet the requirement for a well-defined diagnosis of a single disease. A study of patients with UCTD found statistically significant associations with exposures to paint thinners and paint removers.^[31]

As discussed above, paint removers are mixtures of lipophilic and hydrophilic chemicals formulated together to ensure maximum attack on paint. Paint thinners are generally composed of varnish makers and painters (VM&P) naphtha and mineral spirits. VM&P naphtha is a mixture of aliphatic alkanes and alkenes and aromatic hydrocarbons. Mineral spirits is a higher molecular weight composition of similar compounds.

28.7 Summary

Musculoskeletal diseases that are triggered by exposures to xenobiotics include connective tissue and bone moieties. These effects are generally observed after long-term exposures to toxic chemicals, including heavy metals and organic solvents. The long periods of time following initial exposure until the onset of symptoms complicates the study of chemically induced musculoskeletal disease and makes the effects of chemical mixtures difficult to assess. As a result, only a relatively few studies in this area have been carried out. Those that have been carried out have demonstrated the musculoskeletal toxicity of single chemicals, for example, trichloroethylene, and suggest an effect of chemical mixtures.

References

- 1. Garabrant DH, Lacey JV, Laing TJ, et al. Scleroderma and solvent exposure among women. *Am J Epidemiol* 2003; 157(6):493–500.
- 2. Parke DV, Parke AL. Chemical-induced inflammation and inflammatory diseases. *Int J Occup Med Environ Health* 1996; 9(3):211–17.
- 3. Finckh A, Cooper GS, Chibnik LB, et al. *Arthritis Rheum* 2006; 54(11): 3648–54.
- 4. Jin T, Nordberg G, Ye T, et al. Osteoporosis and renal dysfunction in a general population exposed to cadmium in China. *Environ Res* 2004; 96(3):353–9.
- 5. D'Haese PC, Couttenye MM, Lamberts LV, et al. Aluminum, lead, cadmium, copper, zinc, chromium, magnesium, strontium, and calcium content in bone of end-stage renal failure patients. *Clin Chem* 1999; 45(9):1548–56.
- 6. Stolt P, Kallberg H, Lungberg I, et al. Silica exposure is associated with increased risk of developing rheumatoid arthritis: Results from the Swedish EIRA study. *Ann Rheum Dis* 2005; 64:582–6.
- Scorecard Pollution Information Site. Health effects: Musculoskeletal toxicants, www. scroecard. org/health-effects/chemicals-2.tcl?short_hazard_name= musc&all_p=t
- 8. Olsson AR, Skogh T, Axelson O, Wingren G. Occupations and exposures in the environment as determinants for rheumatoid arthritis. *Occup Environ Med* 2004; 61:233–8.
- 9. Pernis B. Silica and the immune system. *Acta Biomed* 2005; 76 (Suppl 2): 38–44.
- Oliver JE, Silman AJ. Risk factors for the development of rheumatoid arthritis. *Scand J Rheumatol* 2006; 35(3):169–74.
- 11. Kettaneh A, Al Moufti O, Tiev KP, et al. Occupational exposure to solvents and gender-related risk of systemic sclerosis: A meta analysis of case-control studies. *J Rheumatol* 2007; 34(1):97–103.
- Maitre A, Hours, M, Bonneterre V, et al. Systemic sclerosis and occupational risk factors: Role of solvents and cleaning products. *J Rheumatol* 2004; 31(12):2395–401.
- Magnant J, de Monte M, Guilmot JL, et al. Relationship between occupational risk factors and severity markers of systemic sclerosis. *J Rheumatol* 2005; 32(9):1713–18.
- 14. Bovenzi M, Barbone F, Betta A, et al. Scleroderma and occupational exposure. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 1995; 21(4):289–92.
- 15. Bovenzi M, Barbone F, Pisa EE, et al. A case-control study of occupational exposures and systemic sclerosis. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health* 2004; 77(1):10–16.
- 16. Nietert PJ, Sutherland SE, Silver RM, et al. Is occupational organic solvent exposure a risk factor for scleroderma? *Arthritis Rheum* 1998; 41(6):1111–18.
- 17. Garabrant DH, Dumas C. Epidemiology of organic solvents and connective tissue disease. *Arthritis Res* 1999; 2(1):5–15.
- 18. Nietert PJ, Sutherland SE, Silver RM, et al. Solvent oriented hobbies and risk of systemic sclerosis. *J Rheumatol* 1999; 26(11):2369–72.
- 19. Aryal BK, Khuder SA, Schaub EA. Meta-analysis of systemic sclerosis and exposure to solvents. *Am J Ind Med* 2001; 40(3):271–4.
- 20. Jarup L, Alfven T. Low level cadmium exposure, renal and bone effects—the OSCAR study. *Biometals* 2004; 17(5):505–9.
- 21. Alfven T, Elinder CG, Carlsson MD, et al. Low-level cadmium exposure and osteoporosis. *J Bone Miner Res* 2000; 15(8):1579–86.
- Takebayashi S, Jimi S, Segawa M, Kiyoshi Y. Cadmium induces osteomalacia mediated by proximal tubular atropy and disturbances of phosphate reabsorption. A study of 11 autopsies. *Pathol Res Pract* 2000; 196(9):653–63.
- 23. Kocak M, Akcil E. The effects of chronic cadmium toxicity on the hemostatic system. *Pathophysiol Haemost Thromb* 2006; 35(6):411–16.
- 24. D'Erasmo E, Ragno A, Raejntroph N, Pisani D. Drug induced osteomalacia. *Recent Prog Med* 1998; 89(10):529–33.
- 25. Aho K, Kelliovaara M. Risk factors for rheumatoid arthritis. *Ann Med* 2004; 36(4):242–51.
- 26. Gill CS, Sandell LJ, El-Zawawy HB, Wright RW. Effects of cigarette smoking on early medial collateral ligament healing in a mouse model. *J Orthop Res* 2006; 24(12):2141–9.
- 27. El-Zawawy HB, Gill CS, Wright RW, Sandell LJ. Smoking delays chondrogenesis in a mouse model of closed tibial fracture healing. *J Orthop Res* 2006; 24(12):2150–8.
- 28. Amin S, Niu J, Guermazi A, et al. Cigarette smoking and the risk for cartilage loss and knee pain in men with knee osteoarthritis. *Ann Rheum Dis* 2007; 66(1):18–22.
- Garcia-Zamalloa AM, Gonzalez-Beneitez C, Goni, Garrido A. Systemic sclerosis and organic solvents: Early diagnosis in industry. *Ann Rheum Dis* 1994; 53:618.
- Czirjak L, Pocs E, Szegedi G. Localized scleroderma after exposure to organic solvents. *Dermatology* 1994; 189(4):399–401.
- 31. Lacey JV Jr, Garabrant DH, Laing TJ. Petroleum distillate solvents as risk factors for undifferentiated connective tissue disease (UCTD). *Am J Epidemiol* 1999; 149:761–70.

29.1 Introduction

Cardiovascular toxins are those chemicals that are toxic to the heart, blood vessels, and blood. More than 500 individual chemicals fall into this category. Table 29.1 contains a partial list of these compounds. A more complete list, along with primary references, is contained on the Scorecard web site.^[1]

It is beyond the scope and outside the intended purpose of this book to explore the individual cardiovascular toxicities of these compounds. Following, however, are a few examples of these.

Arteriosclerosis, commonly called hardening of the arteries, is a hardening and thickening of the arterial walls resulting in loss of elasticity. Atherosclerosis is a form of arteriosclerosis characterized by the deposition of plaques on the innermost layers of large- and medium-sized arteries. 1,3-butadiene, widely used as a monomer in the rubber and plastics industries and a component of cigarette smoke, has been shown to accelerate the development of atherosclerosis by promoting plaque development.^[2,3]

Intentional inhalation, or "huffing," of volatile organic chemicals for the purpose of inducing euphoria can bring on cardiac arrhythmia, ventricular fibrillation, myocardial infarction, cardiac arrest, and dilated cardiomyopathy, a condition in which the heart becomes enlarged and weakened, thereby limiting its ability to pump blood.^[4–15] Table 29.2 contains a list of cardiotoxic chemicals frequently, intentionally inhaled and the common sources of these chemicals.

The chemicals in Table 29.2 are often inhaled as mixtures. Though there are surely at least additive effects associated with many of these mixtures, there is evidence that each of these alone is toxic to the heart.

Trichloroethylene (TCE) and its metabolite trichloroacetic acid (TCA) are cardiac teratogens. Both are common drinking water contaminants in the United States, and exposure to TCE during pregnancy has been shown to produce congenital heart defects in children exposed to it *in utero* via an unknown mechanism. The risk for congenital heart defects in children whose mothers lived in close proximity to TCE emitting sites is three times more than those whose mothers were not so exposed.^[16–18]

Exposures to pesticides produce multiple systemic effects.^[19] Exposure to the organophosphate methyl parathion can cause cardiac arrest as well as neurological and respiratory effects.^[20]

Acetanilide
Acetone
Acetonitrile
Alachlor
Allyl alcohol
Aluminum
Ammonium nitrate
Ammonium dichromate
Aniline
Arsenic
Barium carbonate
Benzene
Bismuth
Boron
1,3-Butadiene
Cadmium
Carbon disulfide
Carbon monoxide
Carbon tetrachloride
Chlordane
Chlorine
Chloroacetic acid
Chlorofluoromethanes
Chloroform
Cobalt
Copper
Cyanide
Cyclohexanol
DDT
Dieldrin
Dinitrophenols
Diphenyl amine
Endrin
Ethanol
Ethylbenzene
Ethylene glycol
Ethylene glycol monoethyl ether
Formic acid
Hydrogen cyanide
Hydrogen sulfide
Isopropanol

 Table 29.1 Partial List of Chemicals Toxic to the Cardiovascular System

Lead
Manganese
Mercury
Methyl chloride
Methyl ethyl ketone
Methyl mercuric chloride
Methyl methacrylate
Methyl parathion
Methylene chloride
Naphthalene
Parathion
PCBs
Pentachlorophenol
Phenol
Sodium azide
Sodium hypochlorite
Sodium perchlorate
2,3,7,8-Tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (TCDD)
Tetrahydrofuran
Toluene
Toluene-2,4-diisocyanate
1,1,1-Trichloroethane
Xylenes
Zinc

Table 29.1	Partial List of Chemicals Toxic to the Cardiovascular	System
(Continued))	

Table 29.2 Chemicals Frequently Abused by Intentional Inhalation thatInduce Cardiac Arrhythmia, Cardiac Arrest, or Cardiomyopathy

Chemical	Source
Acetone	Nail polish remover, rubber cement,
	marking pens
Bromochlorodifluoromethane	Fire extinguishers, spray paints, hair
and other fluorocarbons	sprays, room fresheners
Butanes	Cigarette lighter fluid
Ethyl acetate	Glues
Aliphatic hydrocarbons	Gasoline
Aromatic hydrocarbons	Gasoline
Propane	Grill fuel
Toluene	Paints, paint thinners, glues
1,1,1-Trichloroethane	Correction fluid, spot removers

Neovascularization, the formation of new blood vessels, is an essential life process. TCDD interferes with neovascularization by inhibiting the formation of new capillary sprouts from preexisting vessels (angiogenesis).^[21]

Heavy metal exposures are well known to impact the cardiovascular system. Workers exposed to manganese have been found to have accelerated heart beats and mean diastolic heart blood pressures that are significantly lower than those of controls.^[22] Mercury and cadmium exposures are associated with hypertension, vascular disease, and myocardial infarction (heart attack).^[23] There is a causal relationship between lead exposure and hypertension.^[24]

From Table 29.1, it is obvious that chemicals with many different functional groups are cardiovascular toxins. These include hydrocarbons, chlorinated hydrocarbons, ketones, pesticides, heavy metals, and others. A unifying mechanism for the action of these far different chemicals has been proposed. This mechanism is based on a consideration of oxidative stress (OS) and postulates that chemicals or their metabolites that give rise to reactive oxygen species (ROS) that are formed by electron transfer (ET) may be cardiovascular toxins.^[25] The ET–OS–ROS mechanistic perspective has been used to account for the cardiotoxicity of the chemicals listed in Table 29.3.^[25]

It is interesting to note that nitric oxide, an endogenous chemical associated with numerous essential biochemical processes in the body,^[16] is included in this list of cardiovascular toxins. Excessive nitric oxide is associated with arterial disease including atherosclerosis.^[26–30]

Relatively few studies have been carried out on the toxic effects of chemical mixtures on the cardiovascular system. The research that has been published addresses the effects of nonspecific mixtures, including landfill leachates, air pollution, and tobacco smoke. These are discussed in the next three sections.

29.2 Leachates

Landfill leachates contain many of the compounds listed in Table 29.1 and would, therefore, be expected to show cardiovascular toxicity. Only one study was found in the literature that specifically addresses the cardiotoxicity of landfill leachates. The results of that study follow.

Leachates from landfills have complex and variable compositions, often making it difficult to ascribe particular effects arising from exposure to these. Leachates from sources containing well-defined chemical compositions can be studied more accurately. In a recently published study, an in vitro

Acrolein
Allyl amine
Arsenic
1,3-Butadiene
Cadmium
Chromium
Cobalt
Cocaine
Copper
Dioxins
Ethanol
Lead
Lindane
Manganese
Mercury
3,4-Methylenedioxymethamphetamine
Nickel
Nitric oxide
<i>N</i> -nitrosamines
Nicotine
Paraquat
PCBs
Phenyl hydrazine
Silicates
Vanadium

Table 29.3 Chemicals Cardiotoxic via ET-OS-ROS Mechanism

examination of human peripheral blood lymphocytes demonstrated the effect of three different leachates on the induction of DNA damage. Polyfiber factory, aeronautical plant, and municipal sludge leachates all induced significant concentration-dependent increases in DNA damage compared with control.^[31] It is interesting to note that although the compositions of the three leachates varied widely, all affected DNA. This study points out the sensitivity of human blood to a wide variety of toxic chemicals.

29.3 Air Pollution

Several studies have definitively demonstrated that breathing polluted air is associated with cardiovascular disease.^[32–40] Prior to addressing these studies, let us examine the chemical composition of polluted air.

As discussed in Chapter 7, polluted air varies in composition from locale to locale and with the time of day and meteorological conditions in a given locale. Polluted urban air contains oxides of sulfur and nitrogen, carbon monoxide, ozone, uncombusted and partially combusted hydrocarbons from gasoline and diesel vehicles, and particulate matter. PM 2.5 particulates, the standard for evaluating pollution related to cardiovascular disease, are composed of combustion products, airborne soil, sulfates, nitrates, and heavy metals as listed in Table 29.4.^[41–45]

Table 29.4	Composition o	f Urban	PM 2.5	Particles a	nd Their	Sources
------------	----------------------	---------	--------	-------------	----------	---------

Comhustion products
Diagol fuel
Aviation fuel
Aviation fuer
Structural fires
Residential wood burning
Itility power generation
Home heating fuel
Commercial fuel
Surrates
Diagol vohiolog
Commercial heaters and heilers
Reaction with airborne SO
Reaction with another SO _x
Nitrates
Gasoline vehicles
Diesel vehicles
Home nearing rue
Commercial and nome neaters and bollers
Reaction with INO _x
Soil
Dust from paved and unpaved roads
Construction dust
Heavy metals
Utility power generation
Industrial processing
Smelting
Mining
Airborne soil
1

486

Particulate air pollutants are classified into three categories:^[35]

- 1. Less than 10 µm in diameter (PM 10). These particles can readily penetrate and deposit in the tracheobronchial tree.
- 2. Less than 2.5 μm in diameter (PM 2.5). These particles are small enough to reach the small airways and alveoli.
- 3. Less than 0.1 μ m in diameter, ultra-fine particles (UFPs). These particles demonstrate very high deposition in human alveoli and have very high surface areas (relative to mass) that can lead to biological toxicity. These particles are small enough to penetrate protective membranes and enter the bloodstream, from where they are deposited all over the body.

Several of the studies relating cardiovascular disease with air pollution associate increases in disease with increasing quantities of PM 2.5.^[33–35,39,40] It has been shown that each increase of 10 μ g/m³ of PM 2.5 was associated with a 24% increase in the risk of a cardiovascular event.^[40]

PM 2.5 particulate concentration is a readily measured indicator of air pollution levels. It must be noted, however, that increases in PM 2.5 levels invariably lead to concurrent increases in air pollutant vapors, including carbon monoxide, ozone, nitrogen dioxide, sulfur dioxide, hydrocarbons, and volatile organic compounds that arise from many of the same sources as PM 2.5 particles. The pollution "soups" that people are regularly exposed to contain numerous lipophilic and hydrophilic compounds in addition to particulate matter. Accordingly, though PM 2.5 serves as an indicator of pollution levels and has been associated with cardiovascular disease, one must take into consideration the nonparticulate vapors when ascribing adverse toxic effects especially since the vapors are, by themselves, toxic to the cardiovascular system. As discussed in Chapter 7, mixtures of air pollutants can have synergistic effects.

Both short-term and long-term cardiovascular toxicity from exposure to polluted air has been reported.^[35,40] Table 29.5 lists the cardiovascular diseases whose onset or exacerbation have been ascribed to breathing polluted air.^[32–37,39,40]

Women exposed to air pollutants (as indicated by PM 2.5 and PM 10 levels) are at greater risk for developing cardiovascular diseases than men. This was demonstrated in a 22-year long cohort study of more than 3000 non-Hispanic white adults in California.^[37] No explanation has been offered for the observed gender effect.

The cardiovascular toxicity of the chemicals contained in air pollutants is enhanced by the presence of free radicals in PM 2.5 particles. Electron

Table 29.5have been A	Cardiovascular Diseases whose Onset of Exacerbation scribed to Breathing Polluted Air
Mvocardia	infarction

Arrhythmia Heart failure Cardiac arrest Ischemic heart disease Atherosclerosis Hypertension

paramagnetic resonance has shown large quantities of free radicals in these particles with characteristics similar to semiquinone radicals, moieties known to undergo redox reactions that ultimately produce hydroxyl radicals.^[46] Hydroxyl radicals contribute to the ET–OS–ROS chain of events.^[25]

A recent study has provided insight into the association of ambient air pollution with increased cardiovascular morbidity and mortality. In this study, when human microvascular endothelial cells were exposed to a combination of ultrafine diesel exhaust particles and oxidized lipid components, a synergistic effect on the expression profiles of several gene modules that correspond to pathways relevant to inflammatory pathways such as atherosclerosis was observed.^[57] The implications of this study include a greatly increased risk of heart disease in those with high cholesterol who breathe polluted air.

29.4 Tobacco

It is estimated that about 1 billion people will die of tobacco-related illnesses in the twenty-first century and that a substantial proportion of these deaths will result from tobacco-induced cardiovascular disease.^[47] Cardiovascular diseases associated with tobacco use include^[48,49]

- Myocardial infarction
- Atherosclerosis
- Hypertension
- Peripheral arterial disease
- Aortic aneurism.

Tobacco exposure is toxic to the cardiovascular system, even at low levels, in all forms, including^[49]

- Cigarettes
- Cigars

- Pipes
- Smokeless (chewing tobacco and snuff)
- Beedies (a small amount of tobacco wrapped in temburini leaf and string tied)
- Sheesha (oriental water pipe)
- Paan (a tobacco preparation used with lime, areca nut, or betel quid)
- Secondary as well as primary smoke exposure.

In a worldwide study of 27,000 people in 52 countries, 12,400 patients who experienced acute myocardial infarctions (AMI) were compared with 14,000 who never had a heart attack or any other form of cardiovascular disease.^[49] The study concluded the following:

- 1. Smoking triples AMI risk.
- 2. Light smoking (eight cigarettes per day) doubles the risk of AMI.
- 3. Light smokers who quit smoking return to nonsmokers' risk for AMI after 3–5 years.
- 4. Heavy smokers (more than 20 cigarettes per day) who stop smoking return to nonsmokers' risk for AMI after 20 years.
- 5. Exposure to secondhand smoke for 22 h per week increases AMI risk by 45%.
- 6. Tobacco in any form is harmful and increases the risk for AMI.
- 7. The increased risk of AMI associated with the use of nonsmoking as well as smoking tobacco is indicative of the presence of cardiotoxins in tobacco itself and is not confined to the combustion products of tobacco.
- 8. The mechanism(s) for AMI induction by tobacco remains unknown.

Even short, low level exposures to secondhand smoke are believed to increase the risk of AMI.^[50] This was dramatically demonstrated in an inadvertent experiment that was carried out in Helena, Montana, in 2002. Helena, a geographically isolated community, imposed a public smoking ban on June 5, 2002. Opponents of the ban successfully won a court order suspending enforcement of the ban on December 3, 2002. During the time the ban was in effect, the number of AMIs observed in the local hospital fell by 40% compared to those observed during the 5-year period immediately preceding the public smoking ban. Immediately following the suspension of the smoking ban, the AMI number returned to its previous, preban,

level.^[51] A citywide smoking ban in Pueblo, Colorado, another isolated community, produced results similar to those reported in Helena, Montana.^[52] A third study in northern Italy also showed a reduction in AMI hospital admissions when a smoking ban was enacted.^[53] These studies clearly demonstrate the direct relationship between tobacco smoke, both via actually smoking and secondhand smoke exposure, and AMI.

The combined use of tobacco with other chemicals and pharmaceuticals can have synergistic effects. For example, women who smoke and use oral contraceptives have a much greater risk for myocardial infarction than nonsmokers,^[54] and a combination of cigarette smoking and elevated serum cholesterol has a synergistic effect on coronary heart disease morbidity and mortality.^[55]

The cardiovascular toxicity of tobacco is not limited to AMI. For examples, tobacco smoke inhibits neovascularization^[21] and promotes arteriosclerotic plaque development.^[56]

29.5 Cancer

The most common form of cardiovascular cancer is leukemia. This is addressed in Chapter 32.

29.6 Summary

The cardiovascular system is adversely impacted by many single chemicals and also by mixtures. The mixtures most toxic to the cardiovascular system are polluted air and tobacco smoke, mixtures for which relationships are so well defined that predictions can be made mathematically on the number of exposed individuals who will be impacted by cardiovascular disease following exposure.

References

- Scorecard pollution information site. Health effects: Cardiovascular toxicants, www scorecard.org/health-effects/chemcials-2tcl?short_hazard_ name= cardio &all_p=t
- Penn A, Snyder CA. 1,3-Butadiene exposure and cardiovascular disease. Mutat Res 2007; 621(1–2):42–9.
- Penn A, Snyder CA. 1,3-Butadiene, a vapor phase component of environmental tobacco smoke, accelerates arteriosclerotic plaque development. *Circulation* 1996; 93(3):552–7.

- 4. Anderson CE, Loomis GA. Recognition and prevention of inhalant abuse. *Am Fam Physician* 2003; 68(5):869–74.
- 5. Vural M, Ogel K. Dilated cardiomyopathy associated with toluene abuse. *Cardiology* 2006; 105(3):158–61.
- 6. Steadman C, Dorrington LC, Kay P, Stephens H. Abuse of fire-extinguishing agent and sudden death in adolescents. *Med J Aust* 1984; 141(2):115–17.
- 7. Brady WJ, Stremski E, Eljaiek L, Aufderheide TP. Freon inhalational abuse presenting with ventricular fibrillation. *Am J Emerg Med* 1994; 12(5):533–6.
- 8. Adgey AA, Johnson PW, McMechan S. Sudden death and substance abuse. *Resuscitation* 1995; 29(3):219–21.
- 9. Steffee CH, Davis GJ, Nicol KK. A whiff of death: Fatal volatile solvent inhalation abuse. *South Med J* 1996; 89(9):879–84.
- 10. Carder JR, Fuerst RS. Myocardial infarction after toluene inhalation. *Pediatr Emerg Care* 1997; 13(2):117–19.
- 11. Williams DR, Cole SJ. Ventricular fibrillation following butane gas inhalation. *Resuscitation* 1998; 37(1):43–5.
- LoVecchio F, Fulton SE. Ventricular fibrillation following inhalation of Glade Air Freshener. *Eur J Emerg Med* 2001; 8(2):153–4.
- Sugie H, Sasaki C, Hashimoto C, et al. Three cases of sudden death due to butane or propane gas inhalation: Analysis of tissues for gas components. *Forensic Sci Int* 2004; 143(2–3):211–14.
- Pfeiffer H, Al Khaddam M, Brinkman B, et al. Sudden death after isobutene sniffing: A report of two forensic cases. *Int J Legal Med* 2006; 120(3): 168–73.
- 15. Williams JF, Storck M. Inhalant abuse. Pediatrics 2007; 119(5):1009-17.
- Yauck JS, Malloy ME, Blair K, et al. Proximity of residence to trichloroethylene-emitting sites and increased risk of offspring congenital heart defects among older women. *Birth Defects Res A Clin Mol Teratol* 2004; 70(10): 8–14.
- 17. Drake VJ, Koprowski SL, Hu N, et al. Cardiogenic effects of trichloroethylene and trichloroacetic acid following exposure during heart specification of avian development. *Toxicol Sci* 2006; 94(1):153–62.
- Watson RE, Jacobson CF, Williams AL, et al. Trichloroethylene-contaminated drinking water and congenital heart defects: A critical analysis of the literature. *Reprod Toxicol* 2006; 21(2):117–47.
- Morgan DP. Recognition and management of pesticide poisonings, 4th ed., U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, EPA-540/9-88-001, Washington, DC, March 1989.
- Garcia SJ, Abu-Qure AW, Meeker-O'Connell WA, et al. Methyl parathion: A review of health effects. J Toxicol Environ Health B Crit Rev 2003; 6(2):185–210.
- 21. Ivnitski-Steele I, Walker MK. Inhibition of neovascularization by environmental agents. *Cardiovasc Toxicol* 2005; 5(2):215–26.
- 22. Jiang Y, Zheng W. Cardiovascular toxicities upon manganese exposure. *Cardiovasc Toxicol* 2005; 5(4):345–54.
- 23. Houston MC. The role of mercury and cadmium heavy metals in vascular disease, hypertension, coronary heart disease, and myocardial infarction. *Altern Ther Health Med* 2007; 13(2):S128–33.

- 24. Navas-Acien A, Guallar E, Silbergeld EK, Rothernberg SJ. Lead exposure and cardiovascular disease—a systematic review. *Environ Health Perspect* 2007; 115(3):472–82.
- 25. Kovacic P, Thurn LA. Cardiovascular toxicity from the perspective of oxidative stress, electron transfer and prevention by antioxidants. *Curr Vasc Pharm* 2005; 3:107–17.
- 26. Ignarro LJ (ed.). *Nitric oxide biology and pathobiology*, Academic Press, New York, 2000.
- 27. Napoli C, de Nigris F, Williams-Ignarro S, et al. Nitric oxide and atherosclerosis: An update. *Nitric Oxide* 2000; 15(4):265–79.
- 28. Barbato JE, Tzeng E. Nitric oxide and arterial disease. *J Vasc Surg* 2004; 40(1):187–93.
- 29. Orsi A, Beltran B, Clementi E, et al. Continuous exposure to high concentrations of nitric oxide leads to persistent inhibition of oxygen consumption by J774 cells as well as extraction of oxygen by the extracellular medium. *Biochem J* 2000; 3346 (Pt 2):407–12.
- Taylor BE, Harris MB, Burk M, et al. Nitric oxide mediates metabolism as well as respiratory and cardiac responses to hypoxia in the snail lymnaea stagnalis. J Exp Zoolog A Comp Exp Biol 2003; 295(1):37–46.
- 31. Bakare AA, Pandey AK, Bajpayee M, et al. DNA damage induced in human peripheral blood lyphocytes by industrial solid waste and municipal sludge leachates. *Environ Mol Mutagen* 2006; 48(1):30–7.
- 32. Dockery DW, Pope CA, Xu X, et al. An association between air pollution and mortality in six U.S. cities. *New Engl J Med* 1993; 329:1753–9.
- 33. Peters A, Dockery DW, Muller JE, et al. Increased particulate air pollution and triggering of myocardial infarction. *Circulation* 2001; 103:2810–15.
- 34. Pope III, CA, Burnett RT, Thurston GD, et al. Cardiovascular mortality and long-term exposure to particulate air pollution. *Circulation* 2004; 109: 71–7.
- 35. Brook RD, Franklin B, Cascio W, et al. Air pollution and cardiovascular disease. *Circulation* 2004; 109:2655–71.
- 36. Kunzli N, Jerrett M, Mack WJ, et al. Ambient air pollution and atherosclerosis in Los Angeles. *Environ Health Perspect* 2005; 113(2):201–6.
- 37. Chen LH, Knutsen SF, Shavlik D, et al. The association between fatal coronary heart disease and ambient particulate air pollution: Are females at greater risk? *Environ Health Perspect* 2005; 113(12):1723–9.
- Gehring U, Heinrich J, Kramer U, et al. Long-term exposure to ambient air pollution and cardiopulmonary mortality in women. *Epidemiology* 2006; 17(5):545–51.
- 39. Dockery DW, Stone PH. Cardiovascular risks from fine particulate air pollution. *New Engl J Med* 2007; 356(5):511–13.
- 40. Miller KA, Siscovick DS, Sheppard L, et al. Long-term exposure to air pollution and incidence of cardiovascular events in women. *New Engl J Med* 2007; 356(5):447–58.
- 41. Anderson RR, Martello DV, Rohar PC, et al. Sources and composition of PM 2.5 at the National Energy Technology Laboratory in Pittsburgh during July and August of 2000. *Energy Fuels* 2002; 16(2):261–9.

- 42. Gavett SH, Haykal-Coates N, Copeland LB, et al. Metal composition of ambient PM 2.5 influences severity of allergic airways disease in mice. *Environ Health Perspect* 2003; 111(12):1471–7.
- 43. Dechapanya W, Russell M, Allen DT. Estimates of anthropogenic secondary organic aerosol formation in Houston, Texas. *Aerosol Sci Tech* 2004; 38 (12 Suppl 1):156–66.
- 44. Vallius M, Janssen NA, Heinrich J, et al. Sources and elemental composition of ambient PM(2.5) in three European cities. *Sci Total Environ* 2005; 337(1–3):147–62.
- 45. Lewandowski M, Jaoui M, Kleindienst TE, et al. Composition of PM 2.5 during the summer of 2003 in Research Triangle Park, NC. *Atmospheric Environ* 2007; 19:4073–83.
- 46. Dellinger B, Pryor WA, Cueto R, et al. Role of free radicals in the toxicity of airborne fine particulate matter. *Chem Res Toxicol* 2001; 14(10):1371–7.
- 47. Rosner SA, Stampfer MJ. The heart-breaking news about tobacco: It's all bad. *Lancet* 2006; 368:621–2.
- 48. American Heart Association. Cigarette smoking and cardiovascular diseases, www.americanheart.org/presenter.jhtml?identifier=4545
- 49. Teo KK, Ounpuu S, Hawken S, et al. Tobacco use and risk of myocardial infarction in 52 countries in the INTERHEART study: A case-control study. *Lancet* 2006; 368:647–58.
- 50. Pechacek TF, Babb S. Commentary: How acute and reversible are the cardio-vascular risks of secondhand smoke? *BMJ* 2004; 328:980–3.
- Sargent RP, Shepard RM, Glantz SA. Reduced incidence of admissions for myocardial infarction associated with public smoking ban: Before and after study. *BMJ* 2004; 328:977–80.
- 52. Bartecchi C, Alsever RN, Nevin-Woods C, et al. Reduction in the incidence of acute myocardial infarction associated with a citywide smoking ordinance. *Circulation* 2006; 114(14):1490–6.
- 53. Barone-Adesi F, Vizzini L, Merletti F. Short-term effects of Italian smoking regulation on rates of hospital admission for acute myocardial infarction. *Eur Heart J* 2006; 27(20):2468–72.
- 54. Lidegaard O. Smoking and use of oral contraceptives: Impact on thrombotic diseases. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1999; 180 (6 Pt 2):S357–63.
- 55. Perkins KA. The synergistic effect of smoking and serum cholesterol on coronary heart disease. *Health Psychol* 1985; 4(4):337–60.
- Penn A, Keller K, Snyder C, et al. The tar fraction of cigarette smoke does not promote arteriosclerotic plaque formation. *Environ Health Perspect* 1996; 104(10):1108–13.
- 57. Gong KW, Zhao W, Li N, et al. Air-pollutant chemicals and oxidized lipids exhibit genome-wide synergistic effects on endothelial cells. *Genome Biol* 2007; 8:R149, http://genomebiology.com/2007/8/7/R149

30.1 Introduction

The liver is subject to attack by xenobiotics because it is the body's principal metabolic site and is the recipient of ingested toxins that travel to it from the small intestine via the portal vein. The liver is impacted by a large number of chemicals encompassing multiple functional groups that include numerous lipophiles and hydrophiles. Table 30.1 lists hepatotoxins by chemical category, and Table 30.2 contains a partial list of hepatotoxins. The references cited are web sources that are referenced to primary sources for more detail.^[1,2]

Hepatotoxicity for most chemical toxins mechanistically proceeds via free radical formation which causes oxidative stress that induces lipid peroxidation, membrane damage, and altered enzyme activities, the generation of reactive oxygen species, and hydrophilic toxins. Ethanol, carbon tetrachloride, and other haloalkanes are examples of chemicals that are thusly hepatotoxic.^[3–10] Some xenobiotics, bromobenzene, allyl alcohol, and diethylmaleate, for example, are glutathione depleting agents. With these, necrosis is accompanied by lipid peroxidation that develops only after severe glutathione depletion.^[11]

30.2 Single Chemical Hepatotoxins

Numerous studies have been carried out on the effects of single chemicals on the liver, of which ethanol and carbon tetrachloride are the most notorious.^[4,8] Other hepatotoxic chemicals, however, have also been widely studied, both in the laboratory and environmentally. For example, an outbreak of toxic liver disease was reported in a fabric coating company. Upon investigation, it was found that dimethylformamide, a known hepatotoxin, was used as a coating solvent in poorly ventilated areas without appropriate skin protection, and no other hepatotoxins were identified.^[12]

Our discussion here is dedicated to the unexpected effects of toxic chemical mixtures. For information on identified or suspected single hepatotoxic chemicals, it is suggested that the reader carry out a literature search for the specific species of interest.

A111.
Alconois
Aliphatic hydrocarbons
Aliphatic nitro compounds
Amines
Aliphatic
Aromati
Heterocyclic
Aromatic nitro compounds
Aromatic hydrocarbons
Chlorinated aliphatic compounds
Chlorinated aromatic compounds
Chlorofluorocarbons
Esters
Ethers
Glycol ethers
Halowaxes
Metals
Nitrosamines
Pesticides
Chlorophenoxy
Organochlorine
Pyrethroids
Phenols
Thiols

Table 30.1 Chemical Categories of Hepatotoxins

Table 30.2 Partial List of Hepatotoxic Chemicals

Acetic acid
Acetone
Acrolein
Acrylonitrile
Aldrin
Allyl alcohol
Aniline
Anthracene
Antimony
Arsenic
Atrazine
Benzene
Benzidine

496

Benzyl bromide
Beryllium
Biphenyl
Bromium
Carbon tetrachloride
Chloroform
Copper
2,4-D
DDE
DDT
Diazinon
1,2-Dichlorobenzene
1,1-Dichloroethylene
1,2-Dichloroethylene
Dichlorvos
Diethyl phthalate
Dimethyl acetamide
Dimethyl formamide
Dimethly amine
Dimethyl sulfate
1,4-Dioxane
Diquat
Endosulfan
Endrin
Ethanol
Ethyl acrylate
Ethyl benzene
1,2-Ethylene diamine
Ethylene glycol
Ethylene glycol monobutyl ether
Ethylene oxide
Formaldehyde
Formic acid
Glyphosate
Hexachlorobenzene
Hexachloropentadiene
Hydrazine
Hydroquinone
Isopropanol
Lead

Table 30.2 Partial List of Hepatotoxic Chemicals (Continued)

Lindane
Malathion
Mercury
Methanol
Methyl ethyl ketone
Methyl isobutyl ketone
Methylene dianiline
Mirex
Naphthalene
Oxalic acid
Paraquat
PCBs
Pentachlorophenol
Phenol
Phosphine
Potassium permanganate
Sodium nitrite
Styrene
2,4,5-T
Tetrachlorethylene
Tetrahydrofuran
Thallium
Thioacetamide
Tin
Toluene
Toluene-2,4-diisocyanate
1,1,1-Trichloroethane
Trichloroethylene
Vinyl acetate
Xylenes
Zineb
Ziram

 Table 30.2 Partial List of Hepatotoxic Chemicals (Continued)

30.3 Hepatotoxic Mixtures—Animal Studies

Many laboratory animal studies have been carried out on the liver toxicity of halogenated hydrocarbon mixtures, with most of these devoted to the potentiation of carbon tetrachloride hepatotoxicity. Other studies have

498

included heavy metals, disinfection byproducts, and simulated polluted groundwater. The following reference these studies:

- 1. Mixtures of the polybrominated biphenyls, PCBs, or hexachlorobenzene and carbon tetrachloride synergistically increase the toxic effects of carbon tetrachloride on the livers of rats.^[13]
- 2. The co-administration of the insecticide chlordecone and carbon tetrachloride potentiates the hepatotoxicity of carbon tetrachloride in laboratory animals.^[14,15]
- 3. Hypoxia potentiates the carbon tetrachloride hepatotoxicity in animals and in humans.^[16]
- 4. Trichloroethylene, tetrachloroethylene, and chloroform potentiate carbon tetrachloride-induced lipid peroxidation in insolated rat hepatocytes.^[17,18]
- 5. Methylene chloride is not hepatotoxic at low levels of exposure, yet, co-administration with carbon tetrachloride significantly potentiates the hepatotoxicity of carbon tetrachloride.^[19]
- 6. Interactive hepatotoxicity was demonstrated by the concurrent administration of mixtures of any two or all three of the chlorinated hydrocarbons: trichloroethylene, tetrachloroethylene, and 1,1,1-trichloroethane. All binary mixtures as well as the ternary mixture significantly increased hepatotoxicity in vitro on rat hepatocytes as well as in vivo on laboratory rats.^[20]
- Chlordecone potentiates the hepatotoxic effects of chloroform. Studies on laboratory rats showed that administration of only a single dose of chlordecone significantly potentiates chloroforminduced liver injury.^[21]
- 8. Mixtures of cadmium chloride and chloroform trigger toxic responses in isolated rat hepatocytes at concentrations sufficiently low so as not to produce a hepatotoxic response for either chemical alone.^[22]
- 9. As discussed earlier, chloroform and dichloroacetic acid are formed as byproducts when drinking water is chlorinated (Section 8.9). In a study on laboratory rats, the co-administration of dichloroacetic acid and chloroform was found to greatly increase the liver toxicity of chloroform.^[23]
- 10. In a study carried out by the U.S. National Toxicology Program, laboratory animals were watered with water containing a mixture of 25 common groundwater contaminants at environmentally relevant levels. The chemicals, which included many lipophiles and hydrophiles, included aromatic hydrocarbons, chlorinated

hydrocarbons, and other pollutants. Exposed animals developed inflammatory lesions of the liver that could not be predicted from the known toxic effects of the individual components of the mixture at the levels the animals were exposed to. Table 30.3 lists the chemicals in the mixture.^[24]

- 11. Exposures to hydrocarbon mixtures have been shown to produce hepatotoxic effects. JP-8 jet fuel is a complex mixture of hydrocarbons, including the following volatile compounds:
 - Butyl benzene
 - Cyclooctane
 - Decane
 - Dodecane
 - Hexadecane

Table 30.3 Components of a Simulated Contaminated Groundwater Mixture that Induced Inflammatory Liver Lesions in Laboratory Animals^[24]

Acetone Arachlor 1260 (PCB) Arsenic Benzene Cadmium Carbon tetrachloride Chlorobenzene Chloroform Chromium 1,1-Dichloroethane 1,2-Dichloroethane 1,1-Dichloroethylene 1,2-trans-Dichloroethylene Di(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate Ethyl benzene Lead Mercury Methylene chloride Nickel Phenol Tetrachloroethylene Toluene 1.1.1-Trichloroethane Trichloroethylene **Xylenes**

- Isooctane
- Methylcyclohexane
- 1-Methylnaphthalene
- Tetradecane
- Tetralin
- Xylenes.

In a laboratory study, rats exposed by whole body inhalation to JP-8 vapor experienced altered liver protein profiles, demonstrating alterations in functional capacity of the exposed animals.^[25]

- 12. Acetaminophen is a widely used nonsteroidal, anti-inflammatory agent with hepatotoxic properties.^[26] Several studies have shown that pretreatment of laboratory animals with ethanol and isopentanol, the predominant alcohols in alcoholic beverages, synergistically increases acetaminophen hepatotoxicity.^[27–29]
- 13. Ethanol is a very well-established hepatotoxin. A laboratory animal study has shown, however, that the hepatotoxicity of ethanol is magnified when ethanol ingestion is coupled with dietary iron overload. The authors of the study attribute the observed synergism to an increased pool of chelatable iron.^[30]

30.4 Human Case Studies

The animal studies just described serve as models for understanding hepatotoxicity of chemical mixtures in humans. Many case studies reporting hepatotoxicity of chemical mixtures in humans have been reported in the literature. The following are illustrative of these studies, which demonstrate the unanticipated hepatotoxic effects of mixtures of lipophiles and hydrophiles. K_{ow} values are included for each chemical to demonstrate lipophilic or hydrophilic character.

1. Three previously healthy workers who worked in a plant that supplied chemicals for vitamin synthesis were hospitalized with liver injury following 2–4 months of exposure to a mixture of chemicals that included lipophilic and hydrophilic components:

Acrylonitrile	0.25
Carbon disulfide	1.94
Methanol	-0.77
Toluene	2.73

Concentrations of all species were below PELs and hepatotoxicity was not predicted. The authors of the study suggested that "liver injury was caused by the combined action of organic solvents." Synergistic hepatotoxicity was suspected.^[31]

2. There are some 30,000 chemical waste dump sites in the United States. Many of these were established in the 1950s and 1960s when little was known about the need to contain the wastes buried in them. One such site is located in Hardeman County, Tennessee, where residents were exposed to leachate from that toxic waste dump in the drinking water drawn from nearby wells. The contaminants detected in these wells include the following chemicals:

Benzene	2.13
Carbon tetrachloride	2.83
Chlordene	5.44
Chlorobenzene	2.84
Chloroform	1.97
Hexachlorobutadiene	4.78
Hexachloroethane	4.14
Methylene chloride	1.25
Naphthalene	3.30
Tetrachloorethylene	3.40
Toluene	2.73
Xylenes	3.15

Those who were exposed to the contaminated drinking water sustained multiple liver effects compared with controls who were not exposed to this water. The effects included increased elevation of alkaline phosphatase and serum glutamic oxaloacetic transaminase as well as significantly lower albumin and total bilirubin levels.^[32]

3. Five workers at an industrial waste treatment plant in Ulsan, Korea, developed acute toxic hepatitis following the introduction of a new disposal process that resulted in their exposure to a large number of lipophilic and hydrophilic volatile organic compounds. The chemicals they were exposed to included

1,4-Butanediol	-0.83
1-Butanol	0.88
2-Butoxyethanol	0.83
Butyl acetate	1.78
Cyclohexanone	0.81
Dimethyl acetamide	-0.77

Dimethyl formamide	-1.01
Pyridine	0.65
Tetrahydrofuran	0.46
Toluene	2.73
Xylene	3.15

Severe destruction of liver cells with bridging necrosis was observed in all five patients. None of the individual chemicals in the mixture had known toxicology that matched the clinical characteristics that were observed. The authors of the study suggest that "the various chemicals detected in the analysis underwent an interaction among themselves, which synergistically raised their toxicity compared with the original material."^[33]

4. A study in Finland investigated 23 men with occupational liver injury. Eight of the subjects were interior and exterior house painters and the others were chemical industry workers.

The painters were exposed daily to the following chemicals:

Acetone	-0.24
Benzene	2.13
1-Butanol	0.88
Butyl acetate	1.78
Butyl chloride	2.64
Ethanol	-0.32
Ethyl acetate	0.73
Ethylene glycol	-1.36
Methylene chloride	1.25
Toluene	2.73
Xylene	3.15

The compounds the chemical industry workers were exposed to included

Acetone	-0.24
Benzene	2.13
Chloroform	1.97
Ethanol	-0.32
Toluene	2.73
Xylene	3.15

The affected workers all repeatedly had altered liver functions when examined in mandatory routine examinations compared with controls who had the same age distribution, dietary, and drinking habits as the subjects of this study. Industrial hygiene checks showed that all exposures in both groups of workers were below established limits for each of the chemicals, yet the low level exposures to these mixtures of lipophiles and hydrophiles were hepatotoxic to individuals who were otherwise healthy and had no previous history of liver disease. This study included controls who had the same age distribution, dietary, and drinking habits as the subjects of this study.^[34]

- 5. Fatty liver disease is generally attributed to alcohol, diabetes, or obesity. A study in Western Pennsylvania showed that it could also be attributed to exposure to chemical mixtures. A woman who used methylene chloride paint strippers developed fatty liver disease after using these strippers for more than 5 years.^[35] Methylene chloride $(K_{ow} = 1.25)$ paint strippers are mixtures of lipophilic and hydrophilic compounds, typically also containing methanol $(K_{ow} = -0.77)$ and toluene $(K_{ow} = 2.73)$. This study also contained other examples of hepatotoxic effects of mixtures of lipophilic and hydrophilic chemicals, but the chemicals were described in generic form (e.g., glycol ethers and aerosol holding sprays) rather than as specific chemicals, precluding precise identifications of the chemicals involved.
- 6. Coke oven emissions are complex mixtures of hydrocarbons, including benzene and polynuclear aromatic compounds; heavy metals including arsenic, beryllium, and cadmium; and other particulates and vapors. In a study of coking workers in Taiwan, it was found that liver function profiles were altered by exposures to coke oven emissions and that exposure to even low levels of these emissions was hepatotoxic. The authors of the study suggest that the adverse hepatotoxic effects are caused by a mixture of chemicals rather than by any one identifiable species.^[36]

30.5 Hepatic Cancer

The subject of chemically induced liver cancer is addressed in Chapter 32.

30.6 Summary

The liver is essential in order to maintain life. Accordingly, xenobiotic attacks on it threaten life and well-being. Many chemicals are hepato-toxic, but mixtures of lipophilic and hydrophilic chemicals are liver toxins at exposure levels that are often far below those that are toxic for the single chemicals in those mixtures. Animal studies have demonstrated the hepatotoxic properties of such mixtures and case studies have confirmed these effects in humans.

References

- 1. Haz-Map. Toxic hepatitis, www.haz-map.com/hepatox1.htm
- 2. Scorecard. Gastrointestinal or liver toxicants, www.scorecard.org/healtheffects/chemicals-2.tcl?short_hazard_name=liver&all_p=t
- 3. Weber LW, Boll M, Stampfl A. Hepatotoxicity and mechanism of action of haloalkanes: Carbon tetrachloride as a toxicological model. *Crit Rev Toxicol* 2003; 33(2):105–36.
- 4. Lieber CS.. Alcoholic fatty liver: Its pathogenesis and mechanism of progression to inflammation and fibrosis. *Alcohol* 2004; 34(1):9–19.
- 5. Lieber CS. Metabolism of alcohol. *Clin Liver Res* 2005; 9(1):1–35.
- Brautbar N, Williams J, 2nd. Industrial solvents and liver toxicity: Risk assessment, risk factors and mechanisms. *Int J Hyg Environ Health* 2002; 205(6):479–91.
- 7. Hodgson MJ, Heyl AE, Van Thiel DH. Liver disease associated with exposure to 1,1,1-trichloroethane. *Arch Intern Med* 1989; 149:1793–8.
- Recknagel RO. Carbon tetrachloride hepatotoxicity. *Pharmacol Rev* 1967; 19:145–208.
- 9. Plaa, GL, Evans EA, Hine CH. Relative hepatotoxicity of seven halogenated hydrocarbons. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 1958; 123(3):224–9.
- 10. Condie LW. Target organ toxicology of halocarbons commonly found contaminating drinking water. *Sci Tot Environ* 1985; 47:433–42.
- 11. Maellaro E, Casini AF, Del Bello B, Comporti M. Lipid peroxidation and antioxidant systems in the liver injury produced by glutathione depleting agents. *Biochem Pharmacol* 1990; 39(10):1513–21.
- Redlich CA, Beckett WS, Sparer J, et al. Liver disease associated with occupational exposure to the solvent dimethylformamide. *Ann Int Med* 1988; 108(5):680–6.
- 13. Kluwe WM, Hook JB, Bernstein J. Synergistic toxicity of carbon tetrachloride and several organohalide compounds. *Toxicology* 1982; 23(4):321–36.
- 14. Mehendale HM. Potentiation of halomethane hepatotoxicity: Chlorodecone and carbon tetrachloride. *Fundam Appl Toxicol* 1984; 4(3):295–308.
- 15. Mehendale HM, Klingensmith JS. In vivo metabolism of CCl4 by rats pretreated with chlordecone, mirex or phenobarbitol. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 1988; 93(2):247–56.
- 16. Shibayama Y. Potentiation of carbon tetrachloride hepatotoxicity by hypoxia. *Br J Exp Pathol* 1986; 67(6):909–14.
- 17. Kefalas V, Stacey NH. Potentiation of carbon tetrachloride-induced lipid peroxidation by trichloroethylene in isolated rat hepatocytes: No role in enhanced toxicity. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 1989; 101(1):158–69.
- Kefalas V, Stacey NH. Potentiating effects of chlorinated hydrocarbons on carbon tetrachloride toxicity in isolated rat hepatocytes and plasma membranes. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 1991; 109(1):171–9.

- 19. Kim YC. Dichloromethane potentiation of carbon tetrachloride hepatotoxicity in rats. *Fundam Appl Toxicol* 1997; 35:138–41.
- 20. Stacey NH. Toxicity of mixtures of trichloroethylene, tetrachloroethylene and 1,1,1-trichloroethane: Similarity of in vitro to in vivo responses. *Toxicol Ind Health* 1989; 5(3):441–50.
- 21. Plaa GL, Caille G, Vezina M, et al. Chloroform interaction with chlordecone and mirex: Correlation between biochemical and histological indices of toxicity and quantitative tissue levels. *Fundam Appl Toxicol* 1987; 9(2):198–207.
- 22. Stacey NH. Assessment of the toxicity of chemical mixtures with isolated rat hepatocytes: Cadmium and chloroform. *Fundam Appl Toxicol* 1987; 9(4):616–22.
- 23. Davis ME. Dichloroacetic acid and trichloroacetic acid increase chloroform toxicity. *J Toxicol Environ Health* 1992; 37(1):139–48.
- U.S. National Toxicology Program. TOX-35. Toxicity studies of a chemical mixture of 25 groundwater contaminants administered in drinking water to F344/N rats and B6C3F1 mice, National Toxicology Program, Research Triangle Park, NC, 1993, http://ntp.niehs.nih.gov/index.cfm?objectid=072D28F1-E31F-957C-CB934591D53C18B5
- 25. Witzmann FA, Carpenter RL, Ritchie GD, et al. Toxicity of chemical mixtures: Proteomic analysis of persisting liver and kidney protein alterations induced by repeated exposure of rats to JP-8 jet fuel vapor. *Electrophoresis* 2000; 21(11):2138–47.
- 26. Rumack BH. Acetaminophen hepatotoxicity: The first 35 years. *J Toxicol Clin Toxicol* 2002; 40(1):3–20.
- 27. Walker RM, McElligott TF, Power EM, et al. Increased acetaminopheninduced hepatotoxicity after chronic ethanol consumption in mice. *Toxicology* 1983; 28(3):193–206.
- 28. Kostrubsky VE, Wood SG, Bush MD, et al. Acute hepatotoxicity of acetaminophen in rats treated with ethanol plus isopentanol. *Biochem Pharmacol* 1995; 50(11):1743–8.
- 29. Sinclair JF, Szakacs JG, Wood SG, et al. Acetaminophen hepatotoxicity precipitated by short-term treatment of rats with ethanol and isopentanol: Protection by triacetyloleandomycin. *Biochem Pharmacol* 2000; 59(4):445–54.
- 30. Stal P, Johansson I, Ingelman-Sundberg M, et al. Hepatotoxicity induced by iron overload and alcohol. Studies on the role of chelatable iron, cytochrome P450 2E1 and lipid peroxidation. *J Hepatol* 1996; 25(4):538–46.
- 31. Dossing M, Ranek L. Isolated liver damage in chemical workers. *Br J Ind Med* 1984; 41:142–4.
- 32. Meyer CR. Liver dysfunction in residents exposed to leachate from a toxic waste dump. *Environ Health Perspect* 1983; 48:9–13.
- 33. Cheong HK, Kin EZ, Choi JK, et al. Grand rounds: An outbreak of toxic hepatitis among industrial waste disposal workers. *Environ Health Perspect* 2007; 115(11):107–12.
- 34. Sotaniemi EA, Sutinen S, Sutinen S, et al. Liver injury in subjects occupationally exposed to chemicals in low doses. *Acta Med Scand* 1982; 212:207–15.
- 35. Hodgson M, van Thiel DH, Goodman-Klein B. Obesity and hepatotoxins as a risk factor for fatty liver disease. *Br J Ind Med* 1991; 48:69–95.
- 36. Wu MT, Mao IF, Wypij D, et al. Serum liver function profiles in coking workers. *Am J Ind Med* 1997; 32(5):478–86.

31.1 Introduction

The kidneys are critical organs. They filter wastes produced by metabolism from the blood and excrete them with water as urine. They are also major organs in whole body homeostasis, with acid–base balance, electrolyte concentration regulation, blood volume control, and blood pressure regulation functions.

Because of their role as filtering organs, the kidneys are vulnerable to attack by a wide variety of xenobiotics, including halogenated hydrocarbons, aromatic hydrocarbons, ketones, glycol ethers, pesticides, heavy metals, and metabolites of other xenobiotics.

In addition to their filtration function, the kidneys are also metabolically active and carry out extensive oxidation, reduction, hydrolysis, and conjugation reactions, with enzymes similar to those present in the liver and other extrarenal tissues involved in these metabolic reactions.^[1] As noted previously, metabolites of xenobiotics are often toxic than the parent compounds. As a result of the combination of the filtration and metabolic functions, the kidneys are targets for many toxic chemicals.

Large numbers of chemicals, including organic and inorganic chemicals and comprising a wide variety of functionalities, are nephrotoxic. Many of the nephrotoxic effects are the result of oxidative stress and electron transfer of parent compounds or metabolites giving rise to ROS.^[2]

Many of the same chemicals that are hepatotoxic are also nephrotoxic. A partial list of renal toxins is contained in Table 31.1. This list is drawn from the Scorecard kidney toxicant lists, which contains references to original sources.^[3]

31.2 Single Chemical Renal Toxins

As seen from Table 31.1, and associated references, many single chemicals are renal toxins. Several have been studied in detail. The following are illustrative examples:

1. Cadmium is a nephrotoxin found in food, tobacco, and in the general environment. A study of cadmium-induced nephrotoxic effects on Swedish women has shown that even low level cadmium exposures in women who never smoked significantly impacted

Acetanilide
Acetic acid
Acetone
Acetonitrile
Aldrin
Arsenic
Biphenyl
1,4-Butanediol
2-Butoxyethanol acetate
Cadmium
Chlordane
Chlorine
Chloroform
Chromium
Cobalt
Copper
Cyclohexanol
DDT
Dibutyl phthalate
1,2-Dichloroethane
1,1-Dichloroethylene
Dieldrin
Diethylene glycol monoethyl ether
Dimethyl sulfate
1,4-Dioxane
Dipropylene glycol monomethyl ether
Endosulfan
Endrin
Epichlorohydrin
Ethyl acrylate
Ethylene glycol
Ethylene glycol monobutyl ether
Ethylene oxide
Ethylenediamine
Formic acid
Furan
Hydrazine
Lead
Mercury
Meta-dichlorobenzene

 Table 31.1 Partial List of Renal Toxins

Methanol
Methoxychlor
Methyl ethyl ketone
Methyl <i>t</i> -butyl ketone
Mirex
Paraquat
PCBs
Pentachlorophenol
1-Pentanol
Phosphine
Sodium metabisulfite
TCDD
Tert-butanol
Tetrachloroethylene
1,1,2,2-Tetrafluoroethylene
Toluene
Tributyl phosphate
Trichloroethylene
Xylenes

 Table 31.1 Partial List of Renal Toxins (Continued)

renal tubular and glomerular function. The same study also found that cadmium potentiates diabetes-induced renal effects.^[4]

- 2. Thirteen different hydrocarbons, including aliphatics, aromatics, carbon tetrachloride, trichloroethylene, and other halogenated aliphatics, have been shown to cause glomerulonephritis (an inflammation of the kidney that can lead to loss of kidney function and hypertension) in laboratory animals and humans (see^[5] and references contained therein).
- 3. Diethylene glycol was found to be responsible for an outbreak of acute renal failure in 109 Haitian children who had ingested a locally manufactured acetaminophen syrup. The glycerin contained in that syrup was found to be contaminated with 24% diethylene glycol.^[6]
- 4. The developing kidney is subject to attack by a number of environmental toxins. These include lead, cadmium, uranium, mercury, decalin, JP-5 jet fuel (a mixture of C12–15 straight and branched hydrocarbons), C10–11 isoparaffinic hydrocarbons, 2,2,4-trimethylpentane, *d*-limonene, diethylene glycol, and hexachlorocyclohexane.^[7]

Numerous other examples of single nephrotoxic agents exist. The discussion here focuses on the effects of mixtures, the subject for the next section.

31.3 Nephrotoxic Chemical Mixtures

Given the almost constant exposure of humans to toxic chemicals (via air pollution, water pollution, or food contamination) and the filtration function of the kidneys, one could easily argue that the kidneys are almost constantly exposed to mixtures of toxic chemicals and that the uptake of additional xenobiotic chemicals creates new mixtures. As we have already seen earlier, many single chemicals have been shown to be renal toxins. Whether the observed nephrotoxic effects of any of these chemicals are because of its interactions with endogenous or other exogenous chemicals is unknown. What is known is that exposures to some chemical mixtures are toxic to the kidneys of test animals and humans. Examples of studies demonstrating mixture effects follow:

- JP-8 jet fuel is a complex mixture of primarily C8–20 aliphatic and aromatic hydrocarbons. Those living near airports and military aviation training sites are exposed to the volatile fraction of JP-8 by inhalation. Laboratory rats exposed via inhalation to JP-8 jet fuel vapors were shown to have protein alterations in their kidneys.^[8]
- 2. Laboratory animals were exposed to a mixture of chlorinated hydrocarbons at concentrations found in underground water near an electronic appliances factory in Taiwan. The mixture consisted of
 - Chloroform
 - 1,1-Dichloroethane
 - 1,1-Dichloroethylene
 - 1,1,1-Trichloroethane
 - Trichloroethylene
 - Tetrachloroethylene.

Though the exposures were to low levels of all chemicals, the exposed animals experienced multiple system effects, including increased kidney weights.^[9]

3. Chloroform, dichloroacetic acid, and trichloroacetic acid are disinfection byproducts of water chlorination. In a study of laboratory rats it was shown that both dichloroacetic acid and trichloroacetic acid increase the renal toxicity of chloroform in test animals.^[10]

31: KIDNEYS

- 4. Carbon tetrachloride, which has been used in fire extinguishers as a fire suppressant, is a known renal toxin. In a study of people exposed to carbon tetrachloride vapors during fire fighting activities, it was found that those individuals with histories of alcohol abuse experience greater nephrotoxic effects (including renal failure) than those who do not abuse alcohol. The authors of the study conclude that ethanol potentiates the nephrotoxic effects of carbon tetrachloride.^[11] This is an example of a potentiated effect being observed when exposure is to a mixture of a lipophile (carbon tetrachloride $K_{ow} = 2.83$) and a hydrophile (ethanol $K_{ow} = -0.32$).
- 5. The renal toxicity of carbon tetrachloride is also potentiated by isopropanol (IPA), as well as by ethanol. Workers in a chemical packaging plant were exposed to a mixture of vapors of carbon tetrachloride and IPA when the spacing between two packaging lines (one for each solvent) was small enough to create a mixed vapor atmosphere. Renal failure developed in 4 of the 14 workers so exposed. The authors of the study attribute the potentiating effect of IPA on carbon tetrachloride to acetone, a metabolite of IPA. They contrast this with the potentiation of ethanol on carbon tetrachloride, where it is the contaminant (ethanol) and not the metabolite that is the cause of the potentiation.^[12] This is a further example of a potentiated effect being observed from a mixture of a lipophile (carbon tetrachloride, $K_{ow} = 2.83$) and a hydrophile (acetone, $K_{ow} = -0.24$).
- 6. As has been discussed many times in this book, tobacco smoke contains some 4400 different toxic chemicals. Although several of the compounds contained in tobacco (including nicotine and cadmium) are renal toxins,^[13–15] not all nephrotoxic effects of tobacco smoke can be accounted for by a consideration of single chemicals alone. Renal function is impaired in cigarette smokers,^[16] and cigarette smoke aggravates glomerulosclerosis, tubulointerstitial, and vascular damage.^[17] Inhaled tobacco smoke is also implicated in renal cell carcinoma,^[18] a subject that is examined in Chapter 32.
- Although both ethanol and tobacco smoke are renal toxins, a laboratory animal study demonstrated that the combination of the two produced nephrotoxic effects different from either one alone.^[19]

31.4 Summary

As filtering organs, the kidneys are almost constantly exposed to mixtures of toxic chemicals and their metabolites. Many single chemicals are nephrotoxic, but it is not always clear whether or not their toxicity is enhanced by interaction with endogenous or exogenous chemicals. Laboratory animal studies, however, have demonstrated and human observations have observed that the kidneys are subject to unanticipated toxic effects when living beings are exposed to mixtures of toxic chemicals.

References

- 1. Lash LH. Role of renal metabolism in risk to toxic chemicals. *Environ Health Perspect* 1994; 102 (Suppl 11):75–9.
- Kovacik P, Sacman A, Wu-Weis M. Nephrotoxins: Widespread role of oxidative stress and electron transfer. *Curr Med Chem* 2002; 9:823–47.
- 3. Scorecard. The pollution information site. Health effects—kidney toxicants, www.scorecard.org/health-effects/chemicals-2.tcl?short_hazard_name=kidn& all_p=t
- 4. Akesson A, Lundh T, Vahter M, et al. Tubular and glomerular kidney effects in Swedish women with low environmental cadmium exposure. *Environ Health Perspect* 2005; 113(11):1627–31.
- Ravnskov U. Experimental glomerulonephritis induced by hydrocarbon exposures: A systematic review. *BMC Nephrol* 2005; 6:15, www.biomedcentral. com/1471-2369/6/15
- 6. O'Brien KL, Selanikio JD, Hecdivert C, et al. Epidemic of pediatric deaths from acute renal failure caused by diethylene glycol poisoning. Acute renal failure investigating team. *JAMA* 1998; 279(15):1175–80.
- 7. Solhaug MJ, Bolger PM, Jose PA. The developing kidney and environmental toxins. *Pediatrics* 2004; 113(4):1084–91.
- 8. Witzmann FA, Carpenter RL, Ritchie RL, et al. Toxicity of chemical mixtures: Proteomic analysis of persisting liver and kidney protein alterations by repeated exposure of rats to JP-8 jet fuel vapor. *Electrophoresis* 2007; 21(11): 2138–47.
- Wang FI, Kuo ML, Shun CT, et al. Chronic toxicity of a mixture of chlorinated alkanes and alkenes in ICR mice. *J Toxicol Environ Health* 2002; 65(3–4):279–91.
- 10. Davis ME. Dichloroacetic acid and trichloroacetic acid increase chloroform toxicity. *J Toxicol Environ Health* 1992; 37(1):139–48.
- Manno M, Rezzadore M, Grossi M, Sbrana C. Potentiation of occupational carbon tetrachloride toxicity by ethanol abuse. *Hum Exp Toxicol* 1996; 15(4):294–300.
- 12. Folland DS, Schaffner W, Ginn HE, et al. Carbon tetrachloride toxicity potentiated by isopropyl alcohol. *JAMA* 1976; 236(16):1853–6.
- Jaimes EA, Tian RX, Raij L. Nicotine: The link between cigarette smoking and the progression of renal injury? *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 2007; 292(1):H76–82.
- 14. Mercado C, Jaimes EA. Cigarette smoking as a risk factor for atherosclerosis and renal disease: Novel pathogenic insights. *Curr Hypertens Rep* 2007; 9(1):66–72.

31: KIDNEYS

- 15. Kolonel LN. Association of cadmium with renal cancer. *Cancer* 1976; 37(4):1782–7.
- 16. Gambaro G, Verlato F, Budakovic A, et al. Renal impairment in chronic cigarette smokers. *J Am Soc Nephrol* 1998; 9(4):562–7.
- 17. Odoni G, Ogata H, Viedt C, et al. Cigarette smoke condensate aggravates renal injury in the renal ablation model. *Kidney Int* 2002; 61(6):2090–8.
- Hunt JD, van der Hel OL, McMillan GP, et al. Renal cell carcinoma in relation to cigarette smoking: Meta-analysis of 24 studies. *Int J Cancer* 2005; 114(1):101–8.
- 19. Cigremis Y, Turkoz Y, Akgoz M, Sozmen M. The effects of chronic exposure to ethanol and cigarette smoke on the level of reduced glutathione and malonaldehyde in rat kidney. *Urol Res* 2004; 32(3):213–18.

32.1 Introduction

Cancer is defined as "the uncontrolled growth and spread of cells that may affect almost any tissue of the body."^[1] Currently 2008, 11 million people are diagnosed with cancer every year worldwide and it is estimated that this number will rise to 16 million new cases per year by the year 2020.^[1]

The World Health Organization estimates that at least one-third of all cancers can be prevented by avoiding exposure to known carcinogens.^[1] Others suggest that exposure to environmental carcinogens may account for a majority, perhaps as much as 75–80% of all human cancers.^[2,3]

It is currently believed by many, and supported here, that environmental influences coupled with genetic predispositions are responsible for the spectacular increase in diagnosed human cancers.^[4,5] It has been reported anecdotally by physicians who practice in preindustrial and traditional living societies (e.g., Canadian Inuits and Brazilian Indians) that cancer is rare in those societies.^[4]

There is much epidemiological evidence that the large numbers of cancers in those exposed to carcinogens are attributable to those exposures rather than to genetic factors. Cancer is more common in the following areas than in other areas with identical populations:

> Cities Farming locations Downwind of many industrial activities Near hazardous waste sites Pesticide use sites Hazardous waste incinerators^[5]

Specific studies have definitively established the relationship between exposures and cancer. In one example of this phenomenon, all 15 workers in a chemical plant who were exposed 2-naphthylamine during its distillation developed bladder cancer.^[6]

32.2 Cancer Incidence Rates

Cancer incidences, the number of new cases occurring annually, increased by 85% from 1950 to 2001. In 1950, one in four Americans would be
diagnosed with cancer in his or her lifetime. By 2006, the odds of an American coming down with cancer in their lifetime increased to one in two in men and one in three in women. The rate of incidence for some cancers, including lung, prostate, myeloma, thyroid, and non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, have risen dramatically in the past half century.^[5]

Genetic changes cannot account for this rapid increase in cancer incidence, for genes do not change that rapidly. This leads to the conclusion that environmental and occupational exposures to toxic chemicals are responsible for the increased incidence. The rapid increase in childhood cancer (a 22% increase from 1973 to 2000) provides highly convincing evidence for this conclusion. Relative to their body weight, children drink 2.5 times more water, inhale 2 times more air, and eat 3–4 times more food than adults.^[7] As seen in Chapter 6, children are also exposed to numerous chemicals *in utero* and from the consumption of breast milk. Epidemiological studies have linked elevated risks of childhood leukemia and brain cancers with parental and childhood exposure to solvents, pesticides dioxins, and polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons.^[5] Childhood cancer is addressed in Chapter 33.

Cancer incidence rates are reported annually by the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC). In 2002, the latest year for which statistics are available, the four most prevalent cancers worldwide are

- Lung
- Breast
- Colon and rectum
- Prostate.

For all these cancers, incidence rates are highest in the industrially developed areas of the world, where people are exposed to higher levels of carcinogenic chemicals. In each case, those living in areas with lower incidences for a particular cancer demonstrate increased rates when they migrate to areas with higher incidences,^[8] further demonstrating the cancer causative effects of environmental and occupational exposures to toxic chemicals.

32.3 Chemical Carcinogens

Several agencies have compiled lists of chemicals that are either established or suspected human carcinogens. The most widely used list is that of the IARC.^[9] Other lists of chemical carcinogens include

American Cancer Society^[10]

National Institute of Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH)^[11]

New Jersey Department of Health and Senior Services^[12] National Toxicology Program^[13]State of California Proposition 65 List^[14] Scorecard Recognized Carcinogens^[15] Scorecard Suspected Carcinogens^[16] U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA).^[17]

In addition, the U.S. National Cancer Institute has published a list of carcinogens in tobacco smoke.^[18]

Table 32.1 contains a list compiled from the above referenced sources and is divided into three groups as defined by the IARC. The reader is referred to the literature for a complete lists of compounds.^[10–17]

Group 1. Proven human carcinogens Group 2A. Probable human carcinogens Group 2B. Possible human carcinogens.

Included in Table 32.1 are the K_{ow} values of the chemicals. As can be seen from the items on the list, many different types of chemicals are carcinogenic, including solvents, pesticides, heavy metals, and polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons. The K_{ow} values show that the list contains numerous lipophiles and hydrophiles.

Chemical	K _{ow}
Group 1: Proven human carcinogens	
4-Aminobiphenyl	2.86
Arsenic and its compounds	0.68
Asbestos	NA
Benzene	2.13
Benzidine	1.34
Benzo[a]pyrene	6.13
Beryllium and its compounds	-0.57
<i>Bis</i> (chloromethyl)ether	0.57
1,4-Butanediol dimethanesulfonate	-0.52
Cadmium and its compounds	-0.07
Chloroambucil	4.44
Chloromethyl methyl ether	0.32
Chromium and its compounds	-3.54

Table 32.1 Human Carcinogens

Chemical	K _{ow}
Cobalt	0.23
Cyclophosphamide	0.63
Ethanol	-0.31
Ethylene oxide	-0.30
Formaldehyde	0.36
Mustard gas	2.41
2-Naphthylamine	2.28
Nickel and its compounds	-0.17
Propylene oxide	0.03
Polonium 210	NA
Vinyl chloride	1.62
Group 2A: Probable human carcinogens	
2-Acetylaminofluorene	3.12
Acrylamide	-0.67
o-Anisidine	1.18
Benzo[b]fluoanthene	5.78
Benzotrichloride	3.90
Benzyl chloride	2.30
1,3-Butadiene	1.99
Captafol	3.80
Chloramphenicol	1.14
Chloroprene	2.53
Chloroform	1.97
4-Chloro-o-toluidine	2.27
C.I. acid red 114	0.47
C.I. basic Red 9 monohydrochloride	-0.21
C.I. direct Blue 15	0.71
C.I. direct Blue 218	-0.77
C.I. solvent Yellow 14	5.51
Cisplatin	-2.19
D&C Orange No. 17	5.72
D&C Red No. 8	1.75
D&C Red No. 9	5.65
D&C Red No. 19	1.95
3,3-Dichlorobenzindine	3.51
Diethyl sulfate	1.14
1,2-Dimethylhydrazine	-0.54
Dimethyl sulfate	0.16
3,3'-Dimethylmethoxybenzidine	1.81

 Table 32.1 Human Carcinogens (Continued)

Table 32.1 Human Carcinogens (Continued)

Chemical	K _{ow}
Dimethylaminobenzene	4.58
1,4-Dioxane	-0.27
Epichlorohydrin	0.45
Ethyl carbamate	-0.15
Ethylene dibromide	1.96
N-ethyl-N-nitrosourea	0.23
Lead and its compounds	-0.08
4,4'-methylene bis(2-chloroaniline)	3.91
Methyl methanesulfonate	-0.66
N-methyl-N-nitrosourea	-0.03
Nitrogen mustard	0.91
<i>N</i> -nitrosodiethylamine	0.48
<i>N</i> -nitrosodimethylamine	0.48
N-nitroso-N-ethylurea	0.23
PCBs	6.29
Phenacetin	1.58
Procarbazine hydrochloride	-1.69
Propylene oxide	0.03
Silica dust	0.53
Styrene-7,8-oxide	1.61
Tetrachloroethylene	3.40
Thioacetamide	-0.26
Toluene-2,4-diisocyanate	3.74
<i>o</i> -Toluidine	1.32
Trichloroethylene	2.42
1,2,3-Trichloropropane	2.27
<i>Tris</i> (2,3-dibromopropyl) phosphate	4.29
Vinyl bromide	1.57
Vinyl fluoride	1.19
Group 2B: Possible human carcinogens	
Acetaldehyde	-0.34
Acetamide	-1.26
Acrylonitrile	0.25
Alachlor	3.52
Aflatoxin M1	0.27
o-Aminoazobenzene	4.29
<i>p</i> -Aminoazobenzene	3.19
Antimony trioxide	6.23
Atrazine	2.61

Chemical	K _{ow}
Azobenzene	3.82
Benz[a]anthracene	5.76
<i>Bis</i> (2-ethylhexyl) phthalate	7.60
Carbon black	NA
Carbon tetrachloride	2.83
Catechol	0.88
Chlordane	6.16
Chlordecone	5.41
<i>p</i> -Chloroanaline	1.83
Cobalt and its compounds	0.23
DDT	6.91
2,4-Diaminoanisole	-0.31
4,4'-Diaminodiphenyl ether	1.36
2,4-Diaminotouene	0.14
Diazomethane	2.00
<i>p</i> -Dichlorobenzene	3.44
3,3'-Dichlorobenzidine	3.51
1,2-Dichloroethane	1.48
1,3-Dichloropropene	2.03
2,6-Dimethylaniline	1.84
Dimethyl formamide	-1.01
1,1-Dimethylhydrazine	-1.19
2,4-Dinitrotoluene	1.98
Ethyl acrylate	1.32
Ethyl benzene	3.15
Ethylene dibromide	1.96
Furan	1.34
Heptachlor	6.10
Hexachlorobenzene	5.73
Hexachlorobutadiene	4.78
Hexachloroethane	4.14
Hexamethylphosphoramide	0.28
Hydrazine	-2.07
Hydrazine sulfate	-4.05
Isophorone	1.70
Methylene chloride	1.25
4,4'-Methyenedianaline	1.59
Michlers ketone	3.87

 Table 32.1 Human Carcinogens (Continued)

Chemical	K _{ow}
Naphthalene	3.30
Nickel and its compounds	-0.57
2-Nitroanisole	1.73
Nitromethane	-0.35
<i>N</i> -nitrosodimethylamine	-0.57
<i>N</i> -nitrosopiperidine	0.36
Pentachlorophenol	5.12
Phenyl glycidyl ether	1.61
<i>b</i> -Propiolactone	-0.80
<i>n</i> -Propyl alcohol	0.25
Selenium sulfide	0.24
Styrene	2.95
2,3,7,8-Tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin	6.80
Tetrafluoroethylene	1.21
4,4'-Thiodianiline	2.18
Titanium dioxide	2.23
Toluene diisocyanate	3.74
Vanadium pentoxide	2.97
Vinyl acetate	0.73
Vinylidine chloride	2.13

 Table 32.1 Human Carcinogens (Continued)

Note: NA, not available.

The aforementioned lists also contain mixtures that are known or suspected carcinogens. These are listed in Table 32.2 by categories 1, 2A, and 2B as above.

All of the mixtures and exposure circumstances in Table 32.2 are associated with multiple individual chemical species that almost always contain both lipophiles and hydrophiles; individual carcinogenic agents in these mixtures have not been designated. These are examples of exposures to mixtures inducing cancers that are not predicted from the individual components of the mixtures.

Cigarette smoke, the single most responsible cancer-causing agent known to man, contains numerous carcinogenic compounds.^[17] These are listed in Table 32.3 by chemical type. The IARC carcinogenic groups, 1, 2A, and 2B are also included.

Table 32.2 Human Carcinogenic Mixtures

Group 1: Proven human carcinogens
Afalotoxins
Betel quid with tobacco
Betel quid without tobacco
Coal tar pitches
Coal tars
Household coal combustion emissions
Mineral oils
Soots
Tobacco, both smoked and smokeless
Wood dust
Smoking and tobacco smoke
Group 2A: Probable human carcinogens
Creosotes
Diesel engine exhaust
High-temperature frying emissions
Hot mate
Household wood combustion emissions
Insecticides from spraying and application
Polychlorinated biphenyls
Group 2B: Possible human carcinogens
Asphalt fumes
Bitumins
Gasoline engine exhaust
Fuel oil residuals
Gasoline
Polybrominated biphenyls
Welding fumes

32.4 Mechanisms of Carcinogenesis

It has been well established from epidemiological studies that environmental factors, including chemicals, radiation, and viruses, are causative of the majority of human cancers.^[18,19] The development of cancerous tumors in humans is widely believed to almost always involve a multistep process that includes an initiating step, a promoting step, and a propagation step.^[20,21]

Agents that are initiators are capable of directly altering the genetic component of DNA. These agents are mutagens, interact with DNA, and

Table 32.3 Carcinogens in Cigarette Smoke

Chemical	IARC Group
Polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons	
Benz(a)anthracene	2A
Benzo(b)fluoanthene	2B
Benzo(j)fluoanthene	2B
Benzo(k)fluoanthene	2B
Benzo(a)pyrene	2A
Dibenzo(a,h)anthracene	2A
Dibenzo(a,l,)pyrene	2B
Dibenzo(a,e)pyrene	2B
Indeno(1,2,3-cd)pyrene	2B
5-Methylchrysene	2B
Heterocyclic compounds	
Quinoline	2B
Dibenz(a,h)acridine	2B
Dibenz(a,j)acridine	2B
Dibenzo(c,g)carbazole	2B
Benzo(b)furan	2B
Furan	2B
<i>N</i> -nitrosamines	
N-nitrosodimethylanine	2A
N-nitrosoethylmethylamine	2B
N-nitrosodiethylamine	2A
N-nitrosodi-n-propylamine	2B
N-nitrosodi-n-butylamine	2B
N-nitrosopyrrolidine	2B
N-nitrosopiperidine	2B
N-nitrosodiethanolamine	2B
N-nitrosonornicotine	2B
4-(methylnitrosoamino)-1-	2B
(3-pyridyl)-1-butanone	
Aromatic amines	
2-Toluidine	2B
2,6-Dimethylaniline	2B
2-Naphthylamine	1
4-Aminobiphenyl	1
N-Heterocyclic amines	
AaC	2B
IQ	2B

Chemical	IARC Group
Trp-P-1	2B
Trp-P-2	2B
Glu-P-1	2B
Glu-P-2	2B
PhIP	2A
Aldehvdes	
Acetaldehyde	2B
Formaldehyde	2A
Volatile organic hydrocarbons	
Benzene	1
1,3-Butadiene	2B
Isoprene	2B
Styrene	2B
Miscellaneous organic compounds	
Acetamide	2B
Acrylamide	2B
Acrylonitrile	2A
Caffeic acid	2B
Catechol	2B
1,1-Dimethylhydrazine	2B
DDE	2B
DDT	2B
Ethyl carbamate	2B
Ethylene oxide	2B
Methyleugenol	2B
Nitrobenzene	2B
Nitromethane	2B
2-Nitropropane	2B
Propylene oxide	1
Vinyl chloride	1
Inorganic compounds	
Arsenic	1
Beryllium	1
Cadmium	1
Chromium (hexavalent)	1
Cobalt	2B
Hydrazine	2B
Lead	2B
Nickel	1
Polonium 210	1

 Table 32.3 Carcinogens in Cigarette Smoke (Continued)

32: CANCER

introduce faulty information into the DNA template. Single exposures to initiators may be sufficient to induce the carcinogenic process.^[22] Examples of initiators include

Polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons (e.g., benzo[a]pyrene) Nitrosamines (e.g., *N*-nitrosodimethylaniline) Halogenated hydrocarbons (e.g., vinyl chloride and ethylene dibromide) Benzene Cadmium Formaldehyde.

Carcinogenic promoting agents are capable of altering the expression of genetic information of the cell as well as, in many cases, inhibiting apoptosis (programmed cell death). Promoters do not chemically alter DNA, but have multiple biochemical effects. By affecting gene expression and enhancing the rate of replication of faulty information, they may lead to immortalization of the faulty genetic information. Promoters require multiple exposures and can act epigenetically, that is, the promotion process can be interrupted and subsequently restarted.^[23–26] Examples of promoters include

Asbestos Dinitrofluorobenzene PCBs Phenol Di(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate Phorbol esters (e.g., croton oil, phenobarbitol).

Some agents are complete carcinogens, that is, they act as both initiators and promoters of carcinogenesis.^[27] These include

TCDD Benzo[a]anthracene Chrysene Indeno(1,2,3-cd)pyrene Alpha and gamma radiation.

Many xenobiotic chemicals are not by themselves carcinogenic, but require metabolism to the ultracarcinogens that form DNA adducts. Examples of these include benzene and benzo(a)pyrene, which are metabolized to their hydroquinones, the carcinogenic agents.^[18,21,28–30]

It is widely believed that oxidative stress (OS) is critical to carcinogenesis. OS theory states that bioactive agents (or their metabolites) that incorporate electron transfer (ET) functionalities play crucial roles in carcinogenesis because of the following features common to most carcinogens:^[31–34]

- 1. They bind to DNA by alkylation or complexation.
- 2. They show evidence of an ET entity being present in the parent compound or metabolite.
- 3. They form ROS by ET via the involvement of oxygen.
- 4. The ROS that are generated by these agents are in close proximity to DNA, giving rise to mutation via strand cleavage or DNA base oxidation.

A large number and variety of demonstrated carcinogens, including haloalkanes, quinones, benzenoid, and polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons, aromatic nitro compounds, aromatic amines, metals, as well as other organic and inorganic compounds have been shown to fit these criteria.^[31]

A complete discussion of cancer mechanisms is beyond the scope of this book. The reader is directed to references $[^{18-34}]$ for a good introduction to the subject.

32.5 Single Chemical Carcinogens

Many different cancers are caused by exposures to single chemicals and many different compounds are known to induce cancers. Some compounds are known to cause more than one cancer type. It is not the purpose of this book to exhaustively explore the hundreds of known single chemical carcinogens and the cancers they induce. Following, however, are some illustrative examples of these.

32.5.1 Cadmium

Cadmium is widely used in pigments, electroplating processes, and alkaline batteries. It is also a component of cigarette smoke. It has long been known to cause renal cancer in humans,^[35] and is also associated with cancer of the lung, pancreas, breast, prostate, and bladder.^[36]

32.5.2 Benzene

Benzene is a very widely used solvent and industrial chemical and a component of petroleum. It is a ubiquitous air pollutant and is formed as a decomposition product in fruit and soft drinks that are preserved with benzoates. Benzene is a known leukemogen and the one to which other leukemia-causing chemicals are compared.^[37–39] Even low level exposure to benzene has been shown to induce leukemia.^[39,40] Benzene has also been associated with lung and nasopharynx cancers.^[44]

32.5.3 Arsenic

Arsenic is widely used in herbicide formulations and is widely distributed in drinking water. It is associated with cancers of the skin, lung, liver, kidney, and bladder.^[41,42]

32.5.4 1,3-Butadiene

1,3-Butadiene is a widely used intermediate in the synthetic rubber industry. Exposure to it has been associated with the onset of leukemia.^[43]

32.5.5 Other Organic Solvents and Intermediates

Associations between human exposures to several organic solvents and intermediates and the onset of cancer have been made. These include

```
Trichloroethylene—liver, non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, renal<sup>[44,45]</sup>
Tetrachloroethylene—esophagus, cervix<sup>[44]</sup>
Carbon tetrachloride—lymphoma, leukemia<sup>[44]</sup>
Styrene—leukemia<sup>[43]</sup>
Vinyl chloride—liver<sup>[46]</sup>
Bischloromethyl ether—lung.<sup>[47]</sup>
```

32.5.6 Benzo[a]pyrene

Benzo[a]pyrene (BaP) is a ubiquitous PAH that is emitted from the burning of petroleum products and cigarette smoke along with other PAHs. Epidemiological studies on humans and laboratory studies on animals have established BaP as a lung carcinogen.^[48] Since human exposure to BaP is always accompanied by exposures to other chemicals, it cannot be absolutely stated that BaP acts alone as a carcinogen or is a part of cancercausing mixtures.

32.5.7 Electromagnetic Radiation

As discussed in Chapter 16, a number of studies have linked the associations of electric and magnetic fields with increased risks of various carcinogenic endpoints, including leukemia, lymphoma, and brain cancer. Other studies, however, have refuted these associations. Illustrative of this dilemma is a Korean study that showed increased incidences of leukemia and brain cancer in those living in close proximity to some AM radio transmitters, but no such increased incidences in those living near other such transmitters.^[49] At the time of this writing, the question of whether electromagnetic field exposure causes cancer remains an open one.

32.6 Occupational Exposures Known to be Carcinogenic

Certain occupations are known to carry increased cancer risks with them. The IARC list of human carcinogens^[9] names a number of these in each of its three categories.

Group 1: Proven human carcinogenic exposures
Aluminum production
Auramine manufacture
Boot and shoe manufacture and repair
Chimney sweeping
Coal gasification
Coal tar distillation
Coke production
Furniture and cabinet making
Hematite underground mining with radon exposure
Involuntary smoking (exposure to secondhand or environmental
tobacco smoke)
Iron and steel founding
Isopropyl alcohol manufacture via the strong acid process
Magenta manufacture
Painting occupationally
Paving and roofing with coal tar pitch
Rubber industry work
Strong inorganic acid mists containing sulfuric acid
Tobacco smoking and tobacco smoke
Group 2A: Probable human carcinogenic exposures
Art glass
Carbon electrode manufacture
Cobalt metal with tungsten carbide fumes
Hairdresser or barber
Petroleum refining
Sunlamp and sunbed use
Group 2B: Possible human carcinogens
Carpentry
Dry cleaning
Printing
Talc-based powder perineal use
Textile manufacturing.
6

Virtually all of these occupations entail exposure to mixtures of chemicals with the carcinogenic agent(s) unidentified. Indeed, it is the mixtures, and not any particular components of them, that are cancer causing. Examples of carcinogenic mixtures of occupational chemicals are given in the next section.

32.7 Mixture Exposures Known to be Carcinogenic—Many Component Mixtures

Many cancers are caused by exposures to mixtures of chemicals that are not individually carcinogenic. The hypothesis of this book is that these unanticipated effects are, in many instances, due to lipophilic species facilitating the absorption of hydrophilic species by transporting the lipophiles through the body's lipophilic barriers and thereby increasing exposure. Most of carcinogens listed in Table 32.1 are hydrophilic compounds. For many of the lipophilic carcinogens, it is the hydrophilic metabolites that are the ultimate carcinogens. It is hypothesized here that in the case of mixtures, hydrophiles, which by themselves would not be absorbed in sufficient quantities to induce carcinogenesis, are absorbed in greater quantities due to the presence of lipophiles. This hypothesis is not inconsistent with the carcinogenic mechanisms described in Section 32.5, for no matter what the actual mechanism of carcinogenesis, induction and cancer promotion are dose dependent and the absorption and delivery of greater quantities of actual carcinogens to the critical sites is expected to increase cancer incidence.

Following are examples of carcinogenic mixtures described in the literature. Most of the mixtures are composed of lipophilic and hydrophilic components. K_{ow} values are given for single compounds where available. The designations [L] and [H] are used for lipophilic and hydrophilic mixtures, respectively, for which individual compounds are not discernable.

32.7.1 Metalworking fluids

Metalworking fluids are widely used in machining and grinding. Four different classes of metalworking fluids are used:

- 1. Straight oils that are naphthenic or paraffinic mineral oils [L] with additives that include sulfurized or chlorinated fats and corrosion inhibitors [H].
- 2. Soluble oils that include mineral oils [L] as well as petroleum sulfonates, amine soaps, sodium naphthenates, triazines, chlorophenols amines, and sodium nitrite, all [H].

- 3. Synthetic fluids including ethanolamines, nitrates, nitrites, phosphates, and borates [H], as well as alcohol and ester surfactants [L].
- 4. Semisynthetic fluids that contain oils and ester lubricants [L] as well as glycols and polyols [H].

Workers using these fluids have been shown to have increased risks for cancers of the larynx, rectum, pancreas, skin, and bladder.^[47,50,51]

32.7.2 Lung Cancers Not Related to Smoking

Lung cancer is most often associated with tobacco smoking (see Section 32.9). Nonsmokers, however, have also been found to have elevated incidences of lung cancer in some instances.^[52] Three examples follow:

- 1. Foundry workers who are exposed to complex mixtures of gases and fine particles that include airborne particulates [H] and organic binders [L] have an elevated risk for lung cancer. In vitro laboratory studies have demonstrated mutagenic activity for these fumes, including free radical DNA damage.^[53]
- 2. Lung cancer has also been attributed to diesel fume exposures.^[47] Diesel fumes are composed of a complex mixture of lipophilic and hydrophilic species, including some that are individually carcinogenic (e.g., PAHs).
- 3. Aluminum production workers are exposed to PAHs [L], asbestos, fluorides [H], sulfur dioxide [-2.20], and magnetic fields. A case control Canadian study showed increased risks of lung cancer in aluminum production workers.^[54]

32.7.3 PAH Exposure and Cancer

Workers are environmentally exposed to PAHs in a number of industrial settings. Some of these are listed here. For each industry group, exposure to PAHs also involves concurrent exposures to other chemicals. These are listed here for some of the occupational exposures along with the cancers associated with each.^[55]

Chemicals	Cancers
Aluminum production	
Asbestos [NA]	Lung
Fluorides [H]	Bladder
Sulfur dioxide [-2.20]	
Magnetic fields [NA]	

Coal gasification	
Heavy metals [H]	Lung
Silica [0.53]	Bladder
Aromatic amines [L]	Scrotum
	Skin
Coke production	
Heterocyclic aromatics [L]	Lung
Substituted aromatics [L]	Prostate
	Kidney
Iron and steel foundry	5
Silica [0.53]	Lung
Heavy metals [H]	Stomach
	Bladder
	Prostate
Chimney sweeps	
Carbon black [NA]	Scrotum
Arsenic [0.68]	Lung
Chromium [0.23]	Esophagus
Carbon monoxide [1.78]	Liver
Sulfur dioxide [-2.20]	Prostate
Degreasing organic solvents [L & H]	Kidney
	Skin

Note: NA, not available.

Though all of these occupational groups are exposed to PAHs, each is exposed to distinctly different other chemicals as well. With the exception of lung cancer, the different cancers associated with each group point out the mixture effect. In all the groups, exposures are to lipophilic PAHs and to different combinations of other lipophiles and hydrophiles.

32.7.4 Painters

As pointed out in Chapter 12, painters are exposed to a multitude of lipophiles and hydrophiles including aliphatic and aromatic hydrocarbons, glycol ethers, alcohols, ketones, esters, residual monomers, and pigments. Painters have increased risks of lung, esophageal, stomach, and bladder cancer.^[47,56] A study of outdoor painters showed that occupational exposure to the commercially available paints they used resulted in increased cytogenic damage to buccal cells.^[57]

32.7.5 Pressmen

A study on deaths caused by cancer among pressmen in the New York city metropolitan area revealed a significant increase in many cancers among this group.^[58] These included cancers of

- buccal cavity and pharynx
- esophagus
- stomach
- large intestine
- rectum
- liver
- larynx
- lung
- bladder
- kidney
- brain and other CNS tissue
- lymph.

Pressmen are exposed to ink mists, solvents, and cutting oils that contain numerous lipophiles and hydrophiles.

32.7.6 Rubber Industry Workers

Rubber industry workers are exposed to approximately 60 different accelerating, retarding, and antidegrading agents, as well as to a wide variety of solvent mixtures (including some with benzene) containing lipophilic and hydrophilic species. A review of the available epidemiological evidence revealed that these workers were found to have elevated risks for leukemia and cancers of the lung, bladder, and larynx.^[59] The increased incidence of leukemia could not be entirely accounted for by the presence of benzene, since workers not exposed to benzene also had an elevated leukemia risk.

32.7.7 Oil Refinery and Petrochemical Workers

A study of Finnish oil refinery workers who were employed in a chemical products manufacturing plant for at least 5 years were found to have significant excesses of kidney cancer, non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, and nonmelanocytic skin cancer. These workers were exposed to a large number of lipophilic and hydrophilic chemicals.^[60]. These and their K_{ow} values were

Benzene	2.13
Vinyl chloride	1.62
Styrene	2.95
1,3-Butadiene	1.99
PAHs	4.50-6.50
Asbestos	NA
Nickel	-0.57
Chromium	0.23

A study of Australian petroleum industry workers showed significantly increased incidences of the following cancers:

- bladder
- prostate
- pleural mesothelioma
- leukemia
- multiple myeloma.

Though only asbestos was specifically named in the study, it can be reasonably anticipated that these workers were also exposed to a large number of aliphatic and aromatic hydrocarbons, PAHs, and heavy metals. The authors of the study attributed the mesotheliomas to asbestos exposure. The other cancers were not specifically attributed to causative chemicals.^[61]

A cohort mortality study of petrochemical workers in Texas found an increased incidence of malignant brain tumors in workers who worked in a plant that used numerous lipophilic and hydrophilic chemicals and manufactured 43 refined chemicals, four major classifications of resins, four industrial gases, and a mixture of straight chain hydrocarbons.^[62] The cause of the observed cancers was not determined.

The findings of these three studies are of interest when considered together. Workers in all three of the studies were exposed to many of the same chemicals, yet different cancers were reported in all three. These studies point out the effects of subtly different chemical mixtures as cancer-causing agents and lend credence to the hypothesis that each specific mixture has a cancercausing etiology of its own.

32.7.8 Hazardous Waste Sites and Water Pollution

Living in close proximity to hazardous waste sites and drinking water contaminated by leachates from these sites has been associated with numerous health problems, many of which have been discussed previously in this book. A study was carried out by the U.S. EPA on 593 waste sites in 339 counties in the United States with analytical evidence of contaminated drinking water being the sole source of water supply. In this study, significant associations were demonstrated for several cancers in both men and women.^[63] These include

Men
Lung
Esophagus
Stomach
Large intestine
Rectum
Bladder

Most of the cancers were the same in both genders, but notably only women had elevated incidences of breast cancer and only men had elevated incidences of cancers of the esophagus and bladder. No explanations were offered for these observed differences. The study did not identify specific pollutants, but other studies have shown that typical contaminants leaching out of hazardous waste sites contain large numbers of lipophiles and hydrophiles including organic solvents, pesticides, heavy metals, and other inorganics.^[64]

Surface waters are generally more polluted with runoff chemicals, including pesticides, fertilizers, and hazardous waste site leachates than groundwater. A study of drinking water source and cancer rates that was carried out in Ohio showed that mortality rates for stomach and bladder cancers, as well as for all neoplasms, were higher for people who consumed surface water compared to those who consumed groundwater.^[65] Similar risks for elevated cancer rates in those consuming polluted drinking water have been identified in studies carried out in China^[66] and Finland.^[67]

Municipal solid waste sites release numerous chemicals into the air and water. In a study carried out in Montreal, Canada, it was found that men living near such a site were found to have excessive risk for developing cancers of the pancreas and liver, as well as non-Hodgkin's lymphoma.^[68]

32.7.9 Asphalt Fumes

Asphalt fumes are complex mixtures containing numerous organic compounds, PAHs and nitrogen, sulfur and oxygen-containing PAHs in vapor and aerosol form. Asphalt road pavers and highway maintenance workers are exposed to asphalt fumes by both inhalation and skin contact. These workers have been found to have high rates of lung cancer.^[9,69,70] In a laboratory study it was found that when asphalt fume condensates were painted on the skin of test animals, DNA adducts were found in the lungs and other organs of these animals.^[69] This suggests that both inhalation and dermal contact of asphalt fumes increase the risk for developing lung cancer.

32.7.10 Combined Action of Microwave Fields and Environmental Pollution

As discussed in Chapter 16, the question of whether or not athermal levels of microwave fields are toxic is a controversial one. One study, however, found that such microwaves act synergistically with chemical cancer promoters and lead to autonomous cell growth.^[71] This effect has been demonstrated in vitro using the combination of cancer promoting phorbol esters co-applied with nonionizing electromagnetic fields. The author of the study hypothesizes that the mechanism of the combined radiation/ chemical effect involves the disruption of normal intercellular communication through gap junctions.

32.7.11 Leather Tanning Industry

A Swedish study found that leather tannery workers had much higher incidences of prostate cancer than the general population.^[72] The authors of the study compared the higher prostate cancer rates with those of farmers, who also had elevated incidences of the disease, and attributed the increased rates in tannery workers to pesticide exposures, which they considered the causative carcinogens for farmers. The levels of pesticides to which tannery workers are exposed are orders of magnitude lower that those to which farmers are exposed. Leather tannery workers are, however, exposed to other chemicals, including lipophiles and hydrophiles.^[73–75] These chemicals (and their K_{ow} values) include

2.73
3.30
2.26
4.57
4.4-6.5
3.0-4.5
2.56

2-Ethoxyethanol	-0.32
Dimethylformamide	-1.01
Ethoxyethylacetate	0.59
2-Butoxyethanol	0.83
Benzidine	1.34
<i>n</i> -Butanol	0.88
Acetone	-0.24

It is most probable that the causative agent for prostate cancer in leather tannery workers is a mixture of unknown composition. Working in the leather tanning industry is more commonly associated with increased prevalence of testicular cancer clusters.^[73–75] This is discussed in Chapter 34.

32.7.12 Pesticides

Many pesticides are classified by IARC as having sufficient or limited evidence for carcinogenicity.^[9] These include herbicides, insecticides, fungicides, and other compounds. Table 32.3 contains a partial list of these.

Agricultural and industrial workers carry high risks for developing cancer following pesticide exposures.^[76] Farming and other occupations that produce exposures to pesticides, including pesticide mixers, packagers, crop duster pilots, and others, are associated with increased cancer risks. Table 32.4 contains a partial list of occupational groups with exposures to pesticides.^[77]

Farmers and others occupationally exposed to pesticides have been found to be at greater risk for the following cancers:

- brain
- · Hodgkin's lymphoma
- leukemia
- lip
- lung
- melanoma
- multiple myeloma
- non-Hodgkin's lymphoma
- prostate
- soft tissue sarcoma
- stomach
- testes.

32: CANCER

Herbicides
Atrazine
Diallate
Nitrofen
Picloram
Trifluralin
Insecticides
Aldrin
Arsenic
Chlordane
DDT
Dichlorvos
Dieldrin
Methyl parathion
Mirex
Toxaphene
Fungicides
Captan
Chlorothalonil
Ethylene thiourea
Formaldehyde
Hexachlorobenzene
Pentachlorophenol
Ziram
Others
Creosote
1,3-Dichloropropane
1,1-Dimethylhydrazine
Ethylene dibromide
Methyl bromide

Table 32.3 Partial List of Pesticides with Sufficient or Limited Evidence for Carcinogenicity

The general public is exposed to pesticides via drinking water contamination, residuals in food, air pollution, and leaching from solid waste sites.

Pesticides are believed to be carcinogenic by multiple mechanisms including genotoxicity, tumor promotion, immunotoxicity, and hormonal action. This subject is addressed in some detail in an excellent review article on pesticides and cancer.^[76]

Farmers and farm workers
Pesticide applicators
Fumigation workers
Pesticide manufacturers
Crop duster pilots
Golf course workers
Textile workers
Wood preservation workers
Pet groomers
Railway bed maintenance workers
Highway crews
Lawn care workers
Nursery and greenhouse workers

Table 32.4 Partial List of Occupational Groups with Pesticide Exposure

Exposures to individual pesticides have been associated with some cancers. For example, phenoxyacetic acids, of which 2,4-D is the most widely used and researched, and chlorinated phenols carry risks of developing soft tissue sarcoma and non-Hodgkin's lymphoma.^[78,79] It should be noted, however, that the authors of one of the studies cited point out that though these associations are valid, phenoxyacetic acid herbicides are usually used in combination with other pesticides and the associations are not to any single phenoxy herbicide alone.^[78] The authors of the second of these studies point out that conflicting results have been obtained in other studies and that "[a] further possibility is that phenoxy herbicides exposure could be carcinogenic only when occurring jointly with other exposures."^[79]

In another example, California agricultural workers who were exposed to the pesticides mancozeb and toxaphene had increased incidences of leukemia compared with those not so exposed.^[80] In this instance as well, the workers were exposed to other pesticides and toxic chemicals.

A more recent study (2006) also reported on the association between exposure by agricultural workers to 2,4-D and non-Hodgkin's lymphoma as well as leukemia and soft tissue sarcoma.^[81] The authors conclude, however, that "It is not possible to distinguish whether these effects arise from 2,4-D itself, from breakdown products or dioxin contamination [which is common] or from a combination of ingredients."

The question of whether or not single pesticides are carcinogenic was addressed in a study on the herbicide atrazine, one of the most widely used herbicides in the world. In an in vitro study using human lymphocytes, atrazine alone was not genotoxic and did not induce apoptosis or necrosis. Atrazine, however, is not used as a pure active ingredient. Rather it is formulated with adjuvents to increase deliverability and activity. When tested in a commercial formulation, the atrazine-containing product increased DNA damage in the lymphocytes.^[82] The adjuvant components of the commercial product were not identified and the material safety data sheet listed only atrazine as an active ingredient. This study points out the difficulty in making assessments of carcinogenicity of single pesticides.

32.7.13 Hematolymphopoietic Malignancies (HLPMs)

- HLPMs include
- non-Hodgkin's lymphoma (NHL)
- Hodgkin's lymphoma (HL)
- leukemia
- multiple myeloma (MM).

Though it is known that some exposures lead to specific endpoints (e.g., benzene—leukemia^[37–39] and pesticides—non-Hodgkin's lymphoma^[80]), the overall incidences of these malignancies have risen sharply in the past few decades. NHL incidence, for example, has doubled in the past 20 years,^[83,84] and it is known that pesticide exposure is a risk factor for it.^[85] Risk factors for leukemia and multiple myeloma include exposure to tobacco smoke as well as to emissions from petroleum refinery waste dumps.^[86] Increased incidences of leukemia have been reported following exposures to mixed organic solvents^[87] and gasoline.^[88] NHL has also been linked to organic solvent exposure.^[89,90] Overall, the etiology of HLPMs remains largely unknown. The known risk factors, including ionizing radiation, solvent exposure, pesticide exposure, and immunosuppression, only account for a small percentage of the diagnosed cases worldwide.^[91]

Certain occupational exposures are associated with HLPMs. These provide empirical evidence of associations between exposures and specific disease endpoints. Examples of these follow:

A case study in Sweden of 859 NHL cases has shown an association between increased NHL risk and industrial exposure to aliphatic hydrocarbons, aromatic hydrocarbons, mixed organic solvents, and gasoline as well as working as an automobile mechanic or painter.^[92]

Studies carried out in 12 different areas in Italy have demonstrated the following associations between occupation and HLPMs:^[93,94]

Non-Hodgkin's lymphoma

Cooks Waiters **Bartenders** Building maintenance workers Wood workers Textile workers Welders Metal workers Electricians Heavy machinery operators Dry cleaners Meat processors Hairdressers Farmers Hodgkin's lymphoma Textile workers Machinery fitters Leukemia Metal processors Material handlers Rubber workers Painters Multiple myeloma Hairdressers Metal processors Tailors Electrical workers Plumbers

Other studies have also connected HLPMs and hair treatment use,^[95] but HLPMs from hair product use are not limited to salon workers. A study has shown that personal use of hair dyes by women resulted in increased incidences of NHL and leukemia.^[96]

An Australian study has associated elevated risk of NHL with occupational exposures to solvents, metals, organic dusts, wood dusts, and PCBs.^[97]

As discussed earlier, several studies have associated pesticide exposure with cancers. NHL has been associated with phenoxy herbicide exposure and specifically with exposure to 2,4-D.^[80,98,99]

540

Several studies have reported increased incidences of MM that are related to occupational exposures. In a case-controlled study in Washington state, it was reported that work in the following occupations increased MM risk:^[100]

- Agricultural workers exposed to pesticides
- Fire fighters
- Petroleum manufacturing
- Coal products manufacturing.

Studies in Denmark among both men and women have shown elevated risks for MM for those working in the following occupations:^[101,102]

- Synthetic yarn production
- Plastics manufacturing
- Plastics packaging
- Chemical production
- Metal fabricating
- Electrical plant work
- Retail sale of paint and wallpaper
- Orchard and plant nursery work.

The diversity of exposures for those in the occupations associated with HLPMs suggest that multiple mechanisms may be causative for these cancers. All the occupational exposures described earlier involve exposures to large numbers of chemicals including lipophilic and hydrophilic species.

32.8 Mixture Exposures Known to Be Carcinogenic—Two Component Mixtures

Several studies have demonstrated the induction of enhanced cancerrelated responses from binary mixtures of xenobiotics. The following are illustrative of these effects. K_{ow} values are given for each chemical to demonstrate lipophilicity or hydrophilicity.

1. Bisphenol A [3.32] and nitrate [-0.79]

Bisphenol A (BPA), an endocrine disrupting chemical, is commonly found in food packaging and can coatings. Nitrate is found in vegetables, fish, and in potable water as a pollutant. BPA alone did not exhibit mutagenicity toward *Salmonella typhimurium* strains TA 98 and TA 100 after incubation at pH 3.0 to stimulate human stomach conditions. When nitrate was added to BPA, however, the mixture showed strong mutagenic activity.^[103]

2. Benzo[a]pyrene [6.13] and sulfur dioxide [-2.20]

Benzo[a]pyrene (BaP) and sulfur dioxide are ubiquitous air pollutants that result from petroleum fuel combustion, tobacco smoke, and other sources. BaP is carcinogenic, although sulfur dioxide is not. Sulfur dioxide does, however, enhance the respiratory tract carcinogenesis of BaP when they are co-administered to laboratory animals.^[104,105]

3. Styrene [2.95] and ethylene glycol [-0.136]

Workers occupationally exposed to mixtures of styrene and ethylene glycol in the paint and lacquer industry have been found to have significantly elevated blood plasma levels of malonaldehyde and 4-hydroxynonenal.^[106] Styrene and ethylene glycol act synergistically to elevate the concentrations of these two aldehydes which are implicated in carcinogenesis.^[107–109]

4. Hexachlorobenzene [5.73] and iron [-0.77]

Hexachlorobenzene (HCB) is a liver carcinogen in rats, mice, and hamsters. Several studies have shown that iron, which is not a carcinogen, potentiates the hepatic carcinogenesis of HCB.^[110–113]

In all four of these enhanced effect binary mixture examples, one of the components was a lipophile and the other a hydrophile.

32.9 Tobacco and Cancer

Table 32.3 lists the known carcinogens in tobacco smoke. Added to the more than 4000 other chemicals compounds contained in tobacco smoke, an almost infinite number of mixtures can be envisioned. This complexity makes it difficult to assign specific entities to individual cancers. Laboratory studies have, however, shown that some compounds, for example, benzo[a] pyrene are carcinogenic to certain organs, in the case of BaP, the lung. Nitrosamines are also suspected of being carcinogenic to the lung and it is, at this time, not clear what compound or mixture of compounds is the true lung carcinogen.^[114]

What is known is that smoking tobacco is associated with many cancers in humans.^[8,114–117] These include the following cancers:

- Bladder
- Esophageal
- Kidney
- Laryngeal

- Lung
- Nasopharyngeal
- Oral
- Pancreatic
- Stomach.

Several components of tobacco smoke are known to be synergistically carcinogenic with each other. These include PAHs and catacol^[118] and cigarette tar and nitric oxide.^[119] Tobacco use, however, is always associated with exposures to other chemicals via environmental uptake, eating, and occupation. Several studies have demonstrated that the combination of tobacco smoking and exposure to other identifiable chemicals result in unanticipated and enhanced carcinogenic effects. Examples of these follow.

32.9.1 Tobacco and Asbestos

Both tobacco smoke and asbestos are associated with elevated risks for the development of lung cancer. Asbestos workers who smoke, however, are eight times as likely to develop lung cancer than nonasbestos exposed smokers and have a 92-fold greater risk for lung cancer than nonsmoking, nonasbestos workers.^[120] Asbestos also enhances the mutagenesis of benzo[a]pyrene, a component of cigarette smoke. Studies with laboratory animals have suggested that the asbestos enhancement is due its fibers' adsorption of BaP and their physical affect on cell membrane structure.^[121]

32.9.2 Tobacco and Arsenic

In a study of 228 Swedish copper smelter workers, it was found that the age standardized rate ratio for lung cancer death was 3.0 for arsenic-exposed nonsmokers, 4.9 for smokers not occupationally exposed to arsenic, and 14.6 for arsenic-exposed smokers, demonstrating a multiplicative effect of the combined exposure.^[122]

32.9.3 Tobacco and Alcohol

Smokers who consume alcohol have enhanced rates of upper alimentary canal cancers.^[123] Although the mechanism for alcohol-enhanced carcinogenesis is not well understood, it is thought that acetaldehyde, the first metabolite of ethanol, is the cancer-causing agent.^[124] Tobacco contributes to increased acetaldehyde formation by altering the oral bacteria flora.^[125]

32.9.4 Tobacco and Radon

Smoking and exposure to radon have a synergistic multiplicative effect on lung cancer incidence.^[126] This effect has been observed in instances of household radon/smoking combinations^[127] as well as in industrial dual exposures, most notably in mining populations.^[128] No well-understood mechanism exists at this time to account for this effect.

32.10 Summary and Outlook

Cancer prevalences worldwide continue to grow at alarming rates that cannot be accounted for solely by genetic predisposition. Epidemiological and laboratory studies have definitively connected some cancers to occupational and environmental chemicals. In most instances, however, the causative agents remain unknown. This uncertainty is believed to be due to the effects of mixtures whose compositions are variable and constantly changing with environmental conditions. The available studies demonstrate, however, that most carcinogenic mixtures contain both lipophilic and hydrophilic components. In many instances, mixtures of lipophiles and hydrophiles that are not individually carcinogenic induce cancers when people are exposed to these mixtures.

Remarkable progress has been made in the diagnosis and treatment of cancer. Despite this progress, cancer-related deaths worldwide continue to increase regularly and the increase is directly related to ever-increasing environmental contamination by toxic chemicals. An example of the ever-increasing prevalence of cancer is breast cancer, the most frequent cancer in women. Despite thousands of studies, the etiology of breast cancer remains poorly understood.^[129]

Identification and elimination of the carcinogenic agents from the environment is crucial if the war on cancer is to be won. Treatment alone cannot bring success.

References

- 1. World Health Organization. Cancer, www.who.int/cancer/en/
- Wogan GN, Hecht SS, Felton JS, et al. Environmental and chemical carcinogenesis. *Semin Cancer Biol* 2004; 14(6):473–86.
- Davis DL, Muir C. Estimating avoidable causes of cancer. *Environ Health* Perspect 1995; 103 (Suppl 8):301–6.
- Newby JA, Howard CV. Environmental influences in cancer aetiology. J Nutr Environ Med 2005; 15(2–3):56–114.

32: CANCER

- 5. Clapp RW, Howe GK, Jacobs M. Environmental and occupational causes of cancers revisited. *J Pub Health Policy* 2006; 27:61–76.
- 6. Vineis P, Pirastu R. Aromatic amines and cancer. *Cancer Causes Control* 1997; 8(3):346–55.
- 7. Steingraber S. *Living downstream: An ecologist looks at cancer and the environment*, Addison-Wesley, Reading, MA, 1997.
- 8. Parkin DM, Bray F, Ferlay J, Pisani P. Global cancer statistics, 2002. *CA Cancer J Clin* 2005; 55:74–108.
- 9. International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC). List of human carcinogens, 2007, http://monographs.iarc.fr/ENG/Classification/crthalllist.php
- 10. American Cancer Society. Known and probable carcinogens, www.cancer. org/docroot/PED/content_1_3_Known_and_Probable_Carcinogen
- 11. National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health. NIOSH carcinogen list, www.cdc.gov/niosh/npotocca.html
- 12. New Jersey Department of Health and Senior Services, Occupational health service. Chemical carcinogens, www.state.nj.us/health/oeh/odisweb/ca_hsfs.htm
- 13. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Public Health Service. 11th report on carcinogens, http://ntp.niehs.nih.gov.go/16183
- 14. State of California. Chemicals known to the state to cause cancer or reproductive toxicity, February 3, 2006, www.oehha.ca.gov/prop65.html
- Scorecard. The pollution information site. Health effects—carcinogens. Recognized carcinogens, www.scorecard.org/health-effects/chemicals.tcl?short_ hazard_name=cancer&all_p=t
- Scorecard. The pollution information site. Health effects—carcinogens. Suspected carcinogens, www.scorecard.org/health-effects/chemicals.tcl?short_ hazard_name=cancer&all_p=t
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Public Health Service. Risks associated with smoking cigarettes with low machine-measured yields of tar and nicotine, Monograph 13, http://cancercontrol.cancer.gov/tcrb/monograph/13/ m13_complete.pdf
- Weinstein IB. The origins of human cancer: Molecular mechanisms of carcinogenesis and their implications for cancer prevention and treatment. *Cancer Res* 1988; 48:4235–43.
- 19. Wogan GN, Hecht SS, Felton JS, et al. Environmental and chemical carcinogenesis. *Semin Cancer Biol* 2004; 14(6):473–86.
- 20. Farber E. Initiators, promoters and the uncertainty principle. *Tumour Biol* 1988; 9(4):165–9.
- 21. Guengerich FP. Metabolism of chemical carcinogens. *Carcinogenesis* 2000; 21(3):345–51.
- 22. Straub KM, Burlingame AL. Carcinogen binding to DNA. *Biomed Mass Spectrum* 1981; 8(9):431–5.
- 23. Trosko JE, Upham BL. The emperor wears no clothes in the field of carcinogen risk assessment: Ignored concepts in cancer risk assessment. *Mutagenesis* 2005; 20(2):81–92.
- 24. Warren ST, Dolittle DJ, Chang CC, et al. Evaluation of the carcinogenic potential of 2,4-dinitrofluorobenzene and its implications regarding muta-genicity testing. *Carcinogenesis* 1982; 3(2):139–45.
- 25. Carpenter DO. Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs): Routes of exposure and effects on human health. *Rev Environ Health* 2006; 21(1):1–23.

- 26. Huber WW, Grasl-Kraupp B, Schulte-Hermann R. Hepatocarcinogenic potential of di(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate in rodents and its implications on human risk. *Crit Rev Toxicol* 1996; 26(4):365–481.
- 27. Nau H. Impacts and impact mechanisms of "dioxins" in humans and animals. *Dtsch Tierarztl Wochenschr* 2005; 113(8):292–7 [abstract only].
- 28. Joseph P, Klein-Szanto AJ, Jaiswal AK. Hydroquinones cause specific mutations and lead to cellular transformation and in vivo tumorigenesis. *Br J Cancer* 1998; 78(3):312–20.
- 29. Lindsey RH, Jr, Bender RP, Osheroff N. Effects of benzene metabolites on DNA cleavage mediated by human topoisomerase II alpha: 1,4-Hydroquinone is a topoisomerase II poison. *Chem Res Toxicol* 2005; 18(4):761–70.
- 30. Baird WM, Hooven LA, Mahadevan B. Carcinogenic polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon-DNA aducts and mechanism of action. *Environ Mol Mutagen* 2005; 45(2–3):106–14.
- 31. Kovacic P, Jacintho JD. Mechanisms of carcinogenesis: Focus on oxidative stress and electron transfer. *Curr Med Chem* 2001; 8:773–96.
- 32. Pryor WA, Houk KN, Foote CS, et al. Free radical biology and medicine: It's a gas, man! *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* 2006; 291(3):R491–511.
- 33. Valko M, Rhodes CJ, Moncol J, et al. Free radicals, metals and antioxidants in oxidative stress-induced cancer. *Chem Biol Interact* 2006; 160(1):1–40.
- 34. Valko M, Morris H, Cronin MT. Metals, toxicity and oxidative stress. *Curr Med Chem* 2005; 12(10):1161–208.
- 35. Kolonel LN. Association of cadmium with renal cancer. *Cancer* 1976; 37(4): 1782–7.
- 36. Huff J, Lunn RM, Waalkes MP, et al. Cadmium-induced cancers in animals and in humans. *Int J Occup Environ Health* 2007; 13(2):202–12.
- 37. Rinsky RA, Young RJ, Smith AB. Leukemia in benzene workers. *Am J Ind Med* 1981; 2:217–45.
- 38. Guenel P, Imbernon E, Chevalier A, et al. Leukemia in relation to occupational exposures to benzene and other agents: A case-control study nest in a cohort of gas and electric utility workers. *Am J Ind Med* 2002; 42(2):87–97.
- 39. Glass DC, Gray CN, Jolley DJ, et al. Leukemia risk associated with low-level benzene exposure. *Epidemiology* 2002; 14(5):569–77.
- 40. Seniori-Costantini A, Quinn M, Consonni D, Zappa M. Exposure to benzene and risk of leukemia among shoe factory workers. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 2003; 29(1):51–9.
- 41. Huff J, Chen P, Nyska A. Is the human carcinogen arsenic carcinogenic to animals? *Toxicol Sci* 2000; 55:17–23.
- 42. Moore LE, Smith AH, Emg C, et al. Arsenic-related chromosomal alterations in bladder cancer. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 2002; 94(22):1688–96.
- 43. Delzell E, Sathiakumar N, Graff J, et al. An updated study of mortality among North American synthetic rubber industry workers. *Res Rep Health Eff Inst* 2006; 132:65–74.
- 44. Lynge E, Anttila A, Hemminki K. Organic solvents and cancer. *Cancer Causes Control* 1997; 8(3):406–19.
- 45. Lock EA, Reed CJ. Trichloroethylene: Mechanisms or renal toxicity and renal cancer and relevance to risk assessment. *Toxicol Sci* 2006; 91(2):313–31.
- 46. Doll R. Effects of exposure to vinyl chloride: An assessment of the evidence. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 1988; 14(1):61–78.

32: CANCER

- 47. Ward E. Overview of preventable industrial causes of occupational cancer. *Environ Health Perspect* 1995; 103 (Suppl 8):197–203.
- 48. Armstrong B, Hutchinson E, Unwin J, Fletcher T. Lung cancer risk after exposure to polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons: A review and meta-analysis. *Environ Health Perspect* 2004; 112(9):970–8.
- 49. Ha M, Lim HJ, Cho SH, et al. Incidence of cancer in the vicinity of Korean AM radio transmitters. *Arch Environ Health* 2003; 58(12):756–62.
- 50. Tolbert PE. Oils and cancer. Cancer Causes Control 1997; 8:386-405.
- 51. Calvert GM, Ward E, Schnorr TM, Fine LJ. Cancer risks among workers exposed to metalworking fluids: A systematic review. *Am J Ind Med* 1998; 33:282–92.
- 52. Wakalee HA, Chang ET, Gomez SL, et al. Lung cancer incidence in never smokers. *J Clin Oncol* 2007; 25(5):472–8.
- 53. Humfrey CD, Levy LS, Faux SP. Potential carcinogenicity of foundry fumes: A comparative in vivo-in vitro study. *Food Chem Toxicol* 1996; 34(11-12):1103-11.
- 54. Armstrong B, Tremblay C, Baris D, Therialt G. Lung cancer mortality and polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons: A case-cohort study of aluminum production workers in Arvida, Quebec, Canada. *Am J Epidemiol* 1994; 139:250–62.
- 55. Bofetta P, Jourenkova N, Gustavsson P. Cancer risk from occupational and environmental exposure to polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. *Cancer Causes Control* 1997; 8:442–72.
- 56. International Agency for Research on Cancer. Some organic solvents, resin monomers and related compounds, pigments and occupational exposures in paint manufacturing and painting. IARC Monographs on the Evaluation of the Carcinogenic Risk of Chemicals in Humans, vol. 47, Lyon, France, 1989.
- 57. Pinto D, Ceballos JM, Garcia G, et al. Increased cytogenic damage in outdoor painters. *Mutat Res* 2000; 467(2):105–11.
- 58. Zoloth SR, Michaels DM, Villalbi JR, Lacher M. Patterns of mortality among commercial pressmen. *JNCI* 1986; 76(6):1047–51.
- 59. Kogevinas M, Sala M, Boffetta P, et al. Cancer risk assessment in the rubber industry: A review of the recent epidemiological evidence. *Occup Environ Med* 1998; 55:1–12.
- 60. Pukkala E. Cancer incidence among Finnish oil refinery workers, 1971–94. *J Occup Environ Med* 1998; 40(8):675–9.
- 61. Gun RT, Pratt NL, Griffith EC, et al. Update of a prospective study of mortality and cancer incidence in the Australian petroleum industry. *Occup Environ Med* 2004; 61:150–6.
- 62. Austin SG, Schnatter AR. A cohort mortality study of petrochemical workers. *J Occup Med* 1983; 25(4):304–12.
- 63. Griffith J, Duncan RC, Riggan WB, Pellom AC. Cancer mortality in U.S. counties with hazardous waste sites and groundwater pollution. *Arch Environ Health* 1989; 44(2):69–74.
- 64. U.S. EPA. National priorities list. 786 current and proposed sites in order of ranking and by state, Washington, DC, October 1984.
- 65. Kuzma RJ, Kuzma CM, Buncher CR. Ohio drinking water source and cancer. *Am J Public Health* 1977; 67(8):725–9.
- 66. Chen K, Xu WP, Ma XY, et al. Association of drinking water source and colorectal cancer incidence: A prospect cohort study. *ALZheng* 2004; 23(5):550–4 [abstract only].

- 67. Verkasalo PK, Kokki E, Pukkala E, et al. Cancer risk near a polluted river in Finland. *Environ Health Perspect* 2004; 112(9):1026–31.
- 68. Goldberg MS, Siemiatyck J, DeWar R, et al. Risks of developing cancer relative to living near a municipal solid waste landfill site in Montreal, Quebec, Canada. *Arch Environ Health* 1999; 54(4):291–6.
- 69. Binet S, Pfohl-Leszkowicz A, Brandt H, et al. Bitumen fumes: Review of work on the potential risk to workers and present knowledge of its origin. *Sci Total Environ* 2002; 300(1–3):37–49.
- 70. Zhao HW, Yin XJ, Frazer D, et al. Effects of paving asphalt fume exposure on genotoxic and mutagenic activities in the rat lung. *Mutat Res* 2004; 557(2):137–49.
- Adey WR. Joint actions of environmental nonionizing electromagnetic fields and chemical pollution in cancer promotion. *Environ Health Perspect* 1990; 86:297–305.
- 72. Mikoczy Z, Hagmar L. Cancer incidence in the Swedish leather tanning industry: Updated findings 1958–99. *Occup Environ Med* 2005; 62(7):461–4.
- 73. Calvert GM, Fajen JM, Hills BW, et al. Testicular cancer, dimethylformamide and leather tanneries. *Lancet* 1990; 336:1253–4.
- 74. Ducatman A, Crawl JR, Conwill DE. Cancer clusters: Correlation, causation, and common sense. *Chemtech* 1988; 4:204–10.
- 75. U.S. National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health. NIOSH health hazard evaluation report, NIOSH, Report No. HETA 89-125-2021, Cincinnati, OH, 1990.
- 76. Jaga K, Dharmani C. The epidemiology of pesticide exposure and cancer: A review. *Rev Environ Health* 2005; 20(1):15–38.
- 77. Zahm SH, Ward MH, Blair A. Pesticides and cancer. *Occup Med* 1997;12(2):269–89.
- Woods JS, Polissar L, Severson RK, et al. Soft tissue sarcoma and non-Hodgkin's lymphoma in relation to phenoxyherbicide and chlorinated phenol exposure in western Washington. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 1987; 78(5):899–910.
- 79. Georgellis A, Kolmodin-Hedman B, Kouretas D. Can traditional epidemiology detect cancer risks caused by occupational exposure to pesticides? *J Exp Clin Cancer Res* 1999; 18(2):159–66.
- Mills PK, Yang R, Riordan D. Lymphohematopoietic cancers in the United Farm Workers of America (UFW), 1988–2001. *Cancer Causes Control* 2005; 16(7):823–30.
- 81. Sears M, Walker CR, van der Jagt RHC, Claman P. Pesticide assessment: Protecting public health on the home turf. *Pediatr Child Health* 2006; 11(4):229–34.
- 82. Zeljezic D, Garaj-Vrhovac V, Perkovic P. Evaluation of DNA damage induced by atrazine and atrazine-based herbicide in human lymphocytes in vitro using a comet and DNA diffusion assay. *Toxicol in Vitro* 2006; 20(6):923–35.
- 83. Fisher SG, Fisher RI. The epidemiology of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. *Oncogene* 2004; 23(38):6524–34.
- 84. Chiu BC, Weisenburger DD. An update on the epidemiology of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. *Clin Lymphoma* 2003; 4(3):161–8.
- 85. National Cancer Institute. Fast stats: Non-Hodgkin lymphoma, http://seer.concer.gov/faststats/sites.php?site=Non-Hodgkin+Lymphoma&stat=Incidence

- Speer SA, Semenza JC, Kurosaki T, Anton-Culver H. Risk factors for acute myeloid leukemia and multiple myeloma: A combination of GIS and casecontrol studies. *J Environ Health* 2002; 64(7):9–16.
- Albin M, Bjork J, Welinder H, et al. Acute myeloid leukemia and clonal chromosome aberrations in relation to past exposure to organic solvents. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 2000; 26(6):482–91.
- 88. Patel AS, Talbott EO, Zborowski JV, et al. Risk of cancer as a result of community exposure to gasoline vapors. *Arch Environ Health* 2004; 59(10):497–503.
- 89. Rego MA, Sousa CS, Kato M, et al. Non-Hodgkin's lymphomas and organic solvents. *J Occup Environ Med* 2002; 44(9):874–81.
- Vineis P, Miligi L, Constantini AS. Exposure to solvents and risk of non-Hodgkin lymphoma: Clues on putative mechanisms. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 2007; 16(3):381–4.
- 91. Miligi L, Constantini AS, Crosignani P, et al. Occupational, environmental, and life-style factors associated with the risk of hematolymphopoietic malignancies in women. *Am J Ind Med* 1999; 36(1):60–9.
- 92. Dryver E, Brandt L, Kauppinen T, Olsson H. Occupational exposures and non-Hodgkin's lymphoma in Southern Sweden. *Int J Occup Environ Health* 2004; 10(1):13–21.
- Constantini AS, Miligi L, Kriebel D, et al. A multicenter case-control study in Italy on hematolymphopoietic neoplasms and occupation. *Epidemiology* 2001; 12(1):78–87.
- 94. Miligi L, Constantini AS, Benvenuti A, et al. Occupational exposure to solvents and the risk of lymphomas. *Epidemiology* 2006; 17(5):552–61.
- 95. Ganesh L, Acarlett JM, Lisk DJ, Shane BS. Urinary mutagenicity as an indicator of occupational exposure in a cohort of cosmetologists. *J Toxicol Environ Health* 1999; 57(7):475–88.
- Miligi L, Constantini AS, Benvenuti A, et al. Personal use of hair dyes and hematolymphopoietic malignancies. *Arch Environ Occup Health* 2005; 60(5):249–56.
- 97. Fritschi L, Benke G, Hughes AM, et al. Risk of non-Hodgkin lymphoma associated with occupational exposure to solvents, metals, organic dusts and PCBs (Australia). *Cancer Causes Control* 2005; 16(5):599–607.
- 98. Scherr PA, Hutchinson GB, Neiman RS. Non-Hodgkin's lymphoma and occupational exposure. *Cancer Res* 1992; 52 (Suppl 52):5503s–9s.
- 99. Miligi L, Constantini AS, Veraldi A, et al. Cancer and pesticides: An overview and some results of the Italian multicenter case-control study on hematolymphopoietic malignancies. *Ann NY Acad Sci* 2006; 1076:366–77.
- 100. Demers PA, Vaughan TL, Koepsell TD, et al. A case-control study of multiple myeloma and occupation. *Am J Ind Med* 1993; 23(4):629–39.
- 101. Pottern LM, Heinerman EF, Olsen JH, et al. Multiple myeloma among Danish women: Employment history and workplace exposures. *Cancer Causes Control* 1992; 3(5):427–32.
- Heineman EF, Olsen JH, Pottern LM, et al. Occupational risk factors for multiple myeloma among Danish men. *Cancer Causes Control* 1993; 3(6):555–68.
- Masuda S, Terashima Y, Sano A, et al. Changes in the mutagenic and estrogenic activities of bisphenol A upon treatment with nitrite. *Mutat Res* 2005; 585(1–2):137–46.

- 104. Reed GA. Sulfite-dependent mutagenicity of benzo[a]pyrene derivatives. *Carcinogenesis* 1987; 8(8):1145–8.
- Reed GA, Ryan MJ, Adams KS. Sulfite enhancement of diolepoxide mutagenicity: The role of altered glutathione metabolism. *Carcinogenesis* 1990; 11(9):1635–9.
- 106. Dlugosz A, Sawicka E, Marchewka Z. Styrene and ethylene glycol have a synergistic effect on lipid peroxidation that is better protected than repaired by CoQ10. *Toxicol in Vitro* 2005; 19(5):581–8.
- 107. NTP Working Group. Toxicology and carcinogenesis studies of malonaldehyde, sodium salt (3-hydroxy-2-propenal, sodium salt) in F 344/N rats and B6C3F1 mice (gavage studies). National Toxicology Program Technical Report Series, vol. 331, 1988.
- Siegel SJ, Bieschke J, Powers ET, Kelly JW. The oxidative stress metabolite 4-hydroxynonenal promotes Alzheimer protofibril formation. *Biochemistry* 2007; 46(6):1503–10.
- 109. Borovic S, Cipak A, Meinitzer A, et al. Differential sensitivity to 4-hydroxynonenal for normal and malignant mesenchymal cells. *Redox Rep* 2007; 12(1):50–4.
- 110. Cabral JR, Shubik P. Carcinogenic activity of hexachlorobenzene in mice and hamsters. *IARC Sci Pub* 1986; 77:411–16.
- 111. Smith AG, Cabral JR, Carthew P, et al. Carcinogenicity of iron in conjunction with a chlorinated environmental chemical, hexachlorobenzene, in C57BL/10ScSn mice. *Int J Cancer* 1989; 43(3):492–6.
- 112. Smith AG, Carthew P, Francis JE, et al. Enhancement by iron of hepatic neoplasia in rats caused by hexachlorobenzene. *Carcinogenesis* 1993; 14(7):1381–7.
- 113. Carthew P Smith AG. Pathological mechanisms of hepatic tumour formation in rats exposed chronically to dietary hexachlorobenzene. *J Appl Toxicol* 1994; 14(6):447–52.
- 114. Hecht SS. Tobacco smoke carcinogens and lung cancer. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 1999; 91(14):1194–210.
- 115. Miller AB. The etiology of bladder cancer from the epidemiological view-point. *Cancer Res* 1977; 37:2939–42.
- Yuan JM, Castelao JE, Gago-Dominguez M, et al. Tobacco use in relation to renal cell carcinoma. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 1998; 7(5):429–33.
- 117. Hunt JD, van der Hel OL, McMillan GP, et al. Renal cell carcinoma in relation to cigarette smoking: Meta-analysis of 24 studies. *Int J Cancer* 2005; 114(1):101–8.
- 118. Rubin H. Synergistic mechanisms in carcinogenesis by polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and by tobacco smoke: A biohistorical perspective with updates. *Carcinogenesis* 2001; 22(12):1903–30.
- 119. Yoshie Y, Ohshima H. Synergistic induction of DNA strand breakage by cigarette tar and nitric oxides. *Carcinogenesis* 1997; 18(7):1359–63.
- 120. Selikoff IJ, Hammond EC, Chung J. Asbestos exposure, smoking and neoplasia. J Am Med Assoc 1968; 204(2):104–10.
- 121. Reiss B, Tong C, Telang S, Williams GM. Enhancement of benzo[a]pyrene mutagenicity by chrysotile asbresos in rat liver epithelial cells. *Environ Res* 1983; 31(1):100–4.

- 122. Pershagen G, Wall S, Taube A, Linnman L. On the interaction between occupational arsenic exposure and smoking and its relationship to lung cancer. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 1981; 7(4):302–9.
- 123. Williams GM. Chemical mixtures and interactive carcinogenesis: In vitro studies. In H Vainio, M Sorsa, AJ McMichael (eds), *Complex mixtures and cancer risk*, International Agency for Research on Cancer, Lyon, France, 1990, pp. 107–12.
- 124. Seitz HK, Stickel F. Molecular mechanisms of alcohol-mediated carcinogenesis. *Natl Rev Cancer* 2007; 7(8):599–612.
- 125. Poshel G, Seitz HK. Alcohol and cancer. *Alcohol Alcohol* 2004; 39(3):155–65.
- 126. Lee ME, Lichenstein E, Andrews JA, et al. Radon-smoking synergy: A population-based behavioral risk reduction approach. *Prev Med* 1999; 29(3):222–7.
- 127. Lichtenstein E, Boles SM, Lee ME, et al. Using radon risk to motivate smoking reduction II: Randomized evaluation of brief telephone counseling and a targeted video. *Health Educ Res* 2007 [available online only as of time of publication, access via PubMed, www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/sites/entrez
- 128. Boice JD, Jr, Mumma MT, Blot WJ. Cancer and noncancer mortality in populations living near uranium and vanadium mining and milling operations in Montrose County Colorado, 1950–2000. *Radiat Res* 2007; 167(6):711–26.
- 129. Dumitrescu RG, Cotarla I. Understanding breast cancer risk—where do we stand in 2005? *J Cell Mol Med* 2005; 9(1):208–21.
33.1 Introduction

BaP is an acknowledged lung carcinogen. Exposure of mice to it results in the formation of DNA adducts in the lung. When BaP was co-administered with pentachlorophenol (PCP), the PCP potentiated the effect of BaP and a significant increase in the number of DNA adducts was observed.^[1] This effect, however, was observed only in adult mice and not in infant mice. The authors of the study conclude that different mechanisms are involved in the metabolism of BaP for adult versus infant mice.

The study just described points out significant differences between adults and children. Children are not miniature adults. They are, in many ways, far more susceptible to the carcinogenic effects of toxic chemicals than adults are, for they proportionately consume much more food and water, inhale more air and are undergoing constant growth and continued development. When considering the effects of environmental agents on children, there is a need to take exposures during preconception, and those encountered during all stages of development, from *in utero* through the teenage years, into account.^[2] This is particularly so when childhood cancers are being considered because between infancy and age 15, cancer is the leading cause of death by disease among children in the United States.^[3]

33.2 Prevalent Childhood Cancers

Leukemia and brain tumors are the most prevalent cancers among children aged 0–14 years of age in the United States. Together, they account for one-half of all childhood cancers, 30% of which are leukemia and 20% of which are brain cancer.^[4]

Data from the SEER program (1975–90) and the American Cancer Society show the following percentages for childhood cancer in the United States.^[4,5]

Cancer	Percentage
Leukemia	30
Glioma and meningioma	20
Neuroblastoma	8
Wilms' tumor	7

Soft tissue sarcoma	6
Non-Hodgkin's lymphoma	6
Hodgkin's disease	5
Retinoblastoma	3
Osteosarcoma	2
Ewing's sarcoma	2
Other	12

33.3 Childhood Cancer Studies

Many studies have been carried out on the effects of environmental chemical exposure and carcinogenesis in children, beginning *in utero* and through their teens. The following are representative of these studies where chemical mixtures were shown to be causative. Other examples are examined in the next chapter on cancer clusters.

33.3.1 Tobacco Smoke

Epidemiological evidence shows that prenatal exposure to cigarette smoke, chlorinated hydrocarbons, and other organic solvents increases the incidence of cancer in offspring, as carcinogens are transferred from the mother to the fetus via the placenta.^[6–9]

Prenatally exposed mice exposed to cigarette smoke approximately equivalent to less than one pack of cigarettes per day demonstrated a greater than two-fold increase in tumor incidence when challenged at 5 weeks of age with EL4 lymphoma cells.^[6]

33.3.2 Solvents

One study demonstrated that parental occupational exposures to chlorinated hydrocarbons are associated with increased risks for leukemia, lymphoma, and urinary tract cancers in offspring.^[8] Another study showed associations between maternal exposures to solvents and increased incidences of leukemia. These solvents include 1,1,1-trichloroethane, toluene, and other mononuclear aromatic hydrocarbons, mineral spirits, and alkanes.^[9]

Childhood brain cancers, the second leading cause of childhood cancer, have been associated with parental occupational exposures to toxic chemicals. Industries for which such associations have been found include^[10]

Chemical Petroleum Electronics manufacturing Printing Graphic arts Metal processing Agriculture Painting

The authors of this review study point out that although frequently there are positive associations between parental occupation and childhood brain cancers, these associations are inconsistent. These inconsistencies are attributed to the use of chemicals from different sources of supply with varying additives.^[10] Put another way, the different supplies contain different chemical mixtures that may be the responsible agents.

Carcinogenic effects of environmental mixtures on children are not limited to *in utero* exposures. In a study conducted on children who resided in two of the most polluted cities in the Silesia province of Poland, it was found that simultaneous exposure to PAHs and lead (emissions from coalburning stoves) led to the induction of cytogenic effects in peripheral lymphocytes.^[11] A study in Great Britain found that childhood cancers are strongly elevated by both prenatal and early postnatal exposures to oilbased combustion gases, particularly from engine exhausts.^[12]

The most studied chemical mixtures that affect childhood cancer are tobacco smoke and pesticides. Childhood smoking contributes to lung and other cancers. DNA adduct formation as a consequence of tobacco smoke exposure is thought to be relevant in carcinogenesis. The younger that adolescents start smoking, the higher the levels of DNA adduct levels that are found in their systems. It is thought that smoking during adolescence produces physiological changes that lead to increased DNA adduct formation and that young smokers are more susceptible to DNA adduct formation than older people. These effects lead to higher adduct burdens than in those who start smoking later in life and thus account for the increased carcinogenesis.^[13]

Children's exposures to pesticides come from a wide variety of sources, including

Home use School use Garden use Pet use Residues in food Contaminated drinking water Agricultural application drift Oversprays Insect eradication Carry home from parents' occupational use

Childhood cancers attributed to pesticide exposure include^[14]

Leukemia Neuroblastoma Wilms' tumor Soft tissue sarcoma Ewing's sarcoma Non-Hodgkin's lymphoma Brain Colorectum Testes

These cancers have not been associated with specific pesticides. It is interesting to note that the reported increased cancer risks associated with pesticide exposure are greater than those reported for adult exposure to the same substances.^[14] These findings point out the greater sensitivity of children to the carcinogenic effects of pesticides.

33.4 Summary

Children are at greater risk than adults for many cancers. Leukemia and brain cancer account for half of all childhood cancers. The causes of these cancers are often obscure, but research has shown that *in utero* exposures can start the carcinogenic process that becomes fully manifest after birth. Mixtures of chemicals, most notably tobacco smoke and pesticides, are known causative childhood cancer agents. Other chemical mixtures identified as carcinogenic to children are examined in the next chapter on cancer clusters.

References

1. Bordelon NR, Donnelly KC, George SE. Pentachlorophenol potentiates benzo[a]pyrene DNA adduct formation in adult but not infant B6C3F1 male mice. *Environ Mol Mutagen* 2001; 37(2):164–72.

- U.S. EPA. A framework for assessing health risk of environmental exposures to children. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, EPA/600/R-05/093F, Washington, DC, 2006.
- 3. National Cancer Institute. A snapshot of pediatric cancer: Incidence and mortality rate trends, www.cancer.gov/cancertopics/types/childhoodcancers
- National Cancer Institute. Cancer incidence and survival among children and adolescents: United States SEER program 1975–1995, http://seer.cancer.gov/ publications/childhood/
- Zahm SH, Devesa SS. Childhood cancer: Overview of incidence trends and environmental carcinogens. *Environ Health Perspect* 1995; 103 (Suppl 3): 177–84.
- 6. Ng SP, Silverstone AE, Lai ZW, Zelikoff JT. Effects of prenatal exposure to cigarette smoke on offspring tumor susceptibility and associated immune mechanisms. *Toxicol Sci* 2006; 89(1):135–44.
- Lackmann GM, Salzberger U, Tollner U, et al. Metabolites of a tobacco-specific carcinogen in urine from newborns. J Natl Cancer Inst 1999; 91(5):459–65.
- 8. Frangos SA, Peters JM. Chlorinated hydrocarbon solvents: Substituting our way toward human carcinogenicity. *Am J Ind Med* 1993; 24(4):355–64.
- Infante-Rivard C, Siemiatycki J, Lakhani R, Nadon L. Maternal exposure to occupational solvents and childhood leukemia. *Environ Health Perspect* 2005; 113(6):787–92.
- 10. Baldwin RT, Preston-Martin S. Epidemiology of brain tumors in childhood—a review. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 2004; 199:118–31.
- 11. Mielzynska D, Siwinska E, Kapka L, et al. The influence of environmental exposure to complex mixtures including PAHs and lead on genotoxic effects in children living in Upper Silesia, Poland. *Mutagenesis* 2006; 21(5):295–304.
- 12. Knox EG. Oil combustion and childhood cancers. *J Epidemiol Community Health* 2005; 59(9):755–60.
- 13. Wiencke JK, Varkonyi A, Thurston SW, et al. Early age at smoking initiation and tobacco carcinogen DNA damage in the lung. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 1999; 91(7):614–19.
- 14. Zahm SH, Ward MH. Pesticides and childhood cancer. *Environ Health Perspect* 1998; 106 (Suppl 3):893–908.

34.1 Introduction

A cancer cluster is an outbreak of a particular cancer or cancers in a group of individuals in greater than expected numbers following a common exposure by that group to a causative agent or agents.^[1] In investigating cancer clusters, researchers are able to study the effects of chemical exposures on cancer epidemiology with other variables removed.

Many cancer clusters have been associated with exposures to individual chemicals. A number of these, however, have followed exposures to mixtures of chemicals. Those who have investigated these mixture exposure clusters have focused their attention on finding the individual components of the mixtures that were the causative agents.

It is hypothesized here that the mixtures, and not single components of these mixtures, are the causative agents for many cancer clusters. Several previously unexplained cancer clusters all have common elements:

- 1. All can be attributed to exposures to chemical mixtures that contain at least one lipophile and at least one hydrophile.
- 2. The combinations of lipophiles and hydrophiles produce cancers in unexpected organs not known to be targets for the individual components of the mixtures.
- 3. The cancers induced are not associated with exposure to any of the individual chemicals that make up the mixtures.
- The cancer clusters may be in the form of single cancers per cluster or of specific multiple cancers per cluster.

34.2 Mixture-Induced Cancer Clusters

The following are examples of cancer clusters reported in the literature that are unexpected, that is, that cannot be attributed to any single causative agent. In all cases, the cancer clusters followed exposures to mixtures of lipophiles and hydrophiles. K_{ow} values are given for each chemical to demonstrate lipophilic or hydrophilic character.

34.2.1 Cluster 1: Childhood Leukemia

Woburn, Massachusetts, was the location of a cluster of childhood leukemia from 1969–79.^[2–4] The cluster was associated with contaminated municipal well drinking water that contained the following chemicals:

3.40
3.09
2.49
2.42
2.09
1.97
4.50-6.50
0.68
0.23

Though arsenic and chromium have been associated with some cancers, none of these chemicals individually is known to be causative for leukemia.

34.2.2 Cluster 2: Prostate Cancer

A cluster of prostate cancer deaths was reported among a group of oil refinery workers. These workers used a mixture of chemicals to remove wax from crude oil in a lubricating oil manufacturing process.^[5] The chemicals used included

Benzene	2.13
Toluene	2.73
Methylethyl ketone	0.29

Benzene is a known leukemogen. Leukemia, however, was not reported. None of these chemicals is known to cause prostate cancer.

34.2.3 Clusters 3–6: Testicular Cancer

Three different testicular cancer clusters have been reported among leather tannery workers.^[6–8] These workers are exposed to a wide range of lipophilic and hydrophilic chemicals that include

Toluene	2.73
Naphthalene	3.30
Amyl acetate	2.26

560

d-Limonene	4.57
Decanes and other aliphatic	
hydrocarbons	4.40-6.50
Trimethylbenzenes and other	
aromatic hydrocarbons	3.00-4.50
2-Ethoxyethanol	-0.32
Dimethylformamide (DMF)	-1.01
2-Ethoxyethylacetate	0.59
2-Butoxyethanol	0.83
Diisobutyl ketone	2.56
Benzidine	1.34
<i>n</i> -Butanol	0.88

The chemicals used also included other aldehydes, alcohols, esters, and nitrosamines.

A testicular cancer cluster was also reported among military aircraft repair personnel.^[9] The chemicals these workers were exposed to included

1,1,2-Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane	3.09
1,1,1-Trichloroethane	2.49
Dimethylformamide (DMF)	-1.01
Methylethyl ketone	0.29

Because DMF was used in the tannery and aircraft repair workplaces, it was hypothesized that it was the causative agent for the testicular cancer outbreaks. DMF alone, however, is not known to cause testicular cancer and the authors of all four studies conclude that DMF was not the sole carcinogen but that the large numbers of other chemicals to which these workers were exposed make it difficult to establish DMF as the causative agent.

34.2.4 Cluster 7: Brain Cancer Cluster—Electronics Workers

A brain cancer cluster was found at an electronics components manufacturing plant.^[10] The chemicals used in the plant included

Beryllium metal	-0.57
Trichloroethylene	2.42

Cutting fluids and balancing fluids, containing amines, halogenated aromatic hydrocarbons, chlorofluorocarbons with K_{ow} values ranging from 1.50–3.50 were also used in that plant. None of the individual chemicals these workers were exposed to is known to cause brain cancer.

34.2.5 Cluster 8: Brain Cancer Cluster—Petrochemical Workers

A brain cancer cluster was documented among petrochemical workers.^[11] The raw materials and chemicals manufactured in the plant included a broad range of lipophilic and hydrophilic compounds, among them

Ethylene oxide	-0.30
Ethylene glycol	-1.36
Isopropanol	0.05
Acetaldehyde	-0.34
Vinyl chloride	1.63
Butadiene	1.99
Benzene	2.13
Toluene	2.93
Styrene	2.95
Xylene	3.15

None of these chemicals is individually known to cause brain cancer.

34.2.6 Cluster 9: Brain Cancers in Offspring of Electronics Workers

A unique cancer cluster was reported in which children of parents (both mothers or fathers) who worked at the same electronics manufacturing plant developed intracranial neoplasms.^[12] Parents were exposed to some 30 different chemical classes containing more than 100 different compounds. These compounds included

Trichloroethylene	2.42
Toluene	2.73
Amyl acetate	2.26
Methylene chloride	1.25
Carbon monoxide	1.78
Nitric acid	0.21
Hydrofluoric acid	0.23
Sulfur dioxide	-2.20

Despite the large number of lipophiles and hydrophiles to which these workers were exposed, only one cancer type was reported, in offspring only, and no unusual cancer prevalences were identified for the exposed workers.

The three cancer clusters just discussed are interesting to analyze. Two different sets of chemical mixtures (in electronics workers and petrochemical workers) induced brain cancers in those exposed, whereas in one instance (the second electronics worker group) only the children of those exposed developed brain cancer. These studies show that different mixtures of chemicals can induce the same cancer types and that different mechanisms are at work in the development of the same cancer type. In all three clusters, none of the individual chemicals that the workers were exposed to is known to be causative for brain cancer.

34.2.7 Cluster 10: Kidney Cancer Cluster

A cluster of kidney cancers developed in workers at a printed paperboard box manufacturing plant.^[13] These workers were exposed to a mixture of the following chemicals, as well as to several ink pigment waxes, additives, and adhesives:

Trichloroethylene	2.42
Methylene chloride	1.25
Formaldehyde	0.35

None of the chemicals to which these workers were exposed is known to cause kidney cancer. The results of this study are interesting when compared to those reported for commercial pressmen who worked with many of the same chemicals.^[14] The commercial pressmen had increased numbers of all cancers, whereas the printed paperboard box workers had a cluster of kidney cancers only, with no other cancer increases observed. This comparison points out the unique nature of the mixture to which the printed paperboard box workers were exposed, which triggered kidney cancer only, and in large numbers.

34.2.8 Cluster 11: Colorectal Cancer Cluster

A colorectal cancer cluster was reported in a polypropylene manufacturing plant.^[15] The chemicals used included

Methanol	0.77
Xylene	3.15

<i>n</i> -Pentane	3.39
Butylated hydroxytoluene	5.10

A number of surfactants and plasticizers with K_{ow} values ranging from 1.00 to 2.50 were also in use in that plant. None of the chemicals that were in use was individually known to cause colorectal cancer.

34.2.9 Cluster 12: Multiple Cancer Cluster

Multiple cancers were reported among workers with exposures to rocket engine test stands.^[16] Workers in the area were exposed to

Monomethyl hydrazine	-1.05
Kerosene fuels	2.50-6.50
Trichloroethylene	2.42

The workers were also exposed to asbestos, radiation, and other unspecified chemicals. Positive associations were observed between the exposures and rates of death from lung, lymphopoietic, bladder, and kidney cancers. Kerosene fuels, which contain PAHs and asbestos, are associated with lung cancer, but not with the other cancers. Methyl hydrazine is not a known human carcinogen. Similar results were reported for the carcinogenic effects of lipophilic PAHs in combination with hydrophilic chemicals for aluminum workers, coal gasification workers, and chimney sweeps.^[17]

34.2.10 Cluster 13: Lung Cancer Cluster

A lung cancer cluster was identified in steel mill workers who worked in the melt shop of an electric steel-making operation.^[18] That mill cast carbon and specialty steels from scrap metals. The raw materials for the plant included automobile industry scrap, construction materials, and containers that were coated with oil-based and other organic materials. Flue dust analysis revealed the following hydrophilic compounds:

> Aluminum oxide Calcium oxide Chloride Chromium III oxide Copper II oxide Magnesium oxide Manganese oxide

Manganese dioxide Sodium oxide Nickel II oxide Phosphorus pentoxide Lead oxide Stannous oxide Titanium dioxide Vanadium pentoxide Zirconium oxide

In addition, carbon black, sulfur, and numerous lipophilic organic materials were identified. Environmental assessment was unable to identify any single lung carcinogen. The authors of the study point out that lung cancer has not been previously associated with working in an electric arc steel mill. The inorganic compounds identified are commonly found in steel mills. It is thought here that the organic impurities contained in the steel scrap combined with the inorganic compounds formed a mixture that is carcinogenic to the lung.

34.2.11 Cluster 14: Childhood Leukemia

Sixteen children who lived in Fallon, Churchill County, Nevada, at the time of or before becoming ill were diagnosed with leukemia between 1997 and 2002. The expected rate for the population of the county is about 1 every 5 years. Toxic exposures came from several sources:

- 1. The drinking water was found to contain elevated levels of uranium, arsenic, and radon.
- 2. Surrounding fields were regularly sprayed with pesticides.
- 3. A pipeline carrying millions of gallons of JP-8 fuel to a nearby naval base runs through the center of town and large numbers of flights have resulted in the airborne release of fuel combustion products and residues.^[19–23]

The chemicals that the residents were exposed to include

Arsenic	0.68
Uranium	0.23
Radon	1.53
Carbon monoxide	1.78
Benzene	2.13

Toluene	2.73
Xylene	3.15
PAHs	4.50-6.50
Aliphatic hydrocarbons	3.50-5.00
Formaldehyde	0.35
Oxides of nitrogen	-0.60-0.10
1,1,1-Trichloroethane	2.49
1,4-Dichlorobenzene	3.44
Carbon tetrachloride	2.83
Ethyl benzene	3.15
Styrene	2.95
Trichloroethylene	2.42
Tetrachloroethylene	3.40
Chlorpyrifos	4.96
Diethyldithiophosphate	2.24
2,4-Dichlorophenol	3.06
2,4,5-Trichlorophenol	3.72
2-Naphthol	2.70
DDE	6.51

Though benzene was found in the air samples taken, its level was far below that associated with being causative for leukemia. With the exception of naturally occurring arsenic, none of the other chemicals the children were exposed to was considered to be above acceptable levels and none was causative for leukemia.

34.2.12 Cluster 15: Multiple Cancer Clusters

Naval divers in Israel train in the Kishon River. Pollution in the Kishon River ranks among the highest in the world, reaching levels close to those in the Rhine, Alba, and Po rivers. Divers who have trained in these waters form a cancer cluster of multiple cancers that are not only far in excess of cancers in the general population, but also have very short induction periods.^[24] The cancers found in the divers include

- Hematolymphopoietic
- CNS
- Gastrointestinal
- Skin.

Exposures to pollutants come via dermal contact, inhalation of vapors, and swallowing of river water.

The sources of pollution in the Kishon River are industrial effluents, dredging of sediments, fertilizer runoff, and dumping of waste. The contaminants include numerous lipophilic and hydrophilic compounds, among which are

> PAHs Benzene Toluene **Xylene** Styrene Long-chain branched hydrocarbons Phenols Alcohols Chlorinated alkylbenzenes Trichloroethylene Trichlorophenol Cresols Cycloalkanes Aldehydes Ketones Brominated and chlorinated aromatic organic compounds Di-(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate Diphenyl Hexachlorocyclohexanes Methylene chloride Carboxylic acids Inorganic acids Fertilizers and their by-products Nitrogen by-products Vinyl chloride Heavy metal salts Uncharacterized dusts Powdered cement

No single agent has been identified as causative for any of these cancers.

34.2.13 Cluster 16: Toxic Waste Disposal Site Related Clusters

Toxic waste sites emit a multitude of lipophilic and hydrophilic compounds to the water and air around them. Health effects from toxic waste site leachates have been discussed previously in this book. The emissions from these sites are also causative for cancer clusters. Identified toxic waste disposal site related cancer clusters include 13 gastrointestinal cancer clusters in New Jersey municipalities^[25]; clusters of primarily gastrointestinal cancer in Delaware, Maryland, Pennsylvania, Virginia, and West Virginia^[26]; and brain and CNS cancers in children under the age of 5 in Toms River, Dover Township, New Jersey, located near two superfund sites.^[27] In all these clusters, no single causative agent was identified.

34.3 Summary

Most cancer cluster studies have focused on identifying single compound causative agents. Most of these clusters, however, result from exposures to mixtures of chemicals. Analysis of the cancer clusters reported in the literature, many of which are described above, reveals that all of the unexplained clusters ensue following exposures to chemical mixtures that contain at least one lipophilic and one hydrophilic chemical. These mixtures act as unique entities to produce specific cancer clusters whose locations are not predicted by the known toxicology of the single compounds that comprise the mixtures.

Many cancer clusters remain unexplained. The cluster of breast cancer in Marin County, California, is an example. No chemicals (with the possible exception of ethanol) have been identified as causative agents and lifestyle choices (diet, drinking of ethanol, age of first pregnancy, etc.) have been suggested as responsible.^[28,29] Variations in cancer rates in different parts of the county and the finding that women living near toxic waste sites have increased incidences of breast cancer,^[30] however, suggest that the true causative agents remain to be identified and that chemical exposures cannot be eliminated.

References

- 1. Zeliger HI. Unexplained cancer clusters: Common threads. *Arch Environ Health* 2004; 59(4):172–6.
- Cutler JJ, Parker GS, Rosen S, et al. Childhood leukemia in Woburn, Massachusetts. *Public Health Rep* 1986; 101(2):201–5.
- Massachusetts Department of Health. Health assessment wells G&H site, Woburn, MA; 1989. Prepared by Massachusetts Department of Public Health for Office of Health Assessment, Agency of Toxic Substances and Diseases Registry, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Atlanta, GA, 1989.

34: CANCER CLUSTERS

- 4. Durant JL, Chen J, Hemond HF, et al. Elevated incidence of childhood leukemia in Woburn, MA: NIEHS Superfund basic research program for causes. *Environ Health Perspect* 1995; 103 (Suppl 6):93–8.
- 5. Enterline PE. Evaluating cancer clusters. *Am Ind Hyg Assoc J* 1985; 43(6): B10–13.
- 6. Calvert GM, Fajen JM, Hills BW, et al. Testicular cancer, dimethylformamide, and leather tanneries. *Lancet* 1990; 336:1253–4.
- U.S. National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health [NIOSH]. NIOSH health hazard evaluation report. NIOSH, HETA 89-125-2021, Cincinnati, OH, January 1990.
- 8. Marshall EG, Melius JM, London MA, et al. Investigation of a testicular cancer cluster using a case control approach. *Int J Epidemiol* 1980; 19(2):269–73.
- 9. Ducatman A, Crawl JR, Conwill DE. Cancer clusters: Correlation, causation and common sense. *Chemtech* 1988; 4:204–10.
- Sweeney MH, Stern FB, Ahrenholz SH. Brain tumor cluster in an electronic component plant. Proceedings of the Third Joint U.S.–Finnish Science Symposium, NIOSH, Cincinnati, OH, October 22–24, pp. 115–17.
- 11. Waxweiler RJ, Alexander V, Leffingwell S, et al. Mortality from brain tumor and other causes in a cohort of petrochemical workers. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 1983; 70(1):75–81.
- 12. Wilkins JR, III, McLaughlin JA, Sinks TH, et al. Parental occupation and intracranial neoplasms of childhood: Anecdotal evidence from a unique occupational cancer cluster. *Am J Ind Med* 1991; 19:443–53.
- U.S. National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health [NIOSH]. NIOSH health hazard evaluation report. NIOSH, HETA 86-469-2189, Cincinnati, OH, March 1992.
- 14. Zoloth SR, Michaels Dm, Villalbi, Jr, et al. Patterns of mortality among commercial pressmen. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 1986; 76(6):1047–51.
- 15. Acquavella JF, Owen CV, Bird G, et al. An adenomatous polyp case-control study to assess occupational risks following a workplace colorectal cancer cluster. *Am J Epidemiol* 1991; 133(4):357–67.
- 16. Morgenstern H, Ritz B. Effects of radiation exposure and chemical exposures on cancer mortality rate among Rocketdyne workers: A review of three cohort studies. *Occup Med* 2001; 16(2):219–37.
- 17. Boffetta P, Joourenkova N, Gustavsson P. Cancer risk from occupational exposure to polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. *Cancer Causes Control* 1997; 8:444–72.
- 18. Finkelstein MM, Wilk N. Investigation of a lung cancer cluster in the melt shop of an Ontario steel producer. *Am J Ind Med* 1990; 17:483–91.
- 19. State of Nevada Department of Health. Nevada state review and recommendations of the expert panel. Acute lymphocytic (lymphoblastic) leukemia. Fallon, Nevada, 2001.
- 20. Washington State Department of Health. Office of Environmental Health Assessment Services. Chemicals in jet fuel emissions (question 8 of the August 1998 work plan). February 25, 1999.
- 21. Seiler R. USGS ground-water investigation related to the leukemia cluster in Fallon, Churchill County, Nevada. Carson City, NV: United States Geologic Survey; 29 May 2002. Nevada State Health Division, Carson City, NV, May 2002.

- 22. Seiler RL. Temporal changes in water quality at a childhood leukemia cluster. *Ground Water* 2004; 42(3):446–55.
- 23. Rubin CS, Holmes AK, Belson MG, et al. Investigating childhood leukemia in Churchill County, Nevada. *Environ Health Perspect* 2007; 115(1)151–7.
- 24. Richter ED, Friedman LS, Tamir Y, et al. Cancer risks in naval divers with multiple exposures to carcinogens. *Environ Health Perspect* 2003; 111(4): 609–17.
- Najem GR, Louria DB, Lavenhar MA, Feurman M. Clusters of cancer mortality in New Jersey municipalities; with special reference to chemical toxic waste disposal sites and per capita income. *Int J Epidemiol* 1985; 14(4): 528–37.
- 26. Griffith J, Duncan RC, Riggan WB, Pellom AC. Cancer mortality in U.S. counties with hazardous waste sites and ground water pollution. *Arch Environ Health* 1989; 44(2):69–74.
- 27. Blumenstock J, Fagliano J, Bresnitz E. The Dover Township childhood cancer investigation. *N J Med* 2000; 97(12):25–30.
- Benz CC, Clarke CA, Moore DH, 2nd. Geographic excess of estrogen receptorpositive breast cancer. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 2003; 12(12): 1523–7.
- 29. Wrensch W, Chew T, Farren G, et al. Risk factors for breast cancer in a population with high incidence rates. *Breast Cancer Res* 2003; 5(4):R88–102.
- 30. Griffith J, Duncan RC, Riggan WB, Pellom AC. Cancer mortality in U.S. counties with hazardous waste sites and ground water pollution. *Arch Environ Health* 1989; 44(2):69–74.

PART 4 REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS, AND CONCLUSIONS

35.1 Introduction

Regulatory requirements the world over dictate that hazardous chemicals and chemical products carry warning labels on them that convey health hazard information about such chemicals and products. Well-communicated warnings are instrumental in saving lives and protecting the health of people who use or are incidentally exposed to hazardous chemicals. Chemical product warnings that fail to warn, on the other hand, are often responsible for serious injuries and even death.

35.2 Warning Requirements

Chemical product warnings are often dictated by multiple governmental agencies with different responsibilities. In the United States, for example, five different federal agencies and one state agency establish the regulations that apply to chemical products. These agencies and their areas of applicability are as follows:

- 1. The Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) mandates that warning labels be affixed to product containers and that material safety data sheets (MSDS) be distributed to users of commercial and industrial chemicals.^[1]
- 2. The Department of Transportation (DOT) dictates warnings to be applied to shipments of chemicals.^[2]
- 3. The Consumer Product Safety Commission (CPSC) establishes regulations to enforce the Federal Hazardous Substances Act (FHSA) which requires chemical product warning labels on consumer products.^[3,4]
- The Food and Drug Administration (FDA) mandates warnings on labels for foods, personal care, and cosmetic products.^[5] These are specifically exempt from regulation by other federal government agencies.
- 5. The Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) mandates warnings for pesticides.^[6] These are also specifically exempt from regulation by other federal government agencies.

In addition to these regulations, the state of California requires that warning labels inform users of any chemical in the product known to cause cancer or be a developmental and reproductive toxicant.^[7] California also has a cosmetics disclosure law that requires the disclosure of all toxic chemicals contained in cosmetics and personal care products.^[8]

Canada,^[9] the European Union,^[10] Australia,^[11] New Zealand,^[12] Japan,^[13] and the United Nations^[14] (whose regulatory recommendations have been adopted by many nations) all have established chemical product warning requirements similar to those in the United States, though perhaps administered somewhat differently.

35.3 Warning Deficiencies

Most warnings that are currently (2008) applicable suffer from some deficiencies. These include

- 1. The underlying toxicology used as the basis for warnings is based on the effects on healthy adults. The effects on children or on those with preexisting medical conditions are largely ignored.
- 2. The warnings largely ignore the effects of mixtures. Warning information is supplied almost exclusively for the individual chemicals only.
- 3. The effects of "hidden" chemicals are excluded. Many of the regulations allow for proprietary formulation information to be excluded. So called "inert" ingredients are not required to be listed for proprietary purposes, even though these are added, for example, to increase activity of pesticides or improve the aesthetics of cosmetics and personal care products, and are known to alter the toxicological effects of such products. In the United States, toxic chemicals in foods are not required to be listed if they are contained on the Everything Added to Food in the United States (EAFUS) and Generally Regarded as Safe (GRAS) lists.^[15]
- 4. In the United States toxic chemicals in products are only required to be listed if they are present in concentrations of 1.0% or more (or 0.1% or more, if carcinogenic). Accordingly, plastic products that are often used in surgery and in baby formula bottles are not required to warn that they contain endocrine disrupting chemicals, which are hazardous at concentrations far less than 1% (see Chapter 22).
- 5. Long-term testing is not required prior to dissemination warnings. Only short-term laboratory animal tests are frequently carried out.

6. Warning language is often ambiguous. For example, the phrase, "Use With Adequate Ventilation" is found on many chemical products containing volatile components. The word *adequate* has different meanings to different people. Many warnings do not define or describe what that word means. It is implied that ventilation should be to the point where the toxic chemical is diluted to where it is no longer toxic, but no information on what that point is or how the user will know when it is reached is provided.

35.4 Warnings for Multiple Exposures

Current regulatory requirements and chemical product warnings, for the most part, address the single chemicals in the product being addressed. There are no requirements for the consideration of the context in which the product can be reasonably expected to be used and the multiple exposures that may ensue. Benzene use provides an example.

The current allowable airborne exposure level for benzene as an impurity in solvent mixtures is 0.1 %. Benzene is also readily absorbed through the skin and those having dermal contact with solvents used for cleaning that contain 0.1% benzene contamination (the current allowable level) can be subjected to significant benzene absorption. In a study of workers who cleaned their hands with such solvents, the risk for leukemia was increased by 42%.^[16] This example points out the need for a more stringent regulation for the allowable concentration of benzene in solvent mixtures. The authors of the study cited recommend that the allowable level be reduced from 0.1 % to 0.01%. Other studies have made similar recommendations.^[17]

It should be noted that workers exposed to benzene by dermal contact also may inhale vapors and thus receive a dual exposure. The air in many polluted areas often contains significant benzene levels as a result of the combustion of petroleum fuels. The ambient air over Los Angeles, California, in the decade 1990–2000, for example, typically contained greater than 1.0 ppm benzene.^[18] Tobacco smokers and those exposed to secondhand (or environmental) smoke are further exposed to benzene. It is reasonable to anticipate that benzene-containing solvents will be used in urban and industrial areas where the air is polluted with benzene and that smokers will be among those who use such solvents. Such conditions further dictate the need for lowering the allowable benzene concentration in solvents.

35.5 Warnings for Mixtures

Mixtures, having been shown to produce unanticipated effects upon exposure, require particular warning attention. Clearly, it is impossible to anticipate all the mixtures that will be formed when a single chemical is distributed. However, it is possible to reasonably anticipate many of these. For example, ketones potentiate the neurotoxic effects of hexane.^[19] These solvents are commonly mixed together in adhesives. A proper warning for a ketone, hexane, or an adhesive containing both of these solvents would include what is known about the potentiating effect.

Many products are mixtures. Where the combined effects of the components of the mixture are unknown, a complete list of all compounds contained in the product would enable one to decide whether or not to risk exposure to a cleaner, for example, that contains multiple lipophilic and hydrophilic species.

35.6 Odor

Warnings for chemical exposures generally address toxic effects and symptoms of exposure, with symptoms often serving as good biological indicators of overexposure and the need to cease exposure. Neurotoxic symptoms, for example, such as headache, tingling, or nausea are indicative of overexposure to CNS toxins. Odor, another biological indicator, is not always indicative of overexposure to single chemicals, since the odor thresholds for most chemicals are far below their safe exposure levels. Odor, however, may be a very valuable indicator for overexposure to mixtures of volatile compounds since most chemical exposures are to mixtures and mixture effects have been shown to be present frequently at concentrations below those of the individual components. Accordingly, odor can, in many instances, serve as a warning of toxicity of chemical mixtures. In the instance where the air odor threshold (AOT) is higher than the PEL, for example, acetonitrile, the appearance of an odor is indicative of airborne concentrations at dangerous levels and action to reduce these concentrations are required. Table 35.1 lists current permissible exposure levels^[20] and AOTs^[21] for a number of volatile organic compounds. All data are in parts per million (ppm).

Often, biological odors are mixed with and overwhelm chemical odors, as with discharges from landfills. Here too, odor should serve as a warning to vacate the impacted area and ventilate it. As a rule, it is recommended that the presence of an odor should serve as a warning that one is in a toxic atmosphere and should take defensive actions.

Chemical	PEL	AOT
Acetaldehyde	200	0.05
Acetic acid	10	0.48
Acetic anhydride	5	0.13
Acetone	250	13
Acetonitrile	20	170
Acrolein	0.1	0.16
Acrylonitrile	1	17
Allyl alcohol	2	1.1
Allyl chloride	1	1.2
Ammonia	25	5.2
<i>n</i> -Amyl acetate	100	0.054
sec-Amyl acetate	125	0.002
Aniline	5	1.1
Arsene	0.002	0.50
Benzene	0.1	12
Benzyl chloride	1	0.044
Bromine	0.1	0.051
Bromoform	0.5	1.3
2-Butoxyethanol	5	0.1
<i>n</i> -Butyl acetate	150	0.39
<i>n</i> -Butyl acrylate	10	0.035
<i>n</i> -Butyl alcohol	50	0.83
<i>tert</i> -Butyl alcohol	200	47
<i>n</i> -Butyl amine	5	1.8
Camphor	2	0.27
Carbon disulfide	1	0.11
Carbon tetrachloride	2	96
Chlorine	0.5	0.31
Chlorobenzene	75	0.68
Chloroform	10	85
<i>m</i> -Crosol	2.3	0.00028
Cumene	50	0.088
Cyclohexane	300	25
Cyclohexanol	50	0.15
Cyclohexanone	25	0.88
Cyclopentadiene	75	1.9
p-Dichlorobenzene	75	0.18

Table 35.1 Permissible Exposure Levels (PEL) and Air Odor Thresholds(AOT) (in ppm) for Volatile Organic Compounds^[20,21]

(Continued)

Chemical	PEL	АОТ
trans-1,2-Dichloroethylene	100	17
Diethylamine	10	0.13
Diethanolamine	10	0.011
Diethyl ketone	200	2
Diisobutyl ketone	25	0.11
Dimethylamine	10	0.34
1,4-Dioxane	1	24
Epichlorohydrin	5	0.93
Ethanolamine	3	2.6
2-Ethoxyethanol	0.5	2.7
Ethyl acetate	400	3.9
Ethyl acrylate	5	0.0012
Ethyl alcohol	1000	84
Ethyl amine	10	0.95
Ethyl benzene	100	2.3
Ethyl chloride	1000	0.95
Ethyl formate	10	31
Fluorine	0.1	0.14
Formaldehyde	0.1	0.83
Formic acid	5	49
Hydrazine	0.03	3.7
Hydrogen bromide	3	2
Hydrogen chloride	5	0.77
Hydrogen cyanide	10	0.58
Hydrogen fluoride	3	0.042
Isoamyl acetate	250	0.025
Isoamyl alcohol	100	0.042
Isobutyl acetate	150	0.64
Isobutyl alcohol	150	1.6
Isopropyl acetate	250	2.7
Isopropyl alcohol	400	22
Isopropyl amine	5	1.2
Maleic anhydride	0.25	0.32
Methyl acrylate	10	0.0048
Methyl alcohol	200	100
Methyl amine	10	3.2
Methylene chloride	25	250
Methyl ethyl ketone	200	5.41

 Table 35.1 Permissible Exposure Levels (PEL) and Air Odor Thresholds

 (AOT) (in ppm) for Volatile Organic Compounds^[20,21] (Continued)

578

(Continued)

Chemical	PEL	AOT
Methyl isopropyl ketone	200	1.9
Methyl methacrylate	100	0.083
Napthalene	10	0.084
Nitrobenzene	1	0.018
Nitrogen dioxide	1	0.39
<i>m</i> -Nitrotoluene	2	0.045
Phosgene	0.1	0.9
Phthalic anhydride	1	0.053
Propylene glycol 1-methyl ether	100	10
Tetrachloroethylene	50	27
Tetrahydrofuran	200	2.0
Toluene	100	2.9
o-Toluidine	2	0.25
1,1,1-Trichloroethane	350	120
Trichloroethylene	50	28
Trimethyl amine	10	0.00044
Vinyl acetate	4	0.5
Vinyl chloride	1	3000
Vinylidine chloride	1	190
Xylene	100	1.1

 Table 35.1
 Permissible Exposure Levels (PEL) and Air Odor Thresholds

 (AOT) (in ppm) for Volatile Organic Compounds^[20,21] (Continued)

35.7 Warning Recommendations

Most environmental illnesses can be prevented by limiting exposure to toxic chemicals. Appropriately labeling chemicals and chemical products of the dangers they pose can reduce environmental toxic chemical exposures. The following recommendations are made to accomplish this goal:

- 1. *All* products containing toxic chemicals must be required to list *all* the chemical compounds contained in them.
- 2. *All* known toxic effects of the chemicals contained in these products should be given.
- 3. Information about the toxicity of mixtures contained in each product along with that about reasonably anticipated mixtures that will be formed from the use of the chemicals in the products should be included in the warnings.
- 4. PEL and MCL levels for all chemicals be reduced by at least a power of 10 to account for mixture effects which frequently

manifest at concentrations that are lower than those at which the individual chemicals induce effects.

- 5. Regulatory authorities be established initially in each country and subsequently worldwide to review and approve chemical product warning labels to assure that the best available knowledge about toxicity is universally distributed. This authority could be similar to that exercised by EPA in the United States in reviewing and approving pesticide product labels.^[6]
- 6. Review and approval of warning labels be required prior to the release of a chemical product into the stream of commerce
- 7. A universal registry be established to catalogue and make available information about the toxic effects of single chemicals and mixtures as these become known. This registry could be similar to those for pharmaceuticals that are kept by the FDA in the United States.^[5]
- 8. Permanent ongoing review of warnings be required to incorporate new findings into them. This could be accomplished via automatic notification of manufacturers and distributors of chemical products with approved labels by the regulatory body when new information becomes available. Such notification should automatically be conveyed to medical practitioners including those in hospital emergency rooms.
- 9. All chemical products contain current toxicological information, a list of symptoms that would be indicative of overexposure and directions for actions to take upon exposure.
- 10. All volatile chemicals and chemical products carry a warning to take protective action if the user smells a chemical odor or experiences other biological effects.
- 11. The combination of warning labels and MSDS be used to convey warnings.
- 12. School-aged students be taught to read and understand chemical product warnings in their science classes.

35.8 Summary

A good warning label will scare a user into action. Warnings for toxic chemicals and chemical products currently inadequately address the hazards of chemicals and particularly chemical mixtures, which often produce toxic effects at lower concentration levels than the individual chemicals. An informed user of chemicals will almost always be better protected than

one ignorant of the dangers posed. Regulatory agencies can take steps to make sure that the public is better informed about the hazards of chemical products.

References

- 1. U.S. Department of Labor, Occupational Safety and Health Administration. Hazard Communication Standard, 29 CFR 1910.1200, www.osha.gov
- 2. U.S. Department of Transportation. Hazardous materials tables, 49 CFR 172.101, www.dot.gov
- 3. U.S. Consumer Product Safety Commission, www.cpsc.gov
- 4. U.S. Federal Hazardous Substances Act. 16 CFR 1500, www.cpsc.gov/businessinfo/fhsa.html
- U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Cosmetic labeling guide, www.cfsan.fda. gov/~dms/cos-lab3.html
- 6. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Pesticide labeling regulations, www.epa.gov/oppfead1/labeling/lrm/chap-03.htm
- California Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment. Proposition 65, www.oehha.ca.gov/prop65
- 8. California Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment. California safe cosmetics bill, www.oehha.ca.gov
- 9. Canadian Chemical Product Guidelines, www.hc-sc.gc.ca
- 10. European Union REACH Program, www.europa.eu.int/comm/environment/ chemicals/reach.htm
- 11. Australian Government. About NICNAS, www.nicnas.gov.au
- 12. New Zealand labelling guide for toxic substances, www.moh.govt.nz
- 13. Japanese labeling guidelines for hazardous chemicals, www.env.go.jp/policy
- 14. United Nations globally harmonized system of classification and labeling of chemicals, www.unece.org/trans/danger/publi/ghs/ghs_welcome_e.html
- 15. U.S. Food and Drug Administration. EAFUS. A food additive data base, http://rm.cfsm.fda.gov/ dms/eafus/html
- 16. Kalnas J, Teitelbaum DT. Dermal absorption of benzene: Implications for work practices and regulations. *Int J Occup Environ Health* 2000; 6(2):114–21.
- 17. Kelly BC, Ikonomou MG, Blair JD, et al. Food web-specific biomagnification of persistent organic pollutants. *Science Magazine*, July 13, 2007, pp. 236–9.
- California Air Resources Board. The California Almanac of Emissions and Air Quality, 2005 edn, Sacramento, CA, 2005.
- Takeuchi Y, Ono U, Hisanaga N, et al. An experimental study of the combined effects of n-hexane and methyl ethyl ketone. *Br J Ind Med* 1983; 40(2):199–203.
- National Institute of Occupational Safety and Health. NIOSH pocket guide to chemical hazards, 2005. NIOSH Publication No. 2005–149, www.cdc.gov/ niosh/upg/search.html
- 21. Amoore JE, Hautala E. Odor as an aid to chemical safety: Odor thresholds compared at threshold limit values and volatiles for 214 industrial chemicals in air and water dilution. *J Appl Toxicol* 1983; 3(6):272–90.

If we knew what we were doing it wouldn't be called research, would it?

Albert Einstein

36.1 Introduction

Exposure by humans to chemical mixtures produces effects that are often not predicted from the known toxicology of the individual components of the mixtures. The preceding chapters have demonstrated this for every system and organ studied. The thousands of studies examined lead to certain conclusions and recommendations. These are presented here.

36.2 Conclusions

The following conclusions can be drawn for the toxic effects of chemical mixtures:

- 1. Exposures to chemical mixtures containing at least one lipophilic and one hydrophilic chemical may produce greater than anticipated effects, that is, more severe symptoms, unpredicted effects on organs not known to be affected by the individual components, and/or effects at concentrations much lower than those known to be harmful for the individual chemical species (Chapter 2).
- 2. Concentrations of individual chemicals in a mixture are not necessarily predictive of the ultimate toxic effects (Chapter 2).
- 3. Lipophilic species facilitate the absorption of hydrophilic species through lipophilic membrane barriers, resulting in the uptake of greater quantities of hydrophiles than would be absorbed if the lipophiles were not present (Chapter 3).
- 4. Lipophile enhanced absorption may occur through the skin, via inhalation or ingestion (Chapter 3).
- 5. The effects of the absorbed mixtures may be acute, chronic, or carcinogenic. In the case of carcinogenesis, the individual chemicals are often not known to be cancer causing (Chapters 32 and 34).

- 6. Some effects of mixtures may become predictable, particularly in simple binary mixtures. For example carbon tetrachloride reacts synergistically with both ethanol and isopropanol as a liver toxin. Predictability is less reliable in complex mixtures that are prevalent in most environmental exposures.^[1]
- 7. The toxic effects of lipophilic:hydrophilic mixtures are not necessarily predictive of the ultimate toxic mechanism. Such mixtures induce the toxic effects by absorbing and transporting greater quantities of toxic chemicals to their ultimate sites of action.^[2,3]
- 8. A chemical mixture may act as a single entity in inducing toxic effects.^[2]
- 9. Mixtures of chemicals may target multiple organs, just as numerous single chemicals do (Chapter 26).
- 10. Mixtures may act via several different mechanisms (Chapter 4).
- 11. Chemical mixtures that attack multiple organs may act via a weakening of the body's natural immune system response. This is particularly the case when one component of the mixture attacks the immune system, thus weakening that system's response to an attack on another organ by a second component of the mixture (Chapter 25).
- 12. Many chemical mixtures produce antagonistic effects, for example, carbon disulfide or pyridine lessen the hepatotoxicity of carbon tetrachloride.^[1] As a result of such antagonisms, some have proposed that exposures to low levels of certain toxic chemicals be encouraged as protective of health.^[4] Such an approach is contradicted by the overwhelming evidence of the toxic effects of mixtures and the unpredictability of how such chemicals will interact with other toxic chemicals to which an individual is exposed. In the same vein, some have encouraged the use of pesticides as protective of the food supply, arguing that naturally occurring carcinogens are more widespread than synthetic ones. The toxic and carcinogenic effects of even trace quantities of pesticides (almost always applied as mixtures with often unpredicted toxic effects), however, dictate that such an approach is dangerous and that pesticides are far more toxic once released into the environment than simple single species studies would suggest.^[5]
- 13. It is estimated that 2 million people die prematurely each year because of air pollution^[6] and that nearly one-quarter of all deaths and one-third of the deaths of children can be attributed to environmental factors.^[7] Virtually all environmental exposures are to mixtures of lipophilic and hydrophilic chemicals.

- 14. Energy production is the primary cause of air pollution. The incomplete combustion of fuel when generating electricity, heating buildings, and powering transportation systems all contribute to air pollution.^[8–13]
- 15. More than 2.4 billion people worldwide rely on wood, charcoal, animal dung, crop wastes, and coal as indoor energy sources. These fuels combust incompletely in household stoves, producing carbon monoxide, carbon black, methane, and volatile organic compounds that have been associated with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, cancers, and other illnesses.^[8]
- 16. Energy production is also associated with the release of greenhouse gases that adversely affect climate change.^[8,14] The release of carbon dioxide, methane, and other greenhouse gases continue to raise ambient temperatures. Increased environmental temperatures lead to accelerated photochemical smog and aqueous pollution producing reactions with resulting health consequences from exposures to the toxic chemicals released. Examples of such effects are the increased production of ozone in warmer air, increased production of disinfection by-products and increased solubility of heavy metals in warmer water. Increased ambient temperatures promote insect growth, with a corresponding increase in the pressure to apply even greater quantities of pesticides.^[13] Using renewable sources of energy (e.g., solar and wind energy) would greatly eliminate toxic chemical release into the environment. It is estimated that less than 2% of the land area in the United States could provide all of the country's energy from solar sources.^[8]
- 17. The World Health Organization estimates that tobacco smoke will result in the deaths of 1 billion people in the twenty-first century.^[15] As seen in the preceding chapters, tobacco smoke exposure has been shown to adversely affect virtually every human body system, and it is the single largest cause of chemical injury and death in the world.
- 18. Children are most vulnerable to the effects of toxic chemical exposure. Because they are still developing, children are affected in adverse ways that adults are not (Chapters 24 and 33). For their body sizes, children inhale more air, drink more water, and eat more food than adults and are thereby exposed to correspondingly higher levels of toxic environmental chemicals. This dictates that children require greater protection from exposures to toxic chemicals and their mixtures than adults do.
- 19. New information is constantly forthcoming. For example, approximately 600–700 disinfection by-products have been identified

in drinking water disinfected by chlorine, ozone, chlorine dioxide, chloramines and their combinations, with new ones being discovered all the time.^[16] Such complexity demonstrates the difficulty associated with trying to ascribe the causes of environmental toxic effects when people come down with "strange" illnesses and reactions. An example is increased rates of spontaneous abortions in women who drink water with elevated levels of trihalomethanes and other disinfection by-products (Chapters 8 and 23). The mixture possibilities in disinfected water, for example, are endless and the exact causes of toxic consequences are extremely difficult to pin down.

- 20. Often, different research groups find conflicting results from similar experiments. In many of these instances, exposure mixtures have not been completely defined. For example, studies with human volunteers in test chambers showed much higher tolerances to formaldehyde (a hydrophile) with respect to dyspnea symptoms than to formaldehyde when exposure was concurrent with exposure to terpenes (lipophiles) by wood workers.^[17,18]
- 21. Warnings put on chemical products are inadequate for mixtures as they almost never address the toxic consequences of mixture exposure. Warnings also generally fail to address the greater effects on children and others who are more vulnerable than the general adult population (see Chapter 35).
- 22. With the passage of time, many previously unexplained diseases and injuries have been related to toxic chemical mixture exposures. These include CNS, respiratory system, immune system, carcinogenic, and other endpoints.^[19] Further such discoveries are to be anticipated.

36.3 Recommendations

The hundreds of studies cited in this book, as well as my own ongoing research, lead me to recommend the following. These recommendations are presented in no particular order of importance.

- 1. Air and water pollution restrictions need to be made more stringent. Emission standards should be set at best available technology standards.
- 2. Under no circumstances should pollution emitters that exceed current standards be allowed to sell pollution credits that allow others to contaminate our environment and contribute to global warming.

We are headed toward an environment with vastly increasing quantities of toxic pollutants and all efforts should be made to curtail the emissions of toxins.

- 3. The allowable levels of air and water emissions of toxic chemicals should be reduced by at least one order of magnitude to account for the toxic effects of mixtures that remain largely unknown, but are increasingly being found to induce toxic effects at very low concentration levels. Endocrine disrupting chemicals and mixtures are examples of such compounds (Chapter 22).
- 4. New technology, for example, nanotechnology, must be carefully evaluated for toxic consequences *prior* to widespread introduction. In the example of nanoparticles, unanticipated toxic effects have been found as these circulate throughout the human body.
- 5. Education of the toxic effects of chemicals and chemical mixtures should become more widespread. Students should be taught how to read and understand warning labels and MSDS in their science classes and to avoid contact with chemicals whenever possible. Public service advertisements can be used to educate people about the need to limit toxic emissions, about the safe use of chemical products, and how to avoid unnecessary exposures.
- 6. Chemical mixtures that contain lipophilic and hydrophilic components should be considered harmful unless proven otherwise.
- 7. Chemical products should be formulated as lipophilic only or hydrophilic only where possible (e.g., as in cleaners) to limit exposures to mixtures with unknown toxic effects.
- 8. Foods, drinks, pharmaceuticals, and personal care products should not be packaged in plastics that contain compounds that can migrate out, such as bisphenol A and phthalates.
- 9. Solar energy must be harnessed so that fuel combustion for energy production (the single largest source of environmental pollution) can be largely eliminated.

36.4 The Future

The understanding of the toxic effects of chemical mixtures is in its infancy. Our current knowledge has revealed only the proverbial tip of the iceberg. Einstein's quotation at the start of this chapter seemingly applies in the area of toxic effects of chemical mixtures. It is my hope that this book stimulates the research that is needed to expand our knowledge.
References

- 1. Trieff NM, Weller SC, Ramanujam S, Legator MS. Prediction of toxicological interactions in a binary mixture by using pattern recognition techniques: Proposed approach with a developed model. *Teratogenesis, Carcinogenesis Mutagenesis* 1990; 10:165–75.
- 2. Zeliger HI. Toxic effects of chemical mixtures. *Arch Environ Health* 2003; 58(1):23–9.
- 3. Zeliger HI. Unexplained cancer clusters: Common threads. *Arch Environ Health* 2004; 59(4):172–6.
- 4. Lave LB. Hormesis: Implications for public policy regarding toxicants. *Annu Rev Public Health* 2001; 22:63–7.
- 5. Richter ED, Chlamtac N. Ames, pesticides and cancer revisited. *Int J Occup Environ Health* 2002; 8(1):63–72.
- World Health Organization. WHO air quality guidelines for particulate matter, ozone, nitrogen dioxide and sulfur dioxide. Global update 2005. World Health Organization, WHO/SDE/PHE/OEH/06.02, Geneva, Switzerland, 2006.
- 7. Pruss-Ustun A, Corvalan D. *Preventing disease through healthy environments*. World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland, 2006.
- 8. Wilkonson P, Smith KR, Joffe M, Haines A. A global perspective on energy: Health effects and injustices. *Lancet* 2007; 370:965–78.
- 9. Markandya A, Wilkinson P. Electricity generation and health. *Lancet* 2007; 370:979–90.
- Woodcock J, Banister D, Edwards P, et al. Energy and transport. *Lancet* 2007; 370:1078–88.
- 11. Wilkinson P, Smith KR, Beevers S, et al. Energy, energy efficiency, and the built environment. *Lancet* 2007; 370(9593):1175–87.
- 12. McMichael AJ, Powles JW, Butler CD, et al. Food, livestock production, energy, climate change, and heath. *Lancet* 2007; 370(9594):1253–63.
- Haines A, Smith KR, Anderson D, et al. Policies for accelerating access to clean energy, improving health, advancing development, and mitigating climate change. *Lancet* 2007; 370(9594):1264–81.
- 14. McMichael AJ, Woodruff RE, Hales S. Climate change and human health: Present and future risks. *Lancet* 2006; 367:859–69.
- 15. Cropley E. Smoking could kill 1 billion this century—WHO. *Reuters*, July 2, 2007.
- 16. Krasner SW, Weinberg HS, Richardson SD, et al. Occurrence of a new generation of disinfection byproducts. *Environ Sci Tech* 2006; 40(23):7175–85.
- Harving H, Korsgaard J, Dahl R, et al. Low concentrations of formaldehyde in bronchial asthma: A study of exposure under controlled conditions. *Br Med J* 1986; 293:310.
- 18. Alexandersson R, Kolmodin-Hedman B. Exposure to formaldehyde: Effects on pulmonary function. *Arch Environ Health* 1982; 37(5):279–84.
- 19. Duehring C, Wilson C. *The human consequences of the chemical problem*, Environmental Access Research Network, Williston, ND, 1994.

2,4-D	2,4-Dichlorophenoxyacetic acid
2,4,5-T	2,4,5-Trichlorophenoxyacetic acid
ACD	Allergic contact dermatitis
ACGIH	American Congress of Government and
	Industrial Hygienists
AD	Alzheimer's disease
ADHD	Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder
ALS	Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis
AMI	Acute myocardial infarction
AOT	Air odor threshold
ASD	Autism spectrum disorder
BaP	Benzo[a]pyrene
BFR	Brominated flame retardant
BHA	Butylated hydroxyl anisole
BHT	Butylated hydroxyl toluene
CDC	U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
CFS	Chronic fatigue syndrome
CNS	Central nervous system
CNT	Carbon nanotube
COPD	Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease
CVS	Cardiovascular system
DBP	Disinfection (or decontamination) by-products
DDE	Dichlorodiphenyldichloroethylene
DDT	Dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane
DE	Diol-epoxide
DEP	Diesel exhaust particles
DES	Diethyl stilbestrol
DEET	Diethyltoluamide
DMF	Dimethyl formamide
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
DNAPL	Dense nonaqueous phase liquid
DOT	U.S. Department of Transportation
EAFUS	Everything added to food in the United States
EDC	Endocrine disrupting compound
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
ELF	Extremely low frequency
EMR	Electromagnetic radiation

EPA EDCD A	United States Environmental Protection Agency
EPCRA	Emergency Planning and Community Right to
ET	Kilow Act of 1980
	Electron transfer
EIS	Environmental working group
	Environmental working group
FAS EDA	United States Food and Drug Administration
FDA FD&C	Each drug and cosmotic
FEMA	Flower and extract manufacturers Association
	LIS Endered Hazerdous Substances Act
ГПЗА EM	Eibromyalgia
	Fibiolityalgia
CPAS	Ganerally regarded as safe list
CCL	Chutathiona
USII U	Hydrophilic compound
	Halessotia agid
	Haloacetonitrila
LIDT	Hypothalamia pituitary thyroid (avia)
	International Aganay for Descarab on Cancer
	Immediately dengerous to life or health
IDLII	Immunoglobulin E antibodios
	Infinutiogrobulin E antibodies
IPA	Isopropyl alconol
IS W	Octanol: water partition coefficient
KOW	Dermostion coefficient
т	Lipophilic compound
L	Maximum contaminant laval
MCS	Multiple chemical consistivity
MIRK	Mathyl isobutyl katona
MOAEI	Minimal observed adverse offect level
MND	Motor neuron disease
MDCM	Milligrams per cubic motor of air
MS	Multiple selerosis
MSDS	Material safety data sheet
MSC	Monosodium glutamate
MSW	Municipal solid waste
NDD	Neurodogonarativo disease
NIOSH	National Institute of Occupational Safety and Uselth
NOAFI	No observed adverse effect level
NOEC	No observed affect concentration
NULC	

Abbreviations

NSDWR	National secondary water regulations
OA	Occupational asthma
OH	Hydroxyl
OS	Oxidative stress
OSHA	U.S. Occupational Safety and Health Administration
PAH	Polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbon
PB	Pyridostigmine bromide
PBB	Poly brominated biphenyl
PBDE	Poly brominated diphenyl ether
PCB	Poly chlorinated biphenyl
PCDD	Polychlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins
PCDF	Polychlorinated dibenzofurans
PCP	Pentachlorophenol
PD	Parkinson's disease
PEL	Permissible exposure level
PET	Polyethylene terephthalate
PM 2.5	Particulate matter less than 2.5 µm
PM 10	Particulate matter less than 10 µm
PMP	Pharmaco-metabolic phenotyping
PPB	Parts per billion
PPM	Parts per million
PU	Polyurethane
PVC	Polyvinyl chloride
POP	Persistent organic pollutant
QAC	Quaternary ammonium compound
RADS	Reactive airways dysfunction syndrome
RF	Radio frequency
RO	Alkoxyl
ROO	Peroxyl
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
SBS	Sick building syndrome
SAB	Spontaneous abortion
SLE	Systemic lupus erythmatosis
SO	Superoxide
SS	Systemic sclerosis
SSc	Scleroderma
STEL	Short-term exposure limit
TAC	Toxic air contaminant
TCA	Trichloroacetic acid
TCDD	2,3,7,8-Tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin
TCE	Trichloroethylene

THM	Trihalomethane
TRI	Toxic release inventory
TTHM	Total trihalomethanes
TVA	Threshold limit values
TWA	Time weighted average
UCTD	Undifferentiated connective tissue disease
USDA	U.S. Department of Agriculture
UV	Ultraviolet
VOC	Volatile organic compound
WHO	World Health Organization

Index

Acaricides, 213 Acetaldehyde, 234 Acetamides, 216 Acetaminophen, 231 Acetone, 221 Acetylcholinesterase, 297 Acrylates, 44, 88 Acute myocardial infarctions, 489 Additive, 7, 217 Additive effects, 7, 204 Additivity, 7 Adhesives, 4 Adipocytes, 365 Adipocytokines, 365 Adipose, 302 Adjuvents, 539 Aerosols, 64 Aerospace Syndrome, 3, 206 Aflatoxins, 188 Agonists, 383 Air pollution, 63 Alachlor, 217 Alcohol, 229 Alcohols, 86 Aldehydes, 84, 86, 170 Aldicarb, 82, 215 Algicides, 213 Aliphatic hydrocarbons, 84 Alkali burns, 468 Allergens, 417 Allergic contact dermatitis, 169, 465 Allergic rhinitis, 262 Alzheimer's Disease, 303 Ammonia, 286 Ammonium perchlorate, 373 Ammonium persulfate, 420 Ammonium thioglycolate, 166 Amyl acetate, 560 Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis (ALS), 304 Analides, 217 Anhydrides, 44, 272 Animal Allergens, 189 Anionic surfactant, 220

Antagonistic, 7 Antagonists, 383 Antifouling agents, 214 Antigen, 43 Antioxidant, 239 Aortic aneurism, 488 Apoptosis, 219 Aromatic hydrocarbons, 84 Arrhythmia, 481, 488 Arsenic, 80, 83, 248, 422 Arteriosclerosis, 481 Artificial Food Colors, 138 Arts and Crafts, 158 Asbestos, 4, 188, 533 Aspartame, 89, 139, 445 Aspergillis, 188 Asphalt, 534 Asthma, 3, 261 Atherosclerosis, 481 Atrazine, 82, 123, 216 Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD), 3 Autism, 3, 335 Autism spectrum disorder, 335 Autoimmune diseases, 417 Avicides, 214 Azinphos-methyl, 219 Azo dyes, 89 Benomyl, 215 Benzalkonium chloride, 89 Benzene, 8, 231, 421 Benzo[a]pyrene (BaP), 26 Beryllium, 420 17-Beta-estradiol, 384 [3H]17Beta-estradiol, 218 Bioaccumulation, 123 Biocides, 214 Biopesticides, 214 Bisphenol-A, 364

Brain Cancer, 561

Brain cancers, 554

Bread, 142

594

Breast Cancer, 367, 374, 534 Breast milk, 165 Breathing zone pollutants, 64 Brominated Flame Retardants, 164 Bromodichloromethane, 95 Bromoform, 95 Bronchitis, 235 1,3-Butadiene, 4, 481 2-Butoxyethanol, 181 Butylated hydroxyanisol, 88 Butylated hydroxytoluene, 88 Cadmium, 40, 224, 300 California Safe Cosmetics Act of, 2005, 168 Cancer, 515 Cancer Cluster, 559, 563 Cancer Clusters, 559 Carbamate, 222 Carbaryl, 215 Carbon disulfide, 384 Carbon nanotubes, 55 Carbon tetrachloride, 8, 232, 555 Carboxylic acids, 170 Carcinogen, 95 Carcinogenesis, 286, 529, 555 Carcinogenic, 84, 189, 529 Carcinogens, 529 Cardiac arrest, 481, 488 Cerebral allergy, 432 Chemical AIDS, 432 Chemical Burns, 467 Chemical intolerance, 429 Chemically induced immune dysregulation, 432 Chemical sensitivity, 429 Childhood Cancer, 553 Childhood Leukemia, 560 Chloracne, 147 Chloramines, 162, 273, 286 Chlordane, 215 Chlordecone, 215 Chlorodibromomethane, 95 Chloroform, 17, 95 Chlorophenols, 408 Chlorophenoxy compounds, 215 Chlorophenoxy herbicides, 297 Chlorpyrifos, 217

Cholinesterase inhibitors, 214 Chronic Fatigue and Immune Dysfunction Syndrome (CFIDS), 442 Chronic Fatigue Syndrome (CFS), 429 Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, 202, 238, 261 Cigarettes, 235 Cigars, 235 Cleaners, 86, 161 CNS, 95, 232 Cobalt. 80 Cocaine, 229 Color Vision Impairment, 205 Concordance, 421 Confined air pollutants, 63 Conjunctivitis, 420 Connective tissue, 473 Consumer Product Safety Commission, 573 Copper, 80, 83-84 Coronary heart disease, 238 Corrosives, 261 Cosmetic products, 251 Cosmetics, 86, 170 Creosote, 122 Cryptochidism, 381 Cyanazine, 216 Cyclohexane, 310 CYP450, 27 Cytochrome P450, 27 Cytogenetic effects, 201 Cytotoxic, 232 Cytotoxicity, 234 2,4-D, 29, 216 **DBP**, 79 DDD, 122 DDE, 41 DDT, 4, 7, 41 Decontamination by-products, 79 DEET, 216, 233 Defoliants, 214 Deodorizers, 86 Department of Transportation, 573 Dermal sensitization, 262 Developmental Neurotoxicology, 327 Developmental toxins, 401 Diabetes, 234, 365

Diazanon, 217, 219 Diazanone, 217 Dibutyl phthalate, 166 Dicamba, 216 1,2-Dichloroethylene, 89 1,1-Dichloro ethylene, 94 2,4-Dichlorophenoxyacetic acid, 216 2,2-Dichloro-1,1,1-trifluoroethane, 232 Dieldrin, 207, 215 Diesel fuel, 310 Diethylene glycol, 509 Diethylstilbesterol, 40 Diethyltoluamide, 216 Dioxin, 60 Diquat, 216, 408 Disinfectants, 4, 86, 214 **Disinfection Byproducts**, 95 Disposable diapers, 171 Dizygotic, 353 d-Limonene, 561 Dose-response, 229 Dyspnea, 280 **EAFUS**, 134 Ecologic illness, 432 Electromagnetic Radiation, 36, 245 Electron transfer, 34 Embryotoxicity, 402

Emphysema, 235 Encephalopathy, 139 Endocrine disrupting compounds, 361 Endocrine-disrupting compounds, 38 Endocrine disruptors, 364 Endocrine System, 361 Endocrine systems, 381 Endogenous, 27 Endogenous estrogen, 367 Endosulfan, 215, 371 Environmental hypersensitivity, 431 Environmental illness, 432 Environmentally induced disease, 432 Environmental Protection Agency, 573 Environmental (second hand) tobacco smoke, 179 Environmental tobacco smoke, 235 Erectile dysfunction, 394 Esters, 86, 170 Estrogen, 367

Estrogen disruptors, 165 Estrogen mimics, 363 Ethanol, 9, 229 2-Ethoxyethanol, 410 Ethoxylated alcohol, 465 Ethoxylated surfactants, 270 Ethyl acetate, 310 Ethyl acrylate, 262 Ewing's sarcoma, 554 Excipients, 88 Excitotoxin, 138 Excitotoxins, 445 Extremely low frequency (ELF) waves, 252 Farming, 79, 81 FD&C blue #2, 150 FD&C red #40, 150 FD&C yellow #5, 150 Fecundity, 384 Fenton reaction, 249 Fetal alcohol syndrome, 409 Fibromyalgia, 138 Fibromyalgia (FM), 429 Flavorants, 147 Fluorocarbons, 276 Fly ash, 202 Food, 129 Food and chemical sensitivities, 432 Food and Drug Administration, 573 Food colors, 89 Food Packaging, 145 Formaldehyde, 5, 86 Fresheners, 161 Fumigants, 214 Fungicides, 129, 214 Furans, 81 Gamma radiation, 206 Gasoline, 122 Glioma, 553 Glomerulonephritis, 509 Glue sniffing, 311 Glutathione, 9, 28

Glycerol monothioglycolate, 420

Glycol ether esters, 179

Glyphosate, 83

Glycol ethers, 10, 86, 219

596

GRAS list, 134 Growth regulators, 214 Gulf War Syndrome (GWS), 3, 219, 429 Hairdressers, 420 Hair dyes, 540 Haloacetic acids, 95 Haloacetonitriles, 95 Halogenated hydrocarbons, 297 Haloketones, 388 Health risk score, 71 Heart attack, 484 Heart disease, 235 Heart failure, 488 Heavy metals, 84, 122, 381, 418 Hematolymphopoietic Malignancies, 539 Hematotoxic, 421 Hepatotoxicity, 495 Herbicide, 122 Herbicides, 83, 129, 214 Heroin, 229 Hexachlorobenzene, 421 Hodgkin's lymphoma, 536 Homeostasis, 373 Hormone mimics, 383 Huffing, 311 Hydrophile, 200 Hydrophiles, 11, 222, 267 Hydrophilic, 115, 158 Hydrophilicity, 305 Hyperactivity, 150, 355 Hypersensitivity, 249, 268 Hypersensitivity (allergic reaction), 417 Hypertension, 484 Hypospadias, 364 Hypothalamic-pituitary-thyroid (HPT) axis, 224 Identification List, 64 Idiopathic environmental intolerance, 432 Immune System, 417 Immunoenhancers, 417 Immunoglobulin E (IgE), 44 Immunostimulants, 417 Immunostimulation, 43 Immunosuppression, 41, 417 Immunotoxicology, 41, 417 Immunotoxins, 417

Induction, 31 Industrial Solid Waste, 203 Infertility, 6, 36, 219, 391 Inhibition, 32 Initiating step, 522 Initiators, 525 Insecticides, 129, 214 Insulin resistance, 365 In utero, 555 In Utero Exposure, 59 Ionizing radiation, 245 Irradiated Mail, 205 Irritant, 170 Irritants, 261 Ischemic heart disease, 488 Isocyanates, 44, 190, 272 Isopropanol, 8 Jet fuel, 310 JP-8 jet fuel, 510 Katrina Cough, 3 Kerosene, 310 Ketones, 84 Kidney cancer, 532 Kidneys, 95, 507 Landfill leachates, 484 Landfill Runoff, 114 LC50, 72 Lead, 40, 80, 207, 300 Leukemia, 84, 247, 553 Limonene, 10 Lindane, 215 Lipid peroxidation, 230, 251 Lipophile, 200 Lipophiles, 11, 222, 267 Lipophilic, 115, 158 Lipophilicity, 305 Liver, 95, 495 Lou Gehrig's disease, 304 Love Canal, 337 Lung cancer, 530 Lupus, 420 Malathion, 8, 217 Male infertility, 391

Maneb, 224

Manganese, 300 Manufacturing, 79 Marijuana, 148 Mattress covers, 171 Melanoma, 536 Meningioma, 553 Mercury, 40, 84 Mesothelioma, 188 Methacrylic acid, 202 Methamphetamines, 229 2-Methoxyethanol, 409 Methylene bisphenyl isocyanate, 262 Methylene chloride, 222 Methyl ethyl ketone, 8 Methyl isocyanate, 72 Methyl methacrylate, 202 Methyl-n-butyl ketone, 7 Methylparaben, 251 Methylphenidate, 351 Microwaves, 252 Mineral spirits, 478 Mining, 79 Mirex, 207, 215 MOAEL, 9 Mold, 190 Molds, 188 Molluscicides, 214 Monosodium Glutamate, 138, 445 Monozygotic, 353 Monozygotic twins, 421 Mucous membrane irritation, 201 Multiple Chemical Sensitivity (MCS), 429 Multiple myeloma, 536 Multiple Sclerosis, 304 Municipal Waste, 203 Musculoskeletal System, 473 Mutagens, 522 Mutogenic, 189 Mycotoxins, 188 Myelin, 304 Myocardial infarction, 235 Naphtha, 223, 478

Naphthalene, 310 Nematicides, 214 Neoplasias, 367 Neovascularization, 484 Nephrotoxic, 507 Neuroblastoma, 553 Neurodegenerative Diseases, 303 Neuroendocrine system, 361 Neuropathies, 297 Neurotoxicity, 296 Neurotoxin, 296 Neurotoxins, 165 n-heptane, 310 *n*-hexane, 7 Nicotine, 236 Nitrate, 82, 85 Nitric oxide, 236, 251 Nitrogen dioxide, 410 NMDA, 439 N-methyl carbamates, 214 NOAEL, 9 Non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, 115, 532 Nonionizing Radiation, 245, 251 Nonyl phenol, 373 No observed effect level (NOEL), 7 Obstructive airways disease, 185 Occupational asthma, 271

Occupational Safety and Health Administration, 573 Octanol:Water Partition Coefficients, 11 Organochlorine pesticides, 121, 297 Organochlorines, 215 Organophosphate pesticides, 297 Organophosphates, 214 Organotin, 224 Osteomalacia, 473 Osteoporosis, 473 Osteosarcoma, 554 Ototoxic, 200 Ototoxicity, 232 Ovaries, 374 Ovicides, 214 Oxidative phosphorylation, 221 Oxidative Stress, 28, 34, 230 Ozone, 4, 63

PABA, 249 Paint, 87, 177 Paint removers, 478 Paints, 4, 177 Paint thinners, 478

598

Paraquat, 122, 216, 274, 408 Parathion, 7, 274 Parkinson's Disease, 303 Particulates, 64 PCBs, 4, 394 Pentachlorophenol, 187, 464, 553 Perchlorates, 336 Perchloroethylene, 89 Perfluorooctane sulfonate, 145 Perfluorooctanoic acid, 145 Peripheral nervous system, 147, 297 Peripheral neuropathy, 7 Permethrin, 219, 306, 446 Peroxynitrite, 439 Persistent organic pollutants, 129 Personal care products, 251 Pervasive air pollutants, 63 Pesticides, 4, 54, 83, 87, 122, 213 Pharmacogenomic, 34 Pharmaco-Metabonic Phenotyping, 34 Phenol, 88 Phenols, 84 Phenoxyacetic acids, 538 Phenylalanine, 353 4-phenylcyclohexene, 181 Phorbol esters, 535 Phosphate, 82, 85 Photoallergic contact dermatitis, 170 Photoallergy, 249 Photogenotoxic effects, 148 Photosensitivity, 249 Photosensitizers, 249 Phototoxicity, 249 Phthalate ester, 364 Phthalates, 88, 365, 394 Piperonyl butoxide, 220 Pipe tobacco, 235 Piscicides, 214 Platinum, 271 PM2.5, 63 PM10, 63 Polish, 88 Polybrominated biphenyls, 165 Polybrominated diphenyl ethers, 56, 165 Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, 418 Polyhalogenated aromatic hydrocarbons, 205 Polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbon, 26

Potentiated, 7 Power production, 79 Predacides, 214 Preservatives, 88 Priority Water Pollutants, 89 Progressive burning, 161 Promoters, 525 Promoting agents, 525 Promoting step, 522 Proposition, 65 168 Propoxur, 215, 422 Propylene glycol, 89 Prostate Cancer, 535, 560 Pyrethrins, 216 Pyrethroids, 216 Pyridostigmine bromide, 219 Quaternary ammonium compounds, 86 Radioisotopes, 246 Radon, 187 Reactive airways dysfunction syndrome (RADS), 10, 164, 261 Reactive oxygen species, 35 Regulatory Requirements, 573 Repellants, 214 Respiratory disease, 261 Respiratory sensitization, 262, 268 Respiratory sensitizers, 261 Respiratory System, 261 Retinoblastoma, 554 RF waves, 252 Rheumatoid arthritis, 420, 473 Rhinitis, 268, 420 Ritalin, 351 Rodenticides, 214 Runoff, 79 Saccharin, 150 Sanitizers, 214 Scleroderma, 95, 420, 473 Secondhand smoke, 235 Selenium, 84 Seminal fluid, 390 Sensitization, 261 Sensitizer, 179 Sensitizers, 261 Sensitizing, 166

Sequential effects, 7 Seventh Amendment, 168 Sick Building Syndrome, 175, 432 Silica, 421, 473 Silt, 81 Silver, 87 Skin, 459 Smokeless tobacco, 235 Soaps, 88 Sodium benzoate, 355 Sodium chlorate, 373 Sodium hydroxide, 162 Sodium hypochlorite, 286 Sodium lauryl sulfate, 221 Soft tissue sarcoma, 536 Soil Pollution, 121 Spermatogenesis, 390 Sperm count, 390 Spina bifida, 247, 408, 473 Spontaneous abortion, 3, 96 Stachybotrys, 188 Steroids, 132 Stroke, 235 Sulfites, 89, 149 Sulfur dioxide, 84 Sulfuric acid, 162 Sunset yellow, 150 Superfund, 337 Surfactants, 88, 465 Synergism, 135, 247 Synergistic, 7 Synergistic effects, 217, 247 Synergists, 214 Systemic lupus erythematosus, 473 Systemic sclerosis, 473 2,4,5-T, 29, 216 Tartrazine, 150 TCDD, 29, 408 Teratogen, 408 Teratogenic, 189 Teratogenic effects, 401 Teratogenicity, 401 Teratogens, 401 Terpenes, 9, 170 Testes, 374 Testicular Cancer, 390, 560 Testicular dysgenesis syndrome, 395

Testosterone, 366 2,3,7,8-Tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin, 32 Tetrachloroethylene, 7 Tetrahydrocannabinol, 387 Thallium, 300 Thyroid, 374, 383 Tin. 84 Titanium dioxide, 251 Tobacco, 229, 235 Tobacco smoke, 62, 187, 188, 235 Tobacco Toxicity, 235 Toluene, 7 Toluene diisocyanate, 4, 179 Total allergy syndrome, 432 Total immune disorder syndrome, 431 Toxaphene, 207, 215, 371 Toxic Air Contaminant (TAC), 64 Toxic encephalopathy, 312 Toxic Infertility, 381 Transgenerational effect, 384 Transgenerational exposures, 363 Triazines, 216 Tributyltin, 224 1,1,1-Trichloroethane, 89, 499 Trichloroethylene, 7 2,4,5-Trichlorophenoxyacetic acid, 216 Triclosan, 88 Trihalomethanes, 95 Trimellitic anhydride, 261 Triphenyltin, 224 Twentieth-century disease, 431 Twins, 353 Type, 2 diabetes, 361

Ultraviolet Radiation, 248 Undifferentiated connective tissue disease, 478 Uranium, 80 Urinary tract cancers, 554 UV radiation, 248

Vanillin, 138 Vascular disease, 484 Ventricular fibrillation, 481 Vinyl acetate, 181 Vinyl chloride, 94, 421 VM&P naphtha, 478 Volatile Organic Compounds, 143

Warnings, 573 Waterborne paints, 164 Water Pollution, 79 White adipose tissue, 366 White spirit, 464 White spirits, 221 Wilms' tumor, 553 Xenobiotic, 5, 24 Xenoestrogens, 368 X-rays, 246 Xylene, 7

Zinc, 80 Ziram, 224

600

RELATED TITLES



Sittig's Handbook of Toxic and Hazardous Chemicals and Carcinogens, 5th Edition

Edited by Richard Pohanish 978-0-8155-1553-1 \$595 · 2008 · 4266pp · 8.5" x 11" Hardback · 2 Volumes

Sittig's 5th Edition is the authoritative and comprehensive reference work that provides a vast array of critical information on the 2,100 most heavily used, transported, and regulated substances of occupational and environmental concern.



Cleanup of Chemical and Explosive Munitions Locating, Identifying Contaminants, and Planning for Environmental Remediation of Land and Sea Military Ranges and Ordnance Dumpsites By Richard Albright; Foreword by Lenny Siegel 978-0-8155-1540-1 \$125 · 2008 · 325pp · 6" x 9" Hardback

Provides detailed instructions for planning the environmental remediation of military ranges and ordnance dumpsites, and includes lists of explosives, chemical warfare materials, and breakdown products that the soil and groundwater must be tested for.



Sittig's Handbook of Pesticides and Agricultural Chemicals

Edited by Stanley A. Greene and Richard P. Pohanish 978-0-8155-1516-6 \$368 · 2005 · 1213pp · 8.5" x 11" Hardback

Detailed profiles of chemicals used in food, cosmetics, and personal care products. The chemicals are organized with unique identifiers so that all who may have contact with or interest in them can find critical information quickly.